
 
 

 

3 April 2019 

At 5.00 pm 

 

Local Planning Panel 
 

 
 



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 

  

Agenda 
  

 

 

1.   Disclosures of Interest 

2.   Confirmation of Minutes 

3.   Development Application: 180-182 St Johns Road, Glebe 

4.   Development Application: 1 Missenden Road, Camperdown 

5.   Development Application: 30-42 Lower Fort Street, Dawes Point 

6.   Development Application: 21 O'Connor Street, Chippendale 

7.   Development Application: 19 Ralph Street, Alexandria 

8.   Development Application: 174 St Johns Road, Glebe 

9.   Development Application: 115-117 Regent Street, Chippendale 

10.   Development Application: 1-7 Raglan Street, Waterloo 

 



 

 

 

Guidelines for Speakers 
at Local Planning Panels 

 

As part of our democratic process, the City invites members of the community to 
speak directly to Members of the Local Planning Panel (LPP) about items on a 
meeting agenda. 

To enable the LPP to hear a wide range of views and concerns within the limited time 
available, we encourage people interested in speaking at meetings to: 

1. Register to speak by calling Council’s Secretariat on 9265 9190 before 12.00 
noon on the day of the meeting. 

2. Check the recommendation in the agenda report before speaking, as it may 
address your concerns so that you just need to indicate your support for the 
recommendation. 

3. Note that there is a three minute time limit for each speaker and prepare your 
presentation to cover your major points within that time. 

4. Avoid repeating what previous speakers have said and focus on issues and 
information that the LPP may not already know. 

5. If there is a large number of people interested in the same item as you, try to 
nominate three representatives to speak on your behalf and to indicate how 
many people they are representing. 

6. Before speaking, turn on the microphone by pressing the button next to it and 
speak clearly so that everyone in the Council Chamber can hear. 

7. Be prepared to quickly return to the microphone and respond briefly to any 
questions from LPP members, after all speakers on an item have made their 
presentations. 

At the start of each LPP meeting, the Chair may re-order agenda items so that those 
items with speakers can be dealt with first. 

LPP reports are on line at www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au, with printed copies 
available at Sydney Town Hall immediately prior to the meeting. Council staff are 
also available prior to the meeting to assist. 

March 2018 



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Disclosures of Interest 

Pursuant to the provisions of Clause 15 of Schedule 4B of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act 1979, members of the Local Planning Panel are required to disclose 
pecuniary interests in any matter on the agenda for this meeting of the Local Planning Panel. 

Panel members are also required to disclose any non-pecuniary interests in any matter on 
the agenda for this meeting of the Local Planning Panel. 

In both cases, the nature of the interest must be disclosed. 

In accordance with section 4.9 of the Code of Conduct for Local Planning Panel Members, 

all Panel members are required to sign a declaration of interest in relation to each matter on 

the agenda. 

1

Item 1.



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Confirmation of Minutes 

Minutes of the following meeting of the Local Planning Panel, which have been endorsed by 
the Chair, are submitted for noting: 

Meeting of 20 February 2019 

1

Item 2.



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Development Application: 180-182 St Johns Road, Glebe 

File No.: D/2018/1074 

Summary 

Date of Submission: 10 September 2018 

Amended information received 24 January 2019, 12 
February 2019 

Applicant: Mr G Cirillo 

Architect: Mark Shapiro Architects 

Developer: Kenrich Holdings Pty Ltd 

Owner: Kenrich Holdings Pty Ltd 

Cost of Works: $3,840,581.00 

Zoning: B1 Neighbourhood Centre - proposal permissible with 
consent. 

Proposal Summary: Partial demolition of the existing pub (Roxbury Hotel) and 
construction of a three storey commercial building and 
alterations to the adjoining terrace for the use as a 
boarding house containing 33 rooms and associated 
facilities including a roof terrace and basement storage; 
and a separate ground floor commercial tenancy. 

The application has been made pursuant to State 
Environmental Planning Policy (Affordable Rental Housing) 
2009, and seeks to utilise a 0.5 bonus floor space ratio 
provision.  The proposed floor space ratio of 1.99:1 
complies with the allowable maximum floor space ratio 
development standard. 

The application is required to be determined by the Local 
Planning Panel as no motorcycle parking has been 
provided as required under Clause 30 'Standards for 
boarding houses' of State Environmental Planning Policy 
(Affordable Rental Housing) 2009.  A written request to 
vary the standard has been submitted with the application. 

1

Item 3.



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Proposal Summary 
(continued) : 

The application was notified for 21 days.  A total of 16 
submissions were received identifying the following issues: 
privacy impacts, parking and traffic generation, noise 
impacts, shadowing impacts, safety and crime, amenity, 
housing diversity, heritage impact, height, and economic 
impacts.  These issues are addressed within the report. 

Issues identified in the preliminary assessment of the 
application include: 

 activation of the St Johns Road frontage; 

 building separation; 

 amenity and design considerations; 

 requirement for a request to vary a development 
standard under Clause 4.6; 

 retention of heritage significant features and 
restoration works to the terrace; 

 contamination investigation; and 

 acoustic assessment. 

The applicant submitted plans and information on 24 
January 2019, 12 February 2019 and 14 March 2019 to 
address these issues.  The amended design includes 
increased side setbacks and the introduction of a ground 
floor commercial premises. 

In its amended form, the proposal is considered to be 
generally consistent with the objectives and provisions of 
the relevant planning instruments and controls.  The 
proposal is considered to be an acceptable design 
outcome for the site, subject to conditions. 

Summary Recommendation: The development application is recommended for 
approval, subject to conditions. 

Development Controls: (i) State Environmental Planning Policy (Affordable 
Rental Housing) 2009 

(ii) State Environmental Planning Policy No. 55 - 
Remediation of Land 

(iii) Sydney Regional Environmental Plan (Sydney 
Harbour Catchment) 2005 

(iv) Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 

(v) Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 

2



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

(vi) City of Sydney Development Contributions Plan 2015 

Attachments: A. Recommended Conditions 

B. Selected Drawings 

C. Clause 4.6 Variation Request 

  

3



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Recommendation 

It is resolved that: 

(A) the variation requested to Clause 30(1)(h) of State Environmental Planning Policy 
(Affordable Rental Housing) 2009 in accordance with Clause 4.6 'Exceptions to 
development standards' of the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 be approved; 
and 

(B) consent be granted to Development Application No. D/2018/1074 subject to the 
conditions set out in Attachment A to the subject report. 

Reasons for Recommendation 

The application is recommended for approval for the following reasons: 

(A) The proposed development is consistent with the objectives of the B1 Neighbourhood 
Centre Zone. 

(B) The proposed development is generally consistent with the relevant objectives and 
controls within State Environmental Planning Policy (Affordable Rental Housing) 2009, 
Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 and Sydney Development Control Plan 2012. 

(C) The requested variation to the minimum motorcycle parking standard required under 
clause 30(1)(h) of the State Environmental Planning Policy (Affordable Rental 
Housing) 2009 is approved because the consent authority is satisfied that the 
applicant's written request has adequately addressed the matters required to be 
addressed by Clause 4.6 of the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 and the 
proposed development would be in the public interest because it is consistent with the 
objectives of the standard and the B1 Neighbourhood Centre Zone. 

  

4



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Background 

The Site and Surrounding Development 

1. A site visit was carried out by staff on 30 October 2018. 

2. The combined site is known as 180 and 182 St Johns Road, Glebe and is identified as 
Lot 2 DP 547952, Lot 1 DP 104840 and Lot 1 DP 906442.  It is located on the southern 
side of St Johns Road on the eastern corner of the intersection with Forest Street.  The 
site is approximately rectangular in shape (with the exception of a small protrusion on 
the eastern side over which is a right of footway for 178 St Johns Road).  The site has 
a combined frontage of 16.25m to St Johns Road, a side frontage of 30.12m to Forest 
Street and a combined area of 496sqm.  The site is located within the Hereford and 
Forest Lodge Heritage Conservation Area. 

3. The site currently contains a two storey terrace style dwelling at 180 St Johns Road, 
and a two storey pub with basement known as the Roxbury Hotel occupies 182 St 
Johns Road.  The terrace at No 180 is listed as a contributory building within the 
heritage conservation area, and the pub is listed as a neutral building. 

4. Adjoining development consists of: to the northeast at 178 St Johns Road a two storey 
attached terrace with a commercial ground floor use and residential use above.  To the 
southeast, at 25 Forest Street, the pub adjoins a two storey terrace style dwelling. 

5. The surrounding locality is characterised as being a mixture of commercial and 
residential developments along St Johns Road, 2-3 storeys in height; with residential 
development along Forest Street 1-2 stories in height. 

6. Photos of the site and surrounds are provided below: 

 

Figure 1: Aerial image of subject site and surrounding area 

5



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 2: Site viewed from St Johns Road looking east. 

 

Figure 3: Site viewed from St Johns Road looking southeast. 

6



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 4: Site viewed from Forest Street looking north. 

 

Figure 5: Looking along the boundary of 178 St Johns Road (left) and 180 St Johns Road (right). 

7



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 6: View to 25 Forest Street looking north east. 

 

Figure 7: View to 178 and 180 St Johns Road terraces looking south. 

  

8



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Proposal 

7. The application seeks consent for partial demolition of the existing pub known as the 
Roxbury Hotel (182 St Johns Road) and the construction of a new a three storey 
commercial building and alterations to the adjoining terrace (180 St Johns Road) for 
the use as a boarding house containing 33 rooms (seven single rooms, 26 double 
rooms) and associated facilities including a roof terrace, basement storage and a 
separate ground floor commercial tenancy.  Specifics of the proposal include: 

(a) Demolition and excavation: 

(i) demolition of the existing hotel to the existing basement level (182 St 
Johns Road); and 

(ii) excavation of additional basement area. 

(b) Alterations to terrace: 

(i) demolition of rear unsympathetic additions to the rear; 

(ii) alterations for integrated use as part of boarding house; and 

(iii) heritage restoration works. 

(c) Commercial building: 

(i) construction of a three storey commercial building with basement level; 

(ii) basement level: bicycle parking, storage, laundry, and plant; 

(iii) ground floor: separate commercial tenancy, waste room, boarding rooms; 

(iv) first floor: boarding rooms; and 

(v) second floor: outdoor common terrace, indoor common room, boarding 
rooms.  

8. Plans of the proposed development are provided below. 

9



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 8: Photomontage of proposal. 

 

 

Figure 9: Photomontage of proposal. 

10



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

 

Figure 10: North elevation 

 

Figure 11: West elevation. 

  

11



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

 

Figure 12: South elevation. 

 

Figure 13: East elevation. 

  

12



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 14: Basement level plan. 

 

Figure 15: Ground level plan. 

  

13



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 16: Level 1 plan. 

 

Figure 17: Level 2 plan. 

  

14



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 18: Roof level plan. 

History Relevant to the Development Application 

9. 180 St Johns Road: The site has been historically used as a residence.  A previous 
application (D/2014/983) to regularise an unauthorised use of the terrace as a 
boarding house was refused by Council. 

10. 182 St Johns Road: The pub building was constructed circa 1877 and operated as a 
hotel known as 'The British Lion'.  The building was modified in the 1920s, 1950s, 
1980s and early 2000s when the name changed to the 'Roxbury Hotel'.  

11. 182 St Johns Road: Application D/2015/1241 for 'Alterations and additions to the 
existing pub and restaurant (Roxbury Hotel) and adjacent terrace to create a new 
licensed restaurant and bar, as well as a new three storey boarding house containing 
25 boarding rooms and associated facilities including a roof terrace' was approved by 
Council on 29 February 2016.  

12. This application was considered by the Design Advisory Panel Residential 
Subcommittee on 6 November 2018.  The recommendations of the panel were 
considered in the assessment of the application. 

13. On 28 November 2018 the following issues were raised by Council in respect of the 
submitted application: 

(a) activation to St Johns Road; 

(b) roof opening to top floor - corridor to be enclosed; 

(c) setbacks / Landscaping - increased setbacks to be achieved to the north east 
boundary; 

(d) encroachments - not to exceed those prescribed in the DCP; 

15



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

(e) design / Amenity Recommendations;  

(f) parking - Clause 4.6 variation required; 

(g) contamination to be addressed; 

(h) acoustics - justification for use of data; and 

(i) heritage - requested restoration works to terrace and relationship to new 
development. 

14. The application was subsequently amended on the 24 January 2019. 

15. The key amendments to the proposal include: 

(a) increased setbacks to the north eastern boundary; 

(b) provision of a separate commercial tenancy along the St Johns Road frontage; 

(c) relocation of the principal indoor common area to the second floor adjacent to 
the outdoor communal area; 

(d) treatments to windows; and 

(e) the submission of requested information. 

16. Further amendments were submitted on 12 February 2019 in relation to requested 
detailed design matters including: 

(a) updated heritage details to the terrace; 

(b) awning to boarding house raised to be in line with top of the adjacent frieze on 
terrace; 

(c) addition of external louvre to eastern elevation; 

(d) eave overhang to eastern elevation reduced; 

(e) detailing of windows and doors to west elevation; 

(f) updates to finishes schedule; 

(g) updates to landscaping; 

(h) updates to photomontages; 

(i) updates to waste access; 

(j) details of commercial tenancy to St Johns Road; 

(k) sizes of bathrooms to Units 1.13-1.15 increased; and 

(l) pergola to common area roof shown as operable. 

17. Further amendments were submitted on 14 March 2019 in relation to waste operation 
including an amended ground floor plan with additional waste provision. 

16



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Economic/Social/Environmental Impacts 

18. The application has been assessed under Section 4.15 of the Environmental Planning 
and Assessment Act 1979, including consideration of the following matters: 

Environmental Planning Instruments and DCPs 

State Environmental Planning Policy No 55—Remediation of Land 

19. The aim of State Environmental Planning Policy No. 55 (SEPP 55) is to ensure that a 
change of land use will not increase the risk to health, particularly in circumstances 
where a more sensitive land use is proposed. 

20. A preliminary site investigation report was submitted with the development application.  
The report recommends that 182 St Johns Road is suitable for the proposed 
development and that further vapour testing be undertaken at 180 St Johns Road, due 
to a historic dry cleaning business at 178 St Johns Road. 

21. Vapour testing at 180 St Johns Road was subsequently undertaken.  The results of the 
testing conclude that no mitigation measures are required and the proposed use is 
suitable for the site.   

The City’s Health Unit are satisfied that, subject to conditions, the site is suitable for 
the proposed use. Sydney Regional Environmental Plan (Sydney Harbour Catchment) 
2005 (Deemed SEPP) 

22. The site is located within the designated hydrological catchment of Sydney Harbour 
and is subject to the provisions of the above SREP. 

23. The Sydney Harbour Catchment Planning Principles must be considered in the 
carrying out of development within the catchment. The key relevant principles include: 

(a) protect and improve hydrological, ecological and geomorphologic processes; 

(b) consider cumulative impacts of development within the catchment; 

(c) improve water quality of urban runoff and reduce quantity and frequency of urban 
run-off; and 

(d) protect and rehabilitate riparian corridors and remnant vegetation. 

24. The site is within the Sydney Harbour Catchment and eventually drains into the 
Harbour. However, the site is not located in the Foreshores Waterways Area or 
adjacent to a waterway and therefore, with the exception of the objective of improved 
water quality, the objectives of the SREP are not applicable to the proposed 
development. The development is consistent with the controls contained with the 
deemed SEPP. 

State Environmental Planning Policy (Building Sustainability Index: BASIX) 2004 

25. A revised BASIX Certificate (Certificate number: 956225M_02) has been submitted 21 
March 2019 addressing the development application as modified during the 
assessment.  A recommended condition of consent requires compliance with the 
requirements of the BASIX certificate. 

17



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

State Environmental Planning Policy (Affordable Rental Housing) 2009 

26. The application has been made pursuant to the provisions of State Environmental 
Planning Policy (Affordable Rental Housing) 2009 (Affordable Housing SEPP).  The 
relevant provisions of the SEPP are addressed in the table below. 

Development Control Compliance Comment 

29(1) Floor space ratio Yes A  FSR of 1.5:1 is permitted under SLEP 
2012. An additional  0.5:1 is allowed 
under the provisions of the SEPP. The 
maximum permitted FSR of 2:1 applies 

A FSR of 1.99:1 is proposed.   

29(2)(a) Building height Yes A maximum height of 12m applies to the 
site under the SLEP 2012. 

A maximum height of 10.6m is 
proposed. 

29(2)(b) Landscaped area Yes Landscaping provided within front 
setback of terrace. 

Zero building alignment to 182 St Johns 
Road consistent with existing 
streetscape. 

29(2)(c) Solar access  Yes The communal area on Level 2 will 
receive at least three hours of direct 
sunlight mid-winter. 

29(2)(d) Private open space Yes A communal open space area is 
provided to level 2 as a roof top area 
greater than 20sqm (58sqm). 

Private manager's area of 8sqm 

29(2)(e) Parking No (see note 
below) 

No on-site car parking provided. 
Acceptable as SLEP 2012 parking rates 
are maximum rates only. 

29(2)(f) Accommodation size  Yes Single rooms sized greater than 12sqm. 

Double rooms sized greater than 16sqm. 

30(1)(a) Communal living 
space  

Yes A communal living room is provided. 

18



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Development Control Compliance Comment 

30(1)(b) Maximum room size Yes No room sized greater than 25sqm 
(excluding private kitchen or bathroom 
facilities). 

30(1)(c) Maximum occupants  Yes Maximum of two adult lodgers per room. 

30 (1)(d) Bathroom and 
kitchen facilities 

Yes Each room provided with bathroom and 
kitchen facilities. 

30(1)(e) Boarding house 
manger 

Yes An on-site manager's room has been 
provided at ground level. 

30(1)(g) Ground floor use N/A Zoning allows both commercial and 
residential uses on the ground floor. 

30(1)(h) Bicycle and 
motorcycle parking 

No. Variation 
request 
submitted. 

The development is required to provide 
at least seven bicycle and seven 
motorcycle spaces. 

20 bicycle parking spaces are provided 
within the basement. 

No motorcycle parking is proposed.  A 
request to vary the standard pursuant to 
Clause 4.6 has been submitted.  See 
discussion under heading Issues. 

30A Character of local area Yes The design of the development is 
considered compatible with the 
character of the local area. 

27. Note: Clause 29(4) permits the Council as the consent authority to consent to 
development whether or not the development complies with standards in Clause 29 (1) 
or (2). 

Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 

28. The site is located within the B1 Neighbourhood Centre Zone. The proposed uses are 
defined as a boarding house and commercial premises and both are permissible with 
consent in the zone.  

29. The objectives of the B1 Neighbourhood Centre Zone are as follows: 

(a) To provide a range of small-scale retail, business and community uses that serve 
the needs of people who live or work in the surrounding neighbourhood. 

(b) To allow appropriate residential uses so as to support the vitality of 
neighbourhood centres. 

19



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

30. The proposal is considered to be consistent with these objectives. 

31. The relevant matters to be considered under Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 
for the proposed development are outlined below. 

Development Control Compliance Comment 

4.3 Height of Buildings Yes A maximum height of 12m is permitted. 

A height of 10.7m is proposed. 

4.4 Floor Space Ratio No, SEPP 
provisions 
prevail 

A maximum FSR of 1.5:1 is permitted. 

A FSR of 1.99:1 is proposed which is 
within the permitted 2:1 maximum under 
the Affordable Housing SEPP including 
a 0.5 bonus. 

4.6 Exceptions to development 
standards 

Yes A request to vary the motorcycle parking 
standard contained within the Affordable 
Housing SEPP has been submitted. 

See discussion under the heading 
Issues. 

5.9 Preservation of trees or 
vegetation 

Yes No tree removal proposed. 

5.10 Heritage conservation Yes The subject site is located within the 
Hereford and Forest Lodge Heritage 
Conservation Area (HCA). 

The application proposes restoration 
works to the contributing terrace and 
substantial demolition to the neutral pub 
building. 

See discussion under the heading 
Issues. 

 

Part 6 Local Provisions - 
Height and Floor Space  

Compliance Comment 

Division 4 Design excellence Yes Subject to conditions, the proposal is 
considered to satisfy design excellence 
provisions. 

  

20



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Part 7 Local Provisions - 
General 

Compliance Comment 

Division 1 Car parking ancillary 
to other development 

Yes There are no minimum requirements for 
boarding houses. 

No car parking spaces are proposed. 

Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 

32. The relevant matters to be considered under Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 
for the proposed development are outlined below. 

2. Locality Statements – Ross Street 

The subject site is located in the Ross Street Locality. The proposal is considered to be in 
keeping with the unique character of the area and design principles in that it provides an 
active use to the neighbourhood centre with weather protection, and complements the 
character of the conservation area. 

 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

3.2 Defining the Public Domain Yes The proposal positively addresses both 
street frontages with activation, building 
entries and an awning. 

3.5 Urban Ecology Yes The proposed development does not 
involve the removal of any trees and will 
not adversely impact on the local urban 
ecology.  Landscaping including deep 
soil to the site will be increased 
compared to the existing situation. 

3.6 Ecologically Sustainable 
Development 

Yes The proposal satisfies BASIX certificate 
and environmental requirements. 

3.8 Subdivision, Strata 
Subdivision and Consolidation 

Yes Strata or community title subdivision of 
boarding housing is not permitted under 
the Affordable Housing SEPP and is not 
proposed. 

3.9 Heritage Yes The site is located within the Hereford 
and Forest Lodge Heritage Conservation 
Area (HCA). 

See discussion below under heading 
Issues. 

21



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

3.10 Significant Architectural 
Building Types 

Yes The existing pub building is older than 
50 years and therefore the section 
applies. 

See discussion below under heading 
Issues. 

3.11 Transport and Parking No. Complies 
with SEPP. 
Will comply 
subject to 
condition 

The application provides 20 bicycle 
parking spaces within the basement.  34 
bicycle spaces are required. 

The proposal complies with the 
Affordable Housing SEPP requirement 
for bicycle parking with supplementary 
bicycle parking in lieu of motorcycle 
parking spaces. 

Significant surplus storage rooms are 
provided in the basement level.  A 
condition of consent is recommended to 
require 34 bicycle spaces (one per 
room) to be provided. 

3.12 Accessible Design Yes An accessibility report has been 
submitted with the application outlining   

3.13 Social and Environmental 
Responsibilities 

Yes The proposed development provides 
adequate passive surveillance and is 
generally designed in accordance with 
the CPTED principles. 

3.14 Waste Yes A waste management plan has been 
submitted as part of the application.  
Waste would be collected by a 
commercial contractor. 

A condition has been recommended for 
the proposed development to comply 
with the relevant provisions of the City of 
Sydney Guidelines for Waste 
Management in New Development. 

  

22



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

4. Development Types 

4.2 Residential Flat, 
Commercial and Mixed Use 
Developments 

Compliance Comment 

4.2.1.2 Floor to ceiling heights 
and floor to floor heights 

(1) Buildings with commercial 
or retail use to have a 
minimum floor to floor height of 
4.5m on the ground floor. 

(3) Ground and first floor units 
in a mixed use building to have 
floor to ceiling heights of 3.3m 

(4) Habitable rooms in multi - 
residential and mixed use to 
have a floor to ceiling height of 
2.7m. 

Partial 
compliance 

Acceptable.  The commercial 
component of the development is a 
minor element in terms of floor space.  
The proposed floor to floor heights are 
consistent with floor to floor heights 
within the streetscape and 
neighbourhood centre. 

Ground floor to floor height 3.4m. 

Floor to floor for levels 1 and 2 of 3.1m 
and 3.7m enables floor to ceiling heights 
of 2.7m. 

4.2.2 Setbacks 

 

Yes Proposal consistent with setbacks within 
the streetscape. 

4.2.3 Amenity 

4.2.3.1 Solar access 

(3) New development to not 
create additional 
overshadowing onto a 
neighbouring dwelling where 
the dwelling receives less than 
two hours direct sunlight to 
habitable rooms and 50% of 
POS. 

4.2.3.6 Deep soil 

(1) The minimum amount of 
deep soil is to be 10% of the 
site area. 

Partial 
compliance 

The proposal does not result in 
additional overshadowing to the principal 
POS of 25 Forest St. 

The proposal results in additional 
overshadowing to 178 St Johns Road at 
3pm to the rear courtyard area covered 
by a fixed awning that covers the 
majority of the courtyard area.  The 
overshadowing is considered acceptable 
given that the courtyard would receive 
the required two hours of sunlight in the 
absence of the awning. 

The proposal provides deep soil area of 
12sqm or 2.4% of the site.  The site 
currently provides no deep soil and this 
provision of deep soil is considered to be 
an appropriate improvement. 

23



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

4. Development Types 

4.2 Residential Flat, 
Commercial and Mixed Use 
Developments 

Compliance Comment 

4.2.6 Waste minimisation 

4.2.6.3 Mixed Use 
developments 

(1) Separate collection 
systems for residential and 
commercial waste. 

Yes Separate residential and commercial 
waste areas are provided.  

 

4. Development Types 

4.4.1 Boarding houses and 
student accommodation 

Compliance Comment 

4.4.1.1 Subdivision 

(1) Strata or community 
subdivision not permitted 

Yes Subdivision not proposed. 

4.4.1.2 Bedrooms 

(1) The gross floor area of a 
bedroom is to be at least: 

(a) 12sqm (including 
1.5sqm for 
wardrobe);  

(b) 4sqm for addition 
occupant;  

(c) 2sqm for ensuite; 

(d) 0.8sqm for shower; 

(e) 2sqm for 
kitchenette. 

(Total 16.9sqm single, 
20.9sqm double) 

(2) Each bedroom must have 
access to natural light. 

Partial 
compliance. 

Single rooms 16.8sqm to 17.05sqm. 
Minor variation to one room acceptable. 

Doubles rooms - 20.22sqm to 29.89sqm. 

No double bunks proposed. 

Building to meeting BCA Class 3 
requirements. 

24



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

4. Development Types 

4.4.1 Boarding houses and 
student accommodation 

Compliance Comment 

(3) Ensure ceiling height for 
double bunks is 2.7m. 

(4) Each bedroom is to meet 
the fire safety standards of a 
sole occupancy unit for a class 
3 building in the BCA. 

4.4.1.3 Communal kitchen 
areas 

(1) Minimum area that is 
greater than 6.5sqm in total or 
1.2sqm for each resident 
occupying a bedroom without 
a kitchenette. 

N/A Each room provided with kitchen 
facilities. 

4.4.1.4 Communal living areas 
and open space 

(1) Provide indoor communal 
living areas with a minimum 
area of 12.5sqm or 1.25sqm 
per resident and a width of 3m. 

(2) Indoor communal living 
areas are to be located: 

(a) Near commonly used 
spaces with transparent 
doors to enable natural 
surveillance from 
resident circulation; 

(b) Adjacent to communal 
open space; 

(c) To receive a minimum 2 
hours solar access to at 
least 50% of the 
windows during 9am and 
3pm on 21 June; 

(d) On each level of a 
multistorey boarding 
house where 
appropriate; 

No, 
justification 
accepted. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The proposal can accommodate up to 
59 residents and therefore requires 
74sqm of communal living area. 

Two areas of 22.4sqm and 37sqm to a 
total of 59.4sqm are provided. 

The larger room is located on level 2 
adjacent to the communal open space 
area. 

This provision is considered to be 
acceptable given the larger outdoor 
communal open space provided (58sqm 
rather than minimum of 20sqm) which is 
accessible adjacent to the common 
area, and the high proportion (42%) of 
bedrooms that have their own open 
space area. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

25



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

4. Development Types 

4.4.1 Boarding houses and 
student accommodation 

Compliance Comment 

(e) Where they will have 
minimal impact on 
bedrooms and adjoining 
properties. 

(3) Communal open space is 
to be provided with a minimum 
area of 20sqm and a minimum 
dimension of 3m. 

(4) Communal outdoor open 
space is to be located and 
designed to: 

(a) Generally be north facing 
to receive a minimum 
two hours solar access 
to at least 50% of the 
area during 9am and 
3pm on 21 June; 

(b) Be provided at ground 
level in a courtyard or 
terrace area, where 
possible; 

(c) Provide partial cover 
from weather; 

(d) Incorporate soft or 
porous surfaces for 50% 
of the area;  

(e) Be connected to 
communal indoor; 

(f) Contain communal 
facilities such as 
barbeques, seating and 
pergolas where 
appropriate; 

(g) Be screened from 
adjoining properties and 
the public domain with 
plantings, such as trellis 
with climbing vines. 

 

 

 

 

 

Yes 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Communal open space area of 58sqm 
provided as roof terrace (adjoining 
16sqm area for clothes drying not 
included).  Area is north facing and 
receives solar access to more than 50% 
of area.  The area provides seating, 
BBQ facilities, shade and landscaping.  
A clear acoustic screen is also provided 
(height 1.5m). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

26



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

4. Development Types 

4.4.1 Boarding houses and 
student accommodation 

Compliance Comment 

(5) 30% of all bedrooms are to 
have access to private open 
space with a minimum 4sqm in 
the form of balcony or terrace 
area. 

Yes 42% of bedrooms are provided with a 
balcony or terrace area, with 30% with 
access to an area 4sqm or larger. 

4.4.1.5 Bathroom, laundry and 
drying facilities 

(1) Communal bathroom 
facilities accessible to all 
residents 24 hours per day are 
to be provided. 

(2) Laundry facilities are to be 
provided: One washing per 
and one drier per 12 residents. 

Yes A communal bathroom is available. 

Bathroom facilities provided to each 
boarding room. 

Sufficient laundry and drying facilities 
are available. 

4.4.1.6 Amenity, safety and 
privacy 

(1) Boarding houses are to 
maintain a high level of 
resident amenity, safety and 
privacy. 

(2) Boarding houses are to be 
designed to minimise and 
mitigate any impacts on the 
visual and acoustic privacy of 
neighbouring buildings. 

Yes The boarding house has a secure entry 
point on the ground floor and an on-site 
resident manager. 

The communal open space is located on 
level 2 at the corner of St Johns Road 
and Forest Street and will have minimal 
impacts on privacy.  Acoustic screening 
is proposed to the perimeter.  

4.4.17 Plan of Management 

(1) An operating Plan of 
Management is to be 
submitted. 

Yes A Plan of Management (PoM) has been 
submitted with the application.  
Recommended updates to PoM would 
be required prior to the use commencing 
including: 

- Complaints procedure 

- Details of on-site manager 

- CCTV cameras in common areas 

- Advice regarding non-eligibility for on-
street parking schemes 

27



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

4. Development Types 

4.4.1 Boarding houses and 
student accommodation 

Compliance Comment 

- Recommendations within submitted 
acoustic report. 

- Updated bicycle parking provisions. 

A condition of consent is recommended 
requiring that all of these matters be 
included in a revised Plan of 
Management to be approved by the 
City's Area Planning Manager prior to 
the issue of any Occupation Certificate. 

In addition to the provision of a Plan of 
Management, a condition requiring a 
sign at the entry to the boarding house 
that displays the mobile phone number 
for the manager is also recommended to 
address any issues. 

Issues 

Clause 4.6 request to vary a development standard 

33. The proposal provides no motorcycle parking spaces.  Clause 30(1)(h) of the 
Affordable Housing SEPP requires seven motorcycle parking spaces for the proposed 
development. 

34. Clause 4.6(2) of SLEP 2012 provides that in certain circumstances, consent “…may be 
granted for development even though the development would contravene a 
development standard". 

35. A written request has been submitted to Council in accordance with Clause 4.6(3) of 
the Sydney LEP 2012 seeking to justify the contravention of the development standard 
by demonstrating: 

(a) that compliance with the development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary 
in the circumstances of the case; and 

(b) that there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify contravening 
the standard. 

36. A copy of the applicant's written request is provided at Attachment C. 

Applicants Written Request - Clause 4.6(3)(a) and (b) 

37. The applicant seeks to justify the contravention of the motor cycle parking 
development standard on the following basis: 

28



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

(a) That compliance with the development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary 
in the circumstances of the case: 

(i) the City of Sydney controls generally stipulate maximum parking rates 
rather than minimum parking rates for motor vehicles.  The under provision 
of motorcycle parking is consistent with the policy of encouraging public 
transport use, walking and cycling in inner-city locations which are in close 
proximity to shops, jobs, services and local amenities; 

(ii) the provision of motorcycle parking at grade would result in a driveway and 
ramp at the street level and impact on the streetscape; 

(iii) additional bicycle parking has been provided beyond that required under 
the SEPP to more than the equivalent of both bicycle and motorcycle 
parking rates; 

(iv) the site is close to public transport connections; and 

(v) the proposal is consistent with the objectives of the development standard 
and for development in the zone.  

(b) That there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify contravening 
the standard: 

(i) The absence of motorcycle parking spaces is designed to maximise both 
internal amenity and minimise impacts on the streetscape and public 
domain.  The provision of onsite motorcycle parking would result in the 
provision of dedicated driveways, ramps and entries that would have 
adverse streetscape impacts. 

(ii) 20 bicycle parking spaces are provided (exceeding the required 7 spaces) 
and will adequately compensate for the non-provision of motorcycle 
spaces. 

(iii) There are no demonstrable adverse environmental impacts arising from an 
absence of motorcycle parking spaces. 

(iv) The proposed development is consistent with the zone and development 
control objectives by providing a boarding house in a suitable location. 

(v) Strict compliance would likely require the deletion of a boarding room and 
impact upon the sizing of another room which would otherwise satisfy the 
opportunity for providing affordable housing in a medium density location.  

Consideration of Applicants Written Request - Clause 4.6(4) (a) (i) and (ii) 

38. Development consent must not be granted unless the consent authority is satisfied 
that: 

(a) the applicant’s written request has adequately addressed the matters required to 
be demonstrated by subclause 3 of Clause 4.6 being that compliance with the 
development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary in the circumstances of 
the case, and that there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify 
contravening the standard; and 

29



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

(b) the proposed development will be in the public interest because it is consistent 
with the objectives of the particular standard and the objectives for development 
within the zone in which the development is proposed to be carried out. 

Does the written request adequately address those issues at Clause 4.6(3)? 

39. The request is considered to have adequately demonstrated that compliance with the 
development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary.  As noted by the applicant, 
Council's parking controls for motor vehicles are generally expressed as maximum 
allowances with no minimum requirements for motor vehicle parking.  To require 
compliance with the standard and the provision of parking for private motorised 
vehicles would not be in accordance with the objective of the City's car parking 
standard which is to minimise the amount of vehicular traffic generated by a proposed 
development.  The objective of providing a range of transport options for the 
development is considered to be achieved notwithstanding the non-compliance with 
the development standard. 

40. The request is considered to have adequately demonstrated that there are sufficient 
environmental planning grounds to justify contravening the standard.  The provision of 
motorcycle parking on the site would result in impacts on the existing streetscape and 
public domain.  Additional bicycle parking is provided in excess of the required 
motorcycle provisions which is considered to provide a more sustainable transport 
option. In addition, given a large storage areas in the basement a condition of consent 
is recommended to provide 34 bicycle parking spaces (one per room).  The location of 
the site is in proximity to public transport options and to Sydney University (and other 
tertiary institutions) making it a desirable location for students and other lodgers. 

Is the development in the public interest? 

41. There is no stated objective for the motorcycle parking standard.  However it can be 
inferred that it relates to the provision of a range of transport options for a boarding 
house as the SEPP provisions refer to car parking, motorcycle, and bicycle parking. 

42. The objectives of the B1 Neighbourhood Centre Zone are: 

(a) to provide a range of small-scale retail, business and community uses that serve 
the needs of people who live or work in the surrounding neighbourhood; and 

(b) to allow appropriate residential uses so as to support the vitality of 
neighbourhood centres. 

43. The proposal is considered to be consistent with the objectives of the zone and for 
providing appropriate transport options in the locality.  The site is located in proximity 
to public transport and Sydney University which will encourage the use of public 
transport, walking and cycling.  

Conclusion 

44. For the reasons provided above, the requested variation to the motorcycle parking 
development standard contained in the Affordable Housing SEPP is supported as the 
applicant's written request has adequately addressed the matters required to be 
addressed by Clause 4.6 of the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 and the 
proposed development would be in the public interest because it is consistent with the 
objectives of development standard and the B1 Neighbourhood Centre Zone. 

30



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Heritage 

45. The site is located within the Hereford and Forest Lodge Heritage Conservation Area 
(HCA).  The site is therefore subject to the SLEP 2012 and DCP 2012 heritage 
provisions.  The terrace at 180 St Johns Road is noted as a contributory building on 
the Building Contribution Map.  The pub is older than 50 years and is noted as a 
neutral building on the Building Contribution Map for the HCA. 

46. The proposal includes restoration works to the facade of the terrace at 180 St Johns 
Road with alteration works to the rear, including the demolition of unsympathetic 
additions.  The proposal includes substantial demolition to the pub building at 182 St 
Johns Road. 

47. The proposal, including the proposed demolition, has been reviewed by Council's 
Senior Heritage Specialist who has noted that the hotel has been heavily modified both 
internally and externally and that the pub is shown as a neutral building on the Building 
Contribution Map for the HCA.  The substantial demolition of the pub is supported 
subject to an appropriate replacement building being situated in the HCA.   

48. Issues regarding both the form of the replacement building and works to the terrace 
have been raised during the assessment and have largely been addressed in the 
amended plans as noted above.  Issues that have been addressed include reducing 
the form the new building to not overhang the terrace; adjusting the position of the new 
awning in terms of its relationship to features of the terrace;  

49. Conditions are recommended to ensure restoration works are undertaken 
appropriately.  The proposal is considered to be consistent with the relevant heritage 
objectives and controls, and subject to conditions is supported. 

Privacy 

50. Privacy to and from the rooms on the north eastern elevation of the proposed building 
were identified as an issue in the originally submitted application.  The proposal was 
amended to provide increased setbacks and privacy measures along this side 
boundary for the new building.  The proposal as amended provides side setbacks of 2 
metres to the ground and first floors and 3 metres to the second floor.  The extent of 
glazing to this elevation has also been reduced, obscure glazing panels used, and a 
privacy screen included to half of the glazing to level 1 windows.  These measures are 
considered to achieve an acceptable level of privacy to and from the development on 
this elevation.  Details of the privacy screen are to be approved as part of the 
recommended conditions. 

51. Privacy to the boarding rooms on the ground floor western elevation that face directly 
to the footpath was also identified as an issue.  In response operable aluminium 
louvres have been proposed in front of the boarding room windows to give a measure 
of privacy and allow for natural light and ventilation.  This response is considered to 
address the issue in an acceptable manner. 

Construction Impacts 

52. As the proposal includes demolition and expansion of the existing basement, 
conditions have been recommended to mitigate against the construction impacts of the 
development including requirements for construction management plans and limiting 
the use of high noise emitting appliances.  

31



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Other Impacts of the Development 

53. The proposed development is capable of complying with the BCA. It is Class 3. 

54. It is considered that the proposal will have no significant detrimental effect relating to 
environmental, social or economic impacts on the locality, subject to appropriate 
conditions being imposed. 

Suitability of the site for the Development  

55. The proposal is of a nature in keeping with the overall function of the site within the 
neighbourhood business zone. The premises are in a commercial and residential 
surrounding and amongst similar uses to that proposed. 

Internal Referrals 

56. The conditions of other sections of Council have been included in the proposed 
conditions.  The application was discussed with the Heritage and Urban Design 
Specialists; Environmental Health; Public Domain; Safe City; Transport and Access 
Units. 

Notification and Advertising 

57. In accordance with Schedule 1 the Sydney DCP 2012, the proposed development is 
required to be notified and advertised. As such the application was notified and 
advertised for a period of 21 days. As a result of this notification there were 16 
submissions received.   The amended plans received were not re notified as 
amendments did not result in significant additional environmental impacts.  The issues 
raised in submissions are addresses as follows: 

Issue - Privacy 

(a) Concern was expressed regarding the proposed setbacks and potential 
overlooking and privacy impacts. 

Response - The amended proposal has provided increased side setbacks to the 
north east elevation with setbacks of 2m to the ground and first floor, and 3m to 
the second floor.  The size and design of windows to the north east elevation 
have also been amended to provide improved privacy to and from these rooms.  

Issue - Parking and traffic generation 

(b) Concerns have been expressed that the lack of provision of onsite car parking 
spaces will impact on the availability of parking in the area. 

Response - The non-provision of onsite car parking spaces is consistent with 
Council's maximum rather than minimum parking controls that seek to promote 
sustainable transport options.  The proposal includes additional bicycle parking 
for 20 bicycles within the basement above the required minimum seven spaces.  
This provision of bicycle parking is also considered to address the non-provision 
of motorcycle parking. 

  

32



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Issue - Noise impacts 

(c) Concern has been expressed regarding noise generation from plant and 
occupants. 

Response - The A/C plant located on the second floor has been relocated to a 
less visible location and would be able to accommodate noise attenuation 
without being visually obtrusive.  Other plant space is located within the 
basement. 

The common outdoor terrace is located away from adjoining dwellings at the St 
Johns Road and Forest Street intersection. A 1.5m high clear acoustic screen is 
proposed on the northern and western sides of the area.  The area is also 
subject to a plan of management restricting hours of use to 7am to 10pm.  
Subject to these measures the proposal is considered to be acceptable. 

Issue - Shadowing impacts 

(d) Concern has been expressed that the proposal will result in shadowing impacts 
to a dwelling across Forest Street. 

Response - The submitted solar diagrams indicate there would be some 
additional minor overshadowing of the front ground level of Forest Street at 
11am.  This would not be to the principal private open space of these dwellings. 

Issue - Safety and crime 

(e) Concern has been expressed regarding crime and anti-social behaviour in the 
area. 

Response - The proposed development has considered risks associated with 
crime and crime prevention.  Security measures have been included to minimise 
these risks including secure entries, privacy measures and having an onsite 
resident manager. 

Issue - Amenity 

(f) Concerns have been expressed that the proposal would impact on the amenity 
of the surrounding area  

Response - The potential amenity impacts of the proposal have been 
considered within this report. 

Issue - Housing diversity 

(g) A concern has been expressed that the proposal does not provide a diversity in 
its housing typology. 

Response - The proposal provides both single and double boarding rooms.  
There is no specific requirements regarding the ratios of typologies to be 
provided in a boarding house development.  The development as a boarding 
house would contribute to the diversification of accommodation typologies in the 
area. 

  

33



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Issue - Heritage impact 

(h) Concerns have been expressed that the proposed new building is not 
sympathetic to the conservation area, particularly the top storey and proposed 
finishes. 

Response - The proposal has been reviewed by Council's Senior Heritage 
Specialist and has been amended to address concerns regarding heritage 
impacts.  The amended proposal is considered to be sympathetic to the 
character of the conservation area. 

Issue - Height 

(i) A concern has been expressed that the height of the proposed building is not 
consistent with building height levels of the suburb. 

Response - The proposed height is within the permitted building height limit of 
the site and the height in storeys control.  The form of the building has been 
designed to be consistent with the character of the surrounding area. 

Issue - Economic Impacts 

(j) A concern has been expressed that the proposal would impact on property 
prices in the surrounding area. 

Response - There is no provided information that indicates that the proposal 
would impact on property prices in the surrounding area. 

Public Interest 

58. It is considered that the proposal will have no detrimental effect on the public interest, 
subject to appropriate conditions being proposed. 

Section 7.11 Contribution 

59. The development is subject of a Section 7.11 contribution under the provisions of the 
City of Sydney Development Contributions Plan 2015. This contribution is calculated 
on the basis of the development’s net increase in resident, worker and/or visitor 
populations. 

60. The contribution is calculated on the basis of 33 rooms for boarding house 
accommodation and 44sqm of retail food and drink floor area.  Credits have been 
applied for the most recent past uses of the sites including the 612sqm pub at 182 St 
Johns Road and a 3 bedroom residential dwelling at 180 St Johns Road. 

61. The following monetary contribution is required towards the cost of public amenities: 

  

34



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

(a) Open Space $213,325.22 

(b) Community 
Facilities 

$70,552.58 

(c) Traffic and 
Transport 

$372.857 

(d) Stormwater 
Drainage 

$0.00 

Total                   $284,250.37 

Conclusion 

62. The proposal includes partial demolition of the existing pub (Roxbury Hotel) and 
construction of a three storey commercial building and alterations to the adjoining 
terrace for the use as a boarding house containing 33 rooms and associated facilities 
including a roof terrace and basement storage; and a separate ground floor 
commercial tenancy. 

63. The applicant has submitted a written request to vary the motorcycle parking standard 
contained in Clause 30(1)(h) of State Environmental Planning Policy (Affordable 
Rental Housing) 2009.  The proposal provides no on site motorcycle parking.  The 
variation is supported in this instance.  The proposal is considered to be consistent 
with the key controls for the development contained within State Environmental 
Planning Policy (Affordable Rental Housing) 2009, Sydney Local Environmental Plan 
2012 and Sydney Development Control Plan 2012. 

64. The amenity of the boarding house is generally considered to be acceptable with the 
provision of indoor and outdoor communal areas, and a high proportion of individual 
boarding rooms with open space areas.   

65. The proposal is considered to provide appropriate activation on the St Johns Road 
frontage within the neighbourhood centre streetscape and to be compatible with the 
characteristics of the heritage conservation area in which it is located.  The application 
is recommended for approval subject to conditions. 

GRAHAM JAHN, AM 

Director City Planning, Development and Transport 

Shannon Rickersey, Senior Planner 

35



Attachment A 

Recommended Conditions of Consent

36



CONDITIONS OF CONSENT  

SCHEDULE 1A 

APPROVED DEVELOPMENT/DESIGN MODIFICATIONS/COVENANTS AND 
CONTRIBUTIONS/USE AND OPERATION 

(1) APPROVED DEVELOPMENT 

(a) Development must be in accordance with Development Application No. 
D/2018/1074 dated 10 September 2018 and the following drawings 
prepared by Mark Shapiro Architects: 

Drawing Number Drawing Name Date 

DA1000 Rev C Site Plan 13.02.19 

DA2000 Rev D Basement Floor 14.03.19 

DA2001 Rev D Ground Floor  14.03.19 

DA2002 Rev C First Floor 13.02.19 

DA2003 Rev C Second Floor 13.02.19 

DA2004 Rev C Roof 13.02.19 

DA2100 Rev C Ground Floor Demolition 13.02.19 

DA2101 Rev C First Floor Demolition 13.02.19 

DA2400 Rev D North Elevation 14.03.19 

DA2401 Rev C South Elevation 13.02.19 

DA2402 Rev C East Elevation 13.02.19 

DA2403 Rev D West Elevation 14.03.19 

DA2300 Rev C Section A 13.02.19 

DA2301 Rev C Section B 13.02.19 

DA2302 Rev C Section C 13.02.19 

DA2500 Rev D North Elevation Finishes 14.03.19 

DA2501 Rev D West Elevation Finishes 14.02.19 

DA2502 Rev C Terrace North Elevation 
Finishes 

13.02.19 

DA9400 Rev C Landscape Plan 13.02.19 

 

and as amended by the conditions of this consent. 

37



(b) In the event of any inconsistency between the approved plans and 
supplementary documentation, the plans will prevail. 

(2) ACCOMMODATION - REGISTRATION AND CARETAKER 

Prior to the issuing of an Occupation Certificate or occupation with an Interim 
Occupation Certificate (whichever is earlier), Council's Health and Building Unit 
must be advised in writing of the business name, address, owner or company 
name, 24 hour contact details for the site manager, and the number of occupants 
approved for the premises. A caretaker/manager must be contactable 24 hours a 
day. 

(3) RESTRICTION ON BOARDING HOUSE 

The following restriction applies to the parts of the building approved for boarding 
house use: 

(a) The building must be used as a boarding house only. 

(b) The minimum length of stay for lodgers is 3 months. 

(c) There shall be no more than 59 residents residing in the premises at any 
given time. 

(4) RESTRICTION ON STRATA SUBDIVISION 

In accordance with the provisions of Clause 52 of the State Environmental 
Planning Policy (Affordable Rental Housing) 2009 and the Sydney Development 
Control Plan 2012, the boarding house cannot be strata subdivided. 

(5) BOARDING HOUSE - USE AND OPERATION 

The use and operation of the premises must comply with the requirements of 
Schedule 2 (Standards for Places of Shared Accommodation) of the Local 
Government (General) Regulation, 2005 under the Local Government Act 1993, 
the Public Health Act, 2010, the Boarding Houses Act 2012 and regulations 
thereunder and the Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – 4.4.1. 

(6) USE OF COMMON AREAS 

The outdoor communal areas are to be used only between the hours of 7:00am to 
10:00pm daily. 

(7) NO SPEAKERS OR AMPLIFIED MUSIC OUTSIDE 

Speakers and/or noise amplification equipment must not be installed and music 
must not be played in any of the outdoor areas associated with the premises 
including the public domain. Speakers located within the premises must not be 
placed so as to direct the playing of music towards the outdoor areas associated 
with the premises. 

(8) PLAN OF MANAGEMENT 

The plan of management submitted with the application is not approved.  Prior to 
any Occupation Certificate being issued, an updated Plan of Management is to be 

38



submitted to Council’s Area Planning Manager for approval including the following 
updates: 

(a) A complaints procedure including incident register that is to be made 
available to Council upon request. 

(b) That the contact details of on-site manger to be made available to residents 
and neighbours. 

(c) That CCTV cameras are to be located in common areas, including basement 
bicycle parking. 

(d) Advice to occupants that they are not eligible to participate Council’s on-
street parking schemes. 

(e) Bicycle parking provisions are updated to reflect the conditions of this 
consent. 

(f) The recommendations included within the submitted acoustic report are to 
be included. 

(9) SIGN DISPLAYING CONTACT DETAILS FOR MANAGER 

(a) A sign must be placed in a clearly visible position at the boarding house 
entrance displaying the name of the manager and mobile phone number. 
The signage shall be in bold letters not less than 25mm in height on a 
contrasting background that can be read without entering the premises. 

(10) CONTRIBUTION TOWARDS PUBLIC AMENITIES – CITY OF SYDNEY 
DEVELOPMENT CONTRIBUTIONS PLAN 2015 – WEST PRECINCT 

Council has identified the development will increase demand for public amenities 
and facilities. Pursuant to Section 7.11 of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act, 1979 (as amended), and the City of Sydney Development 
Contributions Plan 2015 the following monetary contributions are required towards 
the cost of public amenities. 

Contribution Category Amount 

Open Space $213, 325.22 

Community Facilities $70, 552.58 

Traffic and Transport $372.57 

Stormwater Drainage $0.00 

Total $284, 250.37 

The City of Sydney will index the above contribution for inflation at the time of 
payment using the following formula. 

Cpayment = Cconsent x (CPIpayment ÷ CPIconsent) 

  

39



Where: 

Cpayment = Is the contribution at time of payment; 

Cconsent = Is the contribution at the time of consent, as shown above; 

CPIpayment = Is the Consumer Price Index (All Groups Index) for Sydney 
published by the Australian Bureau of Statistics that applies at 
the time of payment; and 

CPI1consent = Is the Consumer Price Index (All Groups Index) for Sydney at 
the date the contribution amount above was calculated being 
– 115.2 for the Dec 2018 quarter. 

The contribution must be paid prior to the issue of any Construction Certificate in 
relation to this development. 

Please contact Council’s Planning Administration staff at 
planningsystemsadmin@cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au to request a letter confirming 
the indexed contribution amount payable. 

Once the letter confirming the indexed contribution is obtained, payment may be 
made at any of the City’s Neighbourhood Service Centres or the One Stop Shop 
at Town Hall House. Acceptable payment methods are EFTPOS (debit card only), 
cash (up to 10K only), Credit Card (up to 50K only) or a bank cheque made 
payable to the City of Sydney. Personal or company cheques will not be accepted. 

(11)  DESIGN DETAILS / DESIGN MODIFICATIONS 

The design of the building must be modified as follows: 

(a) Details of the first floor external metal privacy screens on the east elevation 
are to be submitted for approval.  The details of the screens are to include 
the size, design, spacing, and operability of the louvres (at a scale of 1:20), 
and include analysis that confirms that the privacy function of the louvres is 
achieved by appropriately restricting views to neighbouring properties 

(b) To accommodate a total of 34 bicycle parking spaces 

The modifications are to be submitted to and approved by Council’s Area Planning 
Manager prior to the issue of a Construction Certificate. 

(12) USE - SEPARATE APPROVAL REQUIRED 

A separate application for the fitout and use of the ground floor commercial 
tenancy must be submitted and approved prior to that fitout or use commencing. 

(13) BICYCLE PARKING  

The minimum number of bicycle parking spaces to be provided must comply with 
the approved plans and the table below. 

40



User Number of bicycles to 
be accommodated 

Requirements 

Site occupants At least 34 Class B bicycle parking 
facility  

 

The layout, design and security of bicycle facilities must comply with Australian 
Standard AS 2890.3:2015 Parking Facilities Part 3: Bicycle Parking Facilities. The 
details must be submitted to and approved by the Certifying Authority confirming 
prior to the Construction Certificate being issued. 

(14) CHANGES TO KERB SIDE CAR PARKING RESTRICTIONS 

A separate submission must be made for any changes to kerbside parking 
arrangements. There is no guarantee kerbside parking will be changed or that any 
change will remain in place for the duration of the development/use. 

All costs associated with any parking changes including signposting would be 
borne by the developer. 

Note: The applicant is to contact the Area Traffic Engineer to discuss the proposal 
before making a submission. 

If new parking signage is installed, the developer is to immediately notify the City’s 
Public Domain team. 

(15) ASSOCIATED ROADWAY COSTS 

All costs associated with the construction of any new road works including kerb 
and gutter, road pavement, drainage system and footway shall be borne by the 
developer. The new road works must be designed and constructed in accordance 
with the City’s “Development Specification for Civil Works Design and 
Construction”. 

(16) TRAFFIC WORKS 

Any proposals for alterations to the public road, involving traffic and parking 
arrangements, must be designed in accordance with RMS Technical Directives 
and must be referred to and agreed to by the Local Pedestrian, Cycling and Traffic 
Calming Committee prior to any work commencing on site. 

(17) SYDNEY WATER CERTIFICATE 

A Section 73 Compliance Certificate under the Sydney Water Act 1994 must be 
obtained from Sydney Water Corporation. 

Application must be made through an authorised Water Servicing Coordinator. 
Please refer to the Building Developing and Plumbing section on the web site 
www.sydneywater.com.au then refer to “Water Servicing Coordinator” under 
“Developing Your Land” or telephone 13 20 92 for assistance. 

Following the submission of the application a “Notice of Requirements” will advise 
of water and sewer infrastructure to be built and charges to be paid. Please make 

41



early contact with the Coordinator, since building of water/sewer infrastructure can 
be time consuming and may impact on other services and building, driveway or 
landscape design. 

The Section 73 Certificate must be submitted to Council or the Principal Certifier 
prior to an Occupation Certificate or subdivision/strata certificate being issued. 

(18) WASTE 

Storage  

(a) The nominated waste and recycling storage areas must be constructed to 
meet the relevant conditions required by the City’s Guidelines for Waste 
Management in New Developments 2018. 

(b) Residential bulky waste storage space should be separated by a caged area 
(or similar) if to be included within a nominated waste holding room for 
storage or collection bins.  

(c) Residential and commercial waste and recycling receptacles and bulky 
waste must be stored on the property at all times and must not be placed on 
kerbside for collection.   

(d) Commercial waste and recycling receptacles must be stored in a separated 
area from residential waste and recycling receptacles and commercial 
tenants must not have access to residential bins or waste rooms. 

(e) Doorways to bin collection area(s) and any goods lift(s) must fit the size of 
bins proposed for use in the WMP. Dimensions of standard bins available 
for use are:   

1,100 litres – 1240mm long X 1070mm wide 
660 litres – 1260mm long X 780mm wide  
240 litres – 730mm long X 550mm wide) 

Waste and Recycling Collection 

(f) The path of access to be used to move bins to and from collection point must 
be level and free of steps or kerbs. 

(g) Unimpeded access must be provided for collection from the waste and 
recycling storage location(s) at all times. 

(h) Unimpeded access shall be provided for collection vehicles to set down 
within 10 metres of waste storage area(s) between during the designated 
zone collection times on collection day(s).  

(i) The Boarding House and Commercial tenancy must have a commercial 
waste contract in place prior to commencement of business trading. 

  

42



SCHEDULE 1B 

PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION CERTIFICATE/COMMENCEMENT OF 
WORK/HEALTH AND BUILDING 

(20) NOTIFICATION – NEW CONTAMINATION EVIDENCE 

Any new information which comes to light during, demolition or construction works 
which has the potential to alter previous conclusions about site contamination shall 
be notified to Council’s Area Planning Manager and the Principal Certifier. 

(21) IMPORTED FILL MATERIALS 

All fill imported onto the site shall be validated to ensure the imported fill is suitable 
for the proposed land use from a contamination perspective. Fill imported on to 
the site shall also be compatible with the existing soil characteristic for site 
drainage purposes. 

The City may require details of appropriate validation of imported fill material to be 
submitted with any application for future development of the site. Hence all fill 
imported onto the site should be validated by either one or both of the following 
methods during remediation works: 

(a) Imported fill should be accompanied by documentation from the supplier 
which certifies that the material is not contaminated based upon analyses of 
the material for the known past history of the site where the material is 
obtained; and/or  

(b) Sampling and analysis of the fill material shall be conducted in accordance 
with NSW EPA (1995) Sampling Design Guidelines. 

(22) BASIX CERTIFICATE – DETAILS TO BE LODGED WITH A CC 

A copy of the required completed BASIX certificate accepted as part of this 
Development Consent with respect to the proposed residential building works, 
must be lodged with an application for a construction certificate and the items 
nominated as part of the subject BASIX certificate must be specified on the plans 
submitted with the construction certificate application. – See Note. 

IMPORTANT NOTE: 

Any requirement detailed in the accompanying BASIX Certificate, MUST be 
included as a specific notation or inclusion on any future Construction Certificate 
plans and specification in accordance with Part 3 of Schedule 1 of the EP&A 
Regulation, 2000. 

(23) LANDSCAPING OF THE SITE 

(a) A detailed landscape plan, drawn to scale, by a qualified landscape architect 
or landscape designer, must be submitted to and approved by Council’s 
Area Planning Manager prior to the issue of a Construction Certificate for 
above ground building works. The plan must include: 

43



(i) Location of existing and proposed structures on the site including, but 
not limited to, existing and proposed trees, paved areas, planted areas 
on slab, planted areas in natural ground, lighting and other features; 

(ii) Details of earthworks and soil depths including mounding and retaining 
walls and planter boxes (if applicable). The minimum soil depths for 
planting on slab must be 1000mm for trees, 450mm for shrubs and 
200mm for groundcovers; 

(iii) Location, numbers, type and supply of plant species, with reference to 
NATSPEC (if applicable); 

(iv) Details of planting procedure and maintenance; 

(v) Details of drainage, waterproofing and watering systems. 

(b) Prior to the issue of a Construction Certificate, a maintenance plan is to be 
submitted to and approved by the Principal Certifier. The maintenance plan 
is to be complied with during occupation of the property. 

(c) All landscaping in the approved plan is to be completed prior to an 
Occupation Certificate being issued. 

(24) ASBESTOS REMOVAL WORKS 

(a) All works removing asbestos containing materials must be carried out by a 
suitably licensed asbestos removalist duly licensed with Safework NSW, 
holding either a Friable (Class A) or a Non- Friable (Class B) Asbestos 
Removal Licence which ever applies. 

A copy of the relevant licence shall be made available to any authorised 
Council officer on request within 24 hours. 

(b) Five days prior to the commencement of licensed asbestos removal, 
Safework NSW must be formally notified of the works. All adjoining 
properties and those opposite the development must be notified in writing of 
the dates and times when asbestos removal is to be conducted. The 
notification must identify the licensed asbestos removal contractor and 
include a contact person for the site together with telephone number and 
email address. 

(c) All work must be carried out in accordance with the Work Health and Safety 
Regulation 2011 and the NSW Government and Work Cover document 
entitled How to manage and control asbestos in the work place: Code of 
Practice (Safework NSW) December 2011 and the City of Sydney Managing 
Asbestos Policy dated 21 October 2013 and associated guidelines. 

  

44



(d) The asbestos removalist must use signs and barricades to clearly indicate 
the area where the asbestos removal work is being performed. Signs must 
be placed in positions so that people are aware of where the asbestos 
removal work area is and should remain in place until removal is completed 
and clearance to reoccupy has been granted. Responsibilities for the 
security and safety of the asbestos removal site and removal must be 
specified in the asbestos removal control plan (where required). This 
includes inaccessible areas that are likely to contain asbestos. 

(e) Warning signs must be placed so they inform all people nearby that asbestos 
removal work is taking place in the area. Signs must be placed at all of the 
main entry points to the asbestos removal work area where asbestos is 
present. These signs must be weatherproof, constructed of light-weight 
material and adequately secured so they remain in prominent locations. The 
signs must be in accordance with AS 1319 -1994 Safety Signs for the 
Occupational Environment for size, illumination, location and maintenance. 

(f) Asbestos waste must only be transported and disposed of at an EPA 
licensed waste facility. 

(g) No asbestos products are to be reused on the site (i.e. packing pieces, 
spacers, formwork or fill etc). 

(h) No asbestos laden skips or bins are to be left in any public place without the 
written approval of Council. 

(i) A site notice board must be located at the main entrance to the site in a 
prominent position and must have minimum dimensions of 841mm x 594mm 
(A1) with any text on the notice to be a minimum of 30 point type size. 

The site notice board must include the following: 

(i) contact person for the site; 

(ii) telephone and facsimile numbers and email address; and 

(iii) site activities and time frames. 

(25) FLASHINGS TO BOUNDARY WALLS 

A flashing must be provided to prevent water entering between the proposed and 
existing external boundary walls of the adjoining properties. 

Note: Attachments or connections to party walls may require the consent of the 
adjoining property owner/s. 

(26) DEMOLITION, EXCAVATION AND CONSTRUCTION NOISE AND VIBRATION 
MANAGEMENT PLAN 

A site specific management plan shall be submitted to the Council for comment 
and approval prior to issue of any Construction Certificate.  The Plan must be 
prepared by a suitably qualified person/s. 

(a) The plan must include but not be limited to the following:- 

45



(i) Plans and elevations showing distances of the subject building from 
the location of adjoining and common/party walls, and (where 
applicable) the proposed method of facade retention and protection. 

(ii) A Demolition Work Method Statement prepared by a licensed 
demolisher who is registered with the Work Cover Authority. (The 
demolition by induced collapse, the use of explosives or on-site 
burning is not permitted.) 

(iii) An Excavation Work Method Statement prepared by an appropriately 
qualified person. 

(iv) A Waste Management Plan for the demolition and or excavation of the 
proposed development. 

(v) Plans and elevations showing the location, construction and 
installation of temporary site fencing and any temporary structures 
used in connection with the construction of the development. 

(vi) Noise 

(vii) Identification of noise sensitive receivers near to the site. 

(viii) A prediction as to the level of noise impact likely to affect the nearest 
noise sensitive receivers from the use and proposed number of high 
noise intrusive appliances intended to be operated onsite. A statement 
should also be submitted outlining whether or not predicted noise 
levels will comply with the noise criteria stated within the City of 
Sydney Construction Hours /Noise Code of Practice 1992 for the 
typical construction hours of 07.00am to 7.00pm. Where resultant site 
noise levels are likely to be in exceedance of this noise criteria then a 
suitable proposal must be given as to the duration and frequency of 
respite periods that will be afforded to the occupiers of neighbouring 
property. 

(ix) A representative background noise measurement (LA90, 15 minute) should 
be submitted, assessed in the vicinity of any potentially affected 
receiver locations and measured in accordance with AS 
1055:1.2.1997. 

(x) Confirmation of the level of community consultation that has/is and will 
be undertaken with Building Managers/ occupiers of the main 
adjoining noise sensitive properties likely to be most affected by site 
works and the operation of plant/machinery particularly during the 
demolition and excavation phases. 

(xi) Confirmation of noise monitoring methodology that is to be undertaken 
during the main stages of work at neighbouring noise sensitive 
properties in order to keep complaints to a minimum and to ensure that 
noise from site works complies with the noise criteria contained within 
City's Construction Noise Code. 

(xii) What course of action will be undertaken following receipt of a 
complaint concerning offensive noise. 

46



(xiii) Details of any noise mitigation measures that have been outlined by 
an acoustic consultant or otherwise that will be deployed on site to 
reduce noise impacts on the occupiers of neighbouring noise sensitive 
property to a minimum. 

(xiv) What plant and equipment is to be used on site, the level of sound 
mitigation measures to be undertaken in each case and the criteria 
adopted in their selection taking into account the likely noise impacts 
on the occupiers of neighbouring property and other less intrusive 
technologies available. 

Note: Temporary structures, including hoardings and scaffolding, 
proposed for erection on City-owned and controlled land (footways and 
roadways), must comply with the City’s Guidelines for Hoardings and 
Scaffolding and be approved by Council under the provisions of the 
Local Government Act 1993 and the Roads Act 1993 prior to 
installation. 

(b) Such statements must, where applicable, be in compliance with AS2601-
2001 Demolition of Structures, the Work, Health and Safety Act 2011 and 
Regulation; Council’s Policy for Waste Minimisation in New Developments 
2005, the Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery Act 2001, and all other 
relevant acts and regulations and must include provisions for: 

(i) A Materials Handling Statement for the removal of refuse from the site 
in accordance with the Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery Act 
2001. 

(ii) The name and address of the company/contractor undertaking 
demolition/excavation works. 

(iii) The name and address of the company/contractor undertaking off site 
remediation/disposal of excavated materials. 

(iv) The name and address of the transport contractor. 

(v) The type and quantity of material to be removed from site. 

(vi) Location and method of waste disposal and recycling. 

(vii) Proposed truck routes, in accordance with this development consent. 

(viii) Procedures to be adopted for the prevention of loose or contaminated 
material, spoil, dust and litter from being deposited onto the public way 
from trucks and associated equipment and the proposed method of 
cleaning surrounding roadways from such deposits. (Note: With regard 
to demolition of buildings, dust emission must be minimised for the full 
height of the building. A minimum requirement is that perimeter 
scaffolding, combined with chain wire and shade cloth must be used, 
together with continuous water spray during the demolition process. 
Compressed air must not be used to blow dust from the building site). 

(ix) Measures to control noise emissions from the site. 

(x) Measures to suppress odours. 

47



(xi) Enclosing and making the site safe. 

(xii) Induction training for on-site personnel. 

(xiii) Written confirmation that an appropriately qualified Occupational 
Hygiene Consultant has inspected the building/site for asbestos, 
contamination and other hazardous materials, in accordance with the 
procedures acceptable to Work Cover Authority. 

(xiv) An Asbestos and Hazardous Materials Clearance Certificate by a 
person approved by the Work Cover Authority. 

(xv) Disconnection of utilities. 

(xvi) Fire Fighting. (Fire fighting services on site are to be maintained at all 
times during demolition work. Access to fire services in the street must 
not be obstructed). 

(xvii) Access and egress. (Demolition and excavation activity must not 
cause damage to or adversely affect the safe access and egress of 
the subject building or any adjacent buildings). 

(xviii) Waterproofing of any exposed surfaces of adjoining buildings. 

(xix) Control of water pollution and leachate and cleaning of vehicles tyres 
(proposals must be in accordance with the Protection of the 
Environmental Operations Act 1997). 

(xx) Working hours, in accordance with this development consent. 

(xxi) Any Work Cover Authority requirements. 

(27) COMPLIANCE WITH DEMOLITION, EXCAVATION & CONSTRUCTION NOISE 
AND VIBRATION MANAGEMENT PLAN 

(a) All works conducted on site which form part of this development must be 
carried out in accordance with the submitted Demolition, Excavation and 
Construction Management Plan submitted to and approved by Council in 
accordance with Condition (24) ‘Demolition, Excavation and Construction 
Noise and Vibration Management Plan’. 

  

48



(b) Where all such control measures have been implemented and the resultant 
noise and/ or vibration levels at any sensitive receiver still exceed the 
council’s applicable criteria stated in the Construction Hours/Noise Code 
1992 and are giving rise to sustained complaints then the contractor must 
provide regular, appropriate and sustained periods of respite in 
consultation with Council’s Health and Building unit. Approval to vary the 
authorised noise and vibration levels must be received in writing by the 
proponent from Council prior to activities being undertaken that exceed 
sanctioned emission levels. (Use where respite periods not specified under 
the approved DEC NMP) 

Such periods must be set and agreed to by Council’s Health and Building 
Unit. 

(28) CONSTRUCTION TRAFFIC AND PEDESTRIAN MANAGEMENT PLAN 

A Construction Traffic and Pedestrian Management Plan must be submitted to and 
approved by Council prior to a Construction Certificate being issued. 

Construction Traffic and Pedestrian Management Plans are to be prepared in 
accordance with Standard Requirements for Construction Traffic Management 
Plan on the City’s website 
http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/business/business-responsibilities/traffic-
management/construction-traffic-management-plans  

(29) DILAPIDATION REPORT 

Subject to the receipt of permission of the affected landowner, dilapidation report/s 
of adjoining buildings are to be prepared by an appropriately qualified practising 
structural engineer and submitted for the approval of the Principal Certifier: 

(a) prior to the commencement of demolition/excavation works; and 

(b) on completion of construction demolition/excavation works. 

(30) EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL - BETWEEN 250 AND 2,500SQM 

Prior to the commencement of demolition/excavation/construction work, an 
Erosion and Sediment Control Plan (ESCP) must be submitted to and be approved 
by the Principal Certifier. The ESCP must: 

(a) Conform to the specifications and standards contained in Managing Urban 
Stormwater: Soils and Construction (Landcom, 2004); the Guidelines for 
Erosion and Sediment Control on Building Sites (City of Sydney, 2004); and 
the NSW Protection of the Environment Operations Act 1997. 

(b) Include a drawing(s) that clearly shows: 

(i) location of site boundaries and adjoining roads 

(ii) approximate grades and indications of direction(s) of fall 

(iii) approximate location of trees and other vegetation, showing items for 
removal or retention 

49

http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/business/business-responsibilities/traffic-management/construction-traffic-management-plans
http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/business/business-responsibilities/traffic-management/construction-traffic-management-plans


(iv) location of site access, proposed roads and other impervious areas 

(v) existing and proposed drainage patterns with stormwater discharge 
points 

(vi) north point and scale 

(c) Specify how soil conservation measures will be conducted on site including: 

(i) timing of works 

(ii) locations of lands where a protective ground cover will, as far as is 
practicable, be maintained 

(iii) access protection measures 

(iv) nature and extent of earthworks, including the amount of any cut and 
fill 

(v) where applicable, the diversion of runoff from upslope lands around 
the disturbed areas 

(vi) location of all soil and other material stockpiles including topsoil 
storage, protection and reuse methodology 

(vii) procedures by which stormwater is to be collected and treated prior to 
discharge including details of any proposed pollution control device(s) 

(viii) frequency and nature of any maintenance program 

(ix) other site-specific soil or water conservation structures. 

(31) CLASSIFICATION OF WASTE 

Prior to the exportation of waste (including fill or soil) from the site, the waste 
materials must be classified in accordance with the provisions of the Protection of 
the Environment Operations Act 1997 and the NSW DECC Waste Classification 
Guidelines, Part1: Classifying Waste (July 2009). The classification of the material 
is essential to determine where the waste may be legally taken. The Protection of 
the Environment Operations Act 1997 provides for the commission of an offence 
for both the waste owner and the transporters if the waste is taken to a place that 
cannot lawfully be used as a waste facility for the particular class of waste. For the 
transport and disposal of industrial, hazardous or Group A liquid waste advice 
should be sought from the EPA. 

(32) ARCHAEOLOGICAL INVESTIGATION 

(a) Should any historical relics be unexpectedly discovered on the site during 
excavation, all excavation or disturbance to the area is to stop immediately 
and the Heritage Council of NSW should be informed in accordance with 
section 146 of the Heritage Act 1977. 

(b) Should any Aboriginal relics be unexpectedly discovered then all excavation 
or disturbance of the area is to stop immediately and the National Parks and 
Wildlife Division of the Department of  Environment and Conservation is to 

50



be informed in accordance with Section 91 of the National Parks and Wildlife 
Act, 1974 

(c) Should any archaeological remains or Aboriginal objects be discovered, a 
copy of recording of the finds and the final archaeological summary report is 
to be submitted to Council prior to the Occupational Certificate; 

(d) If the discovery is on Council’s land, Council must be informed. 

(33) GENERAL HERITAGE 

(a) The fabric and features of the terrace at 180 St Johns Road to be retained 
by the proposal must be property protected during the process of demolition 
and construction. The protection measures are to be specified in the 
construction management plan. 

(b) All conservation and adaption works to the terrace are to be in accordance 
with the Articles of the Australia ICOMOS Burra Charter 1999. 

(c) Experienced tradespersons (as appropriate) are to be commissioned who 
are skilled in traditional building and engineering trades to carry out the 
proposed scope of works to the terrace. 

(34) MAKING GOOD EXISTING TERRACE 

(a) All new external finishes and works of making good to the existing terrace 
must shall match the existing original work adjacent in the terrace pair in 
respect of materials used, detailed execution and finished appearance. 

(35) HERITAGE INTERPRETATION PLAN 

(a) An interpretation plan for the site must be submitted to and approved by 
Council’s Area Planning Manager, prior to a Construction Certificate being 
issued. 

(b) The interpretation plan must detail how information on the history and 
significance of the site will be provided for the public and make 
recommendations regarding public accessibility, signage and lighting. 
Public art, details of the heritage design, the display of selected artefacts, 
early plans and photographs are some of the means that can be used. 

(c) The plan, must specify the location, type, materials, finishes and contents 
of the interpretation device proposed. 

(d) The plan is to be prepared by a suitably experienced heritage consultant or 
historian     

(e) Prior to any Occupation Certificate being issued the approved 
interpretation plan must be implemented to the satisfaction of Council’s 
Area Planning Manager. 

(36) EXTERNAL COLOUR SCHEME OF TERRACE 

(a) The external colour scheme of the terrace at 180 St Johns Road is to 
comprise predominantly earthy tones in keeping with the overall Victorian 

51



character of the building and the Heritage Conservation Area. A schedule of 
colours is to be submitted to and approved by Council’s Area Coordinator 
Planning Assessments / Area Planning Manager prior to the issue of any 
Construction Certificate. The documentation must show the distribution of 
the colours on the elevation drawings, specify paint types and include colour 
swatches/colour names and codes. 

(b) It is recommended that reference be made to the book "Colour Schemes for 
Old Australian Houses" by Ian Evans, Clive Lucas and Ian Stapleton.. 

(37) TERRACE FAÇADE CONSERVATION WORKS 

The Conservation Works shown on drawings prepared by Mark Shapiro Architects 
referenced in Condition 1 are to be carried out, under the direction of the 
applicant’s heritage consultant and completed prior to the issue of any occupation 
certificate. 

(38) RETENTION OF CHIMNEY 

The existing chimney at 180 St Johns Road is to be retained and protected in 
accordance with the measures included within the report prepared by Sellick 
Consultants Ref: 180350, Dated 23 January 2019. 

(39) STREET TREE PROTECTION 

Street trees must be protected in accordance with the Australian Standard 4970 
Protection of Trees on Development Sites. All street trees must be protected 
during the construction works as follows: 

(a) Tree trunk and major limb protection must be undertaken prior to or during 
the installation of any hoarding or scaffoldings. The protection must be 
installed by a qualified Arborist (AFQ 2 or 3) and must include: 

(i) An adequate clearance, minimum 250mm, must be provided between 
the structure and tree branches, limbs and truck at all times; 

(ii) Tree trunk/s and/or major branches, located within 500mm of any 
hoarding or scaffolding structure, must be protected by wrapped 
hessian or similar material to limit damage, and 

(iii) Timber planks (50mm x 100mm or similar) must be placed around tree 
trunk/s. The timber planks must be spaced at 100mm intervals, and 
must be fixed against the trunk with tie wire, or strapping. The hessian 
and timber planks must not be fixed to the tree in any instance, or in 
any fashion, 

(iv) Tree trunk and major branch protection is to remain in place for the 
duration of construction and development works, and must be 
removed at the completion of the project. 

(b) All hoarding support columns are to be placed a minimum of 300mm from 
the edge of the existing tree pits/setts, so that no sinking or damage occurs 
to the existing tree setts. Supporting columns must not be placed on any tree 
roots that are exposed. 

52



(c) Materials or goods, including site sheds, must not be stored or placed: 

(i) around or under the tree canopy; or 

(ii) within two (2) metres of tree trunks or branches of any street trees. 

(d) Protective fencing (1.8 metre chain wire mesh fencing) must be erected on 
top of the hoarding [Tree Management Team to insert location of hoarding 
and affected trees] to protect branches during the construction works. 

(e) Any damage sustained to street tree/s as a result of the erection of 
hoardings, scaffolding, or due to the loading/unloading of vehicles adjacent 
the site, must be immediately reported to the Council's Street Tree Contract 
Coordinator on 9265 9333, in order to determine the appropriate action for 
maintaining the health and structural integrity of any damaged street tree. 

(40) STREET TREE PRUNING AND REMOVAL 

(a) The consent from Council must be obtained prior to the undertaking of any 
street tree pruning works including tree roots greater than 40mm diameter. 
Only minor pruning works will be approved by Council. 

(b) Any pruning that is required to accommodate hoardings, scaffolding, or to 
accommodate the loading/unloading of vehicles, and has been approved by 
Council, must be carried out by a qualified Arborist (AQF3), and must be in 
accordance with AS4373 Australian Standards 'Pruning of Amenity Trees'. 

(c) The removal of any street tree approved by Council must include complete 
stump removal and the temporary reinstatement of levels so that no trip or 
fall hazards exist until suitable replanting occurs. These works must be 
completed immediately following the trees removal. 

(41) SURVEY 

All footings, walls and floor slabs adjacent to a boundary must be set out by a 
registered surveyor. On commencement of brickwork or wall construction a survey 
and report, prepared by a Registered Surveyor, must be submitted to the Principal 
Certifier indicating the position of external walls in relation to the boundaries of the 
allotment. Any encroachments by the subject building over adjoining boundaries 
or roads must be removed prior to continuation of building construction work. 

  

53



(42) SYDNEY WATER CERTIFICATE (TAP-IN) 

(a) The approved plans must be submitted to Sydney Water's "Tap-in" online 
service to determine whether the development will affect Sydney Water’s 
sewer and water mains, stormwater drains and/or easements, and if further 
requirements need to be met. Sydney Water's "Tap-in" online service is 
available at www.sydneywater.com.au, (see Plumbing, Building & 
Development and then Sydney Water "Tap-in"). 

(b) The Consent Authority or a Principal Certifier must ensure that Sydney 
Water has appropriately stamped the plans before the commencement of 
work. 

(43) ALIGNMENT LEVELS – MAJOR DEVELOPMENT 

(a) Proposed building floor levels, basement levels, basement car park entry 
levels and ground levels shown on the approved Development Application 
plans are indicative only and have not been approved by this consent. 

(b) Prior to a Construction Certificate being issued for any excavation, civil 
construction, drainage or building work (whichever is earlier), excluding 
approved preparatory or demolition work,  alignment levels for the building 
and site frontages must be submitted to and approved by Council. The 
submission must be prepared by a Registered Surveyor and designed by a 
suitably qualified engineer, must be in accordance with the City of Sydney's 
Public Domain Manual and must be submitted with a completed and Levels 
and Gradients Approval Application form (available on the City’s website). 

(c) These alignment levels, as approved by Council, are to be incorporated into 
the plans submitted with the application for a Construction Certificate for any 
civil, drainage and public domain work as applicable under this consent. If 
the proposed detailed design of the public domain requires changes to any 
previously approved Alignment Levels, then an amended Alignment Levels 
submission must be submitted to and approved by Council to reflect these 
changes prior to a Construction Certificate being issued for public domain 
work. 

(44) PHOTOGRAPHIC RECORD / DILAPIDATION REPORT - PUBLIC DOMAIN 

Prior to an approval for demolition being granted or a Construction Certificate 
being issued, whichever is earlier, a photographic recording of the public domain 
site frontages is to be prepared and submitted to Council's satisfaction. 

The recording must include clear images of the building facade adjoining the 
footpath, the footpath, nature strip, kerb and gutter, driveway crossovers and 
laybacks, kerb ramps, road carriageway, street trees and plantings, parking 
restriction and traffic signs, and all other existing infrastructure along the street. 

The form of the recording is to be as follows:- 

(a) A PDF format report containing all images at a scale that clearly 
demonstrates the existing site conditions; 

54

http://www.sydneywater.com.au/


(b) Each image is to be labelled to identify the elements depicted, the direction 
that the image is viewed towards, and include the name of the relevant street 
frontage; 

(c) Each image is to be numbered and cross referenced to a site location plan; 

(d) A summary report, prepared by a suitable qualified professional, must be 
submitted in conjunction with the images detailing the project description, 
identifying any apparent existing defects, detailing the date and authorship 
of the photographic record, the method of documentation and limitations of 
the photographic record; 

(e) Include written confirmation, issued with the authority of both the applicant 
and the photographer that the City of Sydney is granted a perpetual non-
exclusive license to make use of the copyright in all images supplied, 
including the right to make copies available to third parties as though they 
were Council images. The signatures of both the applicant and the 
photographer must be included. 

Any damage to the public way including trees, footpaths, kerbs, gutters, road 
carriageway and the like must immediately be made safe and functional by the 
applicant. Damage must be fully rectified by the applicant in accordance with the 
City’s standards prior to a Certificate of Completion being issued for Public Domain 
Works or before an Occupation Certificate is issued for the development, 
whichever is earlier. 

(45) PUBLIC DOMAIN PLAN 

(a) A detailed Public Domain Plan must be prepared by a suitably qualified 
architect, urban designer, landscape architect or engineer and must be 
lodged with Council’s Public Domain Section and be approved by Council 
prior to a Construction Certificate being issued for public domain work or 
above ground building work, whichever is later. 

(b) The Public Domain Plan must document all works required to ensure that 
the public domain complies with the City of Sydney’s Public Domain Manual, 
Sydney Streets Design Code and Sydney Streets Technical Specification, 
including requirements for road pavement, traffic measures, footway 
pavement, kerb and gutter, drainage, vehicle crossovers, pedestrian ramps, 
lighting, street trees and landscaping, signage and other public domain 
elements. If an Alignment Levels condition applies to the development, the 
Public Domain Plan submission must incorporate the approved Alignment 
Levels. If the proposed detailed design of the public domain requires 
changes to any previously approved Alignment Levels, then an amended 
Alignment Levels submission must be submitted to and approved by Council 
to reflect these changes prior to a Construction Certificate being issued for 
public domain work. 

(c) The works to the public domain are to be completed in accordance with the 
approved Public Domain Plan and Alignment Levels plans and the Public 
Domain Manual before any Occupation Certificate is issued in respect of the 
development or before the use commences, whichever is earlier. 

  

55



(d) A Public Domain Works Deposit will be required for the public domain works, 
in accordance with the City of Sydney’s adopted fees and charges and the 
Public Domain Manual. The Public Domain Works Deposit must be 
submitted as an unconditional bank guarantee in favour of Council as 
security for completion of the obligations under this consent. 

(e) Council's Public Domain section must be contacted to determine the 
guarantee amount prior to lodgement of the guarantee. The guarantee must 
be lodged with Council prior to a Construction Certificate being issued. 

(f) The Bank Guarantee will be retained in full until all Public Domain works are 
completed and the required certifications, warranties and works-as-executed 
documentation are submitted and approved by Council in writing. On 
satisfying the above requirements, 90% of the total securities will be 
released. The remaining 10% will be retained for the duration of the specified 
Defects Liability Period. 

(46) PUBLIC DOMAIN WORKS - HOLD POINTS AND HANDOVER 

(a) Prior to a Construction Certificate being issued for public domain work, 
including civil, drainage and subsurface works, , a set of hold points for 
approved public domain,  civil and drainage work is to be determined with 
and approved by the City's Public Domain section in accordance with the 
City of Sydney's Public Domain Manual and Sydney Streets Technical 
Specification. 

(b) Prior to a Certificate of Completion being issued for public domain works and 
before the issue of any Occupation Certificate for the development or before 
the use commences, whichever is earlier, electronic works-as-executed (as-
built) plans and documentation, certified by a suitably qualified, independent 
professional must be submitted to and accepted by Council for all public 
domain works. Completion and handover of the constructed public domain 
works must be undertaken in accordance with the City of Sydney's Public 
Domain Manual and Sydney Streets Technical Specification, including 
requirements for as-built documentation, certification, warranties and the 
defects liability period. 

(47) STORMWATER AND DRAINAGE - MAJOR DEVELOPMENT 

(a) Prior to an approval or Construction Certificate being issued for  excavation, 
civil construction, drainage or building work (whichever is earlier), excluding 
approved preparatory or demolition work a detailed drainage engineering 
design, calculations and design for the stormwater overland flow path for the 
development must be: 

(i) prepared by a suitably qualified hydraulic or civil engineer to show the 
proposed method of collection and disposal of stormwater; and  

(ii) prepared in accordance with the City of Sydney’s Stormwater 
Drainage Manual, technical specifications, standards and policies, as 
amended from time to time; and 

(iii) submitted to and be approved by the City of Sydney and a copy of the 
City’s letter of approval must be provided to the Principal Certifying 
Authority.   

56



(b) For approval of a connection into the City of Sydney’s drainage system an 
“Application for Approval of Stormwater Drainage Connections" must be 
submitted to the City, together with an application fee in accordance with the 
City of Sydney’s adopted Schedule of Fees and Charges.   

(i) The application must be approved by the City of Sydney prior to an 
approval or Construction Certificate being issued for excavation, civil 
construction, drainage or building work (whichever is earlier), 
excluding approved preparatory or demolition work. 

(ii) All proposed connections to the City's underground drainage system 
require the owner to enter into a Deed of Agreement with the City of 
Sydney and obtain registration on Title of a Positive Covenant prior to 
an Occupation Certificate being issued, including an Interim 
Occupation Certificate. 

On-site Detention 

(c) The requirements of Sydney Water with regard to the on-site detention of 
stormwater must be ascertained and complied with.  

(i) Evidence of the approval by Sydney Water of the detailed design of 
the on-site detention must be submitted to and be accepted by the City 
of Sydney and a copy of the City’s letter of acceptance must be 
provided to the Principal Certifying Authority prior to a Construction 
Certificate being issued, excluding for any approved preparatory, 
demolition or excavation works. 

(ii) Prior to the issue of an Occupation Certificate, including an Interim 
Occupation Certificate, a Positive Covenant must be registered on the 
property title for all drainage systems involving On-Site Detention 
(OSD) to ensure maintenance of the approved OSD system 
regardless of the method of connection. 

Stormwater Quality Assessment 

(d) Prior to a Construction Certificate being issued for any excavation, civil 
construction, drainage or building work (whichever is earlier), but excluding 
approved preparatory or demolition work, a stormwater quality assessment 
must be undertaken and must be approved by City of Sydney and a copy of 
the City’s letter of approval must be provided to the Principal Certifying 
Authority. 

  

57



A stormwater quality assessment must be undertaken by a suitably qualified 
drainage engineer to demonstrate how the development will be designed to 
ensure that the flow of post-development pollutants from the site due to 
stormwater will be reduced.  The water quality assessment must be 
submitted to and be approved by the City of Sydney and a copy of the City’s 
letter of approval must be provided to the Principal Certifying Authority prior 
to a Construction Certificate being issued for any excavation, civil 
construction, drainage or building work (whichever is earlier), excluding 
approved preparatory or demolition work. 

Prior to the issue of an Occupation Certificate, maintenance schedules of 
the proposed water sensitive urban design and drainage measures must be 
submitted to and be approved by the Principal Certifying Authority and a 
copy provided to the City of Sydney. 

Completion / Works-as-Executed Documentation 

(e) Prior to a Certificate of Completion being issued by the City of Sydney for 
stormwater drainage works:  

(i) All works for the disposal of stormwater and drainage are to be 
implemented in accordance with the approved plans, City of Sydney 
technical specifications. Standards and policies, approval letters and 
the requirements of this consent.   

(ii) a Works-As-Executed survey, prepared, signed and dated by a 
Registered Surveyor, must be submitted to and be accepted by the 
City of Sydney.  The plan must be overlaid on a copy of the approved 
stormwater drainage plans issued with the Construction Certificate, 
with variations to locations, dimensions, levels and storage volumes 
clearly marked. 

(iii) Electronic works-as-executed (as-built) details, certifications, 
warranties, inspection reports (including Closed Circuit Television 
reports) and associated documentation for the completed work must 
be prepared and certified by a suitably qualified hydraulic engineer, in 
accordance with the requirements of the City of Sydney’s technical 
specifications, the Public Domain Manual, the Stormwater Drainage 
Manual, the conditions of this consent and all letters of approval issued 
by the City of Sydney for works in the public domain, and must be 
submitted to and be accepted by the City of Sydney. 

(f) Prior to the issue of the first Occupation Certificate, including an Interim 
Occupation Certificate, or before the use commences (whichever is earlier):  

(i) A copy of the City’s Certificate of Completion for all stormwater and 
drainage work undertaken in the public domain must be provided to 
the Principal Certifying Authority; 

  

58



(ii) a Works-As-Executed survey, must be prepared, signed, dated and 
certified by a Registered Surveyor and must be submitted to and be 
accepted by the Principal Certifying Authority. The Works-as-Executed 
plan must be overlaid on a copy of the approved stormwater drainage 
plans issued with the Construction Certificate, with variations to 
locations, dimensions, levels and storage volumes clearly marked; 

(iii) a Hydraulic Compliance Certificate and Calculation Sheet must be 
prepared by a suitably qualified hydraulic engineer (minimum NER), 
showing approved versus installed hydraulic calculations, and must be 
submitted to and be accepted by the Principal Certifying Authority; 

(iv) evidence of Sydney Water’s acceptance of the Works-As-Executed 
documentation, certification and Hydraulic Compliance Certificate and 
Calculation Sheet must be provided to the Principal Certifying 
Authority; 

(v) The Principal Certifying Authority must submit a copy of the Works-As-
Executed plans, certifications, Hydraulic Compliance Certificate and 
Calculation Sheet to the City of Sydney. 

(48) DEFECTS LIABILITY PERIOD – PUBLIC DOMAIN WORKS 

All works to the City’s public domain, including rectification of identified defects, 
are subject to a 12 month defects liability period from the date of final completion. 
The date of final completion will be nominated by Council on the Certificate of 
Completion for public domain works. 

(49) DRAINAGE AND SERVICE PIT LIDS  

Drainage and service pit lids throughout the public domain shall be heelguard and 
bicycle safe, finish flush with the adjacent pavement to avoid trip hazards and be 
clear of obstructions for easy opening and cleaning. Pit lids shall be in accordance 
with the City of Sydney’s Sydney Streets Design Code and Sydney Streets 
Technical Specification. Details of drainage and service pit lids shall be submitted 
and approved by Council prior to a Construction Certificate being issued for the 
relevant stage of work. 

(50) PROTECTION OF STONE KERBS 

(a) The existing stone kerbs on the Forest Street frontage of the site are to be 
retained and properly protected during excavation and construction works. 

(b) To avoid damage to stone kerbs during excavation and construction works 
for the development, temporary removal and storage of the stone kerbs may 
be approved by Council. Removed, serviceable stone kerbs (i.e. those that 
are in good condition as agreed by Council officers) must be re-installed in 
accordance with the City of Sydney’s standard details and specifications 
after the construction works have been completed. Note: A temporary 
concrete kerb will need to be constructed to retain the footpath until the stone 
kerbs can be reinstalled. The removed stone kerbs are to be reinstalled prior 
to the issue of an Occupation Certificate. Note: all costs associated with the 
works are to be at no cost to the Council. 

59



(c) Damaged kerbs are to be replaced to match existing to Council’s satisfaction 
or as otherwise advised by Council officers.  

(d) Where new crossings or temporary crossings are to be constructed to 
access the property, the affected kerb stones should be salvaged and 
reused wherever possible. 

(e) All new driveway laybacks and kerbs are to be constructed with stone kerbs 
to match existing stones or as specified by City officers. All unused stone 
kerbs are to be salvaged and returned to the City’s store. 

(f) Council approval is required before kerbs are removed. 

(g) Council approval is required prior to the cutting of existing stone kerbs for 
stormwater kerb outlets. 

(51) PUBLIC DOMAIN DAMAGE DEPOSIT  

A Public Domain Damage Deposit calculated on the basis of 4 lineal metres 
asphalt site frontage for St Johns Road and Forest Street must be lodged with 
Council in accordance with the City of Sydney’s adopted Schedule of Fees and 
Charges. The Public Domain Damage Deposit must be submitted as an 
unconditional bank guarantee in favour of Council as security for repairing any 
damage to the public domain in the vicinity of the site.  

The guarantee must be lodged with Council prior to an approval for demolition 
being granted or a Construction Certificate being issued, whichever is earlier.  

The Bank Guarantee will be retained in full until the final Occupation Certificate 
has been issued and any rectification works to the footway and Public Domain are 
completed to Council’s satisfaction. On satisfying the above requirements 90% of 
the total securities will be released, with the remaining 10% to be retained for the 
duration of the 12 months Defect Liability Period.  

(52) PUBLIC DOMAIN LIGHTING 

(a) Prior to a Construction Certificate for public domain works or above ground 
building works being issued, whichever is later, a detailed Public Domain 
Lighting Plan for pedestrian and street lighting in the public domain must be 
prepared by a suitably qualified, practicing lighting engineer or lighting 
designer and must be submitted to and approved by Council. The Lighting 
Plan must be prepared in accordance with the City of Sydney’s Sydney 
Lights Design Code, Sydney Streets Code, Sydney Streets Technical 
Specification and Public Domain Manual and must include the following: 

(i) Vertical and horizontal illuminance plots for the public domain lighting 
design to demonstrate compliance with all relevant Australian 
Standards and to meet the lighting categories and requirements 
specified by the City; 

(ii) The location, type and category of existing and proposed lights, 
including details of luminaire specifications, required to ensure 
compliance with City policies and Australian Standards; 

(iii) Footing locations and structural details; 

60



(iv) Location and details of underground electrical reticulation, connections 
and conduits; 

(v) Certification by a suitably qualified, practicing lighting engineer or 
lighting designer to certify that the design complies with City policies 
and all relevant Australian Standards including AS 1158, AS 3000 and 
AS4282; 

(vi) Structural certification for footing designs by a suitably qualified, 
practicing engineer to certify that the design complies with City of 
Sydney policies and Australian Standards. 

(b) The public domain lighting works are to be completed in accordance with the 
approved plans and the City of Sydney's Public Domain Manual before any 
Occupation Certificate is issued in respect of the development or before the 
use commences, whichever is earlier. 

(53) FLOOD PLANNING LEVELS 

The design of the buildings and structures on site must comply with the following 
criteria: 

(a) The proposed ground floor level of the building shall be set at or above 0.3m 
above the existing gutter invert levels of the adjacent road. This requirement 
shall be reflected on the Construction Certificate plans. 

(54) COMPLIANCE WITH THE ACOUSTIC REPORT PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION 
AND OR OCCUPATION CERTIFICATES 

(a) Where detailed design and specification of acoustic performance 
requirements cannot be completed during the DA stage acoustic report, a 
suitably qualified acoustic consultant* is to be engaged prior to the 
commencement of the construction stage of the project. Prior to the 
Occupation certificate being issued, the proponent’s consultant will finalise 
acoustic specifications such that the proposed use is capable of complying 
and operating within the sound transmission and insulation requirements of 
the National Construction Code and the following requirements of the design 
criteria as identified in the following reports: 

(i) Noise Impact Assessment, prepared by Acoustic Logic, ref. 
20181128.1/1008A/R3/AW, Rev. 3, dated 10 August 2018. 

 (b)  Acoustic design criteria or performance specifications that have arisen from 
the DA acoustic report or any subsequent acoustic assessment into the 
proposed use shall be finalised and verified by a suitably qualified acoustic 
consultant. 

Verification of the requirements in part (a) of this condition shall be done in 
accordance with relevant Australian Standards and guidelines and 
presented in a report to the satisfaction of Council’s the satisfaction of 
Council’s Area Planning Manager. The report will outline how the noise 
criteria, performance specifications and National Construction Code 
requirements have been established, verified and tested and present the 
results of engineering calculations, tests and noise measurements. 

61



Where an acoustic performance specification or construction requirement 
fails to comply with an acoustic report pertinent to the use or the sound 
transmission and insulation requirements of the  National Construction 
Code, Council’s Health & Building Unit is to be notified and remediation 
works and certification testing conducted to the satisfaction of the consultant 
and Council’s Area Planning Manager. Notification of the above is to be 
provided in writing by the proponent’s consultant. 

(c)  Following completion of all verification testing, measurement and reporting, 
a final acoustic compliance report referencing all testing, verification, noise 
measurement results and reports undertaken is to be submitted to Council’s 
the satisfaction of Council’s Area Planning Manager. This will occur prior to 
the Occupation Certificate/s being issued or commencement of use 
(whichever is earlier). 

The report is to be prepared to the satisfaction of the satisfaction of Council’s 
Area Planning Manager Unit and is to incorporate a clear statement 
certifying that the development or proposed use is fully capable of, 
complying with all the design criteria and operating within the requirements 
of the applicable acoustic and noise control conditions and criteria and sound 
transmission and insulation requirements of the National Construction Code. 

Note: Suitably qualified Acoustic Consultant means a consultant who 
possesses the qualifications to render them eligible for membership of the 
Australian Acoustics Society, Institution of Engineers Australia or the 
Association of Australian Acoustic Consultants at the grade of member. 

62



(55) COMMERCIAL PLANT / INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT 

(a) Noise from commercial plant and industrial development must not exceed a 
project amenity/intrusiveness noise level or maximum noise level in 
accordance with relevant requirements of the NSW EPA Noise Policy for 
Industry 2017 (NPfI) unless agreed to by the City’s Area Planning Manager. 
Further: 

(i) Background noise monitoring must be carried out in accordance with 
the long-term methodology in Fact Sheet B of the NPfI unless 
otherwise agreed by the City’s Area Planning Manager. 

(ii) Commercial plant is limited to heating, ventilation, air conditioning, 
refrigeration and energy generation equipment. 

(b) An LAeq,15 minute (noise level) emitted from the development must not exceed 
the LA90, 15 minute (background noise level) by more than 3dB when assessed 
inside any habitable room of any affected residence or noise sensitive 
commercial premises at any time. Further: 

(i) The noise level and the background noise level shall both be measured 
with all external doors and windows of the affected residence closed. 

(ii) Background noise measurements must not include noise from the 
development but may include noise from necessary ventilation at the 
affected premise. 

(c) Corrections in Fact Sheet C of the NPfI are applicable to relevant noise from 
the development measured in accordance with this condition, however 
duration corrections are excluded from commercial noise. 

(56) AIR CONDITIONERS 

 

(a) Emit noise that is audible within a habitable room in any other residential 
property (regardless of whether any door or window to that room is open): 

(i) before 8.00am and after 10.00pm on any Saturday, Sunday or public 
holiday; or 

(ii) before 7.00am and after 10.00pm on any other day; or 

(b) Emit a sound pressure level that when measured at the boundary of any 
other residential property, at a time other than those specified in (i) and (ii) 
above, which exceeds the background (LA90, 15 minute) by more than 5dB(A). 
The source and background noise level must be measured as an LAeq 15 minute 

and LA90 15 minute in accordance with Australian Standard AS1055:1997, 
Acoustics – Description and measurement of environmental noise. 

(57) MECHANICAL VENTILATION 

(a) The premises must be ventilated in accordance with the Building Code of 
Australia and AS1668.1 -The Use of Mechanical Ventilation and Air 
conditioning in Buildings – Fire and Smoke Control in Multi-compartment 

63

https://www.epa.nsw.gov.au/-/media/epa/corporate-site/resources/noise/17p0524-noise-policy-for-industry.pdf
https://www.epa.nsw.gov.au/-/media/epa/corporate-site/resources/noise/17p0524-noise-policy-for-industry.pdf
https://www.epa.nsw.gov.au/-/media/epa/corporate-site/resources/noise/17p0524-noise-policy-for-industry.pdf
https://www.epa.nsw.gov.au/-/media/epa/corporate-site/resources/noise/17p0524-noise-policy-for-industry.pdf


Buildings and AS1668.2 - The Use of Ventilation and Air-conditioning in 
Buildings – Mechanical Ventilation in Buildings. 

(b) Details of any mechanical ventilation and/or air conditioning system 
complying with AS1668.1 -The Use of Mechanical Ventilation and Air 
conditioning in Buildings – Fire and Smoke Control in Multi-compartment 
Buildings and AS1668.2 - The Use of Ventilation and Air-conditioning in 
Buildings – Mechanical Ventilation in Buildings, the Building Code of 
Australia, and relevant Australian Standards must be prepared by a suitably 
qualified person and certified in accordance with Clause A2.2(a)(iii) of the 
Building Code of Australia, and AS1668 -The Use of Mechanical Ventilation 
and Air conditioning in Buildings to the written satisfaction of the Principal 
Certifying Authority prior to the issue of a Construction Certificate. 

(c) Prior to issue of an Occupation Certificate and following the completion, 
installation, and testing of all the mechanical ventilation systems, a 
Mechanical Ventilation Certificate of Completion and Performance in 
accordance with Clause A2.2(a)(iii) of the Building Code of Australia, must 
be submitted to and approved by the Principal Certifying Authority. 

  

64



SCHEDULE 1C 

DURING CONSTRUCTION/PRIOR TO OCCUPATION/COMPLETION 

(58) HOURS OF WORK AND NOISE – OUTSIDE CBD 

The hours of construction and work on the development must be as follows: 

(a) All work, including building/demolition and excavation work, and activities in 
the vicinity of the site generating noise associated with preparation for the 
commencement of work (eg. loading and unloading of goods, transferring of 
tools etc) in connection with the proposed development must only be carried 
out between the hours of 7.30am and 5.30pm on Mondays to Fridays, 
inclusive, and 7.30am and 3.30pm on Saturdays, with safety inspections 
being permitted at 7.00am on work days, and no work must be carried out 
on Sundays or public holidays. 

(b) All work, including demolition, excavation and building work must comply 
with the City of Sydney Code of Practice for Construction Hours/Noise 1992 
and Australian Standard 2436 - 2010 Guide to Noise Control on 
Construction, Maintenance and Demolition Sites. 

(c) Notwithstanding the above, the use of a crane for special operations, 
including the delivery of materials, hoisting of plant and equipment and 
erection and dismantling of on site tower cranes which warrant the on-street 
use of mobile cranes outside of above hours can occur, subject to a permit 
being issued by Council under Section 68 of the Local Government Act 1993 
and/or Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993. 

Note: Works may be undertaken outside of hours, where it is required to avoid the 
loss of life, damage to property, to prevent environmental harm and/or to avoid 
structural damage to the building. Written approval must be given by the 
Construction Regulation Unit, prior to works proceeding 

The City of Sydney Code of Practice for Construction Hours/Noise 1992 allows 
extended working hours subject to the approval of an application in accordance 
with the Code and under Section 4.55 of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act 1979. 

(59) USE OF HIGH NOISE EMISSION APPLIANCES / PLANT 

(a) The operation of high noise emission appliances, plant and/or machinery 
such as pile – drivers, rock breakers and hydraulic hammers and those 
which are not listed in Groups B, C, D, E or F of Schedule 1 of the City of 
Sydney Code of Practice for Construction Hours/Noise 1992 and Australian 
Standard 2436-2010 Guide to Noise Control on Construction, Maintenance 
and Demolition Sites is restricted to the hours of: 

(i) 9:00am – 12:30pm and 2:00pm – 4:30pm; 

(ii) 9:00am – 1:00pm Saturdays; 

(iii) No work permitted on Sundays or Public Holidays. 

  

65



(b) All reasonable and feasible steps must be undertaken to ensure that the 
work, including demolition, excavation and building complies with the City of 
Sydney Code of Practice for Construction Hours/Noise 1992 and Australian 
Standard 2436- 2010 Guide to Noise Control on Construction, Maintenance 
and Demolition Sites. 

(60) NOTIFICATION OF EXCAVATION WORKS OR USE OF HIGH NOISE 
EMISSION APPLIANCES/PLANT 

The immediately adjoining neighbours must be given a minimum of 48 hours 
notice that excavation, shoring or underpinning works or use of high noise 
emission appliances / plant are about to commence. 

(61) CONSTRUCTION ACCESS DRIVEWAYS TO BE CONSTRUCTED 

Approved driveways are to be constructed for all vehicular access to the 
construction site in accordance with the requirements of Council’s “Driveway 
Specifications” to the satisfaction of Council. 

(62) LOADING AND UNLOADING DURING CONSTRUCTION 

The following requirements apply: 

(a) All loading and unloading associated with construction activity must be 
accommodated on site, where possible. 

(b) If, it is not feasible for loading and unloading to take place on site, a Works 
Zone on the street may be considered by Council. 

(c) A Works Zone may be required if loading and unloading is not possible on 
site. If a Works Zone is warranted an application must be made to Council 
at least 8 weeks prior to commencement of work on the site. An approval for 
a Works Zone may be given for a specific period and certain hours of the 
days to meet the particular need for the site for such facilities at various 
stages of construction. The approval will be reviewed periodically for any 
adjustment necessitated by the progress of the construction activities. 

(d) Where hoisting activity over the public place is proposed to be undertaken 
including hoisting from a Works Zone, a separate approval under Section 68 
of the Local Government Act 1993 must be obtained. 

(63) COVERING OF LOADS 

All vehicles involved in the excavation and/or demolition process and departing 
the property with demolition materials, spoil or loose matter must have their loads 
fully covered before entering the public roadway. 

(64) USE OF MOBILE CRANES 

The following requirements apply: 

(a) Mobile cranes operating from the road must not be used as a method of 
demolishing or constructing a building. 

66



(b) For special operations including the delivery of materials, hoisting of plant 
and equipment and erection and dismantling of on site tower cranes which 
warrant the on-street use of mobile cranes, permits must be obtained from 
Council for the use of a mobile crane. The permits must be obtained 48 hours 
beforehand for partial road closures which, in the opinion of Council will 
create minimal traffic disruptions and 4 weeks beforehand in the case of full 
road closures and partial road closures which, in the opinion of Council, will 
create significant traffic disruptions. 

(c) The use of a crane for special operations, including the delivery of materials, 
hoisting of plant and equipment and erection and dismantling of on site tower 
cranes which warrant the on-street use of mobile cranes outside of approved 
hours of construction can occur, subject to a permit being issued by Council 
under Section 68 of the Local Government Act 1993 and/or Section 138 of 
the Roads Act 1993. 

(65) NO OBSTRUCTION OF PUBLIC WAY 

The public way must not be obstructed by any materials, vehicles, refuse, skips or 
the like, under any circumstances. Non-compliance with this requirement will result 
in the issue of a notice by Council to stop all work on site. 

(66) ENCROACHMENTS – PUBLIC WAY 

No portion of the proposed structure, including gates and doors during opening 
and closing operations, shall encroach upon Council’s footpath area. 

(67) SURVEY CERTIFICATE AT COMPLETION 

A Survey Certificate prepared by a Registered Surveyor must be submitted at the 
completion of the building work certifying the location of the building in relation to 
the boundaries of the allotment. 

(68) WASTE AND RECYCLING 

Commercial waste service collections and waste storage arrangements must be 
conducted in accordance with the City’s Waste Policy –Local Approvals Policy for 
Managing Waste in Public Places (2013). 

(69) WASTE AND RECYCLING MANAGEMENT 

(70) Prior to an Occupation Certificate being issued or the use commencing, whichever 
is earlier, the Principal Certifier must ensure that waste handling works have been 
completed in accordance with: the Waste and Recycling Management Plan; other 
relevant development consent conditions; and Council's Guidelines for Waste 
Management in New Developments 2018. 

(71) OCCUPATION CERTIFICATE TO BE SUBMITTED 

An Occupation Certificate must be obtained from the Principal Certifier and a copy 
submitted to Council prior to commencement of occupation or use of the whole or 
any part of a new building, an altered portion of, or an extension to an existing 
building. 

  

67



SCHEDULE 2 

PRESCRIBED CONDITIONS 

The prescribed conditions in accordance with Division 8A of the Environmental 
Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000 apply: 

Clause 98  Compliance with Building Code of Australia and insurance requirements 
under the Home Building Act 1989 

Clause 98A Erection of signs 

Clause 98B Notification of Home Building Act 1989 requirements 

Clause 98C Conditions relating to entertainment venues 

Clause 98D Conditions relating to maximum capacity signage 

Clause 98E Conditions relating to shoring and adequacy of adjoining property 

Refer to the NSW State legislation for full text of the clauses under Division 8A of the 
Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000. This can be accessed at: 
http://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au 

 

68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



Attachment C 

Clause 4.6  Variation  Request

89



1  

VARIATION APPLICATION PURSUANT TO CLAUSE 4.6 OF CITY OF SYDNEY LEP 2012 
 

VARIATION OF A DEVELOPMENT STANDARD REGARDING THE PROVISION OF MOTORCYCLE PARKING 

AS DEFINED BY THE AHSEPP AND REQUIRED BY CLAUSE 4.6 OF SYDNEY LEP 2012 
 

FOR: 180-182 ST JOHNS ROAD GLEBE 

APPLICANT: GIOVANNI CIRILLO 

 

Introduction 

The City of Sydney requires that a Section 4.6 ‘Exceptions to Development Standards’ of the City of 

Sydney LEP 2012 is made in relation to clause 30 of the State Environmental Planning Policy (Affordable 

Rental Housing) 2009 (AHSEPP 2009). This document seeks an exemption in the development 

standards of the AHSEPP in regard to the provision of motorcycle parking (clause 30(1)(h)). 
 

 
Background 

 

The subject site is legally described as Lot 1 in DP 104840, DP 547952 and DP 906442 at 180-182 St 

Johns Road Glebe. The site is rectangular and was formerly occupied by a restaurant, pub and a 

boarding house. The site area is 496 square metres with a perimeter of about 93 metres. 
 

The proposed development is for the mixed use 3-storey boarding house with a commercial premise 

located at 180-182 St Johns Road Glebe.  Under the AHSEPP 2009, at least one motorcycle parking 

space must be provided for every 5 boarding rooms. This proposal, however, provides no motorcycle 

parking spaces. 

The proposal to provide no motorcycle parking spaces does not comply with the standards for boarding 

houses in the AHSEPP 2009 and a variation of the development standard, as required by the City of 

Sydney, is sought pursuant to clause 4.6 of Sydney LEP 2012. 
 

 
Argument 

 

While the proposal does not provide motorcycle parking spaces, the proposed development is 

consistent with the objective of the AHSEPP and the City of Sydney LEP. Pursuant to the aims of the 

AHSEPP (Clause 3) the proposal seeks to: 
 

(a) to provide a consistent planning regime for the provision of affordable rental housing, 
 

(c) to facilitate the retention and mitigate the loss of existing affordable rental housing, 
 

(d) to employ a balanced approach between obligations for retaining and mitigating the loss of 

existing affordable rental housing, and incentives for the development of new affordable rental 

housing, 

(f) to support local business centres by providing affordable rental housing for workers close to 

places of work. 

  

90



2  

 

While the proposal does not provide motorcycle parking spaces, the proposed development is 

consistent with the objectives of the AHSEPP and the City of Sydney LEP 2012. That is, the proposal 

seeks to improve affordable housing outcomes for the City of Sydney to meet anticipated 

development needs for the foreseeable future and provide for an intensity of development that is 

commensurate with the capacity of existing and planned infrastructure. The proposed development 

reflects the desired character of the locality in which it is located and minimises adverse impacts on 

the amenity of that locality. 
 

Pursuant to Clause 4.6 of the Sydney LEP 2012, the City of Sydney requested a variation in the 

development standard is sought regarding the motorcycle parking standard. In response to the 

proposed non-compliance for motorcycle parking, the following Clause 4.6 Variation Application is 

provided. 

It is submitted that the Variation is well founded and is worthy of the Council approval. The following is 

an assessment of the proposed variation against the requirements of Clause 4.6. 

 
 
 
 

1. WHAT ARE THE OBJECTIVES OF CLAUSE 4.6 AND IS THE PROPOSAL CONSISTENT WITH THEM? 
 

(1) The objectives of this Clause 4.6 of the Sydney LEP 2012 are: 
 

a) to provide an appropriate degree of flexibility in applying certain development standards to 

particular development, 

b) to achieve better outcomes for and from development by allowing flexibility in particular 

circumstances. 

 
 

It is my opinion, as is demonstrated by the responses to the questions below, that the proposed 

variation is consistent with the objectives of this clause. This variation allows flexibility in the application 

of the motorcycle parking development standard for the following reasons: 
 

• Under provision of motorcycle parking in this instance provides an appropriate degree of 

flexibility for this particular development given that there are ample opportunities for parking 

motorcycles in the local streets should such a need arise, 

• 20 bicycle parking spaces are proposed to be provided in the basement of the development 

(exceeding Councils requirements by 13 spaces) and will adequately compensate for the 

inability to provide motorcycle parking no the site, 

• Under provision of motorcycle parking in this instance achieves a better outcome for and from 

development by providing improved street frontages on a small site which would otherwise be 

required to be partially dedicated to driveways and ramps which would have adverse 

streetscape impacts. 

91



3  

2. IS THE STANDARD TO BE VARIED A DEVELOPMENT STANDARD TO WHICH CLAUSE 4.6 APPLIES? 
 

The City of Sydney Council has advised that Clause 30 of the AHSEPP contains development standards 

for which Clause 4.6 applies and as such this statement has been prepared. 

 
 
 

3. IS COMPLIANCE WITH THE DEVELOPMENT STANDARD UNREASONABLE OR UNNECESSARY IN THE 

CIRCUMSTANCES OF THIS CASE? 

It is my opinion that strict compliance with the development standards of the AHSEPP in regard to the 

provision of motorcycle parking (clause 30 (1)(h)) both unreasonable and unnecessary in the 

circumstances of this case for the following reasons: 

• The City of Sydney has a long standing statutory maximum rate of private parking and the 

under-provision of motorcycle parking is consistent with Council’s policy of encouraging 

public transport use, walking and cycling in inner-city locations which are in close proximity to 

shops, jobs, services and local amenities. 

• The provision of motorcycle parking at grade would necessitate driveways at street level and an 

unacceptable streetscape appearance of the building. The provision of basement motorcycle 

parking would necessitate driveways and ramps through the site and the proposed building, 

which would also have significant detrimental streetscape impacts. 

• 20 bicycle parking spaces are proposed to be provided in the basement of the development 

(exceeding Councils requirements by 13 spaces) and will adequately compensate for the 

inability to provide motorcycle parking no the site, 

• A lack of motorcycle parking will not reduce the opportunities for travel around Sydney as the 

site is close to public transport connections. 

On this basis, it is my opinion that strict compliance with the AHSEPP clause 30(1)(h) is unreasonable 

and unnecessary in the circumstances of this case. 

 
 
 

4. ARE THERE SUFFICIENT ENVIRONMENTAL PLANNING GROUNDS TO JUSTIFY CONTRAVENING THE 

DEVELOPMENT STANDARD? 

It is my opinion that a contravention of the development standard is justified on environmental 

planning grounds given that: 
 

• The absence of motorcycle parking spaces within the development is designed to maximise 

internal amenity for future residents and to minimise any adverse impact upon the public 

domain and existing surrounding residents. 

92



4  

 

• There are no demonstrable adverse environmental impacts arising from an absence of 

motorcycle parking spaces. 

• The proposed development is consistent with the zone and development control objectives by 

providing an improved boarding house in a location identified by the planning provisions for this 

form of development. The proposal demonstrates that the standards for boarding houses 

(Clause 30, AHSEPP) does not hinder the achievement of the aims of the Sydney LEP in 

controlling land use, bulk, scale and intensity of development. 

• Strict compliance with the ‘Standards for Boarding Houses’ (AHSEPP Division 3) would require 

the deletion of a proposed boarding room and part of another room which would otherwise 

satisfy the opportunity for providing affordable housing in a medium density location and would 

in my opinion, result in the orderly and economic use of the land. 

 
 
 

 
5. IS THE PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST BECAUSE IT IS CONSISTENT WITH THE 

OBJECTIVES OF THE PARTICULAR STANDARD AND THE OBJECTIVES FOR DEVELOPMENT WITHIN THE 

ZONE IN WHICH THE DEVELOPMENT IS PROPOSED TO BE CARRIED OUT? 
 

The proposal is in my opinion consistent with the objectives of the development standard and for 

development in this zone as required by this sub clause. The proposed development is in my opinion in 

the public interest because it is compliant with the zone objectives and the objectives of the particular 

standard. 
 

The objectives for development in Zone B1 ‘Neighbourhood Centre Zone’ are: 
 

• To provide a range of small-scale retail, business and community uses that serve the needs of 

people who live or work in the surrounding neighbourhood. 

• To allow appropriate residential uses so as to support the vitality of neighbourhood centres. 

 

 
Division 3 of the AHSEPP states that the aims are: 

 

a) to provide a consistent planning regime for the provision of affordable rental housing, 

b) to facilitate the effective delivery of new affordable rental housing by providing incentives by 

way of expanded zoning permissibility, floor space ratio bonuses and non-discretionary 

development standards, 

c) to facilitate the retention and mitigate the loss of existing affordable rental housing, 

d) to employ a balanced approach between obligations for retaining and mitigating the loss of 

existing affordable rental housing, and incentives for the development of new affordable rental 

housing, 

e) to facilitate an expanded role for not-for-profit-providers of affordable rental housing, 

f) to support local business centres by providing affordable rental housing for workers close to 

places of work, 

g) to facilitate the development of housing for the homeless and other disadvantaged people who 

may require support services, including group homes and supportive accommodation

93



5  

In my opinion, the objectives are satisfied as set out below: 
 

a) The proposal optimises the use of scarce urban land by using the site area to meet anticipated 

accommodation needs for future residents. 

b) Variation in the development standards for boarding houses (clause 30 AHSEPP) enables an 

optimal boarding house mix outcome for the Glebe area. Indeed, the proposal would support 

the needs of local residents in providing affordable housing close to the city and neighbourhood 

shops. 

c) The proposal for a boarding house is entirely consistent with the existing character of the area. 

The building height is within the specified limits and the built form and scale are congruent with 

neighbouring shop top housing on St Johns Road and medium density terrace housing on Forest 

Street. 

d) The proposed boarding house can be entirely serviced by the capacity of existing infrastructure. 

On this basis, it is my opinion that the proposal is consistent with the applicable objectives of both the 

land use zone and the Development Standard. 

 
 
 

6. WHETHER CONTRAVENTION OF THE DEVELOPMENT STANDARD RAISES ANY MATTER OF 

SIGNIFICANCE FOR STATE OR REGIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL PLANNING. 
 

It is my opinion that contravention of the standard does not raise any matters of significance for State 

or Regional environmental planning. Under the AHSEPP 2009, the matter under consideration is Clause 

30(1)(h) which states that ‘at least one parking space will be provided for a bicycle, and one will be 

provided for a motorcycle, for every 5 boarding rooms.’ 

While no motorcycle parking is provided, the site is close to public transport and it is not considered 

necessary to provide up to 7 spaces in the building. This response to clause 30(1)(h) is acceptable. 

 
 

 
7. WHAT IS THE PUBLIC BENEFIT OF MAINTAINING THE DEVELOPMENT STANDARD? 

 

It is my opinion that there is no public benefit in maintaining the development standard in this instance. 

If motorcycle parking was provided, it would result in a reduction in the overall gross floor area of the 

development that would necessitate a reduction in the total number of boarding rooms. 
 

In my opinion, such an outcome would not be in the public interest given the absence of any 

detrimental impact attributable to the non-compliance. 

 

 

 

CONCLUSION 
 

It is therefore my opinion based upon the content of this submission that a variation of the motorcycle 

parking control as required by Clause 4.6 of the Sydney LEP 2012 is acceptable and strict adherence to 

standard as specified in clause 30(1)(h) of the AHSEPP is unreasonable and unnecessary. 

94



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Development Application: 1 Missenden Road, Camperdown 

File No.: D/2018/73 

Summary 

Date of Submission: 2 February 2018. Amended plans and documentation were 
requested and received on 26 March 2018 and 17 May 
2018. The Voluntary Planning Agreement continued to be 
negotiated until 28 February 2019. 

Applicant: OARE No.3 Pty Ltd 

Designer: Arcadis 

Developer: OARE No.3 Pty Ltd 

Owners: George Hay Pty Ltd- owner of Lot 150 in SP46789; and 

Owners Corporation of Strata Plan 46789 - Rhodes House 
Apartments 

Cost of Works: $408,192.00 

Proposal Summary: Demolition of the existing 42.66sqm externally illuminated 
third party wall advertisement and associated catwalk 
gantry located on the western elevation of the six storey 
residential flat building currently occupying the site. 

The application seeks consent to replace the existing third 
party advertising sign with a digitally illuminated LED 
advertising sign to be 7.32m(h) x 5.11m(w) resulting in a 
total advertising area of 37.4sqm. The new digital sign will 
be located 250mm below the building parapet and 400mm 
clear of the northern building edge, framed by the existing 
building facade in a portrait format as opposed to the 
existing landscape format of the vinyl billboard sign. 

The proposed development exceeds the maximum height 
of buildings development standard under Clause 4.3 of the 
Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012. The entire sign 
will be positioned above the maximum 22m height 
standard, with the maximum height of the sign 30.6m.  A 
written request to vary the development standard has been 
submitted addressing Clause 4.6 of the Sydney LEP 2012.  

1

Item 4.



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Proposal Summary 
(continued): 

The variation request has been recommended for support 
as part of this assessment as it results in a reduction in 
height compared to the existing. 

To provide a public benefit in accordance with State 
Environmental Planning Policy 64 the applicant has offered 
to enter into a Voluntary Planning Agreement (VPA) to 
facilitate 10% of the advertising time available free of cost 
for use by the City of Sydney to display public information, 
community messages and promotion of Council events 
and initiatives. This is consistent with other technology 
conversions of existing signs. At the time of writing this 
report, the VPA was on public exhibition until 8 April 2019. 
The application is recommended for delegation to the CEO 
to determine following the completion of the public 
exhibition process for the VPA. 

The proposal was amended during the assessment 
process addressing the location and scale of the sign, its 
visual impacts and public benefit. The amendments 
resulted in a reduction in the overall size of the sign and 
improved operation including minimum dwell times and 
transition times between day-time and night-time.  

Three submissions were received which raised concerns 
about visual impact, height, projection of the sign, 
streetscape, illumination, economic impacts, content, 
energy consumption and compliance with planning 
controls. 

The proposed development in its amended form is 
considered to be a satisfactory design excellence outcome. 
The visual impacts of the development have been 
mitigated and the location and size of the sign has been 
reduced to better integrate with the existing building. 

The development application is recommended for deferred 
commencement approval. 

Summary Recommendation The application is recommended for delegation to the 
Chief Executive Officer to determine following the 
completion of the public exhibition process for the VPA.The 
development application is recommended for deferred 
commencement approval. 

Development Controls: (i) Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 (Gazetted 14 
December 2012, as amended) 

(ii) Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 (in force on 
14 December 2012, as amended) 

Attachments: A. Recommended Conditions of Consent 

2



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

B. Selected Drawings 

C. Clause 4.6 Variation Request 

D. Draft Voluntary Planning Agreement 

E. External Consultants Report - Peer Review of 
Lighting Impact Assessment 

F. External Authority Referral Comments 

  

3



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Recommendation 

It is resolved that: 

(A) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to determine Development 
Application No. D/2015/154 after: 

(i) The Voluntary Planning Agreement (VPA) between the City of Sydney and the 
applicant has been prepared, publicly exhibited, and any submissions 
considered. 

(ii) If the Chief Executive Officer determines to approve the application, then 
consideration be given to granting consent subject to the relevant deferred 
commencement conditions pursuant to section 4.16(3) of the Environmental 
Planning and Assessment Act 1979, the conditions set out in Attachment A to 
this report and any other relevant conditions; and 

(B) the variation sought to clause 4.3 Height of Buildings in accordance with Clause 4.6 
'Exceptions to development standards' of the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 
be supported in this instance.  

Reasons for Recommendation 

The application is recommended for approval for the following reasons: 

(A) The advertisement, as amended, complies with the relevant aims, objectives and 
provisions of the State Environmental Planning Policy No. 64 – Advertising and 
Signage (SEPP 64).  

(B) The application is consistent with the objectives of the B4 Mixed Use zone applicable 
under the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012. 

(C) The application achieves design excellence in accordance with Clause 6.21 (4) of the 
Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 in that the materials and detailing of the 
proposed LED digital sign improves the external appearance of the building by 
removing the visual clutter of the existing access gantry and flood lighting. The visual 
impacts of the proposed sign are addressed through the reduction in the sign size and 
the use of dimming capabilities to mitigate obtrusive glare to adjoining residential uses.  

(D) The proposal has mitigated the effect on the public interest by reducing the glare 
associated with the illumination of the proposed sign, incorporating separate metering 
for energy consumption, reducing the size of the sign and amending the transition 
times between day-time and night-time to address the visual amenity of residential 
receivers in the immediate locality. Conditions addressing the public submissions have 
been recommended. 

(E) Conditions of consent have been imposed to address the dwell times and the 
transition of the electronic content to reduce the visual impact of the sign. Conditions 
have also been imposed regarding the illumination and the submission of a 
management plan to address the operation of the sign's content. 

 

4



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

(F) The requested variation to the Clause 4.3 of the Sydney LEP 2012 is upheld because 
the consent authority is satisfied that the applicant's written request has adequately 
addressed the matters required to be addressed by Clause 4.6 of the Sydney LEP 
2012 and the proposed development would be in the public interest because it is 
consistent with the objectives of the Height of Buildings development standard and the 
B4 Mixed Use zone. 

  

5



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Background 

The Site and Surrounding Development 

1. A site visit was carried out on 12 June 2018. 

2. The site is irregular in shape, located on the south-west corner of Parramatta Road 
and Missenden Road. The frontage to Parramatta Road is approximately 50m and 
25m to Missenden Road.  The site is occupied by a six storey residential flat building 
known as ‘Rhodes House’.  

3. The subject site is described as Strata Plan 46789, being 1 Missenden Road, 
Camperdown. The proposed sign will be partly located within Lot 150 which is located 
on part of the exterior facade of the building’s western wall. The Strata Plan details the 
dimensions of Lot 150 in height being 1.2m above the upper surface of the adjoining 
common property store room and stairs on level 6. Special By-Laws entitles the 
registered proprietor of Lot 150 exclusive use of common property within: 

(a) Exclusive Use Area 161 (Area 1) for the purpose of erecting and attaching signs 
and a safety gantry and to run electricity cables being part of the common 
property.  

(b) Exclusive Use Area 162 (Area 2) for the purpose of erecting lights to illuminate 
the sign erected in Exclusive Use Area 161; and 

(c) Exclusive Use Area 163 (Area 3) to obtain power at the cost of the registered 
proprietor of Lot 150 for the purpose in connection with the signs in Exclusive 
Use Area 161.  

4. The replacement digital sign will therefore occupy portions of Lot 150 and common 
property areas dedicated for the exclusive use of Lot 150 for the purpose of erecting 
and maintaining a wall mounted advertising sign.  

5. The subject building is bounded by Parramatta Road to the north, Missenden Road to 
the east, Broderick Street to the south and mixed use developments to the west 
including 69-71 Parramatta Road immediately adjoining the site's western boundary 
which is 4-6 storey mixed use development.  

6. Surrounding developments include a service station to the east, a hotel to the south on 
Brodrick Street which also includes low scale warehouse, commercial and residential 
land uses. Mixed use developments area located to the north on the opposite side of 
Parramatta Road with active street frontages with residential above. Sydney University 
and RPA hospital are also located to the east along Missenden Road. 

7. The site is not a heritage item and is not located within a Heritage Conservation Area. 

8. Photos of the site and surrounds are provided below: 

6



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 1: Aerial image of subject site and surrounding area. Location of the sign is indicated in red. 

 

Figure 2: Site viewed from Parramatta Road looking towards the western building elevation and 
location of the existing third party advertising sign. Note 69-71 Parramatta Road adjoining the site as 
a 4-6 storey mixed use development.    

7



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 3: View taken from the corner of Layton Street and Parramatta Road looking east.   

8



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 4: View taken from Church Street outside the local heritage items known as the “York Terrace” 
including interiors (I48) located 45m south west of the subject site.  

  

Figure 5: View east from Mallet Street along Hampshire Lane provided in the Visual Impact 
Assessment Report prepared by Richard Lamb & Associates dated December 2016.  

9



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 6: View east on the southern footpath along Parramatta Road outside Bridge Street School 
provided in Visual Impact Assessment Report prepared by Richard Lamb & Associates dated 
December 2016. 

 

Figure 7: Looking north towards the mixed use development at 124 Parramatta Road opposite the 
subject site. Photo provided in the Visual Impact Assessment Report prepared by Richard Lamb & 
Associates dated December 2016. 

10



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 8: Looking northwest towards the mixed use development at 124, 128 and 132 Parramatta 
Road opposite the subject site. Photo provided in the Visual Impact Assessment Report prepared by 
Richard Lamb & Associates dated December 2016. 

 

Figure 9: View east on the southern side of Parramatta Road at the corner of Bridge Road. Note the 
only other third party advertising signs along Parramatta Road are located as static billboards. These 
advertising structures are located approximately 400m west of the subject site. Photo provided in the 
Visual Impact Assessment Report prepared by Richard Lamb & Associates dated December 2016. 

11



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Proposal 

9. Demolition of the existing 42.66sqm externally illuminated third party wall 
advertisement and associated catwalk access gantry and external lighting located on 
the western elevation of the 6 storey residential flat building currently occupying the 
site. 

10. The construction of a replacement sign that will be a digitally illuminated LED sign 
7.32m(h) x 5.11m(w) resulting in a total area of 37.4sqm. The new dynamic content 
digital sign will be located 250mm below the existing building parapet and 400mm 
clear of the northern building edge, framed by the existing northern building facade in a 
portrait format. 

11. The sign will be constructed and affixed by a metal framework with a 600mm 
maintenance access catwalk behind the sign resulting in the sign protruding a total 
distance of 1.2m from the building face.  

12. The content of the sign will not flash, scroll or move but is proposed to change static 
images every 10 seconds (dwell time) with the effect undertaken within less than 0.1 
second (transition time).  

13. The Development Application is accompanied by a public benefit offer for the use of 
advertising space for public messaging by the City of Sydney Council. A Voluntary 
Planning Agreement has been prepared and at the time of writing this report had been 
placed on public exhibition for a period of 28 days concluding on the 8 April 2019. 

14. Plans of the proposed development are provided below. 

 

Figure 10: Proposed western and northern elevations of the replacement LED digital sign.  

12



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 11: Photomontage of the initially proposed sign located above the building parapet. This sign 
has now been amended to sit 250mm below the building roof line and reduced in size. Photomontage 
provided in the Visual Impact Assessment Report prepared by Richard Lamb & Associates dated 
December 2016.   

History Relevant to the Development Application 

15. On 13 April, 1994 development consent was granted by South Sydney Council to 
application No.0209/12/94 for the construction of a static billboard sign above the fifth 
floor of the Rhodes House residential flat building. The static sign including external 
structures was 4.0m(h) x 14.0m(l) x 1.4m(d) including the external access gantry. The 
advertising area was 42.66sqm.  

16. Building upgrades have occurred over recent history with passenger lift upgrades and 
roof repairs. None of these works have impacted on the existing static sign.  

17. The subject Development Application was lodged on 2 February 2018. 

18. The application was amended in response to concerns raised by City staff to include: 

(a) additional justification for the proposed advertisement set out in accordance with 
the relevant provisions of Section 3.16.7.1(1) of the Sydney Development 
Control Plan 2012; and 

(b) clarification regarding the dedication of advertising space as part of a VPA; and 

  

13



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

(c) a reduction in the size of the proposed sign. The original design of the LED sign 
proposed a total area of 40.3sqm which has since been reduced to 37.4sqm. 
The reduction in the sign size also included the overall height of the sign being 
lowered 250mm below the building parapet as opposed to the initial design being 
725mm above the building parapet. 

19. In order to assess the lighting impacts of the proposed LED sign and to mitigate any 
obtrusive light impacts the applicant prepared a Light Impact Assessment Report in 
accordance with the City’s Guidelines in Clause 11.2 of Schedule 11 of the Sydney 
DCP 2012. Given the technical nature of the reporting the City engaged an 
independent lighting consultant to review the report and provide recommendations 
regarding the luminance of the proposed sign. The independent report is included as 
Attachment E and the recommendations have been adopted within the recommended 
conditions of consent in Attachment A. 

Economic/Social/Environmental Impacts 

20. The application has been assessed under Section 4.15 of the Environmental Planning 
and Assessment Act 1979, including consideration of the following matters: 

(a) Environmental Planning Instruments and DCPs. 

State Environmental Planning Policy No 64—Advertising and Signage 

21. The application proposes the following signage: 

(a) The application proposes the construction of a digitally illuminated LED sign 
7.32m(h) x 5.11m(w) resulting in a sign 37.4sqm. The sign will be affixed to the 
western elevation of the existing residential flat building. 

22. SEPP 64 was gazetted on 16 March 2001 and aims to ensure that outdoor advertising 
is compatible with the desired amenity and visual character of an area, provides 
effective communication in suitable locations and is of high quality design and finish. 
The SEPP prevails over other environmental planning instruments and as such 
permissibility for the proposed sign is achieved through the application of the SEPP.  
Clause 3 - Aims, objectives etc. 

23. The proposal is deemed to be consistent with the aims of SEPP 64, given the 
following: 

(a) the proposal is considered to be generally compatible with the visual character 
and desired amenity of the locality due to the promotion of commercial and 
business uses in a mixed use location; 

(b) appropriate conditions are recommended for inclusion in Attachment A that the 
sign will be of high quality design and finish; 

(c) the proposal does not give rise to any significantly adverse road safety impacts 
and has been supported by Road and Maritime Services subject to conditions of 
consent; and 

(d) the proposal demonstrates public benefit within the locality by providing 
advertisement for City business and community announcements throughout the 
duration of the consent. 

14



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

24. Clause 8 of SEPP64 states the following: 

A consent authority must not grant development consent to an application to display 
signage unless the consent authority is satisfied: 

(a) that the signage is consistent with the objectives of this Policy as set out in 
clause 3 (1) (a), and 

(b) that the signage the subject of the application satisfies the assessment criteria 
specified in Schedule 1. 

Assessment Criteria 

25. The following table outlines the manner in which the proposed signage addresses the 
assessment criteria of SEPP64. 

1. Character of the area Comment 

Is the proposal compatible with the 
existing or desired future character of 
the area or locality in which it is 
proposed to be located? 

The site is located within the Broadway and 
Parramatta Road Signage Precinct as identified 
within the Signage Precincts Map in the Sydney 
Development Control Plan 2012. 

15



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

1. Character of the area Comment 

Is the proposal consistent with a 
particular theme for outdoor advertising 
in the area or locality? 

The proposal is considered to be consistent 
with the desired future character of the locality 
given that it is generally in accordance with 
Section 3.16.7 of the Sydney DCP 2012 
addressing third party advertisements.  
 
There are similar third party advertising 
structures within the visual catchment of the site 
however these represent distant views with 
approximately 400m between advertising 
structures (see figure 9).  A Visual Impact 
Assessment has been submitted demonstrating 
that the proposal will not adversely impact the 
visual amenity of the surrounding area. 

The Signage Precinct Controls state that no 
signage is to exceed a height of 3.5m above the 
existing ground level. This provision has not 
been adhered to as a 37.4sqm LED sign would 
be visually dominating at street level and as a 
dynamic content sign may adversely impact on 
road safety along Parramatta Road. However, 
the elevated nature of the proposed sign is 
consistent with the general location of, and will 
replace, the existing static sign.  

The proposed sign does not form part of an 
outdoor theme for advertising as the sign is a 
stand-alone third party advertising sign and all 
other signage within the retail strip along 
Parramatta Road is at street level underneath 
or displayed on awning structures or retail 
windows associated with the active frontages. 

  

16



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

2. Special areas Comment 

Does the proposal detract from the 
amenity or visual quality of any 
environmentally sensitive areas, 
heritage areas, natural or other 
conservation areas, open space areas, 
waterways, rural landscapes or 
residential areas? 

The sign is located within the vicinity of the 
University of Sydney heritage conservation area 
however the location of the sign is completely 
obscured from the heritage conservation area 
being on the western wall of the six storey 
building facing west to Parramatta Road.  

The site is located 45m southwest of two local 
heritage items on the corner of Brodrick Street 
and Church Street, St Andrews Greek Orthodox 
Church including interiors (I47) & Terrace group 
“York Terrace” including interiors (I48). The 
adjoining mixed use buildings on Parramatta 
Road visually obscure the proposed sign from 
the items and  it will not detract from their 
heritage significance (see Figure 4).  

Similarly, the visual impact of the proposed 
development on the residential area is 
considered to be acceptable as detailed in the 
Visual Impact Assessment submitted with the 
application and the Independent Peer Review 
which considers the sensitive residential 
receivers within the visual catchment of the 
sign. The orientation of the sign (portrait) and its 
location of the building facade maximises its 
visual presence to vehicular traffic travelling 
east along Parramatta Road towards the city. A 
discussion regarding the visual impacts of the 
sign is addressed under the Issues heading.  

The visual impacts are further mitigated by the 
recommendations made by the external 
consultant’s peer review of the lighting 
assessment. These recommendations are 
addressed under the Issues heading. 

 

3. Views and vistas Comment 

Does the proposal obscure or 
compromise important views? 

The sign will not obstruct views, vistas or the 
viewing rights of other advertisers. The only 
other third party advertising signs are located 
400m west along Parramatta Road near the 
intersection with Pyrmont Bridge Road. These 
static roof or sky advertisements are visually 
obscured by the developments along 
Parramatta Road. 

Does the proposal dominate the skyline 
and reduce the quality of vistas? 

Does the proposal respect the viewing 
rights of other advertisers? 

  

17



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

4. Streetscape, setting or landscape Comment 

Is the scale, proportion and form of the 
proposal appropriate for the 
streetscape, setting or landscape? 

As discussed above, the size of the sign 
complies with the design criteria and maximum 
sizes for walls advertisements under Clause 22. 
The proposed area of the advertisement 
comprises a maximum 5% in accordance with 
Section 3.16 of the Sydney Development 
Control Plan 2012.  

Subject to conditions discussed below, the 
advertisement is not considered to result in 
significantly adverse impacts on the character 
and amenity of the surrounding area. 

The building currently has a number of 
structures above the parapet including a gantry 
walkway, an elevated water tower supported by 
a two storey tower structure and 
telecommunications infrastructure. These 
additional structures add visual clutter to the 
building’s presentation to the public domain. 
Whilst the proposed sign does not screen these 
structures it does draw attention away from the 
unsightliness (see Figure 2).  

The sign has been amended during the 
assessment process to sit 250mm below the 
building parapet allowing the building to frame 
the sign. The western wall of the subject 
building is without architectural decoration and 
is a flat rendered wall with minimal window 
openings. The window openings immediately 
adjacent to the sign are to common property 
and stairs providing access within the building. 
Whilst the wall is not unsightly the sign will 
reduce the visual prominence of the blank 
facade and provide visual interest to the built 
form.  

No vegetation management is required. 

Does the proposal contribute to the 
visual interest of the streetscape, 
setting or landscape? 

Does the proposal reduce clutter by 
rationalising and simplifying existing 
advertising? 

Does the proposal screen 
unsightliness? 

Does the proposal protrude above 
buildings, structures or tree canopies in 
the area or locality? 

Does the proposal require ongoing 
vegetation management? 

 

5. Site and building Comment 

Is the proposal compatible with the 
scale, proportion and other 
characteristics of the site or building, or 
both, on which the proposed signage is 
to be located? 

The advertisement is consistent with the 
maximum provisions for wall advertisements 
and will not dominate the building. 

 

18



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

5. Site and building Comment 

Does the proposal respect important 
features of the site or building, or both? 

As stated above the proposed sign will not 
detract from the building’s features. The vertical 
proportions of the sign better responds to the 
proportions of the building than the existing sign 
and does not obscure any windows.   

The sign does not obscure the built form but 
rather utilises the blank facade to frame it, 
allowing the sign to sit comfortably within the 
dimensions of the building. 

Does the proposal show innovation and 
imagination in its relationship to the site 
or building, or both? 

 

6. Associated devices & logos with 
advertisements & advertising 
structures 

Comment 

Have any safety devices, platforms, 
lighting devices or logos been designed 
as an integral part of the signage or 
structure on which it is to be displayed? 

Safety devices, platforms, lighting devices or 
logos have been proposed as an integral part of 
the sign. The maintenance walkway will be 
discreetly located behind the sign as opposed 
to the existing gantry protruding from the 
building.  

Attachment A includes recommended 
conditions regarding the luminance and 
mitigation of light spill. 

 

7. Illumination Comment 

Would illumination result in 
unacceptable glare? 

The illumination of the sign has been 
independently assessed and recommendations 
included in Attachment A to manage glare.  

RMS has supported the sign subject to 
conditions to address the safety of the road 
network.  

The Lighting Impact Assessment and Visual 
Impact Assessment has considered the 
residential receivers in proximity to the sign and 
recommendations have been made to mitigate 
any impacts including the transition times and 
the intensity of illumination. Discussion is 
provided under the Issues heading. 

Would illumination affect safety for 
pedestrians, vehicles or aircraft? 

Would illumination detract from the 
amenity of any residence or other form 
of accommodation? 

Can the intensity of the illumination be 
adjusted, if necessary? 

Is the illumination subject to a curfew? 

  

19



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

8. Safety Comment 

Would the proposal reduce the safety 
for any public road? 

The sign does not include moving or flashing 
images. The application is supported by a Road 
Safety Check which considered road safety 
along Parramatta Road. The illumination at 
night has been reduced to align with the 
Transport Corridor Outdoor Advertising Signage 
Guidelines and Australian Standards AS4228-
1997. These standard are identified in Table 3.9 
under Section 3.16.7 of the Sydney DCP 2012. 
The proposal is therefore unlikely to adversely 
impact vehicular and pedestrian safety. 

Would the proposal reduce the safety 
for pedestrians or bicyclists? 

Would the proposal reduce the safety 
for pedestrians, particularly children, by 
obscuring sightlines from public areas? 

26. The proposed signage is consistent with the aims and objectives of Clause 3 of SEPP 
64 and as such, is supported subject to the recommended conditions of consent. 

27. Clause 13 

28. The application is subject to Clause 13 which identifies compliance with the Transport 
Corridor Outdoor Advertising Signage Guidelines in terms of the public benefits to be 
provided in connection with the display of the advertisement.  

(a) The proposal includes a VPA to address the public benefits envisaged by SEPP 
64 satisfying Clause 13(2)(b)(iii) and 13(3). 

(b) The  table above demonstrates that the proposal satisfies the assessment 
criteria set out in Schedule 1 of SEPP 64. Further discussion and assessment 
regarding compliance is provided below under the heading Transport Corridor 
Outdoor Advertising and Signage Guidelines 2017 (TCOAS Guidelines 2017). 

(c) The application was accompanied by a Road Safety Assessment prepared by an 
appropriately qualified traffic engineer, given its location adjoining Parramatta 
Road, a State classified Main Road. 

(d) The proposal has been reviewed by the City’s Transport Planning Unit, who have 
raised no concerns in relation the design of the advertisement or road safety. 
Furthermore, Roads and Maritime Services have made no objections to the 
proposed development, subject to a number of conditions which have been 
included in Attachment A. 

29. Clause 14 - Duration of consents 

(a) In accordance with Clause 14(1)(a) and 14(2)(b) of SEPP 64, the advertisement 
is proposed to be displayed for a maximum period of 15 years.  

(b) An appropriate condition of consent has been recommended for inclusion in the 
Attachment A to require the consent to be limited in this regard. 

30. Clause 17 - Advertisements with display area greater than 20 square metres or higher 
than 8 metres above ground 

(a) The proposal is located more than 8 metres above ground level in accordance 
with Clause 17(1)(b) of SEPP 64. 

20



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

(b) The application was accompanied by a Statement of Environmental Effects 
which includes an impact statement which addresses Schedule 1 of the SEPP 
64. The impacts of the proposal are considered acceptable, subject to the 
recommended conditions included in Attachment A. 

(c) The application has been notified in accordance with Clause 7, Division 2 of 
Schedule 1 (formerly Section 79A) of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act, 1979.  

(d) A copy of the application was referred to Roads and Maritime Services (RMS) at 
the same time the application was notified. 

31. Clause 18 - Advertisements greater than 20 square metres and within 250 metres of, 
and visible from, a classified road. 

(a) The proposal is subject to Clause 17 of SEPP 64, is within 250 metres of 
Parramatta Road, a State classified Main Road and is visible from the classified 
road, in accordance with Clause 18(1) of SEPP 64. 

(b) The RMS granted concurrence to the proposal on 26 March 2018, in accordance 
with Clause 18(2) of SEPP 64. 

32. Clause 20 - Location of certain names and logos 

(a) A condition of consent has been recommended requiring any logos associated 
with the owner of the advertisement to comply with the provisions of Clause 20 of 
SEPP 64. 

33. Clause 22 - Wall advertisements 

The development is defined as a wall advertisement and is subject to Clause 22 of 
SEPP 64. An assessment against the provisions are provided in the table below: 

Control Compliance 

For a building having an above 
ground elevation of 200 square 
metres or more—the advertisement 
does not exceed 10% of the above 
ground elevation. 

Yes, the western wall of the existing building 
presents an area of approximately 
1,215.2sqm. The proposed sign is 37.4sqm 
which is 3.07% of the above ground 
elevation.  

It is noted that this is an improvement to the 
original proposal which presented a sign size 
of 42.4sqm equating to 3.49% of the wall 
facade.  

The reduction in the overall sign size assists 
in reducing the visual impacts of the 
structure.  

21



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Control Compliance 

The advertisement does not protrude 
more than 300 millimetres from the 
wall, unless occupational health and 
safety standards require a greater 
protrusion 

No, the sign structure protrudes 1.2m from 
the wall facade as it includes the 375mm for 
the sign and the additional steel framing 
supports and concealed catwalk providing 
access for maintenance of the sign.  

The width of the sign does address health 
and safety standards as it provides safe 
access to the sign for maintenance 
purposes. The location of the gantry access 
behind the sign reduces the visual 
dominance and clutter of the sign's 
supporting structures which improves the 
visual outcome. It is noted that the current 
static billboard vinyl sign has an external 
gantry catwalk and lighting which protrudes 
1.4m from the building facade.  

The advertisement does not protrude 
above the parapet or eaves 

Yes, the original design did extend beyond 
the building parapet however the modified 
design has reduced the overall size of the 
sign and its setting is now 250mm below the 
building parapet which allows the building 
facade to visually frame the sign.  

The advertisement does not extend 
over a window or other opening 

Yes, the proposed sign does not extend over 
any windows or openings to the building.  

The advertisement does not obscure 
significant architectural elements of 
the building 

Yes, no significant architectural features of 
the building have been obscured.  

a building identification sign or 
business identification sign is not 
displayed on the building elevation. 

Yes, there is no building or business 
identification signs located on the western 
facade.  

34. The proposed signage is consistent with the aims and objectives of Clause 22 of 
SEPP 64 applying to wall advertisements and as such, is supported subject to the 
recommended conditions of consent. 

Transport Corridor Outdoor Advertising and Signage Guidelines 2017 (TCOAS 
Guidelines 2017) 

35. The TCOAS Guidelines 2017 outline best practice for the planning and design of 
outdoor advertisements in transport corridors, such as along or adjacent to classified 
roads, freeways, tollways, transit ways and railway corridors, or on bridges or road and 
rail overpasses. 

  

22



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

36. Section 2 addresses sign placement, clutter, design excellence in its scale and 
compatibility with buildings and the site. As addressed above in the SEPP 64 
assessment the proposed sign is appropriately located and designed to respond to its 
context of an enterprise corridor within a mixed use zone. The proposed sign 
addresses the Digital Sign Criteria under Section 2.5.8 for signs greater than 20sqm by 
proposing dwell times not less than 10 sec where the speed limit is below 80km/h and 
transition times no longer than 0.1 seconds.  

37. The maintenance and content of the signage will be consistent with the design criteria 
to address road safety and is supported by a Road Safety Check. The ongoing 
management of the sign has been addressed in Attachment A requiring regular road 
safety audits.  

38. The following table sets out how the proposal addresses the relevant criteria in Section 
3 and 4 of the TCOAS Guidelines 2017: 

Consideration Comment 

3.2.1 Road clearance 

The advertisement must not create a 
physical obstruction or hazard. 

The proposed development is located on 
the wall of an existing building over 22m 
above the roadway. As such, the sign does 
not obstruct the movement of pedestrians, 
bicycle riders or any vehicles along 
Parramatta Road. 

Where the sign supports are not 
frangible (breakable), the sign must be 
placed outside the clear zone in an 
acceptable location in accordance with 
Austroads Guide to Road Design (and 
RMS supplements) or behind an RMS-
approved crash barrier. 

The proposed development is within an 
acceptable location as reviewed and 
supported by RMS.  

To ensure adequate clearance for 
pedestrian and wheel chair access, 
the sign must be positioned so that an 
absolute minimum envelope of 900mm 
x 2000mm of unobstructed clear path 
of travel is maintained for the entire 
length of the advertising structure. 

The proposed development does not 
obstruct pedestrian or wheel chair access 
along Parramatta Road.  

 

  

23



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

3.2.2 Line of Sight 

An advertisement must not obstruct the 
driver’s view of the road, particularly of 
other vehicles, bicycle riders or pedestrians 
at crossings. 

The proposed development is located 
adjacent to Parramatta Road and does not 
obstruct a driver’s view of the road. 

An advertisement must not obstruct a 
pedestrian or cyclist’s view of the road. 

The proposed development does not 
obstruct a pedestrian or cyclist’s view of any 
adjacent roads. 

The advertisement should not be located in 
a position that has the potential to give 
incorrect information on the alignment of 
the road. In this context, the location and 
arrangement of signs’ structures should not 
give visual clues to the driver suggesting 
that the road alignment is different to the 
actual alignment. An accurate photo-
montage should be used to assess this 
issue. 

The proposed development does not 
provide incorrect information on the 
alignment of the road. 

The advertisement should not distract a 
driver’s attention away from the road 
environment for an extended length of time. 
For example: 

i The sign should not be located in such a 
way that the driver’s head is required to turn 
away from the road and the components of 
the traffic stream in order to view its display 
and/or message. All drivers should still be 
able to see the road when viewing the sign, 
as well as the main components of the 
traffic stream in peripheral view. 

ii The sign should be oriented in a manner 
that does not create headlight reflections in 
the driver’s line of sight. As a guideline, 
angling a sign five degrees away from right 
angles to the driver’s line of sight can 
minimise headlight reflections. On a curved 
road alignment, this should be checked for 
the distance measured back from the sign 
that a car would travel in 2.5 seconds at the 
design speed. 

The proposed development is elevated and 
to the side of Parramatta Road but is 
located within a driver’s line of sight for a 50 
metre exposure distance.  

Drivers would not be required to turn away 
from the road to view the sign and would be 
able to see the road and traffic stream in 
their peripheral vision while viewing the 
sign. 

The proposal would not cause headlight 
reflections in the driver’s line of sight due to 
the elevation of the sign, and as the LED 
sign would be fitted with automatic sensors 
to reduce illumination during twilight and 
night-time hours. 

  

24



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

3.2.3 Proximity to decision making points and conflict points 

The sign should not be located: 

i less than the safe sight distance 
from an intersection, merge point, 
exit ramp, traffic control signal or 
sharp curves 

ii less than the safe stopping sight 
distance from a marked foot 
crossing, pedestrian crossing, 
pedestrian refuge, cycle crossing, 
cycleway facility or hazard within 
the road environment 

iii so that it is visible from the stem 
of a T-intersection. 

Within the 50 metre exposure distance of the 
advertisement is the Parramatta Road and 
Church Street signalised intersection with 
pedestrian crossing.  

Given the height of the proposed 
advertisement the content of the sign would 
not conflict with the traffic control signal. This 
proximity has been assessed and supported 
by RMS subject to conditions of consent.  

The placement of a sign should not 
distract a driver at a critical time. In 
particular, signs should not obstruct 
a driver’s view: 

i of a road hazard 

ii to an intersection 

iii to a prescribed traffic control 
device (such as traffic signals, stop 
or give way signs or warning signs) 

iv to an emergency vehicle access 
point or Type 2 driveways (wider 
than 6-9 metres) or higher. 

The Road Safety Check has concluded that 
the proposed development would not obstruct 
a driver at a critical time and its elevation 
above the roadway would not obstruct a 
driver’s view of a road hazard, intersection or 
traffic control device. 

3.2.4 Sign spacing 

The proposed site should be 
assessed to identify any road safety 
risk in relation to visual clutter and 
the proximity to other signs. 

There is one directional sign located within 
the signalised intersection west of the 
proposed development, however this sign is 
at street level and is visible to drivers. 

It is considered that there is limited road 
safety risk in relation to visual clutter and 
proximity of the advertisement to other signs. 

  

25



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

3.3.1 Advertising signage and traffic control devices 

The advertisement must not distract 
a driver from, obstruct or reduce the 
visibility and effectiveness of, 
directional signs, traffic signals, 
prescribed traffic control devices, 
regulatory signs or advisory signs 
or obscure information about the 
road alignment. 

It is considered that there is limited road 
safety risk in relation to visual clutter and 
proximity of the advertisement to other signs 
given that the only other large format signs 
are located 400m to the west or the subject 
site and all other signage in the retail strip is 
at street level and associated with business 
identification.  

The proposed sign is not located at street 
level and therefore does not impede traffic 
control signs or devices.  

The advertisement must not 
interfere with stopping sight 
distance for the road’s design 
speed or the effectiveness of a 
prescribed traffic control device. 

3.3.2 Dwell time and transition time 

Each advertisement must be 
displayed in a completely static 
manner, without any motion, for the 
approved dwell time. 

The proposed development complies with the 
digital signage requirements and is 
addressed in the recommended conditions of 
consent. 

The proposed sign is within the visual 
catchment of Bridge Road School located on 
the southern side of Parramatta Road 
approximately 300m west of the subject site. 
During school zone hours a fixed display will 
be required. This requirement is detailed 
within the recommended conditions.  

Dwell times for image display must 
not be less than: 

i. 10 seconds for areas where the 
speed limit is below 80km/h. 

ii. 25 seconds for areas where the 
speed limit is 80km/h and over. 

Any digital sign that is within 250 
metres of a classified road and is 
visible from a school zone must be 
switched to a fixed display during 
school zone hours. 

Digital signs must not contain 
animated or video/movie style 
advertising or messages including 
live television, satellite, Internet or 
similar broadcasts. 

The transition time between 
messages must be no longer than 
0.1 seconds, and in the event of 
image failure, the default image 
must be a black screen. 

26



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

3.3.3 Illumination and reflectance 

Advertisements must comply with 
the luminance requirements in 
Table 5. 

The proposed development has been 
supported by a Lighting Assessment Report 
and peer reviewed. The recommendations of 
the peer review have been addressed under 
the Issues heading and comply with the 
illumination and reflectance requirements.  

For night time use, the sign 
(whether internally illuminated or lit 
from its exterior) must not cast a 
shadow on areas that were 
previously lit and that have a 
special lighting requirement, e.g. 
pedestrian crossings. 

The light sources for illuminated 
signs must focus solely on the sign 
and: 

i be shielded so that glare does not 
extend beyond the sign 

ii with the exception of back lit neon 
signs, have no light source visible 
to passing motorists with a light 
output greater than that of a 15W 
fluorescent/LED bulb. 

The level of reflectance of an 
advertisement, and its content, is 
not to exceed the ‘Minimum 
coefficients of Luminous intensity 
per unit area for Class 2A Material’, 
as set out in Australian Standard 
AS/NZS 1906.1:2007. Flashing 
illuminated advertisements will not 
be approved. 

  

27



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

3.3.4 Interaction and sequencing 

The advertisement must not 
incorporate technology which 
interacts with in-vehicle electronic 
devices or mobile devices. This 
includes interactive technology or 
technology that enables opt-in 
direction communication with road 
users. 

The proposed development does not involve 
any interactive technology. 

Message sequencing designed to 
make a driver anticipate the next 
message is prohibited across 
images presented on a single sign 
and across a series of signs. 

The proposed development does not involve 
any message sequencing. 

4.1 What is the public benefit test? 

The Statement of Environmental 
Effects (SEE) submitted with a 
development application must 
outline arrangements for an 
appropriate public benefit. 

The submitted SEE: 

Includes an offer to enter into a VPA to 
facilitate the public benefit arrangements. The 
VPA on public exhibition is included in 
Attachment D. 

The VPA includes 10% of the advertising time 
available free of cost for use by the City of 
Sydney to display public information, 
community messages and promotion of 
Council events and initiatives. The distribution 
of the allotted time is detailed within the 
Lease Agreement which must be entered into 
by the sign operator prior to the operation of 
the sign.  

4.2 What is an appropriate public benefit? 

Public benefit can be provided as a 
monetary contribution or as an ‘in-
kind’ contribution, linked to 
improvements in local community 
services and facilities. 

The public benefit proposed is consistent with 
that outlined in Section 4.2.3 of the TCOAS 
Guidelines 2017, given that it provides for  
free advertising time. 

39. The proposed signage is consistent with the aims and objectives of the Guidelines and 
as such, is supported subject to the recommended conditions of consent. 

  

28



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Sydney LEP 2012 

40. The site is located within the B4 Mixed Use zone. The proposed use is defined as a 
third party advertising sign and is permissible as the LEP does not list third party 
advertising signs as prohibited development. .  

41. The relevant matters to be considered under Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 
for the proposed development are outlined below. 

Compliance Tables 

Development Control Compliance Comment 

4.3 Height of Buildings No A maximum height of 22m is permitted. 

A height of 30.6m is proposed. See 
discussion under the heading Issues. 

4.6 Exceptions to development 
standards 

Yes The proposal seeks to vary the 
development standard prescribed under 
Clause 4.3 Height of Buildings. 

See discussion under the heading 
Issues. 

 

Part 6 Local Provisions - 
Height and Floor Space  

Compliance Comment 

Division 4 Design excellence Yes The proposed development satisfies the 
requirements of this provision through 
amendments to the proposed sign 
addressed under the Issues heading. 

Sydney DCP 2012 

42. The relevant matters to be considered under Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 
for the proposed development are outlined below. 

2. Locality Statements – Chippendale, Camperdown, Darlington 

The subject site is located in the Camperdown locality. The proposed third party 
advertising sign is considered to be in keeping with the unique character of the area and 
design principles in that it supports the mixed use precinct by presenting a high quality 
designed LED digital sign. 

  

29



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

3.1 Public Domain Elements Yes The proposed development will have a 
neutral impact to the public domain. 

3.2 Defining the Public Domain Yes The proposed development will maintain 
the existing public domain by ensuring 
adequate sun access to publicly 
accessible spaces and considering 
public views. 

3.5 Urban Ecology Yes The proposed development does not 
involve the removal of any trees and will 
not adversely impact on the local urban 
ecology. 

3.6 Ecologically Sustainable 
Development 

Yes The proposed sign will be separately 
metered with conditions recommended 
for use of a renewable energy source to 
be confirmed prior to the issuing of a 
construction certificate.  

3.16 Signage and Advertising Yes The proposal involves third party 
advertising signage.  

See discussion in the heading Issues. 

3.16.1 Signage Strategy Yes A waiver to the signage strategy has 
been sought as it is considered the 
proposal satisfies the objectives of the 
DCP in relation to signage. 

Issues 

Building Height - Clause 4.6 

43. The site is subject to a maximum 22m height of buildings development standard. The 
existing building on the site has a maximum height of 38.9m measured to the top of 
the water tank and a parapet height of 30.85m from the existing ground level. The 
proposed digital advertising sign will sit 250mm below the existing building parapet at a 
maximum height of 30.6m above the existing ground level.  

44. The applicant is seeking to locate the entire replacement sign beyond the maximum 
22m height limit at its highest point 8.6m above the maximum 22m building height 
standard. The departure presents a 37% variation from the development standard.  

45. In accordance with Clause 4.6 of Sydney LEP 2012, the applicant has submitted a 
written justification seeking exception to the Height of buildings development standard, 
which is discussed below. 

30



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Clause 4.6 request to vary a development standard 

46. The site is subject to a maximum height control of 22m. The proposed development 
has a height of 30.6m, a 37% variation to the height control. 

47. A written request has been submitted to Council in accordance with Clause 4.6(3)(a) 
and (b) of the Sydney LEP 2012 seeking to justify the contravention of the 
development standard by demonstrating: 

(a) that compliance with the development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary 
in the circumstances of the case; and 

(b) that there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify contravening 
the standard. 

48. A copy of the applicant's written request is provided at Attachment C. 

Applicants Written Request - Clause 4.6(3)(a) and (b) 

49. The applicant seeks to justify the contravention of the height of buildings development 
standard on the following basis: 

(a) That compliance with the development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary 
in the circumstances of the case: 

(i) the proposed development will not increase the existing maximum height 
of the building and as such will have no additional impacts on views or 
overshadowing; 

(ii) the proposed development complies with the relevant sections of the 
Sydney Development Control Plan 2012; 

(iii) the existing third party advertising sign does not comply with the maximum 
height of 22m. 

(iv) 90%.  

(v) Lowering the sign would offer no architectural, aesthetic or amenity 
benefits when considering the visual impacts of the sign. Lowering the sign 
below the 22m maximum height would result in neighbouring buildings 
obstructing views of the sign resulting in the retention of the existing static 
billboard sign in its current location which has additional catwalk and flood 
lighting which has a greater visual impact than the proposed digital wall 
sign. 

(vi) The proposed digital wall sign, at the height proposed, has no impact on 
views available from the public domain or neighbouring properties. 
Removing the existing sign and replacing this sign with a sign with less 
visual impact. 

(vii) The existing building and proposed sign are consistent with the mixed use 
character of the locality. Advertising signs of the type and location 
proposed are appropriate within major transport corridors that include 
commercial land uses. The site is highly accessible to public transport and 
the proposed sign adds visual interest to the locality by mitigating the 
visual impact of the existing large blank western wall of the building. 

31



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

(b) That there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify contravening 
the standard: 

(i) From an aesthetic and visual impact viewpoint and in terms of optimising 
integration of the sign with the existing built form, the proposed location in 
the top northern corner of the western wall is the most appropriate location, 
notwithstanding the numerical non-compliance with the building height 
development standard. Lowering the sign would offer no material 
architectural, aesthetic or amenity benefit. 

(ii) Significant lowering of the sign to a maximum height of 22m would be far 
less compatible with the existing built form and result in the neighbouring 
building almost totally obstructing any view of the sign. 

(iii) There will be no adverse impact on the amenity of surrounding properties 
or the character of the locality, including the existing streetscape. There are 
no adverse environmental impacts arising from the proposed height 
encroachment. 

Consideration of Applicants Written Request - Clause 4.6(4) (a) (i) and (ii) 

50. Development consent must not be granted unless the consent authority is satisfied 
that: 

(a) the applicant’s written request has adequately addressed the matters required to 
be demonstrated by subclause 3 of Clause 4.6 being that compliance with the 
development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary in the circumstances of 
the case, and that there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify 
contravening the standard; and 

(b) the proposed development will be in the public interest because it is consistent 
with the objectives of the particular standard and the objectives for development 
within the zone in which the development is proposed to be carried out. 

Does the written request adequately address those issues at Clause 4.6(3)(a)? 

51. The applicant's written request has adequately demonstrated that compliance with the 
development standard for Height is unreasonable and unnecessary in the 
circumstances of this case as the proposed development satisfies the objectives for 
Height, notwithstanding non-compliance with the standard. 

52. The proposed development is consistent with the objectives for the B4 Mixed Use 
zone under SLEP 2012 and is in the public interest as the replacement third party 
advertising sign will have a neutral impact on the public domain and the proposed sign 
will sit below the building's roof line, framed by the western facade of the building, 
thereby not contributing any additional bulk above the building parapet. The additional 
height does not result in any adverse environmental impacts to surrounding properties 
and as such, compliance with the development standard is considered unreasonable 
and unnecessary. 

  

32



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Does the written request adequately address those issues at clause 4.6(3)(b)? 

53. The applicant's written request has adequately addressed that there are sufficient 
environmental planning grounds to justify contravening the Height development 
standard as the proposed development will be lower than the highest point of the 
building and responds appropriately to this. 

Is the development in the public interest? 

54. The proposed development is in the public interest as it is consistent with objectives of 
the Height development standard and the B4 Mixed Use zone. The proposed 
development achieves a height that does not result in any adverse amenity impacts on 
surrounding properties or the streetscape, and will provide for improved amenity to 
surrounding residential land uses by reducing the impact of obtrusive light spill and 
glare compared to the existing flood lit billboard sign. The proposal also provides a 
public benefit through the provision of advertising time for community messaging as 
per the VPA.  

Conclusion 

55. For the reasons provided above the requested variation to the height standard is 
supported as the applicant's written request has adequately addressed the matters 
required to be addressed by cl 4.6 of the Sydney LEP 2012 and the proposed 
development would be in the public interest because it is consistent with the objectives 
of Height development standard and the B4 Mixed Use zone. 

Signage 

56. In addition to the provisions of SEPP 64, the development is required to comply with 
Council’s provisions for signs and advertisements. These provisions aim to improve 
the quality of signage such that it contributes positively to the public domain and 
achieves design excellence.  

57. Section 3.16.7 relates to third party advertisements. Generally, new advertising signs 
and third party advertisements are not permitted.  

58. An assessment against the list of exceptional circumstances where advertising signs 
and third party advertisements may be permitted is provided below:  

General Requirements Compliance 

Whether the sign is advertising a civic 
or community event in the City of 
Sydney area. 

 

The advertisement will generally be for 
commercial purposes, with 10% of the 
advertising time dedicated for community 
advertising as managed by the City. 
Appropriate conditions have been 
recommended to facilitate the VPA as part of 
this application. 

33



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

General Requirements Compliance 

Whether the sign can be considered 
as public art in accordance with the 
City’s policies in relation to public art. 

 

The proposal is not considered public art, 
under the relevant provisions of the City’s 
Interim Guidelines for Public Art in Private 
Development.  

However as stated above a VPA has been 
prepared to facilitate the ongoing 
advertisement of the City’s community 
messaging.  

Whether the signs are consistent with 
the provisions for signage in the 
Sydney Development Control Plan 
2012. 

The site is located within the Broadway and 
Parramatta Road Signage Precinct, which 
requires that signage is designed to 
complement the precinct’s mixed use role 
and the replacement of approved existing 
signage, as is the case with the subject 
application, is permitted where compliance is 
achieved with Section 3.16.7.2 which is 
addressed below. 

Whether part of the sign occupied by 
corporate markings, logos, branding 
or similar is not more than 5% of the 
total sign area. 

The area of corporate branding is to be no 
more than 5% of the total signage area. A 
condition of consent is recommended 
accordingly.  

Whether the number of existing signs 
on the site and in the vicinity do not 
cumulatively create unacceptable 
visual clutter. 

There are similar third party advertisements 
within the greater visual catchment of the 
site. Given the distance between these third 
part signs visual clutter is not created.  

The advertisement will not be viewed in 
association with business identification signs 
at street level within the mixed use precinct 
given the physical separation between the 
propose sign and street level.  

Whether the sign is associated with 
the surrender of a consent for an 
existing sign on a heritage item or on 
a contributory building in a heritage 
conservation area. 

The proposal is not associated with the 
removal of an existing advertisement on a 
heritage item or within a conservation area. 

59. Subject to conditions, the proposed advertisement meets the criteria for exceptional 
circumstances listed above and as such the advertisement is supported. 

34



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Section 3.16.7.2 - Replacement, modifications or conversions of an existing approved 
advertising structure to an electronic variable content advertising structure 

60. The matters listed in this section of the SDCP 2012 are principally addressed within 
the assessment criteria under SEPP 64 and the road safety provisions of the Transport 
Corridor Outdoor Advertising and Signage Guidelines.  

61. The section requires applications to be supported by a Visual Impact Assessment 
Report, a Light Impact Assessment Report and Road Safety Report to address the 
character of an area, the sensitivity of surrounding land uses and the road safety of the 
transport corridor. These reports have been submitted and satisfactorily address the 
provisions of the SDCP 2012.  

62. The Visual Impact Assessment, the Light Impact Assessment and Peer Review Report 
(Attachment E) have consider the surrounding residential land uses including: 

(a) Three and four storey mixed use buildings along Parramatta Road including the 
‘Portia’ building at 124-126 Parramatta Road, the ‘Henley Apartments’ at 128 
Parramatta Road  and 132-134 Parramatta Road which are located directly to 
the north on the opposite side of Parramatta Road and present enclosed 
balconies and living areas to Parramatta Road; and 

(b) The northern facing facade of the rear building at 69-71 Parramatta Road 
immediately adjoining the subject site to the west which has residential 
apartments and balconies facing north which have an oblique view of the sign; 
and 

(c) 12 Marsden Street, Camperdown also known as 15-21 Brodrick Street which 
was approved by the LEC in 2015 and modified in 2017 for the construction of 2x 
four storey residential apartments. The approval will include living areas and 
balconies on the vertical plane aligning with the proposed sign facing north. The 
consents have been made operative and works have commenced.  

63. The proposed sign is set high on the western elevation of the subject building with the 
visual catchment focused to the north-west with exposure to Parramatta Road through 
to the intersection of Bridge Street rather than extending into the surrounding 
residential areas.  

64. The immediately adjoining residential buildings fronting Parramatta Road would be 
within the visual catchment but the living areas and balconies presenting to Parramatta 
Road would be at an oblique angle and the visual amenity impacts can be mitigated 
through the management of obtrusive light spill and glare which was addressed in the 
Light Impact Assessment. The Peer Review concluded that compliance has been 
achieved with the luminance parameters outlined within the Sydney DCP 2012 and the 
AS4282-1997 thereby mitigating the visual impacts to residential receivers.   

65. To further address the visual amenity the following design modifications have been 
recommended and applied as conditions of consent: 

(a) the sign has been reduced in size from 44.66sqm to 37.4sqm. A reduction of 
7.26sqm; 

(b) the LED sign incorporate dimming capabilities and multi-directional light sensors 
to allow for the transition of luminance from daytime to night-time;  

35



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

(c) during night-time hours the dwell times increased from 10 secs to 30 secs to 
reduce the number of transitions impacting on residential receivers; and 

(d) the transition times extended during the night-time to between 1 to 2 seconds to 
reduce the perception of instantaneous transitions between advertisements.  

66. To address the visual character the Visual Impact Assessment has considered the 
visibility of the sign from the public domain and surrounding receivers. The 
Assessment concluded that the proposed sign is obscured by intervening buildings 
along Parramatta Road and at the pedestrian street level is obscured by retail 
awnings. The main visual catchment is to motorists travelling east along Parramatta 
Road.  

67. The location of the sign will not alter the character of the surrounding locality as the 
proposed sign is spatially separated from the streetscape. The character of the mixed 
use zone, existing context of the Parramatta Road corridor and desired future 
character will not be materially impacted by the replacement of the existing sign.   

68. The replacement LED sign was originally proposed above the building parapet 
however in an effort to improve the appearance of the advertising structure the 
proposed sign has been reduced in size and lowered 250mm below the building 
parapet to be framed by the existing building facade. As stated above the sign will not 
impact on any significant architectural building features.  

69. The site is not within a heritage conservation area and will not impact on significant 
views or the visual amenity of the skyline. The sign is of a scale consistent with other 
large format signs within the Parramatta Road corridor as identified in third party 
advertising signs 400m west at the corner of Parramatta Road and Bridge Road. 
Whilst the sign is located in a highly visible position the sign does not contribute to 
visual clutter. 

70. Conditions have been recommended to require a Plan of Management to address the 
operational and management requirements of the sign to ensure a high standard of 
operation and a requirement that the sign be powered by a renewable energy source. 

71. The proposed sign is considered to be consistent with the provisions of Section 
3.16.7.2 of SDCP 2012 applicable to replacement third party advertising signs and is 
supportable.  

Voluntary Planning Agreement 

72. A Voluntary Planning Agreement (VPA) has been prepared in relation to the site. The 
agreement included the following public benefits: 

(a) To facilitate 10% of the advertising time available free of cost for use by the City 
of Sydney to display public information, community messages and promotion of 
Council events and initiatives.  

73. Section 7.11 contributions are not applicable and therefore the VPA does not envisage 
any offsets.  

74. The draft VPA at the time of writing this report was being exhibited for a period of 28 
days concluding on the 8 April 2019. 

75. A deferred commencement condition is recommended to ensure that the VPA is 
executed, registered on title prior to the consent being activated.  

36



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Other Impacts of the Development 

76. It is considered that the proposal will have no significant detrimental effect relating to 
environmental, social or economic impacts on the locality, subject to appropriate 
conditions being imposed. 

Suitability of the site for the Development  

77. The proposal is of a nature that will not impede the overall function of the site. The site 
is in a transport corridor and the proposed sign is suitable within the mixed use 
context. 

Internal Referrals 

78. The conditions of other sections of Council have been included in the proposed 
conditions. 

79. The application was discussed with or referred to the City’s Urban Design Specialist 
and the Transport Planning Unit, no objections were raised. 

External Referrals 

80. The application requires the concurrence of RMS as stated in Clause 18 SEPP No.64- 
Advertising Signs. As stated previously RMS provided a response on 26 March 2018 
raising no objection subject to conditions of consent being imposed.  

Notification, Advertising and Delegation (Submission(s) Received) 

81. In accordance with Schedule 1 the Sydney DCP 2012, the proposed development is 
required to be notified. As such the application was notified for a period of 14 days 
between 27 February 2018 and 14 March 2018. As a result of this notification there 
were 4 submissions received. 

(a) The proposed sign will be more prominently displayed and closer and more 
viewable to traffic on Parramatta Road and will protrude above the building’s roof 
line overwhelming the building. A plan for screening the area to improve the 
property should be provided. The existing sign is less intrusive.  

Response - The location of the sign has been amended and located 250mm 
below the building’s roof line. The location of the northern edge of the sign 
remains 400mm from the building edge however the orientation has changed to 
a portrait format which reduces the visual catchment to Parramatta Road which 
is the intended visual receiver. The screening of the sign above the building’s 
roof line is no longer required as the sign has been lowered.  

(b) Advertising that changes every 10 seconds is distracting and annoying.  

Response – The dwell times of advertising signs on classified roads is identified 
within the Transport Corridor Guidelines and is consistent with the City’s 
advertising provisions.   

(c) The proposed sign will be illuminated 24/7 and there are concerns about the 
detrimental impact on current and neighbouring residents in relation to light.  

37



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Response – The luminance and light spill of the proposed sign has been 
assessed against the provisions of the SDCP 2012 and Australian Standards. As 
addressed in the assessment compliance has been achieved and will not 
adversely impact on amenity of residential receivers.   

(d) The proposed sign does not complement the building's architectural style and is 
in contrast to the property’s character and does not enhance the residential 
building. A display of the history of the building would be of better visual interest 
which has been embraced by surrounding sites. A blank wall is not advanced by 
a commercial digital sign.  

Response – The replacement sign is not considered to result in any significant 
additional adverse visual impact when compared to the existing static billboard. 
The lot on which the existing sign is located was created for the sole purpose of 
displaying a third party advertising sign and the sign is permissible within the 
Mixed Use zone. The western wall is not diminished by the location of the sign 
and the architecture of the building is not adversely impacted. The inclusion of 
cultural and historic imagery on adjoining buildings was an integrated design 
feature of those developments. 

(e) The proposal cannot comply with the 300mm wall sign projection requirements 
and is visually obtrusive impacting on amenity.  

Response – The sign is less obtrusive than the existing sign with catwalk and 
flood lighting projecting 1.4m from the building facade. The proposed sign 
conceals the maintenance access and extends only 1.2m from the building 
facade. The sign is also reduced in size thereby presenting an acceptable 
amenity impact.   

(f) The variation to the building height standard should not be approved the sign 
should comply, lowering the sign keeping the elevation beneath the building 
actual roof line.  

Response – The request to vary the building height standard has been 
supported. The existing sign is located above the 22m building height standard. 
The lowering of the sign below the 22m height limit would place the sign closer to 
the street level presenting a greater impact to road safety and the surrounding 
residential receivers on the opposite side of Parramatta Road and immediately 
adjoining the site. The sign would also be obscured by adjoining buildings. The 
sign has been lowered below the building's roof line to be framed by the existing 
built form. 

(g) The commercial advertising will in no way enhance the presentation of the 
building.  

Response – The replacement sign will enhance the presentation to the public 
domain by removing the additional catwalk and structural supports of the existing 
sign. The sign will be reduced in size and the obtrusive light spill will be reduced 
thereby reducing the visual impacts of the existing building's presentation to 
Parramatta Road of which the third party advertising sign is a part.  

(h) The Light Impact Assessment Report was not made available to the Owners 
Corporation. The assessment should address the 2017 Transport Corridor 
Guidelines.  

38



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Response – The light impact assessment report was placed on public 
notification. The assessment has been considered in line with the Guidelines 
with respect to luminance, glare and road safety. 

(i) The owner's corporation should not be responsible for the energy costs as the 
electricity usage is not metered.  

Response – A condition of consent has been recommended that the advertising 
sign be separately metered and operate at no cost to the owners corporation of 
the building. 

(j) The content should be family friendly and socially responsible in the public 
interest.  

Response – The conditions of consent recommend a Plan of Management be 
submitted to address the operational management of the sign including content 
displayed in accordance with the requirements of the Advertising Standards 
Board. As part of the content 10% will be dedicated to messaging produced by 
the City to promote City initiatives which will be in the public interest. 

(k) The display of murals celebrating the historical significance of the building would 
enhance the visual aspect of the area. 

Response – The application does not eliminate the potential for the owner's 
corporation to consider and submit a development application for murals on 
other building facades which celebrate the historical significance of the building.  

(l) The owner's corporation has not received the package of documents through the 
development application process. This would have been a more suitable 
consultative approach.  

Response – The public exhibition of the development application occurred in 
compliance with the SDCP 2012 requirements and all submitted documentation 
pertaining to the proposal was made publicly available. 

(m) Any works must comply with the strata scheme. All works must be approved by 
the Strata Committee or the Owners Corporation at a General Meeting. 

Response – The applicant has obtained the owners corporation consent 
required to lodge the development application and facilitate its determination. 
The consent authority for the proposed development is the City of the Sydney 
Council. 

Public Interest 

82. It is considered that the proposal will have no detrimental effect on the public interest, 
subject to appropriate conditions being proposed. 

  

39



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

S7.11 Contribution 

83. A Section 7.11 contribution is not required under the City of Sydney Development 
Contributions Plan 2015 as the proposed development, being for the construction of a 
replacement third party advertising sign is excluded from the need to pay a 
contribution as detailed in Table 2 of the Plan.   

Relevant Legislation 

(a) Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979. 

(b) State Environmental Planning Policy 64- Advertising and Signage. 

(c) Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012. 

(d) Sydney Development Control Plan 2012. 

Conclusion 

84. The proposed development is generally consistent with the development standards 
and B4 Mixed Use zone objectives of the Sydney LEP 2012 with the exception of the 
height of buildings control. 

85. Whilst the proposal will result in a breach of  the 22m height control, the existing 
building already exceeds the control and the breach does not result in any 
unacceptable amenity impacts. The proposal is generally consistent with the 
objectives, standards and guidelines of the relevant planning controls. The applicant 
has submitted written justification seeking to vary the building height development 
standard pursuant to clause 4.6 variation of SLEP 2012. It is considered that 
compliance with the standard is unreasonable or unnecessary in the circumstances for 
the reasons outlined in this report. 

86. The proposal includes the dedication of advertising space for community messaging. A 
draft Voluntary Planning Agreement has been prepared and is currently being 
exhibited for a period of 28 days.  

87. Accordingly, the proposal is recommended for delegation to the CEO to determine 
following the completion of the public exhibition process for the VPA. 

GRAHAM JAHN, AM 

Director City Planning, Development and Transport 

Rene Hayes, Senior Planner 

40



Attachment A 

Recommended Conditions of Consent 

41



SCHEDULE 1 - DEFERRED COMMENCEMENT CONDITIONS (CONDITIONS TO BE 
SATISFIED PRIOR TO CONSENT OPERATING) 

 

The following deferred commencement conditions must be satisfied prior to the 
consent becoming operative: 

 

(A) PART A - DEFERRED COMMENCEMENT CONDITIONS 
 

(CONDITIONS TO BE SATISFIED PRIOR TO CONSENT OPERATING) 
 

The consent is not to operate until the following condition is satisfied, within 
24 months of the date of this determination: 

 

(1) PLANNING AGREEMENT 
 

(a) The Planning Agreement between the COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
SYDNEY and GEORGE HAY PTY LTD and OARE NO.3 PTY LTD 
which was placed on public exhibition between 5 March 2019 and 2 
April  2019 shall be executed and submitted to Council; and 

 

(b) The Planning Agreement, as executed, must be registered on the 
title of the land. 

 
  

42



SCHEDULE 1A  
 
APPROVED DEVELOPMENT/DESIGN MODIFICATIONS/COVENANTS AND 
CONTRIBUTIONS/USE AND OPERATION  

Note: Some conditions in Schedule 1A are to be satisfied prior to issue of any interim for 
final Construction Certificate and some are to be satisfied prior to issue of any 
Occupation Certificate, where indicated. 

(1) APPROVED DEVELOPMENT 

(a) Development must be in accordance with Development Application No. 
D/2018/73 dated 2 February 2018 and the following drawings: 

Drawing Number Architect Date 

A.1 Issue 3 Arcadis 16.05.2018 

 

and as amended by the conditions of this consent. 

(b) In the event of any inconsistency between the approved plans and 
supplementary documentation, the drawings will prevail. 

(2) SURRENDER OF EXISTING CONSENT 

Development consent No.0209/12/94 (the consent for the existing static 
billboard sign) must be surrendered prior to the issue of any Occupation 
Certificate for the approved digital LED sign.  

(3) SIGNAGE – TIME LIMITED CONSENT 

The sign and any associated structure must be removed and the site 
reinstated, within a period of 15 years from the date of consent. The use must 
cease after that time and the building made good accordingly. If the sign is to 
be retained after this period, a new development application must be lodged 
with Council before the expiration of the consent for Council’s consideration of 
the continuation of the use.  

(4) PLANNING AGREEMENT 

The Planning Agreement in accordance with section 7.4 of the Environmental 
Planning and Assessment Act 1979 between the City of Sydney Council and 
GEORGE HAY PTY LTD and OARE NO.3 PTY LTD entered into in 
compliance with deferred commencement condition (1) must be complied with. 

(5) POSITIVE COVENANT AND ADVERTISING DEED 

Prior to any Occupation Certificate being issued, a positive covenant, in the 
form specified in the Planning Agreement, is to be registered on the title of the 
land to which this consent relates requiring all operators of the third party 
advertising sign to enter into an Advertising Deed with the Council. The 
covenant is to be created at no cost to Council. 

43



(6) LOCATION OF CERTAIN NAMES AND LOGOS 

(a) The name or logo of the person who owns or leases an advertisement 
or advertising structure may appear only within the advertising display 
area. 

(b) If the advertising display area has no border or surrounds, any such 
name or logo is to be located: 

(i) Within the advertisement, or 

(ii) Within a strip below the advertisement that extends for the full 
width of the advertisement. 

(c) The area of any such name or logo must not be greater than 0.25 square 
metres. 

(d) The area of any such strip is to be included in calculating the size of the 
advertising display area, defined in Condition (7) of this development 
consent. 

(7) SIGN HEIGHT AND DIMENSIONS 

Prior to the issue of any Construction Certificate architectural plans shall be 
submitted detailing the following design amendments: 

(a) The height of the sign must not exceed RL52250 to the top of the sign 
which is 250mm below the existing parapet height of the building being 
RL52500. 

(b) The sign shall have a maximum length of 5.11m and a maximum height 
of 7.32m resulting in a total area of 37.4sqm.   

Prior to an Occupation Certificate being issued, a Registered Surveyor must 
provide certification that the height of the building accords with (a) above, to the 
satisfaction of the Principal Certifier. 

(8) SIGNAGE GENERAL REQUIREMENTS 

The design of the approved signage must comply with the following:- 

(a) Each advertisement must by displayed statically, for a minimum of 10 
seconds during daytime hours where the posted speed limit is less than 
80 km/h; 

(b) Each advertisement must by displayed statically, for a minimum of 30 
seconds during night-time hours where the posted speed limit is less 
than 80 km/h; 

(c) The signage is not to contain reflective materials, colours and finishes. 

(d) The signage is not to incorporate sound, vibration, odour and other 
emissions. 

(e) The transition time between advertisements must not be less than 0.1 
seconds during daytime hours; 

44



(f) The transition time between advertisements must not be less than 1 
second or greater than 2 seconds during night-time hours; 

(g) In the event of the advertising sign display malfunctioning, freezing or 
having no content being transmitted, the display should revert to a 
default black screen automatically. 

(h) A Management Plan is to be provided that identifies the operational, 
content management, maintenance and complaints handling 
arrangement for the advertising structure.  

(i) An electronic log of activity shall be maintained by the operator for the 
duration of the development consent and be available to the consent 
authority or Roads and Maritime Services to monitor compliance with 
any conditions.  

(j) The sign must be switched to a fixed display during school zone hours.  

(k) The display must be completely static from its first appearance to the 
commencement of a change to another display. 

(l) No advertisement displayed must be dominated by red, yellow, white, 
green or any shape or pattern, so as to result in it being readily mistaken 
for a rail or traffic or road sign or signal. 

(9) TRANSITION FROM DAY-TIME TO NIGHT-TIME 

(a) The approved advertising structure shall have a multi-directional light 
sensor (to at least three areas with different ambient light conditions) that 
automatically adjust to brightness of the advertising display area to 
prevailing light conditions as required by Section 3.16.7.2 (4) of the 
Sydney Development Control Plan 2012. 

(b) The change in maximum luminance between day time hours, twilight 
hours and night time hours is to be programmed automatically to make 
a gradual transition starting at 45 minutes prior to sunset and reaching 
night-time mode at 45 minutes after sunset. 

(c) A timing device is to be fitted to the approved advertising structure to 
ensure compliance with the requirements stipulated in Conditions (a) 
and (b) above.  

(10) ROADS AND MARITIME SERVICES CONCURRENCE  

(a) The proposed sign must not contain/ use:  

(i) Flashing lights  

(ii) Electronically changeable messages  

(iii) Animated display, moving parts or simulated movement  

(iv) Complex displays that hold a drivers attention beyond “glance 
appreciation”  

(v) Displays resembling traffic signs or signals, or giving instruction to 
traffic by using words such as ‘halt’ or ‘stop’  

45



(vi) A method of illumination that distracts or dazzles.  

(b) Construction and maintenance activities shall be undertaken wholly 
within the private property of the site. Where this is not possible a Road 
Occupancy Licence (ROL) will be required. A ROL can be obtained 
through https://myrta.com/oplinc2/pages/secuirty/oplincLogin.jsf 

(c) All works associated with the proposed sign, including maintenance 
activities, shall be at no cost to Roads and Maritime.  

(11) SIGN ILLUMINATION 

 (a) At no time is the intensity, period of intermittency and hours of 
illumination of the sign to cause objectionable glare or injury to the 
amenity of the neighbourhood and as such must be designed, installed 
and used in accordance with AS4282-1997 Control of Obtrusive Effects 
of Outdoor Lighting. 

(b) The sign(s) must not flash. Signs with flashing, chasing, pulsating or 
flickering lights are not permitted. 

(c) The maximum night time luminance of any sign is not to exceed 200 
cd/sqm. 

(d) The maximum horizontal viewing angle of 160 degrees (+80 degrees 
and -80 degrees) and a maximum vertical viewing angle of 70 degrees 
(+25 degrees and -45 degrees), as shown in Section 3.16.7.2 (4) of the 
Sydney Development Control Plan 2012. 

(12) CONTROL OF LIGHT INTO THE ENVIRONMENT 

(a) Lighting installed in the open and/or public spaces must comply with 
AS1158 series-lighting for roads and public spaces. The design and 
placement must be so that lighting does not create a nuisance or 
negatively affect the amenity of the surrounding neighbourhood, for that 
purpose lighting must comply with AS4282-1997 Control of Obtrusive 
Effects of Outdoor Lighting. 

(b) Before it is put on display on the approved sign, each image must be 
certified at no cost to Council by a Chartered Professional Engineer with 
expertise in lighting that the image, when displayed on the approved sign 
will comply with AS4282-1997 and Condition 11 of this consent. Every 
such certificate must be kept in a register for 12 months and be produced 
for Council’s inspection on request.  

(13) ILLUMINATED BILLBOARD SIGNS 

(a) The proposed illuminated billboard sign must be powered be a 
renewable energy source, either through: 

(i) The provision of infrastructure to generate renewable energy 
(subject to development consent); or 

(ii) The purchase of a renewable energy product offered by an 
electricity supplier equivalent to the estimated amount of electricity 
used for the period of consent of ten years. 

46

https://myrta.com/oplinc2/pages/secuirty/oplincLogin.jsf


(b) Prior to a Construction Certificate being issued, proof of the purchase of 
a renewable energy production the form of a contract or payment receipt 
is to be supplied to the Certifying Authority and included in the 
Construction Certificate documentation referred to Council. The 
applicant is to retain proof of the continuation of the renewable energy 
contract for the duration of the period during which the sign is in place.  

(14) SAFETY AUDIT AND RISK ANALYSIS ON THE FIRST ANNIVERSARY 

(a) The applicant shall have a Safety Audit and Risk Analysis undertaken by 
an independent RMS accredited road safety auditor and professional 
lighting engineer within 12 months of operation and submitted to the 
consent authority to confirm the operational effect, with 
recommendations for necessary action to be taken where unacceptable 
glare, negative safety outcomes for road users or loss of amenity for 
accommodation land uses are identified. 

  

47



SCHEDULE 1B  

PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION CERTIFICATE/COMMENCEMENT OF WORK/HEALTH 
AND BUILDING 

(15) WASTE AND RECYCLING MANAGEMENT - MINOR 

The proposal must comply with the relevant provisions of Council's Policy for 
Waste Minimisation in New Developments 2005 which requires facilities to 
minimise and manage waste and recycling generated by the proposal. 

(16) STRUCTURAL CERTIFICATION FOR DESIGN – BCA (ALL BUILDING 
CLASSES) 

Prior to the issue of a Construction Certificate, structural details and a 
Structural Certificate for Design by a qualified practising structural engineer 
and in accordance with Clause A2.2(a)(iii) of the Building Code of Australia 
(applicable to Class 2-9 buildings) and Clause 1.2.2(iii) of Volume 2 of the BCA 
(applicable to Class 1 and 10 buildings) must be submitted to the satisfaction 
of Council (where Council is the Principal Certifier). 

(17) STRUCTURAL CERTIFICATION FOR EXISTING BUILDING – 
ALTERATIONS AND ADDITIONS 

A qualified practising certified structural engineer must provide structural 
certification to Council (where Council is the Principal Certifier) verifying that 
the existing structure can adequately support the proposed new loads and the 
structural design complies with the Structural Provisions of Part B1 (Vol 1) and 
Part 2.1 (Vol 2) of the Building Code of Australia prior to a Construction 
Certificate being issued. The proposed additional loads and/or alterations must 
not cause a decrease in the existing structural performance of the building 
including its performance under earthquake actions (AS1170.4). 

(18) WORKS REQUIRING USE OF A PUBLIC PLACE 

Where construction/building works require the use of a public place including 
a road or footpath, approval under Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993 is to be 
obtained from Council prior to the commencement of work. Details of any 
barricade construction, area of enclosure and period of work are required to 
be submitted to the satisfaction of Council. 

(19) PHOTOGRAPHIC RECORD / DILAPIDATION REPORT - PUBLIC DOMAIN 

Prior to an approval for demolition being granted or a Construction Certificate 
being issued, whichever is earlier, a photographic recording of the public 
domain site frontages is to be prepared and submitted to Council's satisfaction. 

The recording must include clear images of the building facade adjoining the 
footpath, the footpath, nature strip, kerb and gutter, driveway crossovers and 
laybacks, kerb ramps, road carriageway, street trees and plantings, parking 
restriction and traffic signs, and all other existing infrastructure along the street. 

The form of the recording is to be as follows:- 

(a) A PDF format report containing all images at a scale that clearly 
demonstrates the existing site conditions; 

48



(b) Each image is to be labelled to identify the elements depicted, the 
direction that the image is viewed towards, and include the name of the 
relevant street frontage; 

(c) Each image is to be numbered and cross referenced to a site location 
plan; 

(d) A summary report, prepared by a suitable qualified professional, must 
be submitted in conjunction with the images detailing the project 
description, identifying any apparent existing defects, detailing the date 
and authorship of the photographic record, the method of documentation 
and limitations of the photographic record; 

(e) Include written confirmation, issued with the authority of both the 
applicant and the photographer that the City of Sydney is granted a 
perpetual non-exclusive license to make use of the copyright in all 
images supplied, including the right to make copies available to third 
parties as though they were Council images. The signatures of both the 
applicant and the photographer must be included. 

Any damage to the public way including trees, footpaths, kerbs, gutters, road 
carriageway and the like must immediately be made safe and functional by the 
applicant. Damage must be fully rectified by the applicant in accordance with 
the City’s standards prior to a Certificate of Completion being issued for Public 
Domain Works or before an Occupation Certificate is issued for the 
development, whichever is earlier. 

  

49



SCHEDULE 1C  
DURING CONSTRUCTION/PRIOR TO OCCUPATION/COMPLETION 

(20) HOURS OF WORK AND NOISE – OUTSIDE CBD 

The hours of construction and work on the development must be as follows: 

(a) All work, including building/demolition and excavation work, and 
activities in the vicinity of the site generating noise associated with 
preparation for the commencement of work (eg. loading and unloading 
of goods, transferring of tools etc) in connection with the proposed 
development must only be carried out between the hours of 7.30am and 
5.30pm on Mondays to Fridays, inclusive, and 7.30am and 3.30pm on 
Saturdays, with safety inspections being permitted at 7.00am on work 
days, and no work must be carried out on Sundays or public holidays. 

(b) All work, including demolition, excavation and building work must comply 
with the City of Sydney Code of Practice for Construction Hours/Noise 
1992 and Australian Standard 2436 - 2010 Guide to Noise Control on 
Construction, Maintenance and Demolition Sites. 

(c) Notwithstanding the above, the use of a crane for special operations, 
including the delivery of materials, hoisting of plant and equipment and 
erection and dismantling of on site tower cranes which warrant the on-
street use of mobile cranes outside of above hours can occur, subject to 
a permit being issued by Council under Section 68 of the Local 
Government Act 1993 and/or Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993. 

Note: Works may be undertaken outside of hours, where it is required to avoid 
the loss of life, damage to property, to prevent environmental harm and/or to 
avoid structural damage to the building. Written approval must be given by the 
Construction Regulation Unit, prior to works proceeding 

The City of Sydney Code of Practice for Construction Hours/Noise 1992 allows 
extended working hours subject to the approval of an application in 
accordance with the Code and under Section 4.55 of the Environmental 
Planning and Assessment Act 1979. 

(21) SITE NOTICE OF PROJECTS DETAILS AND APPROVALS 

A site notice is to be prominently displayed at the boundary to each frontage 
of the site for the purposes of informing the public of appropriate project details 
and relevant approvals. The notice(s) is to satisfy all of the following 
requirements: 

(a) Minimum dimensions of the notice are to measure 841mm x 594mm (A1) 
with any text on the notice to be a minimum of 30 point type size; 

(b) The notice is to be durable and weatherproof and is to be displayed 
throughout the construction period; 

(c) A copy of the first page of the development approval, building approval 
(including any modifications to those approvals) and any civic works 
approvals is to be posted alongside the notice in weatherproof casing; 

  

50



(d) The approved hours of work, the Principal Certifier including contact 
address and certification details, the name of the site manager, the 
responsible managing company, its address and 24 hour contact phone 
number for any enquiries, including construction/noise complaint, and 
the estimated date of completion of the project are to be displayed on 
the site notice; 

(e) The notice(s) is to be mounted at eye level on the perimeter hoardings 
and is also to state that unauthorised entry to the site is not permitted. 

(f) All notices and signs must be displayed in locations as specified in the 
City’s Guidelines for Hoardings and Scaffolding. 

(22) ENCROACHMENTS – NEIGHBOURING PROPERTIES 

No portion of the proposed structure shall encroach onto the adjoining 
properties. 

(23) ENCROACHMENTS – PUBLIC WAY 

No portion of the proposed structure, including gates and doors during opening 
and closing operations, shall encroach upon Council’s footpath area. 

(24) OCCUPATION CERTIFICATE TO BE SUBMITTED 

An Occupation Certificate must be obtained from the Principal Certifier and a 
copy submitted to Council prior to commencement of occupation or use of the 
whole or any part of a new building, an altered portion of, or an extension to 
an existing building. 

(25) NO OBSTRUCTION OF PUBLIC WAY 

The public way must not be obstructed by any materials, vehicles, refuse, skips 
or the like, under any circumstances. Non-compliance with this requirement 
will result in the issue of a notice by Council to stop all work on site. 

(26) USE OF MOBILE CRANES 

The following requirements apply: 

(a) Mobile cranes operating from the road must not be used as a method of 
demolishing or constructing a building. 

(b) For special operations including the delivery of materials, hoisting of 
plant and equipment and erection and dismantling of on site tower 
cranes which warrant the on-street use of mobile cranes, permits must 
be obtained from Council for the use of a mobile crane. The permits must 
be obtained 48 hours beforehand for partial road closures which, in the 
opinion of Council will create minimal traffic disruptions and 4 weeks 
beforehand in the case of full road closures and partial road closures 
which, in the opinion of Council, will create significant traffic disruptions. 

  

51



(c) The use of a crane for special operations, including the delivery of 
materials, hoisting of plant and equipment and erection and dismantling 
of on site tower cranes which warrant the on-street use of mobile cranes 
outside of approved hours of construction can occur, subject to a permit 
being issued by Council under Section 68 of the Local Government Act 
1993 and/or Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993. 

(27) SURVEY CERTIFICATE AT COMPLETION 

A Survey Certificate prepared by a Registered Surveyor must be submitted at 
the completion of the building work certifying the location of the building in 
relation to the boundaries of the allotment. 

(28) LOADING AND UNLOADING DURING CONSTRUCTION 

The following requirements apply: 

(a) All loading and unloading associated with construction activity must be 
accommodated on site, where possible. 

(b) If, it is not feasible for loading and unloading to take place on site, a 
Works Zone on the street may be considered by Council. 

(c) A Works Zone may be required if loading and unloading is not possible 
on site. If a Works Zone is warranted an application must be made to 
Council at least 8 weeks prior to commencement of work on the site. An 
approval for a Works Zone may be given for a specific period and certain 
hours of the days to meet the particular need for the site for such facilities 
at various stages of construction. The approval will be reviewed 
periodically for any adjustment necessitated by the progress of the 
construction activities. 

(d) Where hoisting activity over the public place is proposed to be 
undertaken including hoisting from a Works Zone, a separate approval 
under Section 68 of the Local Government Act 1993 must be obtained. 

  

52



SCHEDULE 2  
 
PRESCRIBED CONDITIONS  
 
The prescribed conditions in accordance with Division 8A of the Environmental 
Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000 apply:  
 
Clause 98 Compliance with Building Code of Australia and insurance requirements 
under the Home Building Act 1989  
 
Clause 98A Erection of signs  
 
Clause 98B Notification of Home Building Act 1989 requirements  
 
Clause 98C Conditions relating to entertainment venues  
 
Clause 98D Conditions relating to maximum capacity signage  
 
Clause 98E Conditions relating to shoring and adequacy of adjoining property  
 

Refer to the NSW State legislation for full text of the clauses under Division 8A of the 
Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000. This can be accessed at: 
http://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au 

 

53



Attachment B 

Selected Drawings

54



55



Attachment C 

Clause 4.6 Variation Request 

56



INGHAM PLANNING PTY LTD    
   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX E 

 

Request to Vary the Clause 4.3  

Maximum Building Height Control  

Pursuant to Clause 4.6 of Sydney LEP 2012 

Prepared by Ingham Planning Pty Ltd 

57



INGHAM PLANNING PTY LTD    
  1 
 

1. Introduction 

 

Clause 4.6 of Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 (SLEP 2012) allows for flexibility in the 

application of certain development standards to achieve “better outcomes for and from 
development by allowing flexibility in particular circumstances.”  
 

The existing building on the subject land extends well above the 22m maximum building height 

development standard prescribed in Clause 4.3 of SLEP 2012. While the proposed digital 

advertising wall sign will not extend above the maximum height of the existing building, it will 

extend above the 22m maximum building height prescribed in Clause 4.3.   Accordingly, a 

request to contravene this development control must be made under Clause 4.6 of the LEP.   

 

In preparing this submission for variation of the Clause 4.3 maximum building height control, 

regard has been had to the document “Varying Development Standards: A Guide (August 
2011)” prepared by the NSW Department of Planning & Infrastructure (DP&I), together with 

relevant Land and Environment Court judgements such as Four2Five Pty Ltd v Ashfield Council 
(2015) NSWLEC 90 and Wehbe v Pittwater Council (2007) NSWLEC 827.  

 

2. The relevant development standard 

 

Clause 4.3 of SLEP 2012 sets out requirements in relation to height of buildings. Sub-clause 

4.3(2) requires that a building on any land is not to exceed the maximum height shown for land 

on the Height of Buildings Map. The maximum building height for the subject land, as shown 

on this Map is 22m. Building height is measured as height above existing ground level, to the 

highest point of the building. This includes any roof structures such as parapet walls, lift 

overruns, plant rooms, water tanks and the like.  

 

3. Requested variation to the standard 

 

The top of the digital wall sign is proposed at an RL of 52.250, which equates to a height of 

between 29.425m and 30.6m above existing ground level, below the proposed sign. The 

proponent is seeking an increase of up to 8.6m above the 22m maximum building height 

standard that applies to the site, pursuant to clause 4.3 to allow a maximum building height for 

the sign of 30.6m. The existing building on the site has a maximum building height of 38.9m, 

above existing ground level, as measured to the top of the rooftop water tank.  

 

4. Requirements of clause 4.6 – Exceptions to development standards 

 

The objectives of clause 4.6 are as follows: 

 

“(a) to provide an appropriate degree of flexibility in applying certain development 
standards to particular development, 

(b) to achieve better outcomes for and from development by allowing flexibility in 
particular circumstances.” 

 

Clause 4.6(3) requires that a request to contravene the control, to demonstrate: 

 

“(a) that compliance with the development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary in the 
circumstances of the case, and 

(b) that there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify contravening the 
development standard.” 

58



INGHAM PLANNING PTY LTD    
  2 
 

In considering whether to grant consent for a development that contravenes a development 

standard, a consent authority must be satisfied that: 

 

“(i) the applicant’s request has adequately addressed the matters required to be 
demonstrated by subclause (3), and 

 
(ii) the proposed development will be in the public interest because it is consistent with the 

objectives of the particular standard and the objectives for development within the 
zone in which the development is to be carried out, and 

(iii) the concurrence of the Secretary has been obtained. 
 
These matters are addressed below in Sections 5, 6 and 7 below. 

 

5. Compliance with the development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary 

 

In relation to determining whether compliance with a development standard is unreasonable or 

unnecessary, the DP&I Guide referred to above, outlines the following 5 part test.  

 

(1) The objectives of the standard are achieved notwithstanding noncompliance with the 
standard. 

(2) The underlying objective or purpose of the standard is not relevant to the 

development and therefore compliance is unnecessary. 
(3) The underlying object of purpose would be defeated or thwarted if compliance was 

required and therefore compliance is unreasonable. 
(4) The development standard has been virtually abandoned or destroyed by the 

council’s own actions in granting consents departing from the standard and hence 
compliance with the standard is unnecessary and unreasonable. 

(5) The compliance with the development standard is unreasonable or inappropriate due 

to existing use of land and current environmental character of the particular parcel of 
land. That is, the particular parcel of land should not have been included in the zone. 

 

In regard to the above 5 tests, it is considered that test No’s 1, 2 and 3 are applicable to the 

assessment of the proposed variation to the maximum building height standard. Test No. 4 is 

not relevant, as Sydney City Council has generally applied the height standard, except in 

circumstances where variations are justifiable. While the maximum building height standard has 

typically been applied with some degree of flexibility, the Council has not abandoned or 

destroyed the subject development standard. Test No. 5 is not applicable as the subject land is 

appropriately zoned as B4 Mixed Use and an alternative zoning is not warranted.  

 

While the underlying objective or purpose of the maximum building height standard is relevant 

to the proposed development, it is considered that the proposal meets the objectives of the 22m 

maximum building height standard, having regard to the circumstances of the case, as outlined 

in the following assessment of the proposal against the objectives of this height control.  

 

The proposal achieves the objectives of the height control.   

 

The objectives of the height control are noted and commented upon below: 

 

The objectives for the height control are: 

 

“(a)  to ensure the height of development is appropriate to the condition of the site and 
its context, 

59



INGHAM PLANNING PTY LTD    
  3 
 

(b)  to ensure an appropriate height transitions between new development and heritage 
items and buildings in heritage conservation areas or special character areas,  

 
(c)  to promote the sharing of views, 
 
(d) to ensure appropriate height transitions from Central Sydney and Green Square 

Town Centre to adjoining areas, 
 
(e) in respect of Green Square 

  
(i) To ensure the amenity of the public domain by restricting taller 

buildings to only part of the site, and 
(ii) To ensure the built form contributes to the physical definition of the 

street network and public spaces”. 
 

The proposal achieves these objectives as discussed below. 

 

(a)  To ensure the height of development is appropriate to the condition of the site and 
its context. 

 
Given that the proposal is for a sign to be affixed to an existing building and the fact that 

the existing building on the site exceeds the 22m maximum building height control by 

16.9m (or almost double the height prescribed on the Height of Buildings Map), the 

appropriateness of the height of the proposed wall sign should be more assessed against 

the height of the existing building, rather than the numerical control in the LEP. It should 

also be acknowledged that the existing wall sign that is to be replaced is also located 

entirely above the prescribed 22m maximum building height control. 

 

The proposed wall sign is located approximately 8m below the maximum height of the 

existing building and the whole of the sign is located below the height of the western 

wall of the building and the balustrade that extends along the top of this wall.  

 

From an aesthetic and visual impact viewpoint and in terms of optimising integration of 

the sign with the existing built form, the proposed location in the top northern corner of 

the western wall is the most appropriate location, notwithstanding the numerical non-

compliance with the building height development standard. Further lowering of the sign 

would offer no material architectural, aesthetic or amenity benefit.  

 

Significant lowering of the proposed sign to a maximum height of 22m would be far less 

compatible with the existing built form and result in the neighbouring building 

substantially obstructing views of the sign. The proposal could not proceed on this basis, 

resulting in retention of the existing horizontally aligned wall sign and associated 

catwalk, which have a greater visual impact than the proposed digital wall sign.  

 
(b)  to ensure an appropriate height transitions between new development and heritage 

items and buildings in heritage conservation areas or special character areas,  
 
Objective (b) is not relevant as the existing building is not a heritage item, there are no 

adjacent heritage items and the site is not located in a Conservation Area. The proposed 

sign is not visible from the Conservation Area located to the east of the subject land, on 

the eastern side of Missenden Road.  

   

60



INGHAM PLANNING PTY LTD    
  4 
 

(c)  to promote the sharing of views, 
 

The proposed digital wall sign, at the height proposed, has no impact on views available 

from the public domain or neighbouring properties. Removing the existing sign and 

replacing this sign with a sign with less visual impact, results in an improvement to 

visual outlook from the public domain and neighbouring properties. The proposal 

promotes the sharing of views.  

 

(d) to ensure appropriate height transitions from Central Sydney and Green Square 

Town Centre to adjoining areas, 
 
Objective (d) is not relevant as the subject land is not located within, adjoining or 

adjacent to Central Sydney and Green Square Town Centre. 
 
(e) in respect of Green Square 
  

(i) To ensure the amenity of the public domain by restricting taller 
buildings to only part of the site, and 

(ii) To ensure the built form contributes to the physical definition of the 
street network and public spaces”. 

 

Objective (e) is not relevant as the subject land is not located within Green Square. 
 

 The proposal achieves the objectives of the B4 Mixed Use Zone  

 

The objectives of the B4 Mixed Use Zone are noted and commented upon below: 

 

The objectives for the B4 Mixed Use Zone are: 

 
•   To provide a mixture of compatible land uses.  
•   To integrate suitable business, office, residential, retail and other 

development in accessible locations so as to maximise public transport 

patronage and encourage walking and cycling.   
•   To ensure uses support the viability of centres.  

 
The proposed digital wall sign, at the height proposed, is consistent with the applicable 

objectives of the B4 Mixed Use Zone. The existing building and proposed sign are 

consistent with the mixed-use character of the locality. Advertising signs of the type and 

location proposed are appropriate within major transport corridors that include 

commercial land uses. The site is highly accessible to public transport and the proposed 

sign adds visual interest to the locality by mitigating the visual impact of the existing 

large blank western wall of the building. Enhancing visual interest assist in supporting 

the viability of the Camperdown commercial centre that extends along Parramatta Road.  

 

As demonstrated and assessed in the Statement of Environmental Effects (SEE) and 

supporting reports, the proposed sign is suitably located, compatible with existing built 

form, neighbourhood character and streetscape and no material impact on the amenity 

of the locality, notwithstanding the numerical non-compliance with the maximum 

building height control.  

 

 

61



INGHAM PLANNING PTY LTD    
  5 
 

Having regard to the circumstances  of the case, particularly the height of the existing building 

upon which the sign is proposed to be located,  allowing the requested variation of the 22m 

maximum building height control, for the proposed sign, will not defeat or thwart the 

underlying object or purpose, or application of the development standard, nor create an 

undesirable precedent.  

 

Having regard to the above and the fact that the proposal achieves the objectives of the 

maximum building height standard and the zone objectives, it is considered that it would be 

unreasonable and unnecessary to enforce strict compliance with this development standard, as 

a better outcome is achieved in relation to the height controls, by not complying.  

 

6. There are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify contravening the 

development standard 

 

Compliance would result in poorer planning outcomes 

 

One of the objectives of Clause 4.6 is to allow better outcomes to be achieved.  In this 

case, as discussed above a better planning outcome is achieved by allowing a breach as 

requiring numerical compliance with the maximum building height standard for the 

proposed sign. 

 

As noted in Section 5, From an aesthetic and visual impact viewpoint and in terms of 

optimising integration of the sign with the existing built form, the proposed location in the 

top northern corner of the western wall is the most appropriate location, notwithstanding 

the numerical non-compliance with the building height development standard. Lowering 

the sign would offer no material architectural, aesthetic or amenity benefit.  

 

Significant lowering of the sign to a maximum height of 22m would far less compatible 

with the existing built form and result in the neighbouring building almost totally 

obstructing any view of the sign. The proposal could not proceed on this basis, resulting 

in retention of the existing horizontally aligned wall sign and associated catwalk, which 

have a greater visual impact than the proposed digital wall sign.  

 

Lack of impact 

 

As noted in Section 5, despite the numerical height non-compliance, there will be no 

adverse impact on the amenity of surrounding properties or the character of the locality, 

including the existing streetscape. There are no adverse environmental impacts arising 

from the proposed height encroachment.   

 

As noted above, the lack of environmental impact and the reduced visual impact arising from 

removal of an existing wall sign with greater visual impact, which arise from not complying, 

justify contravention of the height standard, as proposed.  

 

Council must also be satisfied that the proposal meets the objectives of the standard and the 

objectives of the subject zone.  As discussed above the proposal meets the objectives of the 

standard also meets the objectives of the B4 zone. 

 

In view of the above, it is considered that there are sufficient environmental planning grounds 

specifically related to the subject site and development that warrant support the requested 

variation of the maximum building height standard. 

 

62



INGHAM PLANNING PTY LTD    
  6 
 

 

7. Other matters to be considered 

 

It is noted that apart from considering the written request, pursuant to subclauses (4) and (5), the 

consent authority must also satisfy itself that the development meets the following requirements. 

 

 Is consistent with the objectives of the relevant standard 

 

As demonstrated in Section 5 of this submission and as detailed in the submitted 

Statement of Environmental Effects, it is demonstrated that the proposal achieves the 

objectives of the maximum building height standard. 

 

 Is consistent with the objectives of the subject zone 

 

As demonstrated in Sections 5 of this submission and as detailed in the submitted 

Statement of Environmental Effects, it is demonstrated that the proposal achieves the 

objectives of the B4 Mixed Use Zone applying to the subject land. . 

 

In addition to the above, acting in the Secretary’s concurrence role, Council must consider: 

 

(a)  whether contravention of the development standard raises any matter of 

significance for State or regional environmental planning, and 
(b)  the public benefit of maintaining the development standard, and 
(c)  any other matters required to be taken into consideration by the Director-General 

before granting concurrence. 
 

In relation to (a), the proposed breach is not of any State or regional significance. 

 

In relation to (b), there is no public benefit from maintaining the standard as there is no adverse 

impact on the public domain and the proposal is generally consistent with the relevant planning 

controls relating to signs.  As noted above enforcement of the control would result in a poorer 

planning outcome, which is not in the public interest. 

 

In relation to (c), there are no other matters that require consideration. 

 

Conclusion 

 

Given the circumstances of the case, including the height of the existing building, the 

appropriate location and vertical orientation of the proposed sign and its reduced visual impact 

of the proposed sign, compared to the existing sign, which will be removed, a variation of the 

22m maximum building height standard, as proposed is appropriate and a positive planning 

outcome that is also consistent with the objects of the EP&A Act.   

 . 

Requiring numerical compliance is unreasonable and unnecessary in this case, as it would not 

result in any material benefits and in relation to urban design, architectural character, amenity 

and the overall quality of the public domain and the streetscape. The alternative of a fully 

compliant maximum building height for the sign would result in a poorer planning outcome.  

 

The proposal achieves the objectives of the height standard and the objectives of the B4 Mixed 

Use Zone, despite the numerical non-compliance with this development standard. 

 

63



INGHAM PLANNING PTY LTD    
  7 
 

The requested variation to the 22m maximum building height standard satisfies the 

requirements of Clause 4.6. The proposal represents an appropriate planning outcome for the 

site and the requested variation of the maximum building height control, pursuant to Clause 4.6 

is worthy of support.  

 

 

Nick Juradowitch Director 

Ingham Planning Pty Ltd 

March 2019 

64



Attachment D 

Draft Voluntary Planning Agreement

65



 

 

  
AUSTRALIA\NTH\225465134.01 
 
3473-3566-1836, v. 3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Planning Agreement 

The Council of the City of Sydney 
 
 
and 
 
George Hay Pty Ltd 
ACN 000 412 242 
 
 
and 
 
OARE No. 3 Pty Ltd 
ABN 91 986 780 196 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
File number: X018204 
Trim ref: 2019/098831 

66



 

3473-3566-1836, v. 3 

CONTENTS 

CLAUSE PAGE 

1.  INTERPRETATION ................................................................................................... 1 

1.1  Definitions .................................................................................................. 1 
1.2  Rules for interpreting this document ............................................................... 4 

2.  APPLICATION OF THE ACT AND THE REGULATION ....................................................... 5 

2.1  Application of this document .......................................................................... 5 
2.2  Public Benefits to be made by Developer ......................................................... 5 
2.3  Application of sections 7.11, 7.12 and 7.24 of the Act ....................................... 5 
2.4  City rights ................................................................................................... 5 
2.5  Explanatory note .......................................................................................... 5 

3.  OPERATION OF THIS PLANNING AGREEMENT .............................................................. 5 

3.1  Commencement ........................................................................................... 5 

4.  WARRANTIES ......................................................................................................... 6 

4.1  Mutual warranties ........................................................................................ 6 
4.2  Developer warranties .................................................................................... 6 

5.  PUBLIC BENEFITS ................................................................................................... 7 

5.1  Developer to provide Public Benefits ............................................................... 7 
5.2  Advertising Deed ......................................................................................... 7 
5.3  Creation — Developer ................................................................................... 7 
5.4  Obligations satisfied ..................................................................................... 7 

6.  INDEMNITY ............................................................................................................ 7 

7.  REGISTRATION ....................................................................................................... 7 

7.1  Registration of this document – obligations of the Developer .............................. 7 
7.2  Registration of this document – obligations of the City ....................................... 8 
7.3  Release of this document .............................................................................. 8 

8.  DISPUTE RESOLUTION............................................................................................. 9 

8.1  Application .................................................................................................. 9 
8.2  Negotiation ................................................................................................. 9 
8.3  Not use information ...................................................................................... 9 
8.4  Condition precedent to litigation ................................................................... 10 
8.5  Summary or urgent relief ............................................................................ 10 

9.  TAXES AND GST ................................................................................................... 10 

9.1  Responsibility for Taxes .............................................................................. 10 
9.2  GST free supply ......................................................................................... 10 
9.3  Supply subject to GST ................................................................................ 10 

10.  DEALINGS ........................................................................................................... 11 

10.1  Dealing by the City ..................................................................................... 11 
10.2  Dealing by the Developer ............................................................................ 11 

11.  TERMINATION ...................................................................................................... 12 

12.  CONFIDENTIALITY AND DISCLOSURES .................................................................... 13 

12.1  Use and disclosure of Confidential Information ............................................... 13 
12.2  Disclosures to personnel and advisers ........................................................... 13 
12.3  Disclosures required by law ......................................................................... 13 
12.4  Receiving party's return or destruction of documents ...................................... 14 

67



 

3473-3566-1836, v. 3 

12.5  Security and control ................................................................................... 14 

13.  NOTICES ............................................................................................................. 14 

14.  GENERAL ............................................................................................................. 14 

14.1  Governing law ........................................................................................... 14 
14.2  Access to information ................................................................................. 15 
14.3  Relationship of parties ................................................................................ 15 
14.4  Giving effect to this document ..................................................................... 15 
14.5  Time for doing acts .................................................................................... 15 
14.6  Severance ................................................................................................. 16 
14.7  Preservation of existing rights ...................................................................... 16 
14.8  No merger ................................................................................................ 16 
14.9  Waiver of rights ......................................................................................... 16 
14.10  Operation of this document ......................................................................... 16 
14.11  Operation of indemnities ............................................................................. 17 
14.12  Inconsistency with other documents ............................................................. 17 
14.13  No fetter ................................................................................................... 17 
14.14  Counterparts ............................................................................................. 17 

1.  PUBLIC BENEFITS - OVERVIEW ............................................................................... 22 

Schedules 

1 Agreement Details ................................................................................................ 18 
2 Requirements under the Act and Regulation (clause 2) ............................................... 19 
3 Public Benefits (clause 5) ....................................................................................... 22 

 

68



 

 1  
 
 
3473-3566-1836, v. 3 

THIS PLANNING AGREEMENT is made on     2019. 

BETWEEN: 

(1) The Council of the City of Sydney ABN 22 636 550 790 of Town Hall House, 
456 Kent Street, SYDNEY NSW 2000 (the City); and 

(2) George Hay Pty Ltd ACN 000 412 242 of 49-51 Greek Street, Glebe NSW 
2037 (the Developer) 

(3) OARE No. 3 Pty Ltd ABN 91 986 780 196 of                                              
(the Operator)  

BACKGROUND 

(A) The Developer is the owner of the Land. 

(B) The Operator intends to undertake the Development on the Land. 

(C) The Developer and the Operator have entered into an agreement to allow the 
Operator to undertake the Development on the Land. 

(D) The Developer and Operator has offered to enter into this document with the City 
for the provision of the Public Benefits on the terms of this document. 

THE PARTIES AGREE AS FOLLOWS: 

1. INTERPRETATION 

1.1 Definitions 

The following definitions apply in this document. 

Act means the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 (NSW). 

Advertising Deed means the draft advertising deed attached as Annexure B to 
this document.  

Attributed Value means the value the City and the Developer agree is to be 
attributed to each element of the Public Benefits as at the date of this document, 
as set out in clause 1 of Schedule 3 of this document. 

Authorisation means: 

(a) an approval, authorisation, consent, declaration, exemption, permit, 
licence, notarisation or waiver, however it is described, and including any 
condition attached to it; and 

(b) in relation to anything that could be prohibited or restricted by law if a 
Government Agency acts in any way within a specified period, the expiry of 
that period without that action being taken, 

including any renewal or amendment.  

69



 

 2  
 
 
3473-3566-1836, v. 3 

Business Day means a day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday) 
on which banks are open for general banking business in Sydney, Australia. 

City's Personal Information means Personal Information to which the 
Developer, or any third party engaged by the Developer, has access directly or 
indirectly in connection with this document, including the Personal Information of 
any personnel, customer or supplier of the City (other than the Developer). 

City's Policies means all policies and procedures relevant to the provision of the 
Public Benefits, as notified by the City in writing to the Developer. 

City’s Representative means the person named in Item 3 of Schedule 1 or 
his/her delegate. 

Confidential Information means: 

(a) information of a party (disclosing party) that is: 

(i) made available by or on behalf of the disclosing party to the other 
party (receiving party), or is otherwise obtained by or on behalf of 
the receiving party; and 

(ii) by its nature confidential or the receiving party knows, or ought 
reasonably to know, is confidential. 

Confidential Information may be made available or obtained directly or indirectly, 
and before, on or after the date of this document. 

Confidential Information does not include information that: 

(a) is in or enters the public domain through no fault of the receiving party or 
any of its officers, employees or agents; 

(b) is or was made available to the receiving party by a person (other than the 
disclosing party) who is not or was not then under an obligation of 
confidence to the disclosing party in relation to that information; or 

(c) is or was developed by the receiving party independently of the disclosing 
party and any of its officers, employees or agents. 

Construction Certificate has the same meaning as in the Act. 

Corporations Act means the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth). 

Dealing means selling, transferring, assigning, novating, mortgaging, charging, 
or encumbering and, where appearing, Deal has the same meaning. 

Developer’s Representative means the person named in Item 4 of Schedule 1 
or his/her delegate. 

Development means the development of the Land described at Item 2 of 
Schedule 1. 

Development Application means the development application identified in 
Item 5 of Schedule 1 and includes all plans, reports models, photomontages, 

70



 

 3  
 
 
3473-3566-1836, v. 3 

material boards (as amended supplemented) submitted to the consent authority 
before the determination of that Development Application.  

Development Consent means the consent granted to the Development 
Application for the Development and includes all modifications made under the 
Act. 

Dispute means any dispute or difference between the parties arising out of, 
relating to or in connection with this document, including any dispute or 
difference as to the formation, validity, existence or termination of this 
document.  

Government Agency means: 

(a) a government or government department or other body; 

(b) a governmental, semi-governmental or judicial person; or 

(c) a person (whether autonomous or not) who is charged with the 
administration of a law. 

GST means the same as in the GST Act. 

GST Act means A New Tax System (Goods and Services Tax) Act 1999 (Cth). 

Land means the land described in Item 1 of Schedule 1 of this document. 

Occupation Certificate has the same meaning as in the Act. 

Personal Information has the meaning set out in the Privacy Act 1988 (Cth). 

Personnel means the Developer’s officers, employees, agents, contractors or 
subcontractors. 

Positive Covenant means the interest, materially in the terms of the Positive 
Covenant Instrument, to be created over the Positive Covenant Land in 
accordance with Schedule 3 of this document which constitute the Public 
Benefits. 

Positive Covenant Instrument means the document attached as Annexure A 
to this document, with the document described as “Annexure B” in that 
document being the Advertising Deed. 

Positive Covenant Land means land over which the Positive Covenant is to be 
created being the Land 

Privacy Laws means the Privacy Act 1988 (Cth), the Privacy and Personal 
Information Protection Act 1998 (NSW), the Spam Act 2003 (Cth), the Do Not 
Call Register Act 2006 (Cth) and any other applicable legislation, principles, 
industry codes and policies relating to the handling of Personal Information. 

Public Benefits means the provision of benefits to the community by the 
Developer in the form and at the times specified in Schedule 3. 

71



 

 4  
 
 
3473-3566-1836, v. 3 

Regulation means the Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000 
(NSW). 

Tax means a tax, levy, duty, rate, charge, deduction or withholding, however it 
is described, that is imposed by law or by a Government Agency, together with 
any related interest, penalty, fine or other charge. 

1.2 Rules for interpreting this document 

Headings are for convenience only, and do not affect interpretation.  The 
following rules also apply in interpreting this document, except where the context 
makes it clear that a rule is not intended to apply. 

(a) A reference to: 

(i) a legislative provision or legislation (including subordinate 
legislation) is to that provision or legislation as amended, re-enacted 
or replaced, and includes any subordinate legislation issued under it; 

(ii) a document (including this document) or agreement, or a provision 
of a document (including this document) or agreement, is to that 
document, agreement or provision as amended, supplemented, 
replaced or novated; 

(iii) a party to this document or to any other document or agreement 
includes a permitted substitute or a permitted assign of that party;  

(iv) a person includes any type of entity or body of persons, whether or 
not it is incorporated or has a separate legal identity, and any 
executor, administrator or successor in law of the person; and 

(v) anything (including a right, obligation or concept) includes each part 
of it. 

(b) A singular word includes the plural, and vice versa. 

(c) A word which suggests one gender includes the other genders. 

(d) If a word or phrase is defined, any other grammatical form of that word or 
phrase has a corresponding meaning. 

(e) If an example is given of anything (including a right, obligation or 
concept), such as by saying it includes something else, the example does 
not limit the scope of that thing. 

(f) A reference to including means “including, without limitation”. 

(g) A reference to dollars or $ is to an amount in Australian currency. 

(h) A reference to this document includes the agreement recorded by this 
document. 

(i) Words defined in the GST Act have the same meaning in clauses about 
GST. 

72



 

 5  
 
 
3473-3566-1836, v. 3 

(j) This document is not to be interpreted against the interests of a party 
merely because that party proposed this document or some provision in it 
or because that party relies on a provision of this document to protect 
itself. 

2. APPLICATION OF THE ACT AND THE REGULATION 

2.1 Application of this document 

This document is a planning agreement within the meaning of section 7.4 of the 
Act and applies to: 

(a) the Land; and 

(b) the Development. 

2.2 Public Benefits to be made by Developer 

Clause 5 and Schedule 3 set out the details of the:  

(a) Public Benefits to be delivered by the Developer; 

(b) time or times by which the Developer must deliver the Public Benefits; and 

(c) manner in which the Developer must deliver the Public Benefits. 

2.3 Application of sections 7.11, 7.12 and 7.24 of the Act 

The application of sections 7.11, 7.12 and 7.24 of the Act are excluded to the 
extent set out in Items 5 and 6 of Schedule 2 to this document. 

2.4 City rights 

This document does not impose an obligation on the City to: 

(a) grant Development Consent for the Development; or 

(b) exercise any function under the Act in relation to a change to an 
environmental planning instrument, including the making or revocation of 
an environmental planning instrument. 

2.5 Explanatory note 

The explanatory note prepared in accordance with clause 25E of the Regulation 
must not be used to assist in construing this document. 

3. OPERATION OF THIS PLANNING AGREEMENT 

3.1 Commencement 

This document will commence on the date of execution of this document by all 
parties to this document. 

73



 

 6  
 
 
3473-3566-1836, v. 3 

4. WARRANTIES 

4.1 Mutual warranties 

Each party represents and warrants that:  

(a) (power) it has full legal capacity and power to enter into this document 
and to carry out the transactions that it contemplates; 

(b) (corporate authority) it has taken all corporate action that is necessary 
or desirable to authorise its entry into this document and to carry out the 
transactions contemplated; 

(c) (Authorisations) it holds each Authorisation that is necessary or desirable 
to: 

(i) enable it to properly execute this document and to carry out the 
transactions that it contemplates; 

(ii) ensure that this document is legal, valid, binding and admissible in 
evidence; or 

(iii) enable it to properly carry on its business as it is now being 
conducted, 

and it is complying with any conditions to which any of these 
Authorisations is subject; 

(d) (documents effective) this document constitutes its legal, valid and 
binding obligations, enforceable against it in accordance with its terms 
(except to the extent limited by equitable principles and laws affecting 
creditors' rights generally), subject to any necessary stamping or 
registration; 

(e) (solvency) there are no reasonable grounds to suspect that it will not be 
able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable; and 

(f) (no controller) no controller is currently appointed in relation to any of its 
property, or any property of any of its subsidiaries. 

4.2 Developer warranties 

(a) The Developer warrants to the City that, at the date of this document: 

(i) it is the registered proprietor of the Land; 

(ii) it is legally entitled to obtain all consents and approvals that are 
required by this document and do all things necessary to give effect 
to this document; and 

(iii) it is not aware of any matter which may materially affect the 
Developer’s ability to perform its obligations under this document. 

74



 

 7  
 
 
3473-3566-1836, v. 3 

(b) The Developer warrants to the City that, prior to commencing delivery of 
the Public Benefits it will have obtained all Authorisations and insurances 
required under any Law to carry out its obligations under this document. 

5. PUBLIC BENEFITS 

5.1 Developer to provide Public Benefits 

The Developer must, at its cost and risk, provide the Public Benefits to the City 
in accordance with this document. 

5.2 Advertising Deed 

The Operator must on or before the date of this document enter into the 
Advertising Deed with the City. 

5.3 Creation — Developer 

The Developer must, at its cost, take all steps required to create the Positive 
Covenant by the relevant due date specified in clause 1 of Schedule 3.   

5.4 Obligations satisfied 

(a) The requirement for the Developer to create the Positive Covenant is 
satisfied where:  

(i) an instrument in registrable form under the Real Property Act 1900 
(NSW) creating the Positive Covenant is registered at Land Registry 
Services NSW; and 

(ii) the Developer provides the City with written notice confirming the 
registration contemplated in clause 5.4(a)(i) above together with the 
registration notice provided by Land Registry Services NSW. 

(b) The Developer and the City are each do all things reasonably necessary to 
enable registration of the instrument creating the Positive Covenant to 
occur.  

6. INDEMNITY 

The Developer indemnifies the City against all damage, expense, loss or liability 
of any nature suffered or incurred by the City arising from any act or omission by 
the Developer (or any Personnel) in connection with the performance of the 
Developer’s obligations under this document, except where the damage, 
expense, loss or liability suffered or incurred is caused by, or contributed to by, 
any wilful or negligent act or omission of the City (or any person engaged by the 
City). 

7. REGISTRATION  

7.1 Registration of this document – obligations of the Developer 

The Developer:  

75



 

 8  
 
 
3473-3566-1836, v. 3 

(a) consents to the registration of this document by NSW Land Registry 
Services making an entry in the relevant folio of the Register kept under 
the Real Property Act 1900; 

(b) warrants that it has obtained all consents to the registration of this 
document as contemplated by clause 7.1(a); and 

(c) must within 10 Business Days of a written request from the City do all 
things reasonably necessary to allow the City to register this document as 
contemplated by clause 7.1(a), including but not limited to: 

(i) producing any documents or letters of consent required by the 
Registrar-General of the NSW Land Registry Services; 

(ii) providing the production slip number when the Developer produces 
the certificate of title to the Land at the NSW Land Registry Services; 
and 

(iii) providing the City with a cheque for registration fees payable in 
relation to registration of this document at NSW Land Registry 
Services. 

The Developer must act promptly in complying with and assisting to respond to 
any requisitions raised by the NSW Land Registry Services that relate to 
registration of this document. 

7.2 Registration of this document – obligations of the City 

The City:  

(a) agrees to apply to NSW Land Registry Services for the registration of this 
document by making an entry in the relevant folio of the Register kept 
under the Real Property Act 1900;; and 

(b) must within 10 Business Days of a written request from the Developer do 
all things reasonably necessary to register this document in this way. 

The City must act promptly in complying with and assisting to respond to any 
requisitions raised by the NSW Land Registry Services that relate to registration 
of this document. 

7.3 Release of this document 

If the City is satisfied, acting reasonably, that the Positive Covenant has been 
recorded in the Register kept under the Real Property Act 1900 and there are no 
outstanding breaches (that have not been cured by that recording) the City must 
promptly do all things reasonably required to remove this document from the 
relevant folio of the Register. 

76



 

 9  
 
 
3473-3566-1836, v. 3 

8. DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

8.1 Application 

Any Dispute must be determined in accordance with the procedure in this 
clause 8. 

8.2 Negotiation 

(a) If any Dispute arises, a party to the Dispute (Referring Party) may by 
giving notice to the other party or parties to the Dispute (Dispute Notice) 
refer the Dispute to the Operator’s Representative, Developer’s 
Representative and the City’s Representative for resolution.  The Dispute 
Notice must: 

(i) be in writing; 

(ii) state that it is given pursuant to this clause 8; and 

(iii) include or be accompanied by reasonable particulars of the Dispute 
including: 

(A) a brief description of the circumstances in which the Dispute 
arose;  

(B) references to any: 

(aa) provisions of this document; and 

(bb) acts or omissions of any person, 

relevant to the Dispute; and 

(C) where applicable, the amount in dispute (whether monetary or 
any other commodity) and if not precisely known, the best 
estimate available. 

(b) Within 10 Business Days of the Referring Party issuing the Dispute Notice 
(Resolution Period), the Developer’s Representative and the City’s 
Representative must meet at least once to attempt to resolve the Dispute.   

(c) The Developer’s Representative and the City’s Representative may meet 
more than once to resolve a Dispute.  The Developer’s Representative and 
the City’s Representative may meet in person, via telephone, 
videoconference, internet-based instant messaging or any other agreed 
means of instantaneous communication to effect the meeting. 

8.3 Not use information 

The purpose of any exchange of information or documents or the making of any 
offer of settlement under this clause 8 is to attempt to settle the Dispute.  No 
party may use any information or documents obtained through any dispute 
resolution process undertaken under this clause 8 for any purpose other than in 
an attempt to settle the Dispute. 

77



 

 10  
 
 
3473-3566-1836, v. 3 

8.4 Condition precedent to litigation 

Subject to clause 8.5, a party must not commence legal proceedings in respect 
of a Dispute unless: 

(a) a Dispute Notice has been given; and 

(b) the Resolution Period has expired. 

8.5 Summary or urgent relief 

(a) Nothing in this clause 8 will prevent a party from instituting proceedings to 
seek urgent injunctive, interlocutory or declaratory relief in respect of a 
Dispute; or 

(b) instituting class 1 proceedings within the meaning of the Land and 
Environment Court Act 1979. 

9. TAXES AND GST 

9.1 Responsibility for Taxes 

(a) The Developer is responsible for any and all Taxes and other like liabilities 
which may arise under any Commonwealth, State or Territory legislation 
(as amended from time to time) as a result of or in connection with this 
document or the Public Benefits. 

(b) The Developer must indemnify the City in relation to any claims, liabilities 
and costs (including penalties and interest) arising as a result of any Tax 
or other like liability for which the Developer is responsible under 
clause 9.1(a). 

9.2 GST free supply 

To the extent that Divisions 81 and 82 of the GST Law apply to a supply made 
under this document: 

(a) no additional amount will be payable by a party on account of GST; and 

(b) no tax invoices will be exchanged between the parties. 

9.3 Supply subject to GST 

To the extent that clause 9.2 does not apply to a supply made under this 
document, this clause 9.3 will apply. 

(a) If one party (Supplying Party) makes a taxable supply and the 
consideration for that supply does not expressly include GST, the party 
that is liable to provide the consideration (Receiving Party) must also pay 
an amount (GST Amount) equal to the GST payable in respect of that 
supply.  

(b) Subject to first receiving a tax invoice or adjustment note as appropriate, 
the receiving party must pay the GST amount when it is liable to provide 
the consideration. 

78



 

 11  
 
 
3473-3566-1836, v. 3 

(c) If one party must indemnify or reimburse another party (Payee) for any 
loss or expense incurred by the Payee, the required payment does not 
include any amount which the Payee (or an entity that is in the same GST 
group as the Payee) is entitled to claim as an input tax credit, but will be 
increased under clause 9.3(a) if the payment is consideration for a taxable 
supply. 

(d) If an adjustment event arises in respect of a taxable supply made by a 
Supplying Party, the GST Amount payable by the Receiving Party under 
clause 9.3(a) will be recalculated to reflect the adjustment event and a 
payment will be made by the Receiving Party to the Supplying Party, or by 
the Supplying Party to the Receiving Party, as the case requires. 

(e) The Developer will assume the City is not entitled to any input tax credit 
when calculating any amounts payable under this clause 9.3. 

(f) In this document: 

(i) consideration includes non-monetary consideration, in respect of 
which the parties must agree on a market value, acting reasonably; 
and 

(ii) in addition to the meaning given in the GST Act, the term "GST" 
includes a notional liability for GST. 

10. DEALINGS 

10.1 Dealing by the City 

(a) The City may Deal with its interest in this document without the consent of 
the Developer if the Dealing is with a Government Agency.  The City must 
give the Developer notice of the Dealing within five Business Days of the 
date of the Dealing. 

(b) The City may not otherwise Deal with its interest in this document without 
the consent of the Developer, such consent not to be unreasonably 
withheld or delayed. 

10.2 Dealing by the Developer 

(a) Prior to registration of this document in accordance with clause 7, the 
Developer must not Deal with this document or the Land without: 

(i) the prior written consent of the City (which must not be 
unreasonably withheld or delayed); and 

(ii) the City, the Developer and the third party the subject of the Dealing 
entering into a deed of consent to the Dealing on terms acceptable 
to the City. 

(b) The City is required to promptly enter into the deed of consent and in 
doing so: 

(i) must be reasonable in determining the deed’s terms; and 

79



 

 12  
 
 
3473-3566-1836, v. 3 

(ii) any such terms must not impose new substantive obligations on the 
Developer or any person who is proposed to replace either or both 
parties. 

(c) On and from registration of this document in accordance with clause 7: 

(i) the Developer may Deal with this document without the consent of 
the City only as a result of the sale of the whole of the Land (without 
subdivision) to a purchaser of the Land; 

(ii) the Developer must not otherwise Deal with this document to a third 
party that is not a purchaser of the whole or any part of the Land 
without: 

(A) the prior written consent of the City (which must not be 
unreasonably withheld or delayed); and 

(B) the City, the Developer and the third party the subject of the 
Dealing entering into a deed of consent to the Dealing on 
terms acceptable to the City (being terms that do not seek to 
impose new substantive obligations on the Developer or any 
person who is proposed to replace either or both parties). 

(d) The Developer must pay the City’s reasonable costs and expenses relating 
to any consent or documentation required due to the operation of this 
clause 10.2. 

11. TERMINATION 

(a) Any party may terminate this document by giving notice in writing to the 
other party, if either: 

(i) the Development Consent lapses; 

(ii) the Development Consent is surrendered;  

(iii) the Development Consent is revoked;  

(iv) the Development Application is refused; or 

(v) the Development Application is withdrawn. 

(b) If  this document is terminated, then:  

(i) the rights of each party that arose before the termination or which 
may arise at any future time for any breach or non-observance of 
obligations occurring prior to the termination are not affected; 

(ii) each Party must take all steps reasonably necessary to minimise any 
loss that each party may suffer as a result of the termination of this 
document; and 

(iii) the City will, at the Developer’s cost, do all things reasonably 
required to remove this document from the certificate of title to the 
Land. 

80



 

 13  
 
 
3473-3566-1836, v. 3 

12. CONFIDENTIALITY AND DISCLOSURES 

12.1 Use and disclosure of Confidential Information 

A party (receiving party) which acquires Confidential Information of another 
party (disclosing party) must not: 

(a) use any of the Confidential Information except to the extent necessary to 
exercise its rights and perform its obligations under this document; or 

(b) disclose any of the Confidential Information except in accordance with 
clauses 12.2 or 12.3. 

12.2 Disclosures to personnel and advisers 

(a) The receiving party may disclose Confidential Information to an officer, 
employee, agent, contractor, or legal, financial or other professional 
adviser if: 

(i) the disclosure is necessary to enable the receiving party to perform 
its obligations or to exercise its rights under this document; and 

(ii) prior to disclosure, the receiving party informs the person of the 
receiving party's obligations in relation to the Confidential 
Information under this document and obtains an undertaking from 
the person to comply with those obligations. 

(b) The receiving party:  

(i) must ensure that any person to whom Confidential Information is 
disclosed under clause 12.2(a) keeps the Confidential Information 
confidential and does not use it for any purpose other than as 
permitted under clause 12.2(a); and 

(ii) is liable for the actions of any officer, employee, agent, contractor or 
legal, financial or other professional adviser that causes a breach of 
the obligations set out in clause 12.2(b)(i). 

12.3 Disclosures required by law 

(a) Subject to clause 12.3(b), the receiving party may disclose Confidential 
Information that the receiving party is required to disclose: 

(i) by law or by order of any court or tribunal of competent jurisdiction; 
or 

(ii) by any Government Agency, stock exchange or other regulatory 
body. 

(b) If the receiving party is required to make a disclosure under 
clause 12.3(a), the receiving party must: 

(i) to the extent possible, notify the disclosing party immediately it 
anticipates that it may be required to disclose any of the Confidential 
Information; 

81



 

 14  
 
 
3473-3566-1836, v. 3 

(ii) consult with and follow any reasonable directions from the disclosing 
party to minimise disclosure; and 

(iii) if disclosure cannot be avoided: 

(A) only disclose Confidential Information to the extent necessary 
to comply; and  

(B) use reasonable efforts to ensure that any Confidential 
Information disclosed is kept confidential. 

12.4 Receiving party's return or destruction of documents 

On termination of this document the receiving party must immediately: 

(a) deliver to the disclosing party all documents and other materials 
containing, recording or referring to Confidential Information; and 

(b) erase or destroy in another way all electronic and other intangible records 
containing, recording or referring to Confidential Information, 

which are in the possession, power or control of the receiving party or of any 
person to whom the receiving party has given access.  

12.5 Security and control 

The receiving party must: 

(a) keep effective control of the Confidential Information; and 

(b) ensure that the Confidential Information is kept secure from theft, loss, 
damage or unauthorised access or alteration. 

13. NOTICES 

(a) A notice, consent or other communication under this document is only 
effective if it is in writing, signed and either left at the addressee's address 
or sent to the addressee by mail or fax. If it is sent by mail, it is taken to 
have been received 5 Business Days after it is posted. If it is sent by fax, it 
is taken to have been received when the addressee actually receives it in 
full and in legible form. 

(b) A person's address and fax number are those set out in Schedule 1 for the 
City’s Representative and the Developer’s Representative, or as the person 
notifies the sender in writing from time to time. 

14. GENERAL 

14.1 Governing law 

(a) This document is governed by the laws of New South Wales. 

(b) Each party submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts exercising 
jurisdiction in New South Wales, and any court that may hear appeals from 
any of those courts, for any proceedings in connection with this document, 

82



 

 15  
 
 
3473-3566-1836, v. 3 

and waives any right it might have to claim that those courts are an 
inconvenient forum. 

14.2 Access to information 

In accordance with section 121 of the Government Information (Public Access) 
Act 2009 (NSW), the Developer agrees to allow the City immediate access to the 
following information contained in records held by the Developer: 

(a) information that relates directly to the delivery of the Public Benefits by 
the Developer; 

(b) information collected by the Developer from members of the public to 
whom the Developer provides, or offers to provide, services on behalf of 
the City; and 

(c) information received by the Developer from the City to enable the 
Developer to deliver the Public Benefits, 

but this does not include information referred to in section 121(2) of the 
Government Information (Public Access) Act 2009 (NSW). 

14.3 Relationship of parties 

(a) Nothing in this document creates a joint venture, partnership, or the 
relationship of principal and agent, or employee and employer between the 
parties; and 

(b) No party has the authority to bind any other party by any representation, 
declaration or admission, or to make any contract or commitment on 
behalf of any other party or to pledge any other party’s credit. 

14.4 Giving effect to this document 

Each party must do anything (including execute any document), and must 
ensure that its employees and agents do anything (including execute any 
document), that the other party may reasonably require to give full effect to this 
document. 

14.5 Time for doing acts 

(a) If: 

(i) the time for doing any act or thing required to be done; or 

(ii) a notice period specified in this document, 

expires on a day other than a Business Day, the time for doing that act or 
thing or the expiration of that notice period is extended until the following 
Business Day. 

(b) If any act or thing required to be done is done after 5pm on the specified 
day, it is taken to have been done on the following Business Day. 

83



 

 16  
 
 
3473-3566-1836, v. 3 

14.6 Severance 

If any clause or part of any clause is in any way unenforceable, invalid or illegal, 
it is to be read down so as to be enforceable, valid and legal.  If this is not 
possible, the clause (or where possible, the offending part) is to be severed from 
this document without affecting the enforceability, validity or legality of the 
remaining clauses (or parts of those clauses) which will continue in full force and 
effect. 

14.7 Preservation of existing rights 

The expiration or termination of this document does not affect any right that has 
accrued to a party before the expiration or termination date. 

14.8 No merger 

Any right or obligation of any party that is expressed to operate or have effect on 
or after the completion, expiration or termination of this document for any 
reason, will not merge on the occurrence of that event but will remain in full 
force and effect. 

14.9 Waiver of rights 

A right may only be waived in writing, signed by the party giving the waiver, 
and: 

(a) no other conduct of a party (including a failure to exercise, or delay in 
exercising, the right) operates as a waiver of the right or otherwise 
prevents the exercise of the right; 

(b) a waiver of a right on one or more occasions does not operate as a waiver 
of that right if it arises again; and 

(c) the exercise of a right does not prevent any further exercise of that right 
or of any other right. 

14.10 Operation of this document 

(a) This document contains the entire agreement between the parties about its 
subject matter.  Any previous understanding, agreement, representation or 
warranty relating to that subject matter is replaced by this document and 
has no further effect. 

(b) Any right that a person may have under this document is in addition to, 
and does not replace or limit, any other right that the person may have. 

(c) Any provision of this document which is unenforceable or partly 
unenforceable is, where possible, to be severed to the extent necessary to 
make this document enforceable, unless this would materially change the 
intended effect of this document. 

84



 

 17  
 
 
3473-3566-1836, v. 3 

14.11 Operation of indemnities 

(a) Each indemnity in this document survives the expiry or termination of this 
document. 

(b) A party may recover a payment under an indemnity in this document 
before it makes the payment in respect of which the indemnity is given. 

14.12 Inconsistency with other documents 

Unless the contrary intention is expressed, if there is an inconsistency between 
any of one or more of: 

(a) this document; 

(b) any Schedule to this document; and 

(c) the provisions of any other document of the Developer, 

the order of precedence between them will be the order listed above, this 
document having the highest level of precedence. 

14.13 No fetter 

Nothing in this document in any way restricts or otherwise affects the City’s 
unfettered discretion to exercise its statutory powers as a public authority. 

14.14 Counterparts 

This document may be executed in counterparts. 

  

85



 

 18  
 
 
3473-3566-1836, v. 3 

SCHEDULE 1 

Agreement Details 

ITEM TERM DESCRIPTION 

1. Land Lot 150 in SP 46789  

1 Missenden Road, Camperdown NSW 2050 

2. Development Removal of existing 42m2 externally illuminated 
advertising sign affixed to the western wall, and 
replacement with an internally illuminated digital 
advertising sign affixed to the western wall, with 
the same area. 

3. City’s Representative Name:  Director, Planning, Development and 
  Transport 

Address: Level 1, 456 Kent Street 
                    Sydney NSW 2000 

4. Developer’s 
Representative 

Name:  Harold Kopelowitz 

Address:   49-51 Greek Street, Glebe NSW 2037 

5. Development 
Application 

D/2018/73 

 

  

86



 

 19  
 
 
3473-3566-1836, v. 3 

SCHEDULE 2 

Requirements under the Act and Regulation (clause 2) 

The below table summarises how this document complies with the Act and Regulation. 

ITEM SECTION OF ACT OR 
REGULATION 

PROVISION/CLAUSE OF THIS DOCUMENT 

1.  Planning instrument and/or 
development application 
(section 7.4(1) of the Act) 

The Developer has: 

(a) sought a change to an 
environmental planning 
instrument; 

(b) made, or proposes to 
make, a Development 
Application; or 

(c) entered into an 
agreement with, or is 
otherwise associated 
with, a person, to whom 
paragraph (a) or (b) 
applies. 

 
 

 
 

 

(a) No 
 

(b) No 
 

(c) Yes 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

2.  Description of land to which 
this document applies (section 
7.4(3)(a) of the Act) 

Item 1 of Schedule 1. 

3.  Description of change to the 
environmental planning 
instrument to which this 
document applies and/or the 
development to which this 
document applies (section 
7.4(3)(b) of the Act) 

The Development as described in clause 2.1. 

4.  The nature and extent of the 
provision to be made by the 
developer under this 
document, the time or times 
by which the provision is to be 
made and the manner in which 
the provision is to be made 
(section 7.4(3)(c) of the Act) 

Schedule 3. 

87



 

 20  
 
 
3473-3566-1836, v. 3 

ITEM SECTION OF ACT OR 
REGULATION 

PROVISION/CLAUSE OF THIS DOCUMENT 

5.  Whether this document 
excludes (wholly or in part) of 
does not exclude the 
application of section 7.11, 
7.12 or 7.24 to the 
development (section 7.4(3)(d) 
of the Act) 

Section 7.11 not excluded  

Section 7.12 not excluded  

Section 7.24 not excluded  

6.  Applicability of section 7.11 of 
the Act (section 7.4(3)(e) of the 
Act) 

The application of section 7.11 of the Act is not 
excluded in respect of the Development and 
contributions (if any) under section 7.11 will be 
required to be paid. 

 

7.  Consideration of benefits 
under this document if section 
7.11 applies (section 7.4(3)(e) of 
the Act) 

Not applicable because this document excludes 
section 7.11 of the Act. 

Benefits are not to be taken into consideration 
in determining a development contribution 
under section 7.11 of the Act. 

8.  Mechanism for Dispute 
Resolution (section 7.4(3)(f) of 
the Act) 

Clause 8 

9.  Enforcement of this document 
(section 7.4(3)(g) of the Act) 

Clause 7.1 

10.  No obligation to grant consent 
or exercise functions (section 
7.4(9) of the Act) 

Clause 2.4 

11.  Registration of this document 
(section 7.6 of the Act) 

Clause 7 

12.  Whether certain requirements 
of this document must be 
complied with before a 
construction certificate is 
issued (clause 25E(2)(g) of the 
Regulation) 

There are no requirements to be complied with 
under this document before a construction 
certificate is issued.  

  

88



 

 21  
 
 
3473-3566-1836, v. 3 

13.  Whether certain requirements 
of this document must be 
complied with before a 
subdivision certificate is issued 
(clause 25E(2)(g) of the 
Regulation) 

Nil 

14.  Whether certain requirements 
of this document must be 
complied with before an 
occupation certificate is issued 
(clause 25E(2)(g) of the 
Regulation) 

The obligations on the Developer as contained 
in clause 5.3 must be complied with before an 
occupation certificate is issued. 

15.  Whether the explanatory note 
that accompanied exhibition of 
this document may be used to 
assist in construing this 
document (clause 25E(7) of the 
Regulation) 

Clause 2.5 

 

  

89



 

 22  
 
 
3473-3566-1836, v. 3 

SCHEDULE 3 

Public Benefits (clause 5) 

1. PUBLIC BENEFITS - OVERVIEW 

The Developer must provide the Public Benefits in accordance with Schedule 3 
and this document.  The Attributed Value, timing of delivery and additional 
specifications relating to the Public Benefits is set out in the table below 

 Public 
Benefit 

Attributed 
Value 

Due date Additional 
specifications 

1. Creation of 
an Interest 
in the Land 
(the 
recording of 
a public 
positive 
covenant in 
the Register 
kept under 
the Real 
Property Act 
1900 with 
terms 
materially 
the same as 
those set out 
in the 
Positive 
Covenant 
Instrument). 

 

Nil. Prior to the first, 
interim or any 
Occupation 
Certificate under 
the Development 
Consent.  

Nil  

 

 

90



 

 23  
 
 
3473-3566-1836, v. 3 

EXECUTED as a deed. 

Signed, sealed and delivered for     
THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
SYDNEY by its duly authorised 
officer, in the presence of: 

  

  Signature of officer 

   
Signature of witness  Name of officer 

   
Name 
 
456 Kent Street, Sydney NSW 2000 

 Position of officer 

Address of witness   
 

EXECUTED by George Hay Pty Ltd
ACN 000 412 242 in accordance
with s127(1) of the Corporations Act
2001 (Cth): 

 

  

   

Signature of director  Signature of director/secretary 

   

Name  Name 

 

EXECUTED by OARE No. 3 Pty Ltd
ABN 91 986 780 196 in accordance
with s127(1) of the Corporations Act
2001 (Cth): 

 

  

   

Signature of director  Signature of director/secretary 

   

Name  Name 

91



 

3473-3566-1836, v. 3 

ANNEXURE A: DRAFT ADVERTISING DEED 

  

92



 

 

  
AUSTRALIA\NTH\225465134.01 
 
3476-4512-3852, v. 4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Advertising Deed 

The Council of the City of Sydney 
 
 
and 
 
[Name of Advertiser] 
[ABN of Advertiser] 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
File number: X018204 
Trim ref: 2019/098832 

93



 

3476-4512-3852, v. 4 

CONTENTS 

CLAUSE PAGE 

1.  INTERPRETATION ................................................................................................... 4 

1.1  Definitions .................................................................................................. 4 
1.2  Rules for interpreting this document ............................................................... 5 

2.  OPERATION OF THIS DEED ...................................................................................... 6 

2.1  Commencement ........................................................................................... 6 

3.  RIGHTS GRANTED TO CITY....................................................................................... 6 

3.1  Advertiser to provide the City with Advertising Time .......................................... 6 
3.2  Consistent display of Advertising Content ........................................................ 6 

4.  ADVERTISING CONTENT .......................................................................................... 7 

4.1  Approval of Advertising Content ..................................................................... 7 
4.2  No third party advertising .............................................................................. 8 
4.3  Records ...................................................................................................... 8 

5.  ADVERTISING TIME ................................................................................................. 8 

6.  NO FEES PAYABLE ................................................................................................... 8 

6.1  No fees payable ........................................................................................... 8 
6.2  City responsible for artwork costs ................................................................... 8 

7.  EMERGENCY MESSAGING ......................................................................................... 9 

7.1  Requested by the City ................................................................................... 9 
7.2  Advertiser must display................................................................................. 9 
7.3  Production Guidelines to apply to Emergency Messaging .................................... 9 

8.  REPORTING ........................................................................................................... 9 

8.1  Business as Usual Reports and Meetings .......................................................... 9 
8.2  Progress reports .......................................................................................... 9 
8.3  Content of reports ...................................................................................... 10 

9.  WARRANTIES ....................................................................................................... 10 

9.1  Mutual warranties ...................................................................................... 10 
9.2  Advertiser warranties ................................................................................. 11 
9.3  City warranties .......................................................................................... 11 

10.  INDEMNITY .......................................................................................................... 11 

11.  DISPUTE RESOLUTION........................................................................................... 12 

11.1  Application ................................................................................................ 12 
11.2  Negotiation ............................................................................................... 12 
11.3  Not use information .................................................................................... 12 
11.4  Condition precedent to litigation ................................................................... 13 
11.5  Summary or urgent relief ............................................................................ 13 

12.  TAXES AND GST ................................................................................................... 13 

12.1  Responsibility for Taxes .............................................................................. 13 
12.2  GST free supply ......................................................................................... 13 
12.3  Supply subject to GST ................................................................................ 13 

13.  TERMINATION ...................................................................................................... 14 

14.  CONFIDENTIALITY AND DISCLOSURES .................................................................... 15 

14.1  Use and disclosure of Confidential Information ............................................... 15 

94



 

3476-4512-3852, v. 4 

14.2  Disclosures to personnel and advisers ........................................................... 15 
14.3  Disclosures required by law ......................................................................... 16 
14.4  Receiving party's return or destruction of documents ...................................... 16 
14.5  Security and control ................................................................................... 16 

15.  NOTICES ............................................................................................................. 16 

16.  GENERAL ............................................................................................................. 17 

16.1  Governing law ........................................................................................... 17 
16.2  Access to information ................................................................................. 17 
16.3  Liability for expenses .................................................................................. 17 
16.4  Relationship of parties ................................................................................ 18 
16.5  Giving effect to this document ..................................................................... 18 
16.6  Time for doing acts .................................................................................... 18 
16.7  Severance ................................................................................................. 18 
16.8  Preservation of existing rights ...................................................................... 18 
16.9  No merger ................................................................................................ 18 
16.10  Waiver of rights ......................................................................................... 19 
16.11  Operation of this document ......................................................................... 19 
16.12  Operation of indemnities ............................................................................. 19 
16.13  Inconsistency with other documents ............................................................. 19 
16.14  No fetter ................................................................................................... 19 
16.15  Counterparts ............................................................................................. 20 

Schedules 

1 Details ................................................................................................................ 21 

 

95



 

3476-4512-3852, v. 4 

THIS DEED is made on       2019. 

BETWEEN: 

(1) The Council of the City of Sydney ABN 22 636 550 790 of Town Hall House, 
456 Kent Street, SYDNEY NSW 2000 (the City); and 

(2) [Insert advertise name] of [insert address] (the Advertiser). 

BACKGROUND 

(A) [Insert Advertiser name and address] of [insert Advertise address] (the 
Advertiser) has the right in property law to operate Sign located within Lot 150 
in SP46789 located at 1 Missenden Road, Camperdown NSW 2050 (the Land). 

(B) A public positive covenant requires the owner of the Land to ensure that the 
Advertiser does not commence operating the Sign without first offering to enter 
into an advertising deed with the City. 

(C) The City and the Advertiser have agreed to enter into this Deed as a requirement 
of the Positive Covenant. 

THE PARTIES AGREE AS FOLLOWS: 

1. INTERPRETATION 

1.1 Definitions 

The following definitions apply in this document. 

Advertising Content means one or more community related advertisements or 
messages provided by the City for display on the Sign. 

Advertising Time means 10 per cent of the advertising time displayed on the 
Sign in any given 12-hour period measured from: 

(a) 6am to before 6pm; and 

(b) 6pm to before 6am. 

Artwork Address means the email or portal address provided by the Advertiser 
to the City from time-to-time for the receipt of Advertising Content from the City. 

Business Day means a day that is not a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday in 
New South Wales. 

Development Application means the development application lodged with the 
City that is known as D/2018/73. 

Development Consent means the consent granted to the Development 
Application and includes all modifications made under the Act. 

Emergency Messaging means any message concerning an event that presents 
an imminent and serious threat to life or injury to persons within the City of 
Sydney local government area. 

96



 

3476-4512-3852, v. 4 

Media Upload Fee means the fee charged per community advertisement or 
message constituting the Advertising Content for display in a Advertising Cycle. 

Production Guidelines means the technical specifications for the Advertising 
Content to be displayed by the Advertiser on the Sign, being specifications 
determined by the Advertiser from time-to-time (acting reasonably) and notified 
to the City .. 

Sign means the digital LED display sign located within the Land. 

Term means the period of time that the Advertiser is operating the Sign.  

1.2 Rules for interpreting this document 

Headings are for convenience only, and do not affect interpretation.  The 
following rules also apply in interpreting this document, except where the context 
makes it clear that a rule is not intended to apply. 

(a) A reference to: 

(i) a legislative provision or legislation (including subordinate 
legislation) is to that provision or legislation as amended, re-enacted 
or replaced, and includes any subordinate legislation issued under it; 

(ii) a document (including this document) or agreement, or a provision 
of a document (including this document) or agreement, is to that 
document, agreement or provision as amended, supplemented, 
replaced or novated; 

(iii) a party to this document or to any other document or agreement 
includes a permitted substitute or a permitted assign of that party;  

(iv) a person includes any type of entity or body of persons, whether or 
not it is incorporated or has a separate legal identity, and any 
executor, administrator or successor in law of the person; and 

(v) anything (including a right, obligation or concept) includes each part 
of it. 

(b) A singular word includes the plural, and vice versa. 

(c) A word which suggests one gender includes the other genders. 

(d) If a word or phrase is defined, any other grammatical form of that word or 
phrase has a corresponding meaning. 

(e) If an example is given of anything (including a right, obligation or 
concept), such as by saying it includes something else, the example does 
not limit the scope of that thing. 

(f) A reference to including means “including, without limitation”. 

(g) A reference to dollars or $ is to an amount in Australian currency. 

97



 

3476-4512-3852, v. 4 

(h) A reference to this document includes the agreement recorded by this 
document. 

(i) Words defined in the GST Act have the same meaning in clauses about 
GST. 

(j) This document is not to be interpreted against the interests of a party 
merely because that party proposed this document or some provision in it 
or because that party relies on a provision of this document to protect 
itself. 

2. OPERATION OF THIS DEED 

2.1 Commencement 

This document will commence on the date of execution of this document by all 
parties to this document. 

3. RIGHTS GRANTED TO CITY 

3.1 Advertiser to provide the City with Advertising Time  

The Advertiser must provide the City with the Advertising Time on the Sign for 
the Advertising Content in accordance with this document. 

3.2 Consistent display of Advertising Content 

(a) When requested by the City, and in accordance with clause 4.1, the 
Advertiser must: 

(i) display the Advertising Content for the Advertising Time; and 

(ii) ensure the Advertising Content is displayed consistently and 
equitably over each of the following periods: 

(A) the 12-hour period commencing on 6am and ending before 
6pm each day; and 

(B) the 12-hour period commencing on 6pm and ending before 
6am each day.  

(b) The Advertiser may sell up to 50 per cent of the time in any given 12-hour 
period as a block of time to a single customer and if this happens: 

(i) the Advertiser is not obliged to display the Advertising Content in 
that block of time; and 

(ii) the Advertiser is obliged to ensure that the Advertising Content is 
still displayed for the Advertising Time (but outside the block of time 
booked by the customer, but within the same 12-hour period). 

(c) The Advertiser may sell up to six entire days (ie six 24-hour periods) in 
each calendar year as block time to a customer or customers (either 
individually or as group, either in series or separately) and if this happens: 

98



 

3476-4512-3852, v. 4 

(i) the Advertiser is not obliged to display the Advertising Content in 
that block time;  

(ii) the Advertiser is obliged to ensure that the Advertising Content is 
still displayed for the Advertising Time (but outside that block time 
booked by the customer, but within a reasonable period before or 
after the given block time); and 

(iii) the display of that Advertising Content must be additional to the 
display of Advertising Content that would have been required in any 
relevant 12-hour period in any event. 

(d) If it becomes apparent that the Advertiser has not complied with the 
obligation to display Advertising Content in accordance this clause 3.2, the 
Advertiser must, as soon as the non-compliance has become apparent, 
allocate additional time to display the Advertising Content until any 
identified shortfall in Advertising Content is remedied.  

(e) The display of additional Advertising Time under clause 3.2(d) must take 
place such that the shortfall is remedied as soon as it is reasonably 
practicable to do so.  

(f) The remedy of a given non-compliance with this clause 3.2 under clause 
3.2(d) and clause 3.2(e) is a complete remedy that non-compliance and 
the City cannot make any other claim (for any damage, expense, loss or 
liability of any nature) against the Advertiser arising from that non-
compliance. 

4. ADVERTISING CONTENT 

4.1 Approval of Advertising Content  

(a) To ensure the timely and accurate display of Advertising Content, the City 
must: 

(i) no later than seven (7) Business Days prior to the intended display 
of the Advertising Content, provide to the Advertiser via the Artwork 
Address the proposed Advertising Content; 

(ii) provide the Advertising Content in a form complying with the 
Production Guidelines and apply a identifiable name to each file (for 
example: Advertiser_Campaign Name_Date i.e. 
Cityofsydney_NYE_16.12.2018); and 

(iii) notify the Advertiser as to the frequency, times of day and/or days 
of the week that the City would like to see each individual message 
or advertisement constituting the Advertising Content displayed 
during the Advertising Time. 

(b) If the Advertiser forms the view, acting reasonably, that the proposed 
Advertising Content provided by the City pursuant to clause 4.1(a) is not in 
a form suitable for display, it must, on the day it receives the proposed 
Advertising Content, or within three (3) Business Days afterwards, provide 
the City with written notice of this and within this notice detail the remedial 

99



 

3476-4512-3852, v. 4 

action the City needs to take to so that the City can be resupply the 
Advertising Content in a compliant form. 

4.2 No third party advertising 

The parties acknowledge and agree that:  

(a) the Advertising Content must not contain any Sponsor or third-party 
placements; and 

(b) the Advertising Content must objectively be for a public purpose (and 
cannot be for a private purpose). 

4.3 Records 

The Advertiser agrees to keep records and store Advertising Content provided by 
the City for a period of 12 months after that Advertising Content ceases to be 
displayed on the Sign without any fee or charge to the City, after which time the 
Advertising Content may be destroyed at the Advertiser's discretion. 

5. ADVERTISING TIME 

The Advertising Time does not accumulate (and the obligation under clause 3.2 
does not apply): 

(a) to the extent that any Advertising Time that is not taken up by the City in 
a 24-hour period is forfeited to the Advertiser; and  

(b) for any period of time that the Sign is not operational. 

6. NO FEES PAYABLE 

6.1 No fees payable 

The Advertiser acknowledges and agrees that the City is not required to pay any 
Media Upload Fees for: 

(a) the Advertising Time displaying Advertising Content, including but not 
limited to artwork upload fees; and 

(b) any Emergency Messaging that the Advertiser displays on the Sign as 
requested by the City. 

6.2 City responsible for artwork costs 

The City will bear its own costs in relation to the creation of artwork, the 
reformatting of files or any other works that may be necessary to ensure the 
Advertising Content is suitable and/or in the correct format to be displayed on 
the Sign. 

100



 

3476-4512-3852, v. 4 

7. EMERGENCY MESSAGING 

7.1 Requested by the City  

The City may, at any time, request that the Advertiser display Emergency 
Messaging on the Sign. 

7.2 Advertiser must display 

As soon as practicable after receiving the Advertising Content for any Emergency 
Messaging from the City (and in any event, no later than 24 hours after receiving 
the Advertising Content), the Advertiser will, subject to it having no 
commitments with other advertisers that would prohibit or prevent it from 
displaying the Emergency Messaging, display the Emergency Messaging on the 
Sign, but only during the period in which the relevant imminent and serious 
threat to life or injury to persons within the City of Sydney local government area 
is continuing (any in any event, for no longer than seven days). 

7.3 Production Guidelines to apply to Emergency Messaging  

The City will provide the Advertising Content for any Emergency Messaging in 
conformity with the Production Guidelines. 

8. REPORTING 

8.1 Business as Usual Reports and Meetings 

(a) The City and the Advertiser will meet when necessary, at least annually 
(and no more than once per quarter), to discuss:  

(i) the reports provided under this clause 8; 

(ii) satisfaction of the Advertiser’s obligation to provide the Advertising 
Time; and  

(iii) any other matter related to this document. 

8.2 Progress reports 

The Advertiser must deliver to the City during the Term, as reasonably requested 
(and no more than once a quarter) by the City from time to time, a written 
report providing full details of: 

(a) the Advertiser's progress in supplying the Advertising Time and ability to 
other action items: 

(b) details of the Advertiser's compliance with this document, specifically: 

(i) the name or description of item of Advertising Content; 

(ii) the date and time of display of each item of Advertising Content; 
and 

(iii) the duration of display of each item of Advertising Content; and 

101



 

3476-4512-3852, v. 4 

(c) such other information in relation to this document as the City may from 
time to time reasonably request. 

8.3 Content of reports 

The Advertiser must ensure that all reports provided under this clause 8:  

(a) contain all required information, including but not limited to the current 
contact information of the person who is managing the Sign on behalf of 
the Advertiser; and 

(b) are accurate and not misleading in any respect. 

9. WARRANTIES 

9.1 Mutual warranties 

Each party represents and warrants that:  

(a) (power) it has full legal capacity and power to enter into this document 
and to carry out the transactions that it contemplates; 

(b) (corporate authority) it has taken all corporate action that is necessary 
or desirable to authorise its entry into this document and to carry out the 
transactions contemplated; 

(c) (Authorisations) it holds each Authorisation that is necessary or desirable 
to: 

(i) enable it to properly execute this document and to carry out the 
transactions that it contemplates; 

(ii) ensure that this document is legal, valid, binding and admissible in 
evidence; or 

(iii) enable it to properly carry on its business as it is now being 
conducted, 

and it is complying with any conditions to which any of these 
Authorisations is subject; 

(d) (documents effective) this document constitutes its legal, valid and 
binding obligations, enforceable against it in accordance with its terms 
(except to the extent limited by equitable principles and laws affecting 
creditors' rights generally), subject to any necessary stamping or 
registration; 

(e) (solvency) there are no reasonable grounds to suspect that it will not be 
able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable; and 

(f) (no controller) no controller is currently appointed in relation to any of its 
property, or any property of any of its subsidiaries. 

102



 

3476-4512-3852, v. 4 

9.2 Advertiser warranties 

The Advertiser warrants to the City that, at the date of this document and every 
point of time in the future: 

(a) it is legally entitled to obtain all consents and approvals that are required 
by this document and do all things necessary to give effect to this 
document; 

(b) all work performed by the Advertiser and the Personnel under this 
document will be performed with due care and skill and to a standard 
which is equal to or better than that which a well experienced person in 
the industry would expect to be provided by an organisation of the 
Advertiser’s size and experience; and 

(c) it is not aware of any matter which may materially affect the Advertiser’s 
ability to perform its obligations under this document. 

9.3 City warranties 

The City warrants to the Advertiser that, at the date of this document and every 
point in time in the future: 

(a) any Advertising Content provided to the Advertiser by the City does not 
breach any laws, standards or guidelines that the Advertising Content must 
or should comply with; and 

(b) the Advertising Content that will be provided to the Advertiser does not 
breach any rights of a third party. 

10. INDEMNITY 

(a) The Advertiser indemnifies the City against all reasonably foreseeable 
damage, expense, loss or liability of any nature suffered or incurred by 
the City arising from any act or omission by the Advertiser (or any 
Personnel) in connection with the performance of the Advertiser’s 
obligations under this document, except to the extent that the damage, 
expense, loss or liability suffered or incurred is caused by, or contributed 
to by, any wilful or negligent act or omission of the City (or any person 
engaged by the City).  This clause 10(a) does not override clause 3.2(f). 

(b) The City indemnifies the Advertiser against all reasonably foreseeable 
damage, expense, loss or liability of any nature suffered or incurred by the 
Advertiser arising from any act or omission by the City (or any Personnel) 
in connection with the performance of the City’s obligations under this 
document, except to the extent the damage, expense, loss or liability 
suffered or incurred is caused by, or contributed to by, any wilful or 
negligent act or omission of the Advertiser (or any person engaged by the 
Advertiser).  

103



 

3476-4512-3852, v. 4 

11.  DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

11.1 Application 

Any Dispute must be determined in accordance with the procedure in this 
clause 10(b). 

11.2 Negotiation 

(a) If any Dispute arises, a party to the Dispute (Referring Party) may by 
giving notice to the other party or parties to the Dispute (Dispute Notice) 
refer the Dispute to the Advertiser’s Representative and the City’s 
Representative for resolution.  The Dispute Notice must: 

(i) be in writing; 

(ii) state that it is given pursuant to this clause 10(b); and 

(iii) include or be accompanied by reasonable particulars of the Dispute 
including: 

(A) a brief description of the circumstances in which the Dispute 
arose;  

(B) references to any: 

(aa) provisions of this document; and 

(bb) acts or omissions of any person, 

relevant to the Dispute; and 

(C) where applicable, the amount in dispute (whether monetary or 
any other commodity) and if not precisely known, the best 
estimate available. 

(b) Within 10 Business Days of the Referring Party issuing the Dispute Notice 
(Resolution Period), the Advertiser’s Representative and the City’s 
Representative must meet at least once to attempt to resolve the Dispute.   

(c) The Advertiser’s Representative and the City’s Representative may meet 
more than once to resolve a Dispute.  The Advertiser’s Representative and 
the City’s Representative may meet in person, via telephone, 
videoconference, internet-based instant messaging or any other agreed 
means of instantaneous communication to effect the meeting. 

11.3 Not use information 

The purpose of any exchange of information or documents or the making of any 
offer of settlement under this clause 10(b) is to attempt to settle the Dispute.  
Neither party may use any information or documents obtained through any 
dispute resolution process undertaken under this clause 10(b) for any purpose 
other than in an attempt to settle the Dispute. 

104



 

3476-4512-3852, v. 4 

11.4 Condition precedent to litigation 

Subject to clause 11.5, a party must not commence legal proceedings in respect 
of a Dispute unless: 

(a) a Dispute Notice has been given; and 

(b) the Resolution Period has expired. 

11.5 Summary or urgent relief 

(a) Nothing in this clause 10(b) will prevent a party from instituting 
proceedings to seek urgent injunctive, interlocutory or declaratory relief in 
respect of a Dispute; or 

(b) instituting class 1  proceedings within the meaning of the Land and 
Environment Court Act 1979. 

12. TAXES AND GST 

12.1 Responsibility for Taxes 

(a) The Advertiser is responsible for any and all Taxes and other like liabilities 
which may arise under any Commonwealth, State or Territory legislation 
(as amended from time to time) as a result of or in connection with this 
document. 

(b) The Advertiser must indemnify the City in relation to any claims, liabilities 
and costs (including penalties and interest) arising as a result of any Tax 
or other like liability for which the Advertiser is responsible under 
clause 12.1(a). 

12.2 GST free supply 

To the extent that Divisions 81 and 82 of the GST Law apply to a supply made 
under this document: 

(a) no additional amount will be payable by a party on account of GST; and 

(b) no tax invoices will be exchanged between the parties. 

12.3 Supply subject to GST 

To the extent that clause 12.2 does not apply to a supply made under this 
document, this clause 12.3 will apply. 

(a) If one party (Supplying Party) makes a taxable supply and the 
consideration for that supply does not expressly include GST, the party 
that is liable to provide the consideration (Receiving Party) must also pay 
an amount (GST Amount) equal to the GST payable in respect of that 
supply.  

(b) Subject to first receiving a tax invoice or adjustment note as appropriate, 
the receiving party must pay the GST amount when it is liable to provide 
the consideration. 

105



 

3476-4512-3852, v. 4 

(c) If one party must indemnify or reimburse another party (Payee) for any 
loss or expense incurred by the Payee, the required payment does not 
include any amount which the Payee (or an entity that is in the same GST 
group as the Payee) is entitled to claim as an input tax credit, but will be 
increased under clause 12.3(a) if the payment is consideration for a 
taxable supply. 

(d) If an adjustment event arises in respect of a taxable supply made by a 
Supplying Party, the GST Amount payable by the Receiving Party under 
clause 12.3(a) will be recalculated to reflect the adjustment event and a 
payment will be made by the Receiving Party to the Supplying Party, or by 
the Supplying Party to the Receiving Party, as the case requires. 

(e) The Advertiser will assume the City is not entitled to any input tax credit 
when calculating any amounts payable under this clause 12.3. 

(f) In this document: 

(i) consideration includes non-monetary consideration, in respect of 
which the parties must agree on a market value, acting reasonably; 
and 

(ii) in addition to the meaning given in the GST Act, the term "GST" 
includes a notional liability for GST. 

13. TERMINATION 

(a) Either party may terminate this document, by giving notice in writing to 
the other party, if: 

(i) the Development Consent lapses; 

(ii) the Development Consent is surrendered;  

(iii) the Development Consent is revoked;  

(iv) the Advertiser is no longer has a right in property law to operate the 
Sign; or 

(v) the public positive covenant which required the entry into this 
document is removed from the title of the Land.  

(b) Either party may terminate this document immediately, by giving notice in 
writing to the other party, if: 

(i) a substantial breach of this document is committed and which is not 
remedied within 7 days of written notification; or 

(ii) there is: 

(A) a pattern of repeated unremedied minor breaches over an 
extended period of time; 

(B) those breaches have not been remedied under clause 3.2(d); 
and 

106



 

3476-4512-3852, v. 4 

(C) attempts to resolve the issue(s) underlying the pattern have 
been attempted under clause 11 and have not been 
successful. 

(c) If this document is terminated, then:  

(i) the rights of each party that arose before the termination or which 
may arise at any future time for any breach or non-observance of 
obligations occurring prior to the termination are not affected; and 

(ii) the parties must take all steps reasonably necessary to minimise any 
loss the other party may suffer as a result of the termination of this 
document. 

 

14. CONFIDENTIALITY AND DISCLOSURES 

14.1 Use and disclosure of Confidential Information 

A party (receiving party) which acquires Confidential Information of another 
party (disclosing party) must not: 

(a) use any of the Confidential Information except to the extent necessary to 
exercise its rights and perform its obligations under this document; or 

(b) disclose any of the Confidential Information except in accordance with 
clauses 14.2 or 14.3. 

14.2 Disclosures to personnel and advisers 

(a) The receiving party may disclose Confidential Information to an officer, 
employee, agent, contractor, or legal, financial or other professional 
adviser if: 

(i) the disclosure is necessary to enable the receiving party to perform 
its obligations or to exercise its rights under this document; and 

(ii) prior to disclosure, the receiving party informs the person of the 
receiving party's obligations in relation to the Confidential 
Information under this document and obtains an undertaking from 
the person to comply with those obligations. 

(b) The receiving party:  

(i) must ensure that any person to whom Confidential Information is 
disclosed under clause 14.2(a) keeps the Confidential Information 
confidential and does not use it for any purpose other than as 
permitted under clause 14.2(a); and 

(ii) is liable for the actions of any officer, employee, agent, contractor or 
legal, financial or other professional adviser that causes a breach of 
the obligations set out in clause 14.2(b)(i). 

107



 

3476-4512-3852, v. 4 

14.3 Disclosures required by law 

(a) Subject to clause 14.3(b), the receiving party may disclose Confidential 
Information that the receiving party is required to disclose: 

(i) by law or by order of any court or tribunal of competent jurisdiction; 
or 

(ii) by any Government Agency, stock exchange or other regulatory 
body. 

(b) If the receiving party is required to make a disclosure under 
clause 14.3(a), the receiving party must: 

(i) to the extent possible, notify the disclosing party immediately it 
anticipates that it may be required to disclose any of the Confidential 
Information; 

(ii) consult with and follow any reasonable directions from the disclosing 
party to minimise disclosure; and 

(iii) if disclosure cannot be avoided: 

(A) only disclose Confidential Information to the extent necessary 
to comply; and  

(B) use reasonable efforts to ensure that any Confidential 
Information disclosed is kept confidential. 

14.4 Receiving party's return or destruction of documents 

On termination of this document the receiving party must immediately: 

(a) deliver to the disclosing party all documents and other materials 
containing, recording or referring to Confidential Information; and 

(b) erase or destroy in another way all electronic and other intangible records 
containing, recording or referring to Confidential Information, 

which are in the possession, power or control of the receiving party or of any 
person to whom the receiving party has given access.  

14.5 Security and control 

The receiving party must: 

(a) keep effective control of the Confidential Information; and 

(b) ensure that the Confidential Information is kept secure from theft, loss, 
damage or unauthorised access or alteration. 

15. NOTICES 

(a) A notice, consent or other communication under this document is only 
effective if it is in writing, signed and either left at the addressee's address 

108



 

3476-4512-3852, v. 4 

or sent to the addressee by mail. If it is sent by mail, it is taken to have 
been received 5 Business Days after it is posted.  

(b) A person's address is set out in Schedule 1 for the City’s Representative 
and the Advertiser’s Representative, or as the person notifies the sender in 
writing from time to time. 

16. GENERAL 

16.1 Governing law 

(a) This document is governed by the laws of New South Wales. 

(b) Each party submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts exercising 
jurisdiction in New South Wales, and any court that may hear appeals from 
any of those courts, for any proceedings in connection with this document, 
and waives any right it might have to claim that those courts are an 
inconvenient forum. 

16.2 Access to information 

In accordance with section 121 of the Government Information (Public Access) 
Act 2009 (NSW), the Advertiser agrees to allow the City immediate access to the 
following information contained in records held by the Advertiser: 

(a) information that relates directly to the delivery of the Advertising Content 
by the Advertiser; 

(b) information collected by the Advertiser from members of the public to 
whom the Advertiser provides, or offers to provide, services on behalf of 
the City; and 

(c) information received by the Advertiser from the City to enable the 
Advertiser to deliver the Advertising Content, 

but this does not include information referred to in section 121(2) of the 
Government Information (Public Access) Act 2009 (NSW).  

 

16.3 Liability for expenses 

The Advertiser must pay its own expenses incurred in negotiating, executing, 
registering, releasing, administering and enforcing this document. 

 

  

109



 

3476-4512-3852, v. 4 

16.4 Relationship of parties 

(a) Nothing in this document creates a joint venture, partnership, or the 
relationship of principal and agent, or employee and employer between the 
parties; and 

(b) No party has the authority to bind any other party by any representation, 
declaration or admission, or to make any contract or commitment on 
behalf of any other party or to pledge any other party’s credit. 

16.5 Giving effect to this document 

Each party must do anything (including execute any document), and must 
ensure that its employees and agents do anything (including execute any 
document), that the other party may reasonably require to give full effect to this 
document. 

16.6 Time for doing acts 

(a) If: 

(i) the time for doing any act or thing required to be done; or 

(ii) a notice period specified in this document, 

expires on a day other than a Business Day, the time for doing that act or 
thing or the expiration of that notice period is extended until the following 
Business Day. 

(b) If any act or thing required to be done is done after 5pm on the specified 
day, it is taken to have been done on the following Business Day. 

16.7 Severance 

If any clause or part of any clause is in any way unenforceable, invalid or illegal, 
it is to be read down so as to be enforceable, valid and legal.  If this is not 
possible, the clause (or where possible, the offending part) is to be severed from 
this document without affecting the enforceability, validity or legality of the 
remaining clauses (or parts of those clauses) which will continue in full force and 
effect. 

16.8 Preservation of existing rights 

The expiration or termination of this document does not affect any right that has 
accrued to a party before the expiration or termination date. 

16.9 No merger 

Any right or obligation of any party that is expressed to operate or have effect on 
or after the completion, expiration or termination of this document for any 
reason, will not merge on the occurrence of that event but will remain in full 
force and effect. 

110



 

3476-4512-3852, v. 4 

16.10 Waiver of rights 

A right may only be waived in writing, signed by the party giving the waiver, 
and: 

(a) no other conduct of a party (including a failure to exercise, or delay in 
exercising, the right) operates as a waiver of the right or otherwise 
prevents the exercise of the right; 

(b) a waiver of a right on one or more occasions does not operate as a waiver 
of that right if it arises again; and 

(c) the exercise of a right does not prevent any further exercise of that right 
or of any other right. 

16.11 Operation of this document 

(a) This document contains the entire agreement between the parties about its 
subject matter.  Any previous understanding, agreement, representation or 
warranty relating to that subject matter is replaced by this document and 
has no further effect. 

(b) Any right that a person may have under this document is in addition to, 
and does not replace or limit, any other right that the person may have. 

(c) Any provision of this document which is unenforceable or partly 
unenforceable is, where possible, to be severed to the extent necessary to 
make this document enforceable, unless this would materially change the 
intended effect of this document. 

16.12 Operation of indemnities 

(a) Each indemnity in this document survives the expiry or termination of this 
document. 

(b) A party may recover a payment under an indemnity in this document 
before it makes the payment in respect of which the indemnity is given. 

16.13 Inconsistency with other documents 

Unless the contrary intention is expressed, if there is an inconsistency between 
any of one or more of: 

(a) this document; 

(b) any Schedule to this document; and 

(c) the provisions of any other document of the Advertiser, 

the order of precedence between them will be the order listed above, this 
document having the highest level of precedence. 

16.14 No fetter 

111



 

3476-4512-3852, v. 4 

Nothing in this document in any way restricts or otherwise affects the City’s 
unfettered discretion to exercise its statutory powers as a public authority. 

16.15 Counterparts 

This document may be executed in counterparts. 

  

112



 

3476-4512-3852, v. 4 

SCHEDULE 1 

Details 

ITEM TERM DESCRIPTION 

1. City’s Representative Name:  Director, Planning, Development and 
  Transport 

Address: Level 1, 456 Kent Street,  
                    Sydney NSW 2000 

2. Advertiser’s 
Representative 

Name:  [insert] 

Address:  [insert street address] 

 

  

113



 

3476-4512-3852, v. 4 

 
EXECUTED as a deed. 

 

Signed, sealed and delivered for     
THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
SYDNEY by its duly authorised 
officer, in the presence of: 

  

  Signature of officer 

   
Signature of witness  Name of officer 

   
Name 
 
456 Kent Street, Sydney NSW 2000 

 Position of officer 

Address of witness   
 

 

EXECUTED by [insert] in accordance
with s127(1) of the Corporations Act
2001 (Cth): 

 

  

   

Signature of director  Signature of director/secretary 

   

Name  Name 

 

114



 

3473-3566-1836, v. 3 

ANNEXURE B POSITIVE COVENANT INSTRUMENT 

115



THIS IS ANNEXURE "A" REFERRED TO IN THE POSITIVE COVENANT BETWEEN THE GEORGE 

HAY PTY LTD AS REGISTERED PROPRIETOR AND THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SYDNEY AS 

PRESCRIBED AUTHORITY 

 

DATED: 
____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

INSTRUMENT SETTING OUT TERMS OF POSITIVE COVENANT INTENDED TO BE CREATED 

PURSUANT TO SECTION 88E OF THE CONVEYANCING ACT 1919  

 
 (Sheet 1 of 3 Sheets) 
   

3454-3983-6428, v. 2 

Full name and address of the   
owner of the land 
 
Lot 150 in Strata Plan 46789 George Hay Pty Ltd 
 49-51 Greek Street 
 GLEBE NSW 2037 
  
 

 

1 Definitions 

In this instrument: 

(a) Act means the Conveyancing Act 1919 as amended from time to time. 

(b) Advertising Deed means a deed in materially the same terms as set out 
in Annexure “A”. 

(c) Council means Council of the City of Sydney. 

(d) Development Consent means any development consent (within the 
meaning of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979) 
granted to development application D/2018/73 (lodged with the City of 
Sydney on 2 February 2018). 

(e) Lot Burdened means Lot 150 in Strata Plan 46789. 

(f) Operator means the person who, from time to time, has the right to 
operate the sign by reason of a lease or licence granted by the Owner, but 
does not include any person who is an officer, employee, agent, contractor 
or subcontractor of such a person. 

(g) Owner means the Registered Proprietor of the Lot Burdened from time to 
time. 

(h) Sign means any digital light emitting diode (LED) display sign located 
within the Lot Burdened. 

2 Terms of positive covenant  

2.1 The Owner 

The Owner must not personally operate the Sign.  

116



 

 (Sheet 2 of 3 Sheets) 

 

 

 

3454-3983-6428, v. 2 

2.2 The Operator 

(a) The Owner must ensure that the Operator does not commence operating 
the Sign until it has either: 

(i) offered to enter the Advertising Deed with the Council (in writing) 
and that offer has been declined (in writing);  

(ii) offered to enter the Advertising Deed with the Council (in writing) 
and the Council has not entered into the Advertising Deed within 
14 days of the offer being made; or 

(iii) entered into the Advertising Deed with the Council. 

(b) The Owner must ensure that — if the Operator has commenced operating 
the Sign after satisfying either clause 2.2(a)(i) or clause 2.2(a)(ii) — the 
Operator will promptly enter into the Advertising Deed with the Council, if it 
receives an offer (in writing) from the Council to enter into the Advertising 
Deed. 

2.3 Release, etc.  

Name of the person empowered to release vary or modify this positive covenant: 

(a) if the Development Consent has lapsed, has been surrendered or has 
been revoked  — The Owner. 

(b) in all other circumstances — The Owner and the Council jointly. 
  

117



 

3454-3983-6428, v. 2 

[Execution details inserted here] 

 

118



Attachment E 

External Consultants Report – Peer Review 
of Lighting Impact Assessment

119



 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

PEER REVIEW OF LIGHTING IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
J3321-SL-7000 

PROPOSED DIGITAL SIGNAGE 

1 MISSENDEN RD, CAMPERDOWN 
CITY OF SYDNEY 

REVISION V3 
27.08.2018 

120



 

 PEER REVIEW OF LIGHTING 
IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

 
1 MISSENDEN RD PROPOSED DIGITAL SIGNAGE  

J3321-SL-7000-V3 

27.08.2018 

 

Page 2 of 14 
 

POINTOFVIEW DESIGN PTY LTD         ABN 32 139 612 767 www.pov.com.au  

Level 3, 207 Clarence Street, SYDNEY NSW 2000 Australia              T +61 2 9818 6355  E  sydney@pov.com.au 

Unit 9, 38 Down Street, COLLINGWOOD VIC 3066 Australia           T +61 3 9017 4161 E  melbourne@pov.com.au 

Suite  21, 3 Alison Street , SURFERS PARADISE QLD 4217 Australia                       T +61 7 5538 8585 E  gc@pov.com.au 

 

 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 
POINTOFVIEW has been engaged to undertake a peer review of the LIGHTING IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

for OUTDOOR SIGNAGE AT 1 MISSENDEN RD, CAMPERDOWN. The assessment and associated 
submission was provided by the City of Sydney.  

This peer review includes the following: 

 
 Site Visit to the proposed location for the new digital signage to assess the relevant properties 

have been captured 

 Review of the Relevant Legislation providing metrics and regulations for external illuminated 

signage 
 Review of the Area Classification used in the assessment 

 Review of Technical Lighting Parameters assessed 

 Review of compliance demonstrated 

 Consideration as to whether sufficient measures have been proposed by the applicant to 

manage illumination from the sign during different conditions (i.e. day to night) including any 

specific conditions/requirements for the sign. 
 Consideration of scale, location, illumination, of the new sign and location of residential 

receivers to determine what appropriate dwell times should be applied to the new LED sign. 

The dwell times should consider the amenity of residential receivers during different conditions  

 Recommendation to mitigate any adverse amenity impacts identified 

 Summary of findings 

  

121

mailto:melbourne@pov.com.au
mailto:gc@pov.com.au


 

 PEER REVIEW OF LIGHTING 
IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

 
1 MISSENDEN RD PROPOSED DIGITAL SIGNAGE  

J3321-SL-7000-V3 

27.08.2018 

 

Page 3 of 14 
 

POINTOFVIEW DESIGN PTY LTD         ABN 32 139 612 767 www.pov.com.au  

Level 3, 207 Clarence Street, SYDNEY NSW 2000 Australia              T +61 2 9818 6355  E  sydney@pov.com.au 

Unit 9, 38 Down Street, COLLINGWOOD VIC 3066 Australia           T +61 3 9017 4161 E  melbourne@pov.com.au 

Suite  21, 3 Alison Street , SURFERS PARADISE QLD 4217 Australia                       T +61 7 5538 8585 E  gc@pov.com.au 

 

2.0 SITE INVESTIGATION  
 
POINTOFVIEW visited the proposed digital signage site at 1 Missenden Rd, Camperdown on Monday 
30th July, 2018. The purpose of the site visit was to review the site conditions, proximity of adjacent 

properties and ensure the considerations and assumptions made and compliance calculations 
demonstrated in the Lighting Impact Assessment are appropriate. 

 

 

2.1 EXISTING CONDITIONS 
 

The Lighting Impact Assessment illustrates calculations on the northern facades of the properties on 
the south side of Brodrick St, the north facing facades of the properties at 69-71 Parramatta Rd and 

the south facing facades of the properties on the north side of Parramatta Rd. Due to its proximity to 
the proposed signage, the most at risk property of being negatively impacted by the proposed signage 

is the rear building façade (north facing) of the property at 69-71 Parramatta Rd. Refer to Figure 1, 

below. The windows on this façade are windows in living areas and bedrooms. It is our opinion that 
the assessment captures all the residential and commercial facades potentially impacted by the new 

digital signage. 
 

 

 
Figure 1. Model of site showing signage location and the north facing facade at 69-71 

Parramatta Rd as well as the location of new development at 12 Marsden St. 

122

mailto:melbourne@pov.com.au
mailto:gc@pov.com.au


 

 PEER REVIEW OF LIGHTING 
IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

 
1 MISSENDEN RD PROPOSED DIGITAL SIGNAGE  

J3321-SL-7000-V3 

27.08.2018 

 

Page 4 of 14 
 

POINTOFVIEW DESIGN PTY LTD         ABN 32 139 612 767 www.pov.com.au  

Level 3, 207 Clarence Street, SYDNEY NSW 2000 Australia              T +61 2 9818 6355  E  sydney@pov.com.au 

Unit 9, 38 Down Street, COLLINGWOOD VIC 3066 Australia           T +61 3 9017 4161 E  melbourne@pov.com.au 

Suite  21, 3 Alison Street , SURFERS PARADISE QLD 4217 Australia                       T +61 7 5538 8585 E  gc@pov.com.au 

 

2.2 APPROVED FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS 
 

POINTOFVIEW understand there is residential development approval for the property at 12 Marsden 
St with Building B backing onto Brodrick St. Figure 1 shows the location of the future residential 

development. As the plans in Figure 2 indicate, the majority of the habitable windows on the northern 
side of Building A (backing onto Brodrick St) are east of the vertical plane of the proposed signage and 

therefore. The portion of habitable windows west of the vertical plane of the proposed signage have 

been assessed adequately, and this is outlined in Section 4.1.  
 

 

 
Figure 2. Extract of Plans of new approved development at 12 Marsden St showing the habitable 

windows on the Brodrick St façade in relation to the vertical plane of the proposed signage. 

 

123

mailto:melbourne@pov.com.au
mailto:gc@pov.com.au


 

 PEER REVIEW OF LIGHTING 
IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

 
1 MISSENDEN RD PROPOSED DIGITAL SIGNAGE  

J3321-SL-7000-V3 

27.08.2018 

 

Page 5 of 14 
 

POINTOFVIEW DESIGN PTY LTD         ABN 32 139 612 767 www.pov.com.au  

Level 3, 207 Clarence Street, SYDNEY NSW 2000 Australia              T +61 2 9818 6355  E  sydney@pov.com.au 

Unit 9, 38 Down Street, COLLINGWOOD VIC 3066 Australia           T +61 3 9017 4161 E  melbourne@pov.com.au 

Suite  21, 3 Alison Street , SURFERS PARADISE QLD 4217 Australia                       T +61 7 5538 8585 E  gc@pov.com.au 

 

3.0 ASSESSMENT CRITERIA 
 

3.1 RELEVANT LEGISLATION 
 
The metrics calculated and assessed in the Lighting Impact Assessment are assessed in accordance the 

following regulatory legislations and guidelines: 
 

 NSW State Environmental Planning Policy No. 64 (SEPP 64) legislation 

 Sydney Development Control Plan (2012) 

 Transport Corridor Outdoor Advertising and Signage Guidelines (2017)  

 AS 4282-1997 Control of the Obtrusive Effects of Outdoor Lighting 

 

It is our opinion that these regulatory legislations and guidelines are appropriate for the Lighting Impact 
Assessment undertaken. 

Where the aforementioned regulatory legislations have differing limits or guidelines, in all assessment 
criteria, metrics have been assessed against the more stringent of limits or guidelines. 

 

 

3.2 AREA CLASSIFICATION 
 
In our opinion, the classification of the proposed signage location, nominated in the Lighting Impact 
Assessment, are accurate for the area. These are summarised below: 

 

 Zone 3 – commercial areas with medium ambient lighting (Transport Corridor Outdoor 

Advertising and Signage Guidelines) 

 Business or Industrial Zones within 100m of an accommodation land use (Sydney DCP, 2012) 

 Commercial Area or at Boundary of Commercial and Residential Areas,  curfewed hours being 

between 11pm and 6am (AS 4282-1997) 

  

Given the proximity of the residential accommodation on Parramatta Road and Brodrick St, the Sydney 

DCP offers a more appropriate classification as it considers accommodation in its zoning criteria. 

The report demonstrates an accurate assessment of the Sydney DCP area classification. 

  

 
 

 
 

 

124

mailto:melbourne@pov.com.au
mailto:gc@pov.com.au


 

 PEER REVIEW OF LIGHTING 
IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

 
1 MISSENDEN RD PROPOSED DIGITAL SIGNAGE  

J3321-SL-7000-V3 

27.08.2018 

 

Page 6 of 14 
 

POINTOFVIEW DESIGN PTY LTD         ABN 32 139 612 767 www.pov.com.au  

Level 3, 207 Clarence Street, SYDNEY NSW 2000 Australia              T +61 2 9818 6355  E  sydney@pov.com.au 

Unit 9, 38 Down Street, COLLINGWOOD VIC 3066 Australia           T +61 3 9017 4161 E  melbourne@pov.com.au 

Suite  21, 3 Alison Street , SURFERS PARADISE QLD 4217 Australia                       T +61 7 5538 8585 E  gc@pov.com.au 

 

3.3 TECHNICAL LIGHTING PARAMETERS 
 
In our opinion, the report uses globally accepted technical lighting parameters to measure the lighting 

impact of the proposed outdoor signage. Chapter 2 of the Lighting Impact Assessment includes 
definitions of these parameters, which are listed below:  

 
 Luminance (also referred to a “nits” for screen/signage applications), used to assess quantity 

of light corresponding to human perception of brightness 

 Illuminance, used to assess obtrusive, spill or nuisance light  

 Threshold Increment, used to assess glare 

 
The parameters used in the Lighting Impact Assessment to assess the visual impact of the proposed 

signage align with the metrics of measurement outlined in the relevant legislation identified in Section 

2.1 of this report 
 

Chapter 2 also identifies the use of lighting simulation software AGi32, a global benchmark for lighting 
calculations and assessment and one which CoS requires for demonstrating compliance. 

 

  

125

mailto:melbourne@pov.com.au
mailto:gc@pov.com.au


 

 PEER REVIEW OF LIGHTING 
IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

 
1 MISSENDEN RD PROPOSED DIGITAL SIGNAGE  

J3321-SL-7000-V3 

27.08.2018 

 

Page 7 of 14 
 

POINTOFVIEW DESIGN PTY LTD         ABN 32 139 612 767 www.pov.com.au  

Level 3, 207 Clarence Street, SYDNEY NSW 2000 Australia              T +61 2 9818 6355  E  sydney@pov.com.au 

Unit 9, 38 Down Street, COLLINGWOOD VIC 3066 Australia           T +61 3 9017 4161 E  melbourne@pov.com.au 

Suite  21, 3 Alison Street , SURFERS PARADISE QLD 4217 Australia                       T +61 7 5538 8585 E  gc@pov.com.au 

 

4.0 COMPLIANCE  
 
4.1 LIGHTING COMPLIANCE 

 
In our opinion, the Lighting Impact Assessment demonstrates compliance with the lighting parameters 

listed below, as required in the relevant legislation, for all of the adjacent properties. This includes the 
south facing façade at 128 Parramatta Rd, the north facing façade of the property at 69-71 Parramatta 

Rd and the proposed residential development at 12 Marsden St (formerly 15-21 Brodrick St). This is 

demonstrated in Figure 3, on the following page. 

 

 
 Maximum Permissible Daytime Luminance (cd/sqm) – 6000 cd/sqm, as per the Sydney DCP 

(2012) 

 Maximum Permissible Twilight and overcast Weather Luminance – 600 cd/sqm, as per the 

Sydney DCP (2012) 

 Maximum Permissible Night Time Luminance – 110 cd/sqm, less than the Sydney DCP (2012) 

which has a maximum limit of 200 cd/sqm 

 Maximum Permissible Illuminance on Nearby Habitable Windows – 1.93 lux, less than the 

Sydney DCP (2012) which has a maximum limit of 2 lux 

 Threshold Increment (glare to motorists) – does not exceed 0.16%, less than AS4282-1997 

and Sydney DCP (2012) which have a maximum allowance of 20% 

 

 
Provided the signage is operated within the dimming levels outlined in Section 5 of the Lighting Impact 

Assessment for the different times of day, it is our opinion, that the compliance is demonstrated 

accurately. 
 

126

mailto:melbourne@pov.com.au
mailto:gc@pov.com.au


 

 PEER REVIEW OF LIGHTING 
IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

 
1 MISSENDEN RD PROPOSED DIGITAL SIGNAGE  

J3321-SL-7000-V3 

27.08.2018 

 

Page 8 of 14 
 

POINTOFVIEW DESIGN PTY LTD         ABN 32 139 612 767 www.pov.com.au  

Level 3, 207 Clarence Street, SYDNEY NSW 2000 Australia              T +61 2 9818 6355  E  sydney@pov.com.au 

Unit 9, 38 Down Street, COLLINGWOOD VIC 3066 Australia           T +61 3 9017 4161 E  melbourne@pov.com.au 

Suite  21, 3 Alison Street , SURFERS PARADISE QLD 4217 Australia                       T +61 7 5538 8585 E  gc@pov.com.au 

 

 
 

Figure 3. Extract of Lighting Impact Assessment, Appendix D with highest illuminance levels 

calculated at 128 Parramatta Rd south facing facade, 69-71 Parramatta Rd north facing façade 

or rear building and the proposed development at 12 Marsden St Building A north facing facades. 

127

mailto:melbourne@pov.com.au
mailto:gc@pov.com.au


 

 PEER REVIEW OF LIGHTING 
IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

 
1 MISSENDEN RD PROPOSED DIGITAL SIGNAGE  

J3321-SL-7000-V3 

27.08.2018 

 

Page 9 of 14 
 

POINTOFVIEW DESIGN PTY LTD         ABN 32 139 612 767 www.pov.com.au  

Level 3, 207 Clarence Street, SYDNEY NSW 2000 Australia              T +61 2 9818 6355  E  sydney@pov.com.au 

Unit 9, 38 Down Street, COLLINGWOOD VIC 3066 Australia           T +61 3 9017 4161 E  melbourne@pov.com.au 

Suite  21, 3 Alison Street , SURFERS PARADISE QLD 4217 Australia                       T +61 7 5538 8585 E  gc@pov.com.au 

 

4.2 DIMMIBILITY 
 
It must be noted that the compliances outlined in the Lighting Impact Assessment rely on the ability to 

dim the proposed Digital Signage.  

The table in Chapter 7, on page 9 of the Lighting Impact Assessment, nominates the maximum dimming 

levels required to achieve compliance. 

On page 4, the report advises, “the brightness of the LEDs can be controlled to provide upper and lower 

thresholds as required….” The specification of the Digital Signage, identified in Appendix B nominates 
the signage has the ability to be dimmed. 

In our opinion, the specifications of the Digital Signage confirm dimming capabilities adequately. 

 
 

4.3 PHOTOELECTRIC CELLS/LIGHT SENSORS 
 
On page 4, the report advises, “the brightness of the LEDs can be controlled to provide upper and lower 

thresholds as required as well as automatically via a local light sensor to adjust to ambient lighting 

conditions.” The specification of the Digital Signage, identified in Appendix B does nominates the PE 
cell (multi-directional light sensor) to provide the automatic adjustment. This devices features the ability 

to take lux (Illuminance) readings on the face and the back of the sign as well as ambient light. This 
information is used to dim or brighten the sign. 

 

The specification for the multi-directional light sensor states that in the event of a multi-directional light 
sensor failure, the control system enables GPS dimming. It also states if this GPS dimming fails, the 

control system detects the issue and automatically sets the display to the lowest dimming level. 
 

Section 3.16.7.2 part 8a of the Sydney DCP (2012) nominates that in the case of a malfunction, the 
display screen shall display and entirely black screen. 

 

In our opinion, while the specifications the PE Cell (multi-directional light sensor) satisfies the 
requirements in section 3.16.7.2 part 4b of the Sydney DCP (2012), it does not satisfy the requirements 

Section 3.16.7.2 part 8a in the Sydney DCP, unless there is a “lowest dimmed setting” which is equal 
to 0 (zero) nits, thus creating a black screen.  

 

 

4.4 ASTRONOMICAL TIMECLOCKS 
 
Although not discussed in the Lighting Impact Assessment, astronomical time clocks can be used in 
conjunction with Photoelectric Cells or Light Sensors to ensure compliance is achieved during twilight 

and night-time settings. Astronomical time clocks can trigger dimming in accordance with the time of 

sunrise and sunset on any given day of the year. Any time clock device shall be in be in accordance 
with Section 3.16.7.2 part 4c of the Sydney DCP (2012).  

 
In our opinion, the specifications the GPS location and timeclock feature, of the nominated multi-

directional light sensor, satisfies the requirements in section 3.16.7.2 part 4b of the Sydney DCP (2012). 

128

mailto:melbourne@pov.com.au
mailto:gc@pov.com.au


 

 PEER REVIEW OF LIGHTING 
IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

 
1 MISSENDEN RD PROPOSED DIGITAL SIGNAGE  

J3321-SL-7000-V3 

27.08.2018 

 

Page 10 of 14 
 

POINTOFVIEW DESIGN PTY LTD         ABN 32 139 612 767 www.pov.com.au  

Level 3, 207 Clarence Street, SYDNEY NSW 2000 Australia              T +61 2 9818 6355  E  sydney@pov.com.au 

Unit 9, 38 Down Street, COLLINGWOOD VIC 3066 Australia           T +61 3 9017 4161 E  melbourne@pov.com.au 

Suite  21, 3 Alison Street , SURFERS PARADISE QLD 4217 Australia                       T +61 7 5538 8585 E  gc@pov.com.au 

 

5.0 CONTENT TIMING 
 
While the Lighting Impact Assessment demonstrates compliance with technical lighting parameters (for 
those adjacent properties which have been considered in the Lighting Impact Assessment) required in 

the relevant legislations, there are elements around timing of content it does not address, which impacts 
the amenity of the nearby residents and road users. These are related to the luminance and illuminance 

and are outlined in the following three sections. 

 
 

5.1 DWELL TIMES 
 
Dwell times correspond to the frequency at which the display changes from one image to the next. The 

longer the dwell time, the less frequent the changes. Most international guidelines for digital signage 

nominate a minimum dwell time of between 6-10 seconds. The City of Brisbane determines dwell time 
as a function of the speed limit for signs visible from the roadway – for speeds under 80km/h, the 

minimum dwell time is 8 seconds. Toronto, Ottawa and Massachusetts all have minimum dwell times 
of 10 seconds. 

 
However, these dwell times are for digital signage intended to be viewed by road users. They do not 

address the amenity of nearby residents. 

 
As the content is changeable for the digital signage, there is the possibility for the one display to be 

predominately black and the next to be predominately white and the next to be a saturated colour. 
While all three scenarios may comply with obtrusive light limits, in accordance with Sydney DCP (2012) 

and AS4282-1997, there is the potential for lux levels incident on nearby residential windows (which 

have been considered in the Lighting Impact Assessment) to vary from virtually 0 lux to 1.93 lux. The 
limitations outlined in the Sydney DCP and AS4282-1997 are founded on static lighting installations, 

not changing digital signage. This potential change in lux levels would be perceptible in a dark interior 
room and could be a nuisance if it occurs every 10 seconds. 

 

It is our opinion that dwell times used during the night time settings should vary from those dwell times 
used during the daytime settings. While 10 seconds is appropriate for daytime settings, a more 

appropriate dwell time for nighttime settings is 30 seconds. 
 

 

5.2 TRANSITION TIMES 
 
Transition times refer to the time taken to transition from one static image to the next. International 

guidelines for transition times vary from instantaneous to 2 seconds. Instantaneous transitions have a 
risk of generating “after image” on the retina and can also create flash distractions, so should be 

avoided. Transitions longer than 2 seconds can also be distracting for road users.  
 

As with dwell times, there are potential lux level changes that are perceptible to nearby residents in 

dark interior rooms. These can present more of a nuisance with instantaneous transitions than slower 
transitions. 

129

mailto:melbourne@pov.com.au
mailto:gc@pov.com.au


 

 PEER REVIEW OF LIGHTING 
IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

 
1 MISSENDEN RD PROPOSED DIGITAL SIGNAGE  

J3321-SL-7000-V3 

27.08.2018 

 

Page 11 of 14 
 

POINTOFVIEW DESIGN PTY LTD         ABN 32 139 612 767 www.pov.com.au  

Level 3, 207 Clarence Street, SYDNEY NSW 2000 Australia              T +61 2 9818 6355  E  sydney@pov.com.au 

Unit 9, 38 Down Street, COLLINGWOOD VIC 3066 Australia           T +61 3 9017 4161 E  melbourne@pov.com.au 

Suite  21, 3 Alison Street , SURFERS PARADISE QLD 4217 Australia                       T +61 7 5538 8585 E  gc@pov.com.au 

 

 

It is our opinion that transition times used during the nighttime settings should be 1-2 seconds. 
Transition times used during the daytime settings could be shorter if desired but not less than 0.1 

seconds, as outlined in Section 3.16.7.2 part 5d of the Sydney DCP (2012) 

 
Additionally, no effects should be used during the transitions. 

 
 

5.3 TRANSITION FROM DAYTIME TO NIGHTIME 
 
The transition of luminance from daytime to twilight to nighttime is an important transition to ensure 
the signage is appropriately lit for the time of day. However, there is no definition of when twilight 

begins and ends, or when day or nighttime begins or ends. 
 

The City of Los Angeles recommends displays transition smoothly and consistently from daytime to 

nighttime, starting at 45 minutes prior to sunset and reaching night-time mode at 45 minutes after 
sunset. An astronomical clock, described in Section 3.4 could achieve this. 

 
It is our opinion that a smooth transition dictated by sunset and sunrise times, as recommended in the 

City of Los Angeles guidelines, would be desirable and provide clear parameters as to the beginning 
and end of twilight hours. 

 

  

130

mailto:melbourne@pov.com.au
mailto:gc@pov.com.au


 

 PEER REVIEW OF LIGHTING 
IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

 
1 MISSENDEN RD PROPOSED DIGITAL SIGNAGE  

J3321-SL-7000-V3 

27.08.2018 

 

Page 12 of 14 
 

POINTOFVIEW DESIGN PTY LTD         ABN 32 139 612 767 www.pov.com.au  

Level 3, 207 Clarence Street, SYDNEY NSW 2000 Australia              T +61 2 9818 6355  E  sydney@pov.com.au 

Unit 9, 38 Down Street, COLLINGWOOD VIC 3066 Australia           T +61 3 9017 4161 E  melbourne@pov.com.au 

Suite  21, 3 Alison Street , SURFERS PARADISE QLD 4217 Australia                       T +61 7 5538 8585 E  gc@pov.com.au 

 

6.0 RECOMMENDATIONS ON FURTHER 
CONTROL MEASURES 

 
6.1 BLACK OUT  

 
In the case of the display malfunction, freezing or having no content being transmitted, the display 

should revert to a default black screen automatically, as outlined in Section 3.16.7.2 part 8a of the 

Sydney DCP (2012).  
 

 

6.2 MAINTENANCE 
 
The installation should be regularly maintained, keeping an electronic log, for the duration of the 

development consent, as outlined in Section 3.16.7.2 part 8b of the Sydney DCP (2012). 
 

We recommend the digital signage should be modular in construction, so in the event of a failure, only 
one section needs replacing. 

 

 

6.3 MONITORING 
 
The installation shall have an lighting impact audit undertaken by a professional lighting engineer within 
12 months of operation and submitted to the consent authority to confirm the operational effect, with 

recommendations for necessary action to be taken where unacceptable glare, negative safety outcomes 

for road users or loss of amenity for accommodation land uses are identified, as outlined in Section 
3.16.7.2 part 4f of the Sydney DCP (2012). 

 

  

131

mailto:melbourne@pov.com.au
mailto:gc@pov.com.au


 PEER REVIEW OF LIGHTING 
IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

1 MISSENDEN RD PROPOSED DIGITAL SIGNAGE 

J3321-SL-7000-V3 

27.08.2018 

Page 13 of 14 

POINTOFVIEW DESIGN PTY LTD         ABN 32 139 612 767 www.pov.com.au 

Level 3, 207 Clarence Street, SYDNEY NSW 2000 Australia       T +61 2 9818 6355  E  sydney@pov.com.au 

Unit 9, 38 Down Street, COLLINGWOOD VIC 3066 Australia    T +61 3 9017 4161 E  melbourne@pov.com.au 

Suite  21, 3 Alison Street , SURFERS PARADISE QLD 4217 Australia    T +61 7 5538 8585 E  gc@pov.com.au 

7.0 SUMMARY 

In our opinion, the Lighting Impact Assessment accurately nominates the relevant legislation, the 
technical lighting parameters and area classifications. 

The report demonstrates compliance with these technical lighting parameters in accordance with the 

relevant regulatory legislations. This includes the newly assessed north facing façade of the rear 

Building at 69-71 Parramatta Rd. In fact, the report demonstrates there will be less obtrusive light onto 
adjacent properties that the existing signage.  

POINTOFVIEW has advised that the nominated display and light sensors satisfy the requirements for 

dimming, as outlined in the Lighting Impact Assessment or the Sydney DCP (2012). However, the 

malfunction control measures of the specified screen and light sensor do not satisfy the requirements 
of the Sydney DCP (2012), which calls for a black out in the case of a malfunction. This should be 

addressed. 

While the Lighting Impact Assessment demonstrates compliance for illuminance and obtrusive light on 
the adjacent properties nominated, it does not address the impact of dwell and transition times of the 

digital display on the safety of road users or the amenity of the nearby residential accommodation.  

POINTOFVIEW has provided recommendations on both dwell and transition times in Section 5 of this 

report. It is our opinion that the times for the daytime settings should vary to those times in the 
nighttime setting, to protect the amenity of the nearby residential accommodation uses. 

POINTOFVIEW has provided recommendations on further control measures in Section 6 of this report, 
which align with the requirements outlined in the Sydney DCP (2012).  

Although the proposed signage is technically compliant, with the exception of the malfunction device, 

it is our opinion that implementing the recommendations outlined in Section 5 and 6 of this peer review 
would further assist in minimising any impacts on the amenity of nearby residents. 

132

mailto:melbourne@pov.com.au
mailto:gc@pov.com.au


Attachment F 

External Authority Referral Comments

133



Roads and Maritime Services  

27-31 Argyle Street, Parramatta NSW 2150  |   
PO Box 973 Parramatta NSW 2150  |  www.rms.nsw.gov.au  | 13 22 13 

 

 

 

26 March 2018 
 
 
Roads and Maritime Reference: SYD18/00383  
Council Ref: D/2018/73 

 
 
The General Manager 
City of Sydney 
GPO Box 1591 
SYDNEY NSW 2001 
 
Attention: Matthew Girvan 
 
 
Dear Sir/Madam 
 
 
REMOVAL OF EXISTING EXTERNALLY ILLUMINATED ADVERTISING SIGN, AND 
CONSTRUCTION OF NEW INTERNALLY ILLUMINATED DIGITAL ADVERTISING SIGN   
1 MISSENDEN ROAD, CAMPERDOWN – FRONTAGE TO PARRAMATTA ROAD 
 
Reference is made to Council’s correspondence dated 27 February 2018, regarding the 
abovementioned application which was referred to Roads and Maritime Services (Roads and 
Maritime) for concurrence in accordance with Clause 18 of the State Environmental Planning 
Policy No. 64 – Advertising and Signage (SEPP 64). 
 
Roads and Maritime has reviewed the submitted application and raises no objection to the 
application. Roads and Maritime requests that the following conditions are incorporated into 
any consent issued by Council:   

1. The proposed sign must not contain/ use:  
a. Flashing lights 
b. Electronically changeable messages 
c. Animated display, moving parts or simulated movement 
d. Complex displays that hold a drivers attention beyond “glance appreciation” 
e. Displays resembling traffic signs or signals, or giving instruction to traffic by using 

words such as ‘halt’ or ‘stop’ 
f. A method of illumination that distracts or dazzles. 

 
2. Construction and maintenance activities shall be undertaken wholly within the private 

property of the site. Where this is not possible, a Road Occupancy Licence (ROL) will be 
required. A ROL can be obtained through 
https://myrta.com/oplinc2/pages/security/oplincLogin.jsf   

 

  

134

https://myrta.com/oplinc2/pages/security/oplincLogin.jsf


 

3. All works associated with the proposed sign, including maintenance activities, shall be at 
no cost to Roads and Maritime.  

Roads and Maritime has the following comments for Council’s consideration in the 
determination of the application:  

1. Council should ensure the design and construction of signage structures is in 
accordance with relevant Australian Standards. 
 

2. Council should ensure that the proposed illumination levels are in accordance with 
relevant guidelines and standards.  

Roads and Maritime requests Council forward a copy of the determination including any 
conditions of consent to development.sydney@rms.nsw.gov.au referencing SYD18/00383 in 
the subject line. 

If you have any further inquiries in relation to this development application, please contact 
Shivani Karan on 02 8849 2441 or email: development.sydney@rms.nsw.gov.au 
 
Yours sincerely  

 
 
Robert Rutledge 
A/Senior Land Use Planner 
Network Sydney CBD and East Precinct 

135

mailto:development.sydney@rms.nsw.gov.au
mailto:development.sydney@rms.nsw.gov.au


Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Development Application: 30-42 Lower Fort Street, Dawes Point 

File No.: D/2018/903 

Summary 

Date of Submission: 8 August 2018 

Amended drawings/additional information submitted 30 
November 2018, and 21 February 2019. 

Applicant: LFTMP Pty Ltd C/O Neeson Murcutt Architects Pty Ltd 

Architect: Neeson Murcutt Architects Pty Ltd 

Owner: LFTMP Pty Ltd 

Cost of Works: $9,010,000 

Zoning: The site is located within the R1 - General Residential 
zone. The existing and proposed use is defined as a 
residential flat building and is permissible with consent. 

Proposal Summary: The application seeks consent for alterations and additions 
to the existing residential flat building including rear 
extensions and new lifts, landscaping, and strata 
subdivision resulting in 6 x one bedroom units and 24 x 
two bedroom units, with three of the two bedroom units 
being accessible.  

The application was advertised and notified for 30 days 
between 23 August 2018 and 23 September 2018. Two 
submissions were received concerned about the lack of 
street parking if parking permits are issued to residents or 
visitors to the premises. 

The proposal has been amended and additional 
information has been supplied during the assessment of 
the application to address preliminary concerns relating to 
the Clause 4.6 submissions, heritage impacts, acoustic 
impacts, ventilation, visual privacy, potential flooding, 
proposed work to the footway, landscaping, waste 
management, bicycle parking and clothes washing/drying 
facilities.  

 

1

Item 5.



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Proposal Summary 
(continued): 

The application proposes works at a height of 11.45m 
(which is a 2.45m or a 27.3% exceedance of the 9m height 
standard). The elements which will exceed the height limit 
are the proposed air conditioning louvre enclosure to the 
roof of No. 4 Trinity Avenue (11.45m); the maximum height 
of the proposed rear additions (11.34m); and the maximum 
height of the proposed lift structures (10.17m). All the 
proposed work is below the existing building height of 
13.34m. 

The application seeks a variation to the height of building 
development standard under Clause 4.6 of the LEP. The 
written request is supported and it is considered that strict 
compliance with the height of building development 
standard is unreasonable and unnecessary in the 
circumstances. 

The application seeks a variation to the minimum 
apartment size development standard under Clause 4.6 of 
the Sydney LEP 2012 (LEP). The written request is 
supported and it is considered that strict compliance with 
the minimum apartment size development standard is 
unreasonable and unnecessary in the circumstances. 

The application is referred to the Local Planning Panel for 
determination as the proposal exceeds the height of 
building development standard by 27.3%; is under the 
minimum apartment size development standard by 15.2%; 
and as State Environmental Planning Policy No. 65 
applies. 

The application proposes an FSR of 1.7:1, which is below 
the maximum 2:1 permitted. 

Although the development does not comply with several 
built form and amenity controls in Sydney DCP 2012 and 
the State Environmental Planning Policy SEPP 65 and 
related Apartment Design Guide, the development 
represents a reasonable balance between maintaining the 
heritage fabric of a State heritage listed item being the first 
government built residential flat building, and improving the 
amenity of an existing substandard residential flat building 
to a standard compatible with modern requirements. 

Summary Recommendation: The development application is recommended for 
approval, subject to conditions.The development 
application is recommended for approval, subject to 
conditions. 

Development Controls: (i) State Environmental Planning Policy (Building 
Sustainability Index: BASIX) 2004 

2



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

(ii) State Environmental Planning Policy No. 65 - Design 
Quality of Residential Apartment Development 

(iii) Sydney Regional Environmental Plan (Sydney 
Harbour Catchment) 2005 (Deemed SEPP) 

(iv) Apartment Design Guide 2015 

(v) Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012  

(vi) Sydney Development Control Plan 2012  

(vii) City of Sydney Development Contributions Plan 2015 

Attachments: A. Recommended Conditions of Consent 

B1.    Selected Drawings 

B2.    Selected Drawings 

C.      Clause 4.6 Variation Request - Building Height 

D.      Clause 4.6 Variation Request - Apartment Size 

  

3



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Recommendation 

It is resolved that: 

(A) the variation sought to the development standard under Clause 4.3 Height of Buildings 
in accordance with Clause 4.6 ‘Exceptions to development standards’ in Sydney Local 
Environmental Plan 2012 be supported in the circumstances; 

(B) the variation sought to the development standard under Part 4D of the Apartment 
Design Guide and clause 30 of the State Environmental Planning Policy No. 65 - 
Design Quality of Residential Apartment Development be supported in this 
circumstance; and 

(C) consent be granted to Development Application No. D/2018/903 subject to the 
conditions set out in Attachment A to the subject report. 

Reasons for Recommendation 

The application is recommended for approval for the following reasons: 

(A) The proposal is consistent with the objectives of the R1 - General Residential zone for 
the reasons set out in the report to the Local Planning Panel. 

(B) The variation to Clause 4.3 of the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 Height of 
buildings is consistent with the provisions of Clause 4.6 ‘Exceptions to development 
standards’ and is in the public interest. 

(C) The variation to the size of the 1 bedroom apartments in the Design Criteria of 
Objective 4D-1 of the Apartment Design Guide under SEPP 65 is consistent with the 
provisions of Clause 4.6 ‘Exceptions to development standards’ and is in the public 
interest. 

(D) Non-compliance with several controls in Sydney DCP 2012 and the SEPP 65 
Apartment Design Guide, is considered acceptable with regard to the constraints of 
the site and the surrounding area. The development represents a reasonable balance 
between maintaining the heritage fabric of a State heritage listed item being the first 
government built residential flat building, and improving the amenity of an existing 
substandard residential flat building to a standard compatible with modern 
requirements. 

(E) The proposal exhibits design excellence as required under Clause 6.21 Design 
Excellence of Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 as the external appearance of 
the existing building will generally be retained, and the retention of heritage fabric 
balanced with reasonable amenity upgrades throughout the rest of the development.        

(F) The adaptive re-use and additions to the building are compatible with the character 
and appearance of the Millers Point Conservation Area (SHR: 00884); the Millers Point 
and Dawes Point Village Precinct (SHR: 01682); and the Millers Point heritage 
conservation area (HCA C35) under Sydney LEP 2012. 

4



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

(G) As conditioned, it is generally consistent with the objectives of the relevant controls for 
the site and will not adversely impact the amenity of neighbouring properties and is in 
the public interest. 

  

5



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Background 

The Site and Surrounding Development 

1. A site visit was carried out by staff on 12 September 2018.  

2. The site is legally known as lot 2, DP 1221025. It is irregular in shape following the 
street front alignment of Lower Fort Street and Trinity Avenue, with an area of 
approximately 1437.2sqm. It includes 2-4B Trinity Avenue. The site has a street (west) 
frontage to Lower Fort Street and Trinity Avenue. The rear (east) of the site faces land 
which is located substantially below the Sydney Harbour Bridge approach (Bradfield 
Highway) and land reserved for railways use. The site slopes from north to south and 
south to north across the frontage and also from east to west from the rear to the 
street front. It is located near the intersection of Lower Fort Street with Cumberland 
Street. 

3. The site contains a group of nine inter-connected three storey buildings built as a 
group in c. 1910 as “workmen’s dwellings" which are currently vacant.  The seven 
blocks facing Lower Fort Street are arranged with a single block at the northern end 
(No. 30 Lower Fort Street) followed by three paired blocks (No's. 32 and 34, No's. 36 
and 38 and No's. 40 and 42 Lower Fort Street), with each block joined to the next via 
common stairs and landings. A further paired block is situated around the corner 
where Lower Fort Street turns into Trinity Avenue (No's. 2 and 4 Trinity Avenue). No. 4 
Trinity Avenue has its own stair. Each building has a small back yard to the rear 
abutting a cliff face with brick wall above, which are approximately 7 metres in total 
height above the rear yard levels. 

4. For the majority of the buildings, each level contains a single three bedroom flat, 
although the individual flats at each level of No's. 32 and 42 Lower Fort Street have 
subsequently been subdivided internally and a rear addition constructed, and adapted 
to provide 2 x one bedroom flats per level (a total of six flats per building as opposed to 
the original three flats per building). There are currently a total 33 units within the site. 

5. The site is listed on the State Heritage Register as item No's 00894 (30-42 Lower Fort 
Street) and 00869 (2-4 Trinity Avenue). It is also located within the State Heritage 
Conservation Area known as Millers Point Conservation Area (SHR: 00884); and 
within the Millers Point and Dawes Point Village Precinct (SHR: 01682). The site is 
also listed as heritage items (no. I547, 30-42 Lower Fort Street and I548, 2-4B Trinity 
Avenue); and is within the Millers Point heritage conservation area (HCA C35) under 
Sydney LEP 2012. 

6. The Conservation Management Plan for the site states that: 

The group of residential flat buildings at Nos. 30-42 Lower Fort Street and Nos.2-
4 Trinity Avenue is of exceptional significance as the first government built 
residential flat building, designed by the Government Architects Branch under 
the direction of Walter Liberty Vernon and built as a tenement building to provide 
affordable housing for waterside and maritime workers and their families in 
Millers Point (close to their places of work), making the building very rare and of 
State level significance. 

  

6



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

7. Surrounding land uses are residential. To the north of the site is 26-28 Lower Fort 
Street which is a contemporary terrace (No. 26) amalgamated with a State Heritage 
Listed terrace (No. 28 - I546 and listed on the State Heritage Register as No. 00881) 
for use as a boarding house containing 7 dwellings. To the south of the site is the 
State heritage listed two storey house at No's. 8-12 Trinity Avenue "Darling House" 
(I549 and listed on the State Heritage Register as no. 00842) which is currently being 
refurbished for aged care purposes. To the west across Lower Fort Street are two-
three storey terraces. 

8. Photos of the site and surrounds are provided below: 

 

Figure 1: Aerial image of subject site (in blue) and surrounding area 

 

Figure 2: Looking north-east towards subject site   

7



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 3: Subject site viewed from across Lower Fort Street 
 

 

Figure 4: Looking south-east towards subject site 

8



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 5: Looking south-west towards rear of site  

 

Figure 6: Looking towards Lower Fort Street from first floor stair landing to entry stairs and walkway 
between No.30 and No.32 Lower Fort Street 

9



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 7: Looking east from stairs between No.30 and No.32 Lower Fort Street towards rear yards 

 

Figure 8: View from first floor of No.30 (ie. No.30A) towards No.32(A) 

10



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 9: Kitchen inside No.30 at ground level 

 

Figure 10: Living room and front bedroom inside No.30 at ground level 

11



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 11: Ground level corridor in No.30 viewed from living room 

 

Figure 12: Inside rear extension at No. 32 

12



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 13: Looking north-west at common area between No.30 and No.32 Lower Fort Street 

 

 

Figure 14: Looking north from rear yard of No's. 30/32 towards rear of No's. 26-28 Lower Fort Street 

13



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 15: Rear of No. 30 Lower Fort Street 

 

Figure 16: Looking south towards rear of other buildings on-site 

14



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 17: Looking east from top of stairs between No.40 and No.42 Lower Fort Street towards 
Harbour Bridge approach 

 

Figure 18: Roof to be repaired 

15



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 19: Wider hallway inside No.2 Trinity Avenue - accessible units to be located in this building 

 

 

Figure 20: Kitchen and corridor inside No.4 Trinity Avenue 

16



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Proposal 

9. Approval is sought for alterations and additions to the existing residential flat building 
including rear extensions and new lifts, landscaping, and strata subdivision resulting in 
6 x one bedroom units and 24 x two bedroom units, with three of the two bedroom 
units being accessible. The proposal will reduce the number of units on-site from 33 to 
30. 

10. In detail, the application proposes demolition of the existing rear additions to No.32 
and No.42 Lower Fort Street and the following works: 

(a) Ground Floor: 

(i) new entry gates; 

(ii) new ramped entries to ground floor units; 

(iii) common stairs to upper level units adapted to meet BCA requirements;  

(iv) open up entry vestibules and relocate unit entry doors;  

(v) new lifts (DDA access lift to No.2 Trinity Avenue) behind modified entry 
vestibules; 

(vi) new enclosures under stairs for rubbish bins, letter boxes, electrical and 
water meters; 

(vii) alterations and additions to apartment layouts including new openings, new 
room uses, kitchen and bathroom fitouts, new flooring; 

(viii) retention or reinstatement of heritage fabric; 

(ix) new rear additions, each to contain a bedroom; 

(x) fire protection works; 

(xi) installation of air conditioning, lighting, plumbing, electrical, hot water, gas 
services; 

(xii) new hallway enclosures; 

(xiii) private courtyards to rear with decking and fencing; 

(xiv) tree removal; 

(xv) common gardens between buildings; 

(xvi) bicycle parking; 

(xvii) one adaptable apartment; and 

(xviii) remedial works including damp proofing, landing replacement, some 
flooring, sewer and stormwater system upgrading. 

  

17



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

(b) First Floor: 

(i) common stairs adapted to meet BCA requirements;  

(ii) new lifts (DDA access lift to No.2 Trinity Avenue) behind modified entry 
vestibules; 

(iii) alterations and additions to apartment layouts including new openings, new 
walls, new room uses, kitchen and bathroom fitouts, new flooring; 

(iv) retention or reinstatement of heritage fabric; 

(v) new rear additions, each to contain a bedroom; 

(vi) fire protection works; 

(vii) installation of air conditioning, lighting, plumbing, electrical, hot water, gas 
services; 

(viii) new hallway enclosures; 

(ix) front facade awning repairs; 

(x) one adaptable apartment; and 

(xi) remedial works including damp proofing, landing replacement, some 
flooring, sewer system upgrading. 

(c) Second Floor: 

(i) common stairs adapted to meet BCA requirements; 

(ii) new lifts (DDA access lift to No.2 Trinity Avenue) behind modified entry 
vestibules; 

(iii) alterations and additions to apartment layouts including new openings, new 
walls, new room uses, kitchen and bathroom fitouts, new flooring; 

(iv) retention or reinstatement of heritage fabric; 

(v) new rear additions, each to contain a bedroom; 

(vi) fire protection works; 

(vii) installation of air conditioning, lighting, plumbing, electrical, hot water, gas 
services; 

(viii) new hallway enclosures; 

(ix) roof repairs; 

(x) one adaptable apartment; and 

(xi) remedial works including damp proofing, landing replacement, some 
flooring, sewer system upgrading. 

18



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

(d) Roof: 

(i) roof repairs; and 

(ii) louvres screening air conditioning units. 

11. The development will alter the gross floor area of the buildings from 2,290.13sqm to 
2,539.71sqm, and the FSR from 1.59:1 to 1.7:1. The existing height of the buildings is 
13.34m. The rear additions will be a maximum of 11.34m in height. As this is over the 
9m height development standard, a Clause 4.6 submission has been made. 

12. Drawings and photomontages of the proposed development are provided below. 

 

Figure 21: A photomontage of the rear of the proposed development  

  

new rear 
additions 

19



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 22: A photomontage of the Lower Fort Street elevation of the development 

 

 

Figure 23: Proposed ground floor 

20



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 24: Proposed first floor 

 

 

Figure 25: Proposed second floor 

  

21



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 26: Proposed roof plan 

 

Figure 27: Proposed rear (south-east) and Lower Fort Street (north-west) elevations 

  

22



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 28: Proposed north-east and south elevations and sections 

 

 

Figure 29: Proposed sections 

23



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 30: Typical landscape plan (for No.30 and No.32 Lower Fort Street) 

 

 

Figure 31: Typical courtyard section 

History Relevant to the Development Application 

13. A Conservation Management Plan for No's. 30-42 Lower Fort Street and No's. 2-4 
Trinity Avenue, Millers Point was endorsed by the Heritage Council on 18 May 2017. 

24



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

14. On 12 April 2018, a pre-DA (PDA/2018/31) meeting was held to discuss preliminary 
plans of the proposal. This meeting was attended by Council Staff, the applicant and 
delegates from NSW Heritage.  

15. On 9 May 2018, the Heritage Council provided its resolution regarding pre-DA advice 
and a presentation considered at its meeting of 2 May 2018. The Heritage Council 
provided the following advice to the applicant: 

(a) The rear additions should have a simplified and consistent roof form with a 
general preference for the pitched roof option. 

(b) The externally located lift overruns should be reduced in height as much as 
possible to be below the gutter line of the existing roofs. 

(c) The adaptation of the exceptionally significant common stairs and landings is 
supported. 

(d) Creation of openings between rooms should be limited to minimum required in 
size and numbers. 

(e) Conversion of existing bedrooms into kitchen and bathrooms should ensure that 
the room’s integrity and spatial character is retained. 

16. As Integrated Development, the proposal was referred to the Heritage Council on 8 
August 2018. 

17. On 25 October 2018, the two submissions received in response to the exhibition of the 
proposal were forwarded to the Heritage Council.  

18. On 5 November 2018, a letter was sent to the applicant requesting clarification of a 
range of matters (see subsequent amendments below). 

19. On 15 November 2018, the Heritage Council of NSW provided General Terms of 
Approval (dated 14 November 2018) to the application. 

20. On 30 November 2018, additional/amended information supplied by the applicant in 
response to Council's request of 5 November 2018 was forwarded to the Heritage 
Council. 

21. On 21 February 2019, the applicant was requested to lower the level of the common 
gardens, address stormwater collection and summarise any heritage impacts resulting 
from earlier amendments. This information was received on 21 February 2019, and 
forwarded to the Heritage Council on 22 February 2019. 

22. On 28 February 2019, the Heritage Council of NSW provided Revised General Terms 
of Approval (dated 27 February 2019) to reflect amendments made to the proposal 
during the assessment process. 

23. The application has been amended as follows: 

(a) Lowering the ground level of the common garden by 300mm below the existing 
concrete/apartment entries in case of flooding. 

(b) Deleting proposed footpath works to the entry of No's 2 and 4 Trinity Avenue. 

25



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

(c) Re-routing proposed sewer and sub soil drainage connecting into the stormwater 
system. 

(d) Deleting the cliff face and courtyard lighting. 

(e) Revised landscape details provided. 

(f) Provision of one bicycle space behind each common entry stair. 

(g) Addition of laundry facility in kitchen. 

24. On 19 June 2018, development consent D/2018/1648 (subsequently amended) was 
granted for alterations and additions to two existing terraces containing seven units for 
use as a boarding house. The site adjoins the proposed development to the north. 

25. On 7 November 2016, development consent D/2016/913 (subsequently amended) was 
granted for alterations and additions to the existing residential care facility within 
'Darling House', including additions to the roof, southern side elevation and eastern 
rear elevation, internal alterations, modifications to windows, conservation works and 
external alterations. The site adjoins the proposed development to the south. 

Economic/Social/Environmental Impacts 

26. The application has been assessed under Section 4.15 of the Environmental Planning 
and Assessment Act 1979, including consideration of the following matters: 

(a) Environmental Planning Instruments and DCPs. 

State Environmental Planning Policy No 55—Remediation of Land 

27. The aim of SEPP 55 is to ensure that a change of land use will not increase the risk to 
health, particularly in circumstances where a more sensitive land use is proposed. 

28. The site has been used for residential purposes since its construction in c.1910 as 
"workmen's dwellings". It was built on the site of two earlier stone houses and an 
outbuilding dating from the 1850s or earlier. Therefore, the likelihood of contamination 
is low. 

State Environmental Planning Policy No 65—Design Quality of Residential Flat 
Development 

29. SEPP 65 provides that in determining an application for a residential flat development 
of three or more floors and containing four or more apartments, that the consent 
authority take into consideration a number of matters relating to design quality, 
including 9 design quality principles, being: 

(a) Principle 1: Context and Neighbourhood Character 

The surrounding area is characterised by medium density residential buildings of 
varying forms. The proposal retains the use and character of the existing 
buildings. The only changes visible from the street are the updated building entry 
points with new security gates with intercoms and a new lift in the background of 
each, allowing a visual link to the rear of each pair of buildings with newly 
landscaped areas. Some window louvres, canopies and roof materials are also 
replaced. 

26



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

(b) Principle 2: Built Form and Scale 

Notwithstanding the non-compliance with the height of buildings standard (the 
lift, rear bedroom additions, and air conditioning louvre enclosure to the roof of 4 
Trinity Avenue are below the height of the existing buildings), the proposal 
generally retains the built form and scale of the existing buildings. 

(c) Principle 3: Density 

The development is consistent with the maximum floor space control. The 
number of apartment proposed is appropriate within the context of the site. 

(d) Principle 4: Sustainability 

A BASIX Certificate has been submitted for each apartment demonstrating 
compliance with standards for reducing energy and water consumption. 

(e) Principle 5: Landscape 

Eleven trees on-site appear to have been self-seeded and are either in poor 
health, poor condition or in an unsuitable location. Therefore, their removal is 
supported. 

The site consists of shallow soil over a rock layer, and does not allow for deep 
soil zones. Planters and mounding are proposed to maximise planting 
opportunities.  

A common garden is proposed between each pair of buildings with the exception 
of 4 Trinity Avenue. Private open space is proposed to each ground level unit 
facing the cliff face and will include a raised concrete deck and bench. 

(f) Principle 6: Amenity 

It is considered that the development represents a reasonable balance between 
maintaining the heritage fabric of a State heritage listed item being the first 
government built residential flat building, and improving the amenity of an 
existing substandard residential flat building to a standard compatible with 
modern requirements. 

(g) Principle 7: Safety 

New lockable entry gates are proposed to the existing entry point to each pair of 
buildings.  

(h) Principle 8: Housing Diversity and Social Interaction 

The proposal will result in 6 x 1 bedroom units and 24 x 2 bedroom units, with 3 
of the 2 bedroom units being accessible, in an area with limited availability of this 
type of housing form.  

(i) Principle 9: Aesthetics 

The appearance of the existing State heritage listed building is generally being 
maintained as viewed from Lower Fort Street and Trinity Avenue. 

27



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

30. The development is considered generally acceptable when assessed against the 
above stated principles and the SEPP generally, which are replicated in large part 
within Council’s planning controls. 

Apartment Design Guide 

2E Building Depth Compliance Comment 

12-18m (glass to glass) Partial 
compliance 

The existing building depth of No's 
30, 34, 36, 38 and 40 Lower Fort 
Street is 17.5m. 

The existing building depth of No's 
32 and 42 Lower Fort Street is 
19.75m. 

The proposed building depth of 
No's. 30-42 Lower Fort Street is 
21.3m. 

The existing and proposed 
building depth of No. 2 Trinity 
Avenue is 18m.  

The existing and proposed 
building depth of No. 4 Trinity 
Avenue is 18.5m. 

This is considered acceptable 
given the proposal is improving 
the amenity of a State heritage 
listed building.  

 

2F Building Separation Compliance Comment 

Up to four storeys (approximately 
12 metres): 

 12m between habitable 
rooms / balconies 

 9m between habitable and 
non-habitable rooms 

 6m between non-habitable 
rooms 

No The existing separation between 
each building is 2.75 - 3m. There 
are proposed to be living and dining 
rooms at the front of the buildings 
and internal corridors at the rear of 
the buildings facing each other at 
these distances. The operable, 
obscure glazed louvres to the 
internal corridors will allow some 
control over privacy, although this 
will need to be balanced with the 
need for natural ventilation.  

This is considered acceptable given 
the proposal is improving the 
amenity of a State heritage listed 
building. 

28



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

3B Orientation Compliance Comment 

Overshadowing of neighbouring 
properties is minimised 

Yes Aside from a small area of additional 
overshadowing from the proposal 
inside the boundary of No's. 8-12 
Trinity Avenue at 12 midday on 21 
June, the only other additional 
overshadowing from the proposal on 
21 June is at 3.00pm on the land 
reserved for railways use (see figure 
5 above). 

This is considered acceptable.  

 

3C Public Domain Interface Compliance Comment 

Front fences and walls along street 
frontages should use visually 
permeable materials and 
treatments.  

Yes The existing Lower Fort Street 
building facade is located on the 
boundary with the footway. This 
configuration will be retained with 
new security gates added to each 
building entry point. The new gates 
will be galvanised steel. A condition 
of consent specifies that the gate is 
to be of an open construction 
allowing views into the premise and 
not to open over Council's footway. 

 

3D Communal and Public Open 
Space 

Compliance Comment 

Communal open space has a 
minimum area equal to 25% of the 
site. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

No Given the existing building footprint, 
a common garden is proposed in 
the existing strip of land between 
each pair of buildings (with the 
exception of No. 4 Trinity Avenue). 
The common garden between No's. 
30/32, 34/36 and 38/40 Lower Fort 
Street will each be 30sqm in area. 
The common garden between No. 
42 Lower Fort Street and No. 2 
Trinity Avenue will be 17sqm in 
area. This is a total of 107sqm of 
common garden within the 
development which represents a 
total of 7.4% of the site area.  

29



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

3D Communal and Public Open 
Space 

Compliance Comment 

Communal open space has a 
minimum area equal to 25% of the 
site. 

Planting pots are proposed to the 
common areas. 

Given site orientation and 
configuration, solar access to open 
space on-site is limited.  

Privacy impacts between the ground 
level units and adjacent common 
gardens is addressed by the use of 
obscure, glazed, operable louvres 
along the interface. 

Considering site constraints, this is 
considered acceptable. 

Developments achieve a minimum 
of 50% direct sunlight to the 
principal usable part of the 
communal open space for a 
minimum of two hours between 
9am and 3pm on 21 June 
(midwinter). 

No Given site orientation and 
configuration, solar access to open 
space on-site is limited.  

Considering site constraints, this is 
considered acceptable. 

 

3E Deep Soil Zones Compliance Comment 

Deep soil zones are to have a 
minimum area equivalent to 7% of 
the site and have a minimum 
dimension of 3m3m. 

No The site consists of shallow soil over 
a rock layer, and does not allow for 
deep soil zones. Planters and 
mounding are proposed to maximise 
planting opportunities. 

Considering site constraints, this is 
considered acceptable. 

Separation between windows and balconies is required to ensure visual privacy is achieved. 
Minimum separation distances from buildings to the side and rear boundaries are outlined 
below. 

3F Visual Privacy Compliance Comment 

Up to four storeys (12m): 

 6m between habitable 
rooms / balconies 

No The existing configuration of the 
buildings means that separating 
rooms by these distances is not 
possible.  

30



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

3F Visual Privacy Compliance Comment 

 3m between non-habitable 
rooms 

Further discussion is provided 
under the Issues heading. 

Bedrooms, living spaces and 
other habitable rooms should be 
separated from gallery access 
and other open circulation space 
by the apartment's service areas. 

Partial 
compliance 

The existing configuration of the 
buildings means that this is not 
possible.  

Further discussion is provided 
under the Issues heading. 

 

3G Pedestrian Access and 
Entries 

Compliance Comment 

Building entries and pedestrian 
access connect to and address the 
public domain.  

Access, entries and pathways are 
equitable and easy to identify 

Yes There is an existing shared entry 
between each pair of buildings. 
Each set of stairs is being upgraded 
to meet BCA requirements with a lift 
added behind each vestibule. A new 
security entry gate is proposed to 
each shared entry. The entry points 
will be easy to identify. 

Wheelchair access will be provided 
to the unit at each level of No. 4 
Trinity Avenue. 

 

4A Solar and Daylight Access Compliance Comment 

70% of units to receive a 
minimum of two hours of direct 
sunlight in midwinter to living 
rooms and private open spaces. 

Partial 
compliance 

This is not possible due to site 
constraints, including orientation.  

18 out of the proposed 30 (60%) 
units will receive a minimum of 
two hours of direct sunlight to their 
living rooms on 21 June.  

Nine out of the proposed 30 
(30%) units will have private open 
space. One out of these nine 
(11%) private open spaces 
receives a minimum of two hours 
of direct sunlight on 21 June.  

This is considered acceptable 
given site constraints. 

31



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

4A Solar and Daylight Access Compliance Comment 

Maximum of 15% of apartments 
in a building receive no direct 
sunlight between 9am and 3pm 
at midwinter. 

Yes Three apartments (10%) receive 
no direct sunlight access between 
9am and 3pm on 21 June. 

 

4B Natural Ventilation Compliance Comment 

All habitable rooms are naturally 
ventilated. 

No This is not possible due to the 
existing configuration of the 
buildings on-site. 

Further discussion is provided under 
the Issues heading. 

Minimum 60% of apartments in the 
first nine storeys of the building are 
naturally cross ventilated. 

No This is not possible due to the 
existing configuration of the 
buildings on-site. 

Overall depth of a cross-over or 
cross-through apartment does not 
exceed 18m, measured glass line 
to glass line. 

No This is not possible due to the 
existing configuration of the 
buildings on-site. 

Measured from finished floor level to finished ceiling level, minimum ceiling heights are as 
follows in the table below. 

4C Ceiling Heights Compliance Comment 

Habitable rooms: 2.7m Yes Existing internal floor to ceiling 
heights are between approximately 
2.6m - 3m. 

The height of the sloping ceiling to 
the top of the new rear additions is 
over 2.4m for 2/3 of the room as 
required by the BCA. 

Non-habitable rooms: 2.4m Yes Existing internal floor to ceiling 
heights are between approximately 
2.6m - 3m. 

  

32



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

4D Apartment Size and Layout Compliance Comment 

Minimum unit sizes: 

 One bed: 50m2 

 Two bed: 70m2 

The minimum internal areas 
include only one bathroom. 
Additional bathrooms increase 
the minimum internal area by 
5sqm each. 

Partial 
compliance 

There are 24 x two bedroom/two 
bathroom units and 6 x one 
bedroom units proposed. 

The two bedroom apartments are 
86-99sqm in area, with the 
majority of two bedroom 
apartments having an area of 
96sqm. 

The one bedroom apartments are 
42.4-45.2sqm in area.  

All the two bedroom apartments 
comply with the minimum unit 
size. 

The 6 x one bedroom apartments 
are smaller than the minimum 
area. 

A Clause 4.6 submission has 
been made seeking to vary the 
minimum one bedroom apartment 
size. The variation is consistent 
with the provisions of the standard 
and will not adversely impact the 
character and amenity of the 
surrounding area. The variation is 
supported. Further discussion is 
provided under the Issues 
heading. 

Every habitable room is to have 
a window in an external wall with 
a minimum glass area of 10% of 
the floor area of the room. 

No The existing building configuration 
means that what will be bedroom 
two to most of the units has a 
window to an internal corridor 
which in turn will have operable, 
glazed louvres to the outside. 
Light and ventilation will be 
borrowed through these glazed 
operable louvres. 

Habitable room depths are to be 
no more than 2.5 x the ceiling 
height. 

Partial 
compliance 

The depth of combined 
living/dining/kitchen areas is 
determined by the existing room 
configuration with some partial 
wall removal. 

33



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

4D Apartment Size and Layout Compliance Comment 

8m maximum depth for open 
plan layouts. 

Partial 
compliance 

Maximum room depths facilitate 
daylight access and natural 
ventilation. 

The maximum combined 
living/dining/kitchen depth of the 
apartments in No's. 30-40 Lower 
Fort Street is 9m, however, there 
is an external window to each 
dining room approximately half 
way along this distance.  

The maximum combined 
living/dining/kitchen depth 
distance in No. 42 Lower Fort 
Street is 7m. 

The maximum combined 
living/dining/kitchen depth of the 
apartments in No. 2 Trinity 
Avenue is 9.6m, however, there is 
a "window" to the internal corridor 
in the living/dining area. 

The maximum combined 
living/dining/kitchen depth of the 
apartments in No. 2 Trinity 
Avenue will be 9.5m. 

The maximum combined 
living/dining/kitchen depth of the 
apartments in No. 4 Trinity 
Avenue will be 7.2m. 

The depth of combined 
living/dining/kitchen areas is 
determined by the existing room 
configuration with some partial 
wall removal. Given heritage 
constraints, the proposed 
configurations are considered 
acceptable. 

Minimum area for bedrooms 
(excluding wardrobes):  

 master bedroom: 10sqm  

 all other bedrooms: 9sqm 

Partial 
compliance 

All bedrooms comply with the 
minimum recommended room 
sizes, however in the case of 
some of the bedrooms, the 
minimum room area is just met 
including, rather than excluding 
wardrobe space.  

34



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

4D Apartment Size and Layout Compliance Comment 

Minimum dimension of any 
bedroom is 3m (excluding 
wardrobes). 

The new bedrooms to the rear of 
No's. 30-42 Lower Fort Street 
have a minimum dimension of 
3.4m. 

Existing bedroom 2 in No's. 30-40 
Lower Fort Street has a minimum 
dimensions of 2.8m. 

Existing bedroom 1 in No. 2 Trinity 
Avenue has a minimum dimension 
of 2.8m. 

Existing bedroom 2 in No. 4 Trinity 
Avenue has a minimum dimension 
of 2.4m 

Given the existing room 
configurations, this is considered 
acceptable. 

Living and living/dining rooms 
minimum widths: 

 Studio and one-bedroom: 
3.6m 

 Two-bedroom or more: 4m 

Partial 
compliance 

The living/dining areas in the 
apartments in No's. 2 and 4 Trinity 
Avenue have a width under 4m. 

Given the existing room 
configuration, this is considered 
acceptable. 

 

4E Private Open Space and 
Balconies 

Compliance Comment 

One bed apartments are to have 
a minimum balcony area of 8sqm 
with a minimum depth of 2m. 

Two bed apartments are to have 
a minimum balcony area of 
10sqm with a minimum depth of 
2m. 

No No balconies are proposed.  

The only possible location of 
balconies would be facing the cliff 
face at the rear of the existing 
buildings. Balconies in this 
location would be off a bedroom 
and would overlook adjacent 
apartments. Further, they would 
reduce the openness to the 
ground level private open space 
provided to most of the ground 
level apartments. 

This is considered acceptable 
given site constraints.  

35



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

4E Private Open Space and 
Balconies 

Compliance Comment 

Private open space for 
apartments on ground level, on a 
podium, or similar, must have a 
minimum area of 15sqm and a 
minimum depth of 3m. 

Partial 
compliance 

The ground level apartments in 
No's. 30-40 Lower Fort Street, and 
the ground level, one bedroom 
apartment in No. 42 Lower Fort 
Street closest to the cliff face will 
have private open space (off a 
bedroom) ranging in area between 
21-25sqm. The majority of this is 
to be planted with ground cover 
plants. The useable area will be 
approximately 9sqm consisting of 
a raised concrete deck with bench 
with a minimum dimension of 
2.4m. The distance from these 
units to the cliff face ranges 
between 2.5-3.2m. 

The ground level unit at No. 2 
Trinity Avenue will have a raised 
concrete deck approximately 
16sqm in area with a minimum 
dimension of 2.8m with 
surrounding ground cover 
planting. The distance from this 
unit to the cliff face ranges 
between 4.5 - 6m. The total 
private open space will be 
approximately 28.6sqm.  

The ground level unit at No. 4 
Trinity Avenue will have a raised 
concrete deck approximately 
9.5sqm in area with a minimum 
dimension of 2.6m with 
surrounding ground cover 
planting. The distance from this 
unit to the cliff face is 
approximately 3.5m. The total 
private open space will be 
approximately 14.5sqm. 

 

4F Common Circulation and 
Spaces 

Compliance Comment 

The maximum number of 
apartments off a circulation core 
on a single level is eight. 

Yes A maximum of three units per 
level are proposed. 

36



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

4F Common Circulation and 
Spaces 

Compliance Comment 

Primary living room or bedroom 
windows should not open directly 
onto common circulation spaces, 
whether open or enclosed. Visual 
and acoustic privacy from 
common circulation spaces to 
any other rooms should be 
carefully controlled. 

Partial 
compliance 

The dining room windows of the 
units in No's. 30-40 Lower Fort 
Street and the living/dining 
window of the units facing No. 42 
Lower Fort Street are existing and 
face the common building entry 
points. This is the existing building 
configuration. 

Daylight and natural ventilation 
are provided to all common 
circulation spaces. 

Yes The reconfigured entry vestibules 
and common staircases will be 
partially open. 

 

4G Storage Compliance Comment 

Minimum storage provision 
facilities: 

 One bed: 6m3 

 Two bed: 8m3 

(Minimum 50% storage area 
located within unit) 

No The existing configuration and 
heritage fabric do not allow for 
additional built in storage. 

 

4H Acoustic Privacy Compliance Comment 

Noise transfer is minimised through 
the siting of buildings and building 
layout. 

Noise impacts are mitigated within 
apartments through layout and 
acoustic treatments. 

No The building siting and layout is 
existing.  

Acoustic treatment is not supported 
due to its impact on heritage impact. 

This is discussed in the Issues 
section below. 

 
  

37



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

4J Noise and Pollution Compliance Comment 

Have noise and pollution been 
adequately considered and 
addressed through careful siting 
and layout of buildings? 

Partial 
compliance 

The site is affected by noise from 
traffic on the Sydney Harbour 
Bridge approach (Bradfield 
Highway) located to the east 
above the site. A statement from 
an acoustic consultant has been 
submitted demonstrating that east 
and west facing windows in the 
proposal will need to be closed 
both day time and night time to 
ensure that internal noise criteria 
can be satisfied. 

The applicant proposes to take 
natural ventilation from the 
corridors through louvres.  

This is discussed in the Issues 
section below. 

 

 

4O Landscape Design Yes The proposal includes the removal 
of 11 trees on-site. All these trees 
appear to have been self-seeded 
and are either in poor health, poor 
condition or in an unsuitable 
location. The removal of these 
trees is supported. 

The site consists of shallow soil 
over a rock layer, and does not 
allow for deep soil zones. Lack of 
deep soil and solar access to the 
site restricts the planting/growth of 
replacement trees. 

Planters and mounding are 
proposed to maximise planting 
opportunities. 

4W Waste Management Partial 
compliance 

Due to the existing building 
footprint and heritage fabric, the 
only space available for rubbish 
and recycling bin storage is in a 
compartment underneath the 
common stairs at each entry point.  

38



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Each compartment will only be 
able to store 2 x 240L and 1 x 
120L. The applicant advises that 
this will require 3 x weekly Council 
collections for general waste and 
2 x weekly Council collections for 
recycling. 

Council's Waste Management 
Officer advises that the submitted 
Waste Management Plan is 
lacking in detail and that the bin 
configuration/ number of bins 
required have not been calculated 
to meet Council’s actual service.   

For this size of development, 
there should be a weekly garbage 
and weekly recycling collection 
service. Given that there are 
heritage considerations, Council 
could possibly consider a twice a 
week collection for garbage, but 
for recycling, Council only 
provides a weekly service. 

It is also noted that a bulky waste 
storage area has not been 
provided, however this is not 
possible given the existing 
building configuration. 

Given site constraints, it is 
considered that the bicycle 
parking space proposed under 
each communal entry stair, 
adjacent the proposed waste 
storage area, should be deleted in 
order to allow an increase in the 
size of the waste storage area in 
this location. This is addressed by 
a condition of consent. 

A further condition specifies that 
should there still be excess waste 
due to limited storage area, 
commercial collection of domestic 
waste at the site will need to be 
arranged in addition to Council 
collections. 

A condition of consent requires 
the submission of an amended 
Waste Management Plan. 

39



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Sydney Regional Environmental Plan (Sydney Harbour Catchment) 2005 (Deemed 
SEPP) 

31. The site is located within the designated hydrological catchment of Sydney Harbour 
and is subject to the provisions of the above SREP. 

32. The Sydney Harbour Catchment Planning Principles must be considered in the 
carrying out of development within the catchment. The key relevant principles include: 

(a) protect and improve hydrological, ecological and geomorphologic processes; 

(b) consider cumulative impacts of development within the catchment; 

(c) improve water quality of urban runoff and reduce quantity and frequency of urban 
run-off; and 

(d) protect and rehabilitate riparian corridors and remnant vegetation. 

33. The site is within the Sydney Harbour Catchment and eventually drains into the 
Harbour. However, the site is not located in the Foreshores Waterways Area or 
adjacent to a waterway and therefore, with the exception of the objective of improved 
water quality, the objectives of the SREP are not applicable to the proposed 
development. The development is consistent with the controls contained with the 
deemed SEPP. 

State Environmental Planning Policy (Building Sustainability Index: BASIX) 2004 

34. A BASIX Certificate has been submitted with the development application for each 
unit. 

35. The BASIX certificate lists measures to satisfy BASIX requirements which have been 
incorporated in the proposal. A condition is recommended ensuring the measures 
detailed in the BASIX certificate are implemented. 

Sydney LEP 2012 

36. The site is located within the R1 - General Residential zone. The proposed use is 
defined as a residential flat building and is permissible.  

37. The relevant matters to be considered under Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 
for the proposed development are outlined below. 

  

40



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Compliance Tables 

Development Control Compliance Comment 

4.3 Height of Buildings No A maximum height of 9m is permitted. 
The existing height of the building is 
13.34m. The height of the proposed air 
conditioning louvre enclosure to the roof 
of No. 4 Trinity Avenue is 11.45m; the 
maximum height of the proposed rear 
additions is 11.34m; and the maximum 
height of the proposed lift structures is 
10.17m. The air conditioning louvre 
enclosure therefore exceeds the 
maximum building height by 2.45 metres 
or 27.3 %. 

Further discussion is provided under the 
Issues heading. 

4.4 Floor Space Ratio Yes A maximum FSR of 2:1 is permitted. 

A FSR of 1.7:1 is proposed. 

4.6 Exceptions to development 
standards 

Yes The applicant has prepared a statement 
seeking to vary the maximum building 
height permitted under clause 4.3. The 
variation is consistent with the provisions 
of the standard and will not adversely 
impact the character and amenity of the 
surrounding area. The variation is 
supported. Further discussion is 
provided under the Issues heading. 

The applicant has also prepared a 
statement seeking to vary the minimum 
one bedroom apartment size permitted 
in the Design Criteria of Objective 4D-1 
of the Apartment Design Guide under 
SEPP 65. The variation is consistent 
with the provisions of the standard and 
will not adversely impact the character 
and amenity of the surrounding area. 
The variation is supported. Further 
discussion is provided under the Issues 
heading. 

41



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Development Control Compliance Comment 

5.9 Preservation of trees or 
vegetation 

Yes The proposal includes the removal of 11 
trees on-site. All these trees appear to 
have been self-seeded and are either in 
poor health, poor condition or in an 
unsuitable location. The removal of 
these trees is supported. Lack of deep 
soil (the rear of the site sits on rock) and 
solar access to the site restricts the 
planting/growth of replacement trees. An 
existing retaining wall on the boundary 
with No. 28 Lower Fort Street will protect 
the roots of the Jacaranda tree located 
on that property. A condition of consent 
addresses protection of existing street 
trees. 

5.10 Heritage conservation Yes The site is listed on the State Heritage 
Register as item No. 00894 (No's. 30-42 
Lower Fort Street) and No. 00869 (No's 
2-4 Trinity Avenue). It is also located 
within the State Heritage Conservation 
Area known as Millers Point 
Conservation Area (SHR: 00884); and 
within the Millers Point and Dawes Point 
Village Precinct (SHR: 01682). The site 
is also listed as heritage items (No. I547, 
No's 30-42 Lower Fort Street and I548, 
No's. 2-4B Trinity Avenue); and is within 
the Millers Point heritage conservation 
area (HCA C35) under Sydney LEP 
2012. 

See discussion under the heading 
Issues. 

 

Part 6 Local Provisions - 
Height and Floor Space  

Compliance Comment 

Division 4 Design excellence Yes The proposed development satisfies the 
requirements of this provision. 

  

42



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Part 7 Local Provisions - 
General 

Compliance Comment 

Division 1 Car parking ancillary 
to other development 

Yes A maximum of 21 car parking spaces 
are permitted. 

No car parking spaces are proposed or 
possible due to site constraints. 

7.14 Acid Sulphate Soils Yes The site is identified as containing class 
5 Acid Sulphate Soil and is within 500m 
of class 2 Acid Sulphate Soil. The 
proposed works consist of minor 
excavation which are not likely to lower 
the water table. Further, the subject site 
is located at a higher level than the class 
2 soil. Therefore, an acid sulphate soils 
management plan is not required. 

7.15 Flood planning Yes A flood assessment report has been 
submitted for the site as requested by 
Council's Public Domain Officer. The site 
is now classified as "Outside 
Floodplain". 

Floor levels of "Outside Floodplain" 
classification are required to be 300mm 
above the surrounding ground.  

The adjacent road levels are in excess 
of 300mm below the existing floor levels 
and are compliant. The plans have been 
amended to show that the garden areas 
on-site will be 300mm below the floor 
levels.  

This is considered satisfactory. 
Conditions of consent require the 
submission and approval of detailed 
alignment levels and a Public Domain 
Plan. 

Sydney DCP 2012 

38. The relevant matters to be considered under Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 
for the proposed development are outlined below. 

  

43



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

2. Locality Statements – Millers Point 

The subject site is located in the Millers Point locality. The proposal is considered to be in 
keeping with the unique character of the area and design principles in that it conserves the 
heritage significance of the buildings and retains the streetscape of the heritage 
conservation area. 

 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

3.2 Defining the Public Domain Yes The development maintains the existing 
Lower Fort Street elevation and general 
entrance arrangement. The common 
entry to each pair of buildings will be 
clearly defined.  

3.5 Urban Ecology Yes Conditions of consent are recommended 
requiring street tree protection during 
construction. 

As discussed above, removal of trees 
from the site is supported.  

Landscaping of the site has been 
proposed. A condition of consent 
requires the submission and approval of 
a detailed landscape plan for the site. 

3.6 Ecologically Sustainable 
Development 

Yes The proposal satisfies BASIX and 
environmental requirements. Conditions 
of consent are recommended requiring 
energy and water efficient facilities to be 
provided within the apartments. 

3.7 Water and Flood 
Management 

Yes As discussed above, the site is not 
identified as being flood prone. 

3.8 Subdivision, Strata 
Subdivision and Consolidation 

Yes The proposal includes strata subdivision 
into 30 lots and common property. The 
proposed strata subdivision will not 
compromise the setting of the heritage 
item on its site or the relationship 
between the heritage item and 
surrounding features. Council's Heritage 
Officer supports the subdivision subject 
to a cyclical maintenance plan and the 
Conservation Management Plan for the 
site being tied to the strata plan. This is 
addressed by conditions of consent. 

44



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

3.9 Heritage Yes See discussion under the heading 
Issues. 

3.11 Transport and Parking No 30 resident and three visitor bicycle 
parking spaces are required for the 
development. One bicycle parking space 
is proposed between each pair of 
buildings behind the entry stairs.   

Given site constraints, it is considered 
that the bicycle parking space proposed 
under each communal entry stair, 
adjacent the proposed waste storage 
area, should be deleted in order to allow 
an increase in the size of the waste 
storage area in this location.  

This is addressed by a condition of 
consent. As a result, the development 
will not provide any bicycle parking. This 
is considered acceptable in 
circumstances where there is no other 
option for the provision of waste storage 
given the heritage constraints on the 
site. 

3.12 Accessible Design Yes The three units in No. 2 Trinity Avenue 
are proposed to be accessible 
apartments as the existing internal 
corridors are wider than in the other 
buildings. Lift access is proposed to all 
three floors/units of the building. 

A condition has been recommended for 
the proposed development to provide 
appropriate access and facilities for 
persons with disabilities in accordance 
with the DCP and the BCA.  

45



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

3.14 Waste Yes Due to the existing building footprint and 
heritage fabric, the only space available 
for rubbish and recycling bin storage is 
in a compartment underneath the 
common stairs at each entry point. This 
has been discussed above. 

A condition has been recommended for 
the proposed development to comply 
with the relevant provisions of the City of 
Sydney Guidelines for Waste 
Management in New Development, 
including requiring removal of bicycle 
parking underneath stairs to provide 
additional waste storage facilities. 

 

4. Development Types 

4.2 Residential flat, 
commercial and mixed use 
developments 

Compliance Comment 

4.2.1 Building height Yes Existing internal floor to ceiling 
heights are between approximately 
2.6m - 3m. 

The height of the sloping ceiling to the 
top of the new rear additions is over 
2.4m for 2/3 of the room as required 
by the BCA. 

4.2.2 Building setbacks Yes There is no change proposed to the 
existing front and side setbacks. The 
new rear additions will be set back in 
the range of 2.5-3.2m from the cliff 
face. 

46



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

4. Development Types 

4.2 Residential flat, 
commercial and mixed use 
developments 

Compliance Comment 

4.2.3 Amenity Partial 
compliance 

The outlook from the new rear 
bedrooms will be onto private open 
space and the cliff face. Otherwise, 
the outlook from each unit is already 
determined by site constraints.  

Solar access, landscaping, deep soil, 
private open space and balconies, 
common open space, and dwelling 
mix are discussed above.  

Ventilation, and visual and acoustic 
privacy are discussed below under 
the heading Issues. 

4.2.4 Fine grain, architectural 
diversity and articulation 

Yes The existing building which reflects 
the diverse, fine grain character of the 
area will be retained. 

4.2.6 Waste minimisation Partial 
compliance 

Due to site constraints for the 
provision of bin storage, the proposal 
suggests 3 x weekly Council 
collections for general waste and 2 x 
weekly Council collections for 
recycling. There is limited space for 
storage in compartments below the 
entry stairwells. 

Council's Waste Management Officer 
advises that for this size of 
development, there should be a 
weekly garbage and weekly recycling 
collection service. Given that there are 
heritage considerations, Council could 
possibly consider a twice a week 
collection for garbage, but for 
recycling, Council only provides a 
weekly service. 

This has been discussed above. 

A condition has been recommended 
for the proposed development to 
comply with the relevant provisions of 
the City of Sydney Code for Waste 
Minimisation in New Developments.  

47



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

4. Development Types 

4.2 Residential flat, 
commercial and mixed use 
developments 

Compliance Comment 

4.2.7 Heating and Cooling 
Infrastructure 

Yes Air conditioning units will be 
concealed in wardrobes and joinery or 
free standing on the floors. Pipes will 
be hidden behind false walls and run 
between floor joists in roof cavities. 

Air conditioning condensers are 
proposed to be located at the rear of 
the buildings between the new 
additions. No's. 2 and 4 Trinity 
Avenue will have six units located on 
the roof concealed by the existing 
parapet. 

This is considered acceptable. 

4.2.8 Letterboxes Yes Letter boxes are proposed under the 
common stairs behind the new entry 
gates. 

Issues 

Clause 4.6 request to vary a development standard (height) 

39. The site is subject to a maximum height control of 9m. The existing height of the 
building is 13.34m. The height of the proposed air conditioning louvre enclosure to the 
roof of 4 Trinity Avenue is 11.45m; the maximum height of the proposed rear additions 
is 11.34m; and the maximum height of the proposed lift structures is 10.17m. The air 
conditioning louvre enclosure therefore exceeds the maximum building height by 2.45 
metres or 27.3 %. 

40. A written request has been submitted to Council in accordance with Clause 4.6(3)(a) 
and (b) of the Sydney LEP 2012 seeking to justify the contravention of the 
development standard by demonstrating: 

(a) that compliance with the development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary 
in the circumstances of the case; and 

(b) that there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify contravening 
the standard. 

41. A copy of the applicant's written request is provided at Attachment C. 

48



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Applicant's Written Request - Clause 4.6(3)(a) and (b) 

42. The applicant seeks to justify the contravention of the height development standard on 
the following basis: 

(a) That compliance with the development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary 
in the circumstances of the case: 

(i) The height of the proposal is consistent with and appropriate to the 
condition of the site and its context. 

(ii) Surrounding buildings and public areas will continue to receive satisfactory 
exposure to sky and sunlight. 

(iii) The proposal provides an appropriate built form and land use intensity. 

(iv) The proposal maintains the height transition between the heritage item and 
new development. 

(v) The proposal minimises any overshadowing, loss of privacy and visual 
impacts for the neighbouring properties. 

(vi) The proposed external works to the building are at the rear of the site and 
located to minimise any view impacts. 

(vii) The proposal does not give rise to any adverse environmental impacts in 
respect to overshadowing, traffic, heritage, wind, reflectivity, stormwater, 
flooding, noise, waste, economic and social impacts. 

(b) That there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify contravening 
the standard: 

(i) The proposal makes efficient use of the existing building envelope and 
restricts the footprint of the proposed extension with a proposed FSR of 
1.7:1 whereas up to 2:1 is permitted.  

(ii) No significant overshadowing, privacy, view or bulk and scale amenity 
impacts arise from the proposal. 

(iii) All of the proposed works are considered complimentary to the heritage 
status of the building. The external works above 9m are benign and the 
internal works have no environmental or amenity impact. 

(iv) The proposed works above the 9m height limit have no view impact and 
cause no overshadowing, nor bulk or scale changes to the existing 
dwelling.  

(v) By allowing a variation to the height of buildings development standard in 
this instance, an opportunity is presented for the proposed development to 
achieve the benefits of the adaptive reuse of the heritage item and improve 
the existing building's relationship with the surrounding development, and 
the relevant ADG and DCP controls.  

49



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Consideration of Applicant's Written Request - Clause 4.6(4) (a) (i) and (ii) 

43. Development consent must not be granted unless the consent authority is satisfied 
that: 

(a) the applicant’s written request has adequately addressed the matters required to 
be demonstrated by subclause 3 of Clause 4.6 being that compliance with the 
development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary in the circumstances of 
the case, and that there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify 
contravening the standard; and 

(b) the proposed development will be in the public interest because it is consistent 
with the objectives of the particular standard and the objectives for development 
within the zone in which the development is proposed to be carried out. 

Does the written request adequately address those issues at Clause 4.6(3)(a)? 

44. The applicant has adequately addressed the issues raised within Clause 4.6(3)(a) by 
outlining how the proposal complies with the relevant objectives of the R1 - General 
Residential zone and the Height of Buildings development standard: 

Relevant R1 - General Residential zone objectives; 

 To provide for the housing needs of the community. 

The proposal will provide 24 x two and 6 x one bedroom units with improved 
amenity over the existing units on the site. 

 To provide for a variety of housing types and densities. 

The proposal provides the option of apartment living in an area with limited stock 
of this type of development. 

 To maintain the existing land use pattern of predominantly residential uses. 

The site will continue to be used for residential purposes. 

Relevant Height of Buildings development standards; 

(a) to ensure the height of development is appropriate to the condition of the  
site and its context, 

As noted above, the proposed air conditioning louvre enclosure to the roof of No. 
4 Trinity Avenue, the proposed rear additions and the proposed lift structures 
exceed the maximum height of buildings development standard. The air 
conditioning louvre enclosure will be the highest of these at 11.45m. As shown in 
figures 27 and 28 above, the modifications will not be readily visible from the 
ground as the lift structures are set back behind the entry points to the building 
from Lower Fort Street, the rear additions sit below the taller cliff face, and the 
louvre enclosure is hidden by the building parapet.  

Shadow diagrams have been provided illustrating that aside from a small area of 
additional overshadowing from the proposal inside the boundary of No's. 8-12 
Trinity Avenue at 12 midday on 21 June, the only other additional overshadowing 
from the proposal on 21 June is at 3.00pm on the land reserved for railways use 
(see figure 5 above).  

50



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Therefore, the proposed exceedances of the maximum height of building 
development standard is considered appropriate to the conditions and context of 
the site. 

(b) to ensure appropriate height transitions between new development and 
heritage items and buildings in heritage conservation areas or special 
character areas, 

Although the Conservation Management Plan for the site does not support 
increasing the building envelope, the Heritage Council provided pre-DA advice 
including that the rear additions should have a simplified and consistent roof form 
with a general preference for the pitched roof option, and the externally located 
lift overruns should be reduced in height as much as possible to be below the 
gutter line of the existing roofs. The proposal as lodged with Council satisfactorily 
addresses these requirements, and is therefore considered sympathetic to the 
heritage items and heritage conservation areas. 

The proposed modifications will not be readily visible from ground level.  

The proposed development improves the amenity of the buildings which 
although originally designed as a residential flat building currently provide 
substandard amenity. The rear addition allows for a "master bedroom" 
configuration including walk-in robes and ensuites. The lifts allow for easier 
access to all of the dwellings, and in particular for the provision of three 
accessible dwellings at No. 2 Trinity Avenue.  

The rear of the development can only be viewed from the cycleway of the 
Sydney Harbour Bridge and from Observatory Hill (see photomontage at figure 
21 above).  

(c) to promote the sharing of views, 

The proposed development will not increase the overall height of the existing 
building, and the proposed external works are not readily viewed from the 
surrounding ground level. The sightlines to and from the site will not be impacted 
as the external works sit below the level of the existing building and adjacent cliff 
face.  

Does the written request adequately address those issues at clause 4.6(3)(b)? 

45. The applicant has provided adequate justification that there are sufficient 
environmental planning grounds to justify the contravention of the development 
standard. 

Is the development in the public interest?  

46. The proposal will be in the public interest because it is consistent with the relevant 
objectives of the development standard as follows: 

(a) to ensure the height of development is appropriate to the condition of the  site 
and its context, 

  

51



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

(i) The proposal is in keeping with the existing height of the building, with the 
external additions above the 9m height limit not readily visible from ground 
level. The lifts are set back behind existing building entries and the 
additions and air conditioning louvre structure are positioned towards the 
rear of the site near the higher cliff face. 

(ii) The additions are not out of context with development in the surrounding 
area. 

(iii) The proposal will have no adverse impacts on surrounding development of 
different forms. The proposed additions are positioned within the 
"envelope" created by the existing development and the cliff face behind it. 

(iv) The elements that exceed the height of building development standard do 
not adversely overshadow adjoining properties. 

(b) to ensure appropriate height transitions between new development and heritage 
items and buildings in heritage conservation areas or special character areas, 

The proposal will have no adverse impact on the adjacent State Heritage listed 
buildings at 26-28 Lower Fort Street and 8-12 Trinity Avenue and will continue to 
read as a residential flat building. 

(c) to promote the sharing of views, 

  The proposal does not result in the loss of any significant views or sightlines. 

47. The proposal is also in the public interest as it meets the relevant objectives of the R1 - 
General Residential zone, and in particular it provide the option of apartment living with 
reasonable amenity in an area with limited stock of this type of development. 

Conclusion 

48. For the reasons provided above, the requested variation to the height of building 
development standard is supported, as the applicant's written request has adequately 
addressed the matters required to be addressed by clause 4.6 of the Sydney Local 
Environmental Plan 2012, and the proposed development would be in the public 
interest because it is consistent with the objectives of Clause 4.3 Height of Buildings 
and the R1 - General Residential zone. 

Clause 4.6 request to vary the minimum apartment size 

49. Objective 4D-1 of the Apartment Design Guide under SEPP 65 specifies that: 

The layout of rooms within an apartment is functional, well organised and 
provides a high standard of amenity. 

50. The design criteria under Objective 4D-1 include that one bedroom apartments are to 
have a minimum internal area of 50 sqm. 

51. The area of each of the 6 x one bedroom apartments (proposed at No. 42 Lower Fort 
Street) is as follows: 

  

52



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Unit 42.1   44.1sqm 

Unit 42.2   42.4sqm 

Unit 42.1B   44.5sqm 

Unit 42.2B   45.2sqm 

Unit 42.1C   44.6sqm 

Unit 42.2C   45.1sqm 

52. The area of the smallest of these units (42.4sqm) is 15.2% below the 50sqm 
development standard.  

53. A written request has been submitted to Council in accordance with Clause 4.6(3)(a) 
and (b) of the Sydney LEP 2012 seeking to justify the contravention of the 
development standard by demonstrating: 

(a) that compliance with the development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary 
in the circumstances of the case; and 

(b) that there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify contravening 
the standard. 

54. A copy of the applicant's written request is provided at Attachment D. 

Applicant's Written Request - Clause 4.6(3)(a) and (b) 

55. The applicant seeks to justify the contravention of the minimum apartment size on the 
following basis: 

(a) That compliance with the development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary 
in the circumstances of the case: 

(i) Six of the 30 apartments comprise one bedroom units which are adapted 
from the previous layout. These are considered worthy of retention in this 
form as evidence of the historic layers of change to the building. 

(ii) As the existing building is a State listed heritage item, retaining the 
configuration is desirable. 

(iii) Each of the proposed units is slightly below the contemporary unit size for 
a one bedroom unit under the Apartment Design Guide being between 
42sqm and 46sqm respectively. 

(iv) The existing building comprises three generous storeys with 3.3m ceiling 
heights. The internal spaces have been planned to achieve the requisite 
functionality, organisation and high standard of amenity by taking 
advantage of the additional height and room proportions. 

(v) The unit layouts minimise circulation spaces and make efficient use of the 
existing building envelope and footprint to achieve this. 

53



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

(vi) The unit size is consistent with and appropriate to the condition of the site 
and its context. The proposal provides an appropriate built form and land 
use intensity. 

(vii) The proposal minimises amenity impacts on neighbouring properties. 

(b) That there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify contravening 
the standard: 

(i) Six of the 30 apartments comprise one bedroom units which are adapted 
from the previous layout. These are considered worthy of retention in this 
form as evidence of the historic layers of change to the building. 

(ii) As the existing building is a State listed heritage item, retaining the 
configuration is desirable. 

(iii) Each of the proposed units is slightly below the contemporary unit size for 
a one bedroom unit under the Apartment Design Guide being between 
42sqm and 46sqm respectively. 

(iv) The existing building comprises three generous storeys with 3.3m ceiling 
heights. The internal spaces have been planned to achieve the requisite 
functionality, organisation and high standard of amenity by taking 
advantage of the additional height and room proportions. 

(v) Upgrading a property of significant heritage value while retaining evidence 
of the historic layers of change is considered a better planning outcome 
encouraged by the provisions of clause 4.6. 

(vi) All of the works are considered complimentary to the heritage status of the 
building. 

(vii) The proposed works cause no amenity impacts. 

(viii) By allowing a variation to the minimum unit size development standard, the 
proposed development achieves the benefits of the adaptive re-use of the 
heritage item and improves the existing building's relationship with 
surrounding development and relevant ADG and DCP controls.  

(ix) The proposed unit size better allows the built form on the site to achieve 
the desired future character of the locality. 

Consideration of Applicant's Written Request - Clause 4.6(4) (a) (i) and (ii) 

56. Development consent must not be granted unless the consent authority is satisfied 
that: 

(a) the applicant’s written request has adequately addressed the matters required to 
be demonstrated by subclause 3 of Clause 4.6 being that compliance with the 
development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary in the circumstances of 
the case, and that there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify 
contravening the standard; and 

(b) the proposed development will be in the public interest because it is consistent 
with the objectives of the particular standard and the objectives for development 
within the zone in which the development is proposed to be carried out. 

54



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Does the written request adequately address those issues at Clause 4.6(3)(a)? 

57. The applicant has adequately addressed the issues raised within Clause 4.6(3)(a) by 
outlining how the proposal complies with the relevant objectives of the R1 - General 
Residential zone and Objective 4D-1 of the Apartment Design Guide under SEPP 65: 

58. Relevant R1 - General Residential zone objectives; 

(a) To provide for the housing needs of the community. 

(b) To provide for a variety of housing types and densities. 

(c) To maintain the existing land use pattern of predominantly residential uses. 

(i) The proposed development improves the provision of housing for the 
needs of the community without compromising the amenity of the 
surrounding area. 

(ii) The proposal is consistent with the desired patterns of land use and 
density, and achieves a reasonably high level of residential amenity. 

(iii) The proposal provides the option of apartment living in an area with limited 
stock of this type of development. 

(iv) The proposal maintains the pattern of predominantly residential uses in the 
area. 

Objective 4D-1 of the Apartment Design Guide; 

The layout of rooms within an apartment is functional, well organised and 
provides a high standard of amenity. 

The proposed one bedroom units generally retain the existing footprint of these 
existing units and thereby the associated heritage fabric. Bathroom and kitchen 
configurations are made more practical as much as possible within the existing 
heritage shell.  

Does the written request adequately address those issues at clause 4.6(3)(b)? 

59. The applicant has provided adequate justification that there are sufficient 
environmental planning grounds to justify the contravention of the development 
standard. 

Is the development in the public interest?  

60. The proposal will be in the public interest because it is consistent with the relevant 
objectives of the development standard as follows: 

61. Objective 4D-1 of the Apartment Design Guide under SEPP 65 specifies that: 

The layout of rooms within an apartment is functional, well organised and 
provides a high standard of amenity. 

62. The retention and reconfiguration of six of the 12 existing one bedroom units generally 
maintains their historic footprint while improving the functionality of these units. The 
three units closest to the cliff face will also increase in size as a result of the rear 
additions. 

55



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Conclusion 

63. For the reasons provided above, the requested variation to the minimum apartment 
size development standard is supported, as the applicant's written request has 
adequately addressed the matters required to be addressed by Clause 4.6 of the 
Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012, and the proposed development would be in 
the public interest because it is consistent with Objective 4D-1 of the Apartment 
Design Guide and the relevant objectives of the R1 - General Residential zone. 

Heritage 

64. The site is listed on the State Heritage Register as item No. 00894 (No's. 30-42 Lower 
Fort Street) and No. 00869 (No's 2-4 Trinity Avenue). It is also located within the State 
Heritage Conservation Area known as Millers Point Conservation Area (SHR: 00884); 
and within the Millers Point and Dawes Point Village Precinct (SHR: 01682). The site is 
also listed as heritage items (No. I547, No's 30-42 Lower Fort Street and I548, No's. 2-
4B Trinity Avenue); and is within the Millers Point heritage conservation area (HCA 
C35) under Sydney LEP 2012. 

65. The application is Integrated Development under the Heritage Act 1977, requiring 
approval of the NSW Heritage Council. 

66. A Conservation Management Plan (CMP) for No's. 30-42 Lower Fort Street and No's. 
2-4 Trinity Avenue, Millers Point was endorsed by the Heritage Council on 18 May 
2017. 

67. The CMP states that: 

The group of residential flat buildings at No's. 30-42 Lower Fort Street and 
Nos.2-4 Trinity Avenue is of exceptional significance as the first government built 
residential flat building, designed by the Government Architects Branch under 
the direction of Walter Liberty Vernon and built as a tenement building to provide 
affordable housing for waterside and maritime workers and their families in 
Millers Point (close to their places of work), making the building very rare and of 
State level significance. 

68. On 9 May 2018, the Heritage Council provided its resolution regarding pre-DA advice 
and a presentation considered at its meeting of 2 May 2018 for the subject proposal. 
The Heritage Council provided the following advice to the applicant: 

(a) The rear additions should have a simplified and consistent roof form with a 
general preference for the pitched roof option. 

(b) The externally located lift overruns should be reduced in height as much as 
possible to be below the gutter line of the existing roofs. 

(c) The adaptation of the exceptionally significant common stairs and landings is 
supported. 

(d) Creation of openings between rooms should be limited to minimum required in 
size and numbers. 

(e) Conversion of existing bedrooms into kitchen and bathrooms should ensure that 
the room’s integrity and spatial character is retained. 

56



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

69. Council's Heritage Officer advises that the proposed rear additions will increase the 
building envelope contrary to CMP Policy 59. 

70. It is noted however that the Heritage Council did not raise any issues about having 
additions at the pre-DA stage, only their roof form and that they have provided Revised 
General Terms of Approval to the proposal. The Revised General Terms of Approval 
specify that the pitch and slope of the new roof to each rear extension should follow 
the pitch and slope of the existing roof to the main building behind it; that the height of 
new openings to walls between proposed kitchen and dining and living spaces should 
be limited to the minimum required to match existing door dimensions; that the 
creation of openings to walls between buildings at the entry should retain sufficient 
nibs; and that service risers to the rear of the buildings should be relocated to areas of 
lesser significance or new additions. 

71. The advantage of the additions is that they will be consistently carried out and will help 
resolve BCA fire rating issues, as well as improve solar access and liveability of the 
units. 

72. Council's Heritage Officer also notes that whilst the lifts will not be visually prominent 
being located behind the existing stairs, and will facilitate equitable access, they are 
contrary to Policy 124 of the CMP. Policy 124 - Lifts and External Stairs specifies that 
the addition of external lift structures or additional external stairs to the rear, side or 
front of any building in the group, is not appropriate. It is noted that the Heritage 
Council did not raise any issue with the provision of external lifts.  

73. There will be some heritage impact particularly with the upgrade of services and 
access, relocation of wet areas, widening of openings, external lifts and new rear 
additions. Careful consideration has however been given in the design to treat the 
group in a consistent manner, and to minimise adverse impacts whilst allowing for the 
buildings to be upgraded for BCA compliance and for contemporary living. 

74. The strata subdivision is supported subject to a cyclical maintenance plan being tied to 
the strata plan. 

75. The balance of the proposed works are considered acceptable from a heritage 
perspective subject to conditions of consent. 

Further discussion on Variations to the Apartment Design Guidelines and Related 
Controls  

Natural ventilation 

76. Objective 4B-1 of the Apartment Design Guide specifies that all habitable rooms are to 
be naturally ventilated. The window to proposed bedroom 2 in No's. 30-40 Lower Fort 
Street faces an internal corridor. This room was originally constructed as a bedroom, 
however, the corridor was originally open to the elements. It was subsequently 
enclosed with a wall with windows (see figures 7, 8, 11, 13, 15, 17 and 19 above). To 
improve ventilation to bedroom 2 and other rooms adjacent the internal hallway, 
obscure glazed operable horizontal louvres are proposed to the majority of the external 
wall. This increases the openable area of external glazing compared to the current 
situation whilst maintaining the historical configuration of the buildings. The glazed 
louvres will also replace access to the small, semi-circular "Juliet" balconies. 

77. This is considered a reasonable improvement given site constraints.  

57



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Acoustic Privacy  

78. Objective 4H Acoustic Privacy and 4J Noise and Pollution of the Apartment Design 
Guide specify minimising noise transfer from outside and within a building through 
building siting, layout and acoustic treatment.  

79. The building siting and layout is existing and is to be maintained due to its heritage 
value.  

80. The site is affected by noise from traffic on the Sydney Harbour Bridge approach 
(Bradfield Highway) located to the east above the site. A statement from an acoustic 
consultant has been submitted demonstrating that east and west facing windows in the 
proposal will need to be closed both day time and night time to ensure that internal 
noise criteria can be satisfied. 

81. The applicant proposes to take natural ventilation from the corridor louvres as 
described above under 'Natural Ventilation'. Council's Health Officer advises that this 
arrangement complies with clause 102 of the Infrastructure SEPP and the NSW 
Department of Planning (DoP) Development Near Rail Corridors and Busy Roads – 
Interim Guideline. However, the proposal does not comply with The City of Sydney 
Council’s DCP Acoustic Privacy criteria which are more stringent than the State 
Environmental Planning Policy (SEPP). The exceedance is 3dB in bedroom 1 and 2 
which is considered ‘just perceptible’. In order to achieve compliance with the noise 
criteria, the acoustic review recommends the use of ‘internally lined ducting or 
mechanically ventilated systems’.  

82. It is considered that the preservation of heritage fabric takes priority over the 
installation of 'internally lined ducting or mechanically ventilated systems’ in the case of 
the subject site. A condition of consent specifies that internally lined ducting or a 
mechanically ventilated system is not supported and is not to be installed. 

Visual privacy 

83. Objective 3F Visual Privacy of the Apartment Design Guide specifies that bedrooms, 
living spaces and other habitable rooms should be separated from gallery access and 
other open circulation space by the apartment's service areas. The existing 
configuration of the buildings means that this is not possible in order to retain heritage 
fabric.  

84. For No's. 30/32, 34/36 and 38/40 Lower Fort Street, there will be a separation of 3.2m 
between facing ground level, dining room windows. The space between these 
windows contains the communal accessway, communal stairs, bins storage and letter 
boxes.  

85. The existing angled windows to the dining room to the first and second levels are 
separated by 1.5m - 2.5m. There is no change proposed here. 

  

58



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

86. Due to the unusual historical configuration of these units, the bedroom 2 windows in 
No's. 30-40 Lower Fort Street do not connect directly to the outside, but are separated 
by a glazed corridor. The obscure, glazed louvred external corridor wall will provide 
some privacy to the bedroom and other rooms facing this corridor from the common 
open space immediately adjacent the louvres and also from the corridor (3.1m 
distance) and rooms of the facing units at each level. However, there may at times be 
a conflict between maintaining visual and/or acoustic privacy by closing these louvres 
and maintaining natural ventilation by opening these louvres, particularly given the 
restriction on natural ventilation described above as a response to acoustic privacy.  

87. The bi-fold windows to the new rear bedroom 1 will face the rear cliff face. As these 
windows only serve a bedroom, privacy screening to the ends of these windows is not 
considered necessary.  

88. The window to the walk through area between the proposed rear addition containing 
bedroom 1 and the area containing the proposed robe/bath/WC to bedroom 1 is 
existing and currently supports either the living area or laundry of the units in No's. 30-
40 Lower Fort Street. 

89. Each new rear bedroom 1 will have a north facing highlight window with no privacy 
impact as it faces a blank wall of the new rear addition to the north. 

90. With regard to the relationship between No. 42 Lower Fort Street and No's. 2 and 4 
Trinity Avenue, potential privacy issues do not exist around the entry areas, but are 
confined to the rear, side facing elevations of the buildings at each level. For No. 42 
and No. 2, the same obscure, glazed operable louvres will provide a balance of visual 
and acoustic privacy and ventilation between the living/dining areas in the facing units 
in these buildings. Due to the different building footprint, a rear extension is not 
proposed to No's 2 and 4 Trinity Avenue and the same privacy issues do not exist. 

Access 

91. Access for disabled persons can be provided to the premises and appropriate 
conditions of consent have been imposed. 

Other Impacts of the Development 

92. The BCA report submitted with the application identifies a number of non-compliances 
with the existing buildings and recommends a number of performance solutions be 
developed at Construction Certificate stage. A condition of consent requires upgrading 
of the whole building into partial conformity with the BCA in matters integral to fire 
safety and egress. 

93. It is considered that the proposal will have no significant detrimental effect relating to 
environmental, social or economic impacts on the locality, subject to appropriate 
conditions being imposed. 

Suitability of the site for the Development  

94. The proposal is of a nature in keeping with the overall function of the site. The 
premises are in a residential surrounding and amongst similar uses to that proposed. 

  

59



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Internal Referrals 

Design Advisory Panel 

95. The application was not reviewed by the Design Advisory Panel Residential 
Subcommittee as the Heritage Council previously provided Pre-DA advice on the 
proposal which the applicant has incorporated into the design. 

Heritage 

96. Council's Heritage officer has provided comments and conditions which are 
summarised under the Issues heading above. 

Waste Management 

97. Council's Waste Management Officer advises that the submitted Waste Management 
Plan is lacking in detail and that the bin configuration/ number of bins required have 
not been calculated to meet Council’s actual service which for this size of development 
should be a weekly garbage and weekly recycling collection service. Given that there 
are heritage considerations, Council could possibly consider a twice a week collection 
for garbage, but for recycling, Council only provides a weekly service. 

98. As discussed above, it is considered that the bicycle parking space proposed under 
each communal entry stair, adjacent the proposed waste storage area, should be 
deleted in order to allow an increase in the size of the waste storage area in this 
location.  

Health 

99. Council's Health Officer notes that the submitted acoustic review recommends the use 
of ‘internally lined ducting or mechanically ventilated systems’ to address the need to 
keep the east and west facing windows closed as discussed above under Acoustic 
Privacy, but that this may have other planning implications. 

Public Domain 

100. Following deletion of the originally proposed re-grading of the Council footway 
between No's. 2 and 4 Trinity Avenue, submission of a Flood Assessment Report, 
lowering of the garden level to a minimum of 300mm below ground floor level, and 
submission of additional information regarding the collection and disposal of 
stormwater, the application is supported with conditions. 

Landscaping 

101. The eight rear courtyards are currently characterised by trees, tree ferns, weeds and 
gardens in poor condition, bitumen and brick paving, low brick retaining walls, garden 
beds, concrete edges and planters, service lids (sewer), corrugated iron fences and a 
single timber paling fence between each courtyard, shallow soil profile, and hills hoist.  

102. The site consists of shallow soil over a rock layer, and does not allow for deep soil 
zones. Planters and mounding are proposed to maximise planting opportunities. The 
private open space to each ground level unit facing the cliff face will include a raised 
concrete deck and bench. 

60



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

103. Additional information was requested and received regarding seating, fences, planting 
design, and irrigation and drainage. Council's Landscape Officer advises that sufficient 
information has now been submitted and the proposal is supported in principle subject 
to a condition of consent requiring a detailed landscape plan to be submitted and 
approved prior to the issue of a Construction Certificate. 

Tree Management 

104. Council's Tree Management Officer advises that the proposal includes the removal of 
11 trees on-site. All these trees appear to have been self-seeded and are either in 
poor health, poor condition or in an unsuitable location. The removal of these trees is 
supported. Lack of deep soil (the rear of the site sits on rock) and solar access to the 
site restricts the planting/growth of replacement trees. An existing retaining wall on the 
boundary with No. 28 Lower Fort Street will protect the roots of the Jacaranda tree 
located on that property. A condition of consent addresses protection of existing street 
trees. 

Transport and Access 

105. Council's Transport Officer advised that Sydney DCP 2012 specifies 30 residential 
bicycle parking spaces for the proposal, but given site constraints three bicycle spaces 
in total on-site would be considered acceptable. 

106. The applicant subsequently proposed one bicycle space under each shared entry stair. 
However, given site constraints and the insufficient space available for 
rubbish/recycling storage, a condition of consent requires the deletion of the proposed 
bicycle storage space under each stair and an extension in size of the adjacent 
proposed rubbish/recycling storage area instead. 

107. The provision of bicycle parking within the common garden areas is not considered 
suitable as it will require the navigation of a step down into the common garden; and 
will likely be positioned somewhere between the glazed operable louvres of the ground 
level units which are only 3m apart, thereby creating privacy issues. It is noted that a 
condition of consent already requires a clothes drying line to be installed to the south-
eastern end of each common space (ie: space that is not adjacent glazing) between 
the buildings, thereby rendering this area unavailable. 

Building 

108. The BCA report submitted with the application identifies a number of non-compliances 
with the existing buildings and recommends a number of Performance Solutions be 
developed at Construction Certificate stage. 

109. Considering the provisions of Clause 94 of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Regulation 2000, it is recommended that a condition be included in the 
consent that requires upgrading of the whole building into partial conformity with the 
BCA, specifically in relation to fire safety and egress. This will ensure that compliance 
for the entire building will be examined at Construction Certificate stage, rather than 
just isolating those parts subject to proposed works.  

110. A further condition of consent specifies that if any BCA upgrading works will impact or 
potentially impact existing heritage fabric or features, details of the work are to be 
submitted and approved by Council's Area Planning Manager prior to issue of any 
Construction Certificate. 

61



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

111. Amended drawings are also required to be submitted for assessment and approval by 
the Heritage Council of NSW (or its delegate) with the s60 application. 

Surveying 

112. Council's Surveyor advises that whilst the submitted strata plan is lacking in some 
respects, it can be approved subject to conditions of consent including the requirement 
for separate approval of a strata plan and issue of a strata certificate. A condition is 
also required for a documentary Positive Covenant to be created burdening all lots and 
common property in the strata plan regarding compliance with the obligations and 
requirements of an approved Cyclical Maintenance Plan for the building. 

External Referrals 

113. The application was referred to Sydney Trains and the RMS on 22 August 2018 due to 
its proximity to the Harbour Bridge approach.  

114. The RMS advises that the proposal does not trigger clause 103 of the Infrastructure 
SEPP, and therefore further response will not be required from the RMS. 

115. A response has not been received from Sydney Trains. 

Notification, Advertising and Delegation (No Notification) 

116. The application constitutes integrated development and as such the application was 
notified and advertised for 30 days between 23 August 201823 August 2018 and 23 
September 201823 September 2018 in accordance with the provisions of 
Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulations 2000. As a result of this 
notification, two submissions were received raising the following issue: 

(a) Concern about the lack of on-street parking if parking permits are issued to 
residents or visitors to the premises.  

Response - An advisory condition of consent specifies that all owners, tenants 
and occupiers of this building are ineligible to participate in any existing or 
proposed Council on-street resident parking schemes. 

Public Interest 

117. It is considered that the proposal will have no detrimental effect on the public interest, 
subject to appropriate conditions being proposed. 

S61 Contribution 

118. The cost of the development is in excess of $200,000. The development is therefore 
subject to a levy under the Central Sydney Development Contributions Plan 2013.  A 
condition relating to this levy has been included in the recommended conditions of 
consent.  The levy is to be paid prior to the issue of a Construction Certificate. 

62



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Relevant Legislation 

119.  Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979. 

120.  Heritage Act 1977. 

Conclusion 

121. The application seeks consent for alterations and additions to the existing connected 
residential flat buildings including internal changes, external changes including rear 
extensions and new lifts, landscaping, and strata subdivision resulting in 6 x one 
bedroom units and 24 x two bedroom units, with three of the two bedroom units being 
accessible.  

122. The proposal has been amended and additional information has been supplied during 
the assessment of the application to address preliminary concerns relating to the 
Clause 4.6 submission, heritage impacts, acoustic impacts, ventilation, visual privacy, 
potential flooding, proposed work to the footway, landscaping, waste management, 
bicycle parking and clothes washing/drying facilities.  

123. The application proposes works at a height of 11.45m (which is a 2.45m or a 27.3% 
exceedance of the 9m height standard). The elements which will exceed the height 
limit are the proposed air conditioning louvre enclosure to the roof of 4 Trinity Avenue 
(11.45m); the maximum height of the proposed rear additions (11.34m); and the 
maximum height of the proposed lift structures (10.17m). All the proposed work is 
below the existing building height of 13.34m. 

124. The application seeks a variation to the height of building development standard under 
Clause 4.6 of the LEP. The written request is supported and it is considered that strict 
compliance with the height of building development standard is unreasonable and 
unnecessary in the circumstances. 

125. The application seeks a variation to the size of the one bedroom minimum apartment 
size development standard under Clause 4.6 of the LEP. The written request is 
supported and it is considered that strict compliance with the minimum apartment size 
development standard is unreasonable and unnecessary in the circumstances. 

126. Although the development does not comply with several built form and amenity 
controls in Sydney DCP 2012 and the SEPP 65 Apartment Design Guide, it is a unique 
case. It is considered that the development represents a reasonable balance between 
maintaining the heritage fabric of a State heritage listed item, with particular 
significance arising from it being the first government built residential flat building, and 
improving the amenity of an existing substandard residential flat building to a standard 
compatible with modern requirements. 

GRAHAM JAHN, AM 

Director City Planning, Development and Transport 

Claire Elek, Specialist Planner 

63



Attachment A 

Recommended Conditions of Consent

64



CONDITIONS OF CONSENT 

SCHEDULE 1A 

APPROVED DEVELOPMENT/DESIGN MODIFICATIONS/COVENANTS AND 
CONTRIBUTIONS/USE AND OPERATION 

Note:  Some conditions in Schedule 1A are to be satisfied prior to issue of a Construction 
Certificate and some are to be satisfied prior to issue of Occupation Certificate, where 
indicated. 

(1) APPROVED DEVELOPMENT 

(a) Development must be in accordance with Development Application No. 
D/2018/903 dated 8 August 2018 and the following drawings prepared by 
Neeson Murcutt Architects Pty Ltd, and Jane Irwin Landscape Architecture: 

Drawing Number Drawing Name Date 

LFS-108 Rev X Proposed Ground Floor Plan 21/2/19 

LFS-109 Rev V Proposed First Floor Plan 29/11/18 

LFS-110 Rev V Proposed Second Floor Plan 29/11/18 

LFS-111 Rev R Proposed Roof Plan 13/7/18 

LFS-112 Rev U Proposed Elevations 29/11/18 

LFS-113 Rev U Proposed Elevations 21/2/19 

LFS-114 Rev U Proposed Sections 29/11/18 

LFS-119 Rev Q Stair Details - Plan - Heritage 13/7/18 

LFS-121 Rev O Stair Details - Proposed Typical - 
Heritage 

13/7/18 

LFS-122 Rev O Stair Details - Ext Trinity Ave - 
Heritage 

13/7/18 

LFS-123 Rev P Stair Details - Prop Trinity Ave - 
Heritage 

29/11/18 

LFS-124 Rev P Stair 1:10 Details - Heritage 13/7/18 

LFS-125 Rev Q Rear Addition Details - Heritage 13/7/18 

LFS-126 Rev M Rear Addition Details - Heritage 13/7/18 

LFS-127 Rev O Internal Opening Details - Heritage 13/7/18 

LFS-128 Rev M Bathroom/Kitchen Insertion Details 
- Heritage 

13/7/18 

LFS-129 Rev M Material Palette 13/7/18 

LA-01 Issue E General Arrangement + Schedules 21/2/19 

LA-02 Issue D Demolition Plan 28/11/18 

LA-03 Issue F Landscape Plan - 30 & 32 21/2/19 

LA-04 Issue E Landscape Plan - 34 & 36 21/2/19 

LA-05 Issue E Landscape Plan - 38 & 40 21/2/19 

LA-06 Issue F Landscape Plan - 42 & 2 21/2/19 

LA-08 Issue C Landscape Sections + Details 28/11/18 

LFS-130 Rev C Draft Strata Sub Division Plan 13/7/18 

LFS-131 Rev A Interunit Privacy Design Intent 29/11/18 

LFS-132 Rev A Bicycle Storage Design Intent 29/11/18 

 

and as amended by the conditions of this consent. 

65



(b) In the event of any inconsistency between the approved plans and 
supplementary documentation, the plans will prevail. 

(2) SECTION 61 CONTRIBUTIONS PAYABLE - REGISTERED QUANTITY 
SURVEYOR'S DETAILED COST REPORT - SUBMITTED AND VERIFIED 
PRIOR TO ISSUE OF CONSTRUCTION CERTIFICATE 

A cash contribution comprising 1% of the total cost of the development is payable 
to the City of Sydney pursuant to section 61 of the City of Sydney Act 1988 and 
the Central Sydney Development Contributions Plan 2013 in accordance with the 
following: 

(a) Prior to a Construction Certificate being issued, evidence must be provided 
of Council’s written verification of the amount of the contribution as required 
in (b) below, and then that the levy has been paid to the Council in 
accordance with this condition. Payment may be by EFTPOS (debit card 
only), CASH or a BANK CHEQUE made payable to the City of Sydney. 
Direct debit, personal or company cheques will not be accepted. 

(b) The contribution must not be paid to the City of Sydney until it is 
accompanied by separate written verification by the City of Sydney of the 
specific amount payable. In order to obtain such verification, the “City of 
Sydney Registered Quantity Surveyor's Detailed Cost Report” indicating the 
itemised cost of the development must be completed and submitted to 
Council by the Principal Certifier, together with copies of the plans the 
subject of the application for the Construction Certificate. A copy of the 
required format for the “City of Sydney Registered Quantity Surveyor's 
Detailed Cost Report” may be obtained from the City of Sydney One Stop 
Shop, any of the Neighbourhood Service Centres and the City of Sydney’s 
website (www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au). 

(c) The Council will consider the documentation submitted under subclause (b) 
and determine the cost of the proposed development having regard to the 
information submitted and to such other matters as it considers appropriate 
and will notify the Principal Certifier accordingly. 

(d) The items to be included in the calculation of the cost of development are 
demolition works, site remediation including decontamination, excavation 
and site preparation, construction costs, fit out, professional fees as part of 
the design (including design competitions) documentation and 
implementation process, fixed building machinery, equipment and 
appliances, kitchens and bar areas, car parking, air conditioning plant and 
equipment, services (fire, mechanical ventilation, electrical, hydraulic), 
ceilings, fire protection devices, installation of services (power, water, sewer, 
telephone), lifts and other essential machinery, floor coverings, Building 
Code of Australia compliance works, replacement of existing materials, 
fixtures and fittings, construction related insurance, assessment and 
construction related fees, charges and GST and any other matter not 
expressly excluded in (e) below.  Any item for which an exemption has been 
granted is still to be included in the total cost of development, together with 
an itemised value to enable the City to calculate the value of the exemption. 

  

66

http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/


(e) The items to be excluded in the calculation of the cost of development are 
the cost of land, marketing expenses (excluding display suites etc), finance 
and interest, building insurance after practical completion, drapery, 
commercial stock inventory, loose furniture, loose equipment, loose 
electrical appliances, minor maintenance of existing retained fixtures 
(patching, repainting) and stamp duty. 

Please contact Council's Planning Administration staff at 
Planningsystemsadmin@cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au to confirm the amount 
payable, prior to payment. 

(3) DESIGN MODIFICATIONS 

(a) The design of the building must be modified to include a clothes drying line 
to each ground level private open space and to the south-eastern end of 
each common space between the buildings. 

(b) The proposed bicycle storage space behind each entry stair is to be deleted 
and replaced by additional rubbish/recycling storage space. 

The amended design must be submitted to and approved by Council’s Area 
Planning Manager prior to the issue of any Construction Certificate. 

Drawings must be submitted for assessment and approval by the Heritage Council 
of NSW (or its delegate) with the s60 application. 

(4) NEW ENTRY GATES 

The new entry gates to each entry point are to be of an open construction allowing 
views into the premise. The gates must not open over Council’s footway. 

The detailed gate design must be submitted to and approved by Council’s Area 
Planning Manager prior to the issue of any Construction Certificate. 

The drawings must also be submitted for assessment and approval by the 
Heritage Council of NSW (or its delegate) with the s60 application. 

(5) MODIFICATIONS SUBMITTED TO HERITAGE COUNCIL ALSO TO BE 
SUBMITTED TO COUNCIL 

Any drawings submitted to the Heritage Council of NSW (or its delegate) in order 
to satisfy requirements contained in Schedule 3 of this document are to also be 
submitted to and approved by Council’s Area Planning Manager prior to the issue 
of any Construction Certificate. 

(6) CYCLICAL MAINTENANCE PLAN (MODIFIED WORDING)  

A cyclical maintenance plan specifying frequency and methodologies to conduct 
building inspections and maintenance works to building elements and services 
must be submitted to and approved by Council’s Area Planning Manager prior to 
the issue of an Occupational Certificate or Strata Certificate, whichever is the 
earliest.   

The maintenance plan is to be prepared by a suitably qualified heritage consultant 
and endorsed by the building owner. 

67

mailto:Planningsystemsadmin@cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au


The Plan is to be based on the NSW Heritage Division of the Department of 
Environment and Heritage publication: ‘Preparing a maintenance plan’, and the 
General Cyclical Maintenance Plan in Appendix B, on page 78 of the Conservation 
Management Plan for the site prepared by Lucas Stapleton Johnson and Partners 
dated May 2017. 

The plan is to be a guide for the effective, continuous, protective maintenance of 
all significant heritage fabric for a minimum period of 20 years. 

(7) POSITIVE COVENANT – CYCLICAL MAINTENANCE PLAN 

A documentary Positive Covenant is to be created burdening all lots and common 
property in the Strata Plan, pursuant to Section 88B of the Conveyancing Act 1919 
and appurtenant to Council, in terms to the satisfaction of Council requiring the 
compliance with the obligations and requirements of the approved Cyclical 
Maintenance Plan for the building. The Cyclical Maintenance Plan is to be 
prepared in accordance with the NSW Heritage Council Maintenance of Heritage 
Assets Guidelines and is to guide future maintenance of the site which is to be 
carried out at regular intervals by the owners of all lots and the common property. 

(8) COMPLIANCE WITH ACOUSTIC REPORTS PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION 
AND/OR OCCUPATION CERTIFICATES SUBJECT TO HERITAGE 
CONSIDERATIONS 

(a) All performance parameters, requirements, engineering assumptions and 
recommendations contained in the acoustic reports prepared by Resonate, 
dated 13.06.18 and 29.11.18, ref S180094RP1 and S180094LT2, titled 
Lower Fort Street, Dawes Point. D.A. Application – Planning Acoustic Report 
and Natural Ventilation - Internal Noise Review, Council Ref 2018/418503 
and 2018/617262, must be implemented as part of the detailed design 
assessment and implemented into the design drawings prior to the 
commencement of the use of the premises in accordance with the 
requirements of (c) and (d) below and to the satisfaction of Council’s Area 
Planning Manager. However, internally lined ducting or a mechanically 
ventilated system for the purpose of borrowed natural ventilation is not 
support. 

(b) Amended drawings must be submitted for assessment and approval by the 
Heritage Council of NSW (or its delegate) with the s60 application. 

(c) Prior to the issue of a Construction Certificate, the construction drawings and 
construction methodology must be assessed and certified by a suitably 
qualified acoustic consultant* (see definition below) to be in accordance with 
the requirements of the DA acoustic report. Specifically, the consultant will 
prepare a written Acoustic Certification Report with reference to drawings, 
to the satisfaction of the Council’s Area Planning Manager. 

(d) Prior to the issue of an Occupation Certificate, a suitably qualified acoustic 
consultant is to provide a written Acoustic Verification Report to the 
satisfaction of Council’s Area Planning Manager that the development 
complies with the requirements set out in the Report and in (a) and (b) 
above. 

  

68



Note: Suitably qualified Acoustic Consultant means a consultant who 
possesses the qualifications to render them eligible for membership of the 
Australian Acoustics Society, Institution of Engineers Australia or the 
Association of Australian Acoustic Consultants at the grade of member. 

(9) USE OF INTRUSIVE APPLIANCES – NOT APPROVED 

This development consent does not extend to the use of appliances which emit 
noise of a highly intrusive nature (such as pile - drivers and hydraulic hammers) 
or are not listed in Groups B, C, D, E or F of Schedule 1 of the City of Sydney 
Code of Practice for Construction Hours/Noise 1992”. 

A separate Section 4.55 application must be submitted to the Council for the use 
of any equipment of a  highly intrusive nature (such as pile - drivers and hydraulic 
hammers) or are not listed in Groups B, C, D, E or F of Schedule 1 of the City of 
Sydney Code of Practice for Construction Hours/Noise 1992. 

(10) WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN TO BE SUBMITTED 

The submitted Waste Management Plan is not approved. 

The waste management plan must comply with the criteria in City of Sydney 
Guidelines for Waste Management in New Developments Policy 2017. This 
includes (but is not limited to) the following points: 

a) Waste generation calculations to support proposed number and 
configuration of bins  

b) Plans and drawings of the proposed development that show location and 
space allocated to the waste and recycling storage area(s); 

c) Nomination of the waste collection point for the site (i.e. must be from inside 
the property and no more than 10m from waste storage location); 

d) Identification of the path of access to be used by collection vehicles; 

e) Details of the ongoing management of the storage and collection of waste, 
including responsibility for cleaning, transfer of bins between storage areas 
and collection points, maintenance of signage and security of storage areas 

The waste management plan should clearly address the storage, waste and 
recycling collection. 

If there is insufficient storage space on-site in relation to available Council 
collection services, additional collection service(s) should be arranged through a 
commercial supplier. 

The amended Waste Management Plan must be submitted to and approved by 
Council’s Area Planning Manager prior to the issuing of the Construction 
Certificate.  

(11) WASTE AND RECYCLING COLLECTION 

The maximum travel distance between the storage point and collection point for 
all waste and recycling bins and bulky waste shall be no more than 10 metres.  

Unimpeded access must be provided for collection from the waste and recycling 
storage location(s) at all times. 

69



Unimpeded access shall be provided for collection vehicles to set down within 10 
metres of waste storage area(s) between 6am and 6pm on collection day(s).  

Must contact Council’s Waste Services Unit for information on installation of a 
compatible (GAR) key system to allow for the City’s staff to collect residential 
waste and recycling receptacles and bulky waste directly from the nominated 
waste holding room(s). 

Waste and recycling containers will not be supplied until construction in 
developments is completed unless otherwise organised with Waste Services.  

The development must have a residential rating or have applied for a residential 
rating prior to a City Of Sydney waste service commencing. 

(12) TREES APPROVED FOR REMOVAL 

(a) All trees detailed in Table 1 below are approved for removal.  

Table 1 – Tree Removal:  

Tree 
No 

Botanical Name / Common Name Location  

2 Ficus benjamina (Weeping Fig) Rear yard of 2 Trinity Avenue 

3 Ficus rubiginosa (Port Jackson Fig) Rear yard of 2 Trinity Avenue 

4 Magnolia soulangeana (Saucer Magnolia) Rear yard of 42 Lower Fort Street 

5 Dypsis luescens (Golden Cane Palm) Rear yard of 40 Lower Fort Street 

6 Celtis sinensis (Chinese Hackberry) Rear yard of 40 Lower Fort Street 

7 Ficus rubiginosa (Port Jackson Fig) Rear yard of 38 Lower Fort Street 

8 Celtis sinensis (Chinese Hackberry) Rear yard of 36 Lower Fort Street 

9 Schefflera arboricola (Dwarf Umbrella Tree) Rear yard of 36 Lower Fort Street 

10 Celtis sinensis (Chinese Hackberry) Rear yard of 32 Lower Fort Street 

12 Celtis sinensis (Chinese Hackberry) Rear yard of 30 Lower Fort Street 

NOTE: Reference should be made to the Arboricultural Impact Assessment 
Report prepared by Arboricultural Impact Assessment prepared by ‘Earthscape 
Horticultural Services’ dated June 2018 for tree numbering and locations. 

(b) Tree removal must not occur until the Construction Certificate has been 
issued. 

(c) All tree removal works must be carried out by a qualified Arborist, with a 
minimum Level 3 AQF in arboriculture and in accordance with WorkCover’s 
Code of Practice – Amenity Tree Industry.  

(13) TREES THAT MUST BE RETAINED 

(a) The existing trees detailed in Table 2 below must be retained and protected 
in accordance with the conditions of consent throughout the construction and 
development. 

  

70



Table 2 – Tree Retention: 

Tree 
No 

Botanical/Common Name Location 

13 Jacaranda mimosifolia (Jacaranda) Rear yard of 26-28 Lower Fort Street 

14 Celtis australis (Southern Hackberry) Footpath outside 26-28 Lower Fort Street 

15 Celtis australis (Southern Hackberry) Footpath outside 32 Lower Fort Street 

16 Celtis australis (Southern Hackberry) Footpath outside 34 Lower Fort Street 

17 Celtis australis (Southern Hackberry) Footpath outside 38 Lower Fort Street 

18 Celtis australis (Southern Hackberry) Footpath outside 42 Lower Fort Street 

19 Celtis australis (Southern Hackberry) Footpath outside 2 Trinity Avenue 

 
NOTE: Reference should be made to the Arboricultural Impact Assessment 
Report prepared by Arboricultural Impact Assessment prepared by ‘Earthscape 
Horticultural Services’ dated June 2018 for tree numbering and locations. 

(14) CHANGES TO KERB SIDE CAR PARKING RESTRICTIONS 

A separate submission must be made for any changes to kerbside parking 
arrangements. There is no guarantee kerbside parking will be changed or that any 
change will remain in place for the duration of the development/use. 

All costs associated with any parking changes would be borne by the developer. 

Note: The applicant is to contact the Area Traffic Engineer to discuss the proposal 
before making a submission. If new parking signage is installed, the developer is 
to immediately notify the City’s Public Domain team. 

(15) COST OF SIGNPOSTING 

All costs associated with signposting for any kerbside parking restrictions and 
traffic management measures associated with the development shall be borne by 
the developer. 

(16) ASSOCIATED ROADWAY COSTS 

All costs associated with the construction of any new road works including kerb 
and gutter, road pavement, drainage system and footway shall be borne by the 
developer. The new road works must be designed and constructed in accordance 
with the City’s “Development Specification for Civil Works Design and 
Construction”. 

(17) TRAFFIC WORKS 

Any proposals for alterations to the public road, involving traffic and parking 
arrangements, must be designed in accordance with RMS Technical Directives 
and must be referred to and agreed to by the Local Pedestrian, Cycling and Traffic 
Calming Committee prior to any work commencing on site. 

(18) WASTE/RECYCLING COLLECTION 

(a) The collection of waste and recycling must only occur between 7.00am and 
8.00pm weekdays and 9.00am and 5.00pm weekends and public holidays, 
to avoid noise disruption to the surrounding area. 

71



(b) Garbage and recycling must not be placed on the street for collection more 
than half an hour before the scheduled collection time. Bins and containers 
are to be removed from the street within half an hour of collection. 

  

72



SCHEDULE 1B 

PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION CERTIFICATE/COMMENCEMENT OF WORK/HEALTH AND 
BUILDING 

(19) ACCESS AND FACILITIES FOR PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES 

The building must be designed and constructed to provide access and facilities for 
people with a disability in accordance with the Building Code of Australia. 

If, in complying with this condition, amendments to the development are required, 
the design changes must be submitted to and approved by Council prior to a 
Construction Certificate being issued. 

(20) GENERAL HERITAGE 

The proposed works are to be carried out in a manner that minimises demolition, 

alterations, and new penetrations/fixings to the significant fabric of the existing 

building which is listed as a Heritage Item. 

The fabric and features to be retained by the proposal must be property 

protected during the process of demolition and construction. 

All conservation and adaption works are to be in accordance with the Articles of 

the Australia ICOMOS Burra Charter 1999. 

Experienced tradespersons (as appropriate) are to be commissioned who are 

skilled in traditional building and engineering trades to carry out the proposed 

scope of works to the buildings.   

New services are to be installed with minimum intervention to significant fabric 

and spaces.  

(21) MAKING GOOD TO EXISTING BUILDING (AMENDED STANDARD 
CONDITION)  

All new internal and external finishes and works of making good shall match the 
existing original work adjacent in respect of materials used, detailed execution and 
finished appearance. 

(22) USE OF HERITAGE CONSULTANT 

A heritage consultant, experienced in the conservation of similar period buildings, 
is to be commissioned to work with the consultant team throughout the design 
development, contract documentation and construction stages of the project.  The 
heritage consultant is to be involved in the resolution of all matters where existing 
significant fabric and spaces are to be subject to preservation, restoration, 
reconstruction, adaptive reuse, recording and demolition. The heritage consultant 
is to be provided with full access to the site and authorised by the applicant to 
respond directly to Council where information or clarification is required regarding 
the resolution of heritage issues throughout the project. 

Evidence of the above commission on the above terms is to be provided to Council 
in writing prior to commencement of work on site. The heritage consultant must 
sign off the completed project prior to the issue of an Occupation Certificate.  

73



(23) BUILDING WORKS TO COMPLY WITH BCA – HERITAGE BUILDINGS  

Any building works required to ensure compliance with the BCA or new building 
standards not specified in the approved plans must not damage existing fabric and 
building features. If such upgrading works have impact or potentially have impact 
on existing fabric and features, details of the works must be submitted and 
approved by Council’s Area Planning Manager prior to issue of any Construction 
Certificate. 

Amended drawings must be submitted for assessment and approval by the 
Heritage Council of NSW (or its delegate) with the s60 application. 

(24) BCA COMPLIANCE - ALTERATIONS AND ADDITIONS - UPGRADE OF 
BUILDING IS REQUIRED  

(a) Pursuant to Clause 94 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment 
Regulation 2000, the whole building must be upgraded to comply with the 
following parts of the Building Code of Australia (BCA): 

 (i) Fire resistance and stability - Part C1; 

(ii) Compartmentation and separation - Part C2; 

(iii) Protection of openings - Part C3; 

(iv) Provision for escape - Part D1; 

(v) Construction of exits - Part D2; 

(vi) Smoke hazard management - Part E2; 

 (b) If compliance with the conditions listed in (a) above cannot be achieved 
through the deemed-to-satisfy pathway, an alternative solution in 
accordance with Part A0 of the BCA must be prepared and submitted to the 
Principal Certifier illustrating how the relevant performance provisions are to 
be satisfied, and must form part of the approval prior to a Construction 
Certificate being issued. 

(c) If the above works have impact or potentially have impact on existing fabric 
and features, details of the works must be submitted to and approved by 
Council’s Area Planning Manage prior to the issue of any Construction 
Certificate. 

(d) Drawings must be submitted for assessment and approval by the Heritage 
Council of NSW (or its delegate) with the s60 application. 

  

74



(25) LANDSCAPING OF THE SITE 

(a) A detailed landscape plan, drawn to scale, by a qualified landscape architect 
or landscape designer, must be submitted to and approved by Council’s 
Area Planning Manager prior to the issue of a Construction Certificate for 
above ground building works. The plan must include: 

(i) Location of existing and proposed structures on the site including, but 
not limited to, existing and proposed trees, paved areas, raised 
concrete deck, seats, planted areas on slab, planted areas in natural 
ground, lighting and other features; 

(ii) Plan and details for new works within the TPZ of existing retained Tree 
13 and retained adjacent brick retaining wall.   

(iii) Plan and details of the raised concrete deck in deep soil areas.  
Demonstrate the decking detail supported on steel beam and Krinner 
ground screws has minimal impact on existing ground. 

(iv) Plan and details for the location of new fence posts and footings 

(v) Details of earthworks and soil depths including mounding, retaining 
walls, planter boxes and freestanding pots. The minimum soil depths 
for planting on slab must be 1000mm for trees, 450mm for shrubs and 
200mm for groundcovers. Noting minimum soil depths exclude 
drainage and mulch layers; 

(vi) Location, numbers, type and supply of plant species, with reference to 
Australian Standards, with a preference for local native species; 

(vii) Details of the proposed growing medium, including soil depth and type, 
planting procedure and maintenance, including a landscape 
specification; 

(viii) Details of drainage, waterproofing and watering systems. 

(b) Prior to the issue of a Construction Certificate, a maintenance plan is to be 
submitted to and approved by the Principal Certifier; 

(c) All landscaping in the approved plan is to be completed prior to any 
Occupation Certificate being issued. 

(26) PUBLIC DOMAIN DAMAGE DEPOSIT (MODIFIED) 

A Public Domain Damage Deposit calculated on the basis of 64 lineal metres of 
asphalt site frontage must be lodged with Council in accordance with the City of 
Sydney’s adopted Schedule of Fees and Charges. The Public Domain Damage 
Deposit must be submitted as an unconditional bank guarantee or insurance bond 
as per the Council’s Performance Bond Policy in favour of Council as security for 
repairing any damage to the public domain in the vicinity of the site (Guarantee). 

The Guarantee must be lodged with Council prior to an approval for demolition 
being granted or a Construction Certificate being issued, whichever is earlier. 

  

75



The Guarantee in this condition will be retained in full until the Public Domain 
Works Deposit Guarantee required by this consent is lodged with Council. Upon 
lodgement of the Public Domain Works Deposit Guarantee, the Guarantee in this 
condition will be released. 

(27) ALIGNMENT LEVELS – MINOR DEVELOPMENT 

(a) Where ground floor levels of existing buildings are being retained, alignment 
levels for the buildings and site frontages of those buildings must be 
submitted to and approved by Council prior to a Construction Certificate 
being issued for public domain works or above ground building works, 
whichever is earlier. The submission must be prepared by a Registered 
Surveyor or suitably qualified engineer and must be submitted with a 
completed Footpath Levels and Gradients Approval Application form 
(available on the City’s website). 

(b) If a Public Domain Plan condition applies to the development consent the 
Public Domain Plan submission must incorporate the approved Alignment 
Levels. If the proposed detailed design of the public domain requires 
changes to any previously approved Alignment Levels, then an amended 
Alignment Levels submission must be submitted to and approved by Council 
to reflect these changes prior to a Construction Certificate being issued for 
public domain work. 

(28) PHOTOGRAPHIC RECORD / DILAPIDATION REPORT - PUBLIC DOMAIN 

Prior to an approval for demolition being granted or a Construction Certificate 
being issued, whichever is earlier, a photographic recording of the public domain 
site frontages is to be prepared and submitted to Council's satisfaction. 

The recording must include clear images of the building facade adjoining the 
footpath, the footpath, nature strip, kerb and gutter, driveway crossovers and 
laybacks, kerb ramps, road carriageway, street trees and plantings, parking 
restriction and traffic signs, and all other existing infrastructure along the street. 

The form of the recording is to be as follows:- 

(a) A PDF format report containing all images at a scale that clearly 
demonstrates the existing site conditions; 

(b) Each image is to be labelled to identify the elements depicted, the direction 
that the image is viewed towards, and include the name of the relevant street 
frontage; 

(c) Each image is to be numbered and cross referenced to a site location plan; 

(d) A summary report, prepared by a suitable qualified professional, must be 
submitted in conjunction with the images detailing the project description, 
identifying any apparent existing defects, detailing the date and authorship 
of the photographic record, the method of documentation and limitations of 
the photographic record; 

  

76



(e) Include written confirmation, issued with the authority of both the applicant 
and the photographer that the City of Sydney is granted a perpetual non-
exclusive license to make use of the copyright in all images supplied, 
including the right to make copies available to third parties as though they 
were Council images. The signatures of both the applicant and the 
photographer must be included. 

Any damage to the public way including trees, footpaths, kerbs, gutters, road 
carriageway and the like must immediately be made safe and functional by the 
applicant. Damage must be fully rectified by the applicant in accordance with the 
City’s standards prior to a Certificate of Completion being issued for Public Domain 
Works or before an Occupation Certificate is issued for the development, 
whichever is earlier. 

(29) PUBLIC DOMAIN PLAN (MODIFIED) 

(a) A detailed Public Domain Plan must be prepared by a suitably qualified 
architect, urban designer, landscape architect or engineer and must be 
lodged with Council’s Public Domain Section and be approved by Council 
prior to a Construction Certificate being issued for public domain work or 
above ground building work, whichever is later.  

(b) The Public Domain Plan must document all works required to ensure that 
the public domain complies with the City of Sydney’s Public Domain Manual, 
Sydney Streets Code and Sydney Streets Technical Specification, including 
requirements for road pavement, traffic measures, footway pavement, kerb 
and gutter, drainage, vehicle crossovers, pedestrian ramps, lighting, street 
trees and landscaping, signage and other public domain elements. If an 
Alignment Levels condition applies to the development, the Public Domain 
Plan submission must incorporate the approved Alignment Levels. If the 
proposed detailed design of the public domain requires changes to any 
previously approved Alignment Levels, then an amended Alignment Levels 
submission must be submitted to and approved by Council to reflect these 
changes prior to a Construction Certificate being issued for public domain 
work. 

(c) The works to the public domain are to be completed in accordance with the 
approved Public Domain Plan and Alignment Levels plans and the Public 
Domain Manual before any Occupation Certificate is issued in respect of the 
development or before the use commences, whichever is earlier. 

(30) PUBLIC DOMAIN WORKS BOND 

Public Domain Works Deposit will be required as security for the public domain 
works and for repairing damage that may be caused to the public domain in the 
vicinity of the site, in accordance with the City of Sydney’s adopted fees and 
charges and the Public Domain Manual. The Public Domain Works Deposit must 
be submitted as an unconditional bank guarantee or insurance bond as per the 
Council’s Performance Bond Policy in favour of Council as security for completion 
of the obligations under this consent (Guarantee). 

Council's Public Domain section must be contacted to determine the guarantee 
amount prior to lodgement of the guarantee. The guarantee must be lodged with 
Council prior to a Construction Certificate being issued. 

77



The Guarantee will be retained in full until all Public Domain works, including 
rectification of damage to the public domain, are completed to City of Sydney 
standards and approval and the required certifications, warranties and works-as-
executed documentation are submitted and approved by Council in writing. On 
satisfying the above requirements, 90% of the security will be released. The 
remaining 10% will be retained for the duration of the specified Defects Liability 
Period. 

(31) PUBLIC DOMAIN WORKS - HOLD POINTS AND HANDOVER 

(a) Prior to a Construction Certificate being issued for public domain work, 
including civil, drainage and subsurface works, , a set of hold points for 
approved public domain,  civil and drainage work is to be determined with 
and approved by the City's Public Domain section in accordance with the 
City of Sydney's Public Domain Manual and Sydney Streets Technical 
Specification. 

(b) Prior to a Certificate of Completion being issued for public domain works and 
before the issue of any Occupation Certificate for the development or before 
the use commences, whichever is earlier, electronic works-as-executed (as-
built) plans and documentation, certified by a suitably qualified, independent 
professional must be submitted to and accepted by Council for all public 
domain works. Completion and handover of the constructed public domain 
works must be undertaken in accordance with the City of Sydney's Public 
Domain Manual and Sydney Streets Technical Specification, including 
requirements for as-built documentation, certification, warranties and the 
defects liability period. 

(32) STORMWATER AND DRAINAGE - MAJOR DEVELOPMENT 

(a) Prior to an approval or Construction Certificate being issued for  excavation, 
civil construction, drainage or building work (whichever is earlier), excluding 
approved preparatory or demolition work a detailed drainage engineering 
design, calculations and design for the stormwater overland flow path for the 
development must be: 

(i) prepared by a suitably qualified hydraulic or civil engineer to show the 
proposed method of collection and disposal of stormwater; and  

(ii) prepared in accordance with the City of Sydney’s Stormwater 
Drainage Manual, technical specifications, standards and policies, as 
amended from time to time; and 

(iii) submitted to and be approved by the City of Sydney and a copy of the 
City’s letter of approval must be provided to the Principal Certifying 
Authority.   

(b) For approval of a connection into the City of Sydney’s drainage system an 
“Application for Approval of Stormwater Drainage Connections" must be 
submitted to the City, together with an application fee in accordance with the 
City of Sydney’s adopted Schedule of Fees and Charges.   

  

78



(i) The application must be approved by the City of Sydney prior to an 
approval or Construction Certificate being issued for excavation, civil 
construction, drainage or building work (whichever is earlier), 
excluding approved preparatory or demolition work. 

(ii) All proposed connections to the City's underground drainage system 
require the owner to enter into a Deed of Agreement with the City of 
Sydney and obtain registration on Title of a Positive Covenant prior to 
an Occupation Certificate being issued, including an Interim 
Occupation Certificate. 

On-site Detention 

(c) The requirements of Sydney Water with regard to the on-site detention of 
stormwater must be ascertained and complied with.  

(i) Evidence of the approval by Sydney Water of the detailed design of 
the on-site detention must be submitted to and be accepted by the City 
of Sydney and a copy of the City’s letter of acceptance must be 
provided to the Principal Certifying Authority prior to a Construction 
Certificate being issued, excluding for any approved preparatory, 
demolition or excavation works. 

(ii) Prior to the issue of an Occupation Certificate, including an Interim 
Occupation Certificate, a Positive Covenant must be registered on the 
property title for all drainage systems involving On-Site Detention 
(OSD) to ensure maintenance of the approved OSD system 
regardless of the method of connection. 

Stormwater Quality Assessment 

(d) Prior to a Construction Certificate being issued for any excavation, civil 
construction, drainage or building work (whichever is earlier), but excluding 
approved preparatory or demolition work, a stormwater quality assessment 
must be undertaken and must be approved by City of Sydney and a copy of 
the City’s letter of approval must be provided to the Principal Certifying 
Authority. 

The stormwater quality assessment must: 

(i) be prepared by a suitably qualified hydraulic engineer with experience 
in Water Sensitive Urban Design; 

(ii) use modelling from an industry-standard water quality model (e.g. 
MUSIC Model or equivalent); and 

(iii) demonstrate through reports, design plans and calculations, what 
water sensitive urban design and other drainage measures will be 
used to ensure that the development will achieve the following post-
development pollutant loads: 

a. reduce the baseline annual pollutant load for litter and vegetation 
larger than 5mm by 90%; 

79



b. reduce the baseline annual pollutant load for total suspended 
solids by 85%; 

c. reduce the baseline annual pollutant load for total phosphorous by 
65%; 

d. reduce the baseline annual pollutant load for total nitrogen by 
45%. 

(iv) include certification from a suitably qualified practicing professional 
that the requirements of parts d) (i), (ii) and (iii) of this condition have 
been met. 

Prior to the issue of an Occupation Certificate, maintenance schedules of 
the proposed water sensitive urban design and drainage measures must be 
submitted to and be approved by the Principal Certifying Authority and a 
copy provided to the City of Sydney. 

Completion / Works-as-Executed Documentation 

(e) Prior to a Certificate of Completion being issued by the City of Sydney for 
stormwater drainage works:  

(i) All works for the disposal of stormwater and drainage are to be 
implemented in accordance with the approved plans, City of Sydney 
technical specifications. Standards and policies, approval letters and 
the requirements of this consent.   

(ii) A Works-As-Executed survey, prepared, signed and dated by a 
Registered Surveyor, must be submitted to and be accepted by the 
City of Sydney.  The plan must be overlaid on a copy of the approved 
stormwater drainage plans issued with the Construction Certificate, 
with variations to locations, dimensions, levels and storage volumes 
clearly marked. 

(iii) Electronic works-as-executed (as-built) details, certifications, 
warranties, inspection reports (including Closed Circuit Television 
reports) and associated documentation for the completed work must 
be prepared and certified by a suitably qualified hydraulic engineer, in 
accordance with the requirements of the City of Sydney’s technical 
specifications, the Public Domain Manual, the Stormwater Drainage 
Manual, the conditions of this consent and all letters of approval issued 
by the City of Sydney for works in the public domain, and must be 
submitted to and be accepted by the City of Sydney. 

(f) Prior to the issue of the first Occupation Certificate, including an Interim 
Occupation Certificate, or before the use commences (whichever is earlier):  

(i) A copy of the City’s Certificate of Completion for all stormwater and 
drainage work undertaken in the public domain must be provided to 
the Principal Certifying Authority; 

  

80



(ii) A Works-As-Executed survey, must be prepared, signed, dated and 
certified by a Registered Surveyor and must be submitted to and be 
accepted by the Principal Certifying Authority. The Works-as-Executed 
plan must be overlaid on a copy of the approved stormwater drainage 
plans issued with the Construction Certificate, with variations to 
locations, dimensions, levels and storage volumes clearly marked; 

(iii) A Hydraulic Compliance Certificate and Calculation Sheet must be 
prepared by a suitably qualified hydraulic engineer (minimum NER), 
showing approved versus installed hydraulic calculations, and must be 
submitted to and be accepted by the Principal Certifying Authority; 

(iv) Evidence of Sydney Water’s acceptance of the Works-As-Executed 
documentation, certification and Hydraulic Compliance Certificate and 
Calculation Sheet must be provided to the Principal Certifying 
Authority; 

(v) The Principal Certifying Authority must submit a copy of the Works-As-
Executed plans, certifications, Hydraulic Compliance Certificate and 
Calculation Sheet to the City of Sydney. 

(33) CONSTRUCTION TRAFFIC AND PEDESTRIAN MANAGEMENT PLAN 

A Construction Traffic and Pedestrian Management Plan must be submitted to and 
approved by Council prior to a Construction Certificate being issued. 

Construction Traffic and Pedestrian Management Plans are to be prepared in 
accordance with Standard Requirements for Construction Traffic Management 
Plan on the City’s website  
http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/business/business-responsibilities/traffic-
management/construction-traffic-management-plans 

(34) WASTE STORAGE 

The nominated waste and recycling storage areas must be constructed to meet 
the relevant conditions required by the City of Sydney Guidelines for Waste 
Management in New Developments Policy 2017 as possible given existing 
heritage fabric.   

Details of the works must be submitted and approved by Council’s Area Planning 
Manager prior to the issue of any Construction Certificate. 

Amended drawings must be submitted for assessment and approval by the 
Heritage Council of NSW (or its delegate) with the s60 application. 

(35) TREE PROTECTION PLANS  

All detailed architectural, building, engineering (structural, stormwater and 
drainage services) and landscape documentation submitted for the Construction 
Certificate shall clearly show on all drawings the retention of trees as required by 
these conditions of consent, the position of their trunks, full diameter of their 
canopies, Structural Root Zones (SRZs) and Tree Protection Zones (TPZs). 

81

http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/business/business-responsibilities/traffic-management/construction-traffic-management-plans
http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/business/business-responsibilities/traffic-management/construction-traffic-management-plans


(36) COMPLIANCE WITH ARBORIST’S REPORT 

All recommendations contained in the Arboricultural Impact Assessment prepared 
by ‘Earthscape Horticultural Services’ dated June 2018 must be implemented 
during the demolition, construction and use of the development, including the 
following: 

(a) Section 10.2 – Prohibited Activities. 

(b)    Section 10.3 – Tree Damage.  

(c) Section 10.4 – Trunk Protection (NOTE: must also include Tree 14).  

(d) Section 10.5 – Demolition Works within Tree Protection Zones (NOTE: 
must also include Tree 14).  

(e) Section 10.6 – Excavations within Tree Protection Zones (NOTE: must also 
include Tree 14).  

(f) Section 10.7 – Underground Services (NOTE: must also include Tree 14).  

(g) Section 10.8 – Pavements (NOTE: must also include Tree 14).  

(h) Section 10.9 – Pavement Sub-base (NOTE: must also include Tree 14).  

(i) Section 10.10 – Canopy and Root Pruning (NOTE: must also include Tree 
14). 

(i) Any proposed pruning must be detailed in a Pruning Specification 
Report and approved by Council’s Tree Management team prior to 
being undertaken. 

(j) Section 10.11 – Tree Removal.  

(k) Section 10.12 – Temporary Hoardings (NOTE: must also include Tree 14).  

(i) Any proposed pruning must be detailed in a Pruning Specification 
Report and approved by Council’s Tree Management team prior to 
being undertaken. 

 

(l) Section 10.13 – Temporary Scaffolding (NOTE: must also include Tree 14). 

(i) Any proposed pruning must be detailed in a Pruning Specification 
Report and approved by Council’s Tree Management team prior to 
being undertaken. 

(37) TREE REMOVAL  

(a) All tree removal works must be carried out by a qualified Arborist, with a 
minimum Level 3 AQF in arboriculture and in accordance with WorkCover’s 
Code of Practice – Amenity Tree Industry.  

82



(b) In the event that wildlife is found during the course of tree removal works, work 
must stop until a trained wildlife handler attends the site or the animal 
relocates itself.   

(c) In the event that the tree has nesting birds or native animals, works must be  
delayed until after the nesting period has been completed, unless in the event 
of an emergency. 

(38) SERVICES 

(a) Any trenching works for services / hydraulics / drainage etc must not be 
undertaken within a Tree Protection Zone (TPZ) of any street tree unless 
first approved in writing by the Council’s Tree Management Officer.   

(b) Alternative installation methods for services, such as directional 
boring/drilling, or redirection of services shall be employed where large 
woody roots greater than 40mm diameter are encountered during the 
installation of any services within the specified TPZ.  

(39) TREE PRUNING SPECIFICATION 

 
(a) Prior to any tree pruning, a ‘Pruning Specification Report’ prepared by a 

qualified Consulting Arborist (minimum AQF Level 5) must be submitted to 
and approved by Council’s Area Planning Manager prior to the issuing of the 
Construction Certificate.  

(b) The report must: 

(i) Detail any pruning that is required to provide clearance from the 
proposed development footprint, including the installation of any 
hoarding and/or scaffolding. 

(ii) Include the number of branches, and the percentage of canopy to be 
pruned/removed. 

(iii) Included the diameters and orientation of all branches to be 
pruned/removed. Include the number of branches, and the percentage 
of canopy to be pruned/removed, include the diameters and 
orientation of all branches to be pruned/removed. 

(iv) Include photos with individual branches which are recommended for 
pruning/removal to be clearly marked. (Please note reports which 
include photos with a single vertical line as the area recommended for 
pruning will not be accepted). Include photos with individual branches 
which are recommended for pruning/removal to be clearly marked. 
(NOTE: Reports which include photos with a single vertical line as the 
area recommended for pruning will not be accepted).  

(v) Specify pruning work in accordance with the Australian Standard 
‘AS4373:2007 Pruning of Amenity Trees’. 

(c) The report must not: 

83



(i) Specify the removal of >5% of the canopy, specify the removal of >5% 
of the canopy.  

(ii) Specify the removal of any branches >100mm in diameter.  

(iii) Recommend tree removal.  

(d) All approved tree pruning works must be carried out by a qualified Arborist 
(minimum AQF Level 3), and in accordance with SafeWork NSW’s ‘Code of 
Practice: Amenity Tree Industry’. 

(e) Any pruning works carried out under this consent must not result in the death 
of the tree, the creation of a hazard or in excessive or inappropriate amounts 
of pruning, which result in the overall shape of the tree becoming unbalanced 
and/or unstable. 

(f) This consent does not authorise the applicant, or the contractor engaged to 
do the tree works to enter a neighbouring property. 

(g) All tree works must be undertaken from within the subject property unless 
consent from the neighbour is obtained to enter their property. 

The consent from Council’s Tree Management Officer must be obtained prior to the 
undertaking of any additional tree pruning works or pruning of any tree roots greater 
than 30mm in diameter. 

(40) SITE SUPERVISION AND REPORTING 

(a) A qualified Consulting Arborist (AQF Level 5) must oversee various stages 
of work within the Tree Protection Zone in compliance with the the 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment prepared by ‘Earthscape Horticultural 
Services’ dated June 2018, and in accordance with the Australian Standard 
‘AS4970:2009 Protection of Trees on Development Sites’.  

 
(b) The Consulting Arborist must certify compliance with each key milestone 

detailed below, and the certification must be submitted to Council and the 
Principal Certifying Authority: 

 
(i) Installation of the tree protection measures (prior to the issuing of a 

construction certificate). 

(ii) Any demolition within Tree Protection Zones.  

(iii) Any excavation and/or trenching within Tree Protection Zones.   

(c) Quarterly and final compliance reports shall be submitted to Council which 
provides details on the health and structure of all trees to be retained and 
protected and must include: 
 
(i) Certification of compliance with each key milestone detailed above. 

(ii) Details of any other works undertaken on any tree to be retained, or 
within the Tree Protection Zone of any tree to be retained.   

84



(iii) Documentary evidence of compliance with tree protection and 
measures (including photographs and site notes).   

(41) STREET TREE PROTECTION  

(a) Street trees must be protected in compliance with ‘Section 10.4 – Trunk 
Protection’ of the the Arboricultural Impact Assessment prepared by 
‘Earthscape Horticultural Services’ dated June 2018, and in accordance with 
the Australian Standard ‘4970:2009 Protection of Trees on Development 
Sites’. 

(b) Young street trees shall be protected by installing three (3) wooden stakes 
around the edge of the tree pit. Hessian shall be wrapped around the stakes. 
If existing stakes are already in place, these shall suffice as tree protection.  

(c) Temporary signs, or any other items, shall not be fixed or attached to any 
street tree.  

(d) Materials or goods, including site sheds, must not be stored or placed: 

around or under the tree canopy; or 

within two (2) metres of tree trunks or branches of any street trees. 

(e) Any excavation within in any area known to, or suspected of having street 
tree roots greater than 40mm diameter must be undertaken by hand.  

(f) Any trenching works for services / hydraulics / drainage etc within the Tree 
Protection Zone/s of any street tree must be undertaken in accordance with 
‘Section 10.6 – Excavations within Tree Protection ZonesSection 10.6 – 
Excavations within Tree Protection Zones’ of the Arboricultural Impact 
Assessment prepared by ‘Earthscape Horticultural Services’ dated June 
2018. Alternative installation methods for services, such as directional 
boring/drilling, or redirection of services shall be employed where large 
woody roots greater than 40mm diameter are encountered during the 
installation of any services.  

(g) Existing sections of kerbs adjacent to any street tree shall not be removed 
without approval from the Street Tree Coordinator. Removal of kerbs 
adjacent to mature trees can cause trees to become unstable and fail.  

(h) Any damage sustained to street tree/s as a result of construction activities 
(including demolition) must be immediately reported to the Council's Tree 
Management Officer on 9265 9673. Any damage to street trees as a result 
of construction activities may result in a prosecution under the Local 
Government Act 1993 and/or the Environmental Planning and Assessment 
Act 1979.  

(42) ASBESTOS REMOVAL WORKS 

(a) All works removing asbestos containing materials must be carried out by a 
suitably licensed asbestos removalist duly licensed with Safework NSW, 
holding either a Friable (Class A) or a Non- Friable (Class B) Asbestos 
Removal Licence which ever applies. 

85



A copy of the relevant licence shall be made available to any authorised 
Council officer on request within 24 hours. 

(b) Five days prior to the commencement of licensed asbestos removal, 
Safework NSW must be formally notified of the works. All adjoining 
properties and those opposite the development must be notified in writing of 
the dates and times when asbestos removal is to be conducted. The 
notification must identify the licensed asbestos removal contractor and 
include a contact person for the site together with telephone number and 
email address. 

(c) All work must be carried out in accordance with the Work Health and Safety 
Regulation 2011 and the NSW Government and Work Cover document 
entitled How to manage and control asbestos in the work place: Code of 
Practice (Safework NSW) December 2011 and the City of Sydney Managing 
Asbestos Policy dated 21 October 2013 and associated guidelines. 

(d) The asbestos removalist must use signs and barricades to clearly indicate 
the area where the asbestos removal work is being performed. Signs must 
be placed in positions so that people are aware of where the asbestos 
removal work area is and should remain in place until removal is completed 
and clearance to reoccupy has been granted. Responsibilities for the 
security and safety of the asbestos removal site and removal must be 
specified in the asbestos removal control plan (where required). This 
includes inaccessible areas that are likely to contain asbestos. 

(e) Warning signs must be placed so they inform all people nearby that asbestos 
removal work is taking place in the area. Signs must be placed at all of the 
main entry points to the asbestos removal work area where asbestos is 
present. These signs must be weatherproof, constructed of light-weight 
material and adequately secured so they remain in prominent locations. The 
signs must be in accordance with AS 1319 -1994 Safety Signs for the 
Occupational Environment for size, illumination, location and maintenance. 

(f) Asbestos waste must only be transported and disposed of at an EPA 
licensed waste facility. 

(g) No asbestos products are to be reused on the site (i.e. packing pieces, 
spacers, formwork or fill etc). 

(h) No asbestos laden skips or bins are to be left in any public place without the 
written approval of Council. 

(i) A site notice board must be located at the main entrance to the site in a 
prominent position and must have minimum dimensions of 841mm x 594mm 
(A1) with any text on the notice to be a minimum of 30 point type size. 

The site notice board must include the following: 

(i) contact person for the site; 

(ii) telephone and facsimile numbers and email address; and 

(iii) site activities and time frames. 

86



(43) EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL - BETWEEN 250 AND 2,500SQM 

Prior to the commencement of demolition/excavation/construction work, an 
Erosion and Sediment Control Plan (ESCP) must be submitted to and be approved 
by the Principal Certifier. The ESCP must: 

(a) Conform to the specifications and standards contained in Managing Urban 
Stormwater: Soils and Construction (Landcom, 2004); the Guidelines for 
Erosion and Sediment Control on Building Sites (City of Sydney, 2004); and 
the NSW Protection of the Environment Operations Act 1997. 

(b) Include a drawing(s) that clearly shows: 

(i) location of site boundaries and adjoining roads 

(ii) approximate grades and indications of direction(s) of fall 

(iii) approximate location of trees and other vegetation, showing items for 
removal or retention 

(iv) location of site access, proposed roads and other impervious areas 

(v) existing and proposed drainage patterns with stormwater discharge 
points 

(vi) north point and scale 

(c) Specify how soil conservation measures will be conducted on site including: 

(i) timing of works 

(ii) locations of lands where a protective ground cover will, as far as is 
practicable, be maintained 

(iii) access protection measures 

(iv) nature and extent of earthworks, including the amount of any cut and 
fill 

(v) where applicable, the diversion of runoff from upslope lands around 
the disturbed areas 

(vi) location of all soil and other material stockpiles including topsoil 
storage, protection and reuse methodology 

(vii) procedures by which stormwater is to be collected and treated prior to 
discharge including details of any proposed pollution control device(s) 

(viii) frequency and nature of any maintenance program 

(ix) other site-specific soil or water conservation structures. 

(44) ROAD OPENING PERMIT 

A separate Road Opening Permit under Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993 must 
be obtained from Council prior to the commencement of any: 

87



(a) Excavation in or disturbance of a public way, or 

(b) Excavation on land that, if shoring were not provided, may disturb the 
surface of a public road (including footpath). 

(45) APPLICATION FOR HOARDINGS AND SCAFFOLDING INSTALLED ON OR 
ABOVE A PUBLIC ROAD AND OPERATING HOISTING DEVICES INCLUDING 
BUILDING MAINTENANCE UNITS OVER A PUBLIC ROAD 

(a) A separate application under Section 68 of the Local Government Act 1993 
and Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993 is to be made to Council to erect a 
hoarding and/or scaffolding (temporary structures) on or above a public road 
(footway and/or roadway). 

(b) Where an approval (Permit) is granted allowing the placement of temporary 
structures on or above a public road the structures must comply fully with 
Council’s Hoarding and Scaffolding Policy; Guidelines for Hoardings and 
Scaffolding; and the conditions of approval (Permit) granted including: 

(i) maintaining a current and valid approval for the full duration that the 
temporary structure/s is in place; 

(ii) maintaining temporary structure/s in a structurally sound and stable 
condition for the full duration of installation (Clause 2.11.1); 

(iii) bill posters and graffiti being removed within 24 hours of their 
placement (Clause 2.11.2); 

(iv) maintaining temporary structures and the public place adjoining the 
work site in a clean and tidy condition including repainting and/or repair 
of graphics (Clauses 2.11.1, 2.11.4, 2.14.1 and 3.9.3); 

(v) maintaining a watertight deck (Type B hoardings) to prevent liquids 
including rainwater, falling onto the footway/roadway surfaces 
(Clauses 3.9.1 and 3.9.4); 

(vi) approved site sheds on the decks of a Type B hoarding being fully 
screened from the public place (Clause 3.9.5); 

(vii) material and equipment not being placed or stored on the deck of Type 
B hoardings, unless specifically approved by Council (Clause 3.9.4); 

(viii) providing and maintaining operational artificial lighting systems under 
Type B hoardings including at high-bay truck entry points (Clause 
3.9.9); and 

(ix) ensuring all required signage is provided and maintained (Clauses 
3.9.3, 3.9.6, 3.9.8, 3.10.1 and 4.2). 

If it is proposed to operate a hoisting device including a building maintenance unit 
above a public road which swings, hoists material/equipment and/or slews any 
part of the device over the public road, a separate application under Section 68 of 
the Local Government Act 1993 and Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993 must be 
made to Council to obtain approval. 

88



Note: 'Building maintenance unit' means a power-operated suspended platform 
and associated equipment on a building specifically designed to provide 
permanent access to the faces of the building for maintenance (Work Health and 
Safety Regulation 2011). 

(46) WORKS REQUIRING USE OF A PUBLIC PLACE 

Where construction/building works require the use of a public place including a 
road or footpath, approval under Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993 is to be 
obtained from Council prior to the commencement of work. Details of any 
barricade construction, area of enclosure and period of work are required to be 
submitted to the satisfaction of Council. 

(47) PHOTOGRAPHIC RECORD / DILAPIDATION REPORT - PUBLIC DOMAIN 

Prior to an approval for demolition being granted or a Construction Certificate 
being issued, whichever is earlier, a photographic recording of the public domain 
site frontages is to be prepared and submitted to Council's satisfaction. 

The recording must include clear images of the building facade adjoining the 
footpath, the footpath, nature strip, kerb and gutter, driveway crossovers and 
laybacks, kerb ramps, road carriageway, street trees and plantings, parking 
restriction and traffic signs, and all other existing infrastructure along the street. 

The form of the recording is to be as follows:- 

(a) A PDF format report containing all images at a scale that clearly 
demonstrates the existing site conditions; 

(b) Each image is to be labelled to identify the elements depicted, the direction 
that the image is viewed towards, and include the name of the relevant street 
frontage; 

(c) Each image is to be numbered and cross referenced to a site location plan; 

(d) A summary report, prepared by a suitable qualified professional, must be 
submitted in conjunction with the images detailing the project description, 
identifying any apparent existing defects, detailing the date and authorship 
of the photographic record, the method of documentation and limitations of 
the photographic record; 

(e) Include written confirmation, issued with the authority of both the applicant 
and the photographer that the City of Sydney is granted a perpetual non-
exclusive license to make use of the copyright in all images supplied, 
including the right to make copies available to third parties as though they 
were Council images. The signatures of both the applicant and the 
photographer must be included. 

Any damage to the public way including trees, footpaths, kerbs, gutters, road 
carriageway and the like must immediately be made safe and functional by the 
applicant. Damage must be fully rectified by the applicant in accordance with the 
City’s standards prior to a Certificate of Completion being issued for Public Domain 
Works or before an Occupation Certificate is issued for the development, 
whichever is earlier. 

89



(48) PRESERVATION OF SURVEY MARKS 

All works in City streets must ensure the preservation of existing permanent survey 
marks (a brass bolt, or a lead plug holding a brass tack, covered by a cast iron 
box). At least forty-eight hours prior to the commencement of any works in the 
public way within 1 metre of a permanent survey mark contact must be made with 
the City's Project Manager Survey / Design Services to arrange for the recovery 
of the mark. 

Prior to the issue of a Construction Certificate, a survey plan, clearly showing the 
location of all permanent survey marks fronting the site and within 5 metres on 
each side of the frontages must be submitted to Council. 

At least forty-eight hours prior to the commencement of any works in the public 
way within 1 metre of a permanent survey mark contact must be made with the 
City’s Senior Surveyor to arrange for the recovery of the mark. 

A fee must be paid to the Council for the replacement of any permanent survey 
mark removed or damaged in accordance with the City's Schedule of Fees and 
Charges (Reinstatement of Survey Box). 

(49) STORMWATER AND DRAINAGE - MINOR DEVELOPMENT 

(a) The drainage system is to be constructed in accordance with the City's 
standard requirements as detailed in the City of Sydney’s Stormwater 
Drainage Manual, as amended from time to time.  

The development is to be designed so that the flow of pollutants from the 
site due to stormwater is reduced. 

(b) Where a drainage system includes On-site Detention (OSD), the following 
requirements must be satisfied prior to the issue of any Occupation 
Certificate, including any Interim Occupation Certificate: 

(i) A Positive Covenant must be registered on the title for all drainage 
systems involving OSD to ensure the maintenance of the approved 
OSD system regardless of the method of connection; 

(ii) A Works-As-Executed survey must be prepared, signed, dated and 
certified by a Registered Surveyor and must be submitted to and 
accepted by the Principal Certifier. The Works-As-Executed plan must 
be overlaid on a copy of the approved stormwater drainage plans 
issued with the Construction Certificate, with variations to locations, 
dimensions, levels and storage volumes clearly marked;  

(iii) A Hydraulic Compliance Certificate and Calculation Sheet must be 
prepared by a suitably qualified hydraulic engineer (minimum NER), 
showing approved versus installed hydraulic calculations, and must be 
submitted to and be accepted by the Principal Certifier; 

(iv) Evidence of Sydney Water’s acceptance of the Works-As-Executed 
documentation, certification and Hydraulic Compliance Certificate and 
Calculation Sheet must be provided to the Principal Certifier; 

90



(v) The Principal Certifier must submit a copy of the Works-As-Executed 
plans, certifications, Hydraulic Compliance Certificate and Calculation 
Sheet to the City of Sydney. 

(50) SYDNEY WATER CERTIFICATE (TAP-IN) 

(a) The approved plans must be submitted to Sydney Water's "Tap-in" online 
service to determine whether the development will affect Sydney Water’s 
sewer and water mains, stormwater drains and/or easements, and if further 
requirements need to be met. Sydney Water's "Tap-in" online service is 
available at www.sydneywater.com.au, (see Plumbing, Building & 
Development and then Sydney Water "Tap-in"). 

(b) The Consent Authority or a Principal Certifier must ensure that Sydney 
Water has appropriately stamped the plans before the commencement of 
work. 

(51) UTILITY SERVICES 

To ensure that utility authorities are advised of the development: 

(a) Prior to the issue of a Construction Certificate a survey is to be carried out 
of all utility services within and adjacent to the site including relevant 
information from utility authorities and excavation if necessary, to determine 
the position and level of services. 

(b) Prior to the commencement of work the applicant is to obtain written 
approval from the utility authorities (e.g. Energy Australia, Sydney Water, 
and Telecommunications Carriers) in connection with the relocation and/or 
adjustment of the services affected by the construction of the underground 
structure. Any costs in the relocation, adjustment or support of services are 
to be the responsibility of the developer. 

(52) WASTE AND RECYCLING MANAGEMENT - MINOR 

The proposal must comply with the relevant provisions of Council's Guidelines for 
Waste Management in New Developments 2018 which requires facilities to 
minimise and manage waste and recycling generated by the proposal. 

  

91

http://www.sydneywater.com.au/


SCHEDULE 1C 

DURING CONSTRUCTION/PRIOR TO OCCUPATION/COMPLETION 

(53) OCCUPATION CERTIFICATE TO BE SUBMITTED 

An Occupation Certificate must be obtained from the Principal Certifier and a copy 
submitted to Council prior to commencement of occupation or use of the whole or 
any part of a new building, an altered portion of, or an extension to an existing 
building. 

(54) HOURS OF WORK AND NOISE – CBD 

The hours of construction and work on the development must be as follows: 

(a) All work, including demolition, excavation and building work, and activities in 
the vicinity of the site generating noise associated with preparation for the 
commencement of work (eg loading and unloading of goods, transferring of 
tools etc) in connection with the proposed development must only be carried 
out between the hours of 7.00am and 7.00pm on Mondays to Fridays, 
inclusive, and 7.00am and 5.00pm on Saturdays, and no work must be 
carried out on Sundays or public holidays. 

(b) All work, including demolition, excavation and building work must comply 
with the City of Sydney Code of Practice for Construction Hours/Noise 1992 
and Australian Standard 2436-2010 Guide to Noise Control on Construction, 
Maintenance and Demolition Sites. 

(c) Notwithstanding the above, the use of a crane for special operations, 
including the delivery of materials, hoisting of plant and equipment and 
erection and dismantling of on site tower cranes which warrant the on-street 
use of mobile cranes outside of above hours can occur, subject to a permit 
being issued by Council under Section 68 of the Local Government Act 1993 
and/or Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993. 

Note: Works may be undertaken outside of hours, where it is required to avoid the 
loss of life, damage to property, to prevent environmental harm and/or to avoid 
structural damage to the building. Written approval must be given by the 
Construction Regulation Unit, prior to works proceeding. 

The City of Sydney Code of Practice for Construction Hours/Noise 1992 allows 
extended working hours subject to the approval of an application in accordance 
with the Code and under Section 4.55 of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act 1979. 

(55) BASIX 

All commitments listed in each relevant BASIX Certificate for the development 
must be fulfilled prior to an Occupation Certificate being issued. 

(56) DEFECTS LIABILITY PERIOD – PUBLIC DOMAIN WORKS 

All works to the City’s public domain, including rectification of identified defects, 
are subject to a 6 month defects liability period from the date of final completion. 

92



The date of final completion will be nominated by Council on the Certificate of 
Completion for public domain works. 

(57) PROTECTION OF STONE KERBS 

(a) The existing stone kerbs on the Lower Fort Street and Trinity Avenue 
frontages of the site are to be retained and properly protected during 
excavation and construction works. 

(b) To avoid damage to stone kerbs during excavation and construction works 
for the development, temporary removal and storage of the stone kerbs may 
be approved by Council. Removed, serviceable stone kerbs (i.e. those that 
are in good condition as agreed by Council officers) must be re-installed in 
accordance with the City of Sydney’s standard details and specifications 
after the construction works have been completed. Note: A temporary 
concrete kerb will need to be constructed to retain the footpath until the stone 
kerbs can be reinstalled. The removed stone kerbs are to be reinstalled prior 
to the issue of an Occupation Certificate. Note: all costs associated with the 
works are to be at no cost to the Council. 

(c) Damaged kerbs are to be replaced to match existing to Council’s satisfaction 
or as otherwise advised by Council officers.  

(d) Where new crossings or temporary crossings are to be constructed to 
access the property, the affected kerb stones should be salvaged and 
reused wherever possible. 

(e) All new driveway laybacks and kerbs are to be constructed with stone kerbs 
to match existing stones or as specified by City officers. All unused stone 
kerbs are to be salvaged and returned to the City’s store. 

(f) Council approval is required before kerbs are removed. 

(g) Council approval is required prior to the cutting of existing stone kerbs for 
stormwater kerb outlets. 

(58) CONSTRUCTION ACCESS DRIVEWAYS TO BE CONSTRUCTED 

Approved driveways are to be constructed for all vehicular access to the 
construction site in accordance with the requirements of Council’s “Driveway 
Specifications” to the satisfaction of Council. 

(59) LOADING AND UNLOADING DURING CONSTRUCTION 

The following requirements apply: 

(a) All loading and unloading associated with construction activity must be 
accommodated on site, where possible. 

(b) If, it is not feasible for loading and unloading to take place on site, a Works 
Zone on the street may be considered by Council. 

  

93



(c) A Works Zone may be required if loading and unloading is not possible on 
site. If a Works Zone is warranted an application must be made to Council 
at least 8 weeks prior to commencement of work on the site. An approval for 
a Works Zone may be given for a specific period and certain hours of the 
days to meet the particular need for the site for such facilities at various 
stages of construction. The approval will be reviewed periodically for any 
adjustment necessitated by the progress of the construction activities. 

(d) Where hoisting activity over the public place is proposed to be undertaken 
including hoisting from a Works Zone, a separate approval under Section 68 
of the Local Government Act 1993 must be obtained. 

(60) NO OBSTRUCTION OF PUBLIC WAY 

The public way must not be obstructed by any materials, vehicles, refuse, skips or 
the like, under any circumstances. Non-compliance with this requirement will result 
in the issue of a notice by Council to stop all work on site. 

(61) USE OF MOBILE CRANES 

The following requirements apply: 

(a) Mobile cranes operating from the road must not be used as a method of 
demolishing or constructing a building. 

(b) For special operations including the delivery of materials, hoisting of plant 
and equipment and erection and dismantling of on site tower cranes which 
warrant the on-street use of mobile cranes, permits must be obtained from 
Council for the use of a mobile crane. The permits must be obtained 48 hours 
beforehand for partial road closures which, in the opinion of Council will 
create minimal traffic disruptions and 4 weeks beforehand in the case of full 
road closures and partial road closures which, in the opinion of Council, will 
create significant traffic disruptions. 

(c) The use of a crane for special operations, including the delivery of materials, 
hoisting of plant and equipment and erection and dismantling of on site tower 
cranes which warrant the on-street use of mobile cranes outside of approved 
hours of construction can occur, subject to a permit being issued by Council 
under Section 68 of the Local Government Act 1993 and/or Section 138 of 
the Roads Act 1993. 

(62) COVERING OF LOADS 

All vehicles involved in the excavation and/or demolition process and departing 
the property with demolition materials, spoil or loose matter must have their loads 
fully covered before entering the public roadway. 

  

94



SCHEDULE 1D 

STRATA SUBDIVISION 

(63) STRATA SUBDIVISION – APPROVAL OF STRATA PLAN REQUIRED 

A separate application must be made to Council or an accredited certifier to obtain 
approval of the Strata Plan and issue of a Strata Certificate under the Strata 
Schemes Development Act 2015. 

(64) SYDNEY WATER CERTIFICATE - SUBDIVISION 

Prior to the issue of a Strata Certificate, a Section 73 Compliance Certificate 
under the Sydney Water Act 1994 must be obtained from Sydney Water 
Corporation. 

Application must be made through an authorised Water Servicing Coordinator. 
Please refer to the Building Developing and Plumbing section on the web site 
www.sydneywater.com.au then refer to "Water Servicing Coordinator" under 
"Developing Your Land" or telephone 13 20 92 for assistance. 

Following application a "Notice of Requirements" will advise of water and sewer 
infrastructure to be built and charges to be paid. Please make early contact with 
the Coordinator, since building of water/sewer infrastructure can be time 
consuming and may impact on other services and building, driveway or landscape 
design. 

The Section 73 Certificate must be submitted to Council or the Principal Certifying 
Authority prior to a Strata Certificate being issued. 

(65) COMMON PROPERTY 

All access corridors, stairways and the like which are not included within a specific 
lot are to be designated as common property. 

(66) RESTRICTION ON RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT 

A documentary Restriction on Use of Land is to be created over all residential lots 
(numbered 1 to 30 inclusive) in the Strata Plan, pursuant to Section 88B of the 
Conveyancing Act 1919, appurtenant to Council, in terms to the satisfaction of 
Council or the Strata certifier, requiring that the apartments contained within the 
affected lots are to be used as permanent residential accommodation only and not 
for the purpose of a hotel, motel, serviced apartments, private hotel, boarding 
house, tourist accommodation or the like. 

(67) HEIGHT LIMITATIONS 

Appropriate height limitations are to be nominated on the final Plan of Strata 
Subdivision for those parts of lots in the Strata Plan that are not roofed or covered. 

  

95



(68) ADDITIONAL EASEMENTS 

Any additional easements or any other encumbrances and indemnities required 
for joint or reciprocal use of part or all of the proposed lots as a consequence of 
the subdivision must be created over appropriate lots in the subdivision, pursuant 
to Section 88B of the Conveyancing Act 1919 and to Council’s satisfaction. 

  

96



SCHEDULE 2 
 
PRESCRIBED CONDITIONS 

The prescribed conditions in accordance with Division 8A of the Environmental 
Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000 apply: 

Clause 98  Compliance with Building Code of Australia and insurance requirements 
under the Home Building Act 1989 

Clause 98A Erection of signs 

Clause 98B Notification of Home Building Act 1989 requirements 

Clause 98C Conditions relating to entertainment venues 

Clause 98D Conditions relating to maximum capacity signage 

Clause 98E Conditions relating to shoring and adequacy of adjoining property 

Refer to the NSW State legislation for full text of the clauses under Division 8A of the 
Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000. This can be accessed at: 
http://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au 
 

 

  

97



SCHEDULE 3 

TERMS OF APPROVAL 

The Terms of Approval for Integrated Development as advised by the Heritage Council of 
NSW are as follows: 

1. APPROVED DEVELOPMENT 
Development must be in accordance with: 
a) Architectural Drawings prepared by Neeson Murcutt Architects as listed below:  

 

Dwg No Dwg Title Date  Rev 

Project Name: Architectural Drawings - Neeson Murcutt Architects 

LFS-000 Covering Page   

LFS-101 Context Analysis + Photos + Site Plan + 
Drawing Register 

 Q 

LFS-102 Existing Ground Plan  13/7/18 Q 

LFS-103 Existing First Plan 13/7/18 Q 

LFS-104 Existing Second Plan 13/7/18 Q 

LFS-105 Existing Roof Plan 13/7/18 Q 

LFS-106 Existing Elevations  13/7/18 Q 

LFS-107 Existing Elevations 13/7/18 Q 

LFS-108 Proposed Ground Floor Plan 21/02/19 X 

LFS-109 Proposed First Floor Plan 29/11/18 V 

LFS-110 Proposed Second Floor Plan 29/11/18 V 

LFS-111 Proposed Roof Plan 13/7/18 R 

LFS-112 Proposed Elevations  29/11/18 U 

LFS-113 Proposed Elevations 29/11/18 T 

LFS-114 Proposed Sections 29/11/18 U 

LFS-115 Shadow Diagrams - Plan View 29/11/18 R 

LFS-116 Shadow Diagrams – View From Sun 13/7/18 N 

LFS-117 Photomontage/Perspectives 13/7/18 Q 

LFS-118 Photomontage/Perspectives 13/7/18 Q 

LFS-119 Stair Details - Plan - Heritage 13/7/18 Q 

LFS-120 Stair Details – Existing Typical - 
Heritage 

13/7/18 O 

LFS-121 
 

Stair Details – Proposed Typical– 
Heritage 

13/7/18 O 

LFS-122 Stair Details - EXTG Trinity Ave - 
Heritage 

13/7/18 O 

LFS-123 Stair Details - PROP Trinity Ave - 
Heritage 

29/11/18 P 

LFS-124 Stair Details - 1:10 Details – Heritage 13/7/18 P 

LFS-125 Rear Addition Details – Heritage 13/7/18 
 

Q 

98



LFS-126 Rear Addition Details – Heritage  13/7/18 M 

LFS-127 Internal Opening Details – Heritage  13/7/18 O 

LFS-128 Bathroom/Kitchen Insertion Details – 
Heritage  

13/7/18 M 

LFS-129 Material Palette 13/7/18 M 

LFS-130 Draft Sub Division Plan 13/7/18 C 

LFS-131 Interunit Privacy Design Intent 29/11/18 A 

LFS-132 Bicycle Storage Design Intent 29/11/18 A 

 
b) Landscape Drawings prepared by Jane Irwin Landscape Architecture as listed 

below:  
 

Dwg No Dwg Title Date  Rev 

Project Name: Landscape Drawings - Jane Irwin Landscape Architecture 

LA-01 General arrangement + schedules 21/02/19 E 

LA-02 Demolition Plan 11/7/18 D 

LA-03 Landscape Plan – 30 & 32 21/02/19 F 

LA-04 Landscape Plan 34 & 36 21/02/19 E 

LA-05 Landscape Plan 38 & 40 21/02/19 E 

LA-06 Landscape Plan 42 & 2 21/02/19 F 

LA-07 Landscape Plan 42 & 2 Images 19/6/18 B 

LA-08 Landscape Sections & Details 28/11/18 C 

 
c) Survey Drawings prepared by Higgens Surveyors as listed below:  

 

Dwg No Dwg Title Date  Rev 

Project Name: Survey Drawings - Higgens Surveyors 

37930 (sheet 1) Plan showing selected detail & levels 
over 

28/09/17 A 

37930 (Sheet 2) Plan showing first floor layout 28/09/17 A 

37930 (Sheet 3) Plan showing second floor layout 28/09/17 A 

37930 (Sheet 4) Plan showing north western elevations 
 

28/09/17 A 

37930 (Sheet 5) Plan showing selected detail & levels 
over 

28/09/17 A 

37930 (Sheet 6) Plan showing selected detail & levels 
over 

 

28/09/17 A 

37930 (Sheet 7) Plan showing south eastern elevation 28/09/17 A 

 
  

99



d) Hydraulic Services drawings, prepared by Umow Lai as listed below: 
 

Dwg No Dwg Title Date  Rev 

Project Name: Hydraulic Concept Plan – Umow Lai 

S.CAR-SKH001 Proposed Hydraulic Inground 
Drainage Services 

- D 

S.CAR-SKH002 Proposed Hydraulic Ground Floor 
Water and Gas Services 

- D 

S.CAR-SKH003 Proposed Hydraulic Roof Drainage 
Services 

- D 

 
e) Draft Strata Sub Division Plan No LFS -130 Rev C, prepared by Neeson Murcutt 

Architects Pty Ltd dated 13 July 2018.  
 

f) Heritage Impact Statement prepared by Tropman & Tropman Architects, dated July 
2018 as amended by Addendums 1 and 2 to the Heritage Impact Statement (Issue 
3 July 2018), prepared by Tropman & Tropman Architects, dated February 2019. 
 

g) Statement of Environmental Effects prepared by Mersonn Pty Ltd, dated November 
2018. 
 

h) Design Verification Statement prepared by Neeson Murcutt Architects, dated July 
2018. 
 

i) Summary of Changes prepared by Neeson Murcutt Architects, dated July 2018. 
 

j) BCA Statement – Fire Report prepared by BCA Logic, dated 21 June 2018. 
 

k) Access Report prepared by Funktion, dated 16/07/18. 
 

l) Stormwater Drainage Concept Plan, prepared by Umow Lai, dated 20 June 2018. 
 

m) Waste Management Plan, prepared by Elephants Foot Waste Compactors Pty Ltd, 
dated 30 November 2018. 
 

n) Arborist Report prepared by Earthscape Horticultural Services, dated June 2018. 
 
o) Covering Letter prepared by Neeson Murcutt Architects, dated 21 February 2019. 
 

 
EXCEPT AS AMENDED by the following conditions of this approval: 
 

2. DESIGN MODIFICATION  
a) The pitch and slope of the new roof to each of the rear extension should follow the 

pitch and slope of the existing roof to the main building behind it. Amended 
drawings must be submitted for assessment and approval by the Heritage Council 
of NSW (or its delegate) with the s60 application. 
Reason: To complement the symmetrical presentation of the apartment blocks to 
the rear and reduce visual impact. 

 
  

100



b) The height of the new openings to walls between proposed kitchen and dining and 
living spaces should be limited to minimum required to match existing door 
dimensions.  Amended drawings must be submitted for assessment and approval 
by the Heritage Council of NSW (or its delegate) with the s60 application. 
Reason: To minimise impact on significant fabric and to comply with the Heritage 
Council Approvals Committee resolution dated 8 May 2018.  
 

c) Creation of openings to walls between buildings at the entry should retain sufficient 
nibs. Amended drawings must be submitted for assessment and approval by the 
Heritage Council of NSW (or its delegate) with the s60 application. 
Reason: To interpret original building plan and layout and to minimise impact to 
original built fabric.  
 

d) Service risers to the rear of the buildings should be relocated to areas of lesser 
significance or new additions. Amended drawings must be submitted for 
assessment and approval by the Heritage Council of NSW (or its delegate) with 
the s60 application. 
Reason: To minimise impact on significant built fabric.  

 
3.  FURTHER INFORMATION 

a) BCA upgrade works must minimise impact on significant fabric. The proposal 
should be referred to the Heritage Council Technical Advisory Committee for 
further advice and amended in line with the Committee's advice. The final proposal 
along with a detailed heritage assessment must be submitted for assessment and 
approval by the Heritage Council of NSW (or its delegate) with the s60 application. 
Reason: The submitted information does not provide adequate details to enable 
assessment of the heritage impacts posed by this component of proposal.  
 

b) The new alarm and emergency light system including locations of new installations 
and reticulation of any wiring must be designed to minimise impact on significant 
fabric and views. The final proposal along with a heritage assessment must be 
submitted for assessment and approval by the Heritage Council of NSW (or its 
delegate) with the s60 application. 
Reason: The submitted information does not provide adequate details to enable 
assessment of the heritage impacts posed by this component of proposal.  
 

c) Compliance with the Conservation Management Plan must be incorporated into 
the terms of the Strata Plan by-laws or equivalent. The Heritage Council of NSW 
(or its delegate) must be notified accordingly prior to its finalisation. 
Reason: To comply with the policies included in the Conservation Management 
Plan. 
 

d) Fire upgrade works between the flats must minimise impact on significant built 
fabric including significant ripple iron ceilings. A detailed methodology for the 
disassembling, storage and reinstating of the ceilings is to be prepared and 
submitted with the s60 application for approval by the Heritage Council of NSW (or 
its delegate). 
Reason: To ensure that the works are undertaken using appropriate methodology 
to minimise impact on significant fabric. 
 

e) Plans and details for the air conditioning proposal including location, sizes and 
screening of units and reticulation of wiring must be submitted for assessment and 
approval by the Heritage Council of NSW (or its delegate) with the s60 application. 
Detailed design should minimise impact on significant fabric and views. 

101



Reason: To ensure that the works are designed sympathetically to minimise impact 
on significant fabric. 
 

f) The adaptation of the entry stair should retain/reuse original exceptionally 
significant components as much as possible. Existing railings should be reused 
and adapted sympathetically. Amended details should be prepared and submitted 
with the s60 application for approval by the Heritage Council of NSW (or its 
delegate). 
Reason: To minimise loss of significant fabric.  
 

g) Details of the proposed conversion of the bedroom into bathroom and kitchen 
should be prepared and submitted with the s60 application for approval by the 
Heritage Council of NSW (or its delegate). Doors and windows in the same 
configuration should be swapped and reused to minimise impact. 
Reason: To ensure that the works are designed sympathetically to minimise impact 
on significant fabric. 

 
4. LANDSCAPE WORKS 

Landscape works should be appropriately detailed to ensure that water drains away 
from the buildings.  
Reason: To prevent damage to heritage fabric. 

 
5. SPECIALIST TRADESPERSONS 

All work to, or affecting, significant fabric shall be carried out by suitably qualified 
tradespersons with practical experience in conservation and restoration of similar 
heritage structures, materials and construction methods.  
Reason: So that the construction, conservation and repair of significant fabric follows 
best heritage practice. 

 
6. HERITAGE CONSULTANT 

A suitably qualified and experienced heritage consultant must be nominated for this 
project. The nominated heritage consultant must provide input into the detailed design, 
provide heritage information to be imparted to all tradespeople during site inductions, 
and oversee the works to minimise impacts to heritage values. The nominated heritage 
consultant must be involved in the selection of appropriate tradespersons and must be 
satisfied that all work has been carried out in accordance with the conditions of this 
consent. 
Reason: So that appropriate heritage advice is provided to support best practice 
conservation and ensure works are undertaken in accordance with this approval. 

 
7. SITE PROTECTION 

a) Significant built elements and heritage fabric are to be protected during site 
preparation and works from potential damage.  Protection systems must ensure 
significant fabric is not damaged or removed. 

Reason: To ensure significant fabric and vegetation are protected during 
construction. 

 
b) Any significant fabric removed must be labelled and stored safely for possible 

future reinstatement. 
Reason: To ensure significant fabric is appropriately stored and protected. 

  

102



c) The installation of new services shall be carried out in such a manner as to 
minimise damage to or removal of historic fabric and shall not obscure historic 
features. Any penetrations through heritage fabric should be prevented. 

Reason: To minimise impact on heritage fabric. 
 

8. UNEXPECTED HISTORICAL ARCHAEOLOGICAL RELICS  
a) The Applicant will provide with the Section 60 Application, the name of an 

Excavation Director to be on call for the project.  The Excavation Director will be 
suitably qualified for the activity and the significance of the site in accordance with 
the Heritage Council of NSW Excavation Director Criteria. 
 

b) The applicant must ensure that if unexpected archaeological deposits or relics not 
identified and considered in the supporting documents for this approval are 
discovered, work must cease in the affected area(s) and the Heritage Council of 
NSW must be notified. Additional assessment and approval may be required prior 
to works continuing in the affected area(s) based on the nature of the discovery. 

Reason: This is a standard condition to identify to the applicant how to proceed if 
historical archaeological deposits or relics are unexpectedly identified during 
works. 

 
9. ABORIGINAL OBJECTS 

Should any Aboriginal objects be uncovered by the work which is not covered by a 
valid Aboriginal Heritage Impact Permit, excavation or disturbance of the area is to 
stop immediately and the Office of Environment & Heritage is to be informed in 
accordance with the National Parks and Wildlife Act 1974 (as amended). Works 
affecting Aboriginal objects on the site must not continue until the Office of 
Environment and Heritage has been informed and the appropriate approvals are in 
place. Aboriginal objects must be managed in accordance with the National Parks and 
Wildlife Act 1974. 

Reason: This is a standard condition to identify to the applicant how to proceed if 
Aboriginal objects are unexpectedly identified during works. 

 
10. COMPLIANCE 

If requested, the applicant and any nominated heritage consultant may be required to 
participate in audits of Heritage Council of NSW approvals to confirm compliance with 
conditions of consent. 
Reason: To ensure that the proposed works are completed as approved. 
 

11. SECTION 60 APPLICATION 
An application under section 60 of the Heritage Act 1977 must be submitted to, and 
approved by, the Heritage Council of NSW (or delegate), prior to work commencing.  
Reason: To meet legislative requirements. 

 
ADVICE 
Section 148 of the Heritage Act 1977 (the Act), allows people authorised by the Minister to 
enter and inspect, for the purposes of the Act, with respect to buildings, works, relics, 
moveable objects, places or items that is or contains an item of environmental heritage. 
Reasonable notice must be given for the inspection. 
 

103



Attachment B1 

Selected Drawings

104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



Attachment B2 

Selected Drawings

121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



Attachment C 

Clause 4.6 Variation Request -  Building 
Height

133



 
 
 
 
 

 
/Volumes/Company Share/Mersonn/Projects/2018 Projects/218002 30 - 40 Lower Fort Street, Millers 

Point/addinfo/Cl4.6.docx 
 
 

Just i f icat ion under Clause 4.6 of Sydney Local Environmental  Plan 2012 

– Except ions to Development Standards. 

 

30 – 42 Lower Fort  Street & 2 – 4 Tr ini ty Avenue, Mi l lers Point 

Clause 4.3 Height of  Bui ldings 

Control  9m 

Proposed 13.34m 

 
Li f ts general  (30-40 LFS) 

Top of l i f t  RL = 30.680 

Adjacent RL ( new entry f loor level)  = 20.990 

Height = 9,690mm 

 

DDA l i f t  (no 2 Tr ini ty)   

Top of l i f t  RL = 30.990 

Adjacent RL (new entry f loor level)  = 20.820 
Height = 10,170mm 

 

AC enclosure rear Tr ini ty Roof  

Top of enclosure RL = 32,425 

Adjacent RL (exist ing corner of  bui lding as per survey) = 20.970 

Height = 11,455mm 

 
Exist ing bui lding Ridge (tal lest)  

 Exist ing r idge = 33.850 

Exist ing footpath level  (adjacent) = 20.510 

Height = 13,340mm 

  

  

Proposed rear addit ion ( tal lest)   

 Proposed r idge = 32.050 
Exist ing ground level  (adjacent) = 20.710 

Height =  11,340mm  

 

 

 

134



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

  
 
 

2 

1.0 Introduct ion 

 
The proposed development comprises al terat ions and addit ions to the 

exist ing three storey resident ial  f lat  bui lding at 30 – 42 Lower Fort  

Street & 2 – 4 Tr ini ty Avenue, Mi l lers Point.   The property is a heri tage 

i tem and the exist ing bui lding has a height of  13.34m to the top of the 

parapet,  which exceeds the height control  of  9m.  I t  is proposed to carry 

out works above the 9m height control  to f i re resistance rate the 

exist ing cei l ings and structure and to provide an appropriate and 

compatible roof form to the proposed rear extensions.  This new roof 
form wi l l  breach the 9m height control  but wi l l  not exceed the current 

bui lding height of  13.34m. 

 
The exist ing bui lding comprises three generous storeys (3.5m) above 

the natural  ground level  and an exist ing pi tched roof behind a parapet.   

This conf igurat ion causes the exist ing bui lding to exceed the 9m height 

control  wi th a parapet height of  13.34m. 
 

Part  of  the proposal is to create an addit ional bedroom at the rear of  

each uni t  to provide contemporary amenity to the dwel l ings.  This wi l l  

cause works to occur at  a height above 9m (10.8m) but wi l l  not increase 

the height of  the bui lding at 13.34m.   

 

135



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

  
 
 

3 

Al l  of  the works which are proposed above the 9m height control  relate 

only to ut i l is ing the space which exists and incorporat ing a rear 
extension sympathet ic to the bui lding and the exist ing roof form.  Where 

new windows and exter ior works are proposed at the rear of  the si te 

and outside the envelope of the exist ing bui lding they have been 

designed to respect the amenity of  the neighbouring propert ies and not 

to be visible from the street or publ ic domain.   

 

The proposal makes eff ic ient use of the exist ing bui lding envelope and 

restr ict ing the footpr int  of  the proposed extension where the si te has a 
f loor space rat io of  2:1 and the proposal is only 1.7:1.   

 

Clause 4.6 of the Sydney Local Environmental  Plan 2012 (SLEP) 

enables Counci l  to grant consent for development even though the 

development var ies a development standard. The clause aims to 

provide an appropriate degree of f lexibi l i ty in applying certain 

development standards to achieve better outcomes for and from 
development.  

 

Clauses 4.6 (3) and (4)(a)( i i )  require that a consent authori ty be 

sat isf ied of three matters before grant ing consent to a development that 

contravenes a development standard, namely: 

1.  that the appl icant has adequately demonstrated that compl iance 

with the development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary 

in the circumstances of the case; 
2.  that the appl icant has adequately demonstrated that there are 

suff ic ient environmental  planning grounds to just i fy contravening 

the development standard; and 

3. that the proposed development wi l l  be in the publ ic interest 

because i t  is consistent with the object ives of the part icular 

standard and the object ives for development within the zone in 

which the development is proposed to be carr ied out.  

 
The consent authori ty ’s sat isfact ion to those matters must be informed 

by the object ive of providing f lexibi l i ty in the appl icat ion of the relevant 

control  to achieve better outcomes for and from the development in 

136



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

  
 
 

4 

quest ion. 

 
The Land and Environment Court has given considerat ion to the matters 

that must be addressed in relat ion to whether a var iat ion to 

development standards should be approved.  Whi le these cases 

or iginal ly referred to the former SEPP 1, the pr inciples st i l l  remain 

relevant,  more recent ly,  further guidance on the approach to apply to 

appl icat ions to vary development standards under clause 4.6 of the 

Standard Instrument was provided by the Land and Environment Court .   

This Clause 4.6 gives considerat ion to the matters raised in:  

•  Ini t ia l  Act ion Pty Ltd v Wool lahra Municipal  Counci l  [2018] 

NSWLEC 118; 

•  Tur land v Wingecarr ibee Shire Counci l  [2018] NSWLEC 1511; 

•  Four2Five Pty Ltd v Ashf ield Counci l  [2015] NSWLEC 1009; 

•  Micaul Holdings Pty Limited v Randwick City Counci l  [2015] 

NSWLEC 1386; and 

•  Moskovich v Waverley Counci l  [2016] NSWLEC 1015. 

•  Wehbe v Pi t twater Counci l  [2007] NSW LEC 827; and 

•  Winten Property Group Ltd v North Sydney Counci l  [2001] 130 

LGERA 79 at 89;  

 

In accordance with the above requirements, this Clause 4.6 var iat ion 
request:  

 

2.  ident i f ies the development standard to be var ied;  

3.  ident i f ies the var iat ion sought;  

4.  establ ishes that compl iance with the development standard is 

unreasonable or unnecessary in the circumstances of the case; 

5.  demonstrates there are suff ic ient environmental  planning 

grounds to just i fy the contravent ion; 
6.  demonstrates that the proposed var iat ion is in the publ ic interest;  

and 

7. provides an assessment of  the matters the secretary is required 

to consider before providing concurrence. 

 

This Clause 4.6 var iat ion request relates to the development standard 

137



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

  
 
 

5 

for Height of  Bui ldings under Clause 4.3 of the SLEP and should be 

read in conjunct ion with the Statement of Environmental  Effects (SEE) 
prepared by Mersonn dated June 2018 as wel l  as the supplementary 

documentat ion submit ted to Counci l  s ince this date. This 

Clause 4.6 var iat ion request demonstrates that compl iance with the 

Height of  Bui ldings development standard is unreasonable and 

unnecessary in the circumstances of the case and that there are 

suff ic ient environmental  planning grounds to just i fy var iat ion to the 

standard. 

 
2.0  Development Standard to be Varied 

 

 

The development standard that is sought to be var ied as part  of  this 

appl icat ion is Clause 4.3 of the SLEP, relat ing to the Height of  

Bui ldings. Under the SLEP 2012, the si te is af forded Height of  Bui ldings 

of 9m. 
 

3.0 Nature of the Variat ion Sought  

 

The maximum Height of  Bui ldings on the si te under the SLEP 2012 for 

this appl icat ion is 13.34m. The exist ing bui lding on the si te has a height 

of  13.34m, therefore the exist ing bui lding is already in 

excess of the maximum Height of  Bui ldings development standard 

appl icable under the SLEP 2012 and any work proposed above the 9m 
Height of  Bui ldings (despite not increasing the Height of  Bui ldings 

further than that which exists) requires a var iat ion to the maximum 

Height of  Bui ldings development standard through clause 4.6. 

The proposed development does not seek consent to increase the 

Height of  Bui ldings on the si te but does propose work to the fabr ic 

which occurs above 9m. The exist ing bui lding exceeds the Height of  

Bui ldings development standard appl icable under the SLEP 2012 by 

48.2% and whi le works are proposed at this higher level  the proposal 
does not increase the height of  the exist ing bui lding. 

 

I t  is wel l  establ ished in case law that the extent of  the numerical  

138



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

  
 
 

6 

var iat ion does not form part  of  the test required to be exercised under 

Clause 4.6. Decisions in respect of  Micaul Holdings P/L V Randwick 
City Counci l  (55% exceedance of height and 20% exceedance of FSR) 

and Moskovich V Waverley Counci l  (65% exceedance of FSR) support  

this.  

 

4.0 Clause 4.6(3)(a):  Compl iance with the development standard is 

unreasonable or unnecessary in the circumstances of the case. 

 

The f ive methods out l ined in Wehbe include: 
1. The object ives of the standard are achieved notwithstanding 

non-compl iance with the standard (First  Method).  

2.  The underlying object ive or purpose of the standard is not 

relevant to the development and therefore compl iance is 

unnecessary (Second Method).  

3.  The underlying object or purpose would be defeated or 

thwarted i f  compl iance was required and therefore compl iance is 

unreasonable (Third Method).  

4.  The development standard has been vir tual ly abandoned or 

destroyed by the Counci l 's own act ions in grant ing consents 

depart ing from the standard and hence compl iance with the 

standard is unnecessary and unreasonable (Fourth Method).  

5.  The zoning of the part icular land is unreasonable or 

inappropriate so that a development standard appropriate for that 

zoning is also unreasonable and unnecessary as i t  appl ies to the 

land and compl iance with the standard would be unreasonable or 

unnecessary. That is,  the part icular parcel  of  land should not 

have been included in the part icular zone (Fi f th Method).  

 

In this instance, the First  Method is of  part icular assistance in 

establ ishing that compl iance with a development standard is 

unreasonable or unnecessary.  

 
The environmental  planning grounds rel ied on in the wri t ten request 

under Clause 4.6 must be suff ic ient to just i fy contravening the 

development standard. The focus is on the aspect of  the development 

139



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

  
 
 

7 

that contravenes the development standard, not the development as a 

whole. Therefore, the environmental  planning grounds advanced in the 
wri t ten request must just i fy the contravent ion of the development 

standard and not simply promote the benef i ts of  carrying out the 

development as a whole ( Ini t ia l  Act ion v Wool lahra Municipal  Counci l  

[24] and Turland v Wingecarr ibee Shire Counci l  [42]) .  

 

In this instance the whole of the proposed development is the aspect of  

the development that exceeds the development standard further than 

the exist ing bui l t  form on the si te,  because the exist ing bui lding already 
exceeds the relevant maximum Height of  Bui ldings development 

standard and therefore any work proposed above the 9m height  would 

require a further var iat ion to that standard. 

 

4.1 The object ives of the development standard are achieved 

notwithstanding the non-compl iance (First  Method) 

 
The object ives of Clause 4.3 Height of  Bui ldings in SLEP 2012 are; 

 

(1)  The object ives of this clause are as fol lows: 

(a)  to ensure the height of  development is appropriate to the 

condit ion of the si te and i ts context, 

(b)  to ensure appropriate height t ransi t ions between new 

development and heri tage i tems and bui ldings in her i tage 

conservat ion areas or special  character areas, 

(c)  to promote the sharing of views, 

(d)  to ensure appropriate height t ransi t ions from Central  Sydney 

and Green Square Town Centre to adjoining areas, 

(e)  in respect of  Green Square:  

( i )   to ensure the amenity of  the publ ic domain by 

restr ict ing tal ler bui ldings to only part  of  a si te,  and 

( i i )   to ensure the bui l t  form contr ibutes to the physical  

def ini t ion of the street network and publ ic spaces. 

 

The height of  the proposal is considered to be consistent with and 

appropriate to the condit ion of the si te and i ts context.   The desired 

140



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

  
 
 

8 

character of  the local i ty and the surrounding bui ldings and publ ic areas 

wi l l  cont inue to receive sat isfactory exposure to sky and sunl ight.   The 
proposal provides an appropriate bui l t  form and land use intensi ty 

consistent with the object ives of this clause. 

 

The proposal maintains the height t ransi t ion between the her i tage i tems 

and new development.  

 

I t  is demonstrated in the plans that the proposal minimises any 

overshadowing, loss of pr ivacy and visual  impacts for the neighbouring 
propert ies consistent with the object ives of this clause.  The proposed 

external  works to the bui lding are at the rear of  the si te and located to 

minimise any view impacts.  

 

The SEE detai ls that the proposal is largely consistent with the relevant 

environmental  planning instruments and does not give r ise to any 

adverse environmental  impacts in respect to overshadowing, t raf f ic,  
her i tage, wind, ref lect iv i ty,  stormwater,  f looding, noise, waste, 

economic and social  impacts.  

 

I t  is considered that these object ives are met by the proposal.    

 

5.0 There are suff ic ient environmental  planning grounds to just i fy 

contravening the development standard 

 
Clause 4.6(3)(b) of  the SLEP 2012 requires the departure from the 

development standard to be just i f ied by demonstrat ing: 

That there are suff ic ient environmental  planning grounds to just i fy 

contravening the development standard. 

 

There are suff ic ient environmental  planning grounds to just i fy a f lexible 

approach to the appl icat ion of the Height of  Bui ldings control  as i t  

appl ies to the si te.  In Four2Five, the Court  found that the environmental  
planning grounds advanced by the appl icant in a Clause 4.6 var iat ion 

request must be part icular to the circumstances of the proposed 

development on that si te.   

141



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

  
 
 

9 

 

The appl icable circumstances that relate to the si te are discussed 
below. 

 

The proposal makes eff ic ient use of the exist ing bui lding envelope and 

restr ict ing the footpr int  of  the proposed extension where the si te has a 

f loor space rat io of  2:1 and the proposal is only 1.7:1.  I t  is considered 

that this is a better planning outcome to ut i l ise the exist ing volume and 

restr icted footpr int  rather than an attempt to extend the property to the 

rear where greater amenity impacts may occur.  
 

A considerat ion of the appl icat ion and the submit ted shadow diagrams 

demonstrate that no signi f icant overshadowing, pr ivacy, view or bulk 

and scale amenity impacts ar ise from the proposal.  I t  is considered that 

the proposal is the better planning outcome encouraged by the 

provisions of Clause 4.6. 

 
Whi le a Clause 4.6 exemption appl icat ion is required for the works 

above the 9m height control  al l  of  these works are considered 

compl imentary to the heri tage status of the bui lding and where external  

are benign and with no environmental  or amenity impact where they 

occur within the exist ing envelope.  

 

The proposed works above the height have no view impact and cause 

no overshadowing, nor bulk or scale changes to the exist ing dwel l ing. 
In the circumstances where there are sound environmental  and si te 

speci f ic suff ic ient environmental  planning grounds reasons for the 

breach to the height control  i t  is considered to just i fy contravent ion of 

the control  and consequent ly the except ion to the height control  

standard under Clause 4.6 is considered acceptable. 

 

Further because the exist ing bui lding exceeds the Height of  Bui ldings 

development standard, any addit ion of height (or work above the height 
control  to exist ing fabr ic) to the exist ing bui lding wi l l  require a var iat ion 

to this development standard under Clause 4.6.  By al lowing a var iat ion 

to the Height of  Bui ldings development standard in this instance, an 

142



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

  
 
 

10 

opportuni ty is presented for the proposed development to achieve the 

benef i ts of  the adapt ive reuse of the her i tage i tem and improve the 
exist ing bui lding’s relat ionship with the surrounding development,  and 

the relevant ADG and DCP controls.  In this regard, there are suff ic ient 

environmental  planning grounds to just i fy contravening the development 

standard. The proposed addit ional height sought in this Clause 4.6 

better al lows the bui l t  form on the si te to achieve the desired future 

character of  the local i ty,  as expressed under the DCP, as compared to 

the do nothing scenario.  

 
6.0 I t  is in the publ ic interest because i t  is consistent with the 

object ives of the part icular standard and the zone. 

 

 6.1 Consistency with the object ives of the development standard. 

 

The proposed development is consistent with the object ives of the FSR 

development standard, for the reasons discussed in Sect ion 4.1 of this 
report .  

 

 6.2 Consistency with the Zoned R1 – General  Resident ial  Zone 

object ives. 

 

The object ives for development in this zone are; 

 

1   Object ives of zone 

•  To provide for the housing needs of the community. 

•   To provide for a var iety of  housing types and densi t ies.  

•   To enable other land uses that provide faci l i t ies or services to 

meet the day to day needs of residents.  

•   To maintain the exist ing land use pattern of predominant ly 

resident ial  uses. 

 

The proposed development improves the provision of housing for the 
needs of the community without compromising amenity of  the 

surrounding area.  The proposal is consistent with the desired pattern 

143



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

  
 
 

11 

of  land use and densi ty achieves a reasonably high level  of  resident ial  

amenity.  
 

The proposal provides a var iety of  housing types in an area which is 

undergoing a rapid transi t ion in housing stock from apartments to single 

dwel l ings. 

 

The proposal maintains the pattern of predominant ly resident ial  uses. 

 

The proposal is considered to meet the object ives for development in 
the zone. 

 

The proposal is considered consistent with the object ives of the 

standard and for development in this zone as required by this 

subclause. 

 

7.0 Secretary’s Concurrence. 
 

Under Clause 4.6(5) of  SLEP 2012, the Secretary’s concurrence is 

required pr ior to any var iat ion being granted. The fol lowing sect ion 

provides a response to those matters set out in Clause 4.6(5) of  the 

SLEP, which must be considered by the Secretary. 

 

Whether contravent ion of the development standard raises any matter 

of  s igni f icance for State or regional environmental  planning 
The var iat ion to the Height of  Bui ldings standard of SLEP 2012 wi l l  not 

raise any matter in which could be deemed to have State or  

Regional s igni f icance. The extent of  var iat ion sought is minor in the 

context of  the exist ing bui lding height and the works do not increase 

the exist ing height.   

 

The publ ic benef i t  of  maintaining the development standard. 

 
Maintaining the development standard would not resul t  in any publ ic 

benef i t  in this si tuat ion. As detai led within the SEE, the height and bulk 

of  the exist ing bui lding is predominant ly unchanged and the proposal 

144



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

  
 
 

12 

responds to the surrounding urban context and the requirements of  the 

Sydney DCP 2012 and ADG. 
 

The current bui l t - form provided by the exist ing bui lding is general ly 

consistent with the bulk and scale of the surrounding bui ldings, and 

requir ing compl iance with the Height of  Bui ldings standard would resul t  

in n inconsistent bui lding form. 

 

The proposed development would al low the bui lding as a whole to 

better meet the object ives of the DCP by physical ly responding to the 
form of the her i tage i tem and i ts context  and reinforcing the character 

of  in considerat ion of the surrounding heri tage bui ldings. The proposed 

variat ion to the Height of  Bui ldings standard therefore al lows the si te to 

better meet the object ives of the DCP, ADG and the desired future 

character of  the area. DCPs are guiding documents prepared to express 

the desired future character;  protect the publ ic interest and are 

prepared through an extensive publ ic exhibi t ion process.  
 

Therefore, to better meet the object ives of the DCP can be said to 

improve the development’s presentat ion to the publ ic domain and is in 

the publ ic interest.  

 

Any other matters to be taken into considerat ion by the Secretary 

None.  

 
In accordance with PS 18-003 (Variat ions to Development Standards),  

the Secretary ’s concurrence wi l l  need to be sought as the var iat ion 

proposal is greater than 10%. 

8.0 Conclusion 

 

The assessment above demonstrates that compl iance with the maximum 

Height of  Bui ldings development standard contained in Clause 4.3 of 

SLEP 2012 is unreasonable and unnecessary in the circumstances of 
the case and that the just i f icat ion is wel l  founded on environmental  

planning grounds. 

 

145



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

  
 
 

13 

I t  is considered that the var iat ion al lows for the orderly and economic 

use of the land in an appropriate manner, whi lst  also al lows for a 
superior outcome in planning and design terms. This Clause 4.6 

var iat ion demonstrates, notwithstanding the non-compl iance with the 

maximum bui lding height development standard, that:  

•  The development as proposed wi l l  del iver a superior bui l t - form 

outcome in considerat ion of the si te ’s her i tage signi f icance and 

i ts locat ion amongst the surrounding heri tage bui ldings; 

•  The development as proposed wi l l  provide environmental  benef i ts 

part icular to the si te through the provision of improved amenity 

for future occupants of the development and for the surrounding 

area general ly;  and 

•  Compl iance with the development standard would be both 
unreasonable and unnecessary in the instance because the 

development is able to ful ly sat isfy the object ives of the R1 – 

General  Resident ial  Zone and the object ives of the Height of  

Bui ldings development standard. 

 

The SLEP 2012 appl ies a maximum Height of  Bui ldings development 

standard for the si te of  9m. The exist ing development has been lawful ly 

constructed and comprises 13.34m, therefore the exist ing bui lding is 
already in excess of the maximum Height of  Bui ldings development 

standard al lowable under the SLEP 2012. 

 

This var iat ion therefore seeks consent for the proposed works as 

consistent with the character and form of the heri tage i tem and the 

surrounding heri tage bui ldings and does not resul t  in an over 

development of  the si te or any adverse impacts on the publ ic domain. 
The proposed addit ional height is commensurate with surrounding 

developments and the bui l t  form that character ises the local i ty.  I t  is 

also consistent with the design approach appl ied to other her i tage 

bui ldings within the immediate vicini ty.  

 

Consistent with the aim of Clause 4.6 to provide an appropriate degree 

of f lexibi l i ty to achieve better outcomes for and from development,  a 

departure from the Height of  Bui ldings development standard is 

146



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

  
 
 

14 

considered appropriate in these circumstances. 

 
Despite the numerical  non-compl iance with the Height of  Bui ldings 

development standard, the proposed development is considered to 

sat isfy the object ives of the development standard and the R1 – 

General  Resident ial  Zone. 

 

The proposal wi l l  provide environmental  benef i ts part icular to the si te 

through the provision of improved amenity for  future occupants of the 

development and for the surrounding area general ly.  On this basis,  the 
Clause 4.6 var iat ion is considered wel l  founded and should be 

supported. 

 

In this instance i t  is considered appropriate to make an except ion to the 

Height of  Bui ldings development standard under the provisions of 

Clause 4.6 for the reasons out l ined in the preceding discussion.  

 

Signature:                                      

Name: Andrew Darroch 
Date: March 2019 

 

147



Attachment D 

Clause 4.6 Variation Request -  Apartment 
Size

148



/Volumes/Company Share/Mersonn/Projects/2018 Projects/218002 30 - 40 Lower Fort Street, Millers 
Point/addinfo/Cl4.6unitsize.docx 

This Clause 4.6 has been prepared on request of  City of  Sydney.  The 

appl icant does not accept that Guidel ines under the Apartment Design 

Guide are development standards which require var iat ion under Clause 

4.6 of the Sydney Local Environmental  Plan. 

Just i f icat ion under Clause 4.6 of Sydney Local Environmental  Plan 2012 

– Except ions to Development Standards.

30 – 42 Lower Fort  Street & 2 – 4 Tr ini ty Avenue, Mi l lers Point 

Clause 4D Apartment Size and Layout 

Design cr i ter ia 1 bedroom 50m2 

Proposed Unit  42.1 44.1m2 

Unit  42.2 42.4m2 

Unit  42.1B 44.5m2 

Unit  42.2B 45.2m2 

Unit  42.1C 44.6m2 
Unit  42.2C 45.1m2 

1.0 Introduct ion 

The proposed development comprises al terat ions and addit ions to the 

exist ing three storey resident ial  f lat  bui lding at 30 – 42 Lower Fort  
Street & 2 – 4 Tr ini ty Avenue, Mi l lers Point.   The property is a heri tage 

i tem and the exist ing bui lding has a height of  13.34m to the top of the 

parapet,  which exceeds the height control  of  9m.  I t  is proposed to carry 

out works to faci l i tate the cont inued use of the bui lding as resident ial  

f lats.  

Six of  the exist ing 30 apartments comprise one bedroom units which 

were adapted from the previous layout in the past and these have been 
ident i f ied as worthy of retent ion in this form as evidence of the histor ic 

layers of change to the bui lding.  

Each of these six uni ts is sl ight ly below the contemporary minimum unit  

s ize for a 1 bed unit  of  50m2 under the Apartment Design Guide being 

149



2 

between 42m2 and 46m2 respect ively.   This can be understood from the 

ground f loor extract below. 

The exist ing bui lding comprises three generous storeys (3.3m cei l ing 

heights)  above the natural  ground level and an exist ing pi tched roof 

behind a parapet.    

Where new windows and exter ior works are proposed at the rear of the 

si te and outside the envelope of the exist ing bui lding they have been 

designed to respect the amenity of  the neighbouring propert ies and not 

to be visible from the street or publ ic domain.   

150



3 

The proposal makes eff ic ient use of the exist ing bui lding envelope and 

restr ict ing the footpr int  of  the proposed extension where the si te has a 
f loor space rat io of  2:1 and the proposal is only 1.7:1.   

In this instance the six one bedroom units in the proposed development 

are the aspect of  the development that do not meet the development 

standard, because the exist ing bui lding is a State Listed Heri tage I tem 

retaining the conf igurat ion is desirable and would require a further 

var iat ion to that standard. 

Clause 4.6 of the Sydney Local Environmental  Plan 2012 (SLEP) 

enables Counci l  to grant consent for development even though the 

development var ies a development standard. The clause aims to 

provide an appropriate degree of f lexibi l i ty in applying certain 

development standards to achieve better outcomes for and from 

development.  

Clauses 4.6 (3) and (4)(a)( i i )  require that a consent authori ty be 

sat isf ied of three matters before grant ing consent to a development that 

contravenes a development standard, namely:  

1. that the appl icant has adequately demonstrated that compl iance

with the development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary

in the circumstances of the case;

2. that the appl icant has adequately demonstrated that there are

suff ic ient environmental  planning grounds to just i fy contravening
the development standard; and

3. that the proposed development wi l l  be in the publ ic interest

because i t  is consistent with the object ives of the part icular

standard and the object ives for development within the zone in

which the development is proposed to be carr ied out.

The consent authori ty ’s sat isfact ion to those matters must be informed 

by the object ive of providing f lexibi l i ty in the appl icat ion of the relevant 
control  to achieve better outcomes for and from the development in 

quest ion. 

151



4 

The Land and Environment Court  has given considerat ion to the matters 

that must be addressed in relat ion to whether a var iat ion to 
development standards should be approved.  Whi le these cases 

or iginal ly referred to the former SEPP 1, the pr inciples st i l l  remain 

relevant,  more recent ly,  further guidance on the approach to apply to 

appl icat ions to vary development standards under clause 4.6 of the 

Standard Instrument was provided by the Land and Environment Court .   

This Clause 4.6 gives considerat ion to the matters raised in:  

• Ini t ia l  Act ion Pty Ltd v Wool lahra Municipal  Counci l  [2018]
NSWLEC 118;

• Turland v Wingecarr ibee Shire Counci l  [2018] NSWLEC 1511;

• Four2Five Pty Ltd v Ashf ield Counci l  [2015] NSWLEC 1009;

• Micaul Holdings Pty Limited v Randwick City Counci l  [2015]
NSWLEC 1386; and

• Moskovich v Waverley Counci l  [2016] NSWLEC 1015.

• Wehbe v Pi t twater Counci l  [2007] NSW LEC 827; and

• Winten Property Group Ltd v North Sydney Counci l  [2001] 130

LGERA 79 at 89;

In accordance with the above requirements, this Clause 4.6 var iat ion 

request:  

2. ident i f ies the development standard to be var ied;

3. ident i f ies the var iat ion sought;

4. establ ishes that compl iance with the development standard is

unreasonable or unnecessary in the circumstances of the case;

5. demonstrates there are suff ic ient environmental  planning

grounds to just i fy the contravent ion;

6. demonstrates that the proposed var iat ion is in the publ ic interest;

and
7. provides an assessment of  the matters the secretary is required

to consider before providing concurrence.

This Clause 4.6 var iat ion request relates to the development standard 

for Minimum unit  s ize under Clause 4.D of the ADG and should be read 

in conjunct ion with the Statement of Environmental  Effects (SEE) 

152



5 

prepared by Mersonn dated June 2018 as wel l  as the supplementary 

documentat ion submit ted to Counci l  s ince this date. This 
Clause 4.6 var iat ion request demonstrates that compl iance with the 

Minimum unit  s ize development standard is unreasonable and 

unnecessary in the circumstances of the case and that there are 

suff ic ient environmental  planning grounds to just i fy var iat ion to the 

standard. 

2.0  Development Standard to be Varied 

The development standard that is sought to be var ied as part  of  this 

appl icat ion is Clause 4D of the Apartment Design Guide, relat ing to the 

Minimum internal  area of apartments. Under the ADG, the minimum size 

of a one bedroom apartment is 50m2. 

3.0 Nature of the Variat ion Sought  

The minimum size of a one bedroom apartment is 50m2 under the ADG, 

The exist ing bui lding on the si te has six one bedroom apartments which 

are between 42m2 and 46m2 respect ively and therefore the exist ing 

bui lding is already below the minimum unit  s ize for these 6 apartments 

under the ADG and any work proposed to these apartments requires a 

var iat ion to the minimum unit  s ize development standard through clause 

4.6. 

The six uni ts are below the minimum unit  s ize by up to 16% and whi le 

works are proposed these apartments are exist ing in this form. 

I t  is wel l  establ ished in case law that the extent of  the numerical  

var iat ion does not form part  of  the test required to be exercised under 

Clause 4.6. Decisions in respect of  Micaul Holdings P/L V Randwick 

City Counci l  (55% exceedance of height and 20% exceedance of FSR) 
and Moskovich V Waverley Counci l  (65% exceedance of FSR) support  

this.  

153



6 

4.0 Clause 4.6(3)(a):  Compl iance with the development standard is 

unreasonable or unnecessary in the circumstances of the case. 

The f ive methods out l ined in Wehbe include: 

1. The object ives of the standard are achieved notwithstanding

non-compl iance with the standard (First  Method).

2. The underlying object ive or purpose of the standard is not

relevant to the development and therefore compl iance is

unnecessary (Second Method).

3. The underlying object or purpose would be defeated or

thwarted i f  compl iance was required and therefore compl iance is

unreasonable (Third Method).

4. The development standard has been vir tual ly abandoned or

destroyed by the Counci l 's own act ions in grant ing consents

depart ing from the standard and hence compl iance with the

standard is unnecessary and unreasonable (Fourth Method).

5. The zoning of the part icular land is unreasonable or

inappropriate so that a development standard appropriate for that

zoning is also unreasonable and unnecessary as i t  appl ies to the

land and compl iance with the standard would be unreasonable or

unnecessary. That is,  the part icular parcel  of  land should not

have been included in the part icular zone (Fi f th Method).

In this instance, the First  Method is of  part icular assistance in 

establ ishing that compl iance with a development standard is 
unreasonable or unnecessary.  

The environmental  planning grounds rel ied on in the wri t ten request 

under Clause 4.6 must be suff ic ient to just i fy contravening the 

development standard. The focus is on the aspect of  the development 

that contravenes the development standard, not the development as a 

whole. Therefore, the environmental  planning grounds advanced in the 

wri t ten request must just i fy the contravent ion of the development 
standard and not simply promote the benef i ts of  carrying out the 

development as a whole ( Ini t ia l  Act ion v Wool lahra Municipal  Counci l  

[24] and Turland v Wingecarr ibee Shire Counci l  [42]) .

154



7 

In this instance the six one bedroom units in the proposed development 
are the aspect of  the development that do not meet the development 

standard, because the exist ing bui lding is a State Listed Heri tage I tem 

retaining the conf igurat ion is desirable and would require a further 

var iat ion to that standard. 

4.1 The object ives of the development standard are achieved 

notwithstanding the non-compl iance (First  Method) 

The object ive of Clause 4D1 in ADG is;  

The layout of  rooms within an apartment is funct ional,  wel l  

organised and provide a high standard of amenity.  

Six of the exist ing 30 apartments comprise one bedroom units which 

were adapted from the previous layout in the past and these have been 
ident i f ied as worthy of retent ion in this form as evidence of the histor ic 

layers of change to the bui lding.  

In this instance the six one bedroom units in the proposed development 

are the aspect of  the development that do not meet the development 

standard, because the exist ing bui lding is a State Listed Heri tage I tem 

retaining the conf igurat ion is desirable and would require a further 

var iat ion to that standard. 

Each of these six uni ts is sl ight ly below the contemporary minimum unit  

s ize for a 1 bed unit  of  50m2 under the Apartment Design Guide being 

between 42m2 and 46m2 respect ively.    

The exist ing bui lding comprises three generous storeys with 3.3m 

cei l ing heights where the current minimum is 2.7m and the internal  

spaces have been planned to achieve the requisi te funct ional i ty,  
organisat ion and high standard of amenity by taking advantage of the 

addit ional  height and room proport ions. 

155



8 

I t  can be noted from the layout plans that the uni ts are very eff ic ient in 

minimising circulat ion spaces and making eff ic ient use of the exist ing 
bui lding envelope and footpr int  to achieve this object ive.   

The uni t  s ize of the proposal is considered to be consistent with and 

appropriate to the condit ion of the si te and i ts context.   The desired 

character of  the local i ty and the surrounding bui ldings and publ ic areas 

wi l l  cont inue to receive sat isfactory exposure to sky and sunl ight.   The 

proposal provides an appropriate bui l t  form and land use intensi ty 

consistent with the object ives of this clause. 

I t  is demonstrated in the plans that the proposal minimises any 

overshadowing, loss of pr ivacy and visual  impacts for the neighbouring 

propert ies.  The proposal is largely consistent with the relevant 

environmental  planning instruments and does not give r ise to any 

adverse environmental  impacts in respect to overshadowing, t raf f ic,  

her i tage, wind, ref lect iv i ty,  stormwater,  f looding, noise, waste, 
economic and social  impacts.  

I t  is considered that this object ive is met by the proposal.  

5.0 There are suff ic ient environmental  planning grounds to just i fy 

contravening the development standard 

Clause 4.6(3)(b) of  the SLEP 2012 requires the departure from the 
development standard to be just i f ied by demonstrat ing: 

That there are suff ic ient environmental  planning grounds to just i fy 

contravening the development standard. 

There are suff ic ient environmental  planning grounds to just i fy a f lexible 

approach to the appl icat ion of the Minimum unit  s ize control  as i t  

appl ies to the si te.  In Four2Five, the Court  found that the environmental  

planning grounds advanced by the appl icant in a Clause 4.6 var iat ion 
request must be part icular to the circumstances of the proposed 

development on that si te.   

156



9 

The appl icable circumstances that relate to the si te are discussed 

below. 

Six of  the exist ing 30 apartments comprise one bedroom units which 

were adapted from the previous layout in the past and these have been 

ident i f ied as worthy of retent ion in this form as evidence of the histor ic 

layers of change to the bui lding.  

In this instance the six one bedroom units in the proposed development 

are the aspect of  the development that do not meet the development 
standard, because the exist ing bui lding is a State Listed Heri tage I tem 

retaining the conf igurat ion is desirable and would require a further 

var iat ion to that standard. 

Each of these six uni ts is sl ight ly below the contemporary minimum unit  

s ize for a 1 bed unit  of  50m2 under the Apartment Design Guide being 

between 42m2 and 46m2 respect ively.    

The exist ing bui lding comprises three generous storeys with 3.3m 

cei l ing heights where the current minimum is 2.7m and the internal  

spaces have been planned to achieve the requisi te funct ional i ty,  

organisat ion and high standard of amenity by taking advantage of the 

addit ional  height and room proport ions. 

By vir tue of the proposal upgrading a property of  signi f icant her i tage 
value whi le retaining evidence of the histor ic layers of change to the 

bui lding is considered that the proposal is the better planning outcome 

encouraged by the provisions of Clause 4.6. 

Whi le a Clause 4.6 exemption appl icat ion is required for the works al l  of  

these works are considered compl imentary to the her i tage status of the 

bui lding and where external  are benign and with no environmental  or 

amenity impact where they occur within the exist ing envelope.  

The proposed works have no signi f icant impact and cause no 

overshadowing, nor bulk or scale changes to the exist ing dwel l ing. 

157



10 

By al lowing a variat ion to the Minimum unit  size development standard 

in this instance, an opportuni ty is presented for the proposed 

development to achieve the benefi ts of the adaptive reuse of the 

heri tage i tem and improve the exist ing bui lding’s relat ionship with the 

surrounding development,  and the relevant ADG and DCP controls. In 

this regard, there are suff ic ient environmental  planning grounds to 

just i fy contravening the development standard. The proposed unit  s ize 

sought in this Clause 4.6 better al lows the bui l t  form on the si te to 

achieve the desired future character of  the local i ty,  as expressed 

under the DCP, as compared to the do nothing scenario. 

6.0 I t  is in the publ ic interest because i t  is consistent with the 

object ives of the part icular standard and the zone. 

6.1 Consistency with the object ives of the development standard. 

The proposed development is consistent with the object ives of the 

Minimum unit  size development standard, for the reasons discussed 

in Sect ion 4.1 of this report.  

 6.2 Consistency with the Zoned R1 – General Residential  Zone 

object ives. 

The object ives for development in this zone are; 

1   Object ives of zone 

• To provide for the housing needs of the community.

• To provide for a var iety of  housing types and densit ies.

• To enable other land uses that provide faci l i t ies or services to

meet the day to day needs of residents.

• To maintain the exist ing land use pattern of predominant ly

resident ial  uses.

158



11 

The proposed development improves the provision of housing for the 

needs of the community without compromising amenity of  the 

surrounding area.  The proposal is consistent with the desired pattern 

of land use and densi ty achieves a reasonably high level of resident ial  

amenity.  

The proposal provides a var iety of housing types in an area which is 
undergoing a rapid transi t ion in housing stock from apartments to single 
dwel l ings. 

The proposal maintains the pattern of predominant ly resident ial  uses. 

The proposal is considered to meet the object ives for development in 

the zone. 

The proposal is considered consistent wi th the object ives of the 

standard and for development in this zone as required by this 

subclause. 

7.0 Secretary’s Concurrence. 

Under Clause 4.6(5) of SLEP 2012, the Secretary’s concurrence is 

required pr ior to any variat ion being granted. The fol lowing sect ion 

provides a response to those matters set out in Clause 4.6(5) of the 

SLEP, which must be considered by the Secretary. 

Whether contravention of the development standard raises any matter of 

s ignif icance for State or regional environmental planning 

The variat ion to the standard of SLEP 2012 wi l l  not raise any matter in 

which could be deemed to have State or Regional signif icance. 

159



12 

The publ ic benef i t  of  maintaining the development standard. 

Maintaining the development standard would not resul t  in any publ ic 

benef i t  in this si tuat ion. As detai led within the SEE, the height and bulk 

of  the exist ing bui lding is predominant ly unchanged and the proposal 

responds to the surrounding urban context and the requirements of  the 

Sydney DCP 2012 and ADG. 

The current bui l t - form provided by the exist ing bui lding is general ly 
consistent with the bulk and scale of the surrounding bui ldings, and 

requir ing compl iance with the Minimum unit  s ize standard would resul t  

in an inconsistent bui lding form. 

The proposed development would al low the bui lding as a whole to 

better meet the object ives of the DCP by physical ly responding to the 

form of the her i tage i tem and i ts context  and reinforcing the character 
of  in considerat ion of the surrounding heri tage bui ldings. The proposed 

variat ion to the Minimum unit  s ize standard therefore al lows the si te to 

better meet the object ives of the DCP, ADG and the desired future 

character of  the area. DCPs are guiding documents prepared to express 

the desired future character;  protect the publ ic interest and are 

prepared through an extensive publ ic exhibi t ion process.  

Therefore, to better meet the object ives of the DCP can be said to 
improve the development’s presentat ion to the publ ic domain and is in 

the publ ic interest.  

Any other matters to be taken into considerat ion by the Secretary 

None.  

In accordance with PS 18-003 (Variat ions to Development Standards),  

the Secretary ’s concurrence wi l l  need to be sought as the var iat ion 
proposal is greater than 10%. 

8.0 Conclusion 

160



13 

The assessment above demonstrates that compl iance with the Minimum 

unit  s ize development standard contained in Clause 4D of the ADG is 
unreasonable and unnecessary in the circumstances of the case and 

that the just i f icat ion is wel l  founded on environmental  planning grounds. 

I t  is considered that the var iat ion al lows for the orderly and economic 

use of the land in an appropriate manner, whi lst  also al lows for a 

superior outcome in planning and design terms. This Clause 4.6 

var iat ion demonstrates, notwithstanding the non-compl iance with the 

minimum unit  s ize development standard, that:  

• The development as proposed wi l l  del iver a superior bui l t - form

outcome in considerat ion of the si te ’s her i tage signi f icance and

its locat ion amongst the surrounding heri tage bui ldings;

• The development as proposed wi l l  provide environmental  benef i ts

part icular to the si te through the provision of improved amenity
for future occupants of the development and for the surrounding

area general ly;  and

• Compliance with the development standard would be both

unreasonable and unnecessary in the instance because the

development is able to ful ly sat isfy the object ives of the R1 –

General  Resident ial  Zone and the object ives of the Height of
Bui ldings development standard.

This var iat ion therefore seeks consent for the proposed works as 

consistent with the character and form of the heri tage i tem and the 

surrounding heri tage bui ldings and does not resul t  in an over 

development of  the si te or any adverse impacts on the publ ic domain. 
The proposed uni t  s ize is commensurate with surrounding developments 

and the bui l t  form that character ises the local i ty.  I t  is also consistent 

with the design approach appl ied to other her i tage bui ldings within the 

immediate vic ini ty.  

Consistent with the aim of Clause 4.6 to provide an appropriate degree 

of f lexibi l i ty to achieve better outcomes for and from development,  a 

departure from the Minimum unit  s ize development standard is 

161



14 

considered appropriate in these circumstances. 

Despite the numerical  non-compl iance with the Minimum unit  s ize 

development standard, the proposed development is considered to 

sat isfy the object ives of the development standard and the R1 – 

General  Resident ial  Zone. 

The proposal wi l l  provide environmental  benef i ts part icular to the si te 

through the provision of improved amenity for  future occupants of the 

development and for the surrounding area general ly.  On this basis,  the 
Clause 4.6 var iat ion is considered wel l  founded and should be 

supported. 

In this instance i t  is considered appropr iate to make an except ion to the 

Minimum unit  s ize development standard under the provisions of Clause 

4.6 for the reasons out l ined in the preceding discussion. 

Signature: 

Name: Andrew Darroch 
Date: March 2019 

162



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Development Application: 21 O'Connor Street, Chippendale 

File No.: D/2018/1360 

Summary 

Date of Submission: 8 November 2018 

Applicant: Kreis Grennan Architecture 

Architect/Designer: Kreis Grennan Architecture 

Owner: Anthony Rodgers and Bernadette Mullin 

Cost of Works: $611,128 

Zoning: The use is defined as commercial and residential and is 
permissible in the B4 Mixed Use zone. 

Proposal Summary: The application proposes alterations and additions to the 
existing mixed-use warehouse building to include a new 
commercial studio, courtyard and garage on the ground 
floor, internal reconfiguration of the first floor, extension of 
the second floor onto the existing outdoor terrace, and 
addition of a roof terrace above. 

The application is referred to the Local Planning Panel for 
determination as the proposal seeks to vary the floor space 
ratio and height of buildings development standards 
prescribed by Sydney LEP 2012 by more than 10%. 

The site is subject to a maximum building height of 9m 
under the Sydney LEP 2012. The proposal has a 
maximum building height of 10.83m, which exceeds the 
standard by 18.45%. 

The site is subject to a maximum floor space ratio of 1.5:1 
under the Sydney LEP 2012. The proposal has a floor 
space ratio of 1.93:1, which exceeds the standard by 25%. 

A request to vary the standards has been made pursuant 
to Clause 4.6 of the Sydney LEP 2012. The requests to 
vary the standards are not supported in this instance for 
the reasons outlined in this report. 

 

1

Item 6.



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Proposal Summary 
(continued): 

The proposal has been considered by the Design Advisory 
Panel Residential Subcommittee who recommended the 
applicant maintain an attic-like addition, retain the window 
frames, and provide further information in relation to 
overlooking and overshadowing impacts. 

The application was amended on 23 January 2019 
following feedback from City staff. The amendments 
include the addition of a pitched side wall and changes to 
the window design. 

The proposal results in an unacceptable non-compliance 
with the Sydney LEP 2012 height control and Sydney DCP 
2012 height in storeys control, will result in overlooking 
impacts, is excessive in bulk and scale, and is 
unsympathetic to the contributory building and 
conservation area. As such the proposal is not supported. 

The application was notified in accordance with Council's 
notification policy. Two submissions have been received 
relating to excessive height, bulk and scale, overlooking 
impacts, overshadowing impacts and streetscape and 
heritage impacts. 

Summary Recommendation: This proposal is recommended for refusal. 

Development Controls: (i) Sydney Regional Environmental Plan (Sydney 
Harbour Catchment) 2005 (Deemed SEPP) 

(ii) State Environmental Planning Policy (Building 
Sustainability Index: BASIX) 2004 

(iii) Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 (Gazetted 12 
December 2012, as amended) 

(iv) Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 (in force on 
12 December 2012, as amended) 

(v) City of Sydney Development Contributions Plans 
2015 

Attachments: A. Selected Drawings 

B. Clause 4.6 Variation Requests 

  

2



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Recommendation 

It is resolved that consent be refused for Development Application No. D/2018/1360 for the 
following reasons: 

(A) The variations sought to development standards prescribed under Clause 4.3 Height 
and Clause 4.4 Floor Space Ratio of the Sydney LEP 2012 are inconsistent with the 
provisions of Clause 4.6 and are not considered to be in the public interest. 

(B) The proposal results in unsympathetic alterations and additions to a contributory 
building within the Chippendale Heritage Conservation Area (C9). The proposal is 
therefore contrary to the requirements of Clause 5.10 of the Sydney LEP 2012 and 
Section 3.9 of the Sydney DCP 2012. 

(C) The proposal fails to demonstrate design excellence in accordance with Clause 6.21 of 
the Sydney LEP 2012 as it is excessive in bulk and scale, will have detrimental 
impacts on the character of the contributory building and wider heritage conservation 
area, and will have adverse impacts on the amenity of neighbouring buildings. 

(D) The proposal will have detrimental impacts on the amenity of neighbouring properties 
by way of unacceptable visual privacy impacts, and as such is inconsistent with the 
provisions of Section 4.2.3 of the Sydney DCP 2012. 

(E) The proposal is not in keeping with the desired future character of the area and is not 
considered to be in the public interest. 

  

3



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Background 

The Site and Surrounding Development 

1. A site visit was carried out by staff on 20 November 2018. 

2. The site is irregular in shape with an area of approximately 96.2sqm. It is located on 
the south-eastern corner of O'Connor Street and Smithers Street with its primary 
frontage to Smithers Street. A two storey building, with mansard attic addition, is 
contained within the site.  

3. The existing two storey building was constructed as a commercial warehouse in the 
post-war period. A mansard attic addition was approved in 2013. The building includes 
a commercial premises on the ground floor level and a residential dwelling occupying 
the first floor level and attic level. The building includes an outdoor roof terrace on the 
first floor at the northern end of the building.  

4. Surrounding land uses are residential and commercial. A row of two-storey terrace 
houses adjoins the site to the north, south and east. A two storey commercial building 
adjoins the site to the west. Larger scale commercial buildings and residential flat 
buildings are located on Abercrombie Street and Buckland Street. 

5. The site is not a heritage item but is identified as a contributory building within the 
Chippendale Conservation Area (C9). 

6. Photos of the site and surrounds are provided below: 

 

Figure 1: Aerial image of subject site and surrounding area 

4



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 2: Site viewed from O'Connor Street 

 

Figure 3: Site viewed from Smithers Street 

5



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Proposal 

7. The application seeks consent for alterations and additions to the existing mixed-use 
building including: 

(a) Ground Floor: 

(i) demolition of internal walls and stair; 

(ii) addition of new 13sqm internal courtyard with tree, landscaping and stair to 
upper levels; and  

(iii) addition of new commercial studio, garage, store room and two WCs. 

(b) First Floor: 

(i) demolition of internal walls, stair and slab on the northern section of the 
building; 

(ii) removal of the glass from the two northern windows and replacement with 
steel mesh; and 

(iii) addition of study with kitchen and laundry facilities, two bedrooms and 
bathroom. 

(c) Second Floor: 

(i) demolition of mansard attic addition including walls and roof and demolition 
of slab on the northern section of the building; 

(ii) new addition with pitched walls containing living room with kitchen, 
bedroom and bathroom; and 

(iii) addition of a 15.8sqm roof terrace. 

(d) Roof: 

(i) addition of 29sqm roof terrace with solar panels above the new addition. 

8. While the application does not seek approval for subdivision, the proposal could 
facilitate future subdivision of the building. Each of the three levels are accessible from 
the internal courtyard via an external stair and are capable of being self-contained, 
with no internal connectivity.  

9. It is noted that strata subdivision of the building was sought by the current owners and 
approved in 2016. The consent was then surrendered in 2018.  

10. Following preliminary assessment of the application by City staff and a presentation to 
the City of Sydney Design Advisory Panel Residential Subcommittee, a request for 
amended plans was sent on 20 December 2018. The applicant was required to 
address a number of issues, including: 

(i) Request to delete the new roof terrace and stair and amend the form of the 
addition to maintain an attic-like addition.  

(ii) Request to retain the window frames to the north of the building. 

6



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

(iii) Request for further information on overlooking and overshadowing 
impacts, materials and finishes, ventilation and tree. 

11. Amended plans were received on 23 January 2019 and form the basis of this 
assessment. 

12. Plans of the proposed development (as amended) are provided below. 

 

Figure 4: Proposed ground and first floor plans 

 

Figure 5: Proposed second floor and roof terrace plans 

7



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 6: Proposed west elevation 

 

Figure 7: Proposed east elevation 

 

Figure 8: Proposed north elevation (left) and south elevation (right) 

8



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 9: Materials and finishes  

 

Figure 10: Photomontage 

History Relevant to the Development Application 

13. On 26 August 2013, D/2013/897 was approved for demolition of the existing rooftop 
level and replacement with a new mansard roof addition. 

14. On 5 December 2016, D/2016/1214 was approved for strata subdivision of the existing 
mixed-use building into two lots and common property. One lot consisted of the 
commercial tenancy on the ground floor and the other lot consisted of the residential 
tenancy on the upper two floors. The subdivision was never registered and the consent 
was surrendered on 3 May 2018. 

9



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Economic/Social/Environmental Impacts 

15. The application has been assessed under Section 4.15 of the Environmental Planning 
and Assessment Act 1979, including consideration of the following matters: 

(a) Environmental Planning Instruments and DCPs. 

Sydney Regional Environmental Plan (Sydney Harbour Catchment) 2005 (Deemed 
SEPP) 

16. The site is located within the designated hydrological catchment of Sydney Harbour 
and is subject to the provisions of the above SREP. 

17. The Sydney Harbour Catchment Planning Principles must be considered in the 
carrying out of development within the catchment. The key relevant principles include: 

(a) protect and improve hydrological, ecological and geomorphologic processes; 

(b) consider cumulative impacts of development within the catchment; 

(c) improve water quality of urban runoff and reduce quantity and frequency of urban 
run-off; and 

(d) protect and rehabilitate riparian corridors and remnant vegetation. 

18. The site is within the Sydney Harbour Catchment and eventually drains into the 
Harbour. However, the site is not located in the Foreshores Waterways Area or 
adjacent to a waterway and therefore, with the exception of the objective of improved 
water quality, the objectives of the SREP are not applicable to the proposed 
development. The development is consistent with the controls contained within the 
SREP. 

State Environmental Planning Policy (Building Sustainability Index: BASIX) 2004 

19. A BASIX Certificate has been submitted with the development application. 

20. The BASIX certificate lists measures to satisfy BASIX requirements which have been 
incorporated in the proposal.  

Sydney LEP 2012 

21. The site is located within the B4 Mixed Use zone. The use is defined as commercial 
and residential and is permissible.  

22. The relevant matters to be considered under Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 
for the proposed development are outlined below. 

  

10



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Compliance Tables 

Development Control Compliance Comment 

4.3 Height of Buildings No A maximum height of 9m is permitted. 

A height of 10.83m is proposed to the 
top of the balustrade and 10.11m to the 
top of the addition. 

See discussion under the heading 
Issues. 

4.4 Floor Space Ratio No A maximum FSR of 1.5:1 is permitted. 

The existing building has a GFA of 
196.89sqm and an FSR of 2.11:1. The 
proposal includes a net reduction in GFA 
of 16.52sqm with an FSR of 1.93:1. 

See discussion under the heading 
Issues. 

4.6 Exceptions to development 
standards 

No The proposal seeks to vary the 
development standards prescribed 
under Clause 4.3 and Clause 4.4. 

See discussion under the heading 
Issues. 

5.10 Heritage conservation No The site is not a heritage item but is 
identified as a contributory building 
within the Chippendale Conservation 
Area (C9). 

The bulk and scale of the proposed 
addition, roof terrace and external stair 
are not considered to be sympathetic to 
the existing contributory item and 
overwhelm the integrity of the host 
building. The proposal does not provide 
an appropriate height transition to the 
neighbouring two storey terraces. 

The application was reviewed by the 
City's Heritage Specialist, who raised 
concerns with the form of the addition, 
the roof terrace and external stair. The 
application is not supported. 

  

11



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Part 6 Local Provisions - 
Height and Floor Space  

Compliance Comment 

Division 4 Design excellence No The application proposes to utilise 
appropriate quality materials and 
detailing, including gold matte coloured 
aluminium louvres to the new addition, 
and improvements to the facade of the 
existing building, including a dark grey 
coloured rendered paint finish on the 
ground level, dark grey coloured painted 
brickwork on the first floor level and gold 
matte coloured doors. 

However, the form and scale of the 
addition, roof terrace and external stair 
are excessive in height and bulk and will 
have unacceptable impacts on the 
heritage conservation area and to the 
visual privacy of the neighbouring 
properties.  

The proposed development fails to 
satisfy the requirements of this 
provision. 

Sydney DCP 2012 

23. The relevant matters to be considered under Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 
for the proposed development are outlined below. 

2. Locality Statements – Chippendale 

The subject site is located in the Chippendale locality. The proposed alterations and 
additions to the existing mixed-use building are not considered to be in keeping with the 
unique character of the area and design principles in that they do not respond to or 
complement the contributory building and heritage conservation area, and are 
inappropriate in height, scale, design and form. 

 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

3.5 Urban Ecology Yes The proposal includes the partial 
demolition of the ceiling to the ground 
floor and roof at the northern end of the 
building to create an internal void for a 
landscaped courtyard at the ground floor 
level. The application has been reviewed 
by the City's Landscape Assessment 
Officer, who raised no objection. 

12



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

3.6 Ecologically Sustainable 
Development 

Yes The proposal satisfies BASIX and 
environmental requirements. 

3.9 Heritage No The site is not a heritage item but is 
identified as a contributory building 
within the Chippendale Conservation 
Area (C9). 

The application was accompanied by a 
Heritage Impact Statement which states 
that the building was constructed in 
stages between 1951 and 1957 as a 
commercial warehouse to replace a 
single storey 1880s cottage. 

The proposed works retain the form and 
detail of the original two storey 
warehouse building. The proposed 
addition, roof terrace and external stair 
are considered to be excessive in 
height, bulk and scale and will 
overwhelm the contributory building. 

The application was reviewed by the 
City's Heritage Specialist, who raised 
concerns with the form of the addition, 
the roof terrace and external stair. The 
application is not supported. 

3.10 Significant Architectural 
Building Types 

No The proposal retains the form and detail 
of the original two storey warehouse 
building. However, the upper level 
addition is unsympathetic in scale and 
style to the existing building, dominates 
the original building, and is not simple in 
form. The application is not supported. 

13



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

3.11 Transport and Parking Yes The proposal includes a single car 
garage on the ground floor, with access 
provided from the existing garage door 
and vehicle crossover. The application 
was reviewed by the City's Transport 
and Access Unit, who raised no 
objection. 

The proposal attracts a requirement for 
two bike parking spaces, as per Table 
3.5. In the event of an approval, a 
condition of consent would be 
recommended for these two bike parking 
spaces to be provided. 

 

4. Development Types 

4.2 Residential flat, 
commercial and mixed use 
developments 

Compliance Comment 

4.2.1 Building height No A maximum of two storeys is permitted.  

The existing building is two storeys, with 
a mansard attic addition. The proposed 
addition is not recessed from the 
parapet, and reads as a third storey.  

The DCP requires a minimum floor to 
floor height of 4.5m for the ground floor, 
and 3.6m for each storey above. 

The proposal maintains the ground floor 
level floor to floor height of 3.38m and 
first floor level floor to floor height of 
3.1m. Given the building is a 
contributory building and the non-
compliances are existing, they are 
considered acceptable. 

The second floor level floor to floor 
height is 3.1m with a floor to ceiling 
height of 2.9m. Acceptable internal 
amenity is provided on this level. 

See discussion under heading Issues. 

14



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

4. Development Types 

4.2 Residential flat, 
commercial and mixed use 
developments 

Compliance Comment 

4.2.2 Building setbacks Yes The existing rear and side setback 
alignments are maintained, which is 
consistent with the adjoining buildings. 

4.2.3 Amenity Partial 
compliance 

As discussed earlier in the report, each 
of the three levels are accessible from 
the internal courtyard via an external 
stair and are capable of being self-
contained, with no internal connectivity. 
Each of the three levels provide 
acceptable internal amenity in regards to 
solar and daylight access, natural 
ventilation, ceiling heights, size and 
layouts, access to private open space 
and storage. The subdivision of the 
building was not sought under this 
application. 

Solar Access 

The shadow diagrams show additional 
overshadowing to the front private open 
space and windows of the properties 
opposite Smithers Street at 10.00am 
and the private open space of the 
eastern neighbours at 3.00pm. It is 
noted that the extent of additional 
shadows cast by the proposal is minor, 
and that the affected properties maintain 
a minimum of two hours solar access, as 
per DCP requirements. The shadow 
diagrams show additional 
overshadowing to the roofs of various 
neighbouring properties at different 
stages of the day. As such the proposal 
is not considered to result in significant 
adverse impacts in relation to solar 
access. 

Privacy 

The proposal includes a roof terrace 
above the new addition, which will result 
in unacceptable privacy impacts to the 
neighbouring private open space and is 
inconsistent with DCP provisions. Refer 
to Figure 14. 

15



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

4. Development Types 

4.2 Residential flat, 
commercial and mixed use 
developments 

Compliance Comment 

The proposed outdoor terrace at the first 
floor is considered to replicate the 
existing site conditions and as such 
does not exacerbate privacy impacts on 
neighbouring properties. 

See discussion under heading Issues. 

Private Open Space 

The proposal includes a ground floor 
courtyard with an area of 13sqm. This 
courtyard serves as an entry foyer/ 
circulation space and is not considered 
to contribute to private open space. A 
15sqm terrace is provided at the first 
floor, and a 29sqm roof terrace is 
provided above the third storey addition. 
The roof terrace is considered excessive 
given the detrimental visual impacts and 
privacy impacts on neighbouring 
properties. The application is not 
supported. 

4.2.4 Fine grain, architectural 
diversity and articulation 

No The proposed third storey addition is not 
recessed from the parapet of the 
existing warehouse building and its form 
and scale does not provide an 
appropriate transition between the 
neighbouring terraces and commercial 
buildings. The application is not 
supported. 

Issues 

Clause 4.6 Variation to the Height Development Standard 

24. The site is subject to a maximum height of buildings control of 9m. The proposal has a 
height of 10.83m to the top of the roof terrace balustrading, and 10m to the top of the 
third storey addition.  

25. The existing building has a maximum height of 9.3m. The variation sought to the 
height control results in an exceedance to the development standard by 1.83m (or an 
18.45% variation). The red arrow in Figure 11 indicates the 9m height control. 

  

16



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

26. During the assessment of the application, the applicant was advised that the proposed 
addition was considered excessive, and the roof terrace was not supported. It was 
recommended that the roof terrace be deleted and the form of the addition be 
amended to maintain an attic form. In response, the applicant submitted amended 
plans which provided a hipped wall to the western elevation of the addition (15 
degrees from the vertical) while retaining the roof terrace above and external stair.  

 

 

Figure 11: West elevation with the 9m height limit plane indicated by the red arrow and the existing 
addition indicated by the dashed red line 

27. A written request has been submitted to Council in accordance with Clause 4.6(3)(a) 
and (b) of the Sydney LEP 2012 seeking to justify the contravention of the 
development standard by demonstrating: 

(a) that compliance with the development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary 
in the circumstances of the case; and 

(b) that there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify contravening 
the standard. 

28. A copy of the applicant's written request is provided at Attachment C. 

Applicant's Written Request - Clause 4.6(3)(a) and (b) 

29. The applicant seeks to justify the contravention of the height development standard on 
the following basis: 

(a) That compliance with the development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary 
in the circumstances of the case: 

(i) Compliance with the development standard would compromise the amenity 
of the upper level with no additional benefit for neighbouring properties or 
in terms of the overall bulk of the building as presented to the public 
domain. 

  

17



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

(ii) Exceedance of the height control will not create additional building bulk 
that results in environmental amenity impacts in terms of overshadowing, 
loss of views, loss of privacy, loss of visual amenity and a reduction in this 
bulk would not create additional benefits for adjoining properties or the 
locality. 

(iii) The development is consistent with the objectives of the development 
standard notwithstanding the non-compliance.  

(b) That there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify contravening 
the standard: 

(i) The proposal seeks to provide open space at roof level and improved 
amenity for the upper level habitable space, with no adverse impacts on 
the area. The proposal is considered to be an appropriate response for the 
site and the non-compliant elements would not affect the amenity of 
adjoining properties, whilst improving the amenity of the subject property. 

(ii) The proposed height can be achieved without adverse impacts and the 
proposal will provide a suitable design and of suitable amenity. 

(iii) Reduction in the height of the second floor level will not improve solar 
access to windows or open space of adjoining properties, as the additional 
impact from the proposal is limited to minor additional overshadowing of 
Smiths Street and the roofs of adjoining residential dwellings. 

(iv) The provision of the second floor addition as proposed will not result in any 
additional loss of privacy, noting that the balustrade to the front deck at this 
level is compliant in terms of height.  

(v) The visual bulk of the component above the height control has been 
reduced by providing a 15 degree wall hipped away from the street. 

(vi) Compliance with the height control will not result in improved amenity for 
adjoining properties and the visual bulk of the upper level as perceived 
from the street will not be reduced. The lack of unreasonable impact on 
adjoining properties in terms of solar access, privacy, view loss and visual 
bulk establishes sufficient planning grounds. 

Consideration of Applicant's Written Request - Clause 4.6(4) (a) (i) and (ii) 

30. Development consent must not be granted unless the consent authority is satisfied 
that: 

(a) the applicant’s written request has adequately addressed the matters required to 
be demonstrated by subclause 3 of Clause 4.6 being that compliance with the 
development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary in the circumstances of 
the case, and that there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify 
contravening the standard; and 

(b) the proposed development will be in the public interest because it is consistent 
with the objectives of the particular standard and the objectives for development 
within the zone in which the development is proposed to be carried out. 

18



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

(c) Does the written request adequately address those issues at Clause 4.6(3)(a)?  - 
That compliance with the development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary 
in the circumstances of the case. 

31. The applicant's written request has failed to demonstrate that compliance with the 
development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary in the circumstances of the 
case as they have failed to demonstrate that the development satisfies the objectives 
of the standard. The written request instead relies on the claim that compliance with 
the height of buildings development standard would not improve amenity to adjoining 
sites or reduce the visual bulk of the proposal, and would result in reduced amenity of 
the subject site. No information has been provided to support these claims, noting that 
the third storey addition exceeds the minimum floor to ceiling height required under the 
National Construction Code. Furthermore, the development is in fact considered to be 
inconsistent with the objectives of the height of buildings development standard as it is 
not considered to be appropriate to the condition of the site and its context and does 
not provide an appropriate height transition between the site and surrounding heritage 
items and contributory items within the heritage conservation area. 

 

Figure 12: The north elevation (left) and east elevation (right) illustrating the difference in scale 
between the subject site and the neighbouring terraces 

32. The written request has therefore failed to demonstrate that the objectives of the 
development standard are achieved notwithstanding the non-compliance with the 
standard. Accordingly, it is considered that the applicant has failed to demonstrate that 
strict compliance with the standard is unreasonable or unnecessary for the proposal. 

Does the written request adequately address those issues at clause 4.6(3)(b)? - That there 
are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify contravening the standard. 

33. The written request states that the proposal will not result in unacceptable impacts in 
terms of privacy or solar access. This is not accepted, particularly with respect to the 
new roof terrace, which is likely to result in significant privacy impacts on surrounding 
properties. Furthermore, the development does not respond appropriately to the 
existing conditions of the site and its context, and is considered to result in a 
detrimental heritage and streetscape outcome.   

34. Accordingly, it is considered that the applicant has not adequately demonstrated that 
there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify the contravention of the 
standard. 

Is the development in the public interest? 

35. The objectives of the height of buildings development standard include: 

19



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

(a) to ensure the height of the development is appropriate to the condition of the site 
and its context; 

(b) to ensure appropriate height transitions between new development and heritage 
items; and 

(c) to promote the sharing of views. 

36. The form and scale of the third storey addition and roof terrace is not considered to be 
appropriate to the site and its context and does not provide an appropriate transition 
between the existing contributory item, and surrounding contributory and heritage 
items.  

37. The objectives of the B4 Mixed Use zone relevant to the proposal include: 

(a) To provide a mixture of compatible land uses. 

(b) To integrate suitable business, office, residential, retail and other development in 
accessible locations so as to maximise public transport patronage. 

38. The commercial and residential components of the building will be maintained, which 
is consistent with the mixed-use nature of Chippendale. The proposal is located in 
close proximity to public transport. The proposal is consistent with the objectives of the 
B4 Mixed Use zone. 

39. The proposal is not considered to be in the public interest because it is inconsistent 
with the objectives of the height of buildings development standard. 

Conclusion 

40. For the reasons provided above the requested variation to the height standard is not 
supported as the applicant's written request has failed to address the matters required 
to be addressed by Clause 4.6 of the Sydney LEP 2012 and the proposed 
development would not be in the public interest because it is inconsistent with the 
objectives of the development standard. 

Clause 4.6 Variation to the Floor Space Ratio Development Standard 

41. The site is subject to a floor space ratio control of 1.5:1. The proposed development 
has a floor space ratio of 1.93:1. 

42. The existing building has an FSR of 2.11:1. The proposal results in a net decrease of 
16.52sqm of floor space as a result of the creation of a void at the first and second 
floor and provision of a car parking space within the ground floor. Despite the reduction 
in floor space, the development still represents an exceedance of 0.43:1 (25% over the 
standard).  

20



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 13: The applicant's FSR calculations showing existing FSR (left) and proposed FSR (right). 
FSR is shown in red and private open space in blue. 

43. A written request has been submitted to Council in accordance with Clause 4.6(3)(a) 
and (b) of the Sydney LEP 2012 seeking to justify the contravention of the 
development standard by demonstrating: 

(a) that compliance with the development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary 
in the circumstances of the case; and 

(b) that there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify contravening 
the standard. 

44. A copy of the applicant's written request is provided at Attachment C. 

Applicant's Written Request - Clause 4.6(3)(a) and (b) 

45. The applicant seeks to justify the contravention of the floor space ratio (FSR) 
development standard on the following basis: 

(a) That compliance with the development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary 
in the circumstances of the case: 

(i) Compliance with the standard is unreasonable and unnecessary as the 
proposal results in a reduction in FSR. 

21



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

(ii) Exceedance of the control will not create additional bulking bulk that results 
in adverse environmental amenity impacts in terms of overshadowing, loss 
of views, loss of privacy or loss of visual amenity and a reduction in FSR 
would not create additional benefits for adjoining properties or the locality. 

(b) That there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify contravening 
the standard: 

(i) The proposed FSR can be achieved without adverse impacts as the 
alterations reflect the desired character of the locality and minimises 
adverse impacts on the locality. 

(ii) The intensity of the development is appropriate and acceptable. 

(iii) The non-compliance does not contribute to adverse environmental 
impacts. 

(iv) The proposal achieves compliance with the relevant objectives of the 
standard and of the zone. 

(v) The proposal will provide a suitable design and of suitable amenity in terms 
of the built environment. 

(vi) The proposal will not result in adverse impacts in terms of solar access, 
privacy, view loss and visual bulk. 

Consideration of Applicants Written Request - Clause 4.6(4) (a) (i) and (ii) 

46. Development consent must not be granted unless the consent authority is satisfied 
that: 

(a) the applicant’s written request has adequately addressed the matters required to 
be demonstrated by subclause 3 of Clause 4.6 being that compliance with the 
development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary in the circumstances of 
the case, and that there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify 
contravening the standard; and 

(b) the proposed development will be in the public interest because it is consistent 
with the objectives of the particular standard and the objectives for development 
within the zone in which the development is proposed to be carried out. 

Does the written request adequately address those issues at Clause 4.6(3)(a)? - That 
compliance with the development standard is unreasonable or necessary in the 
circumstances of the case. 

47. The written request has failed to demonstrate that the objectives of the floor space 
ratio development standard are achieved notwithstanding the non-compliance with the 
standard, in particular Clause 4.4(1)(d), which requires new development to reflect the 
desired future character of the locality and minimise adverse impacts on the amenity of 
the locality. 

48. The development results in a small reduction in overall FSR due to internal changes 
on the ground and first floor levels. Notwithstanding, the proposal results in increased 
bulk at the third storey which is considered to result in an unsympathetic built form.  
Furthermore, the roof terrace above, is likely to result in significant privacy impacts to 
the neighbouring properties. 

22



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

49. Accordingly, it is considered that the applicant has failed to demonstrate that strict 
compliance with the standard is unreasonable or unnecessary for the proposal. 

Does the written request adequately address those issues at clause 4.6(3)(b)? - That there 
are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify contravening the standard. 

50. The request has failed to demonstrate that the density, scale and intensity of the 
development are appropriate to the existing building and within the context of 
surrounding development. The proposed addition is considered to result in 
unsympathetic bulk and scale which is considered to result in detrimental impacts to 
the wider heritage conservation area, and adversely impacts on the amenity of the 
neighbouring properties. 

51. Accordingly, it is considered that the applicant has failed to demonstrate that there are 
sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify the contravention to the standard. 

Is the development in the public interest? 

52. The objectives of the floor space ratio development standard include: 

(a) To provide sufficient floor space to meet anticipated development needs for the 
foreseeable future. 

(b) To regulate the density of development, built form and land use intensity and to 
control the generation of vehicle and pedestrian traffic. 

(c) To provide for an intensity of development that is commensurate with the 
capacity of existing and planned infrastructure. 

(d) To ensure that new development reflects the desired character of the locality in 
which it is located and minimises adverse impacts on the amenity of that locality. 

53. The proposal is inconsistent with the desired future character of the locality as it does 
not respond to or complement the contributory building and heritage conservation 
area, and is inappropriate in height, scale, design and form. The proposal will impact 
on the amenity of the neighbouring buildings, in particular, privacy and visual bulk. 

54. The objectives of the B4 Mixed Use zone relevant to the proposal include: 

(a) To provide a mixture of compatible land uses. 

(b) To integrate suitable business, office, residential, retail and other development in 
accessible locations so as to maximise public transport patronage and 
encourage walking and cycling. 

55. The commercial and residential components of the building will be maintained, which 
is consistent with the mixed-use nature of Chippendale. The proposal is located in 
close proximity to public transport. The proposal is consistent with the objectives of the 
B4 Mixed Use zone. 

56. The proposal is not in the public interest because it is inconsistent with the objectives 
of the floor space ratio development standard. 

  

23



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Conclusion 

57. For the reasons provided above the requested variation to the floor space ratio 
standard is not supported as the applicant's written request has failed to address the 
matters required to be addressed by Clause 4.6 of the Sydney LEP 2012 and the 
proposed development would not be in the public interest because it is inconsistent 
with the objectives of the floor space ratio standard. 

Height, Scale and Bulk 

58. The site is subject to a 9m height control under Clause 4.3 of the Sydney LEP 2012. 
The existing building is 9.3m in height. 

59. The site is subject a two storey height control under Section 4.1.1 of the Sydney DCP 
2012. The existing building is two storeys in height with a mansard attic addition 
above. 

60. The proposal includes the demolition of the existing mansard attic level and 
construction of a new third storey addition with roof terrace above. Concern was raised 
with the applicant that the addition was excessive and as such, should be amended to 
provide an attic-like form and delete the roof terrace.  

61. In response to these concerns, the applicant submitted amended plans which provide 
a pitched wall (15 degrees from the vertical) on the western elevation of the additional 
storey with the roof terrace and external stair retained.  

62. The addition is not recessed from the parapet to the building and still presents as a 
third storey, failing to comply with the LEP and DCP height controls. The proposal is 
considered to be unsympathetic to the character, scale and form of the existing 
building and surrounding buildings within the heritage conservation area. The site is 
adjoined by two storey terrace rows to the north, south and east.  

63. The roof terrace will result in an unacceptable privacy impact, and the external stair 
and balustrade create additional bulk and overshadowing. As illustrated in Figure 13, 
the roof terrace overlooks the private open space of several neighbouring properties.  

64. The proposal results in approximately an additional 17sqm to the living room of 
existing dwelling. The extent of non-compliance to the height standard for the purpose 
of additional living space and an additional roof terrace is considered unreasonable. 
The existing building already exceeds the height and FSR standards and contains a 
large area of private open space that is accommodated within the height plane.  

65. In light of the above considerations, the application is not supported. 

  

24



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 14: Photo supplied by the applicant looking from the roof towards the east 

Other Impacts of the Development 

66. The proposed development is capable of complying with the BCA. 

67. It is considered that the proposal will have a significant detrimental effect relating to 
environmental, social or economic impacts on the locality, and is not supported. 

Suitability of the site for the Development  

68. The proposal is of a nature in keeping with the overall function of the site. The 
premises are in a commercial/residential surrounding and amongst similar uses to that 
proposed. 

Internal Referrals 

69. The application was discussed with the Heritage and Urban Design Specialists; 
Building Services Unit; Transport and Access; and Tree Management. 

70. The Heritage and Urban Design Specialists do not support the form of the new 
addition, roof terrace or external stair. 

71. The other units have advised the proposal could be acceptable subject to the 
recommended conditions relating to the construction and operation of the proposal. 

25



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

External Referrals 

Notification, Advertising and Delegation 

72. In accordance with Schedule 1 the Sydney DCP 2012, the proposed development is 
required to be notified. As such the application was notified for a period of 14 days 
between 9 November 2018 and 24 November 2018. As a result of this notification 
there were two submissions received. The issues raised in the submissions are 
outlined below: 

(a) Excessive height, bulk and scale of additional storey, roof terrace and stair which 
is out of character with the streetscape. 

Response - The form of the new addition, roof terrace and external stair is 
excessive in bulk and scale and is unsympathetic to the contributory building and 
wider conservation area. The application is not supported. 

(b) Overshadowing concerns 

Response - The shadow diagrams submitted in support of the application show 
minor additional overshadowing to the neighbouring properties. The proposal 
satisfies the solar access requirements of the DCP, however the application is 
not supported 

(c) Privacy concerns from roof terrace 

Response - The roof terrace would result in unacceptable privacy impacts to the 
neighbouring private open space. The application is not supported. 

S7.11 Contribution 

73. If the application was recommended for approval, the development would be subject to 
the following S7.11 contributions. The following calculation has been based on the 
proposed three bedrooms in the building with a credit of one bedroom applied. 

(a) Open Space $2,382.12 

(b) Community Facilities $473.55 

(c) Traffic and Transport $604.30 

(d) Stormwater Drainage $239.29 

Total $3,699.25 

Relevant Legislation 

74. The Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979. 

26



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Conclusion 

75. The application proposes alterations and additions to the existing mixed-use 
warehouse building to include a new commercial studio, courtyard and garage on the 
ground floor, internal reconfiguration of the first floor, and new third storey addition with 
roof terrace above. 

76. Amended plans have been submitted in response to concerns raised by City staff 
during the assessment relating to height, bulk and scale. 

77. The applicant has submitted Clause 4.6 variations to the height and floor space ratio 
development standards under the Sydney LEP 2012. The variations to the standards 
are not in the public interest and are not supported. 

78. The form of the third storey addition, roof terrace and external stair are not supported 
as they exceed the height controls, are excessive in bulk and scale, result in 
unsympathetic additions to a contributory item and will result in adverse privacy 
impacts to the neighbouring properties. 

79. The application is recommended for refusal. 

GRAHAM JAHN, AM 

Director City Planning, Development and Transport 

Zeb McInnes, Planner 

27



Attachment A 

Selected Drawings 

28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



Attachment B 

Clause 4.6 Variation Requests 

41



 

 
Studio 10 | The Interchange | 13-29 Nichols Street | Surry Hills | NSW 2010 
telephone: 02 9360 0989 | fax: 02 93600389 | www.a2p.com.au 
 
 

21 O’Connor Street, Chippendale 

REQUEST FOR VARIATION TO FLOOR SPACE RATIO OF BUILDINGS 
DEVELOPMENT STANDARD PURSUANT TO CLAUSE 4.6(3) OF CITY 
OF SYDNEY LEP 2012Clause 4.4 – Floor Space Ratio 

Clause 4.4 of Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 and the associated map 
prescribe a maximum floor space ratio (FSR) of 1.5:1 (144.3m2) for this site. 
The proposal, including an open courtyard enclosed by walls, seeks to 
provide a maximum FSR of 2:1 (203.7m2), providing a non-compliance with 
this control. The percentage variation is 33%. 
 
It should be noted that the existing building has a greater FSR of 2.1:1 and 
this is being reduced by the proposal.  
 
Nonetheless, the proposal seeks to vary the FSR development standard.  
 
The objectives of Clause 4.4 are as follows: 

 
(a)  to provide sufficient floor space to meet anticipated development 

needs for the foreseeable future, 
(b)  to regulate the density of development, built form and land use 

intensity and to control the generation of vehicle and pedestrian 
traffic, 

(c)  to provide for an intensity of development that is commensurate 
with the capacity of existing and planned infrastructure, 

(d)  to ensure that new development reflects the desired character of 
the locality in which it is located and minimises adverse impacts on 
the amenity of that locality. 

 
The zoning of the land is B4 Mixed Use. The objectives of the zone are: 
 

•   to provide a mixture of compatible uses; 
•   to integrate suitable business, office, residential, retail and other 

development in accessible locations so as to maximize public transport 
patronage and encourage walking and cycling; 

•   to ensure uses support the viability of centres 
 

42



 
 

 
2  

 
 

Clause 4.6 - Exceptions to Development Standards 

Clause 4.6 of the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 allows for 
exceptions of Development Standards. The objectives of this Clause 4.6 are: 
 

(a) to provide an appropriate degree of flexibility in applying 
certain development standards to particular development,  

 
(b)   to achieve better outcomes for and from development by 

allowing flexibility in particular circumstances. 
 
The clause goes on to state: 

(2)   Development consent may, subject to this clause, be granted for 
development even though the development would contravene a 
development standard imposed by this or any other 
environmental planning instrument. However, this clause does 
not apply to a development standard that is expressly excluded 
from the operation of this clause. 

 
(3)   Development consent must not be granted for development that 

contravenes a development standard unless the consent 
authority has considered a written request from the applicant 
that seeks to justify the contravention of the development 
standard by demonstrating: 
 
(a)   that compliance with the development standard is 

unreasonable or unnecessary in the circumstances of the 
case, and 

 
(b)   that there are sufficient environmental planning grounds 

to justify contravening the development standard 
 

(4)   Consent must not be granted for development that contravenes 
a development standard unless: 

 
(a)   the consent authority is satisfied that: 

(i)   the applicant’s written request has adequately 
addressed the matters required to be 
demonstrated by subclause (3), and 

(ii)   the proposed development will be in the public 
interest because it is consistent with the objectives 
of the particular standard and the objectives for 
development within the zone in which the 

43



 
 

 
3  

 
 

development is proposed to be carried out, and 
 

(b)   the concurrence of the Secretary has been obtained. 
 

This document constitutes the written request referred to in Clause 4.6(3) in 
relation to the proposal’s breach of the FSR development standard.  
 
The NSW Department of Planning and Infrastructure (DP&I) provides 
guidance on how to prepare Clause 4.6 variations; ‘Varying development 
standards: A Guide’ (August 2011). This written request to vary the standards 
is based on the DP&I’s Guide.  
 
Clause 4.6(3) and 4.6(4) 
 
The proposal is considered against the four matters required to be established 
under Clause 4.6. 
 
1. Compliance with the development standard must be unreasonable or 
unnecessary in the circumstances of the case: 
 
The most common way of establishing that compliance with a standard is 
unreasonable and unnecessary is to establish that the objectives of the 
standard are met, even though the standard is not complied with: see Wehbe 
v Pittwater Council [2007] NSWLEC 827, Initial Action Pty Ltd v Woollahra 
Municipal Council [2018] NSWLEC 118 and Al Maha Pty Ltd v Huajun 
Investments Pty Ltd  [2018] NSWCA 245. This objection relies on this method. 
Compliance with the objectives of the height standard is addressed under 
Point 4 below.  
 
In addition, the following points are raised: 
 

•   Compliance with the development standards is unreasonable and 
unnecessary as the proposal is to renovate an exiting building and will 
result in a reduction in FSR by 0.1:1 or 37.4m2 

 
•   Exceedance of the FSR control will not create additional building bulk 

that results in adverse environmental amenity impacts in terms of 
overshadowing, loss of views, loss of privacy or loss of visual amenity 
and a reduction in FSR would not create additional benefit for adjoining 
properties or the locality.  

 
2. There are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify 
contravening the development standard: 
 

44



 
 

 
4  

 
 

There are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify contravening 
the development standard. 
 
The proposal is for alterations to an existing building with an FSR of 2.1:1 and 
an exiting building and will result in a reduction in FSR by 0.1:1 or 37.4m2 
 
The proposed FSR can be achieved without adverse impacts as the 
alterations reflect the desired character of the locality in which it is located and 
minimises adverse impacts on the amenity of the locality. 
 
In addition, the following is noted:  
 

§   The intensity of the development is appropriate and acceptable, having 
regard to existing development on the site which has greater FSR; 

 
§   Non-compliance with the standard does not contribute to adverse 

environmental impacts;   
 

§   The proposed development achieves compliance with the relevant 
underlying objectives of the standard and the objectives of the zone ; 
and 

 
§   The proposal will provide a suitable design and of suitable amenity in 

terms of the built environment , which are identified as objects of the 
Act (Section 1.3 of the EP&A Act, 1979). 

 
Reduction in the FSR would not result in improved amenity for adjoining 
properties. The lack of impact on adjoining properties in terms of solar access, 
privacy, view loss and visual bulk establishes sufficient planning grounds 
(Initial Action Pty Ltd v Woollahra Municipal Council [2018] NSWLEC 118).  
 
3. The applicant’s written request has adequately addressed the matters 
required to be demonstrated by subclause (3): 
 
The written request adequately addresses the matters referred to above by 
Clause 4.6(3). 
 
4. The proposed development will be in the public interest because it is 
consistent with the objectives of the particular standard and the 
objectives for development within the zone in which the development is 
proposed to be carried out: 

 
The proposal will be in the public interest as it meets the objectives of the 
FSR development standard as follows: 

45



 
 

 
5  

 
 

 
Objective (a) is not applicable in this case  
 
 
Objective (b) seeks to regulate the density of development. In this case the 
FSR is being reduced. 
 
Objective (c) seeks to provide for an intensity of development that is 
commensurate with the capacity of existing and planned infrastructure. In this 
case the FSR is being reduced. 
 
Objective (d) seeks to ensure that new development reflects the desired 
character of the locality.  
 
In this case the proposed FSR can be achieved without adverse impacts as 
the alterations reflect the desired character of the locality in which it is located 
and minimises adverse impacts on the amenity of the locality. 
 
The zoning of the land is B4 Mixed Use. The objectives of the zone are: 
 

•   to provide a mixture of compatible uses; 
•   to integrate suitable business, office, residential, retail and other 

development in accessible locations so as to maximize public transport 
patronage and encourage walking and cycling; 

•   to ensure uses support the viability of centres 
 

The proposal is consistent with the zone objectives, as it will retain, renovate  
and enhance an existing mixed use building within a Heritage Conservation 
Area.  
 
As demonstrated above, the proposed development will be in the public 
interest because it is consistent with the objectives of the FSR development 
standard and the objectives of the R3 zone.  
 
In addition, the above demonstrates that compliance with the control is 
unreasonable and unnecessary in the circumstances of this case. 
 
 
Conclusion  
 
The consistency of the development with the zone objectives and the 
objectives of the height standard and the lack of impact arising is sufficient 
grounds to support that breach and confirms the lack of necessity for the 
development to comply. This therefore demonstrates sufficient environmental 

46



 
 

 
6  

 
 

planning grounds to justify contravening the standard. 
 
In addition, the resultant development will be in the public interest as it 
complies with the objectives of the zone and the objectives of the 
development standard.   
 
Despite the breach with the standard, the proposal is consistent with the 
objects of Section 1.3 of the EP& A Act, 1979 (formerly 5(a)(i) and (ii) of the 
Act), which are to encourage development that promotes the social and 
economic welfare of the community and a better environment, to promote and 
coordinate orderly and economic use and development of land, to promote 
good design and amenity of the built environment and to protect the heritage 
of the built environment.  
 
In the context of other requirements of Clause 4.6, it is considered that no 
matters of State or regional planning significance are raised by the proposed 
development. Moreover, it is considered that there would be no public benefit 
in maintaining the particular planning control in question, in the case of this 
specific development.  
 
This submission is considered to adequately address the matters required by 
Clause 4.6 and demonstrates that compliance with the development standard 
would be unreasonable and unnecessary in the circumstances of this case 
and there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to support the 
variation.  
 
 
Lewis Adey RPIA 
Director  
aSquare Planning Pty Ltd 
 
5 February 2019 
 

47



 

 
Studio 10 | The Interchange | 13-29 Nichols Street | Surry Hills | NSW 2010 

telephone: 02 9360 0989 | www.a2p.com.au 
 
 

 

21 O’Connor Street, Chippendale 

REQUEST FOR VARIATION TO HEIGHT OF BUILDINGS 
DEVELOPMENT STANDARD PURSUANT TO CLAUSE 4.6(3) OF 
SYDNEY LEP 2012 

Clause 4.3 – Building Height 

Clause 4.3 of the Sydney LEP 2012 and the associated map prescribe a 
maximum building height of 9 metres for this site. The proposal seeks to 
provide a maximum height of 9.58 metres for the building and 10.83 metres 
for the handrail providing a non-compliance with this control. The percentage 
variation is 6.4% and 20.3% respectively. 
 
The proposal therefore seeks to vary the building height development 
standard.  
 
Prior to the approval and construction of the additions approved on 
26/08/2013 (D/2013/897) for the demolition of an existing roof-top level, the 
height was 9.84m. This was reduced to 9.4m as a result of that approval. It is 
now proposed to be increased by 180mm, excluding the handrail of 1.2m. The 
handrail will be set in from all sides and will not visible. 
The extract below illustrates the components above the height limit:  

 
 

9m-height line 

48



 
 

 
2  

 
 

 
 
The objectives of Clause 4.3 are as follows: 

 
a) to ensure the height of development is appropriate to the condition of 

the site and its context, 
b) to ensure appropriate height transitions between new development and 

heritage items and buildings in heritage conservation areas or special 
character areas, 

c) to promote the sharing of views, 
d) to ensure appropriate height transitions from Central Sydney and 

Green Square Town Centre to adjoining areas, 
e) in respect of Green Square: 

i. to ensure the amenity of the public domain by restricting taller 
buildings to only part of a site, and 

ii. to ensure the built form contributes to the physical definition of the 
street network and public spaces. 

 
The zoning of the land is B4 Mixed Use. The objectives of the B4 zone are: 
 

• to provide a mixture of compatible uses; 
• to integrate suitable business, office, residential, retail and other 

development in accessible locations so as to maximize public transport 
patronage and encourage walking and cycling; 

• to ensure uses support the viability of centres 
 
 

Clause 4.6 - Exceptions to Development Standards 

Clause 4.6 of the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 allows for 
exceptions of Development Standards. The objectives of this Clause 4.6 are: 
 

(a) to provide an appropriate degree of flexibility in applying 

9m-height line 

49



 
 

 
3  

 
 

certain development standards to particular development,  
 
(b)   to achieve better outcomes for and from development by 

allowing flexibility in particular circumstances. 
 
The clause goes on to state: 

(2)   Development consent may, subject to this clause, be granted for 
development even though the development would contravene a 
development standard imposed by this or any other 
environmental planning instrument. However, this clause does 
not apply to a development standard that is expressly excluded 
from the operation of this clause. 

 
(3)   Development consent must not be granted for development that 

contravenes a development standard unless the consent 
authority has considered a written request from the applicant 
that seeks to justify the contravention of the development 
standard by demonstrating: 
 
(a)   that compliance with the development standard is 

unreasonable or unnecessary in the circumstances of the 
case, and 

 
(b)   that there are sufficient environmental planning grounds 

to justify contravening the development standard 
 

(4)   Consent must not be granted for development that contravenes 
a development standard unless: 

 
(a)   the consent authority is satisfied that: 

(i)   the applicant’s written request has adequately 
addressed the matters required to be 
demonstrated by subclause (3), and 

(ii)   the proposed development will be in the public 
interest because it is consistent with the objectives 
of the particular standard and the objectives for 
development within the zone in which the 
development is proposed to be carried out, and 

 
(b)   the concurrence of the Secretary has been obtained. 

 

50



 
 

 
4  

 
 

This document constitutes the written request referred to in Clause 4.6(3) in 
relation to the proposal’s breach of the height of building development 
standard.  
 
The NSW Department of Planning and Infrastructure (DP&I) provides 
guidance on how to prepare Clause 4.6 variations; ‘Varying development 
standards: A Guide’ (August 2011). This written request to vary the standards 
is based on the DP&I’s Guide.  
 
Clause 4.6(3)(a) and (b) and 4.6(4) 
 
The proposal is considered against the four matters required to be established 
under Clause 4.6. 
 
1. Compliance with the development standard must be 
unreasonable or unnecessary in the circumstances of the case 
(4.3(a)): 
 
The most common way of establishing that compliance with a standard is 
unreasonable and unnecessary is to establish that the objectives of the 
standard are met, even though the standard is not complied with: see Wehbe 
v Pittwater Council [2007] NSWLEC 827, Initial Action Pty Ltd v Woollahra 
Municipal Council [2018] NSWLEC 118 and Al Maha Pty Ltd v Huajun 
Investments Pty Ltd  [2018] NSWCA 245. This objection relies on this method. 
Compliance with the objectives of the height standard is addressed under 
Point 4 below.  
 
In addition, the following points are raised: 
 

• Compliance with the development standards is unreasonable and 
unnecessary as this would compromise the amenity of the upper level 
with no additional benefit for neighbouring properties or in terms of the 
overall bulk of the building as presented to the public domain. 

 
• The components of the second floor addition above the height control 

will not create additional building bulk that results in environmental 
amenity impacts in terms of overshadowing, loss of views, loss of 
privacy or loss of visual amenity and a reduction in this bulk would not 
create additional benefit for adjoining properties or the locality.  

 
  

51



 
 

 
5  

 
 

2. There are suff icient environmental planning grounds to justify 
contravening the development standard (4.3(b)): 
 
There are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify contravening 
the development standard. 
 
The proposal seeks to provide open space at roof level and improved amenity 
for the upper level habitable space, with no adverse visual or amenity 
impacts. This represents a better planning outcome for the residential amenity 
of the site with no adverse impacts on the area. The proposal overall is 
therefore considered to be an appropriate response for the site and the non-
compliant elements will not affect the amenity of adjoining properties, whilst 
improving the amenity of the subject property. 
 
The proposed height can be achieved without adverse impacts and the 
proposal will provide a suitable design and of suitable amenity in terms of the 
built environment, which are identified as objects of the Act (Section 1.3 of the 
EP&A Act, 1979). 
 
Reduction in the height of the second floor level will not improve solar access 
to windows or open space of adjoining properties, as the additional impact 
from the proposal is limited to minor additional overshadowing of the street 
(Smithers Street) and over roofs of adjoining residential dwellings.   
 
The provision of the second floor addition as proposed will not result in any 
additional loss privacy, noting that the balustrade the front deck at this level is 
compliant in terms of height. The roof terrace is to be located above the height 
control but this and the acces stairs have been designed and located to 
ensure overlooking towards adjoining private open space and windows to 
habitable areas is inhibited. 
 
The visual bulk of the component above the height control has been reduced 
by providing a 15 degree wall hipped away from the street.   
 
Compliance with the height control will not result in improved amenity for 
adjoining properties and the visual bulk of the upper level as perceived from 
the street will not be reduced. The lack of unreasonable impact on adjoining 
properties in terms of solar access, privacy, view loss and visual bulk 
establishes sufficient planning grounds.  
 
 
 
 

52



 
 

 
6  

 
 

3. The applicant’s written request has adequately addressed the 
matters required to be demonstrated by subclause (3): 
 
The written request adequately addresses the matters referred to above by 
Clause 4.6(3)(a) and (b). 
 
4. The proposed development wil l  be in the public interest 
because it is consistent with the objectives of the particular 
standard and the objectives for development within the zone in 
which the development is proposed to be carried out: 

 
The proposal will be in the public interest as it meets the objectives of the 
height development standard as follows: 

 
Objective (a) seeks to provide appropriate heights, which allow for the 
environmental amenity of neighbouring properties. The proposal will ensure 
that adequate solar access is provided to adjoining properties and minimal 
impact in terms of privacy. In particular, it is noted that the components, which 
extend beyond the height control will not result in a loss of environmental 
amenity for the neighboring properties as outlined above. 
 
Objective (b) will be met as the proposal ensures an acceptable transition 
between this building and others in the Conservation Area. 
 
The bulk of the non-compliant height will not be visible from the public domain, 
with the roof terrace and balustrades being well set back from all sides of the 
building and the design of the wall of the second floor addition minimizes 
perceived bulk and scale.  
 
Objective (c) is met as no views will be impacted upon and in particular, the 
non-compliant elements will not affect views from adjoining properties. 
 
Objective (d) is not applicable to this site. 
 
Objective (e) is not applicable to this site. 
 
The zoning of the property is B4 and the objectives of the zone are: 
 

• to provide a mixture of compatible uses; 
• to integrate suitable business, office, residential, retail and other 

development in accessible locations so as to maximize public transport 
patronage and encourage walking and cycling; 

• to ensure uses support the viability of centres 
 

53



 
 

 
7  

 
 

The proposal is consistent with the zone objectives and in particular, it is 
noted that the additional height beyond the height standard will not result in a 
development which is inconsistent with the zoning. 
 
As demonstrated above, the proposed development will be in the public 
interest because it is consistent with the objectives of the height development 
standard and the objectives of the B4 zone.  In addition, the above 
demonstrates that compliance with the control is unreasonable and 
unnecessary in the circumstances of this case. 
 
Conclusion  
 
The consistency of the development with the zone objectives and the 
objectives of the height standard and the lack of impact arising is sufficient 
grounds to support that breach and confirms the lack of necessity for the 
development to comply. This therefore demonstrates sufficient environmental 
planning grounds to justify contravening the standard. 
 
In addition, the resultant development will be in the public interest as it 
complies with the objectives of the zone and the objectives of the 
development standard.   
 
Despite the breach with the standard, the proposal is consistent with the 
objects of Section 1.3 of the EP& A Act, 1979 (formerly 5(a)(i) and (ii) of the 
Act), which are to encourage development that promotes the social and 
economic welfare of the community and a better environment, to promote and 
coordinate orderly and economic use and development of land and to promote 
good design and amenity of the built environment. 
 
In the context of other requirements of Clause 4.6, it is considered that no 
matters of State or regional planning significance are raised by the proposed 
development. Moreover, it is considered that there would be no public benefit 
in maintaining the particular planning control in question, in the case of this 
specific development.  
 
This submission is considered to adequately address the matters required by 
Clause 4.6 and demonstrates that compliance with the development standard 
would be unreasonable and unnecessary in the circumstances of this case 
and there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to support the 
variation.  
 
 

54



 
 

 
8  

 
 

 
Jennie Askin 
Directorw 
 aSquare Planning Pty Ltd 
 
25 February 2019 

55



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Development Application: 19 Ralph Street, Alexandria 

File No.: D/2018/156 

Summary 

Date of Submission: 21 February 2018 

Amended drawings and additional information received on 
4 September 2018, 18 October 2018, 14 December 2018, 
16 January 2019 and 28 February 2019. 

Applicant: 19 Ralph St Pty Ltd 

Architect: SJB 

Developer: Milligan Group 

Owner: E J Noble Investments Pty Ltd 

Cost of Works: $4,680,196 

Zoning: The site is zoned B4 Mixed Use. The proposed 
development is defined as a mixed use development and 
includes one ground floor retail premises and residential 
accommodation comprising 18 apartments. The proposed 
use is permissible with consent in the B4 Mixed Use zone. 

Proposal Summary: The subject development application (DA) seeks consent 
for the construction of a six storey mixed use development 
comprising 18 residential apartments, ground floor retail 
tenancy and ground level car parking.   

The application is referred to the Local Planning Panel for 
determination as the proposal is subject to the provisions 
of State Environmental Planning Policy No 65 - Design 
Quality of Residential Flat Development and a Public 
Benefit Offer accompanies the application. 

 

 

 

1

Item 7.



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Proposal Summary 
(continued): 

The application was notified and advertised for a period of 
21 days between 1 March 2018 and 23 March 2018. One 
submission was received raising concerns with the number 
of storeys, visual privacy and traffic impacts. The issues 
raised in the submission have been addressed in the 
report, and conditions of consent are recommended to 
address these issues where appropriate. 

The proposal exceeds the Sydney Local Environmental 
Plan 2012 (SLEP 2012) maximum height of building 
development standard by 640mm or 2.9%. A written 
request has been submitted under Clause 4.6 of SLEP 
2012 to vary the height development standard. The 
proposal is consistent with the objectives of the land use 
zone and height of building development standard. The 
proposed variation to the development standard has merit 
and is supported in this instance.   

The preliminary assessment of the DA identified a number 
of issues relating to acoustic privacy, natural cross 
ventilation, contamination, setbacks, pedestrian entries, 
design of communal open space, flood planning levels, 
stormwater management, waste management, design of 
parking and loading facilities,  insufficient acoustic report, 
shadow diagrams and gross floor area calculations. The 
proposal was amended during the course of the 
assessment and additional information provided in 
response to these issues raised by Council staff.  While 
there are some minor issues remaining, conditions of 
consent are recommended to address these issues. 

The Public Benefit Offer relates to the dedication of a 1m -
1.67m wide piece of land (30.1sqm) along the 
Beaconsfield Lane frontage to Council for footpath 
widening including embellishment works. A draft Voluntary 
Planning Agreement (VPA) has been prepared 
incorporating the works proposed by the developer in the 
Public Benefit Offer. The draft VPA was publicly exhibited 
for a period of 28 days between 19 November 2018 and 18 
December 2018. No submissions were received.  

Subject to conditions, the proposal is largely compliant with 
the relevant planning provisions contained in State 
Environmental Planning Policy No 65 - Design Quality of 
Residential Flat Development, the Apartment Design 
Guide (ADG), SLEP 2012 and Sydney Development 
Control Plan 2012 (SDCP 2012). 

The application is recommended for approval subject to 
deferred commencement conditions requiring the 
execution and registration of the VPA and minor design 
modifications. 

2



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Summary Recommendation: The development application is recommended for deferred 
commencement approval. 

Development Controls: (i) Environmental Planning and Assessment Act, 1979 

(ii) Airports Act 1996 

(iii) State Environmental Planning Policy No 65 - Design 
Quality of Residential Flat Development 

(iv) State Environmental Planning Policy (Infrastructure) 
2007 

(v) State Environmental Planning Policy No. 55 - 
Remediation of Land 

(vi) Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 (Gazetted 14 
December 2012, as amended) 

(vii) Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 (in force on 
12 December 2012, as amended) 

(viii) Apartment Design Guide 

(ix) City of Sydney Development Contributions Plan 2015 

Attachments: A. Recommended Conditions of Consent  

B. Selected Drawings - Floor Plans 

C. Selected Drawings 

D. Public Benefit Offer 

E. Draft Voluntary Planning Agreement  

F. Clause 4.6 Variation Request 

  

3



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Recommendation 

It is resolved: 

(A) the written request seeking variation to Clause 4.3 height of building development 
standard in accordance with Clause 4.6 'Exceptions to development standards' of the 
Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 be supported in this instance; and  

(B) that pursuant to Section 4.16(3) of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 
1979, a deferred commencement consent be granted to Development Application 
D/2018/156 subject to the conditions set out in Attachment A to the subject report. 

Reasons for Recommendation 

The application is recommended for a deferred commencement approval as:  

(A) The proposed development is consistent with Section 4.15 of the Environmental 
Planning and Assessment Act 1979, in that subject to the imposition of appropriate 
conditions as recommended, it achieves the objectives of the planning controls for the 
site and does not result in any unreasonable environmental impacts for the reasons 
outlined in the report to the Local Planning Panel. 

(B) The requested variation to the height development standard is upheld because the 
consent authority is satisfied that the applicant's written request has adequately 
addressed the matters required to be addressed by Clause 4.6 of SLEP 2012 and the 
proposed development would be in the public interest because it is consistent with the 
objectives of Clause 4.3 Height of Building and the B4 Mixed Use zone.  

(C) The development, subject to conditions, will provide good amenity for future occupants 
and is generally compliant with SEPP No 65 - Design Quality of Residential Apartment 
Development and the ADG. 

(D) The development, subject to conditions, is generally consistent with the objectives and 
provisions contained in SLEP 2012 and SDCP 2012. 

(E) The proposed development is of a high standard and satisfies the design excellence 
criteria contained in Clause 6.21 of SLEP 2012. 

(F) The proposal will improve the quality of the public domain through dedication of land 
towards the widening of the footpath along Beaconsfield Lane as detailed in the draft 
VPA. 

(G) For the reasons above and as outlined in this report, the proposed development is in 
the public interest subject to conditions.  

  

4



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Background 

The Site and Surrounding Development 

1. Site visits were carried out by Council staff on 31 March 2018 and 16 October 2018. 

2. The site has a legal description of Lot 1 DP 80272 and is commonly known as 19 
Ralph Street, Alexandria.  

3. The site is generally rectangular in shape with an area of approximately 976sqm. It has 
three street frontages being Ralph Street to the west, Shirley Street to the south and 
Beaconsfield Lane to the east. The Shirley Street frontage length is approximately 
43.4m with frontage lengths of approximately 22m to both Ralph Street and 
Beaconsfield Lane. The site is located approximately 50m west of the intersection of 
Botany Road and Shirley Street.  

4. The highest point of the site is in north-east corner where there is a gradual fall of 
approximately 200mm to the south-east corner, a fall of 600mm to the south-west 
corner and a fall of 580mm to the north-west corner of the site.  

5. The site contains a part one, part two storey brick warehouse building built to all site 
boundaries. The main pedestrian entry is from Ralph Street with a vehicular access 
point also located on Ralph Street. There are seven existing at grade car parking 
spaces accessible from Beaconsfield Lane and a loading area accessible from Shirley 
Street. 

6. Surrounding land uses are a mixture of residential, commercial and industrial. 

7. Directly adjoining the site to the north at 17 Ralph Street is a single storey warehouse 
building. Further to the north of the site at 11-15 Ralph Street is a two storey 
warehouse building. Both of these sites have recent approvals (D/2016/198 and 
D/2017/839) for residential flat buildings. These applications also included VPA's which 
provide for the dedication of land to Council for the widening of the footpath along 
Beaconsfield Lane. 

8. Directly opposite the site to the west at 10-24 Ralph Street is the Australia Post 
Business Hub and Distribution Centre which operates 24 hours, seven days a week. 

9. Directly opposite the site to the south on the opposite side of Shirley Street is a part 
four, part five storey shop top housing development (1 Shirley Street). This building 
has apartments with habitable windows and balconies fronting Shirley Street. 

10. Across Beaconsfield Lane to the east, at 576-578 Botany Road, is a two storey 
commercial premises which includes a gym at ground floor level. Further across the 
lane to the north-east of the site, at 574 Botany Road, is a four storey mixed use 
building containing ground floor commercial premises with residential apartments 
above. 

11. The site is not a heritage item, is not located in close proximity to a heritage item and 
is not located within a heritage conservation area. 

12. Photos of the site and surrounds are provided below: 

5



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 1: Aerial image of subject site and surrounding area 

 

Figure 2: Site viewed from the corner of Ralph Street and Shirley Street, facing east 

6



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 3: Site viewed from the corner of Ralph Street and Shirley Street, facing north 

 

Figure 4: Site viewed from Shirley Street, facing north-west 

7



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 5: View of Beaconsfield Lane from Shirley Street 

 

Figure 6: Site viewed from the corner of Shirley Street and Beaconsfield Lane, facing north 

8



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 7: Shop-top housing located opposite the site to the south at 1 Shirley Street 

 

Figure 8: Looking north along Ralph Street showing 17 and 11-15 Ralph Street 

9



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 9: Opposite the site to the west at 10-24 Ralph Street - the Australia Post Business Hub and 
Distribution Centre 

Proposal 

13. The application seeks consent for the demolition of the existing building and 
construction of a mixed use building comprising a retail premises and 18 residential 
three bedroom apartments, as detailed below: 

(a) Ground Floor: 

(i) one retail tenancy comprising an area of 35sqm and associated outdoor 
seating area; 

(ii) 23 car parking spaces; 

(iii) bicycle parking for 22 bicycles; 

(iv) waste storage rooms; and 

(v) two residential lobbies located on Ralph Street and Shirley Street. 

(b) Levels 1 - 3: 

(i) 12 apartments. 

(c) Level 4: 

(i) two apartments; 

(ii) lower level of two apartments (upper levels of these apartments located on 
level 5); and 

10



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

(iii) outdoor communal open space and swimming pool. 

(d) Level 5: 

(i) two apartments; and 

(ii) upper levels of two of the apartments located on level 4. 

(e) Roof level: 

(i) four private roof top terraces including landscaping. 

14. Photomontages, plans and elevations of the proposed development are provided at 
Figures 10 - 22. The full set of architectural drawings is provided in Attachments B and 
C. 

 

Figure 10: Photomontage from the corner of Ralph Street and Shirley Street 

11



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 11: Photomontage Shirley Street 

 

Figure 12: Ground floor plan 

12



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 
Figure 13: Level 1 

 
Figure 14: Level 2 (similar to level 3) 

13



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 
Figure 15: Level 4 

 

Figure 16: Level 5 

14



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 17: Level 6 rooftop 

  

Figure 18: South (Shirley Street) elevation 

15



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 19: West (Ralph Street) elevation 

 

Figure 20: East (Beaconsfield Lane) elevation 

16



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 21: North elevation 

 

Figure 22: Section (west - east) 

History Relevant to the Development Application 

Previous Development Applications 

15. There have been no development applications determined on the site which are of any 
relevance to the subject application. 

Current Development Application 

16. The DA was lodged on 21 February 2018. 

17



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

17. The preliminary assessment raised a number of concerns including: 

(a) acoustic privacy; 

(b) natural cross ventilation;  

(c) setbacks; 

(d) pedestrian entries; 

(e) design and solar access to communal open space;  

(f) flood planning levels; 

(g) stormwater management; 

(h) waste management; 

(i) design of car parking, loading and bike parking facilities; and 

(j) insufficient documentation including acoustic report, shadow diagrams and gross 
floor area diagrams. 

18. The proposal was presented to the City's Design Advisory Panel (DAP) on 28 June 
2018. The key issues discussed by DAP included the lack of setback from 
Beaconsfield Lane; design of the residential lobby; design of the communal open 
space; acoustic privacy between the two 'wings' of the building; and investigations into 
the provision of deep soil planting. 

19. DAP was generally supportive of the design approach, materiality and proposed 
apartment types and mix.  

20. In response to the issues raised by Council officers which incorporated the advice 
given by DAP, the proposal was amended and additional information provided on 4 
September 2018, 18 October 2018, 14 December 2018,16 January 2019 and 28 
February 2019. 

21. The amended application has sufficiently resolved the issues raised by Council staff 
and the Design Advisory Panel.  

22. Other remaining minor issues are addressed through recommended conditions of 
consent. 

Economic/Social/Environmental Impacts 

23. The application has been assessed under Section 4.15 of the Environmental Planning 
and Assessment Act 1979, including consideration of the following matters: 

(a) Environmental Planning Instruments and DCPs. 

  

18



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Sydney Airport Referral Act 1996 

24. Section 182 of the Commonwealth Airports Act 1996 specifies that, amongst other 
things, construction a building or other structure that intrudes into a prescribed 
airspace is a controlled activity. 

25. Schedules 2 and 5 of the Civil Aviation (Building Control Regulations 1988 identify the 
site is subject to a prohibition of the construction of buildings more than 50 feet in 
height (15.24m) above existing ground height.  

26. Section 183 of the Commonwealth Airports Acts 1996 specifies that controlled 
activities may not be carried out in relation to prescribed airspace unless an approval 
has been granted. The relevant approval body is the Civil Aviation Safety Authority 
(CASA). 

27. The Sydney Airport Airfield Design Manager, an authorised person of CASA, provided 
approval for the controlled activity on 5 March 2018. 

Sydney Water Act 1994 No. 88 

28. In accordance with Clause 78 of the Sydney Water Act 1994 No 88, the application 
was referred to Sydney Water on 1 March 2018 as the development may increase the 
demand for water supplied by the Corporation.  

29. Sydney Water raised no objection to the proposal subject to imposition of standard 
conditions requiring a Section 73 Compliance Certificate to be obtained and for the 
approved plans to be checked using Sydney Water's "Tap-in" in service. 

State Environmental Planning Policy No 55—Remediation of Land 

30. The aim of SEPP 55 is to ensure that a change of land use will not increase the risk to 
health, particularly in circumstances where a more sensitive land use is proposed. 

31. A detailed site investigation report and Remedial Action Plan (RAP) was submitted by 
the applicant. The RAP has been developed to account for different results, and the 
site auditor has confirmed that it is practical, and that the site will be suitable for the 
proposed use after remediation. The RAP states that it is unlikely that a long term 
Environmental Management Plan (EMP) will be required for the site, however the RAP 
provides for this as an option. Conditions relating to the EMP are therefore 
recommended in case this eventuates.  

32. It is noted that the land to be dedicated to Council for footpath widening must be 
remediated and must not be encumbered by an EMP. A condition of consent is 
recommended to address this. 

33. The City’s Health Unit is satisfied that subject to conditions, the site can be made 
suitable for the proposed use. 

State Environmental Planning Policy No 65—Design Quality of Residential Flat 
Development 

34. SEPP 65 provides that in determining an application for a residential flat development, 
that the consent authority take into consideration a number of matters relating to 
design quality. 

19



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

35. The proposed development has been designed by SJB Architects who are registered 
Architects. A design verification statement has been submitted with the DA which has 
been prepared in accordance with SEPP 65. 

36. The proposed development demonstrates an appropriate design quality that satisfies 
the nine design quality principles, as detailed below: 

(a) Principle 1: Context and Neighbourhood Character 

The character of development along Ralph Street has changed over time as historical 
warehouse and industrial uses are being replaced by residential flat buildings and 
mixed use buildings. The proposed mixed use development comprising 18 residential 
apartments with a ground floor retail tenancy is considered appropriate within the 
context of the site and the desired future character. 

(b) Principle 2: Built Form and Scale 

The proposed built form and scale of the proposal is considered appropriate for the 
site and surrounding area.  

(c) Principle 3: Density 

The proposal complies with the maximum permitted floor space ratio (FSR) for the site. 
The proposed density responds well to the existing and future density context of the 
area. The proposal does not result in any unreasonable impacts on existing or future 
adjoining development subject to conditions. 

(d) Principle 4: Sustainability 

The proposal is compliant with the requirements of SEPP BASIX and appropriate 
conditions are recommended to ensure the development complies with those 
requirements. The design achieves the principles of ecological sustainable 
development by incorporating passive solar design, thermal massing, and achieves 
natural cross ventilation to all of the 18 apartments. 

(e) Principle 5: Landscape 

Landscaping within the development includes two deep soil zones, the communal 
open space, balconies and green walls. This will add to the good level of residential 
amenity and positively contribute to the streetscape.  

(f) Principle 6: Amenity 

A high level of amenity is achieved by the proposed development. The residential 
component is well designed with regards to solar access, natural cross ventilation, 
visual and acoustic privacy and apartment sizes and layouts, all of which will contribute 
to positive living environments and resident wellbeing. 

(g) Principle 7: Safety 

The proposal has been generally designed in accordance with the CPTED principles. 
The development provides passive surveillance of the public domain and communal 
areas. Balconies and windows are provided on all three street elevations at levels 1 to 
5 which will therefore provide a high level of streetscape surveillance.  

20



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

(h) Principle 8: Housing Diversity and Social Interaction 

The design of the communal open space area is centrally located and provides equal 
opportunities for social interaction amongst residents. While the proposal only includes 
three bedroom apartments, this is considered acceptable as generally a higher number 
of studio, one bedroom and two bedroom apartments are proposed for residential flat 
buildings.  

(i) Principle 9: Aesthetics 

The proposed development provides a contemporary building form which is compatible 
with the desired future character of the area and approved development under 
D/2016/198 and D/2017/839 at 17 Ralph Street and 11-15 Ralph Street, respectively. 
The proposed development is considered to achieve a high level of design standard 
with high quality materials and finishes proposed. 

37. The development is considered generally acceptable when assessed against the 
above stated principles and the SEPP generally, which are replicated in large part 
within Council’s planning controls. 

Apartment Design Guide 

2E Building Depth Compliance Comment 

12-18m (glass to glass) Yes The maximum depth of the 
apartments is approximately 14.5m. 

  

21



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

2F Building Separation Compliance Comment 

Up to four storeys (approximately 
12 metres): 

 12m between habitable 
rooms / balconies 

 9m between habitable and 
non-habitable rooms 

 6m between non-habitable 
rooms 

Five to eight storeys 
(approximately 25 metres): 

 18m between habitable 
rooms / balconies 

 12m between habitable and 
non-habitable rooms 

 9m between non-habitable 
rooms 

No - 
assessed as 
acceptable 

 

Primarily due to the approved 
building setbacks of the adjoining 
development at 17 Ralph Street 
(D/2016/198), the proposal does not 
comply with the required building 
separation distances. 

This is discussed in the 'Issues' 
section.  

 

3D Communal and Public Open 
Space 

Compliance Comment 

Communal open space has a 
minimum area equal to 25% of the 
site. 

Yes 25% of the site area (244sqm) is 
provided as communal open space. 
The communal open space is 
provided on level 4 and accessible 
for all residents. 

Developments achieve a minimum 
of 50% direct sunlight to the 
principal usable part of the 
communal open space for a 
minimum of two hours between 
9am and 3pm on 21 June 
(midwinter). 

Yes More than two hours of direct 
sunlight to more than 50% of the 
minimum area of communal open 
space is achieved. 

  

22



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

3E Deep Soil Zones Compliance Comment 

Deep soil zones are to have a 
minimum area equivalent to 7% of 
the site and have a minimum 
dimension of 3m. 

Yes  Two deep soil zones with a total 
area of 66sqm are provided. This 
equates to 7% of the site area 
(following land dedication). The 
deep soil zones exceed the 3m 
minimum dimension.  

It is noted that there are stairs 
located above a portion of the deep 
soil zone. However these stairs are 
a permeable metal style to allow 
water infiltration and this is 
considered acceptable.  

 

3F Visual Privacy Compliance Comment 

Up to four storeys (12 metres): 

 6m between habitable rooms 
/ balconies 

 3m between non-habitable 
rooms 

Five to eight storeys (25 metres): 

 9m between habitable rooms 
/ balconies 

 4.5m between non-habitable 
rooms 

No - 
assessed as 
acceptable 

 

The proposed building separation 
distances do not comply. This is 
discussed in the 'Issues' section. 

Bedrooms, living spaces and other 
habitable rooms should be 
separated from gallery access and 
other open circulation space by the 
apartment's service areas. 

Yes The bedrooms and living areas have 
been designed with no windows 
directly opening into gallery spaces 
or other open circulation space. 

 

4A Solar and Daylight Access Compliance Comment 

70% of units to receive a minimum 
of two hours of direct sunlight in 
midwinter to living rooms and 
private open spaces. 

Yes 89% (16/18) apartments receive a 
minimum of two hours of direct 
sunlight in midwinter to living rooms 
and private open spaces. 

23



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

4A Solar and Daylight Access Compliance Comment 

The proposal results in 
overshadowing of the mixed use 
building located directly south of the 
site at 1 Shirley Street. This building 
contains ground floor commercial 
tenancies with residential 
apartments above. Living room 
windows and balconies front Shirley 
Street. While the proposal results in 
additional overshadowing of the 
subject apartments fronting Shirley 
Street, the proposal does not result 
in these windows and balconies 
receiving less than two hours of 
direct sunlight in midwinter. The 
mixed use building at 1 Shirley 
Street will continue to comply with 
the solar and access daylight 
provisions contained in Objective 
4A-1 of the ADG. Suns eyes 
diagrams are provided in 
Attachment C. 

Maximum of 15% of apartments in 
a building receive no direct sunlight 
between 9am and 3pm at 
midwinter. 

Yes All apartments receive direct 
sunlight between 9am and 3pm in 
midwinter. 

 

4B Natural Ventilation Compliance Comment 

All habitable rooms are naturally 
ventilated. 

Yes All habitable windows are provided 
with windows capable of providing 
adequate natural ventilation.  

Minimum 60% of apartments in the 
first nine storeys of the building are 
naturally cross ventilated. 

Yes All apartments are naturally cross 
ventilated.  

Overall depth of a cross-over or 
cross-through apartment does not 
exceed 18m, measured glass line 
to glass line. 

Yes The maximum depth of the 
apartments is approximately 14.5m, 
as measured from glass line to 
glass line. 

  

24



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

4C Ceiling Heights Compliance Comment 

Habitable rooms: 2.7m Yes All habitable rooms show a finished 
floor to ceiling height of 
approximately 3.2m. 

Non-habitable rooms: 2.4m Yes All non-habitable rooms exceed a 
minimum floor to ceiling height of 
2.4m. 

Two-storey apartments: 2.7m for 
main living area floor, 2.4m for 
second floor, where it does not 
exceed 50% of the apartment area. 

Yes The proposal includes two-storey 
apartments. The floor to ceiling 
heights for both levels of these 
apartments exceed the minimum 
floor to ceiling heights.  

If located in mixed use areas – 
3.3m for ground and first floor to 
promote future flexibility of use. 

No - 
assessed as 
acceptable 

The proposed ground floor retail 
tenancy provides a floor to ceiling 
height of approximately 3.4m. The 
first floor levels of the residential 
apartments have a floor to ceiling 
height of approximately 3.2m. This 
minor non-compliance is not 
considered to preclude possible 
future flexibility of use on this level. 
The minor non-compliance is 
considered acceptable.   

 

4D Apartment Size and Layout Compliance Comment 

Minimum unit sizes: 

 Three bed: 90m2 

The minimum internal areas 
include only one bathroom. 
Additional bathrooms increase the 
minimum internal area by 5sqm 
each. 

Yes All of the apartments contain two 
bathrooms and a minimum 
apartment size of 95sqm is required. 
The proposed apartment sizes 
range from 102sqm - 114sqm. 

Every habitable room is to have a 
window in an external wall with a 
minimum glass area of 10% of the 
floor area of the room. 

Yes Windows are provided to all 
habitable rooms and meet the 10% 
minimum glass area requirement.   

Habitable room depths are to be no 
more than 2.5 x the ceiling height. 

Yes The maximum depth of habitable 
rooms is approximately 8m which 
complies. 

25



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

4D Apartment Size and Layout Compliance Comment 

8m maximum depth for open plan 
layouts. 

Yes The open plan living, dining and 
kitchen areas have depths of 
approximately 8m. 

Minimum area for bedrooms 
(excluding wardrobes):  

 master bedroom: 10sqm  

 all other bedrooms: 9sqm 

Minimum dimension of any 
bedroom is 3m (excluding 
wardrobes). 

Yes The master bedrooms have a 
minimum area of approximately 
10.3sqm. 

The other bedrooms have a 
minimum area of approximately 
9.4sqm. 

All bedrooms exceed the 3m 
minimum dimension requirement. 

Living and living/dining rooms 
minimum widths: 

 Two-bedroom or more: 4m 

Yes All living and dining rooms have a 
minimum dimension of 4m. 

 

4E Private Open Space and 
Balconies 

Compliance Comment 

Private open space for apartments 
on ground level, on a podium, or 
similar, must have a minimum area 
of 15sqm and a minimum depth of 
3m. 

Yes The private open space for 
apartments have sizes ranging from 
approximately 18sqm to 95sqm and 
exceed 3m in depth. 

 

4F Common Circulation and 
Spaces 

Compliance Comment 

The maximum number of 
apartments off a circulation core on 
a single level is eight. 

Yes The development includes two lift 
cores. The maximum number of 
apartments from a single lift core on 
each level is two. 

26



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

4F Common Circulation and 
Spaces 

Compliance Comment 

Primary living room or bedroom 
windows should not open directly 
onto common circulation spaces, 
whether open or enclosed. Visual 
and acoustic privacy from common 
circulation spaces to any other 
rooms should be carefully 
controlled. 

Yes The apartments have been 
designed to have the entry doors 
from the corridors opening in to the 
kitchens of the apartments which is 
considered acceptable. 

None of the apartments include 
windows which open onto the 
common circulation spaces. 

Daylight and natural ventilation are 
provided to all common circulation 
spaces. 

Yes The common circulation spaces 
have been designed to provide 
daylight and natural ventilation to 
these areas. 

 

4G Storage Compliance Comment 

Minimum storage provision 
facilities: 

 Three bed: 10m3 

(Minimum 50% storage area 
located within unit) 

Yes - subject 
to condition 

It is unclear from the provided 
drawings whether the proposal 
meets the minimum storage 
provision. A condition of consent is 
recommended requiring a storage 
provision diagram to be provided in 
accordance with this provision. All 
apartments exceed the minimum 
apartment area size requirement 
and therefore the proposal is 
capable of complying with this 
provision.  

  

27



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

4J Noise and Pollution Compliance Comment 

Have noise and pollution been 
adequately considered and 
addressed through careful siting 
and layout of buildings? 

Yes The site is not located on a busy 
road, however is subject to intrusive 
noise from Botany Road, the 24 
hour a day Australia Post facility 
opposite the site on Ralph Street 
and a martial art gym located 
directly opposite the site on 
Beaconsfield Lane. 

The amended proposal has been 
carefully sited and designed in 
response to these noise sources. 
Bedroom windows do not directly 
open to the noise sources. The 
proposal can achieve compliance 
the minimum noise levels without 
the need for alternative mechanical 
natural ventilation.  

State Environmental Planning Policy (Infrastructure) 2007 

38. The provisions of SEPP (Infrastructure) 2007 have been considered in the assessment 
of the development application. 

Clause 45 

39. The application is subject to Clause 45 of the Infrastructure SEPP as the development 
is located close to an existing electricity substation and overhead and underground 
power lines.  

40. The application was referred to Ausgrid and no response was received. It is therefore 
assumed that no objections are raised to the proposal. 

41. The proposal does not include a substation. A condition is recommended requiring 
evidence from Ausgrid confirming that no substation is required prior to issue of any 
construction certificate. The recommended deferred commencement condition 
stipulates that if Ausgrid determine that a substation is required, the substation must 
be located within the building envelope and incorporated in to the design of the 
building to Council's satisfaction.  

State Environmental Planning Policy (Building Sustainability Index: BASIX) 2004 

42. The BASIX Certificate has been submitted with the development application. 

43. The BASIX certificate lists measures to satisfy BASIX requirements which have been 
incorporated in the proposal. A condition is recommended ensuring the measures 
detailed in the BASIX certificate are implemented. 

Sydney LEP 2012 

44. The site is zoned B4 Mixed Use under Sydney LEP 2012. The proposed development 
is defined as a mixed use development comprising 'residential accommodation' and 
'retail premises' both of which are permissible with consent. 

28



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

45. The relevant matters to be considered under Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 
for the proposed development are outlined below. 

Compliance Tables 

Development Control Compliance Comment 

4.3 Height of Buildings No A maximum height of 22m is permitted. 

A height of 22.64m is proposed. 

The applicant has submitted a written 
request seeking an exception to the 
development standard in accordance 
with Clause 4.6(3) of SLEP 2012. See 
discussion under the heading Issues. 

4.4 Floor Space Ratio Yes A maximum FSR of 2:1 is permitted. 

A FSR of 2:1 is proposed. 

4.6 Exceptions to development 
standards 

Yes The proposal seeks to vary the height of 
building development standard 
prescribed under Clause 4.3 of SLEP 
2012.  

See discussion under the heading 
Issues. 

 

Part 6 Local Provisions - 
Height and Floor Space  

Compliance Comment 

6.21 Design excellence 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Yes Subject to conditions, the proposed 
development exhibits design excellence 
specifically regarding the matters listed 
in Clause 6.21(4): 

The development will result in a high 
standard of architectural design. The 
building design is appropriate to the 
surrounding context. 

The proposed development does not 
detrimentally impact on view corridors. 
The proposal is also suitability sited and 
designed so as to reduce acoustic 
privacy impacts without the need for 
mechanical ventilation. 

 

29



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Part 6 Local Provisions - 
Height and Floor Space  

Compliance Comment 

6.21 Design excellence 

 

The building will not unreasonably 
overshadow neighbouring developments 
and results in a compliant level of solar 
access for the subject development. 

A concept landscape plan has been 
provided. Landscaping is integrated in 
the design of the building through 
planters on balconies on the Ralph 
Street (west) elevation, within the 
communal terrace, roof top terraces and 
the central void spaces. This will 
contribute to the residential amenity of 
the development and the streetscape.  

The materiality of the facade is 
considered to be of high quality and 
consistent with the desired character of 
the area. The proposed external 
materials include scalloped precast 
concrete, Iron Ash hardwood wall 
cladding, dark metallic powder coat 
window frames and louvres and dark 
grey steel balustrades. A physical 
materials board has been submitted and 
Council officers are satisfied that the 
materials are of a high quality.  

The development will not result in 
unreasonable environmental impacts 
and is considered to demonstrate design 
excellence, subject to conditions. 

  

30



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Part 7 Local Provisions - 
General 

Compliance Comment 

Division 1 Car parking ancillary 
to other development 

 

 

Clause 7.5 Residential flat 
buildings 

 

Clause 7.7 Retail premises 

Yes The site is identified as 'Category C' and 
'Category F' on the Land Use and 
Transport Integration Map and Public 
Transport Accessibility Level Map, 
respectively. 

In accordance with Clause 7.5, a 
maximum of 22 car parking spaces are 
permitted for the residential apartments. 
22 residential car parking spaces are 
proposed which complies. 

In accordance with Clause 7.7, one car 
parking space is permitted for the retail 
tenancy. One retail car parking space is 
proposed which complies. 

7.13 Contributions for purpose 
of affordable housing 

Not 
applicable 

The site is not located within either 
Green Square or the Southern 
Employment Lands and as such no 
affordable housing contribution is 
applicable.  

7.14 Acid Sulphate Soils Yes The site is identified as containing class 
5 Acid Sulphate Soil. The site is mapped 
as being within a Class 5 Acid Sulphate 
Soils (ASS) zone.  The proposal is 
located approximately 265m from an 
adjacent Class 3 ASS zone. The 
proposal does not involve works that are 
likely to lower the watertable of the 
adjacent Class 3 ASS zone. The 
proposal therefore complies with this 
provision. 

7.15 Flood planning Yes The site is not affected during a 1% AEP  
flood event. The proposed development 
is consistent with the Interim 
Management Policy and the flood 
planning level requirements. Council's 
flood engineer has advised that the 
proposed floor levels are acceptable.   

7.16 Airspace operations Not 
applicable  

The proposed development will not 
penetrate the Obstacle Limitation 
Surface as shown on the Obstacle 
Limitation Surface Map for the Sydney 
Airport.  

31



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Part 7 Local Provisions - 
General 

Compliance Comment 

7.23 Large retail development 
near Green Square Town 
Centre 

Yes The proposed retail premises does not 
exceed 1000sqm and therefore complies 
with this provision. 

Sydney DCP 2012 

46. The relevant matters to be considered under Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 
for the proposed development are outlined below. 

2. Locality Statements – Beaconsfield 

The subject site is located in the Beaconsfield locality. The proposed development is 
considered to be in keeping with the unique character of the area and design principles in 
that it will result in a high quality built form in the southern area of the neighbourhood. 

 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

3.1 Public Domain Elements Yes The proposal will make a positive 
contribution to the public domain by 
providing a widened footpath along the 
site's Beaconsfield Lane frontage.  

3.2 Defining the Public Domain Yes The design of the development creates 
a building that will generally enhance the 
quality of public domain and provide an 
active ground floor retail use. 

3.2.7 Reflectivity Yes A condition of consent has been 
recommended requiring that the 
reflectivity from the building materials 
must not exceed 20%. 

32



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

3.4 Hierarchy of Centres, City 
South 

Yes The site is located outside the Green 
Square Town Centre major retail area. 
The proposed retail premises comprise 
a total area of 35sqm. The development 
is classified as 'minor retail development' 
under Section 3.4. Minor retail 
development is permissible outside retail 
centres provided it does not have a 
negative impact on the viability of the 
planned centres. The predominant use 
of the site is residential. The size of the 
proposed retail premises is not 
considered to undermine the economic 
strategy of the Green Square retail 
centre or impact its viability.   

3.5 Urban Ecology Yes The proposed development does not 
involve the removal of any trees and will 
not adversely impact on the local urban 
ecology. 

3.6 Ecologically Sustainable 
Development 

Yes The proposal satisfies BASIX and 
environmental requirements. 

3.7 Water and Flood 
Management 

Yes The building is above the flood planning 
level and stormwater can be adequately 
managed.  

3.8 Subdivision, Strata 
Subdivision and Consolidation 

Yes Conditions are recommended to be 
imposed on the consent requiring 
separate approval for strata or stratum 
subdivision of the building. 

3.9 Heritage  Not 
applicable 

The subject site is not identified as a 
heritage item, is not in close proximity to 
a heritage item and is not located within 
a heritage conservation area. 

Council's Heritage Specialist has 
advised that the demolition of the 
existing warehouse building is 
acceptable, subject to a condition of 
consent requiring a heritage archival 
recording being carried out prior to 
demolition.  

33



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

3.11 Transport and Parking 

 

 

 

 

 

3.11.12 Tandem, stacked and 
mechanical parking areas 

Yes Subject to conditions, the layout of the 
ground floor parking is capable of 
complying with Australian Standards. 

22 bike parking spaces are provided 
within the basement for the residential 
apartments and retail employees. This 
exceeds the minimum requirement of 
20. Two visitor bike racks are proposed 
which complies with the minimum 
requirement of two.  

The proposal includes five mechanical 
car parking stackers to accommodate a 
total of 10 spaces (two car parking 
spaces in a vertical stacker). The 
driveway and aisle widths comply with 
Australian Standards and will allow for 
vehicle to exit while there are waiting 
vehicles. Therefore Council's Transport 
and Access Unit are satisfied that 
stacker system will not cause vehicles 
queueing on to the street. A condition of 
consent is recommended requiring each 
individual car stacker to be attached to a 
single apartment. 

Overall, it is considered that the 
proposal subject to conditions, will not 
result in unreasonable traffic congestion, 
will promote sustainable transport 
modes and generally complies with the 
objectives and provisions contained in 
Section 3 (Transport and Parking) of 
SDCP 2012. 

3.12 Accessible Design Yes A condition has been recommended for 
the proposed development to provide 
appropriate access and facilities for 
persons with disabilities in accordance 
with the DCP and the BCA.  

3.13 Social and Environmental 
Responsibilities 

Yes The proposed development provides 
adequate passive surveillance and is 
generally designed in accordance with 
the CPTED principles. 

34



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

3.14 Waste Yes A Waste Management Plan (WMP) 
accompanied the DA. The WMP is not 
supported in its current form, however 
the proposed development is capable of 
complying the City's 'Policy for Waste 
Minimisation in New Developments'. 
Separate waste storage areas are 
provided for the retail and residential 
uses. 

Collection of waste on the site is 
considered to be difficult due to the 
width of the site being 16 metres. As a 
result, collection of waste from the kerb 
is considered to be acceptable in this 
case. This is consistent with the 
approved waste management for recent 
approvals at 17 and 11-15 Ralph Street 
which allow for waste collection from the 
kerb of Beaconsfield Lane. 

3.16 Signage and Advertising Not 
applicable 

The proposed development does not 
include signage. A condition of consent 
is recommended development consent 
to be obtained for future signage where 
it is not categorised as exempt 
development. 

 

4. Development Types 

4.2 Residential flat, 
commercial and mixed use 
developments 

Compliance Comment 

4.2.1 Building height Yes The building height in storeys control 
applicable to the site is six storeys. The 
proposed development is six storeys. 

The site is not subject to a street 
frontage height control. 

35



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

4. Development Types 

4.2 Residential flat, 
commercial and mixed use 
developments 

Compliance Comment 

4.2.2 Building setbacks Yes The SDCP 2012 does not identify a 
specific setback control for the site. 

No building setback is provided to Ralph 
Street. This is consistent with the 
approved development to the adjoining 
site (17 Ralph Street) and is acceptable 
in the context of the streetscape. 

The ground floor setback from Shirley 
Street varies from nil - 2.2m. The 
outdoor seating area is considered to 
adequately activate this area. There is 
only one other building located on the 
northern side of Shirley Street (No.576-
578 Botany Road) which has a nil 
setback. The proposed setback from 
Shirley Street is therefore considered 
acceptable in this context. 

A varying setback of approximately 
500mm - 1170mm is provided from 
Beaconsfield Lane, as measured from 
the new property boundary after the land 
dedication. This is generally consistent 
with the approved development of the 
sites to the north and is acceptable.  

4.2.3 Amenity Yes The proposal will result in an acceptable 
level of amenity, as detailed further in 
the ADG compliance table. 

The proposal complies with the solar 
access provisions contained is Section 
4.2.3.1. Solar access is detailed further 
in the ADG compliance table. 

36



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

4. Development Types 

4.2 Residential flat, 
commercial and mixed use 
developments 

Compliance Comment 

4.2.3.11 Acoustic Privacy Yes The revised acoustic assessment 
submitted demonstrates that the internal 
noise criteria can be achieved. 

The site is not located on a busy road, 
however is subject to intrusive noise 
from Botany Road, the Australia Post 
facility opposite the site on Ralph Street 
and a martial art gym located directly 
opposite the site on Beaconsfield Lane. 

The amended proposal has been 
carefully sited and designed in response 
to these noise sources. Bedroom 
windows do not directly open to the 
noise sources. The proposal can 
achieve compliance the minimum noise 
levels without the need for alternative 
mechanical natural ventilation. 

4.2.3.12 Flexible housing and 
dwelling mix 

Yes The proposal only includes three 
bedroom apartments, which is 
consistent with the DCP provisions 
allowing 100% of dwellings within the 
development to be three bedroom 
apartments. 

4.2.4 Fine grain, architectural 
diversity and articulation 

Yes The maximum street frontage length of 
the proposed building is 22.5m which 
complies.  The Shirley Street (south 
elevation) is broken up by the internal 
courtyard. 

4.2.6 Waste minimisation Yes This is addressed in Section 3.14 above. 

4.2.7 Heating and Cooling 
Infrastructure 

Yes Services are centrally located at ground 
level as required by this provision.  

37



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

4. Development Types 

4.2 Residential flat, 
commercial and mixed use 
developments 

Compliance Comment 

4.2.8 Letterboxes Yes - subject 
to condition  

The letterboxes are located within each 
of the lobbies and are easily identifiable 
for Australia Post staff. However, the 
letter boxes are also accessible from the 
street which is not supported due to 
concerns raised by the Police with mail 
theft in the area.  A condition of consent 
is recommended requiring mail boxes to 
be only accessible within the lobby.  

4.2.9 Non-residential 
development in the B4 Mixed 
Use zone 

Yes The retail tenancy is located on the 
ground floor with the residential 
apartments above. A condition of 
consent is recommended restricting the 
hours to between 8.00am and 6.00pm 
Monday to Sunday to prevent any 
unreasonable potential amenity impacts 
on the future residents.  

Issues 

Clause 4.6 request to vary a development standard - Height of building  

47. The site is subject to a maximum height control of 22m pursuant to Clause 4.3 of 
SLEP 2012. The proposed development has a maximum height of 22.64m resulting in 
an exceedance of the maximum permitted height by 640mm or 2.9%. 

48. The areas of the building subject to the breach include the balustrades associated with 
the rooftop private terraces and the lift overruns, as shown in Figures 23 - 25.  

38



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 23: South (Shirley St) elevation - 22m maximum permitted height line indicated in red 

 

Figure 24: West (Ralph St) elevation - 22m maximum permitted height line indicated in red 

39



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 25: Roof top plan (private terraces) subject to the breach. The maximum height of the 
balustrades and lift overruns is 22.64m (RL33.65). 

49. A written request has been submitted to Council in accordance with Clause 4.6(3)(a) 
and (b) of SLEP 2012 to justify the contravention of the development standard by 
seeking to demonstrate: 

(a) that compliance with the development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary 
in the circumstances of the case; and 

(b) that there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify contravening 
the standard. 

50. A copy of the applicant's written request is provided at Attachment F.  

Applicants Written Request - Clause 4.6(3)(a) and (b) 

51. The applicant seeks to justify the contravention of the height of building development 
standard on the following basis: 

(a) That compliance with the development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary 
in the circumstances of the case in that the proposal satisfies the following 
methods established in Wehbe v Pittwater Council [2007] NSWLEC 827: 

(i) the objectives of the height of building development standard are achieved 
notwithstanding non-compliance with the standard; and 

(ii) the underlying objective or purpose of the standard is not relevant to the 
development and therefore compliance is unnecessary. 

Specifically, the applicant states that strict compliance with the building height 
development standard is unreasonable and unnecessary in the circumstances of 
the case in that: 

40



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

(i) the basis for the increase in height is to provide roof top open space areas 
which enjoy solar access; 

(ii) the elements of the development which exceed 22 metres are unlikely to 
be visible from the public domain because they are setback from the edges 
of the street wall; 

(iii) a solar analysis prepared by SJB Architects accompanies the subject 
application and demonstrates that the proposed areas of non-compliance 
do not result in any meaningful difference compared to a compliant height; 

(iv) there are no unreasonable impacts in terms of overshadowing, views, 
visual and acoustic privacy impacts to adjacent sites resulting from the 
proposed variation to the height development standard which would 
warrant strict compliance; 

(v) the proposed variation allows for the most efficient and economic use of 
the land; 

(vi) strict compliance with the development standard would result in an 
inflexible application of the control that would not deliver any additional 
benefits to the owners or occupants of the surrounding properties of the 
general public; and 

(vii) having regard to the planning principle established in the matter of Project 
Venture Developments v Pittwater Council [2005] NSWLEC 191 most 
observers would not find the proposed development offensive, jarring or 
unsympathetic to its location and the proposed development will be 
compatible with its context. 

(b) That there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify contravening 
the standard due to the following: 

(i) The proposed distribution of built form and massing of the building across 
the site is the result of a considered analysis of the site and surrounding 
context and the desire to deliver a positive urban design outcome with a 
high level of architectural merit and residential amenity. 

(ii) The proposed development has been specifically designed as a robust 
architectural solution for the site which will result in a high quality 
development that will sit comfortably within the streetscapes of Ralph 
Street, Shirley Street and Beaconsfield Lane. 

(iii) The scale of the proposed development does not result in any 
unreasonable impacts on the surrounding properties in terms of loss of 
solar access, loss of privacy or visual impact. The architectural package 
includes a solar access analysis which demonstrates that the proposed 
scale of the development will not unreasonably overshadow development 
on surrounding properties. 

(iv) The scale of the building will not be perceived as jarring or antipathetic in 
the existing urban design context of the site and represents a scale which 
is reasonably contemplated by the planning controls which apply to the 
site, particularly given the minor nature of the non-compliance.  

41



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

(v) Strict compliance with the development standard would result in an 
inflexible application of the control that would not deliver any additional 
benefits to the owners or occupants of the surrounding properties or the 
general public and in this particular circumstance there are sufficient 
environmental planning grounds to warrant the proposed variation to the 
current height control as the proposal will achieve a superior outcome with 
a higher level of residential amenity within the site and without any 
significant adverse impact to adjacent sites. 

Consideration of Applicants Written Request - Clause 4.6(4) (a) (i) and (ii) 

52. Development consent must not be granted unless the consent authority is satisfied 
that: 

(a) the applicant’s written request has adequately addressed the matters required to 
be demonstrated by subclause 3 of Clause 4.6 being that compliance with the 
development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary in the circumstances of 
the case, and that there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify 
contravening the standard; and 

(b) the proposed development will be in the public interest because it is consistent 
with the objectives of the particular standard and the objectives for development 
within the zone in which the development is proposed to be carried out. 

Does the written request adequately address those issues at Clause 4.6(3)(a)? 

53. The applicant's written request has adequately addressed Clause 4.6(3)(a) in that they 
demonstrate that the objectives of the development and zone are achieved 
notwithstanding non-compliance with the standard, hence the standard is 
unreasonable or unnecessary.  

54. The written request has therefore satisfied methods for establishing a development 
standard is unreasonable or unnecessary in the circumstance of the case as set out in 
Wehbe v Pittwater Council [2007] NSWLEC 827. 

Does the written request adequately address those issues at Clause 4.6(3)(b)? 

55. The applicant adequately addresses that there are sufficient environmental planning 
grounds to justify contravening the standard. They identify that the component of the 
building that exceeds the height standard does not result in any adverse amenity 
impacts to surrounding properties, and that the development meets the objectives of 
the land use zone and height of building development standard.  

Is the development in the public interest? 

56. The proposed development is considered to be in the public interest as it is consistent 
with the objectives of the height of building development standard and objectives of the 
B4 Mixed Use zone. 

57. The objectives of Clause 4.3 (Height of Building) of SLEP 2012 are: 

(a) To ensure the height of development is appropriate to the condition of the site 
and its context. 

(b) To ensure appropriate height transitions between new development and heritage 
items and buildings in heritage conservation areas or special character areas. 

42



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

(c) To promote the sharing of views. 

(d) To ensure appropriate height transitions from Central Sydney and Green Square 
Town Centre to adjoining areas. 

58. The proposed development is considered to be consistent with the objectives of 
Clause 4.3 of SLEP 2012 for the following reasons: 

(a) The proposed height of the building including the areas of non-compliance is 
commensurate with the built form, scale and height of buildings in the 
surrounding area.  

(b) The proposed development is six storeys in height which complies with the 
SDCP 2012 storeys control and is consistent with the predominant six storey 
building character within the streetscape.  

(c) The site is not located within the vicinity of a heritage item, heritage conservation 
area or special character area. 

(d) The proposal does not result in view loss of any significant views.  

59. The objectives of the B4 Mixed Use zone are: 

(a) To provide a mixture of compatible land uses. 

(b) To integrate suitable business, office, residential and other development in 
accessible locations so as to maximise public transport patronage and 
encourage walking and cycling.  

(c) To ensure uses support the viability of centres. 

60. The proposed development is considered to be consistent with the objectives of the B4 
Mixed Use zone for the following reasons: 

(a) The proposed development is a mixed use development comprising a ground 
floor retail premises and residential apartments above, both of which are 
compatible on the same site. 

(b) The proposed development is in close proximity to a number of bus routes on 
Botany Road, and the development includes adequate bicycle parking to 
encourage cycling.  

(c) The components of the building subject to the non-compliance are limited to the 
balustrades and lift overruns are setback from the outer building edge. Therefore 
these components of the building do not result adverse environmental planning 
impacts by way of urban design, streetscape impacts, view loss or 
overshadowing on surrounding properties.  

61. In light of the above, the proposed development is considered to be in the public 
interest.  

Conclusion 

62. The areas of the building subject to the breach of height is limited to the balustrades 
and lift overruns. The balustrades are setback from the site's boundaries between 
1.1m to 2.3m as shown in Figure 26. 

43



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 26: Roof top plans with setbacks of balustrades from boundaries / street frontages indicated in 
red 

63. It is considered that the balustrades and lift overruns are sufficiently setback from the 
street frontages so that they will not be overly perceivable from the streetscape or 
result in unacceptable bulk or scale of the building.  

64. Notwithstanding the minor additional height, the proposed building will remain as a six 
storey building, which is consistent with the height in storeys control. The bulk and 
scale of the building is commensurate with the surrounding built form, particularly the 
recent development consents for 6 storey buildings directly to the north of the site.  

65. The bulk of the building (parapet) is located approximately 675mm - 1130mm below 
the maximum permitted height. Therefore no gross floor area is located above the 22m 
height limit and all measurable FSR is maintained within the maximum height. 

66. The areas of the building that exceed the height development standard will not result in 
any adverse amenity impacts to surrounding properties, particularly solar access and 
view impacts. 

67. The rationale provided in the written request for the additional height is to achieve a 
very high level of amenity for future occupants through provision of 3.3m floor to ceiling 
heights and additional open space.  

68. In consideration of the above, the proposed built form would not set an undesirable 
precedent for the locality.  

  

44



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

69. For the reasons provided above, the requested variation to the height of building 
development standard is supported as the applicant's written request has adequately 
addressed the matters required to be addressed by Clause 4.6 of SLEP 2012 and the 
proposed development would be in the public interest in because it is consistent with 
the objectives of the height of building development standard and the B4 Mixed Use 
zone.  

70. In the assessment of the proposed building height, Council officers raised concern with 
likelihood that additional rooftop structures may be required to address privacy 
between the terraces and weather protection of the stairs leading up from the interior 
of the apartments to the private roof terraces. Such structures would be sited above 
the proposed maximum height shown on the plans and as detailed in the Clause 4.6 
written request. 

71. The applicant provided additional information demonstrating how stormwater will be 
managed without the need for a canopy structure (or the like) above the open stairs 
(see Figure 27). 

 

Figure 27: Drainage diagram for level 5 apartments and rooftop terraces 

45



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

72. The individual terraces are separated by planter boxes which are approximately 2.4m 
wide and 1.4m deep. This will enable planting of sufficient trees and shrubs of a height 
and density to provide adequate privacy between the rooftop terraces. Therefore, the 
consent authority can be satisfied that no additional rooftop structures such as privacy 
screens or canopy structures will be required.  

73. It is noted that concern is raised with overlooking from the rooftop terraces to the 
apartments on the lower levels. This is discussed further at paragraph 81. 

Building separation  

74. Objectives 2F (building separation) and 3F (visual privacy) requires the following 
separation distances: 

         Up to four storeys  

 12m between habitable rooms / balconies 

 9m between habitable and non-habitable rooms 

 6m between non-habitable rooms 

         Five to eight storeys 

 18m between habitable rooms / balconies 

 12m between habitable and non-habitable rooms 

 9m between non-habitable rooms 

75. Ideally when assessing the building separation from adjoining development or future 
development, the separation distance is shared equally between adjoining 
development sites. Essentially, the required distance is halved and measured to the 
common shared boundary. Using this rationale the proposed development has been 
designed to comply with these building separation distances. 

76. However, the approved residential flat building at 17 Ralph Street (D/2016/198) has 
non-compliant setbacks in accordance with the ADG and consequently 'borrows' 
amenity from the subject site. The building separation distances between the two sites 
is shown in Figure 28: 

46



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 28: Level 2 

77. Notwithstanding, the proposed development is not considered to result in 
unreasonable privacy impacts to the approved development at 17 Ralph Street. This is 
due to the primary outlook of the rear wing apartments being north. There is an open 
communal corridor running along the south side of these apartments including their 
living room windows. The open corridor includes louvres which provides additional 
privacy between the two sites. 

78. Given the above, the siting of the proposed development is considered to provide 
adequate privacy for future residents of the subject site and of 17 Ralph Street, and 
the non-compliance is supported in this instance. 

Visual Privacy within Development 

79. A number of habitable windows and balconies result in visual privacy impacts between 
different apartments which does not comply with Objective 3F of the ADG. These 
components of the building where concern is raised with privacy are identified in 
Figures 29 - 32: 

47



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 29: Typical levels 2 and 3 - visual privacy impact between bedroom windows and between 
bathroom and walk-in-robe windows. 

 

Figure 30: Level 5 - visual privacy impact between balconies. No privacy screen/s are proposed.  

48



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 31: Level 1 - visual privacy impact from stairs to adjacent bedroom window of apartment 
number 1.3 

80. Conditions of consent are recommended to address these visual privacy issues 
through provision of privacy screens, raised sill heights and/or obscured glazing where 
appropriate. 

81. In addition, the proposed rooftop terraces will result in direct overlooking of private 
open space and habitable windows of the apartments on the lower levels. A condition 
of consent is recommended requiring the provision perimeter planter boxes to prevent 
direct overlooking. The perimeter planter boxes are also recommended in order to 
improve the level of amenity for future residents using the terraces. 

82. Subject to these conditions, the proposed development is considered to provide an 
appropriate level of privacy within the site.  

83. The proposed development is not considered to result in unreasonable 
visual privacy impacts on surrounding properties. Overall, the proposal is 
considered to satisfy Objective 3F-2 of the ADG. 

Ground level car parking / Activation of Streetscape 

84. The proposal includes ground level car parking. Section 3.11.14 (parking area design) 
of SDCP 2012 stipulates that where parking is at ground level, it is to be: 

(a) located to the rear or side of buildings and not visible from the street and public 
domain; 

49



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

(b) incorporated into the building and screened by other uses; and 

(c) designed with materials, details, proportions and landscaping to complement the 
building and adjoining buildings. 

85. The proposed car parking is accessible from Beaconsfield Lane, which is considered 
the most appropriate location for the vehicular access. The car parking is setback and 
screened along the Shirley Street and Ralph Street frontages. The design of the car 
parking is appropriately concealed by the enclosing built form.  

86. The ground floor retail tenancy with outdoor seating area, and the residential lobbies 
provide sufficient activation of the streetscape. The ground level building services are 
appropriately screened with materials which complement and integrate with the 
facade.  

87. The floor to ceiling height of the car parking area is approximately 3.1m. Therefore the 
proposed floor to ceiling heights will not sterilise potential adaption of this area to an 
alternative use should this be proposed in the future. 

88. Given the above, the proposed ground floor car parking and ground level street 
interface is considered acceptable. 

Voluntary Planning Agreement 

89. A Public Benefit Offer has been submitted to dedicate a strip of land along the 
Beaconsfield Lane frontage of the site to Council. 

90. A draft VPA has been prepared in relation to the proposal which includes the following 
public benefits: 

(a) dedication to Council land comprising an area of 30.1sqm with a width of 1m -
1.675m located along the Beaconsfield frontage of the site for footpath widening 
(as indicated in Figure 32 below); and 

(b) embellishment of the area of land with asphalt finish to the value of $14,685.50. 

 

Figure 32: Land to be dedicated for footpath widening along Beaconsfield Lane 

50



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

91. It is noted that VPA's have also been prepared and executed for 17 Ralph Street and 
11-15 Ralph Street, which are also to dedicate land along Beaconsfield Lane towards 
footpath widening. 

92. The VPA does not result in bonus provisions such as floor space ratio or any offsets to 
Section 7.11 contributions. 

93. The draft VPA was publically exhibited for a period of 28 days between 19 November 
2018 and 18 December 2018 and no submissions were received.  

94. A deferred commencement consent is recommended requiring the execution of the 
VPA and registration on title prior to the consent becoming operative. 

Other Impacts of the Development 

95. The proposed development is capable of complying with the BCA.  

96. It is considered that the proposal will have no significant detrimental effect relating to 
environmental, social or economic impacts on the locality, subject to appropriate 
conditions being imposed. 

Suitability of the site for the Development  

97. The proposal is of a nature in keeping with the overall function of the site. The 
premises are in a commercial/residential surrounding and amongst similar uses to that 
proposed. 

Internal Referrals 

98. The application was discussed with the Urban Designer; Landscape Officer; Building 
Services Unit; Environmental Health; Acoustic Specialist; Public Domain; Surveyors; 
Transport and Access; Waste Management; who advised that the proposal is 
acceptable subject to the recommended conditions. 

99. The conditions other sections of Council have been included in the recommended 
conditions of consent. 

External Referrals 

Notification, Advertising and Delegation  

100. In accordance with Schedule 1 the Sydney DCP 2012, the proposed development is 
required to be notified and advertised. As such the application was notified and 
advertised for a period of 21 days between 1 March 2018 and 23 March 2018. As a 
result of this notification there was one submission received which raised the following 
concerns: 

(a) The development should be five storeys in height which is consistent with the 
area. 

  

51



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Response - The proposed development is six storeys in height which complies 
with the height in storeys control in the SDCP 2012. While the proposal 
marginally exceeds the maximum permitted height SLEP 2012 height limit, the 
part of the building subject to the non-compliance relates to the balustrades and 
lift overruns only. These building elements are not considered to result in 
unreasonable impacts on the streetscape or surrounding properties. Further 
discussion on the height of the building is contained in the 'Issues' section.   

(b) The roof top terraces will result in visual privacy impacts to the residential 
apartments at 1 Shirley Street.  

Response - The roof top terraces are located approximately 21.5m from the 
windows and private open space of the residential apartment at 1 Shirley Street.  
Objective 3F (visual privacy) of the ADG requires a minimum separation distance 
of 9m. The proposal therefore complies with this provision and is not considered 
to result in any unreasonable privacy impacts on surrounding residents, 
particularly in an urban context. 

(c) Traffic impacts. 

Response - The proposed development complies with the maximum permitted 
number of car parking spaces. In addition, the proposal provides more than the 
required number of bike parking spaces. For these reasons, it is considered that 
the proposal, subject to conditions, will not result in unreasonable traffic 
congestion. The proposal generally complies with the objectives and provisions 
contained in Section 3 (Transport and Parking) of SDCP 2012. 

Public Interest 

101. It is considered that the proposal will have no detrimental effect on the public interest, 
subject to appropriate conditions being proposed.  

S7.11 Contribution 

102. The development is subject of a S7.11 contribution under the provisions of the City of 
Sydney Development Contributions Plan 2015.  

103. The following monetary contribution is required towards the cost of public amenities: 

(a) Open Space $181,240.59 

(b) Community Facilities $38,281.42 

(c) Traffic and Transport -$5,276.33 

(d) Stormwater Drainage -$2,080.53 

Total $212,165.15 

52



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

104. The contribution is calculated based in the proposed number of residential apartments 
plus the GFA of the retail premises. 

105. A credit has been given against the existing use which is best defined as 'light 
industrial' in accordance with the uses provided in the City of Sydney Development 
Contributions Plan 2015.  

Relevant Legislation 

106.  Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979. 

Conclusion 

107. The DA seeks consent for the construction of a six storey mixed use development 
comprising 18 residential apartments, ground floor retail tenancy and ground level car 
parking.   

108. A written request has been submitted under Clause 4.6 of SLEP 2012 to vary the 
height of building development standard by 640mm or 2.9%. The written request has 
adequately demonstrated that compliance with the development standard is 
unreasonable and unnecessary in the circumstances of the case and that there are 
sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify contravening the standard. The 
proposal is consistent with the objectives of the land use zone and height of building 
development standard. The proposed variation to the development standard has merit 
and is supported in this instance.  

109. Subject to conditions, the proposed development is generally compliant with the 
relevant planning controls contained in SEPP 65, the ADG, SLEP 2012 and SDCP 
2012.  

110. A high level of amenity will be provided for future occupants and the proposal will 
provide a positive contribution to the public domain. The proposed design and external 
materials and finishes are of a high standard and consistent with the character of the 
area. The proposal satisfies the design excellence criteria contained in Clause 6.21 of 
SLEP 2012. 

111. The proposed dedication of land for footpath widening of Beaconsfield Lane as 
detailed in the draft VPA provides the opportunity to improve the public domain and 
improves safety and accessibility along Beaconsfield Lane.  

112. The development is recommended for deferred commencement approval, subject to 
the recommended conditions in Attachment A. 

GRAHAM JAHN, AM 

Director City Planning, Development and Transport 

Tahlia Alexander, Planner 

53



Attachment A 

Recommended Conditions of Consent 

54



 

 

SCHEDULE 1 - DEFERRED COMMENCEMENT CONDITIONS (CONDITIONS TO BE 
SATISFIED PRIOR TO CONSENT OPERATING)  

The following deferred commencement conditions must be satisfied prior to the consent 
becoming operative: 

(A) PART A - DEFERRED COMMENCEMENT CONDITIONS 

(CONDITIONS TO BE SATISFIED PRIOR TO CONSENT OPERATING) 

The consent is not to operate until the following condition is satisfied, within 24 
months of the date of this determination: 

(1) VOLUNTARY PLANNING AGREEMENT 

(a) The Voluntary Planning Agreement between the COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF SYDNEY and 19 RALPH STREET PTY LTD which was placed on public 
exhibition between 19 November 2018 and 18 December 2018 shall be 
executed and submitted to Council; and 

(b) The guarantee must be provided to Council in accordance with the Voluntary 
Planning Agreement (at the time the VPA is executed); and 

(c) The Voluntary Planning Agreement, as executed, must be registered on the 
title of the land. 

(2) DESIGN MODIFICATIONS 

The design of the building must be modified as follows: 
 

(a) A 1.6m high privacy screen must be provided to: 

(i) the western side of the balcony located on level 5 of apartment 
number 5.4; and/or 

(ii) the eastern side of the balcony located on level 5 of apartment number 
5.3. 

(b) Privacy measures including window sill heights of 1.6m above finished floor 
level, fixed obscure glazing up to a minimum height of 1.6m above finished 
floor level or external privacy screens, must be provided to the following 
windows: 

(i) The bedroom window located on the west elevation of apartment 
number 1.3 located on level 1. 

(ii) The bedroom window located on the west elevation of apartment 
number 2.3 located on level 2 or the bedroom window located on the 
east elevation of apartment number 2.2 located on level 2.  

(iii) The walk-in-robe window located on the west elevation of apartment 
number 2.3 located on level 2 or the bathroom window located on the 
east elevation of apartment number 2.2 located on level 2. 

55



 

 

(iv) The bedroom window located on the west elevation of apartment 
number 3.3 located on level 3 or the bedroom window located on the 
east elevation of apartment number 3.2 located on level 3.  

(v) The walk-in-robe window located on the west elevation of apartment 
number 3.3 located on level 3 or the bathroom window located on the 
east elevation of apartment number 3.2 located on level 3. 

In complying with this condition, the development must remain compliant 
with the natural ventilation and natural cross ventilation provisions contained 
in Objective 4B of the Apartment Design Guide. 

(c) Fixed perimeter planter boxes with a minimum width of 750mm and height of 
1m are to be provided to the roof top terraces in the following locations: 

(i) On the northern, eastern and western edge of the roof top terrace for 
apartment 5.1; 

(ii) On the southern, eastern and western edge of the roof top terrace for 
apartment 5.2; 

(iii) On the northern, southern and western edge of the roof top terrace for 
apartment 5.3; and 

(iv) On the northern, southern and eastern edge of the roof top terrace for 
apartment 5.4. 

(3) SUBSTATION 

(a) Documentation from Ausgrid is required to be submitted to Council 
confirming whether a substation is required or not. 

(b)  If Ausgrid determine that a substation is required for the development, 
amended plans are to be submitted to Council’s Area Planning Manager for 
approval.  The substation must be located within the building envelope and 
incorporated in to the design of the building to Council’s satisfaction and to 
Ausgrid’s specification.  

(4) Evidence that will sufficiently enable Council to be satisfied as to those matters 
identified in deferred commencement conditions, as indicated above, must be 
submitted to Council within 24 months of the date of determination of this deferred 
commencement consent failing which, this deferred development consent will 
lapse pursuant to section 4.53(6) of the Environmental Planning and Assessment 
Act 1979. 

(5) The consent will not operate until such time that the Council notifies the Applicant 
in writing that deferred commencement consent conditions, as indicated above, 
have been satisfied. 

(6) Upon Council giving written notification to the Applicant that the deferred 
commencement conditions have been satisfied, the consent will become operative 

56



 

 

from the date of that written notification, subject to the conditions of consent, as 
detailed in Part B Conditions of Consent (Once the Consent is Operation).  

57



 

 

PART B - CONDITIONS OF CONSENT 

SCHEDULE 1A 

APPROVED DEVELOPMENT/DESIGN MODIFICATIONS/COVENANTS AND 
CONTRIBUTIONS/USE AND OPERATION 

Note:  Some conditions in Schedule 1A are to be satisfied prior to issue of a Construction 
Certificate and some are to be satisfied prior to issue of Occupation Certificate, where 
indicated. 

(1) APPROVED DEVELOPMENT 

(a) Development must be in accordance with Development Application No. 
D/2018/156 dated 21 February 2018, as amended, and the following 
drawings prepared by SJB Architects: 

Drawing Number Drawing Name Date 

DA-0201, Rev 12 Floor Plan – Ground 25 February 2019  

DA-0202, Rev 12 Floor Plan – Level 1 25 February 2019 

DA-0203, Rev 10 Floor Plan – Level 2 30 August 2018 

DA-0204, Rev 10 Floor Plan – Level 3 30 August 2018 

DA-0205, Rev 12 Floor Plan – Level 4 25 February 2019 

DA-0206, Rev 10 Floor Plan – Level 5 30 August 2018 

DA-0207, Rev 12 Floor Plan – Roof 21 January 2019 

DA-0501, Rev 12 Elevation - North 21 January 2019 

DA-0502, Rev 12 Elevation - East 21 January 2019 

DA-0503, Rev 12 Elevation – South 21 January 2019 

DA-0504, Rev 12 Elevation - West 21 January 2019 

DA-0601, Rev 13 Section A 26 February 2019 

DA-0602, Rev 14 Section B 26 February 2019 

DA-603, Rev 13 Section C 26 February 2019 
 

DA-0223, Rev 10 Drainage Diagram Eastern 
Penthouse Stair 

8 January 2019 
 

Finishes Board Sheet 1, Issue 2 28 August 2018 

Finishes Board Sheet 2, Issue 2 28 August 2018 

 
and as amended by the conditions of this consent and the amended plans 
submitted in response to deferred commencement conditions (2) and (3). 

(b) In the event of any inconsistency between the approved plans and 
supplementary documentation, the plans will prevail. 

(2) COMPLIANCE WITH SUBMITTED MATERIALS AND SAMPLES BOARD 

The design details of the proposed building facade including all external finishes, 
colours and glazing must be in accordance with the materials schedule and 
sample board, and specifications prepared by SJB Architects, dated 28 August 
2018 and the Finishes Board Sheets 1 and 2 (issue 2) dated 28 August 2018 as 
referenced in condition 1. 

58



 

 

(3) CONTRIBUTION TOWARDS PUBLIC AMENITIES – CITY OF SYDNEY 
DEVELOPMENT CONTRIBUTIONS PLAN 2015 – SOUTH PRECINCT 

Council has identified the development will increase demand for public amenities 
and facilities. Pursuant to Section 7.11 of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act, 1979 (as amended), and the City of Sydney Development 
Contributions Plan 2015 the following monetary contributions are required towards 
the cost of public amenities. 
 

Contribution Category Amount 

Open Space $181,240.59 

Community Facilities $38,281.42 

Traffic and Transport -$5,276.33 

Stormwater Drainage -$2,080.53 

Total $212,165.15 

The City of Sydney will index the above contribution for inflation at the time of 
payment using the following formula. 

Cpayment = Cconsent x (CPIpayment ÷ CPIconsent) 

Where: 

Cpayment = Is the contribution at time of payment; 

Cconsent = Is the contribution at the time of consent, as shown above; 

CPIpayment = Is the Consumer Price Index (All Groups Index) for Sydney 
published by the Australian Bureau of Statistics that applies 
at the time of payment; and 

CPI1consent = Is the Consumer Price Index (All Groups Index) for Sydney at 
the date the contribution amount above was calculated being 
– 115.2 for the December2018 quarter. 

The contribution must be paid prior to the issue of any Construction Certificate in 
relation to this development. 
 
Please contact Council’s Planning Administration staff at 
planningsystemsadmin@cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au to request a letter confirming 
the indexed contribution amount payable. 
 
Once the letter confirming the indexed contribution is obtained, payment may be 
made at any of the City’s Neighbourhood Service Centres or the One Stop Shop 
at Town Hall House. Acceptable payment methods are EFTPOS (debit card only), 
cash (up to 10K only), Credit Card (up to 50K only) or a bank cheque made 
payable to the City of Sydney. Personal or company cheques will not be accepted. 

59



 

 

(4) BUILDING HEIGHT 

(a) The height of the building must not exceed RL RL33.65 (AHD) to the top of 
the building and RL32.450 (AHD) to the parapet of the building. 

(b) Prior to an Occupation Certificate being issued, a Registered Surveyor must 
provide certification that the height of the building accords with (a) above, to 
the satisfaction of the Principal Certifier. 

(c) No additional structures are permitted to be erected on the roof. 

(5) FLOOR SPACE RATIO - ALL OTHER AREAS 

The following applies to Floor Space Ratio: 
 
(a) The Floor Space Ratio for the development must not exceed 2:1 calculated 

in accordance with Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012. The maximum 
permitted Gross Floor Area (GFA) is 1,952sqm.  

(b) Prior to an Occupation Certificate being issued, a Registered Surveyor must 
provide certification of the total GFA in the development, utilising the 
definition under Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012, applicable at the 
time of development consent, to the satisfaction of the Principal Certifier. 

(6) COMPLIANCE WITH VOLUNTARY PLANNING AGREEMENT 

The terms of the planning agreement entered into in accordance with Deferred 
Commencement Condition 1 are to be complied with. 

(7) REFLECTIVITY 

The Principal Certifier must ensure that the visible light reflectivity from building 
materials used on the facade of the building does not exceed 20% prior to issue of 
the Construction Certificate. 

(8) LETTERBOXES 

(a) Details of the location and design of all letterboxes are to be submitted to 
and approved by Council prior to the issue of a Construction Certificate. 

(b) The letterboxes are required to be located within the lobby and are to be 
easily accessible by Australia Post staff. 

Note: The applicant is strongly advised to contact Australia Post to discuss how 
the letterboxes within the lobby will be accessed. 

(9) STORAGE 

Prior to the issue of a Construction Certificate, a storage schedule and diagrams 
must be submitted to and approved by Council. The minimum storage 
requirements must be in accordance with Objective 4G-1 of the Apartment Design 
Guide which requires 10m³ of storage space per apartment. 

60



 

 

Note: 50% of the required storage is to be within the apartments and storage in 
bedrooms, kitchens, bathrooms and laundries must be excluded from the 
calculation. 

(10) USE OF COMMON AREAS AND FACILITIES 

The ground floor and roof top communal open space must be available for the use 
all residents of the building, and must be designated as common property on any 
strata subdivision of the site, with no exclusive use rights. 

(11) HOURS OF OPERATION – RETAIL TENANCY 

The hours of operation are regulated as follows: 
 
(a) The hours of operation must be restricted to between 8.00am and 6.00pm 

Monday to Sunday. Consent must be obtained from Council to operate 
outside of these hours. 

(12) RETAIL PREMISES  

Consent is not granted for the fitout and use of the retail tenancy. Separate 
approval must be obtained for the fitout and use of the retail tenancy. 

(13) ADAPTABLE HOUSING 

Prior to any Construction Certificate being issued, information from an 
appropriately qualified access consultant is to be submitted to the Principal 
Certifier: 
 
(a) Confirming that the required number of residential units are able to be 

adapted for people with a disability in accordance with the Sydney 
Development Control Plan 2015 and Building Code of Australia.  

(b) Demonstrating (in a checklist) compliance with Australian Standard AS4299. 

(14) ALLOCATION OF PARKING 

The maximum number of car parking spaces to be provided for the development 
shall comply with the table below. Details confirming the parking numbers shall be 
submitted to the satisfaction of the Principal Certifier prior to the issue of a 
Construction Certificate. 
 

Car Parking Type Number 

Residential spaces (including 3 accessible spaces and 5 
car stackers to accommodate 10 car spaces) 

22 

Retail parking 1 
 

Motorcycle parking 2 

61



 

 

(15) BICYCLE PARKING  

The minimum number of bicycle parking spaces to be provided for the 
development must comply with the table below. 
 

User Number of bicycles to 
be accommodated 

Requirements 

Residential 22  Class B bicycle parking 
facility in accordance with 
AS2890.3   

Visitors/               
customers 

Two Class C racks 
accommodating up to 
4 bicycles  

Class C located on Shirley 
Street frontage in 
accordance with AS2890.3   

 
The layout, design and security of bicycle facilities must comply with Australian 
Standard AS 2890.3:2015 Parking Facilities Part 3: Bicycle Parking Facilities. The 
details must be submitted to and approved by the Certifying Authority confirming 
prior to the Construction Certificate being issued. 

(16) CAR STACKER USE   

The following details being submitted to an approved by the Principal Certifying 
Authority prior to the issue of the issue of a Construction Certificate: 

 
(a) each tandem or stacked parking arrangement is limited to a maximum of two 

spaces; 

(b) they are not used for service vehicle parking; 

(c) the two spaces on each individual car stacker are allocated to the same 
residential unit and will remain attached to the title of that unit; and 

(d) the manoeuvring of stacked vehicles is able to occur wholly within the 
premises. 

(17) ALLOCATION OF ACCESSIBLE CAR PARKING SPACES  

For residential development, accessible car parking spaces for people with 
mobility impairment are only to be allocated to adaptable units.  Where allocated 
to adaptable units, the unit(s) and car spaces must be assigned to the unit in any 
future strata subdivision of the building. 

(18) CHANGES TO KERB SIDE CAR PARKING RESTRICTIONS 

A separate submission must be made for any changes to kerbside parking 
arrangements. There is no guarantee kerbside parking will be changed or that any 
change will remain in place for the duration of the development/use. 
 
All costs associated with any parking changes would be borne by the developer. 
 
Note: The applicant is to contact the Area Traffic Engineer to discuss the proposal 
before making a submission. 

62



 

 

(19) COST OF SIGNPOSTING 

All costs associated with signposting of any kerbside parking restrictions and 
traffic management measures associated with the development shall be borne by 
the developer. 

(20) ASSOCIATED ROADWAY COSTS 

All costs associated with the construction of any new road works including kerb 
and gutter, road pavement, drainage system and footway shall be borne by the 
developer. The new road works must be designed and constructed in accordance 
with the City’s “Development Specification for Civil Works Design and 
Construction”. 

(21) PARKING ON COMMON PROPERTY AREAS 

No part of the common property is to be used for the parking or storage of 
vehicles or boats. The strata subdivision of the building is to include an 
appropriate documentary restriction pursuant to Section 88B of the Conveyancing 
Act 1919, so burdening common property, with the Council being the authority to 
release, vary or modify the restriction. 

(22) SIGNS AT EGRESS 

A sign informing drivers to give way to pedestrians and bicycles in Beaconsfield 
Lane must be provided and maintained within the site at the point of vehicle 
departure.  
 
The sign/s are to be erected prior to issue of any Occupation Certificate and must 
be maintained in good order at all times by the owners of the building. 

(23) TRAFFIC WORKS 

Any proposals for alterations to the public road, involving traffic and parking 
arrangements, must be designed in accordance with RMS Technical Directives 
and must be referred to and agreed to by the Local Pedestrian, Cycling and Traffic 
Calming Committee prior to any work commencing on site. 

(24) TELECOMMUNICATIONS IN NEW DEVELOPMENTS 

Prior to the issue of the Subdivision or Construction Certificate in connection with 
a development, the developer (whether or not a constitutional corporation) is to 
provide evidence satisfactory to the Principal Certifier that arrangements have 
been made for: 
 
(a) the installation of fibre-ready facilities to all individual lots and/or premises in 

a real estate development project so as to enable fibre to be readily 
connected to any premises that is being or may be constructed on those 
lots. Demonstrate that the carrier has confirmed in writing that they are 
satisfied that the fibre ready facilities are fit for purpose; and  

63



 

 

(b) the provision of fixed-line telecommunications infrastructure in the fibre-
ready facilities to all individual lots and/or premises in a real estate 
development project demonstrated through an agreement with a carrier. 

Note: real estate development project has the meanings given in section 372Q of 
the Telecommunications Act. 

(25) RESTRICTION ON RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT 

The following restriction applies to buildings approved for residential use: 
 
(a) The accommodation portion of the building must be used as permanent 

residential accommodation only and not for the purpose of a hotel, motel, 
serviced apartments, private hotel, boarding house, tourist accommodation 
or the like, other than in accordance with the Sydney Local Environmental 
Plan 2012. 

(b) A Restriction on the Use of Land is to be registered on the title of the 
development site in the above terms and restricting any change of use of 
those levels from residential accommodation as defined in Sydney Local 
Environmental Plan 2012. The Restriction is to be registered on title prior to 
an Occupation Certificate being issued or the use commencing, whichever is 
earlier, to the satisfaction of the Council. All costs of the preparation and 
registration of all associated documentation are to be borne by the applicant. 

(c) Any strata subdivision of the site is to include a Restriction on the Use of 
Land pursuant to Section 88B of the Conveyancing Act 1919, burdening all 
residential lots in the strata plan in the same terms as outlined in (a) above. 

(d) If a unit contains tenants, it must be subject to a residential tenancy 
agreement for a term of at least three months. 

(e) No person can advertise or organise the use of residential apartments 
approved under this consent for short term accommodation or share 
accommodation. 

(26) RESTRICTION ON USE OF CAR SPACES & STORAGE SPACES 

The following conditions apply to car parking: 
 
(a) The on-site car parking spaces and storage spaces are not to be used other 

than by an occupant, resident or tenant of the subject building for parking of 
vehicles or storage of items related to the residential unit or tenancy with 
which the space is associated. No storage should take place for commercial 
businesses in car parking spaces. 

(b) Prior to an Occupation Certificate being issued or the use commencing, 
whichever is earlier, a documentary Restriction on the Use of Land is to be 
registered on the Title of the development site pursuant to Section 88B or 
88E of the Conveyancing Act 1919, to the effect of (a), above. The 
Restriction is to be created appurtenant to Council, at no cost to Council. 

64



 

 

(c) Any strata subdivision of the site is to include a Restriction on the Use of 
Land pursuant to Section 63 of the Strata Schemes Development Act, 2015 
so burdening all utility car parking allotments (and common property if the 
car stackers form part of the common property) in the strata plan and/or an 
appropriate documentary restriction pursuant to Section 88B of the 
Conveyancing Act 1919, burdening all car parking part lots in the strata plan. 

(27) NO AIR CONDITIONING UNITS TO FACADE OR BALCONIES OF BUILDING 

Approval is not granted for the installation of individual air conditioning units to the 
facade or balconies of the building. 

(28) COMPLIANCE WITH THE ACOUSTIC REPORT PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION 
AND OR OCCUPATION CERTIFICATES 

(a) All relevant performance parameters (including but not limited to 
requirements, engineering assumptions and recommendations) in the DA 
Acoustic Report prepared by Renzo Tonin & ASSOCIATES, dated 
18/12/2018, ref TK695-01F02, Revision 1, titled 19 RALPH STREET 
ALEXANDRIA, Council Ref 2018/645852 must be implemented in the 
development prior to the commencement of its use. 

(b) The Acoustic Report referenced in (a) above is required to be updated to 
include the predicted noise and vibration levels arising from the mechanical 
car stackers. The amended Acoustic Report is required to be submitted to 
and approved by Council’s Area Planning Manager or Coordinator prior to 
issue of a Construction Certificate. 

(c) Prior to the issue of any relevant Construction Certificate, the final 
construction drawings and final construction methodology must be assessed 
and reported to be in accordance with the requirements of the DA Acoustic 
Report in (a) above, with reference to relevant documentation. This must be 
done by a Suitably Qualified Acoustic Consultant* (see definition below).  
This work will be to the satisfaction of the certifier. 

(d)  Prior to the issue of an Occupation Certificate, a Suitably Qualified 
Acoustic Consultant* is to provide a written Acoustic Verification Report to 
the satisfaction of the Principal Certifier/Principal certifying Authority that 
the development complies with the requirements set out in the Report and 
in (a) and (b) above. 

Note: Suitably Qualified Acoustic Consultant means a consultant who 
possesses the qualifications to render them eligible for membership of the 
Australian Acoustical Society, Institution of Engineers Australia or the 
Association of Australian Acoustical Consultants at the grade of member. 

(e)  All physical aspects of the building’s structure installed in order to meet 
performance parameters in accordance with this condition must be 
maintained at all times. 

Note: Suitably qualified Acoustic Consultant means a consultant who 
possesses the qualifications to render them eligible for membership of the 
Australian Acoustics Society, Institution of Engineers Australia or the 
Association of Australian Acoustic Consultants at the grade of member. 

65



 

 

(29) DEMOLITION, EXCAVATION AND CONSTRUCTION NOISE AND VIBRATION 
MANAGEMENT PLAN 

A site specific noise management plan shall be submitted to the Council for 
comment and approval prior to issue of any Construction Certificate. 

The Plan must be prepared by a suitably qualified person who possesses the 
qualifications to render them eligible for membership of the Australian Acoustic 
Society, Institution of Engineers Australia or the Australian Association of 
Acoustic Consultants. 

The plan must include but not be limited to the following:- 

(a) identification of noise sensitive receivers near to the site. 

(b) A prediction as to the level of noise impact likely to affect the nearest noise 
sensitive receivers from the use and proposed number of high noise 
intrusive appliances intended to be operated onsite. A statement should 
also be submitted outlining whether or not predicted noise levels will 
comply with the noise criteria stated within the City of Sydney Construction 
Hours /Noise Code of Practice 1992 for the typical construction hours of 
07.00am to 7.00pm. Where resultant site noise levels are likely to be in 
exceedance of this noise criteria then a suitable proposal must be given as 
to the duration and frequency of respite periods that will be afforded to the 
occupiers of neighbouring property. 

(c) A representative background noise measurement (LA90, 15 minute) should be 
submitted, assessed in the vicinity of any potentially affected receiver 
locations and measured in accordance with AS 1055:1.2.1997. 

(d) Confirmation of the level of community consultation that has/is and will be 
undertaken with Building Managers/ occupiers of the main adjoining noise 
sensitive properties likely to be most affected by site works and the 
operation of plant/machinery particularly during the demolition and 
excavation phases. 

(e) Confirmation of noise monitoring methodology that is to be undertaken 
during the main stages of work at neighbouring noise sensitive properties 
in order to keep complaints to a minimum and to ensure that noise from 
site works complies with the noise criteria contained within City's 
Construction Noise Code. 

(f) What course of action will be undertaken following receipt of a complaint 
concerning offensive noise. 

(g) Details of any noise mitigation measures that have been outlined by an 
acoustic consultant or otherwise that will be deployed on site to reduce 
noise impacts on the occupiers of neighbouring noise sensitive property to 
a minimum. 

(h) What plant and equipment is to be used on site, the level of sound 
mitigation measures to be undertaken in each case and the criteria 
adopted in their selection taking into account the likely noise impacts on 
the occupiers of neighbouring property and other less intrusive 
technologies available. 

66



 

 

(30) NOISE - NO SPEAKERS OR MUSIC OUTSIDE, FUTURE RETAIL USE 

Speakers and/or noise amplification equipment must not be installed and music 
must not be played in any of the outdoor areas associated with the premises 
including the public domain. Speakers located within the premises must not be 
placed so as to direct the playing of music towards the outdoor areas associated 
with the premises. 

(31) LAND SUBDIVISION 

Any proposal to subdivide the site, including any stratum subdivision of the 
building, will require a separate application to Council to obtain development 
consent for the proposal and subsequent issue of the Subdivision Certificate 
under Section 109J of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979. 

(32) STRATA SUBDIVISION 

Any proposal for strata subdivision of the site will require development consent 
and therefore the lodgment of a separate development application or complying 
development application, and subsequent approval from Council, or an accredited 
certifier, of the Strata Plan and issue of a Strata Certificate under the Strata 
Schemes Development Act 2015. 

(33) SYDNEY WATER CERTIFICATE  

A Section 73 Compliance Certificate under the Sydney Water Act 1994 must be 
obtained from Sydney Water Corporation. 
 
Application must be made through an authorised Water Servicing Coordinator. 
Please refer to the Building Developing and Plumbing section on the web site 
www.sydneywater.com.au then refer to “Water Servicing Coordinator” under 
“Developing Your Land” or telephone 13 20 92 for assistance. 
 
Following the submission of the application a “Notice of Requirements” will advise 
of water and sewer infrastructure to be built and charges to be paid. Please make 
early contact with the Coordinator, since building of water/sewer infrastructure can 
be time consuming and may impact on other services and building, driveway or 
landscape design. 
 
The Section 73 Certificate must be submitted to Council or the Principal Certifier 
prior to an Occupation Certificate or subdivision/strata certificate being issued. 

(34) EXTERNAL LIGHTING 

A separate development application is required to be lodged and approved prior to 
any external floodlighting or illumination of the building or site landscaping. 

(35) SIGNS - SEPARATE DA REQUIRED 

A separate development application for any proposed signs (other than exempt or 
complying signs under Council’s exempt and complying DCPs) must be submitted 
to and approved by Council prior to the erection or display of any such signs. 

67



 

 

SCHEDULE 1B 

PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION CERTIFICATE/COMMENCEMENT OF WORK/HEALTH AND 
BUILDING 

(36) LANDSCAPING OF THE SITE 

(a) A detailed landscape plan, drawn to scale, by a qualified landscape architect 
or landscape designer, must be submitted to and approved by Council’s 
Area Planning Manager or Area Coordinator prior to the issue of a 
Construction Certificate for above ground building works. The plan must 
include: 

(i) Location of existing and proposed structures on the site including, but 
not limited to, existing and proposed trees, paved areas, timber decks, 
planted areas on slab and free standing pots, planted areas in natural 
ground, furniture and fixtures, lighting and other features; 

(ii) Details of earthworks and soil depths including mounding and retaining 
walls, planter boxes and freestanding pots. The minimum soil depths 
for planting on slab must be 1000mm for trees, 450mm for shrubs and 
200mm for groundcovers. Noting soil depths exclude drainage and 
mulch layers; 

(iii) Location, numbers, type and supply of plant species, with reference to 
Australian Standards; 

(iv) Details of the soil media/substrate type and depth. 

(v) Details of planting procedure and maintenance, including a landscape 
specification; 

(vi) Details of drainage, waterproofing and irrigation systems, including 
overflow provisions and water retention cells in the drainage layer (if 
applicable). 

(b) Prior to the issue of a Construction Certificate, a maintenance plan is to be 
submitted to and approved by the Principal Certifier. The maintenance plan 
is to be complied with during occupation of the property. 

(c) All landscaping in the approved plan is to be completed prior to any 
Occupation Certificate being issued. 

(37) LEVEL 4 AND ROOFTOP LANDSCAPING  

(a) A detailed plan of the Level 4 terrace and roof terrace, drawn to scale, by a 
qualified landscape architect or landscape designer, must be submitted to 
and approved by Council’s Area Planning Manager prior to the issue of a 
Construction Certificate. The plan must include: 

(i) A statement that includes details of proposed use of the green roof, 
general accessibility, as well as noise and privacy treatments. 

68



 

 

(ii) Location of existing and proposed structures, services and hard 
landscaping on the rooftop, pools, spas, fencing, roof fixings and 
other structural elements that may interrupt waterproofing, including 
cross-sectional details of all components. 

(iii) To increase soft landscaping on the communal terrace raised 
planters minimum 900mm wide and 1000mm soil depth are to be 
included on the northern and eastern edges of the building. 

(iv) Details of earthworks including mounding and retaining walls, planter 
boxes and freestanding pots. 

(v) Details of the location, sizes and numbers of plants used with 
reference to Australian Standards, with preference for drought 
resistant species. 

(vi) Details of the soil media/substrate type and depth. 

(vii) Pool and spa fencing to comply with AS1926 Safety barriers for 
Swimming Pools and the Swimming Pools Regulation 2008 

(viii) Details of installation methodology e.g. safety considerations for 
working at height, location of maintenance hooks (if applicable) 
transport materials etc. 

(ix) Details of drainage and irrigation systems, including overflow 
provisions and water retention cells in the drainage layer (if 
applicable). 

(b) Prior to the issue of a Construction Certificate, the following details are to 
be submitted to and approved by the Principal Certifier: 

(i) Evidence the green roof has been assessed as part of the structural 
certification provided for the development; and 

(ii) Evidence the green roof has been assessed as part of the 
waterproofing certification provided for the development. 

(c) All landscaping in the approved plan is to be completed prior to the issue of 
an Occupation Certificate. 

(d) Prior to the issue of an Occupation Certificate, a maintenance plan is to be 
submitted and approved by the Principal Certifier. A copy of the 
maintenance plan is to be kept on site at all times during construction and 
shall be produced to Council on request following completion. The 
Maintenance Manual shall include as a minimum:  

(i) Frequency and methodology of different maintenance requirements 
including the removal of green waste. 

(ii) Details of safety procedures. 

(iii) Laminated copies of ‘As Built’ drawings. 

(iv) Manufacturer’s contact details and copies of manufacturers’ typical 
details and specification. 

69



 

 

(v) Copies of warranties and guarantees relating to all materials and 
plant used in construction. 

(vi) Decommissioning procedures. 

(e) Inaccessible green roofs are required to remain inaccessible during 
occupation of the property. 

(38) LANDSCAPED (GREEN) WALLS 

The design of the vertical green walls must demonstrate the response to site 
conditions, including in particular light availability, sun and wind impacts. 

(a) Prior to the issue of a Construction Certificate, the following design details 
of the proposed green wall must be submitted to, and approved by 
Council's Area Planning Manager/Director City Planning, Development and 
Transport: 

(i) Detailed drawings demonstrating how the green wall, vertical wires 
and suspended planters in voids are constructed, including proposed 
materials, planter dimensions, and integration into the wall structure; 

(ii) Details of the proposed growing medium, including soil depth and 
type; 

(iii) Location, numbers, type and size of plant species selected (with 
plants being selected on the basis of the site conditions); 

(iv) Drainage, irrigation and waterproofing details (as applicable); and 

(v) Details of any additional lighting (where applicable). 

(b) Prior to the issuing of a Construction Certificate a maintenance plan is to 
be submitted to, and approved by Council. The maintenance plan is to 
include information on: 

(i) How access will be provided to the plants, soil and structural 
elements for installation and maintenance; and 

(ii) Details outlining the intended strategy for decommissioning the 
planting works should plants fail. This strategy is to ensure that the 
finish to the wall is well maintained throughout its life. 

(39) ALIGNMENT LEVELS – MAJOR DEVELOPMENT  

(a) Proposed building floor levels, basement levels, basement car park entry 
levels and ground levels shown on the approved Development Application 
plans are indicative only and have not been approved by this consent. 

70



 

 

(b) Prior to a Construction Certificate being issued for any excavation, civil 
construction, drainage or building work (whichever is earlier), excluding 
approved preparatory or demolition work,  alignment levels for the building 
and site frontages must be submitted to and approved by Council. The 
submission must be prepared by a Registered Surveyor and designed by a 
suitably qualified engineer, must be in accordance with the City of Sydney's 
Public Domain Manual and must be submitted with a completed Levels and 
Gradients Approval Application form (available on the City’s website). 

(c) These alignment levels, as approved by Council, are to be incorporated into 
the plans submitted with the application for a Construction Certificate for any 
civil, drainage and public domain work as applicable under this consent. If 
the proposed detailed design of the public domain requires changes to any 
previously approved Alignment Levels, then an amended Alignment Levels 
submission must be submitted to and approved by Council to reflect these 
changes prior to a Construction Certificate being issued for public domain 
work. 

(40) PHOTOGRAPHIC RECORD / DILAPIDATION REPORT - PUBLIC DOMAIN 

Prior to an approval for demolition being granted or a Construction Certificate 
being issued, whichever is earlier, a photographic recording of the public domain 
site frontages is to be prepared and submitted to Council's satisfaction. 
 
The recording must include clear images of the building facade adjoining the 
footpath, the footpath, nature strip, kerb and gutter, driveway crossovers and 
laybacks, kerb ramps, road carriageway, street trees and plantings, parking 
restriction and traffic signs, and all other existing infrastructure along the street. 
 
The form of the recording is to be as follows:- 
 
(a) A PDF format report containing all images at a scale that clearly 

demonstrates the existing site conditions; 

(b) Each image is to be labelled to identify the elements depicted, the direction 
that the image is viewed towards, and include the name of the relevant 
street frontage; 

(c) Each image is to be numbered and cross referenced to a site location plan; 

(d) A summary report, prepared by a suitable qualified professional, must be 
submitted in conjunction with the images detailing the project description, 
identifying any apparent existing defects, detailing the date and authorship 
of the photographic record, the method of documentation and limitations of 
the photographic record; 

(e) Include written confirmation, issued with the authority of both the applicant 
and the photographer that the City of Sydney is granted a perpetual non-
exclusive license to make use of the copyright in all images supplied, 
including the right to make copies available to third parties as though they 
were Council images. The signatures of both the applicant and the 
photographer must be included. 

71



 

 

Any damage to the public way including trees, footpaths, kerbs, gutters, road 
carriageway and the like must immediately be made safe and functional by the 
applicant. Damage must be fully rectified by the applicant in accordance with the 
City’s standards prior to a Certificate of Completion being issued for Public 
Domain Works or before an Occupation Certificate is issued for the development, 
whichever is earlier. 

(41) PRESERVATION OF SURVEY MARKS 

All works in City streets must ensure the preservation of existing permanent 
survey marks (a brass bolt, or a lead plug holding a brass tack, covered by a cast 
iron box). At least forty-eight hours prior to the commencement of any works in the 
public way within 1 metre of a permanent survey mark contact must be made with 
the City's Project Manager Survey / Design Services to arrange for the recovery of 
the mark. 
 
Prior to the issue of a Construction Certificate, a survey plan, clearly showing the 
location of all permanent survey marks fronting the site and within 5 metres on 
each side of the frontages must be submitted to Council. 
 
At least forty-eight hours prior to the commencement of any works in the public 
way within 1 metre of a permanent survey mark contact must be made with the 
City’s Senior Surveyor to arrange for the recovery of the mark. 
 
A fee must be paid to the Council for the replacement of any permanent survey 
mark removed or damaged in accordance with the City's Schedule of Fees and 
Charges (Reinstatement of Survey Box). 

(42) PROTECTION OF SURVEY INFRASTRUCTURE 

Prior to the commencement of any work on site, a statement prepared by a 
Surveyor registered under the Surveying Act 2002 must be submitted to Council 
verifying that a survey has been carried out in accordance with the Surveyor 
General’s Direction No. 11 – Reservation of Survey Infrastructure. Any Permanent 
Marks proposed to be or have been destroyed must be replaced, and a "Plan of 
Survey Information" must be lodged at the Land and Property Management 
Authority.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the survey control infrastructure and cadastral framework 
are preserved for the public benefit and in accordance with the Surveying Act 
2002. 

(43) PUBLIC DOMAIN PLAN  

(a) A detailed Public Domain Plan must be prepared by a suitably qualified 
architect, urban designer, landscape architect or engineer and must be 
lodged with Council’s Public Domain Section and be approved by Council 
prior to a Construction Certificate being issued for public domain work or 
above ground building work, whichever is later.  

72



 

 

(b) The Public Domain Plan must document all works required to ensure that 
the public domain complies with the City of Sydney’s Public Domain Manual, 
Sydney Streets Code and Sydney Streets Technical Specification, including 
requirements for road pavement, traffic measures, footway pavement, kerb 
and gutter, drainage, vehicle crossovers, pedestrian ramps, lighting, street 
trees and landscaping, signage and other public domain elements. If an 
Alignment Levels condition applies to the development, the Public Domain 
Plan submission must incorporate the approved Alignment Levels. If the 
proposed detailed design of the public domain requires changes to any 
previously approved Alignment Levels, then an amended Alignment Levels 
submission must be submitted to and approved by Council to reflect these 
changes prior to a Construction Certificate being issued for public domain 
work. 

(c) The works to the public domain are to be completed in accordance with the 
approved Public Domain Plan and Alignment Levels plans and the Public 
Domain Manual before any Occupation Certificate is issued in respect of 
the development or before the use commences, whichever is earlier. 

(d) A Public Domain Works Deposit will be required for the public domain 
works, in accordance with the City of Sydney’s adopted fees and charges 
and the Public Domain Manual. The Public Domain Works Deposit must be 
submitted as an unconditional bank guarantee in favour of Council as 
security for completion of the obligations under this consent. 

(e) Council's Public Domain section must be contacted to determine the 
guarantee amount prior to lodgement of the guarantee. The guarantee 
must be lodged with Council prior to a Construction Certificate being 
issued. 

(f) The Bank Guarantee will be retained in full until all Public Domain works 
are completed and the required certifications, warranties and works-as-
executed documentation are submitted and approved by Council in writing. 
On satisfying the above requirements, 90% of the total securities will be 
released. The remaining 10% will be retained for the duration of the 
specified Defects Liability Period. 

(44) PUBLIC DOMAIN WORKS - HOLD POINTS AND HANDOVER 

(a) Prior to a Construction Certificate being issued for public domain work, 
including civil, drainage and subsurface works, , a set of hold points for 
approved public domain,  civil and drainage work is to be determined with 
and approved by the City's Public Domain section in accordance with the 
City of Sydney's Public Domain Manual and Sydney Streets Technical 
Specification. 

73



 

 

(b) Prior to a Certificate of Completion being issued for public domain works and 
before the issue of any Occupation Certificate for the development or before 
the use commences, whichever is earlier, electronic works-as-executed (as-
built) plans and documentation, certified by a suitably qualified, independent 
professional must be submitted to and accepted by Council for all public 
domain works. Completion and handover of the constructed public domain 
works must be undertaken in accordance with the City of Sydney's Public 
Domain Manual and Sydney Streets Technical Specification, including 
requirements for as-built documentation, certification, warranties and the 
defects liability period. 

(45) STORMWATER AND DRAINAGE - MAJOR DEVELOPMENT 

(a) Prior to issue of any Construction Certificate for excavation, civil 
construction, drainage or building work (whichever is earlier), excluding 
approved preparatory or demolition work, a detailed engineering design for 
drainage including calculations and design for the stormwater overland flow 
path for the development must be: 

(i) Prepared by a suitably qualified hydraulic or civil engineer to show the 
proposed method of collection and disposal of stormwater; and 

(ii) Prepared in accordance with the City of Sydney’s Stormwater 
Drainage Manual, technical specifications, standards and policies, as 
amended from time to time; and 

(iii) Submitted to and be approved by the City of Sydney and a copy of the 
City’s letter of approval must be provided to the Principal Certifier. 

(b) For approval of a connection into the City of Sydney’s drainage system an 
“Application for Approval of Stormwater Drainage Connections" must be 
submitted to the City, together with an application fee in accordance with the 
City of Sydney’s adopted Schedule of Fees and Charges. 

(i) The application must be approved by the City of Sydney prior to an 
approval or Construction Certificate being issued for excavation, civil 
construction, drainage or building work (whichever is earlier), 
excluding approved preparatory or demolition work. 

(ii) All proposed connections to the City's underground drainage system 
require the owner to enter into a Deed of Agreement with the City of 
Sydney and obtain registration on Title of a Positive Covenant prior to 
an Occupation Certificate being issued, including an Interim 
Occupation Certificate. 

On-site Detention 

(c) The requirements of Sydney Water with regard to the on-site detention of 
stormwater must be ascertained and complied with. 

74



 

 

(i) Evidence of the approval by Sydney Water of the detailed design for 
on-site detention must be submitted to and be accepted by the City of 
Sydney and a copy of the City’s letter of acceptance must be provided 
to the Principal Certifier prior to any Construction Certificate being 
issued, excluding for any approved preparatory, demolition or 
excavation works. 

(ii) Prior to the issue of any Occupation Certificate, including any Interim 
Occupation Certificate, a Positive Covenant must be registered on the 
property title for all drainage systems involving On-Site Detention 
(OSD) to ensure maintenance of the approved OSD system regardless 
of the method of connection. 

Stormwater Quality Assessment 

(d) Prior to a Construction Certificate being issued for any excavation, civil 
construction, drainage or building work (whichever is earlier), but excluding 
approved preparatory or demolition work, a stormwater quality assessment 
must be undertaken and must be approved by City of Sydney and a copy of 
the City’s letter of approval must be provided to the Principal Certifier. 

The stormwater quality assessment must: 

(i) Be prepared by a suitably qualified hydraulic engineer with experience 
in Water Sensitive Urban Design; 

(ii) Use modelling from an industry-standard water quality model (e.g. 
MUSIC Model or equivalent); and 

(iii) Demonstrate through reports, design plans and calculations, what 
water sensitive urban design and other drainage measures will be 
used to ensure that the development will achieve the following post-
development pollutant loads: 

a. reduce the baseline annual pollutant load for litter and 
vegetation larger than 5mm by 90%; 

b. reduce the baseline annual pollutant load for total suspended 
solids by 85%;  

c. reduce the baseline annual pollutant load for total phosphorous 
by 65%;  

d. reduce the baseline annual pollutant load for total nitrogen by 
45%. 

(iv) Include certification from a suitably qualified practicing professional 
that the requirements of parts (d) (i), (ii) and (iii) of this condition have 
been met. 

Prior to the issue of an Occupation Certificate, maintenance schedules of 
the proposed water sensitive urban design and drainage measures must 
be submitted to and be approved by the Principal Certifier and a copy 
provided to the City of Sydney. 

75



 

 

Completion / Works-as-Executed Documentation 

(e) Prior to a Certificate of Completion being issued by the City of Sydney for 
stormwater drainage works:  

(i) All works for the disposal of stormwater and drainage are to be 
implemented in accordance with the approved plans, City of Sydney 
technical specifications. Standards and policies, approval letters and 
the requirements of this consent.   

(ii) Works-As-Executed survey, prepared, signed and dated by a 
Registered Surveyor, must be submitted to and be accepted by the 
City of Sydney.  The plan must be overlaid on a copy of the approved 
stormwater drainage plans issued with the Construction Certificate, 
with variations to locations, dimensions, levels and storage volumes 
clearly marked. 

(iii) Electronic works-as-executed (as-built) details, certifications, 
warranties, inspection reports (including Closed Circuit Television 
reports) and associated documentation for the completed work must 
be prepared and certified by a suitably qualified hydraulic engineer, in 
accordance with the requirements of the City of Sydney’s technical 
specifications, the Public Domain Manual, the Stormwater Drainage 
Manual, the conditions of this consent and all letters of approval issued 
by the City of Sydney for works in the public domain, and must be 
submitted to and be accepted by the City of Sydney. 

(f) Prior to the issue of the first Occupation Certificate, including an Interim 
Occupation Certificate, or before the use commences (whichever is earlier):  

(i) A copy of the City’s Certificate of Completion for all stormwater and 
drainage work undertaken in the public domain must be provided to 
the Principal Certifier; 

(ii) A Works-As-Executed survey, must be prepared, signed, dated and 
certified by a Registered Surveyor and must be submitted to and be 
accepted by the Principal Certifier. The Works-as-Executed plan must 
be overlaid on a copy of the approved stormwater drainage plans 
issued with the Construction Certificate, with variations to locations, 
dimensions, levels and storage volumes clearly marked; 

(iii) A Hydraulic Compliance Certificate and Calculation Sheet must be 
prepared by a suitably qualified hydraulic engineer (minimum NER), 
showing approved versus installed hydraulic calculations, and must be 
submitted to and be accepted by the Principal Certifier; 

(iv) Evidence of Sydney Water’s acceptance of the Works-As-Executed 
documentation, certification and Hydraulic Compliance Certificate and 
Calculation Sheet must be provided to the Principal Certifier; and 

(v) The Principal Certifier must submit a copy of the Works-As-Executed 
plans, certifications, Hydraulic Compliance Certificate and Calculation 
Sheet to the City of Sydney. 

76



 

 

(46) DEFECTS LIABILITY PERIOD – PUBLIC DOMAIN WORKS 

All works to the City’s public domain, including rectification of identified defects, 
are subject to a 12 month defects liability period from the date of final completion. 
The date of final completion will be nominated by Council on the Certificate of 
Completion for public domain works. 

(47) PUBLIC DOMAIN DAMAGE DEPOSIT 

A Public Domain Damage Deposit calculated on the basis of 105 lineal metres of 
concrete site frontage must be lodged with Council in accordance with the City of 
Sydney’s adopted Schedule of Fees and Charges. The Public Domain Damage 
Deposit must be submitted as an unconditional bank guarantee in favour of 
Council as security for repairing any damage to the public domain in the vicinity of 
the site.  
 
The guarantee must be lodged with Council prior to an approval for demolition 
being granted or a Construction Certificate being issued, whichever is earlier.  
 
The Bank Guarantee will be retained in full until the final Occupation Certificate 
has been issued and any rectification works to the footway and Public Domain are 
completed to Council’s satisfaction. On satisfying the above requirements 90% of 
the total securities will be released, with the remaining 10% to be retained for the 
duration of the 12 months Defect Liability Period. 

(48) DRAINAGE AND SERVICE PIT LIDS  

Drainage and service pit lids throughout the public domain shall be heelguard and 
bicycle safe, finish flush with the adjacent pavement to avoid trip hazards and be 
clear of obstructions for easy opening and cleaning. Pit lids shall be in accordance 
with the City of Sydney’s Sydney Streets Design Code and Sydney Streets 
Technical Specification. Details of drainage and service pit lids shall be submitted 
and approved by Council prior to a Construction Certificate being issued for the 
relevant stage of work. 

(49) PUBLIC DOMAIN LIGHTING  

(a) Prior to a Construction Certificate for public domain works or above ground 
building works being issued, whichever is later, a detailed Public Domain 
Lighting Plan for pedestrian and street lighting in the public domain must be 
prepared by a suitably qualified, practicing lighting engineer or lighting 
designer and must be submitted to and approved by Council. The Lighting 
Plan must be prepared in accordance with the City of Sydney’s Sydney 
Lights Design Code, Sydney Streets Code, Sydney Streets Technical 
Specification and Public Domain Manual and must include the following: 

(i) Vertical and horizontal illuminance plots for the public domain lighting 
design to demonstrate compliance with all relevant Australian 
Standards and to meet the lighting categories and requirements 
specified by the City; 

77



 

 

(ii) The location, type and category of existing and proposed lights, 
including details of luminaire specifications, required to ensure 
compliance with City policies and Australian Standards; 

(iii) Footing locations and structural details; 

(iv) Location and details of underground electrical reticulation, connections 
and conduits; 

(v) Certification by a suitably qualified, practicing lighting engineer or 
lighting designer to certify that the design complies with City policies 
and all relevant Australian Standards including AS 1158, AS 3000 and 
AS4282; 

(vi) Structural certification for footing designs by a suitably qualified, 
practicing engineer to certify that the design complies with City of 
Sydney policies and Australian Standards. 

(b) The public domain lighting works are to be completed in accordance with the 
approved plans and the City of Sydney's Public Domain Manual before any 
Occupation Certificate is issued in respect of the development or before the 
use commences, whichever is earlier. 

(50) TACTILE GROUND SURFACE INDICATORS AND HANDRAILS 

All tactile ground surface indicators, handrails and other elements required to 
provide access into the building / property must be located entirely within the 
private property boundary. 

(51) ASBESTOS REMOVAL WORKS 

(a) All works removing asbestos containing materials must be carried out by a 
suitably licensed asbestos removalist duly licensed with Safework NSW, 
holding either a Friable (Class A) or a Non- Friable (Class B) Asbestos 
Removal Licence which ever applies. 

A copy of the relevant licence shall be made available to any authorised 
Council officer on request within 24 hours. 

(b) Five days prior to the commencement of licensed asbestos removal, 
Safework NSW must be formally notified of the works. All adjoining 
properties and those opposite the development must be notified in writing of 
the dates and times when asbestos removal is to be conducted. The 
notification must identify the licensed asbestos removal contractor and 
include a contact person for the site together with telephone number and 
email address. 

(c) All work must be carried out in accordance with the Work Health and Safety 
Regulation 2011 and the NSW Government and Work Cover document 
entitled How to manage and control asbestos in the work place: Code of 
Practice (Safework NSW) December 2011 and the City of Sydney Managing 
Asbestos Policy dated 21 October 2013 and associated guidelines. 

78



 

 

(d) The asbestos removalist must use signs and barricades to clearly indicate 
the area where the asbestos removal work is being performed. Signs must 
be placed in positions so that people are aware of where the asbestos 
removal work area is and should remain in place until removal is completed 
and clearance to reoccupy has been granted. Responsibilities for the 
security and safety of the asbestos removal site and removal must be 
specified in the asbestos removal control plan (where required). This 
includes inaccessible areas that are likely to contain asbestos. 

(e) Warning signs must be placed so they inform all people nearby that 
asbestos removal work is taking place in the area. Signs must be placed at 
all of the main entry points to the asbestos removal work area where 
asbestos is present. These signs must be weatherproof, constructed of light-
weight material and adequately secured so they remain in prominent 
locations. The signs must be in accordance with AS 1319 -1994 Safety 
Signs for the Occupational Environment for size, illumination, location and 
maintenance. 

(f) Asbestos waste must only be transported and disposed of at an EPA 
licensed waste facility. 

(g) No asbestos products are to be reused on the site (i.e. packing pieces, 
spacers, formwork or fill etc). 

(h) No asbestos laden skips or bins are to be left in any public place without the 
written approval of Council. 

(i) A site notice board must be located at the main entrance to the site in a 
prominent position and must have minimum dimensions of 841mm x 594mm 
(A1) with any text on the notice to be a minimum of 30 point type size. 

The site notice board must include the following: 

(i) contact person for the site; 

(ii) telephone and facsimile numbers and email address; and 

(iii) site activities and time frames. 

(52) LAND REMEDIATION  

The site is to be remediated and validated in accordance with the Remedial 
Action Plan prepared by Hydro Geo Enviro Pty Ltd, dated 28/02/2019, reference 
number 00001-3 Final, and the Letter of Interim Advice prepared by NSW 
Environment Protection Authority accredited Site Auditor Charles D. Barber 
(Accredited Auditor No. 0402), dated 06/03/2019, and reference EA0567-C8. All 
remediation work carried out shall be conducted in accordance with the 
guidelines in force from time to time under the Contaminated Land Management 
Act 1997. 

Any new information which comes to light during remediation, demolition or 
construction works which has the potential to alter previous conclusions about 
site contamination must be immediately notified to the Council's Area Planning 
Manager, the Site Auditor and the Principal Certifier. 

79



 

 

Any variations to the approved Remedial Action Plan shall be approved in writing 
by the Site Auditor and Council's Area Coordinator Planning Assessments / Area 
Planning Manager prior to the commencement of such work. 

(53) ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT PLAN - CONSTRUCTION 

Prior to the commencement of any demolition and remedial works an 
Environmental Management Plan (EMP) must be prepared for the site and 
submitted to the City’s Area Planning Manager for written approval prior to the 
commencement of work. The EMP must consider all potential environmental 
impacts from the approved works including but not limited to sedimentation 
control, contamination containment, stockpiles, noise and vibration, odours and 
dust emissions. 

All works must be undertaken onsite in accordance with the approved 
Environmental Management Plan. 

(54) SITE AUDIT STATEMENT 

Prior to the issue of a construction certificate associated with the built form of the 
development (excluding building work directly related to remediation), a Section A 
Site Audit Statement must be obtained from a NSW Environment Protection 
Authority accredited Site Auditor and submitted to the Council's Area Planning 
Manager at email address:- 

hbapplications@cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au 

The Site Audit Statement must confirm that the site has been remediated in 
accordance with the approved Remedial Action Plan and clearly state that site is 
suitable for the proposed use. 

(a) In circumstances where the Site Audit Statement is subject to conditions 
that require ongoing review by the Auditor or Council, these must be 
reviewed and must be approved by the Council's Health and Building 
department in writing through the Area Planning Manager before the Site 
Audit Statement is issued. 

(b) In circumstances where the Site Audit Statement conditions (if applicable) 
are not consistent with the consent, the development must not proceed 
until the inconsistency has been resolved to the satisfaction of Council 
(such as via a S4.55 modification of the consent pursuant to the provisions 
of the Environmental Planning & Assessment Act 1979). 

(c) No Occupation Certificate is to be issued by the Principal Certifier 
unless a Site Audit Statement has been submitted to and approved by 
Council in accordance with this condition. 

 

80

mailto:hbapplications@cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au


 

 

(55) SITE AUDIT STATEMENT – ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT PLAN 

Where the ongoing land use suitability and release of the Final (Section A) Site 
Audit Statement is dependent upon the implementation of an Environmental 
Management Plan (EMP) in relation to any residual contamination remaining 
onsite, the EMP must be approved by the Site Auditor and Council’s Area 
Planning Manager prior to the issue of the final Site Audit Statement.  

The owner of the land is required to comply with the ongoing obligations of any 
EMP which form part of the final Site Audit Statement for the site. 

A covenant shall be registered on the title of the land binding the owners and 
future owners to be responsible for ongoing maintenance and any future 
rehabilitation works required in terms of the encapsulated/remaining 
contaminated materials, including the discharge or prevention of discharge from 
any contaminants or for any works subsequently required by the NSW 
Environment Protection Authority 

A copy of the revised certificate of land title recording the covenant must be 
submitted to Council’s Area Planning Manager and the Principal Certifier prior to 
the issue of an Occupation Certificate.’ 

(56) LAND DEDICATION – NO LONG TERM ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT 
PLAN 

Any land that is to be dedicated to the City as part of the associated Voluntary 
Planning Agreement must be remediated as required and not be encumbered by 
an Environmental Management Plan or Long Term Environmental Management 
Plan. 

(57) STOCKPILES 

(a) No stockpiles of soil or other materials shall be placed on footpaths or nature 
strips unless prior approval has been obtained from the City’s Construction 
Regulation Unit. 

(b) All stockpiles of soil or other materials shall be placed away from drainage 
lines, gutters or stormwater pits or inlets. 

(c) All stockpiles of soil or other materials likely to generate dust or odours shall 
be covered. 

(d) All stockpiles of contaminated soil shall be stored in a secure area and be 
covered if remaining more than 24 hours 

(58) NOTIFICATION – NEW CONTAMINATION EVIDENCE 

Any new information which comes to light during remediation, demolition or 
construction works which has the potential to alter previous conclusions about site 
contamination shall be notified immediately to the City’s Area Planning Manager 
and the Principal Certifier. 

81



 

 

(59) IMPORTED FILL MATERIALS 

All fill imported onto the site shall be validated to ensure the imported fill is suitable 
for the proposed land use from a contamination perspective. Fill imported on to 
the site shall also be compatible with the existing soil characteristic for site 
drainage purposes. 
 
The City may require details of appropriate validation of imported fill material to be 
submitted with any application for future development of the site. Hence all fill 
imported onto the site should be validated by either one or both of the following 
methods during remediation works: 
 
(a) Imported fill should be accompanied by documentation from the supplier 

which certifies that the material is not contaminated based upon analyses of 
the material for the known past history of the site where the material is 
obtained; and/or  

(b) Sampling and analysis of the fill material shall be conducted in accordance 
with NSW EPA (1995) Sampling Design Guidelines. 

(60) CLASSIFICATION OF WASTE 

Prior to the exportation of waste (including fill or soil) from the site, the waste 
materials must be classified in accordance with the provisions of the Protection of 
the Environment Operations Act 1997 and the NSW DECC Waste Classification 
Guidelines, Part1: Classifying Waste (July 2009). The classification of the material 
is essential to determine where the waste may be legally taken. The Protection of 
the Environment Operations Act 1997 provides for the commission of an offence 
for both the waste owner and the transporters if the waste is taken to a place that 
cannot lawfully be used as a waste facility for the particular class of waste. For the 
transport and disposal of industrial, hazardous or Group A liquid waste advice 
should be sought from the EPA. 

(61) FUTURE FOOD USE - MECHANICAL VENTILATION PROVISION 

Prior to the issue of a Construction Certificate, the mechanical exhaust systems 
and/or shafts must be designed to allow for the discharge of effluent air above roof 
level and must be designed with capacity to accommodate exhaust ducts and 
mechanical ventilation systems for all commercial tenancies proposed with the 
potential to become a food premises in future. Systems must be designed in 
accordance with AS1668.2 – The Use of Ventilation and Air-conditioning in 
Buildings – Mechanical Ventilation in Buildings, and AS1668.1 – The Use of 
Mechanical Ventilation and Air-Conditioning in Buildings – Fire and Smoke Control 
in Multi-compartment Buildings. 

(62) MECHANICAL VENTILATION 

(a) The premises must be ventilated in accordance with the Building Code of 
Australia and AS1668.1 and 2 - 2012. The Use of Ventilation and Air-
Conditioning in Buildings - Mechanical Ventilation in Buildings. 

82



 

 

(b) Details of any mechanical ventilation and/or air conditioning system 
complying with AS1668.1 and 2 – 2012 The Use of Ventilation and Air-
Conditioning in Buildings - Mechanical Ventilation in Buildings, the Building 
Code of Australia and relevant Australian Standards must be prepared by a 
suitably qualified person and certified in accordance with Clause A2.2 (a) (iii) 
of the Building Code of Australia, to the satisfaction of the Principal Certifier 
prior to the issue of a Construction Certificate. 

(c) Prior to issue of an Occupation Certificate and following the completion, 
installation, and testing of all the mechanical ventilation systems, a 
Mechanical Ventilation Certificate of Completion and Performance in 
accordance with Clause A2.2 (a) (iii) of the Building Code of Australia, must 
be submitted to the Principal Certifier. 

(63) CAR PARK VENTILATION 

The car park must be ventilated in accordance with the Building Code of Australia 
and, where necessary, Australian Standard AS1668, Parts 1 and 2. Ventilation 
must be controlled by carbon monoxide monitoring sensors to ensure compliance 
with occupant health requirements. 

(64) MICROBIAL CONTROL IN WATER SYSTEMS 

(a) Prior to the issue of a Construction Certificate detailed plans of any water 
cooling system (including cooling towers) as defined under the Public Health 
Act 2010 must be prepared by a suitably qualified person and certified in 
accordance with AS3666: 1: 2011 Air Handling and Water Systems of 
Buildings – Microbial Control – Design, installation and commissioning and 
must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Council’s Area Planning 
Manager at email hbapplications@cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au. 

(b) Water cooling system operation and maintenance manuals and 
maintenance service records must be readily available at the premises for 
inspection by an authorised officer upon request.  Such records must be 
kept on the premises in accordance with Clause 2.6 to AS/NZS 3666:2:2011 
Air Handling and Water Systems of Buildings – Microbial control, operation 
and maintenance. 

(c) The installation, operation and maintenance of warm water systems and 
water cooling systems (as defined under the Public Health Act 2010) must 
comply with the following: 

(i) Public Health Act 2010, Public Health Regulation 2012 and Parts 1 
and 2 (or part 3 if a Performance-based water cooling system) of 
AS3666:2011 Air Handling and Water Systems of Buildings – Microbial 
Control and the NSW Health Code of Practice for the Control of 
Legionnaires Disease. 

83

mailto:hbapplications@cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au


 

 

(ii) Prior to the issue of an Occupation Certificate or if non-applicable, 
prior to commencement of the use, the owner or occupier of the 
premises at which any warm water system and/or water cooling 
system is installed must cause notice of such installation(s) by 
providing to Council’s Health and Building Unit, written notification by 
way of the prescribed form under Clause 12 to the Public Health 
Regulation 2012. Any changes to these particulars must be notified to 
the Council’s Health and Building Unit in writing within 7 days of the 
change(s). Copies of the notification forms are available on the City of 
Sydney Council’s website. 

(65) OPERATING HOISTING DEVICES INCLUDING BUILDING MAINTENANCE 
UNITS OVER A PUBLIC ROAD 

If it is proposed to install a building maintenance unit or operate a hoisting device 
above a road (footpath) including swinging, hoisting material/equipment and 
slewing any part of the device, a separate application under Section 68 of the 
Local Government Act 1993 and Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993 must be 
made to Council to obtain approval. 
 
Note: Building maintenance unit means a power operated suspended platform and 
associated equipment on a building specifically designed to provide permanent 
access to the faces of the building for maintenance (Work Health and Safety 
Regulation 2011). 

(66) APPLICATION FOR HOARDINGS AND SCAFFOLDING INSTALLED ON OR 
ABOVE A PUBLIC ROAD AND OPERATING HOISTING DEVICES INCLUDING 
BUILDING MAINTENANCE UNITS OVER A PUBLIC ROAD 

(a) A separate application under Section 68 of the Local Government Act 1993 
and Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993 is to be made to Council to erect a 
hoarding and/or scaffolding (temporary structures) on or above a public road 
(footway and/or roadway). 

(b) Where an approval (Permit) is granted allowing the placement of temporary 
structures on or above a public road the structures must comply fully with 
Council’s Hoarding and Scaffolding Policy; Guidelines for Hoardings and 
Scaffolding; and the conditions of approval (Permit) granted including: 

(i) maintaining a current and valid approval for the full duration that the 
temporary structure/s is in place; 

(ii) maintaining temporary structure/s in a structurally sound and stable 
condition for the full duration of installation (Clause 2.11.1); 

(iii) bill posters and graffiti being removed within 24 hours of their 
placement (Clause 2.11.2); 

(iv) maintaining temporary structures and the public place adjoining the 
work site in a clean and tidy condition including repainting and/or 
repair of graphics (Clauses 2.11.1, 2.11.4, 2.14.1 and 3.9.3); 

84



 

 

(v) maintaining a watertight deck (Type B hoardings) to prevent liquids 
including rainwater, falling onto the footway/roadway surfaces 
(Clauses 3.9.1 and 3.9.4); 

(vi) approved site sheds on the decks of a Type B hoarding being fully 
screened from the public place (Clause 3.9.5); 

(vii) material and equipment not being placed or stored on the deck of Type 
B hoardings, unless specifically approved by Council (Clause 3.9.4); 

(viii) providing and maintaining operational artificial lighting systems under 
Type B hoardings including at high-bay truck entry points (Clause 
3.9.9); and 

(ix) ensuring all required signage is provided and maintained (Clauses 
3.9.3, 3.9.6, 3.9.8, 3.10.1 and 4.2). 

If it is proposed to operate a hoisting device including a building maintenance 
unit above a public road which swings, hoists material/equipment and/or slews 
any part of the device over the public road, a separate application under Section 
68 of the Local Government Act 1993 and Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993 
must be made to Council to obtain approval. 

Note: 'Building maintenance unit' means a power-operated suspended platform 
and associated equipment on a building specifically designed to provide 
permanent access to the faces of the building for maintenance (Work Health and 
Safety Regulation 2011). 

(67) ACCESS AND FACILITIES FOR PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES 

The building must be designed and constructed to provide access and facilities for 
people with a disability in accordance with the Building Code of Australia. 
 
If, in complying with this condition, amendments to the development are required, 
the design changes must be submitted to and approved by Council prior to a 
Construction Certificate being issued. 

(68) PRODUCTS BANNED UNDER THE BUILDING PRODUCTS (SAFETY) ACT 
2017 

(a) No building products that are banned, or products that are subject to a ban if 
used in a particular way, under the Building Products (Safety) Act 2017 are 
to be used in the construction of the development approved in this 
development consent. 

(b) Prior to the issue of any Occupation Certificate, the principal certifier is to 
confirm that none of the building products used on the building are subject to 
a building product use ban under the Building Products (Safety) Act 2017 or, 
if a product is only subject to a ban if used in a particular way that it is not 
used in any way contrary to the Building Products (Safety) Act 2017. 

85



 

 

(69) EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL - BETWEEN 250 AND 2,500SQM 

Prior to the commencement of demolition/excavation/construction work, an 
Erosion and Sediment Control Plan (ESCP) must be submitted to and be 
approved by the Principal Certifier. The ESCP must: 
 
(a) Conform to the specifications and standards contained in Managing Urban 

Stormwater: Soils and Construction (Landcom, 2004); the Guidelines for 
Erosion and Sediment Control on Building Sites (City of Sydney, 2004); and 
the NSW Protection of the Environment Operations Act 1997. 

(b) Include a drawing(s) that clearly shows: 

(i) location of site boundaries and adjoining roads 

(ii) approximate grades and indications of direction(s) of fall 

(iii) approximate location of trees and other vegetation, showing items for 
removal or retention 

(iv) location of site access, proposed roads and other impervious areas 

(v) existing and proposed drainage patterns with stormwater discharge 
points 

(vi) north point and scale 

(c) Specify how soil conservation measures will be conducted on site including: 

(i) timing of works 

(ii) locations of lands where a protective ground cover will, as far as is 
practicable, be maintained 

(iii) access protection measures 

(iv) nature and extent of earthworks, including the amount of any cut and 
fill 

(v) where applicable, the diversion of runoff from upslope lands around 
the disturbed areas 

(vi) location of all soil and other material stockpiles including topsoil 
storage, protection and reuse methodology 

(vii) procedures by which stormwater is to be collected and treated prior to 
discharge including details of any proposed pollution control device(s) 

(viii) frequency and nature of any maintenance program 

(ix) other site-specific soil or water conservation structures 

86



 

 

(70) DILAPIDATION REPORT – MAJOR EXCAVATION/DEMOLITION 

(a) Subject to the receipt of permission of the affected landowner, dilapidation 
report/s, including a photographic survey of all affected properties are to be 
prepared by an appropriately qualified structural engineer prior to 
commencement of demolition/excavation works. A copy of the dilapidation 
report/s together with the accompanying photographs must be given to the 
above property owners, and a copy lodged with the Principal Certifier and 
the Council prior to the issue of a Construction Certificate. 

UPON COMPLETION OF EXCAVATION/DEMOLITION 

(b) A second Dilapidation Report/s, including a photographic survey must then 
be submitted at least one month after the completion of 
demolition/excavation works. A copy of the second dilapidation report/s, 
together with the accompanying photographs must be given to the above 
property owners, and a copy lodged with the Principal Certifier and the 
Council prior to the issue of an Occupation Certificate. 

Any damage to buildings, structures, lawns, trees, sheds, gardens and the 
like must be fully rectified by the applicant or owner, at no cost to the 
affected property owner. 

Note: Prior to the commencement of the building surveys, the 
applicant/owner must advise (in writing) all property owners of buildings to 
be surveyed of what the survey will entail and of the process for making a 
claim regarding property damage. A copy of this information must be 
submitted to Council. 

(71) UTILITY SERVICES 

To ensure that utility authorities are advised of the development: 
 
(a) Prior to the issue of any Construction Certificate a survey is to be carried out 

of all utility services within and adjacent to the site including relevant 
information from utility authorities and excavation if necessary, to determine 
the position and level of services. 

(b) Prior to the commencement of work the applicant is to obtain written 
approval from the utility authorities (e.g. Energy Australia, Sydney Water, 
and Telecommunications Carriers) in connection with the relocation and/or 
adjustment of the services affected by the construction of the underground 
structure. Any costs in the relocation, adjustment or support of services are 
to be the responsibility of the developer. 

(72) SYDNEY WATER CERTIFICATE (TAP-IN) 

(a) The approved plans must be submitted to Sydney Water's "Tap-in" online 
service to determine whether the development will affect Sydney Water’s 
sewer and water mains, stormwater drains and/or easements, and if further 
requirements need to be met. Sydney Water's "Tap-in" online service is 
available at www.sydneywater.com.au, (see Plumbing, Building & 
Development and then Sydney Water "Tap-in"). 

87

http://www.sydneywater.com.au/


 

 

(b) The Consent Authority or a Principal Certifier must ensure that Sydney 
Water has appropriately stamped the plans before the commencement of 
work. 

(73) CONSTRUCTION TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT PLAN 

A Construction Traffic and Pedestrian Management Plan must be submitted to 
and approved by Council prior to a Construction Certificate being issued. 
 
Construction Traffic and Pedestrian Management Plans are to be prepared in 
accordance with Standard Requirements for Construction Traffic Management 
Plan on the City’s website http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/business/business-
responsibilities/traffic-management/construction-traffic-management-plans  

(74) COMPLIANCE WITH DEMOLITION, EXCAVATION & CONSTRUCTION NOISE 
AND VIBRATION MANAGEMENT PLAN 

(a)  All works conducted on site which form part of this development must be 
carried out in accordance with the approved demolition, excavation and 
construction noise and vibration management plan submitted in 
compliance with the DEMOLITION, EXCAVATION AND CONSTRUCTION 
NOISE AND VIBRATION MANAGEMENT PLAN condition above.   

(b) Where all such control measures have been implemented and the resultant 
noise and/ or vibration levels at any sensitive receiver still exceed the 
council’s applicable criteria stated in the Construction Hours/Noise Code 
1992 and are giving rise to sustained complaints then the contractor must 
provide regular, appropriate and sustained periods of respite in 
consultation with Council’s Health and Building unit. Approval to vary the 
authorised noise and vibration levels must be received in writing by the 
proponent from Council prior to activities being undertaken that exceed 
sanctioned emission levels. (Use where respite periods not specified under 
the approved DEC NMP) 

Such periods must be set and agreed to by Council’s Health and Building Unit. 

(75) EXTERNAL WALLS AND CLADDING FLAMMABILITY 

The external walls of the building including attachments must comply with the 
relevant requirements of the National Construction Code (NCC). Prior to the issue 
of a Construction Certificate and Occupation Certificate the Principal Certifier 
must: 

88

http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/business/business-responsibilities/traffic-management/construction-traffic-management-plans
http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/business/business-responsibilities/traffic-management/construction-traffic-management-plans


 

 

(a) Be satisfied that suitable evidence is provided to demonstrate that the 
products and systems proposed for use or used in the construction of 
external walls including finishes and claddings such as synthetic or 
aluminium composite panels comply with the relevant requirements of the 
NCC; and 

(b) Ensure that the documentation relied upon in the approval processes 
include an appropriate level of detail to demonstrate compliance with the 
NCC as proposed and as built. 

(76) SURVEY 

(a) Prior to the issue of an approval for demolition or Construction Certificate, 
the initial boundary definition survey work necessary for the preparation of 
the subdivision plan, redefining the boundaries of Lot 1 in DP 80272, shall 
be carried out by a surveyor registered under the Surveying and Spatial 
Information Act, 2002. The registered surveyor shall provide a letter to the 
Principal Certifier certifying that the initial survey work and calculations to 
define the subject boundaries has been completed, prior to the issue of the 
Construction Certificate.  

(b) A plan or CAD file showing the redefined boundaries shall be provided to the 
project architect, who shall certify in writing that the proposed buildings as 
designed will fit within the redefined boundaries, without causing any 
encroachment of the proposed additions or any overhangs attached to the 
proposed additions. This written confirmation shall be provided to the 
Principal Certifier prior to the issue of a Construction Certificate. 

(c) PRIOR TO FOUNDATION STAGE - All footings and walls adjacent to a 
boundary or setback line must be set out by a surveyor registered under the 
Surveying & Spatial Information Act, 2002, and provided to the Principal 
Certifying Authority. 

(d) AT FOUNDATION STAGE - Upon commencement of brickwork or wall 
construction, by the time 10 courses of perimeter brickwork have been laid, 
a survey and report must be submitted to the Principal Certifier indicating the 
position of external walls in relation to the boundaries of the allotment, and 
the setbacks. Any encroachments of the subject building over the side 
boundaries must be removed prior to continuation of building construction 
work, or alternatively a letter supplied from the registered proprietor(s) of the 
adjoining lot(s) confirming that they are aware of the nature & extent of the 
encroachment, and undertaking to execute all necessary documentation to 
permit the creation of an easement to permit the encroachment to remain. 

(e) AT COMPLETION – Prior to the issue of any Interim or Final Occupation 
Certificate - A Final Identification Survey prepared and signed by a Surveyor 
registered under the Surveying & Spatial Information Act, 2002 must be 
submitted at the completion of the building work certifying the location of the 
building in relation to the boundaries of the allotment. Any encroachments of 
the building over the side boundaries must be removed, or alternatively 
appropriate easements under Section 88B of the Conveyancing Act, 1919, 
with terms to the satisfaction of Council, must be lodged with LPI-NSW and 
evidence of lodgement provided to the Principal Certifier prior to the issue of 
any Interim or Final Occupation certificate. 

89



 

 

(77) PHOTOGRAPHIC ARCHIVAL DOCUMENTATION  

Prior to a Construction Certificate for the purposes of demolition being issued, an 
archival photographic recording of the existing warehouse building on the site is to 
be prepared to Council's satisfaction. The recording is to be in digital form, or a 
combination of both, prepared in accordance with the NSW Heritage Division of 
the Department of Environment and Heritage guidelines titled "Photographic 
Recording of Heritage Items using Film or Digital Capture". One copy of the record 
is to be submitted to Council to be lodged with Council's Archives. The form of the 
recording is to be as follows: 
 
(a) The Development Application number must be noted on the submitted 

information. 

(b) Include a summary report detailing the project description, date and 
authorship of the photographic record, method of documentation and 
limitations of the photographic record. 

(c) Include written confirmation, issued with the authority of both the applicant 
and the photographer that the City of Sydney is granted a perpetual non-
exclusive licence to make use of the copyright in all images supplied, 
including the right to make copies available to third parties as though they 
were Council images. The signatures of both the applicant and the 
photographer must be included. 

(d) The report is to be submitted on a USB, CD or DVD, in PDF/A format, 
(created directly from the digital original), with the digital catalogue of images 
containing the following data for each: DOS title, image subject/description 
and data photograph was taken. 

(e) The electronic images are to be taken with a minimum 8 megapixel camera, 
saved as JPEG TIFF or PDF files with a size of approximately 4-6MB, and 
cross referenced to the digital catalogue sheets and base plans. Choose 
only images that are necessary to document the process, and avoid 
duplicate images. 

(78) NUMBER OF ADULTS PER ROOM 

(a) No more than two adult people shall permanently occupy any bedroom and 
no bedroom shall contain more than two beds. This excludes children and 
children’s beds, cots or bassinets. 

(b) The total number of adults residing in one unit shall not exceed twice the 
number of approved bedrooms. 

(79) MINIMISE IMPACT OF POOL ON NEIGHBOURING PROPERTIES 

(a) To minimise the impact of the pool on adjoining properties and to ensure the 
safety of the pool/spa area, the design and construction of the swimming 
pool/spa and associated equipment and fencing must comply with the 
following requirements: 

(i) The Swimming Pools Act 1992 and Regulations. 

90



 

 

(ii) The swimming pool must have safety barriers installed in accordance 
with the requirements of AS 1926.1 - 2007 - 'Safety barriers for 
swimming pools' and AS 1926.2 - 2007 'Location of safety barriers for 
swimming pools'. 

(iii) Australian Standards 1926.3 - Water Recirculation and Filtration; and 

(iv) Protection of the Environment Operations Act 1997 

(80) SWIMMING POOL - CONSULTATION WITH ENERGY AUSTRALIA 

Energy Australia must be consulted in respect to the location of the proposed 
swimming pool relative to any overhead electrical wiring within a distance of 9 
metres around the pool. Details of consultation with Energy Australia are to be 
submitted to the Principal Certifier prior to a Construction Certificate being issued. 

(81) SWIMMING POOL - WASTE AND OVERFLOW WATERS 

Swimming pool waste and overflow waters must be collected and directed to the 
sewer in accordance with the requirements of Sydney Water, and details are to be 
submitted with the application for a Construction Certificate to the satisfaction of 
Council or the accredited certifier and approved by the Principal Certifier. 

(82) SWIMMING POOL/SPA 

Swimming and/or spa pool/s and pool surrounds must be maintained in 
accordance with the Public Health (General) Regulation 2012. Note: Guidance 
may also be obtained from the NSW Health Department’s Public Swimming Pool 
and Spa Pool Guidelines. 

(83) STREET TREE PROTECTION 

Street trees must be protected in accordance with the Australian Standard 4970 
Protection of Trees on Development Sites. All street trees must be protected 
during the construction works as follows: 
 
(a) Tree trunk and major limb protection must be undertaken prior to or during 

the installation of any hoarding or scaffoldings. The protection must be 
installed by a qualified Arborist (AFQ 2 or 3) and must include: 

(i) An adequate clearance, minimum 250mm, must be provided between 
the structure and tree branches, limbs and truck at all times; 

(ii) Tree trunk/s and/or major branches, located within 500mm of any 
hoarding or scaffolding structure, must be protected by wrapped 
hessian or similar material to limit damage, and 

(iii) Timber planks (50mm x 100mm or similar) must be placed around tree 
trunk/s. The timber planks must be spaced at 100mm intervals, and 
must be fixed against the trunk with tie wire, or strapping. The hessian 
and timber planks must not be fixed to the tree in any instance, or in 
any fashion, 

91



 

 

(iv) Tree trunk and major branch protection is to remain in place for the 
duration of construction and development works, and must be 
removed at the completion of the project. 

(b) All hoarding support columns are to be placed a minimum of 300mm from 
the edge of the existing tree pits/setts, so that no sinking or damage occurs 
to the existing tree setts. Supporting columns must not be placed on any 
tree roots that are exposed. 

(c) Materials or goods, including site sheds, must not be stored or placed: 

(i) around or under the tree canopy; or 

(ii) within two (2) metres of tree trunks or branches of any street trees. 

(d) Protective fencing (1.8 metre chain wire mesh fencing) must be erected on 
top of the hoarding [Tree Management Team to insert location of hoarding 
and affected trees] to protect branches during the construction works. 

(e) Any damage sustained to street tree/s as a result of the erection of 
hoardings, scaffolding, or due to the loading/unloading of vehicles adjacent 
the site, must be immediately reported to the Council's Street Tree Contract 
Coordinator on 9265 9333, in order to determine the appropriate action for 
maintaining the health and structural integrity of any damaged street tree. 

(84) TELECOMMUNICATIONS IN NEW DEVELOPMENTS 

Prior to the issue of the Subdivision or Construction Certificate in connection with 
a development, the developer (whether or not a constitutional corporation) is to 
provide evidence satisfactory to the Principal Certifier that arrangements have 
been made for: 
 
(a) the installation of fibre-ready facilities to all individual lots and/or premises in 

a real estate development project so as to enable fibre to be readily 
connected to any premises that is being or may be constructed on those 
lots. Demonstrate that the carrier has confirmed in writing that they are 
satisfied that the fibre ready facilities are fit for purpose; and  

(b) the provision of fixed-line telecommunications infrastructure in the fibre-
ready facilities to all individual lots and/or premises in a real estate 
development project demonstrated through an agreement with a carrier. 

Note: real estate development project has the meanings given in section 372Q of 
the Telecommunications Act. 

(85) WASTE AND RECYCLING MANAGEMENT - RESIDENTIAL 

(a) The Waste and Recycling Management Plan accompanying this 
Development Application has not been approved by this consent. 

92



 

 

(b) A Waste and Recycling Management Plan is to be submitted to and 
approved by Council prior to a Construction Certificate being issued. The 
plan must comply with the Council's Guidelines for Waste Management in 
New Developments 2018. All requirements of the approved Waste and 
Recycling Management Plan must be implemented during construction of 
the development. 

(c) The building must incorporate designated areas or separate garbage rooms 
constructed in accordance with Council’s Guidelines for Waste Management 
in New Developments 2018, to facilitate the separation of commercial waste 
and recycling from residential waste and recycling. 

UPON COMPLETION OF THE DEVELOPMENT 

(d) Prior to an Occupation Certificate being issued or the use commencing, 
whichever is earlier, the Principal Certifier must obtain Council’s approval of 
the waste and recycling management facilities provided in the development 
and ensure arrangements are in place for domestic waste collection by 
Council. 

(86) WASTE AND RECYCLING MANAGEMENT - COMMERCIAL 

(a) The Waste and Recycling Management Plan accompanying this 
Development Application has not been approved by this consent. 

(b) A Waste and Recycling Management Plan is to be approved by the Principal 
Certifier prior to a Construction Certificate being issued. The plan must 
comply with the Council's Guidelines for Waste Management in New 
Developments 2018. All requirements of the approved Building Waste and 
Recycling Management Plan must be implemented during construction of 
the development. 

UPON COMPLETION OF THE DEVELOPMENT 

(c) Prior to an Occupation Certificate being issued or the use commencing, 
whichever is earlier, the Principal Certifier must ensure that waste handling 
works have been completed in accordance with: the Waste and Recycling 
Management Plan; other relevant development consent conditions; and 
Council's Guidelines for Waste Management in New Developments 2018. 

93



 

 

SCHEDULE 1C 

DURING CONSTRUCTION/PRIOR TO OCCUPATION/COMPLETION 

(87) HOURS OF WORK AND NOISE – OUTSIDE CBD 

The hours of construction and work on the development must be as follows: 

(a) All work, including building/demolition and excavation work, and activities 
in the vicinity of the site generating noise associated with preparation for 
the commencement of work (eg. loading and unloading of goods, 
transferring of tools etc) in connection with the proposed development must 
only be carried out between the hours of 7.30am and 5.30pm on Mondays 
to Fridays, inclusive, and 7.30am and 3.30pm on Saturdays, with safety 
inspections being permitted at 7.00am on work days, and no work must be 
carried out on Sundays or public holidays. 

(b) All work, including demolition, excavation and building work must comply 
with the City of Sydney Code of Practice for Construction Hours/Noise 
1992 and Australian Standard 2436 - 2010 Guide to Noise Control on 
Construction, Maintenance and Demolition Sites. 

(c) Notwithstanding the above, the use of a crane for special operations, 
including the delivery of materials, hoisting of plant and equipment and 
erection and dismantling of on site tower cranes which warrant the on-
street use of mobile cranes outside of above hours can occur, subject to a 
permit being issued by Council under Section 68 of the Local Government 
Act 1993 and/or Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993. 

Note: Works may be undertaken outside of hours, where it is required to avoid the 
loss of life, damage to property, to prevent environmental harm and/or to avoid 
structural damage to the building. Written approval must be given by the 
Construction Regulation Unit, prior to works proceeding 

The City of Sydney Code of Practice for Construction Hours/Noise 1992 allows 
extended working hours subject to the approval of an application in accordance 
with the Code and under Section 4.55 of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act 1979. 

(88) ARCHAEOLOGICAL DISCOVERY DURING EXCAVATION 

(a) Should any relics be unexpectedly discovered on the site during excavation, 
all excavation or disturbance to the area is to stop immediately and the 
Heritage Council of NSW should be informed in accordance with section 146 
of the Heritage Act 1977. 

(b) Should any Aboriginal objects be unexpectedly discovered then all 
excavation or disturbance of the area is to stop immediately and NSW 
Government Office of Environment and Heritage is to be informed in 
accordance with Section 89A of the National Parks and Wildlife Act 1974 

(c) Should any archaeological remains or Aboriginal objects be discovered, a 
copy of recording of the finds and the final archaeological summary report is 
to be submitted to Council prior to the Occupational Certificate; 

94



 

 

(d) if the discovery is on Council’s land, Council must be informed. 

(89) NOTIFICATION OF EXCAVATION WORKS OR USE OF HIGH NOISE 
EMISSION APPLIANCES/PLANT 

The immediately adjoining neighbours must be given a minimum of 48 hours 
notice that excavation, shoring or underpinning works or use of high noise 
emission appliances / plant are about to commence. 

(90) USE OF HIGH NOISE EMISSION APPLIANCES / PLANT 

(a) The operation of high noise emission appliances, plant and/or machinery 
such as pile – drivers, rock breakers and hydraulic hammers and those 
which are not listed in Groups B, C, D, E or F of Schedule 1 of the City of 
Sydney Code of Practice for Construction Hours/Noise 1992 and Australian 
Standard 2436-2010 Guide to Noise Control on Construction, Maintenance 
and Demolition Sites is restricted to the hours of: 

(i) 9:00am – 11:30am, and 12:30pm – 4:00pm (Monday to Friday); and 

(ii) 9:00am – 12:00pm (Saturday). 

(b) All reasonable and feasible steps must be undertaken to ensure that the 
work, including demolition, excavation and building complies with the City 
of Sydney Code of Practice for Construction Hours/Noise 1992 and 
Australian Standard 2436- 2010 Guide to Noise Control on Construction, 
Maintenance and Demolition Sites. 

(91) CONSTRUCTION ACCESS DRIVEWAYS TO BE CONSTRUCTED 

Approved driveways are to be constructed for all vehicular access to the 
construction site in accordance with the requirements of Council’s “Driveway 
Specifications” to the satisfaction of Council. 

(92) LAND DEDICATION – NO LONG TERM ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT 
PLAN 

Any land that is to be dedicated to the City as part of the associated Voluntary 
Planning Agreement must not be encumbered by an Environmental Management 
Plan or Long Term Environmental Management Plan. 

(93) BASIX 

All commitments listed in each relevant BASIX Certificate for the development 
must be fulfilled prior to an Occupation Certificate being issued. 

(94) LIGHTING OF SITE OUTSIDE OF STANDARD CONSTRUCTION HOURS 

Lighting of the site while any work is undertaken outside of Council’s standard 
hours of construction must ensure that at no time must the intensity, hours of 
illumination or location of the lighting cause objectionable glare or injury to the 
amenity of the neighbourhood or Obtrusive Light in accordance with the definition 

95



 

 

in Australian Standard AS4282-1997 Control of the obtrusive effects of outdoor 
lighting. If in the opinion of Council, injury is likely to be caused, the intensity, 
hours of illumination and location of the lighting must be varied so that it does not 
cause injury to nearby residents. 

(95) ENCROACHMENTS – NEIGHBOURING PROPERTIES 

No portion of the proposed structure shall encroach onto the adjoining properties. 

(96) ENCROACHMENTS – PUBLIC WAY 

No portion of the proposed structure, including gates and doors during opening 
and closing operations, shall encroach upon Council’s footpath area. 

(97) SURVEY 

All footings, walls and floor slabs adjacent to a boundary must be set out by a 
registered surveyor. On commencement of brickwork or wall construction a survey 
and report, prepared by a Registered Surveyor, must be submitted to the Principal 
Certifier indicating the position of external walls in relation to the boundaries of the 
allotment. Any encroachments by the subject building over adjoining boundaries 
or roads must be removed prior to continuation of building construction work. 

(98) SURVEY CERTIFICATE AT COMPLETION 

A Survey Certificate prepared by a Registered Surveyor must be submitted at the 
completion of the building work certifying the location of the building in relation to 
the boundaries of the allotment. 

(99) COVERING OF LOADS 

All vehicles involved in the excavation and/or demolition process and departing 
the property with demolition materials, spoil or loose matter must have their loads 
fully covered before entering the public roadway. 

(100) EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL 

The Soil and Water Management Plan (SWMP) or Erosion and Sediment Control 
Plan (ESCP) which has been approved by the Principal Certifier must be 
implemented in full during the construction period. 

During the construction period; 

(a) erosion and sediment controls must be regularly inspected, repaired and 
maintained in working order sufficient for a 10 year Average Recurrence 
Interval (ARI) rainfall event; 

(b) erosion and sediment control signage available from Council must be 
completed and attached to the most prominent structure visible at all times 
when entering the site for the duration of construction; and 

96



 

 

(c) building operations and stockpiles must not be located on the public footway 
or any other locations which could lead to the discharge of materials into the 
stormwater system. 

(101) HAZARDOUS AND INDUSTRIAL WASTE 

Hazardous and/or industrial waste arising from the demolition/operational activities 
must be removed and/or transported in accordance with the requirements of the 
NSW Work Cover Authority pursuant to the provisions of the following: 

(a) Protection of the Environment Operations Act 1997 

(b) Protection of the Environment Operations (Waste) Regulation 2005 

(c) Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery Act 2001 

(d) Work Health and Safety Act 2011 

(e) Work Health and Safety Regulation 2011. 

(102) VEHICLE CLEANSING 

Prior to the commencement of work, suitable measures are to be implemented to 
ensure that sediment and other materials are not tracked onto the roadway by 
vehicles leaving the site. It is an offence to allow, permit or cause materials to 
pollute or be placed in a position from which they may pollute waters. 

(103) STREET NUMBERING – MAJOR DEVELOPMENT 

Prior to an Occupation Certificate being issued, street numbers and the building 
name must be clearly displayed at either end of the ground level frontage in 
accordance with the Policy on Numbering of Premises within the City of Sydney. If 
new street numbers or a change to street numbers is required, a separate 
application must be made to Council. 

(104) SYDNEY WATER CERTIFICATE 

A Section 73 Compliance Certificate under the Sydney Water Act 1994 must be 
obtained from Sydney Water Corporation. 

Application must be made through an authorised Water Servicing Coordinator. 
Please refer to the Building Developing and Plumbing section on the web site 
www.sydneywater.com.au then refer to “Water Servicing Coordinator” under 
“Developing Your Land” or telephone 13 20 92 for assistance. 

Following application a “Notice of Requirements” will advise of water and sewer 
infrastructure to be built and charges to be paid. Please make early contact with 
the Coordinator, since building of water/sewer infrastructure can be time 
consuming and may impact on other services and building, driveway or landscape 
design. 

The Section 73 Certificate must be submitted to Council or the Principal Certifier 
prior to an Occupation Certificate or subdivision/strata certificate being issued. 

97



 

 

(105) NO OBSTRUCTION OF PUBLIC WAY 

The public way must not be obstructed by any materials, vehicles, refuse, skips or 
the like, under any circumstances. Non-compliance with this requirement will result 
in the issue of a notice by Council to stop all work on site. 

(106) LOADING AND UNLOADING DURING CONSTRUCTION 

The following requirements apply: 

(a) All loading and unloading associated with construction activity must be 
accommodated on site, where possible. 

(b) If, it is not feasible for loading and unloading to take place on site, a Works 
Zone on the street may be considered by Council. 

(c) A Works Zone may be required if loading and unloading is not possible on 
site. If a Works Zone is warranted an application must be made to Council at 
least 8 weeks prior to commencement of work on the site. An approval for a 
Works Zone may be given for a specific period and certain hours of the days 
to meet the particular need for the site for such facilities at various stages of 
construction. The approval will be reviewed periodically for any adjustment 
necessitated by the progress of the construction activities. 

(d) Where hoisting activity over the public place is proposed to be undertaken 
including hoisting from a Works Zone, a separate approval under Section 68 
of the Local Government Act 1993 must be obtained. 

(107) USE OF MOBILE CRANES 

The following requirements apply: 

(a) Mobile cranes operating from the road must not be used as a method of 
demolishing or constructing a building. 

(b) For special operations including the delivery of materials, hoisting of plant 
and equipment and erection and dismantling of on site tower cranes which 
warrant the on-street use of mobile cranes, permits must be obtained from 
Council for the use of a mobile crane. The permits must be obtained 48 
hours beforehand for partial road closures which, in the opinion of Council 
will create minimal traffic disruptions and 4 weeks beforehand in the case of 
full road closures and partial road closures which, in the opinion of Council, 
will create significant traffic disruptions. 

(c) The use of a crane for special operations, including the delivery of materials, 
hoisting of plant and equipment and erection and dismantling of on site 
tower cranes which warrant the on-street use of mobile cranes outside of 
approved hours of construction can occur, subject to a permit being issued 
by Council under Section 68 of the Local Government Act 1993 and/or 
Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993. 

98



 

 

(108) PHYSICAL MODELS 

(a) Prior to a final Occupation Certificate being issued, an accurate 1:500 scale 
model of the development as constructed must be submitted to Council for 
the City Model in Town Hall House. 

Note: 

(i) The models must be constructed in accordance with the Model 
Specifications available online at 
http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/development/application-
guide/application-process/model-requirements Council’s modellers 
must be consulted prior to construction of the model.  

(ii) The models are to comply with all of the conditions of the Development 
Consent. 

(iii) The models must be amended to reflect any further modifications to 
the approval (under Section 4.55 of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act) that affect the external appearance of the building. 

(109) SUBMISSION OF ELECTRONIC CAD MODELS PRIOR TO OCCUPATION 
CERTIFICATE 

(a) Prior to an Occupation Certificate being issued, an accurate 1:1 electronic 
CAD model of the completed development must be submitted to Council for 
the electronic Visualisation City Model. 

(b) The data required to be submitted within the surveyed location must include 
and identify: 

(i) building design above and below ground in accordance with the 
development consent. 

(ii) all underground services and utilities, underground structures and 
basements, known archaeological structures and artefacts. 

(iii) a current two points on the site boundary clearly marked to show their 
Northing and Easting MGA (Map Grid of Australia) coordinates, which 
must be based on Established Marks registered in the Department of 
Lands and Property Information’s SCIMS Database with a Horizontal 
Position Equal to or better than Class C. 

The data is to be submitted as a DGN or DWG file on a Compact Disc. 
All modelling is to be referenced to the Map Grid of Australia (MGA) 
spatially located in the Initial Data Extraction file. 

(c) The electronic model must be constructed in accordance with the City’s 3D 
CAD electronic model specification. The specification is available online at 
http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/development/application-
guide/application-process/model-requirements Council’s Modelling staff 
should be consulted prior to creation of the model. The data is to comply 
with all of the conditions of the Development Consent. 

99

http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/development/application-guide/application-process/model-requirements
http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/development/application-guide/application-process/model-requirements
http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/development/application-guide/application-process/model-requirements
http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/development/application-guide/application-process/model-requirements


 

 

(110) WAYFINDING 

A wayfinding parking plan must be prepared showing directions to the lifts, bicycle 
facilities, retail/customer parking, and car share separate. This must be prepared 
and submitted to Council prior to the Occupation Certificate for the site/use being 
issued. 

(111) OCCUPATION CERTIFICATE TO BE SUBMITTED 

An Occupation Certificate must be obtained from the Principal Certifier and a copy 
submitted to Council prior to commencement of occupation or use of the whole or 
any part of a new building, an altered portion of, or an extension to an existing 
building. 

100



 

 

SCHEDULE 2 

PRESCRIBED CONDITIONS 

The prescribed conditions in accordance with Division 8A of the Environmental 
Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000 apply: 

Clause 98  Compliance with Building Code of Australia and insurance requirements 
under the Home Building Act 1989 

Clause 98A Erection of signs 

Clause 98B Notification of Home Building Act 1989 requirements 

Clause 98C Conditions relating to entertainment venues 

Clause 98D Conditions relating to maximum capacity signage 

Clause 98E Conditions relating to shoring and adequacy of adjoining property 

Refer to the NSW State legislation for full text of the clauses under Division 8A of the 
Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000. This can be accessed at: 
http://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au 
 

101



 

 

SCHEDULE 3 - ADVISORY CONDITIONS 

(1) PROHIBITION ON PARTICIPATION IN RESIDENT CAR PARKING PERMIT 
SCHEME - APPLICATION OF CITY OF SYDNEY PARKING POLICY 

All owners, tenants and occupiers of this building are ineligible to participate in any 
existing or proposed Council on-street resident parking schemes. All intending 
owners, tenants and occupiers of the site are to be informed of this ineligibility in 
writing at the time of entering into a purchase / lease / occupancy agreement. 

(2) SIGNAGE TO INDICATE NON PARTICIPATION IN RESIDENT CAR PARKING 
PERMIT SCHEME 

Signs reading ‘All owners, tenants and occupiers of this building are not eligible to 
obtain an on-street resident car parking permit from Council’ must be 
permanently displayed and located in prominent places such as at display 
apartments and on all directory boards or notice boards, where they can easily be 
seen and read by people entering the building. The signs must be erected prior to 
an Occupation Certificate being issued and must be maintained in good order at 
all times by the Owners of the building. 

102



Attachment B 

Selected Drawings - Floor Plans 

103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



Attachment C 

Selected Drawings 

111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



121



122



123



 Attachment D 

Public Benefit Offer

124



125



Attachment E 

Draft Voluntary Planning Agreement

126



 

 

   

 

 

 

 

  

Planning Agreement 

 

The Council of the City of Sydney 

 

and 

 

19 Ralph Street Pty Ltd 
 

 

 

Property: 19 Ralph Street, Alexandria 
 

 

 

 

127



 

 1  

 

 

 

CONTENTS 

CLAUSE PAGE 

1. INTERPRETATION ............................................................................................2 

3. OPERATION OF THIS PLANNING AGREEMENT ......................................................9 

4. WARRANTIES ..................................................................................................9 

5. PUBLIC BENEFITS .......................................................................................... 10 

6. COMPLETION ................................................................................................. 10 

7. INDEMNITY ................................................................................................... 12 

8. DEFECTS LIABILITY ........................................................................................ 12 

9. REGISTRATION AND CAVEAT .......................................................................... 13 

10. ENFORCEMENT .............................................................................................. 14 

11. DISPUTE RESOLUTION ................................................................................... 17 

12. TAXES AND GST ............................................................................................ 18 

13. DEALINGS ..................................................................................................... 19 

14. TERMINATION ............................................................................................... 20 

15. CONFIDENTIALITY AND DISCLOSURES ............................................................. 21 

16. NOTICES ...................................................................................................... 23 

17. GENERAL ...................................................................................................... 23 

  

128



 

 2  

 

 

THIS PLANNING AGREEMENT is made on     

BETWEEN: 

(1) The Council of the City of Sydney (ABN 22 636 550 790) of Town Hall House, 

456 Kent Street, Sydney NSW 2000 (the City); and 

(2) 19 Ralph Street Pty Ltd (ABN 83 617 368 886) of Level 1, Unit 107, 20A Danks 

Street Waterloo NSW 2017 (the Developer). 

BACKGROUND 

(A) One or about 25 May 2017, the Developer purchased the Land from E.J. Noble 

Investments Pty Limited (the Owner). Settlement is due on 30 April 2019. 

(B)  The Developer intends to undertake the Development on the Land. 

(C) The Owner is aware of the Public Benefit Offer and has provided their consent to 

enter into this Agreement and to register this Agreement on the title of the Land. 

(D) The Developer has offered to enter into this document with the City to provide the 

Public Benefits on the terms of this document. 

THE PARTIES AGREE AS FOLLOWS: 

1. INTERPRETATION 

1.1 Definitions 

The following definitions apply in this document. 

Act means the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 (NSW). 

Adverse Affectation has the same meaning as in clause 4 of Part 2 of the 

Conveyancing (Sale of Land) Regulation 2010 (NSW). 

Agreement means this Planning Agreement. 

Attributed Value means the value the City and the Developer agree is to be 

attributed to each element of the Public Benefits as at the date of this document, 

as set out in clause 1 of Schedule 3 of this document. 

Authorisation means: 

(a) an approval, authorisation, consent, declaration, exemption, permit, licence, 

notarisation or waiver, however it is described, and including any condition 

attached to it; and 

(b) in relation to anything that could be prohibited or restricted by law if a 

Government Agency acts in any way within a specified period, the expiry of 

that period without that action being taken, 

including any renewal or amendment.  

129



 

 3  

 

 

Business Day means a day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday) on 

which banks are open for general banking business in Sydney, Australia. 

City's Personal Information means Personal Information to which the 

Developer, or any third party engaged by the Developer, has access directly or 

indirectly in connection with this document, including the Personal Information of 

any personnel, customer or supplier of the City (other than the Developer). 

City's Policies means all policies and procedures relevant to the provision of the 

Public Benefits, as notified by the City in writing to the Developer. 

City’s Representative means the person named in Item 3 of Schedule 1 or 

his/her delegate. 

Completion means the point at which the Developer’s Works are complete except 

for minor defects: 

(a) the existence of which do not prevent the Developer’s Works being 

reasonably capable of being used for their intended purpose; 

(b) which the Developer has grounds for not promptly rectifying; and 

(c) rectification of which will not affect the immediate and convenient use of the 

Developer’s Works for their intended purpose. 

Completion Notice means a notice issued by the Developer in accordance with 

clause 6.1. 

Confidential Information means: 

(a) information of a party (disclosing party) that is: 

(i) made available by or on behalf of the disclosing party to the other 

party (receiving party), or is otherwise obtained by or on behalf of 

the receiving party; and 

(ii) by its nature confidential or the receiving party knows, or ought 

reasonably to know, is confidential. 

Confidential Information may be made available or obtained directly or indirectly, 

and before, on or after the date of this document. 

Confidential Information does not include information that: 

(a) is in or enters the public domain through no fault of the receiving party or 

any of its officers, employees or agents; 

(b) is or was made available to the receiving party by a person (other than the 

disclosing party) who is not or was not then under an obligation of 

confidence to the disclosing party in relation to that information; or 

(c) is or was developed by the receiving party independently of the disclosing 

party and any of its officers, employees or agents. 

Construction Certificate has the same meaning as in the Act. 

130



 

 4  

 

 

Contamination has the meaning given to that word in the Contaminated Land 

Management Act 1997 (NSW). 

Corporations Act means the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth). 

Dealing means selling, transferring, assigning, novating, mortgaging, charging, 

or encumbering and, where appearing, Deal has the same meaning. 

Defect means any error, omission, defect, non-conformity, discrepancy, 

shrinkage, blemish in appearance or other fault in the Public Benefits or any other 

matter which prevents the Public Benefits from complying with the terms of this 

document. 

Defects Liability Period means:  

(a) in relation to the Public Benefits other than the Essential Infrastructure, the 

period of 12 months from the date on which the Developer’s Works reach 

Completion; and 

(b) in relation to the Essential Infrastructure, the period of 24 months from the 

date on which the Essential Infrastructure reaches Completion. 

Developer’s Representative means the person named in Item 4 of Schedule 1 

or his/her delegate. 

Developer’s Works means those parts of the Public Benefit described as 

“Developer’s Works” and “Essential Infrastructure” in clause 1 of Schedule 3, to be 

delivered by the Developer in accordance with this document. 

Development means the development of the Land by the Developer described at 

Item 2 of Schedule 1. 

Development Application means the development application identified in Item 

5 of Schedule 1 and includes all plans, reports models, photomontages, material 

boards (as amended supplemented) submitted to the consent authority before the 

determination of that Development Application.  

Development Consent means the consent granted to the Development 

Application for the Development and includes all modifications made under 

section 96 of the Act. 

Dispute means any dispute or difference between the parties arising out of, 

relating to or in connection with this document, including any dispute or difference 

as to the formation, validity, existence or termination of this document.  

Environmental Laws means all laws and legislation relating to environmental 

protection, building, planning, health, safety or work health and safety matters 

and includes the following: 

(a) the Work Health and Safety Act 2011 (NSW); 

(b) the Protection of the Environment Operations Act 1997 (NSW); and 

(c) the Contaminated Land Management Act 1997 (NSW). 

131



 

 5  

 

 

Essential Infrastructure means that part of the Public Benefit described as 

“Essential Infrastructure” in clause 1 of Schedule 3, to be delivered by the 

Developer in accordance with this document. 

Government Agency means: 

(a) a government or government department or other body; 

(b) a governmental, semi-governmental or judicial person; or 

(c) a person (whether autonomous or not) who is charged with the 

administration of a law. 

Gross Floor Area has the meaning given to that term in the Sydney Local 

Environment Plan in effect at the date of this document. 

GST means the same as in the GST Act. 

GST Act means A New Tax System (Goods and Services Tax) Act 1999 (Cth). 

Guarantee means an irrevocable unconditional bank guarantee or documentary 

performance bond for the Guarantee Amount which must:  

(a) be denominated in Australian dollars; 

(b) be an unconditional undertaking; 

(c) be signed and issued by a bank licensed to carry on business in Australia, 

an Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (APRA) regulated authorised 

deposit taking institution or an insurer authorised by APRA to conduct new 

or renewal insurance business in Australia having at all times an investment 

grade security rating from an industry recognised rating agency of at least: 

(i) BBB + (Standard & Poors and Fitch); 

(ii) Baa 1 (Moodys); or 

(iii) Bbb (Bests); 

(d) be issued on behalf of the Developer; 

(e) have no expiry or end date; 

(f) state the beneficiary as the City; 

(g) be irrevocable; 

(h) state the Guarantee Amount as the minimum amount required by this 

document to be lodged as security; 

(i) state the purpose of the security as required in accordance with this 

document; and 

(j) be on such other terms approved by the City. 

132



 

 6  

 

 

Guarantee Amount(s) means a Guarantee or Guarantees for the total amount 

listed in Item 6 of Schedule 1 of this document. 

Guarantee Amount(s) Due Date means the date or milestone by which the 

Developer must provide the Guarantee Amount to the City, set out at Item 7 of 

Schedule 1. 

Index Number means the Consumer Price Index (Sydney all groups) published 

by the Australian Bureau of Statistics from time to time. 

Insolvency Event means: 

(a) having a controller, receiver, manager, administrator, provisional liquidator, 

liquidator or analogous person appointed; 

(b) an application being made to a court for an order to appoint a controller, 

provisional liquidator, trustee for creditors or in bankruptcy or analogous 

person to the person or any of the person's property 

(c) the person being taken under section 459F(1) of the Corporations Act to 

have failed to comply with a statutory demand; 

(d) an application being made to a court for an order for its winding up; 

(e) an order being made, or the person passing a resolution, for its winding up; 

(f) the person: 

(i) suspending payment of its debts, ceasing (or threatening to cease) to 

carry on all or a material part of its business, stating that it is unable 

to pay its debts or being or becoming otherwise insolvent; or 

(ii) being unable to pay its debts or otherwise insolvent; 

(g) the person taking any step toward entering into a compromise or 

arrangement with, or assignment for the benefit of, any of its members or 

creditors; 

(h) a court or other authority enforcing any judgment or order against the 

person for the payment of money or the recovery of any property; or 

(i) any analogous event under the laws of any applicable jurisdiction, 

unless this takes place as part of a solvent reconstruction, amalgamation, merger 

or consolidation that has been approved by the other party. 

Land means the land described in Item 1 of Schedule 1 of this document. 

Laws means all applicable laws, regulations, industry codes and standards, 

including all Environmental Laws. 

Monetary Contribution means that part of the Public Benefits described as 

“Monetary Contribution” in clause 1 of Schedule 3 to be paid by the Developer to 

the City in accordance with this document. 

133



 

 7  

 

 

Occupation Certificate has the same meaning as in the Act. 

Personal Information has the meaning set out in the Privacy Act 1988 (Cth). 

Personnel means the Developer’s officers, employees, agents, contractors or 

subcontractors. 

Privacy Laws means the Privacy Act 1988 (Cth), the Privacy and Personal 

Information Protection Act 1998 (NSW), the Spam Act 2003 (Cth), the Do Not Call 

Register Act 2006 (Cth) and any other applicable legislation, principles, industry 

codes and policies relating to the handling of Personal Information. 

Public Benefits means the provision of benefits to the community by the 

Developer in the form and at the times specified in Schedule 3. 

Quantity Surveyor means a qualified independent and practising quantity 

surveyor with at least five years’ experience in the assessment of building and 

construction costs. 

Quantity Surveyor’s Assessment means the assessment by the Quantity 

Surveyor of the cost to deliver the Developer’s Works. 

Regulation means the Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000 

(NSW). 

Standards means the policies, procedures and standards for carrying out the 

Developer’s Works, listed non-exhaustively at clause 5 of Schedule 3. 

Subdivision of Land has the same meaning as in the Act. 

Tax means a tax, levy, duty, rate, charge, deduction or withholding, however it is 

described, that is imposed by law or by a Government Agency, together with any 

related interest, penalty, fine or other charge. 

Transfer Land means land forming part of the Public Benefit that is to be either 

dedicated or transferred to the City in accordance with Schedule 3 of this 

document. 

1.2 Rules for interpreting this document 

Headings are for convenience only, and do not affect interpretation.  The following 

rules also apply in interpreting this document, except where the context makes it 

clear that a rule is not intended to apply. 

(a) A reference to: 

(i) a legislative provision or legislation (including subordinate legislation) 

is to that provision or legislation as amended, re-enacted or replaced, 

and includes any subordinate legislation issued under it; 

(ii) a document (including this document) or agreement, or a provision of 

a document (including this document) or agreement, is to that 

document, agreement or provision as amended, supplemented, 

replaced or novated; 

134



 

 8  

 

 

(iii) a party to this document or to any other document or agreement 

includes a permitted substitute or a permitted assign of that party;  

(iv) a person includes any type of entity or body of persons, whether or 

not it is incorporated or has a separate legal identity, and any 

executor, administrator or successor in law of the person; and 

(v) anything (including a right, obligation or concept) includes each part 

of it. 

(b) A singular word includes the plural, and vice versa. 

(c) A word which suggests one gender includes the other genders. 

(d) If a word or phrase is defined, any other grammatical form of that word or 

phrase has a corresponding meaning. 

(e) If an example is given of anything (including a right, obligation or concept), 

such as by saying it includes something else, the example does not limit the 

scope of that thing. 

(f) A reference to including means “including, without limitation”. 

(g) A reference to dollars or $ is to an amount in Australian currency. 

(h) A reference to this document includes the agreement recorded by this 

document. 

(i) Words defined in the GST Act have the same meaning in clauses about GST. 

(j) This document is not to be interpreted against the interests of a party merely 

because that party proposed this document or some provision in it or 

because that party relies on a provision of this document to protect itself. 

2. APPLICATION OF THE ACT AND THE REGULATION 

2.1 Application of this document 

This document is a planning agreement within the meaning of section 7.4 of the 

Act and applies to: 

(a) the Land; and 

(b) the Development. 

2.2 Public Benefits to be made by Developer 

Clause 5 and Schedule 3 set out the details of the:  

(a) Public Benefits to be delivered by the Developer; 

(b) time or times by which the Developer must deliver the Public Benefits; and 

(c) manner in which the Developer must deliver the Public Benefits. 

135



 

 9  

 

 

2.3 Application of sections 7.11, 7.12 and 7.24 of the Act 

(a) The application of sections 7.11, 7.12 and 7.24 of the Act are excluded to 

the extent set out in Items 5 and 6 of Schedule 2 to this document. 

(b) For the avoidance of doubt, if the City imposes a condition of consent on a 

Development Consent for the Development under section 7.11 of the Act 

requiring payment of a contribution authorised by a contributions plan 

approve under section 61 of the City of Sydney Act 1988 (NSW), no further 

contributions pursuant to section 7.11 or section 7.12 of the Act are payable 

in relation to the Development. 

2.4 City rights 

This document does not impose an obligation on the City to: 

(a) grant Development Consent for the Development; or 

(b) exercise any function under the Act in relation to a change to an 

environmental planning instrument, including the making or revocation of 

an environmental planning instrument. 

2.5 Explanatory note 

The explanatory note prepared in accordance with clause 25E of the Regulation 

must not be used to assist in construing this document. 

3. OPERATION OF THIS PLANNING AGREEMENT 

3.1 Commencement 

This document will commence on the date of execution of this document by all 

parties to this document. 

4. WARRANTIES 

4.1 Mutual warranties 

Each party represents and warrants that:  

(a) (power) it has full legal capacity and power to enter into this document and 

to carry out the transactions that it contemplates; 

(b) (corporate authority) it has taken all corporate action that is necessary or 

desirable to authorise its entry into this document and to carry out the 

transactions contemplated; 

(c) (Authorisations) it holds each Authorisation that is necessary or desirable 

to: 

(i) enable it to properly execute this document and to carry out the 

transactions that it contemplates; 

(ii) ensure that this document is legal, valid, binding and admissible in 

evidence; or 

136



 

 10  

 

 

(iii) enable it to properly carry on its business as it is now being conducted, 

and it is complying with any conditions to which any of these Authorisations 

is subject; 

(d) (documents effective) this document constitutes its legal, valid and 

binding obligations, enforceable against it in accordance with its terms 

(except to the extent limited by equitable principles and laws affecting 

creditors' rights generally), subject to any necessary stamping or 

registration; 

(e) (solvency) there are no reasonable grounds to suspect that it will not be 

able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable; and 

(f) (no controller) no controller is currently appointed in relation to any of its 

property, or any property of any of its subsidiaries. 

4.2 Developer warranties 

(a) The Developer warrants to the City that, at the date of this document: 

(i) it has obtained the consent of the Owner to enter into this document; 

(ii) it is legally entitled to obtain all consents and approvals that are 

required by this document and do all things necessary to give effect 

to this document; 

(iii) all work performed by the Developer and the Personnel under this 

document will be performed with due care and skill and to a standard 

which is equal to or better than that which a well experienced person 

in the industry would expect to be provided by an organisation of the 

Developer’s size and experience; and 

(iv) it is not aware of any matter which may materially affect the 

Developer’s ability to perform its obligations under this document. 

(b) The Developer warrants to the City that, prior to commencing delivery of the 

Public Benefits it will have obtained all Authorisations and insurances 

required under any Law to carry out its obligations under this document. 

5. PUBLIC BENEFITS 

5.1 Developer to provide Public Benefits 

The Developer must, at its cost and risk, provide the Public Benefits to the City in 

accordance with this document. 

6. COMPLETION 

6.1 Date of Completion 

The Developer must ensure that the Developer’s Works reach Completion on or 

before the date or milestone referred to in clause 1 of Schedule 3 of this document. 

137



 

 11  

 

 

6.2 Developer completion notice 

When, in the reasonable opinion of the Developer, the Developer’s Works have 

reached Completion, the Developer must notify the City’s Representative in writing 

and must include in that notice: 

(a) a statement from the person with direct responsibility and supervision of 

that work that in their opinion the Developer’s Works have reached 

Completion; 

(b) copies of any warranties, guarantees, maintenance information or other 

material reasonably required for the City to assume responsibility for the 

Developer’s Works; and 

(c) at least three sets of the “as built” drawings of the Developer’s Works, 

including one set in electronic format. 

(Completion Notice).  For the avoidance of doubt, the Developer can issue 

separate Completion Notices at separate times for different elements of the 

Developer’s Works, however the Developer must ensure that Completion is 

achieved for the Developer’s Works before the due date specified in Item 1 of 

Schedule 3. 

6.3 Inspection by the City 

(a) The City’s Representative must inspect the Developer’s Works within 5 

Business Days of the date that the Completion Notice is received by the City.  

The City’s Representative may refuse to complete the inspection until the 

Completion Notice has been issued with all required documentation attached 

in accordance with clause 6.2.  Within 10 Business Days of the date of the 

inspection by the City’s Representative, the City must by written notice to 

the Developer: 

(i) state that Completion has been achieved; 

(ii) state that Completion has not been achieved and, if so, identify the 

Defects, errors or omissions which, in the opinion of the City’s 

Representative, prevent Completion; or 

(iii) issue a notice under clause 6.4(a). 

(b) Nothing in this clause 6.3, or any notice issued under this clause 6.3, will:  

(i) reduce or waive in any manner the Developer’s responsibility to:  

(A) deliver the Developer’s Works in accordance with this 

document; or 

(B) the Developer’s responsibility to correct Defects, errors or 

omissions, whether or not these are identified by the City; or 

(ii) create any liability for the City in relation to any defective aspect of 

the Developer’s Works. 

138



 

 12  

 

 

6.4 Non-completion of Public Benefits 

(a) If the Developer makes a request by notice in writing not to complete the 

Public Benefits (or any part of the Public Benefits):  

(i) the City may permit the Developer not to complete the Public Benefits 

(or any part of the Public Benefits) by issuing a notice in writing to the 

Developer stating that completion of the items identified in that notice 

is not required to fulfil the Developer’s obligations under this 

document; and 

(ii) the City may make a claim on the Guarantee in such amount as the 

City considers necessary to complete the portion of Public Benefit not 

being delivered by the Developer. 

(b) If the Developer fails to complete the whole of the Public Benefits in the form 

and to the standards required under the Development Consent or this 

document then the City may either: 

(i) complete the Public Benefits itself, including by exercising its right to 

compulsorily acquire the Transfer Land in accordance with clause 10.6 

of this document; or 

(ii) modify the Public Benefits to reasonably achieve the objectives 

identified in the Development Consent and this document, 

and may recover all costs of and reasonably incidental to that work from the 

Developer.  The City can claim on the Guarantee in order to exercise this 

right, in which case the provisions of clause 10 will apply.  To the extent that 

the City’s costs exceed the amount of the Guarantee, the City can recover 

this amount from the Developer as a debt due and owing to the City. 

(c) If the City exercises its rights under this clause 6.4 to complete the Public 

Benefits, the Developer grants the City a licence for the period necessary for 

the City to access the Land to carry out, or procure the carrying out, of the 

Public Benefits. 

7. INDEMNITY 

The Developer indemnifies the City against all damage, expense, loss or liability of 

any nature suffered or incurred by the City arising from any act or omission by the 

Developer (or any Personnel) in connection with the performance of the 

Developer’s obligations under this document, except where the damage, expense, 

loss or liability suffered or incurred is caused by, or contributed to by, any wilful 

or negligent act or omission of the City (or any person engaged by the City). 

8. DEFECTS LIABILITY 

8.1 Security for Defects Liability Period 

Until the expiry of the relevant Defects Liability Period, the City may retain from 

the Guarantee an amount equal to 10% of the Attributed Value of the Developer’s 

Works as security for the Developer’s performance of its obligations under this 

clause 8.  The Developer must make any necessary arrangements to allow the 

139



 

 13  

 

 

provision of the Guarantee for the Defects Liability Period in accordance with this 

clause. 

8.2 Defect in the Public Benefits 

(a) If:  

(i) the Developer is in breach of clause 4.2 of this document; or 

(ii) the City notifies the Developer of a Defect in the Public Benefits within 

the Defects Liability Period,  

then, following written notice from the City, the Developer must promptly 

correct or replace (at the Developer’s expense) the defective elements of 

the Public Benefits. 

(b) If the Developer is unable or unwilling to comply with clause 8.2(a), or fails 

to rectify the Defect within three months of receiving notice from the City 

under clause 8.2(a), the City may:  

(i) rectify the Defect itself;  

(ii) make a claim on the Guarantee in accordance with clause 10 for the 

reasonable costs of the City in rectifying the Defect; and 

(iii) to the extent the costs incurred to rectify the Defect exceeds the 

Guarantee, recover the reasonable costs from the Developer as a debt 

due and owing to the City. 

(c) If the City requires access to the Land to rectify any Defect, the Developer 

grants the City and its contractors a licence for such period as is necessary 

for the City and its contractors to access the Land to carry out, or procure 

the carrying out, of the rectification works. 

9. REGISTRATION AND CAVEAT 

9.1 Registration of this document 

(a) The Developer:  

(i) warrants that it has obtained all consents to the registration of this 

document on the title to the Land; and 

(ii) must within 10 Business Days of a written request from the City do all 

things necessary to allow the City to register this document on the 

title to the Land, including but not limited to: 

(A) producing any documents or letters of consent required by the 

Registrar-General of the Land and Property Information; 

(B) providing the production slip number when the Developer 

produces the certificate of title to the Land at the Land and 

Property Information; and 

140



 

 14  

 

 

(C) providing the City with a cheque for registration fees payable in 

relation to registration of this document at the Land and 

Property Information. 

(iii) The Developer must act promptly in complying with and assisting to 

respond to any requisitions raised by the NSW Land Registry Services 

that relate to registration of this document. 

9.2 Caveat 

(a) The City may, at any time after the date of this document, register a caveat 

over the Land preventing any dealing with the Land that is inconsistent with 

this document.  Provided that the City complies with this clause 9.2, the 

Developer must not object to the registration of this caveat and may not 

attempt to have the caveat removed from the title to the Land. 

(b) In exercising its rights under this clause 9.2 the City must do all things 

reasonably required to: 

(i) remove the caveat from the Land once this document has been 

registered on the title to the Land; and 

(ii) consent to the registration of: 

(A) this document; and 

(B) any plan of consolidation, plan of subdivision or other dealing 

required by this document or the Development Consent.  

9.3 Release of this document 

If the City is satisfied that the Developer has provided all Public Benefits and 

otherwise complied with this document then the City must promptly do all things 

reasonably required to remove this document from the title to the Land. 

10. ENFORCEMENT 

10.1 Developer to provide Guarantee 

The Developer must deliver the Guarantee for the Guarantee Amount to the City 

by the Guarantee Amount Due Date. 

10.2 Adjustment of Guarantee Amount 

On each anniversary of the date of the Guarantee (the “Adjustment Date”), the 

Guarantee Amounts are to be adjusted to a revised amount by applying the 

following formula: 

RGA = GA x (A/B) 

where: 

RGA is the revised guarantee amount applicable from the relevant Adjustment 

Date 

141



 

 15  

 

 

GA  is the Guarantee Amount that is current on the relevant Adjustment Date 

A  is the Index Number most recently published before the relevant Adjustment 

Date 

B is the Index Number most recently published: 

(i) before the date of the Guarantee for the first Adjustment Date; and 

(ii) before the preceding Adjustment Date for every subsequent 

Adjustment Date 

If after the formula is applied the revised Guarantee Amount will be less than the 

amount held at the preceding Adjustment Date, the Guarantee Amount will not be 

adjusted. 

10.3 Right of City to claim on Guarantee 

(a) The Developer agrees that the City may make an appropriation from the 

Guarantee in such amount as the City, acting reasonably, thinks appropriate 

if: 

(i) the Developer fails to comply with clause 3.2 of Schedule 3 of this 

document (provision of detailed design drawings and detailed costs 

estimate); 

(ii) the City allows the Developer not to complete the Public Benefits, or 

any part of them, in accordance with clause 6.4(a)(ii); 

(iii) an Insolvency Event occurs in respect of the Developer; 

(iv) the Developer fails to deliver the Public Benefits in accordance with 

clause 6.4(b); 

(v) the Developer fails to rectify a Defect in accordance with clause 8.2 of 

this document; 

(vi) the detailed designs for the Developer’s Works are not finalised 

between the parties within 12 months of the date of issue of a 

Construction Certificate that approves the construction of any 

structures above the ground floor of the Development; 

(vii) the Developer’s Works do not reach Completion within 36 months of 

the date of issue of the first Construction Certificate in respect of the 

Development (or such later time as agreed by the City in writing); or 

(viii) the City incurs any other expense or liability in exercising its rights 

and powers under this document. 

(b) Any amount of the Guarantee appropriated by the City in accordance with 

clause 10.2 must be applied only towards: 

(i) the costs and expenses incurred by the City rectifying any default by 

the Developer under this document; and 

142



 

 16  

 

 

(ii) carrying out any works required to achieve the Public Benefits. 

10.4 Expenditure by the City 

If the City claims on the Guarantee to Complete the Developer’s Works, then the 

City: 

(a) is not required to expend more money than the Guarantee Amount and may 

elect not to carry out items of the Developer’s Works to ensure that those 

works can be carried out for an amount equal to or less than the Guarantee 

Amount; or 

(b) may expend more than the Guarantee Amount.  If the City expends more 

money than the Guarantee Amount then the amount in excess of the 

Guarantee Amount will be deemed to be a debt due and owing to the City 

by the Developer. 

10.5 Top-up and return of Guarantee 

(a) If the City calls upon the Guarantee in accordance with this clause 10 then 

the Developer must immediately provide to the City a replacement 

Guarantee to ensure that, at all times until the Guarantee is released in 

accordance with paragraph (b), the City is in possession of a Guarantee for 

a face value equivalent to the Guarantee Amount. 

(b) If:  

(i) the monies secured by the Guarantee have not been expended; 

(ii) the City has concurred with Completion in accordance with clause 

6.3(a)(i) of this document, taking into account any approved non-

completion of Public Benefits approved by clause 6.4(a) of this 

document; and 

(iii) the City has been provided with the security for the Defects Liability 

Period in accordance with clause 8.1,  

then the City will promptly return the Guarantee to the Developer following 

the issue of a notice pursuant to clause 6.3(a)(i) of this document. 

(c) If, following expiry of the Defects Liability Period, the City is satisfied that 

all defects have been rectified in accordance with clause 8 then the City must 

promptly return to the Developer the portion of the Guarantee retained by 

the City as security for the Defects Liability Period. 

10.6 Compulsory acquisition 

If the Developer fails to transfer or dedicate the Transfer Land or any land forming 

part of the Essential Infrastructure to the City in accordance with Schedule 3 of 

this document then the City may compulsorily acquire that land for the amount of 

$1.00 in accordance with the Land Acquisition (Just Terms Compensation) Act 

1991 (NSW).  The City and the Developer agree that: 

143



 

 17  

 

 

(a) this clause 10.6 is an agreement between the Developer and the City for the 

purposes of section 30 of the Land Acquisition (Just Terms Compensation) 

Act 1991 (NSW); 

(b) in this clause 10.6 the Developer and the City have agreed on all relevant 

matters concerning the compulsory acquisition and the compensation to be 

paid for the acquisition; and  

(c) the Developer must pay the City, promptly on demand, an amount 

equivalent to all costs incurred by the City in acquiring the whole or any part 

of the Transfer Land or land forming part of the Essential Infrastructure as 

contemplated by this clause 10.6. 

11. DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

11.1 Application 

Any Dispute must be determined in accordance with the procedure in this 

clause 11. 

11.2 Negotiation 

(a) If any Dispute arises, a party to the Dispute (Referring Party) may by 

giving notice to the other party or parties to the Dispute (Dispute Notice) 

refer the Dispute to the Developer’s Representative and the City’s 

Representative for resolution.  The Dispute Notice must: 

(i) be in writing; 

(ii) state that it is given pursuant to this clause 11; and 

(iii) include or be accompanied by reasonable particulars of the Dispute 

including: 

(A) a brief description of the circumstances in which the Dispute 

arose;  

(B) references to any: 

(aa) provisions of this document; and 

(bb) acts or omissions of any person, 

relevant to the Dispute; and 

(C) where applicable, the amount in dispute (whether monetary or 

any other commodity) and if not precisely known, the best 

estimate available. 

(b) Within 10 Business Days of the Referring Party issuing the Dispute Notice 

(Resolution Period), the Developer’s Representative and the City’s 

Representative must meet at least once to attempt to resolve the Dispute.   

(c) The Developer’s Representative and the City’s Representative may meet 

more than once to resolve a Dispute.  The Developer’s Representative and 

144



 

 18  

 

 

the City’s Representative may meet in person, via telephone, 

videoconference, internet-based instant messaging or any other agreed 

means of instantaneous communication to effect the meeting. 

11.3 Not use information 

The purpose of any exchange of information or documents or the making of any 

offer of settlement under this clause 11 is to attempt to settle the Dispute.  Neither 

party may use any information or documents obtained through any dispute 

resolution process undertaken under this clause 11 for any purpose other than in 

an attempt to settle the Dispute. 

11.4 Condition precedent to litigation 

Subject to clause 11.5, a party must not commence legal proceedings in respect 

of a Dispute unless: 

(a) a Dispute Notice has been given; and 

(b) the Resolution Period has expired. 

11.5 Summary or urgent relief 

Nothing in this clause 11 will prevent a party from instituting proceedings to seek 

urgent injunctive, interlocutory or declaratory relief in respect of a Dispute. 

12. TAXES AND GST 

12.1 Responsibility for Taxes 

(a) The Developer is responsible for any and all Taxes and other like liabilities 

which may arise under any Commonwealth, State or Territory legislation (as 

amended from time to time) as a result of or in connection with this 

document or the Public Benefits. 

(b) The Developer must indemnify the City in relation to any claims, liabilities 

and costs (including penalties and interest) arising as a result of any Tax or 

other like liability for which the Developer is responsible under 

clause 12.1(a). 

12.2 GST free supply 

To the extent that Divisions 81 and 82 of the GST Law apply to a supply made 

under this document: 

(a) no additional amount will be payable by a party on account of GST; and 

(b) no tax invoices will be exchanged between the parties. 

12.3 Supply subject to GST 

To the extent that clause 12.2 does not apply to a supply made under this 

document, this clause 12.3 will apply. 

145



 

 19  

 

 

(a) If one party (Supplying Party) makes a taxable supply and the 

consideration for that supply does not expressly include GST, the party that 

is liable to provide the consideration (Receiving Party) must also pay an 

amount (GST Amount) equal to the GST payable in respect of that supply.  

(b) Subject to first receiving a tax invoice or adjustment note as appropriate, 

the receiving party must pay the GST amount when it is liable to provide the 

consideration. 

(c) If one party must indemnify or reimburse another party (Payee) for any 

loss or expense incurred by the Payee, the required payment does not 

include any amount which the Payee (or an entity that is in the same GST 

group as the Payee) is entitled to claim as an input tax credit, but will be 

increased under clause 12.3(a) if the payment is consideration for a taxable 

supply. 

(d) If an adjustment event arises in respect of a taxable supply made by a 

Supplying Party, the GST Amount payable by the Receiving Party under 

clause 12.3(a) will be recalculated to reflect the adjustment event and a 

payment will be made by the Receiving Party to the Supplying Party, or by 

the Supplying Party to the Receiving Party, as the case requires. 

(e) The Developer will assume the City is not entitled to any input tax credit 

when calculating any amounts payable under this clause 12.3. 

(f) In this document: 

(i) consideration includes non-monetary consideration, in respect of 

which the parties must agree on a market value, acting reasonably; 

and 

(ii) in addition to the meaning given in the GST Act, the term "GST" 

includes a notional liability for GST. 

13. DEALINGS 

13.1 Dealing by the City 

(a) The City may Deal with its interest in this document without the consent of 

the Developer if the Dealing is with a Government Agency.  The City must 

give the Developer notice of the Dealing within five Business Days of the 

date of the Dealing. 

(b) The City may not otherwise Deal with its interest in this document without 

the consent of the Developer, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld 

or delayed. 

13.2 Dealing by the Developer 

(a) Prior to registration of this document in accordance with clause 9, the 

Developer must not Deal with this document or the Land without: 

(i) the prior written consent of the City; and 

146



 

 20  

 

 

(ii) the City, the Developer and the third party the subject of the Dealing 

entering into a deed of consent to the Dealing on terms acceptable to 

the City; 

except for any dealing required for the settlement of the sale of the Land 

from the Owner to the Developer. 

(b) On and from registration of this document in accordance with clause 9: 

(i) the Developer may Deal with this document without the consent of 

the City only as a result of the sale of the whole of the Land (without 

subdivision) to a purchaser of the Land; 

(ii) the Developer may register a plan of strata subdivision, and the City 

consents to this document remaining registered only on the title to 

the common property of the strata plan upon registration of the strata 

plan; and 

(iii) the Developer must not otherwise Deal with this document to a third 

party that is not a purchaser of the whole or any part of the Land 

without: 

(A) the prior written consent of the City; and 

(B) the City, the Developer and the third party the subject of the 

Dealing entering into a deed of consent to the Dealing on terms 

acceptable to the City. 

(c) The Developer must pay the City’s costs and expenses relating to any 

consent or documentation required due to the operation of this clause 13.2. 

13.3 Extinguishment or creation of interests on Transfer Land 

(a) Prior to the dedication or transfer of the Transfer Land to the City, the 

Developer must: 

(i) extinguish all leases and licences over the Transfer Land; and 

(ii) use its best endeavours to extinguish all redundant encumbrances and 

those that, in the City’s opinion, would unreasonably impede the 

intended use of all or any part of the Transfer Land. 

(b) The Developer must comply with any directions by the City relating to the 

Transfer Land, including but not limited to the creation of any encumbrances 

over the Transfer Land. 

14. TERMINATION 

(a) The City may terminate this document by notice in writing to the Developer 

if the Development Consent lapses or is surrendered by the Developer.   

(b) If the City terminates this document then:  

147



 

 21  

 

 

(i) the rights of each party that arose before the termination or which 

may arise at any future time for any breach or non-observance of 

obligations occurring prior to the termination are not affected; 

(ii) the Developer must take all steps reasonably necessary to minimise 

any loss the each party may suffer as a result of the termination of 

this document; 

(iii) the City will return the Guarantee to the Developer after first 

deducting any amounts owing to the City or costs incurred by the City 

by operation of this document.  If in exercising its rights under this 

document the City expends more money than the Guarantee Amount 

then the amount in excess of the Guarantee Amount will be deemed 

to be a debt due and owing to the City by the Developer; and 

(iv) the City will, at the Developer’s cost, do all things reasonably required 

to remove this document from the title to the Land. 

15. CONFIDENTIALITY AND DISCLOSURES 

15.1 Use and disclosure of Confidential Information 

A party (receiving party) which acquires Confidential Information of another 

party (disclosing party) must not: 

(a) use any of the Confidential Information except to the extent necessary to 

exercise its rights and perform its obligations under this document; or 

(b) disclose any of the Confidential Information except in accordance with 

clauses 15.2 or 15.3. 

15.2 Disclosures to personnel and advisers 

(a) The receiving party may disclose Confidential Information to an officer, 

employee, agent, contractor, or legal, financial or other professional adviser 

if: 

(i) the disclosure is necessary to enable the receiving party to perform 

its obligations or to exercise its rights under this document; and 

(ii) prior to disclosure, the receiving party informs the person of the 

receiving party's obligations in relation to the Confidential Information 

under this document and obtains an undertaking from the person to 

comply with those obligations. 

(b) The receiving party:  

(i) must ensure that any person to whom Confidential Information is 

disclosed under clause 15.2(a) keeps the Confidential Information 

confidential and does not use it for any purpose other than as 

permitted under clause 15.2(a); and 

148



 

 22  

 

 

(ii) is liable for the actions of any officer, employee, agent, contractor or 

legal, financial or other professional adviser that causes a breach of 

the obligations set out in clause 15.2(b)(i). 

15.3 Disclosures required by law 

(a) Subject to clause 15.3(b), the receiving party may disclose Confidential 

Information that the receiving party is required to disclose: 

(i) by law or by order of any court or tribunal of competent jurisdiction; 

or 

(ii) by any Government Agency, stock exchange or other regulatory body. 

(b) If the receiving party is required to make a disclosure under clause 15.3(a), 

the receiving party must: 

(i) to the extent possible, notify the disclosing party immediately it 

anticipates that it may be required to disclose any of the Confidential 

Information; 

(ii) consult with and follow any reasonable directions from the disclosing 

party to minimise disclosure; and 

(iii) if disclosure cannot be avoided: 

(A) only disclose Confidential Information to the extent necessary 

to comply; and  

(B) use reasonable efforts to ensure that any Confidential 

Information disclosed is kept confidential. 

15.4 Receiving party's return or destruction of documents 

On termination of this document the receiving party must immediately: 

(a) deliver to the disclosing party all documents and other materials containing, 

recording or referring to Confidential Information; and 

(b) erase or destroy in another way all electronic and other intangible records 

containing, recording or referring to Confidential Information, 

which are in the possession, power or control of the receiving party or of any 

person to whom the receiving party has given access.  

15.5 Security and control 

The receiving party must: 

(a) keep effective control of the Confidential Information; and 

(b) ensure that the Confidential Information is kept secure from theft, loss, 

damage or unauthorised access or alteration. 

149



 

 23  

 

 

15.6 Media releases 

The Developer must not issue any information, publication, document or article for 

publication in any media concerning this document or the Public Benefits without 

the City's prior written consent. 

16. NOTICES 

(a) A notice, consent or other communication under this document is only 

effective if it is in writing, signed and either left at the addressee's address 

or sent to the addressee by mail or fax. If it is sent by mail, it is taken to 

have been received 5 Business Days after it is posted. If it is sent by fax, it 

is taken to have been received when the addressee actually receives it in 

full and in legible form. 

(b) A person's address and fax number are those set out in Schedule 1 for the 

City’s Representative and the Developer’s Representative, or as the person 

notifies the sender in writing from time to time. 

17. GENERAL 

17.1 Governing law 

(a) This document is governed by the laws of New South Wales. 

(b) Each party submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts exercising 

jurisdiction in New South Wales, and any court that may hear appeals from 

any of those courts, for any proceedings in connection with this document, 

and waives any right it might have to claim that those courts are an 

inconvenient forum. 

17.2 Access to information 

In accordance with section 121 of the Government Information (Public Access) Act 

2009 (NSW), the Developer agrees to allow the City immediate access to the 

following information contained in records held by the Developer: 

(a) information that relates directly to the delivery of the Public Benefits by the 

Developer; 

(b) information collected by the Developer from members of the public to whom 

the Developer provides, or offers to provide, services on behalf of the City; 

and 

(c) information received by the Developer from the City to enable the Developer 

to deliver the Public Benefits. 

17.3 Liability for expenses 

(a) The Developer must pay its own and the City’s expenses incurred in 

negotiating, executing, registering, releasing, administering and enforcing 

this document. 

(b) The Developer must pay for all reasonable costs and expenses associated 

with the preparation and giving of public notice of this document and the 

150



 

 24  

 

 

explanatory note prepared in accordance with the Regulations and for any 

consent the City is required to provide under this document. 

17.4 Relationship of parties 

(a) Nothing in this document creates a joint venture, partnership, or the 

relationship of principal and agent, or employee and employer between the 

parties; and 

(b) No party has the authority to bind any other party by any representation, 

declaration or admission, or to make any contract or commitment on behalf 

of any other party or to pledge any other party’s credit. 

17.5 Giving effect to this document 

Each party must do anything (including execute any document), and must ensure 

that its employees and agents do anything (including execute any document), that 

the other party may reasonably require to give full effect to this document. 

17.6 Time for doing acts 

(a) If: 

(i) the time for doing any act or thing required to be done; or 

(ii) a notice period specified in this document, 

expires on a day other than a Business Day, the time for doing that act or 

thing or the expiration of that notice period is extended until the following 

Business Day. 

(b) If any act or thing required to be done is done after 5pm on the specified 

day, it is taken to have been done on the following Business Day. 

17.7 Severance 

If any clause or part of any clause is in any way unenforceable, invalid or illegal, 

it is to be read down so as to be enforceable, valid and legal.  If this is not possible, 

the clause (or where possible, the offending part) is to be severed from this 

document without affecting the enforceability, validity or legality of the remaining 

clauses (or parts of those clauses) which will continue in full force and effect. 

17.8 Preservation of existing rights 

The expiration or termination of this document does not affect any right that has 

accrued to a party before the expiration or termination date. 

17.9 No merger 

Any right or obligation of any party that is expressed to operate or have effect on 

or after the completion, expiration or termination of this document for any reason, 

will not merge on the occurrence of that event but will remain in full force and 

effect. 

151



 

 25  

 

 

17.10 Waiver of rights 

A right may only be waived in writing, signed by the party giving the waiver, and: 

(a) no other conduct of a party (including a failure to exercise, or delay in 

exercising, the right) operates as a waiver of the right or otherwise prevents 

the exercise of the right; 

(b) a waiver of a right on one or more occasions does not operate as a waiver 

of that right if it arises again; and 

(c) the exercise of a right does not prevent any further exercise of that right or 

of any other right. 

17.11 Operation of this document 

(a) This document contains the entire agreement between the parties about its 

subject matter.  Any previous understanding, agreement, representation or 

warranty relating to that subject matter is replaced by this document and 

has no further effect. 

(b) Any right that a person may have under this document is in addition to, and 

does not replace or limit, any other right that the person may have. 

(c) Any provision of this document which is unenforceable or partly 

unenforceable is, where possible, to be severed to the extent necessary to 

make this document enforceable, unless this would materially change the 

intended effect of this document. 

17.12 Operation of indemnities 

(a) Each indemnity in this document survives the expiry or termination of this 

document. 

(b) A party may recover a payment under an indemnity in this document before 

it makes the payment in respect of which the indemnity is given. 

17.13 Inconsistency with other documents 

Unless the contrary intention is expressed, if there is an inconsistency between 

any of one or more of: 

(a) this document; 

(b) any Schedule to this document; and 

(c) the provisions of any other document of the Developer, 

the order of precedence between them will be the order listed above, this document 

having the highest level of precedence. 

17.14 No fetter 

Nothing in this document in any way restricts or otherwise affects the City’s 

unfettered discretion to exercise its statutory powers as a public authority. 

152



 

 26  

 

 

17.15 Counterparts 

This document may be executed in counterparts. 

  

153



27 

SCHEDULE 1 

Agreement Details 

ITEM TERM DESCRIPTION 

1. Land 19 Ralph Street, Alexandria (1/80272) 

2. Development New mixed use development with 18 apartments, 

6 storeys, ground floor retail and parking for 21 

cars with vehicle access to Beaconsfield Lane. 

The total Gross Floor Area of the Development on 

the Land is 1,952 square metres. 

3. City’s Representative Name:  The Director – City Planning, Development 

and Transport 

Address:  456 Kent Street, Sydney NSW 2000 

Fax number:  9265 9518 

4. Developer’s 

Representative 

Name: Jarrod White, Development Manager 

Address: 20A Danks Street, Waterloo NSW 2017 

Fax number:   

5. Development 

Application 

D/2018/156 

6. Guarantee Amount $10,685.50 

7. Guarantee Amount 

Due Date 

On the date of this Agreement 

154



 

 28  

 

 

SCHEDULE 2 

Requirements under the Act and Regulation (clause 2) 

The below table summarises how this document complies with the Act and Regulation. 

ITEM SECTION OF ACT OR 

REGULATION 

PROVISION/CLAUSE OF THIS DOCUMENT 

1.  Planning instrument and/or 

development application 

(section 7.4(1) of the Act) 

The Developer has: 

(a) sought a change to an 

environmental planning 

instrument; 

(b) made, or proposes to 

make, a Development 

Application; or 

(c) entered into an 

agreement with, or is 

otherwise associated 

with, a person, to whom 

paragraph (a) or (b) 

applies. 

 

 

 

(a) No 

 

(b) Yes 

 

(c) No 

2.  Description of land to which 

this document applies (section 

7.4(3)(a) of the Act) 

Item 1 of Schedule 1. 

3.  Description of change to the 

environmental planning 

instrument to which this 

document applies and/or the 

development to which this 

document applies (section 

7.4(3)(b) of the Act) 

The Development as described in clause 2.1. 

4.  The scope, timing and manner 

of delivery of Public Benefits 

required by this document 

(section 7.4(3)(c) of the Act) 

Schedule 3 and Annexure A. 

5.  Applicability of sections 7.11, 

7.12 or 7.24 of the Act (section 

7.4(3)(d) of the Act) 

The application of sections 7.11, 7.12 or 7.24 of 

the Act are not excluded in respect of the 

Development. 

155



 

 29  

 

 

ITEM SECTION OF ACT OR 

REGULATION 

PROVISION/CLAUSE OF THIS DOCUMENT 

6.  Applicability of section 7.11 of 

the Act (section 7.4(3)(d) of the 

Act) 

The application of section 7.11 of the Act is not 

excluded in respect of the Development and for 

the avoidance of doubt, contributions (if any) 

under section 7.11 will be required to be paid 

7.  Consideration of benefits under 

this document if section 7.11 

applies (section 7.4(3)(e) of the 

Act) 

Benefits are not to be taken into consideration 

in determining a development contribution 

under section 7.11 of the Act. 

8.  Mechanism for Dispute 

Resolution (section 7.4(3)(f) of 

the Act) 

Clause 11 

9.  Enforcement of this document 

(section 7.4(3)(g) of the Act) 

Clause 10 

10.  No obligation to grant consent 

or exercise functions (section 

7.4(9) of the Act) 

Clause 2.4 

11.  Registration of this document 

(section 7.6 of the Act) 

Clause 9 

12.  Whether certain requirements 

of this document must be 

complied with before a 

construction certificate is 

issued (clause 25E(2)(g) of the 

Regulation) 

Refer to the explanatory note 

13.  Whether certain requirements 

of this document must be 

complied with before a 

subdivision certificate is issued 

(clause 25E(2)(g) of the 

Regulation) 

Refer to the explanatory note 

14.  Whether certain requirements 

of this document must be 

complied with before an 

occupation certificate is issued 

(clause 25E(2)(g) of the 

Regulation) 

Refer to the explanatory note 

156



 

 30  

 

 

ITEM SECTION OF ACT OR 

REGULATION 

PROVISION/CLAUSE OF THIS DOCUMENT 

15.  Whether the explanatory note 

that accompanied exhibition of 

this document may be used to 

assist in construing this 

document (clause 25E(7) of the 

Regulation) 

Clause 2.5 

 

  

157



31 

SCHEDULE 3 

Public Benefits (clause 5) 

1. PUBLIC BENEFITS - OVERVIEW

The Developer must provide the Public Benefits in accordance with Schedule 3 and

this document.  The Attributed Value, timing of delivery and additional

specifications relating to the Public Benefits is set out in the table below

Public 

Benefit 

Attributed 

Value 

Due date Additional 

specifications 

1. Monetary 

Contribution 

N/A 

2. Transfer Land Nil After Completion 

but before the issue 

of the first 

Occupation 

Certificate for the 

Development. 

An area of 

approximately 30.1 

square metres but not 

less than 1m in width 

as measured 

perpendicular to the 

kerb on Beaconsfield 

Lane.  Plans showing 

the indicative location 

of the Transfer Land 

are contained in 

Annexure A to this 

document.   

3. Developer’s 

Works 

$10,685.50 Before the issue of 

the first Occupation 

Certificate for the 

Development. 

Plans and 

specifications showing 

the nature and extent 

of the required 

Developer’s Works as 

at the date of this 

document are 

contained in Annexure 

A to this document.   

4. Essential 

Infrastructure 

N/A 

2. TRANSFER LAND

2.1 Dedication of land – decision

The Developer must, at its cost, take all steps required to transfer the Transfer

Land to the City by the due date specified in clause 1 of Schedule 3.  As part of

158



 

 32  

 

 

this obligation, the Developer must confirm with the City whether the Transfer 

Land is to be:  

(a) dedicated to the City on registration of a plan of subdivision; or  

(b) transferred to the City on registration of a transfer instrument. 

2.2 Obligations on dedication 

The requirement for the Developer to dedicate the Transfer Land to the City is 

satisfied where a deposited plan is registered in the register of plans held with the 

Registrar-General that dedicates land as a public road (including a temporary 

public road) under the Roads Act 1993 (NSW) or creates a public reserve or 

drainage reserve under the Local Government Act 1993 (NSW). 

2.3 Obligations on transfer 

(a) The requirement for the Developer to transfer the Transfer Land to the City 

is satisfied where: 

(i) the City is given:  

(A) an instrument in registrable form under the Real Property Act 

1900 (NSW) duly executed by the Developer as transferor  that 

is effective to transfer the title to the Transfer Land to the City 

when executed by the City as transferee and registered; 

(B) the written consent to the registration of the transfer of any 

person whose consent is required to that registration; and  

(C) a written undertaking from any person holding the certificate of 

title to the production of the certificate of title for the purposes 

of registration of the transfer.  

(b) The Developer is to do all things reasonably necessary to enable registration 

of the instrument of transfer to occur.  

(c) The Developer must ensure that the Transfer Land is free of all 

encumbrances and affectations (whether registered or unregistered and 

including without limitation any charge or liability for rates, taxes and 

charges) except for any encumbrances agreed in writing by the City in its 

absolute discretion.  

(d) The Developer must indemnify and agree to keep indemnified the City 

against all claims made against the City as a result of any Contamination in, 

over, under or migrating from the whole or any part of the Transfer Land 

but only in relation to Contamination that existed on or before the date that 

the Transfer Land is dedicated to the City in accordance with the 

requirements of this clause. 

(e) The Developer warrants that as at the date of this deed the Transfer Land is 

not subject to any Adverse Affectation and warrants as to those matters in 

Schedule 3 of the Conveyancing (Sale of Land) Regulation 2010 (NSW), 

159



 

 33  

 

 

unless otherwise notified to and agreed by the City in writing in its absolute 

discretion.  

3. FINAL DESIGN OF THE DEVELOPER’S WORKS  

3.1 Scope of Developer’s Works 

As at the date of this document, the nature and extent of the required Developer’s 

Works is set out in Annexure A to this document.  The parties agree that further 

design refinement of the Developer’s Works may be necessary, having regard to: 

(a) the extent to which the design of the Developer’s Works has been approved 

by the City; 

(b) conditions affecting the Developer’s Works that were not reasonably capable 

of identification prior to the date of this document; 

(c) the extent of any refinement of the design of the Developer’s Works 

permitted by Schedule 3; 

(d) any modification to the Development Consent made and approved under 

section 96 of the Act or any other development consent granted that relates 

to the Developer’s Works; and 

(e) the reasonable requirements of the City, including in regard to the 

Standards. 

3.2 Final design of Developer’s Works  

(a) Within 3 months of the date of this document (or a later time approved by 

the City in writing) but prior to the issue of the first Construction Certificate 

for the Development, the Developer must submit to the City’s 

Representative for approval:  

(i) detailed design drawings of the Developer’s Works that reflect the 

plans and specifications set out in Annexure A; and 

(ii) a detailed costs estimate (certified by a Quantity Surveyor) setting 

out the estimated cost of the Developer’s Works. 

(b) Within 30 Business Days after the City’s Representative has received the 

detailed design drawings and detailed costs estimate, the City will inform 

the Developer in writing as to whether the detailed design drawings and 

costs estimate are approved.  If the detailed design drawings or costs 

estimate are not approved, the City will inform the Developer in writing of 

what further information or modifications are required and the Developer 

will have a further 15 Business Days to re-submit the required information, 

following which the process outlined in this paragraph (b) will apply again. 

(c) Regarding the costs estimate, the Developer agrees that the City may: 

(i) reject items included within the Quantity Surveyor’s Assessment 

which are not directly related to the Developer’s Works; 

160



 

 34  

 

 

(ii) require substantiation for the costs of items where the amount 

estimated is considered by the City to be excessive; 

(iii) require an adjustment to the costs estimate to reflect a variation to 

the design required under this clause 3.2 of Schedule 3. 

(d) If the Developer: 

(i) fails to prepare the detailed design drawings or detailed costs 

estimate; or 

(ii) does not provide further information or modify the detailed design 

drawings or detailed costs estimate,  

in accordance with this clause 3.2 of Schedule 3, then the City may exercise 

its rights under clause 10 of this document in order to carry out the 

Developer’s Works itself at the cost of the Developer. 

(e) The Developer agrees that the value of the Developer’s Works may be 

adjusted following completion of the process set out in this clause 3.2 of 

Schedule 3.  The Developer acknowledges that the scope of the Developer’s 

Works will not change or reduce if the costs required to complete those 

works is greater than the amount estimated at the date of this document. 

3.3 Preparation of and changes to construction design drawings 

(a) Following approval of the detailed design drawings by the City in accordance 

with clause 3.2 of Schedule 3, the Developer must promptly:  

(i) prepare construction design drawings that comply with the detailed 

design drawings; and 

(ii) provide the City with a copy of the construction design drawings. 

(b) The City, acting reasonably, may by written notice to the Developer at any 

time, approve, vary or direct the Developer to vary the construction design 

drawings so that the Developer’s Works reflect: 

(i) the Standards; 

(ii) a departure or discrepancy from the plans approved under clause 3.2 

of Schedule 3; or 

(iii) any other standard or specification for materials or methodology for 

carrying out works that is adopted by the City from time to time, 

provided that any direction given under this clause 3.3(b) of Schedule 

3 does not significantly increase: 

(A) the cost of that element of the Developer’s Works; or 

(B) the complexity of implementation of the Developer’s Works that 

may lead to a significant delay in the completion of the 

Developer’s Works. 

161



 

 35  

 

 

(c) Within 20 Business Days of receiving a notice from the City under clause 

3.3(b) of Schedule 3, the Developer must: 

(i) to the extent practicable, use reasonable endeavours to comply with 

the notice given by the City; or 

(ii) if the Developer determines that the notice given by the City is 

unreasonable or impracticable, notify a dispute in accordance with 

clause 11 of this document. 

If the Developer does not provide any response during the 20 Business Days 

after receiving a notice from the City under clause 3.3(b) of Schedule 3, it 

is deemed that the Developer accepts the notice given by the City and will 

take all steps required to comply with the notice. 

(d) The City does not assume or owe any duty of care to the Developer in 

reviewing any design drawings submitted to it under this clause (e) of 

Schedule 3 or for any errors, omissions or non-compliance with this 

document. 

(e) No participation by the City in the development of, the review of, or 

comments on any design drawings submitted by the Developer will lessen 

or otherwise affect the Developer’s obligations under this document or 

constitute an acknowledgement by the City that the Developer has complied 

with its obligations under this document. 

4. CONSTRUCTION OF DEVELOPER’S WORKS  

4.1 Insurance 

(a) From commencement of the Developer’s Works until expiration of the 

Defects Liability Period, the Developer must effect and maintain (or cause 

to be effected and maintained under one or more policies of insurance and 

without requiring any risk to be double insured) the following insurances 

held with an insurer licensed by the Australian Prudential Regulation 

Authority or holding an investment grade rating from Standard & Poors, 

Moody’s or Fitch:  

(i) worker's compensation insurance or registrations as required by 

Laws;  

(ii) public liability insurance written on an occurrence basis with a limit of 

indemnity of not less than $20,000,000 covering all aspects of the 

Developer’s Works; 

(iii) construction works insurance in relation to the Developer’s Works; 

and 

(iv) motor vehicle third party cover with a limit of indemnity of not less 

than $20 million for each and every occurrence. 

(b) The Developer must submit a copy of all certificates of insurance to the City:  

(i) prior to commencing construction of the Developer’s Works; and 

162



 

 36  

 

 

(ii) promptly following a written request by the City, provided that such a 

request is not made more than twice in any 12 month period. 

4.2 Approvals and consents 

The Developer must, at its cost, obtain all relevant approvals and consents for the 

Developer’s Works, whether from the City or from any other relevant Government 

Agency, including any necessary road opening permits.  Before commencing the 

Developer’s Works, the Developer must give to the City copies of all approvals and 

consents for the Developer’s Works, other than the Development Consent. 

4.3 Construction work 

The Developer must, at its cost: 

(a) carry out and complete the Developer’s Works in accordance with all 

approvals and consents relating to the Developer’s Works, including any 

approval given by the City under this document; 

(b) ensure that all Developer’s Works are constructed in a good and 

workmanlike manner, in accordance with the plans approved under this 

document so that the Developer’s Works are structurally sound, fit for 

purpose and suitable for their intended use; 

(c) ensure that the Developer’s Works are Complete by the due date specified 

in clause 1 of Schedule 3 and promptly after becoming aware advise the 

City’s Representative of any significant delays in completing the Developer’s 

Works or delays that may impact the delivery of the Public Benefits by the 

due date specified in clause 1 of Schedule 3; and 

(d) comply with all reasonable directions of the City in respect to construction 

of the Developer’s Works. 

4.4 Inspections by the City 

The City, as a party to this document and not in its role as a Government Agency, 

may: 

(a) inspect the Developer’s Works during the course of construction at 

reasonable times and on reasonable notice; and 

(b) notify the Developer’s Representative of any material or significant defect, 

error or omission relating to the construction or installation of the 

Developer’s Works identified during or as the result of an inspection. 

Any failure by the City to identify a Defect, error or omission will not be construed 

as amounting to an acceptance by the City of the Defect, error or omission. 

5. STANDARDS 

The following list of Standards are included for information purposes only, and as 

a guide to the relevant standards for the general nature of the work identified as 

Developer’s Works in this document.  The City makes no representation or 

warranty as to the currency of the standards identified, or their application on the 

163



 

 37  

 

 

final design of the Developer’s Works.  The Developer must make its own enquiries 

regarding whether any standard has been replaced or supplemented.  In the event 

that an Australian Standard prescribed a different level of material, finish, work or 

workmanship than those contained in a City standard, then the higher of the two 

standards will apply.  If there is a conflict between City standards then the 

Developer must request the City nominate the correct and applicable City 

standard.  The City’s decision as to the applicable standard is final. 

Relevant Australian Standards – Verge Works, Through site links 

 AS  1725 Geotechnical Site investigations 

 AS 4455 Masonry Units and segmental pavers 

 AS 4678 Earth Retaining Structures 

 AS 3600 Concrete Structures 

 AS 2876 Concrete kerbs and channels  

 AS 1158 Road Lighting  

 AS 1743 Road signs  

 AS 4282 Control of the Obtrusive Effects of Outdoor lighting 

 AS 1428  Design for Access and Mobility 

 AS 3500 Plumbing and Drainage  

 AS 3700 Masonry Structures  

 AS 2890 Parking Facilities 

 AS 4454 Composts, soil conditioners and mulches 

Relevant Australian Standards – Roads (including pedestrian areas)  

 AS  1725 Geotechnical Site investigations 

 AS 4455 Masonry Units and segmental pavers 

 AS 4678 Earth Retaining Structures 

 AS 3600 Concrete Structures 

 AS 2876 Concrete kerbs and channels  

 AS 1158 Road Lighting  

 AS 4282 Control of the Obtrusive Effects of Outdoor lighting 

 AS 1428  Design for Access and Mobility 

 AS 3500 Plumbing and Drainage  

 AS 3700 Masonry Structures  

164



 

 38  

 

 

 AS 2890 Parking Facilities 

 AS 1742 Manual of uniform traffic control devices 

 AS 1743 Road Signs 

City Standards (All Works)  

 City of Sydney Contaminated Lands DCP 2004  

 Sydney Street Code 2013 

 Sydney Lights Code  

 City of Sydney Access Policy  

 Sydney Street Technical Specification and Drawings 

 City of Sydney Street Tree Master Plan 2011 

  

165



 

 39  

 

 

ANNEXURE A 

Public Benefits – additional plans and specifications  

 

Developer’s Works 

The construction of the footpath on part of the land to be dedicated, embellished with in-

situ concrete constructed to City of Sydney Technical Specification. 

Transfer land to be remediated to a minimum depth of 1m in accordance with the approved 

Remedial Action Plan 

  

166



167



 

 41  

 

 

EXECUTED as a deed. 

 

Signed, sealed and delivered for     

THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

SYDNEY (ABN 22 636 550 790) by 

its duly authorised officer, in the 

presence of: 

  

   

   

Signature of witness  Signature of officer 

   

Name 

 

456 Kent Street, Sydney NSW 2000 

 Name of officer 

Address of witness  Position of officer 

 

 

EXECUTED by 19 RALPH STREET 

PTY LTD ABN 83 617 368 886 in 

accordance with s127(1) of the 

Corporations Act 2001 (Cth): 

 

  

   

Signature of director  Signature of director/secretary 

   

Name  Name 

 

 

168



Attachment F 

Clause 4.6 Variation Request

169



 

 

C
la

us
e 

4.
6 

– 
B

ui
ld

in
g 

H
ei

gh
t 

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
S

ta
nd

ar
d

 -
 1

9 
R

al
p

h 
S

tr
ee

t,
 A

le
xa

nd
ria

 

4 

1.1 Introduction 

This request for an exception to a development standard is submitted in respect of the development standard 

contained within Clause 4.3 of the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012. The request relates to an application 

for demolition, minor excavation and remediation works, and construction of a mixed use development 

containing 1 shop and  18 apartments at 19 Ralph Street, Alexandria. 

1.2 Clause 4.6 Exceptions to development standards 

Clause 4.6(2) of the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 provides that development consent may be granted 

for development even though the development would contravene a development standard imposed by the 

Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012, or any other environmental planning instrument.    

However, clause 4.6(3) states that development consent must not be grant for development that contravenes a 

development standard unless the consent authority has considered a written request from the applicant that 

seeks to justify the contravention of the development standard by demonstrating: 

(a) that compliance with the development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary in the circumstance of 

the case, and 

(b) there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify contravening the development standard. 

Clause 4.6 requires a qualitative merit assessment based on evaluative questions that are specific to each 

particular development application, and which must be assessed against the context of that particular site. It 

advocates an entirely performance-based approach to the assessment of each application, based upon the “the 

circumstances of the case”, and whether compliance is subjectively considered by the consent authority to be 

“unreasonable or unnecessary” in the particular circumstances. 

Clause 4.6 does not provide any quantitative or numerical limitation to cap the extent of non-compliance that 

may be approved. This conclusion has been confirmed by the Courts on a number of occasions such as the 

Court upheld decision of North Sydney Council to approve a building where the applicable FSR control was 

3.5:1 and the approved FSR was 15:1 and the applicable height control was five storeys whereas the approved 

height was 17 storeys: Legal and General Life v North Sydney MC. (1989) 68 LGRA 192. Similarly, in another 

matter the Court approved an FSR of 5:1 on a site where the allowable FSR was 1:1: Hosking Munro Pty Limited 

v City of Sydney Council [2008] NSWLEC 1485. 

In accordance with clause 4.6(3) the applicant requests that the height of buildings development standard be 

varied. 

1.3 Development Standard to be varied 

Clause 4.3 states:  

(1)  The objectives of this clause are as follows: 

(a)  to ensure the height of development is appropriate to the 

condition of the site and its context, 

(b)  to ensure appropriate height transitions between new 

development and heritage items and buildings in heritage 

conservation areas or special character areas, 

1.0 CLAUSE 4.6 REQUEST – BUILDING HEIGHT 

170



 

 

C
la

us
e 

4.
6 

– 
B

ui
ld

in
g 

H
ei

gh
t 

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
S

ta
nd

ar
d

 -
 1

9 
R

al
p

h 
S

tr
ee

t,
 A

le
xa

nd
ria

 

5 

(c)  to promote the sharing of views, 

(d)  to ensure appropriate height transitions from Central Sydney 

and Green Square Town Centre to adjoining areas, 

(2) The height of a building on any land is not to exceed the maximum 

height shown for the land on the Height of Buildings Map. 

Building height (or height of building) is defined as the vertical distance between ground level (existing) at any 

point to the highest point of the building, including plant and lift overruns, but excluding communication devices, 

antennae, satellite dishes, masts, flagpoles, chimneys, flues and the like. 

The maximum height shown for the land on the Map for the site to which the proposed building relates is 22 

metres. 

1.4 Extent of Variation to the Development Standard 

Due to the 100% site coverage of the existing building, height has been measured from the existing adjacent 

pavement level in accordance with the principle established in such circumstances by Bettar v Council of the 

City of Sydney 2014 NSWLEC 1070.  

The development complies with the 22 metre height control with the exception of the following components: 

• structures associated with the rooftop terraces including screening and access to those structures  

• vertical circulation cores 

• roof plant and maintenance structures including screening 

These structures have a maximum height of 22.54 metres. 

1.5 Clause 4.6(3)(a) Is compliance with the development standard unreasonable or unnecessary in the 

circumstances of the case? 

Historically the most commonly invoked way to establish that a development standard was unreasonable or 

unnecessary was satisfaction of the first test of the five set out in Wehbe v Pittwater Council. [2007] NSWLEC 

827 which requires that the objectives of the standard are achieved notwithstanding the non-compliance with 

the standard.  

The Land and Environment Court in Four2Five Pty Ltd v Ashfield Council [2015] NSWLEC 90 has recently 

required additional ways of establishing that compliance is unreasonable or unnecessary beyond consistency 

with the standard and zone objectives to be established. For completeness, this request addresses the five part 

test described in Wehbe v Pittwater Council [2007] NSWLEC 827, followed by a concluding position which 

demonstrates that compliance with the development standard is unreasonable and unnecessary in the 

circumstances of the case: 

1. the objectives of the standard are achieved notwithstanding non-compliance with the standard; 

The specific objectives of the building height development standard, as specified in clause 4.3 of the 

Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 are identified below.  A comment on the proposal’s consistency 

with each objective is also provided. 

(a)  to ensure the height of development is appropriate to the 

condition of the site and its context, 

171



 

 

C
la

us
e 

4.
6 

– 
B

ui
ld

in
g 

H
ei

gh
t 

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
S

ta
nd

ar
d

 -
 1

9 
R

al
p

h 
S

tr
ee

t,
 A

le
xa

nd
ria

 

6 

Careful consideration has been given to the location, size and design of the proposed development to 

ensure that a high quality outcome will be achieved which will sit comfortably within the streetscape of 

Ralph Street, Shirley Street and Beaconsfield Lane and be consistent with the emerging character of 

development within the vicinity of the site. The majority of the development complies with the 22 metre 

height control and the variation relates to the structures associated with the roof top terraces that provide 

amenity to the residential apartments. The proposal presents as an appropriate scale to the condition of 

the site and its emerging context.  

(b)  to ensure appropriate height transitions between new development 

and heritage items and buildings in heritage conservation areas or 

special character areas, 

The site does not contain a heritage item nor is it located within a heritage conservation area or special 

character area. The site is not located in the vicinity of any heritage items or heritage conservation areas. 

The height of the proposed development is appropriate in the context of the anticipated built form 

character envisaged for the area.  

(c)  to promote the sharing of views, 

The proposed development will not impact on any scenic or iconic views.  

(d)  to ensure appropriate height transitions from Central Sydney and 

Green Square Town Centre to adjoining areas, 

Not applicable.   

2. the underlying objective or purpose of the standard is not relevant to the development and 

therefore compliance is unnecessary; 

The underlying objectives and purpose of the height controls are relevant to the proposed development. 

However, the proposed development is consistent with those objectives on the basis that the proposed 

height is compatible with the existing and future scale of the surrounding buildings and will sit comfortably 

with the context of the site with no significant adverse impacts to adjacent properties. 

3. the underlying object of purpose would be defeated or thwarted if compliance was required and 

therefore compliance is unreasonable; 

The underlying objective of the height control is to achieve an appropriate height on the site which is 

compatible with the context of the site and maintains or improves views across the site, provides a 

transition to adjacent properties and preserves the privacy of adjacent properties. Due to the design, 

location and configuration of the proposed building envelope, the proposal successfully achieves these 

objectives. Strict compliance with the height control would not reduce the impact of the development on 

the streetscape or neighbouring properties and would provide reduced amenity to occupants of the 

development. Accordingly, it is considered that strict compliance would likely result in the defeat of the 

underlying object and purpose of the height control because it would encourage a less desirable outcome 

for the site. 

4. the development standard has been virtually abandoned or destroyed by the Council's own 

actions in granting consents departing from the standard and hence compliance with the standard 

is unnecessary and unreasonable; 

172



 

 

C
la

us
e 

4.
6 

– 
B

ui
ld

in
g 

H
ei

gh
t 

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
S

ta
nd

ar
d

 -
 1

9 
R

al
p

h 
S

tr
ee

t,
 A

le
xa

nd
ria

 

7 

Council has historically adopted a relatively flexible approach to the implementation of the height control 

in circumstances where the objectives of the control are achieved, particularly where the variation is 

minor.  

5. the zoning of the particular land is unreasonable or inappropriate so that a development standard 

appropriate for that zoning is also unreasonable and unnecessary as it applies to the land and 

compliance with the standard would be unreasonable or unnecessary.  That is, the particular 

parcel of land should not have been included in the particular zone. 

Strict compliance with the maximum 11m height of buildings development standard is considered to be 

unnecessary and unreasonable in the circumstance of this site as discussed below: 

• The basis for the increase in height is to provide roof top open space areas which enjoy solar access.  

• The elements of the development which exceed 22 metres are unlikely to be visible from the public 

domain because they are setback from the edges of the street wall.  

• The variation in building height is in part attributed to the need to incorporate design measures to 

ameliorate potential impacts from flooding as well as a desire to provide superior amenity to the residential 

apartments in terms of access to sunlight, daylight and ventilation. 

• A solar analysis prepared by SJB Architects accompanies the subject application and demonstrates that 

the proposed areas of non-compliance do not result in any meaningful difference compared to a 

compliant height.  

• There are no unreasonable impacts in terms of overshadowing, views, visual and acoustic privacy 

impacts to adjacent sites resulting from the proposed variation to the height development standard which 

would warrant strict compliance.  

• The proposed variation allows for the most efficient and economic use of the land. 

• Strict compliance with the development standard would result in an inflexible application of the control 

that would not deliver any additional benefits to the owners or occupants of the surrounding properties 

or the general public.  

• Having regard to the planning principle established in the matter of Project Venture Developments v 

Pittwater Council [2005] NSWLEC 191 most observers would not find the proposed development 

offensive, jarring or unsympathetic to its location and the proposed development will be compatible with 

its context. 

1.6 Clause 4.6(3)(b) Are there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify contravening the 

development standard? 

The proposed distribution of built form and massing of the building across the site is the result of a considered 

analysis of the site and surrounding context and the desire to deliver a positive urban design outcome with a 

high level of architectural merit and residential amenity. 

The proposed development has been specifically designed as a robust architectural solution for the site which 

will result in a high quality development that will sit comfortably within the streetscapes of Ralph Street, Shirley 

Street and Beaconsfield Lane.  

The scale of the proposed development does not result in any unreasonable impacts on the surrounding 

properties in terms of loss of solar access, loss of privacy or visual impact. The architectural package includes 

a solar access analysis which demonstrates that the proposed scale of the development will not unreasonably 

overshadow development on surrounding properties. 

173



 

 

C
la

us
e 

4.
6 

– 
B

ui
ld

in
g 

H
ei

gh
t 

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
S

ta
nd

ar
d

 -
 1

9 
R

al
p

h 
S

tr
ee

t,
 A

le
xa

nd
ria

 

8 

The scale of the building will not be perceived as jarring or antipathetic in the existing urban design context of 

the site and represents a scale which is reasonably contemplated by the planning controls which apply to the 

site, particularly given the minor nature of the non-compliance.  

Strict compliance with the development standard would result in an inflexible application of the control that would 

not deliver any additional benefits to the owners or occupants of the surrounding properties or the general public 

and in this particular circumstance there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to warrant the proposed 

variation to the current height control as the proposal will achieve a superior outcome with a higher level of 

residential amenity within the site and without any significant adverse impact to adjacent sites. 

1.7 Clause 4.6(4)(a)(i) consent authority satisfied that this written request has adequately addressed 

the matters required to be demonstrated by Clause 4.6(3) 

Clause 4.6(4)(a)(i) states that development consent must not be granted for development that contravenes a 

development standard unless the consent authority is satisfied that the applicant’s written request has 

adequately addressed the matters required to be demonstrated by subclause (3). 

These matters are comprehensively addressed above in this written request with reference to the five part test 

described in Wehbe v Pittwater Council. [2007] NSWLEC 827 for consideration of whether compliance with a 

development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary in the circumstances of the case. In addition, the 

establishment of environmental planning grounds is provided, with reference to the matters specific to the 

proposal and site, sufficient to justify contravening the development standard. 

1.8 Clause 4.6(4)(a)(ii) consent authority satisfied that the proposal is in the public interest because it 

is consistent with the zone and development standard objectives 

Clause 4.6(4)(a)(ii) states that development consent must not be granted for development that contravenes a 

development standard unless the consent authority is satisfied that the proposed development will be in the 

public interest because it is consistent with the objectives of the particular standard and the objectives for 

development within the zone in which the development is proposed to be carried out. 

Whilst the objectives of the development standard have already been addressed previously in this written 

request, for the purpose of completeness these objectives are again considered below in specific reference to 

Clause 4.6(4)(a)(ii) 

Objective of the Development Standard 

The specific objectives of the building height development standard, as specified in clause 4.3 of the 

Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 are identified below. A comment on the proposal’s consistency 

with each objective is also provided. 

(a)  to ensure the height of development is appropriate to the 

condition of the site and its context, 

Careful consideration has been given to the location, size and design of the proposed development to 

ensure that a high quality outcome will be achieved which will sit comfortably within the streetscape of 

Ralph Street, Shirley Street and Beaconsfield Lane and be consistent with the emerging character of 

development within the vicinity of the site. The majority of the development complies with the 22 metre 

height control and the variation relates to the structures associated with the roof top terraces that provide 

174



 

 

C
la

us
e 

4.
6 

– 
B

ui
ld

in
g 

H
ei

gh
t 

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
S

ta
nd

ar
d

 -
 1

9 
R

al
p

h 
S

tr
ee

t,
 A

le
xa

nd
ria

 

9 

amenity to the residential apartments. The proposal presents as an appropriate scale to the condition of 

the site and its emerging context.  

(b)  to ensure appropriate height transitions between new development 

and heritage items and buildings in heritage conservation areas or 

special character areas, 

The site does not contain a heritage item nor is it located within a heritage conservation area or special 

character area. The site is not located in the vicinity of any heritage items or heritage conservation areas. 

The height of the proposed development is appropriate in the context of the anticipated built form 

character envisaged for the area.  

 (c)  to promote the sharing of views, 

The proposed development will not impact on any scenic or iconic views.  

(d)  to ensure appropriate height transitions from Central Sydney and 

Green Square Town Centre to adjoining areas, 

Not applicable. 

Objectives of the Zone 

Clause 4.6(4) also requires consideration of the relevant zone objectives. The site is located within the B4 

Mixed Use zone which has the following objectives: 

• To provide a mixture of compatible land uses. 

• To integrate suitable business, office, residential, retail and 

other development in accessible locations so as to maximise 

public transport patronage and encourage walking and cycling. 

• To ensure uses support the viability of centres. 

The proposed mixed use development is a permissible use within the zone and is compatible with the 

surrounding land uses. The proposed development provides a genuine mixture of non-residential and 

residential uses which are compatible and complementary with one another. In particular, the proposed 

use replaces an industrial use and is compatible with the emerging residential character. 

The site is within close proximity to both Green Square and Mascot train stations as well as numerous 

bus services which will maximise public transport patronage as well as encouraging walking and cycling.  

For these reasons the proposal is considered to be consistent with the objectives of the B4 zone in that 

it provides appropriately for a mixture of compatible land uses. 

 

The proposal has been demonstrated to be consistent with both the objectives of the building height 

development standard as well as the objectives of the zone and therefore the consent authority can be 

satisfied that the proposal is in the public interest. Furthermore, the public interest is appropriately served 

by maximising the provision of larger apartments provided by the development, within the identified 

environmental capacity of the site, to ensure that it optimises the value of the existing nearby public 

transport infrastructure within this strategically important location. 

175



 

 

C
la

us
e 

4.
6 

– 
B

ui
ld

in
g 

H
ei

gh
t 

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
S

ta
nd

ar
d

 -
 1

9 
R

al
p

h 
S

tr
ee

t,
 A

le
xa

nd
ria

 

10 

1.9 Clause 4.6(5) Secretary Considerations 

The matters for consideration under Clause 4.6(5) are addressed below: 

(5)  In deciding whether to grant concurrence, the Secretary must 

consider: 

(a)  whether contravention of the development standard raises any 

matter of significance for State or regional environmental planning, 

The contravention of the standard does not raise any matters of significance for state or regional environmental 

planning. The development does not impact upon or have implications for any state policies in the locality or 

impacts which would be considered to be of state or regional significance. 

(5)  In deciding whether to grant concurrence, the Secretary must 

consider: 

(b)  the public benefit of maintaining the development standard, 

This Clause 4.6 request has demonstrated there are significant environmental planning benefits associated with 

the contravention of the standard. There is no material impact or benefit associated with strict adherence to the 

development standard and in my view, there is no compelling reason or public benefit derived from maintenance 

of the standard.  

1.10 Objectives of Clause 4.6 

The specific objectives of Clause 4.6 are: 

(a)  to provide an appropriate degree of flexibility in applying 

certain development standards to particular development, 

(b)  to achieve better outcomes for and from development by allowing 

flexibility in particular circumstances. 

The architectural package prepared by SJB Architects which accompanies the subject application illustrates the 

relationship of the proposed development within the context of the site. It demonstrates a high quality outcome 

for the site which will result in the delivery of a residential development which is compatible with the emerging 

character of development in this location.  

Requiring strict compliance with the height of buildings development standard on the subject site would result 

in an inferior built form that would contextually be essentially no different from the proposed development and 

would not result in any benefit to the streetscape or the amenity of adjoining properties. In this regard requiring 

compliance would not deliver a better development outcome as it will preserve the continuity of the architectural 

form along the site and will enhance the residential amenity within the development. 

Accordingly, it is considered that the consent authority can be satisfied that the proposal meets objective 1(a) of 

Clause 4.6 in that allowing flexibility in relation to the height of buildings development standard will achieve a 

better urban design outcome in this instance in accordance with objective 1(b).  

176



 

 

C
la

us
e 

4.
6 

– 
B

ui
ld

in
g 

H
ei

gh
t 

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
S

ta
nd

ar
d

 -
 1

9 
R

al
p

h 
S

tr
ee

t,
 A

le
xa

nd
ria

 

11 

1.11 Conclusion 

Strict compliance with the height of buildings development standard contained within clause 4.3 of the Sydney 

Local Environmental Plan 2012 has been found to be unreasonable and unnecessary in the circumstances of 

the case.  In addition there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify the proposed variation. In this 

regard it is reasonable and appropriate to vary the height of buildings development standard to the extent 

proposed. 

 

 

177



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Development Application: 174 St Johns Road, Glebe 

File No.: D/2019/22 

Summary 

Date of Submission: 11 January 2019 

Applicant: Mr V. P Singh 

Architect/Designer: Wahbe Drafting 

Developer: Mr V. P Singh 

Owner: Mr. J. Pignone 

Cost of Works: $33,715.00 

Zoning: B1 Neighbourhood Centre. The land use being proposed is 
a food and drink premises which is permissible with 
consent.  

Proposal Summary: The application seeks consent for a new fitout of an 
unlicensed café/restaurant (food and drink premises), 
including renovation of the existing kitchen, bar area, 
external facade and amenities. Installation of a new pizza 
oven and signage including painted window signs and 
awning fascia sign.  

Proposed capacity of 42 patrons and six employees with a 
total capacity of 48 persons. Proposed hours of operation 
7.00am - 10.00pm Monday to Saturday and 8.00am -
10.00pm Sundays.  

The application is referred to the Local Planning Panel for 
determination as the landowner is a member of council 
staff who is principally involved in the exercise of council's 
functions under the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act 1979.  

The application was notified for a period of 14 days from 
22 January 2019 to 6 February 2019. One submission was 
received. The issues raised relate to the operation and 
management of the premises, signage and materials and 
finishes.  

1

Item 8.



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Proposal Summary 
(continued): 

The proposal is generally compliant with relevant planning 
controls and results in a restoration of the existing built 
form that preserves the heritage significance of the 
conservation area and is consistent with the desired future 
character of the locality. 

Summary Recommendation: The development application is recommended for 
approval, subject to conditions. 

Development Controls: (i) Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 (Gazetted 14 
December 2012, as amended) 

(ii) Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 (in force on 
14 December 2012, as amended) 

Attachments: A. Recommended Conditions of Consent 

B. Selected Drawings 

  

2



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Recommendation 

It is resolved that consent be granted to Development Application No. D/2019/22 subject to 
the conditions set out in Attachment A to the subject report. 

Reason for Recommendation 

The application is recommended for approval for the following reasons: 

(A) The application is consistent with the objectives of the B1 Neighbourhood Centre zone 
applicable under the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012.  

(B) The proposal will have no significant adverse impacts on the environment and will not 
be detrimental to the public interest, subject to appropriate conditions.  

 

  

3



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Background 

The Site and Surrounding Development 

1. A site visit was carried out by staff on 26 February 2019. 

2. The site has a legal description of Lot 1 DP 973528 and is commonly known as 174 St 
Johns Road, Glebe.  

3. The site is rectangular, with area of approximately 230sqm. It has a primary street 
frontage to St Johns Road. The site is located close to the intersection of St Johns 
Road and Forest Street. The site contains a two storey mixed use building with ground 
floor retail which is the subject of this application and a residential use on the first floor.   

4. Surrounding land uses are residential and commercial in nature consistent with the B1 
Neighbourhood Centre zone which applies to the immediate locality along St Johns 
Road between Ross Street and Lodge Street. The built form includes single and two 
storey mixed use buildings, with these building typically comprising ground floor retail 
shops and commercial uses, and residential use above. At the corner of St Johns 
Road and Lodge Street to the northeast is the Nags Head Hotel with Glebe Town Hall 
on the opposite street corner. On the opposite side of St Johns Road is single and two 
storey residential attached dwellings and single storey commercial premises. 

5. The site is not a heritage item but is located within the Hereford and Forest Lodge 
Conservation Area (CA33). 

6. Photos of the site and surrounds are provided below at Figures 1 to 8, inclusive: 

 

Figure 1: Aerial image of subject site and surrounding area 

4



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

 

Figure 2: Site viewed from St Johns Road looking southeast. 

 

Figure 3: Looking north towards the opposite side of St Johns Road. 

5



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 4: Looking west along St Johns Road to commercial developments adjoining the subject site.  

 

Figure 5: Looking east along St Johns Road to mixed use developments adjoining the subject site.  

6



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 6: Internal view of the front room and dining area.  

 

Figure 7: Internal view of the kitchen and storage area. Disabled access door shown in foreground 
via side passageway providing level access to main dining area.  

7



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 8: View along the side passageway on the western boundary where the exhaust flue for the 
pizza oven will be fixed to the external building facade adjoining the existing exhaust system.   

Proposal 

7. The application seeks consent for a new fitout of an unlicensed café/restaurant (food 
and drink premises), including renovation of the existing kitchen, bar area, external 
facade and amenities. Installation of a new pizza oven and signage including painted 
window signs and awning fascia sign.  

8. Existing kitchen upgrades include: 

(a) Installation of new kitchen equipment including refrigeration, gas stove, under 
bench dishwasher, sinks and benches. 

(b) Repairs to existing tiles and upgrading of floor surfaces and installation of 
partition walls for shelving and storage. 

(c) An opening of approximately 800mm x 1600 mm to be constructed in the existing 
partition wall between the existing kitchen and café bench servery to improve 
natural ventilation to the kitchen.  

(d) Installation of a gas oven (with option for wood fire) for baking pizza and bread. 
The freestanding oven unit will be located adjacent to the cafe bench on the 
western wall, fitted with an external flue. The oven unit is constructed from heat 
resistant cement and refractory/fire brick. The flue penetration will be directly to 
the western building wall extending 1.2m above the existing roof line and setback 
over 13m from St Johns Road behind the existing parapet.  

(e) All trade waste to be managed by existing grease arrestor operating on site.  

8



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

9. Repairs to the external building facade presenting to St Johns Road include removal of 
the painted surfaces to the existing tiled wall and restoration of tiled wall facade. 
Repair and painting of the awning and brick wall underneath the awning in Dulux 
'tinker' grey. Restoration of the existing brass framed bay windows. 

10. Proposed capacity of 42 patrons and six employees with a total capacity of 48. 
Proposed hours of operation 7.00am - 10.00pm Monday to Saturday and 8.00am -
10.00pm Sundays.  

11. The new business identification signage includes: 

(a) Installation of the business name on the awning fascia fronting St Johns Road 
“Pizze Baby” in solid polished brass screw mounted letters. Signage will be 
centred on the awning facade and will measure 20 cm x 180 cm. 

(b) One business logo will be rendered in each bay window as gold leaf fine 
scripting in old gold, with transparent background. Each gold leaf logo will 
measure 700 mm x 200 mm. Refer to Attachment B- Selected Drawings for 
details.   

12. Plans of the proposed development are provided below at Figures 9 to 11, inclusive. 

 

Figure 9: Proposed ground floor plan.  

9



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 10: Proposed western elevation. External building facade presenting to side passageway. 

 

Figure 11: Photomontage of the front elevation presenting to St Johns Road including signage and 
restoration works to the tiled facade and painted brick surfaces underneath the awning. 

10



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

History Relevant to the Development Application 

13. On 19 March 1996 development application, D/1996/53 was approved by Leichhardt 
Municipal Council for use as a café and computer room. The approved capacity was 
for a maximum of three employees and 26 seated patrons. The approved hours of 
operations were 7.00am-10.00pm Mondays to Saturdays inclusive and 10.00am-
10.00pm Sundays.  

Economic/Social/Environmental Impacts 

14. The application has been assessed under Section 4.15 of the Environmental Planning 
and Assessment Act 1979, including consideration of the following matters: 

(a) Environmental Planning Instruments and DCPs. 

State Environmental Planning Policy No 64—Advertising and Signage 

15. The application proposes the following signage: 

(a) Installation of the business name on the awning fascia fronting St Johns Road 
detailing the business name “Pizze Baby” in solid polished brass screw mounted 
letters. Signage will be centred on the awning facade and will measure 20 cm x 
180 cm. 

(b) One business logo will be rendered in each bay window as gold leaf fine 
scripting in old gold, with transparent background. Each gold leaf logo will 
measure 700 mm x 200 mm. 

16. SEPP 64 was gazetted on 16 March 2001 and aims to ensure that outdoor advertising 
is compatible with the desired amenity and visual character of an area, provides 
effective communication in suitable locations and is of high quality design and finish. 

17. Clause 8 of SEPP 64 states the following: 

A consent authority must not grant development consent to an application to display 
signage unless the consent authority is satisfied: 

(a) that the signage is consistent with the objectives of this Policy as set out in 
clause 3 (1) (a), and 

(b) that the signage the subject of the application satisfies the assessment criteria 
specified in Schedule 1. 

Assessment Criteria 

18. The following table outlines the manner in which the proposed signage addresses the 
assessment criteria of SEPP64. 

  

11



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

1. Character of the area Comment 

Is the proposal compatible with the 
existing or desired future character of 
the area or locality in which it is 
proposed to be located? 

The proposal is considered to be generally 
consistent with the commercial character of the 
neighbourhood centre and other examples of 
signage along St Johns Road within the 
heritage conservation area.  

Is the proposal consistent with a 
particular theme for outdoor advertising 
in the area or locality? 

The proposal is consistent with the retail and 
commercial signage within the surrounding 
area. The placement of the signage on the 
fascia of the awning and front windows is 
consistent with adjoining commercial uses. 

 

2. Special areas Comment 

Does the proposal detract from the 
amenity or visual quality of any 
environmentally sensitive areas, 
heritage areas, natural or other 
conservation areas, open space areas, 
waterways, rural landscapes or 
residential areas? 

The proposal is consistent with the retail and 
commercial character of development within the 
area. The location of the proposed signage 
does not detract from the visual amenity of the 
locality. The signage is fixed and not 
illuminated.  

 

3. Views and vistas Comment 

Does the proposal obscure or 
compromise important views? 

No, all signage is flush with the existing awning 
and windows.  

Does the proposal dominate the skyline 
and reduce the quality of vistas? 

No, the signage is consistent with the scale of 
signage within the neighbourhood centre. 

Does the proposal respect the viewing 
rights of other advertisers? 

Yes, the signage is within the dimensions of the 
existing awning and occupies less than 50% of 
the front windows. The location of the signage 
does not obscure any sightlines to adjoining 
commercial uses.  

 

4. Streetscape, setting or landscape Comment 

Is the scale, proportion and form of the 
proposal appropriate for the 
streetscape, setting or landscape? 

Yes, the signage results in an appropriate scale 
and form consistent with the neighbourhood 
centre.  

12



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

4. Streetscape, setting or landscape Comment 

Does the proposal contribute to the 
visual interest of the streetscape, 
setting or landscape? 

Yes the signage is consistent with the heritage 
conservation area in its style and location.  

Does the proposal reduce clutter by 
rationalising and simplifying existing 
advertising? 

The proposed signage replaces the existing 
signage. Signage on the side face of the awning 
is to be removed with only one sign proposed 
on the front face of the awning.  

Does the proposal screen 
unsightliness? 

The restoration works to the front facade will 
improve its streetscape presentation. The 
signage will complement these restoration 
works.  

Does the proposal protrude above 
buildings, structures or tree canopies in 
the area or locality? 

No 

Does the proposal require ongoing 
vegetation management? 

No 

 

5. Site and building Comment 

Is the proposal compatible with the 
scale, proportion and other 
characteristics of the site or building, or 
both, on which the proposed signage is 
to be located? 

Yes, the proposed signage is consistent with 
adjoining commercial premises in its scale and 
proportions addressing the heritage 
conservation area, subject to conditions 
requiring the proposal on the front face of the 
awning being amended to a painted sign rather 
than fixed metal lettering  

Does the proposal respect important 
features of the site or building, or both? 

Yes, the signage is modest in scale and is not 
projecting beyond the existing awning. The 
signage is not illuminated or flashing but rather 
wall mounted lettering and painted onto the 
window face.  

Does the proposal show innovation and 
imagination in its relationship to the site 
or building, or both? 

Yes, the style of the signage is sympathetic to 
the heritage conservation area.  

 
  

13



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

6. Associated devices & logos with 
advertisements & advertising 
structures 

Comment 

Have any safety devices, platforms, 
lighting devices or logos been designed 
as an integral part of the signage or 
structure on which it is to be displayed? 

No 

 

7. Illumination Comment 

Would illumination result in 
unacceptable glare? 

No illumination is proposed.  

Would illumination affect safety for 
pedestrians, vehicles or aircraft? 

Would illumination detract from the 
amenity of any residence or other form 
of accommodation? 

Can the intensity of the illumination be 
adjusted, if necessary? 

Is the illumination subject to a curfew? 

 

8. Safety Comment 

Would the proposal reduce the safety 
for any public road? 

No the location of the signage would not impact 
on the safety of St Johns Road.  

Would the proposal reduce the safety 
for pedestrians or bicyclists? 

Would the proposal reduce the safety 
for pedestrians, particularly children, by 
obscuring sightlines from public areas? 

19. The proposed signage is generally consistent with the aims and objectives of Clause 3 
of SEPP64 being compatible with the desired amenity and visual character of the local 
neighbourhood centre and as such, is supported. 

Sydney Regional Environmental Plan (Sydney Harbour Catchment) 2005 (Deemed 
SEPP) 

20. The site is located within the designated hydrological catchment of Sydney Harbour 
and is subject to the provisions of the above SREP. 

14



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

21. The Sydney Harbour Catchment Planning Principles must be considered in the 
carrying out of development within the catchment. The key relevant principles include: 

(a) protect and improve hydrological, ecological and geomorphologic processes; 

(b) consider cumulative impacts of development within the catchment; 

(c) improve water quality of urban runoff and reduce quantity and frequency of urban 
run-off; and 

(d) protect and rehabilitate riparian corridors and remnant vegetation. 

22. The site is within the Sydney Harbour Catchment and eventually drains into the 
Harbour. However, the site is not located in the Foreshores Waterways Area or 
adjacent to a waterway and therefore, with the exception of the objective of improved 
water quality, the objectives of the SREP are not applicable to the proposed 
development.  

23. The development is consistent with the controls contained with the deemed SEPP. 

Sydney LEP 2012 

24. The site is located within the B1 Neighbourhood Centre zone. The proposed use is 
defined as a food and drink premises and is permissible.  

25. The relevant matters to be considered under Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 
for the proposed development are outlined below. 

15



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Compliance Tables 

Development Control Compliance Comment 

4.3 Height of Buildings Yes A maximum height of 12m is permitted. 

The application does not seek consent 
to modify the existing height of the 
building. The height of the proposed flue 
system is excluded from the definition of 
building height under the Sydney LEP 
2012.  

building height (or height of building) 
means: 

(a)  in relation to the height of a building 
in metres—the vertical distance from 
ground level (existing) to the highest 
point of the building, or 

(b)  in relation to the RL of a building—
the vertical distance from the Australian 
Height Datum to the highest point of the 
building, including plant and lift overruns, 
but excluding communication devices, 
antennae, satellite dishes, masts, 
flagpoles, chimneys, flues and the like. 

4.4 Floor Space Ratio Yes A maximum FSR of 1.5:1 is permitted. 

The application does not seek consent 
for any additional floor space. 

5.9 Preservation of trees or 
vegetation 

Yes The proposal is acceptable in terms of 
tree preservation as the proposal will 
have no impact on any trees 

5.10 Heritage conservation Yes The subject site is located within a 
heritage conservation area. See 
discussion under Issues heading. 

 

Part 6 Local Provisions - 
Height and Floor Space  

Compliance Comment 

Division 4 Design excellence Yes The proposed development satisfies the 
requirements of this provision 
particularly with the restoration works 
proposed to the front facade. 

16



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Sydney DCP 2012 

26. The relevant matters to be considered under Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 
for the proposed development are outlined below. 

2. Locality Statements – Glebe and Forest Lodge 

The subject site is located in the Ross Street locality. The proposed fit out, restoration 
works and signage to the ground floor food and drink premises is considered to be in 
keeping with the unique character of the area and design principles in that it continues to 
serve the local needs within the neighbourhood centre without impacting on the pedestrian 
and vehicular access provided through to Forest Lodge via St Johns Road. The retention 
of the awning maintains pedestrian amenity and weather protection along the streetscape.  

 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

3.1 Public Domain Elements Yes The proposed development will make a 
positive contribution to the public domain 
by maintaining the awning to the 
streetscape and restoring the original 
facade detailing. 

3.2 Defining the Public Domain Yes The proposed development will have a 
positive impact on the public domain by 
ensuring adequate sun access to 
publicly accessible spaces is 
maintained. 

3.5 Urban Ecology Yes The proposed development does not 
involve the removal of any trees and will 
not adversely impact on the local urban 
ecology. 

3.6 Ecologically Sustainable 
Development 

Yes The proposal satisfies the environmental 
requirements. The cooking appliances 
do not rely on wood or other solid fuel. 

3.9 Heritage Yes The existing building is located within a 
heritage conservation area, see 
discussion under the heading Issues. 

17



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

3.10 Significant Architectural 
Building Types 

Yes The shopfront is significant in its 
detailing and in accordance with Section 
3.10.4 the characteristic elements 
including the bay window on the first 
floor and detailed parapet will be 
maintained.  The restoration of the tiled 
facade and brass framed windows will 
improve the aesthetic quality of the built 
form as it presents to St Johns Road.   

3.11 Transport and Parking Yes The site currently does not have any off 
street parking. The current proposal 
does not seek to alter this arrangement. 
The proposal does not seek consent to 
alter any on street parking 
arrangements.  

3.12 Accessible Design Yes The subject site currently provides 
appropriate access and facilities for 
persons with disabilities in accordance 
with the DCP and the BCA.  

3.13 Social and Environmental 
Responsibilities 

Yes The proposed development provides 
adequate passive surveillance and is 
generally designed in accordance with 
the CPTED principles and will be subject 
to conditions. 

3.14 Waste Yes A condition has been recommended for 
the proposed development to comply 
with the relevant provisions of the City of 
Sydney Guidelines for Waste 
Management in New Development. 

3.15 Late Night Trading 
Management 

Yes The proposed hours of operation are 
between 7.00am and 10.00pm Mondays 
to Saturdays inclusive and 8.00am to 
10.00pm on Sundays, which does not 
constitute late night trading under the 
DCP. The proposed hours of operation 
are considered to be acceptable. See 
discussion on trading hours under 
heading Issues.  

3.16 Signage and Advertising Yes The proposed development includes 
signage. See discussion in the heading 
Issues. 

18



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

3.16.1 Signage Strategy Yes A waiver to the signage strategy has 
been sought as it is considered the 
proposal is minor in nature, and satisfies 
the objectives of the DCP in relation to 
signage. 

 

4. Development Types 

4.2 Residential flat, 
commercial and mixed use 
developments 

Compliance Comment 

4.2.1 Building height Yes The site has a maximum height of two 
storeys. The proposal does not seek to 
alter the overall height of the existing 
building. 

4.2.2 Building setbacks Yes The proposal does not seek to alter the 
existing building setbacks.  

4.2.3 Amenity Yes The proposed works will improve the 
functioning of the food and drink 
premises on the ground floor consistent 
with existing commercial uses within the 
local neighbourhood centre.  

4.2.4 Fine grain, architectural 
diversity and articulation 

Yes The restoration works will re-establish 
traditional materials and finishes on the 
front facade.  

4.2.6 Waste minimisation Yes Conditions have been recommended to 
address the commercial waste 
operation.  

4.2.7 Heating and Cooling 
Infrastructure 

Yes The proposal seeks consent for the 
external flue system to support the pizza 
oven. The location and design of the flue 
system is consistent with the provisions 
subject to recommended conditions.  

  

19



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Issues 

Late Night Trading 

27. The proposed restaurant is identified as a Category B – Low Impact Premises under 
Section 3.15 of the DCP.  

28. The site is not located within an identified Late Night Trading Area under the DCP. The 
proposed trading hours of 7.00am to 10.00pm Mondays to Saturdays inclusive and 
8.00am to 10.00pm on Sunday do not constitute late night trading under the DCP. 
Nevertheless, a merit assessment has been undertaken with regard to the proposed 
hours.  

29. The proposed trading hours are generally consistent with similar food and drinks 
premises in vicinity of the site. The adjoining site at 172 St Johns Road, Glebe was 
granted consent on 6 September 2004 under D/2004/931 and subsequent modification 
applications for use of the ground floor as a florist and restaurant with associated floral 
arrangement classes. The approved hours of operation are 7:00am to 6:00pm Monday 
to Wednesday, 7:00am to 10:30pm Thursday, Friday and Saturday and 7:00am to 
4:00pm on Sunday. 

30. On 19 March 1996 development application, D/1996/53 was approved for use as a 
café and computer room. The approved hours of operations were 7.00am-10.00pm 
Mondays to Saturdays inclusive and 10.00am-10.00pm Sundays.  

31. The proposed hours of operation only seek an additional two hours on Sunday 
mornings from 8.00am- 10.00am beyond the previously approved hours. Given the 
operating hours of adjoining premises an opening time of 8.00am on Sundays is 
considered to be acceptable within the local neighbourhood centre.  

32. A trial period for the proposed hours is not considered necessary as Council’s DCP 
does not treat indoor trading until 10.00pm as late night trading. Furthermore the 
premises does not have a liquor licence or propose any outdoor seating which may 
impact on the amenity of surrounding residential development. Given the minor nature 
of the proposed use and its low impact to the immediate locality the proposal is 
supported.  

Heritage 

33. The site is located within a Conservation Area and is therefore subject to the heritage 
provisions of this DCP. The proposal generally complies with the relevant aims, 
objectives and provisions of the Sydney DCP 2012. The materials and detailing of the 
signage is appropriate to the surrounding buildings and the conservation area. 

34. The City's Heritage Specialist supports the proposed colour scheme and signage with 
the exception of the solid polished brass screw mounted letters proposed on the front 
face of the awning.  The City's Heritage Specialist recommends that the brass letters 
be modified to a painted finish to be consistent with fascia signage on adjoining 
buildings within the heritage conservation area. This design modification has been 
recommended within the conditions in Attachment A.  

Signage 

35. A signage strategy would normally be required as the site is located within a heritage 
conservation area, however given the scale of the signage proposed being minor in 
nature and its consistency with the objectives of the SDCP 2012 a waiver from this 
requirement is supported.  

20



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

36. The proposed signage is compatible with the materials and finishes of the building and 
adjoining commercial uses within the neighbourhood centre.  

37. The signage is limited to the awning fascia and front windows which results in an 
acceptable visual presentation to the streetscape clearly articulating the use without 
compromising the amenity of the conservation area or detracting from the safety of the 
public domain.  

38. In accordance with Section 3.16.6 the signage constitutes building identification 
signage which is compatible with the architectural elements of the existing building. A 
condition of consent is recommended that the proposed awning sign is to be modified 
to be a painted sign rather than brass mounted lettering which is consistent with the 
provisions for awning fascia signs.  

39. The proposed window signs are consistent with the provisions of Section 3.16.6.8 of 
the SDCP 2012 maintaining an active frontage with views into and out of the premises.  

Access 

40. Access for disabled persons is currently provided to the premises via entry from the 
side passageway. 

Other Impacts of the Development 

41. The proposed development is capable of complying with the BCA.  

42. It is considered that the proposal will have no significant detrimental effect relating to 
environmental, social or economic impacts on the locality, subject to appropriate 
conditions being imposed. 

Suitability of the site for the Development  

43. The proposal is of a nature in keeping with the overall function of the site. The 
premises are in a commercial/residential surrounding and amongst similar uses to that 
proposed. 

Internal Referrals 

44. The conditions of other sections of Council have been included in the proposed 
conditions. 

45. The application was discussed with the Heritage and Urban Design Specialists; 
Building Services Unit; Environmental Health and Waste Operations who advised that 
the proposal is acceptable subject to the recommended conditions. 

External Referrals 

Notification, Advertising and Delegation (Submission(s) Received) 

46. In accordance with Schedule 1 of the Sydney DCP 2012, the proposed development is 
required to be notified. As such the application was notified for a period of 14 days 
between 22 January 2019 and 6 February 2019. As a result of this notification there 
was one submission received. 

21



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

(a) The applicant has not indicated on the Application whether or not they intend to 
apply for a liquor licence. This would significantly increase the number of issues 
of concern to neighbours. 

Response - The applicant does not currently hold a liquor license and has not 
indicated that a liquor licence will be applied for as part of this application. 

(b) The proposed hours of operation are significantly longer than the actual 
operating hours of the previous operator of the café in these premises. The 
operators should clearly specify deliveries, managing waste and waste 
collection, emptying the grease trap, cleaning the premises and the side 
laneway, cleaning the footpath, windows and entry to the premises and the 
arrival and departure of staff. 

Response - All activities will need to be undertaken within the recommended 
hours of operation. Activities such as waste collection and glass removal will be 
subject to specific conditions of consent to address the amenity of the immediate 
locality.  

(c) The Plan of Management does not specify the time for last orders and the close 
of the kitchen, which raises the possibility that patrons will not have sufficient 
time to eat their meals before the close of operations on any day. Most local 
operators have a strict “last order” policy of at least 30 minutes before closing 
time. 

Response- specific conditions of consent have been recommended regarding 
the timing for 'last orders' 30 minutes prior to the closing time.  

(d) Currently, the front door of the premises is not self-closing and we are unaware 
about the door from the laneway, which is to be used as disabled access. This 
creates a situation where noise and odour may escape the premises unabated. 

Response - A condition has been recommended requiring the front door and 
side passageway access be closed after 9.00pm and only opened when patrons 
enter or exit the premises.  

(e) The Roxbury Hotel at 180 and 182 St Johns Road provided for adequate security 
lighting for all entry points to the proposed hotel. The laneway which is to be kept 
open at all times, should be required to have sufficient illumination at all times to 
reduce trip hazards and risk of injury to patrons as well also reducing the 
likelihood of loitering. Patrons should not be allowed to congregate in the 
laneway while waiting for take-away orders, as this would impede the ingress 
and egress of disabled persons and create a relatively out of the way place 
beyond the supervision of the operators. 

Response- Conditions regarding the safe operation and management of the side 
passageway have been recommended including lighting and loitering of patrons.  

(f) The Waste Management Plan specifies that take-away meals are intended to be 
a core part of the operation. However, the seating plan does not appear to show 
any allocation of space or seating within the premises for take-away patrons. The 
Plan of Management makes no reference to the management of patrons waiting 
for take-away meals. 

22



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Response - A condition of consent has been recommended regarding the 
management of takeaway orders and an area nominated on the approved plans 
to provide for patrons waiting for takeaway service.   

(g) The Application makes no mention of the placement of any digital media within 
the premises for consideration as to the potential visual and audio impact on 
neighbours. The signage parameters should be limited to those outlined in the 
Application. In particular, there should be no illuminated or flashing signage. 

Response - signage has been limited to that proposed within the application. No 
addition digital media has been recommended for consent.  

(h) Painting the brickwork below the awning in Dulux Tinker creates an 
unsympathetic disconnect between that part of the building which is above the 
awning and the part below. Heritage paint schemes prevail on both the northern 
and southern sides of St Johns Road in that vicinity. 

Response- The colour scheme has been considered by the City's Heritage 
Specialist as being in keeping with the locality particularly given the existing grey 
colour scheme of the Nags Head Hotel on the corner of St Johns Road and 
Lodge Street and the Roxbury Hotel at 180 - 182 St Johns Road at the opposite 
end of the neighbourhood centre.  

Public Interest 

47. It is considered that the proposal will have no detrimental effect on the public interest, 
subject to appropriate conditions being proposed. 

Relevant Legislation 

48. The Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979. 

49. Statement Environmental Planning Policy 64 - Advertising and Signage. 

50. Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012.  

Conclusion 

51. The proposed development is generally consistent with the development standards 
and B1 Neighbourhood Centre zone objectives.  

52. The proposal results in acceptable amenity impacts generally consistent with the 
objectives, standards and provisions of the relevant planning controls including the 
assessment criteria under SEPP 64 - Advertising and Signage.  

53. The proposed development is considered to be in the public interest subject to the 
recommended conditions of consent included in Attachment A.  

23



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

GRAHAM JAHN, AM 

Director City Planning, Development and Transport 

Rene Hayes, Senior Planner 

24



Attachment A 
 

Recommended Conditions of Consent 

25



SCHEDULE 1A 

APPROVED DEVELOPMENT/DESIGN MODIFICATIONS/COVENANTS AND 
CONTRIBUTIONS/USE AND OPERATION 

Note: Some conditions in Schedule 1A are to be satisfied prior to issue of a Construction 
Certificate and some are to be satisfied prior to issue of any Occupation Certificate, where 
indicated. 

(1) APPROVED DEVELOPMENT 

(a) Development must be in accordance with Development Application No. 
D/2019/22 dated 4 December 2018 and the following drawings: 

Drawing Number Architect Date 

DW01 Rev 03 Wahbe Drafting 4.12.2018 

DW02 Rev 03 Wahbe Drafting 4.12.2018 

DW03 Rev 03 Wahbe Drafting 4.12.2018 

DW04 Rev 03 Wahbe Drafting 4.12.2018 

DW05 Rev 03 Wahbe Drafting 4.12.2018 

DW06 Rev 03 Wahbe Drafting 4.12.2018 

DW07 Rev 03 Wahbe Drafting 4.12.2018 

DW08 Rev 03 Wahbe Drafting 4.12.2018 

and as amended by the conditions of this consent. 

(b) In the event of any inconsistency between the approved plans and 
supplementary documentation, the drawings will prevail. 

(2) DESIGN MODIFICATIONS 

The design of the building must be modified as follows: 

(a) the solid polished brass screw mounted letters proposed on the front face 
of the awning  shall be modified to a painted finish specifying the business 
name “Pizze Baby” only; and 

(b) no modification to the materials and finishes is permitted above the awning; 
and 

26



(c) an area is to be nominated on the approved plans for patrons waiting for 
takeaway service within the premises. 

The modifications are to be submitted to and approved by Council’s Area 
Coordinator Planning Assessments prior to the issue of any Construction 
Certificate. 

(3) COMPLIANCE WITH SUBMITTED MATERIALS AND SAMPLES BOARD 

The design details of the proposed building facade including all external finishes, 
colours and glazing must be in accordance with the colour and surface schedule, 
and specifications approved under Condition (1). 

(4) PRIMARY PURPOSE 

The primary purpose of the premises is as a restaurant with the kitchen to be 
open and substantial food service to be available to patrons at all times during 
the approved hours of operation. All patrons are to have an allocated seat and 
the number and location of tables and chairs provided for seated dining must be 
in accordance with the approved floor plan at all times. 

(5) PLAN OF MANAGEMENT 

(a) The Plan of Management (POM) checklist accompanying this Development 
Application has not been approved by this consent. 

(b) The applicant shall provide a Plan of Management for the operations of the 
premises. The purpose of this Plan is to establish performance criteria for 
various aspects of the operations of the premises. The Plan of 
Management must address: 

(i) Hours of operation approved by this consent; 

(ii) Amenity of neighbourhood specifically the use of the side 
passageway and management of patrons waiting for takeaway 
orders in accordance with Condition 12; 

(iii) Noise; 

(iv) The front door providing direct access to St Johns Road and the 
disabled access via the side passageway shall both be closed after 
9.00pm apart from providing entry and egress from the premises; 

(v) Behaviour of patrons; 

(vi) Deliveries and waste removal and management; 

(vii) Maintenance; 

(viii) Staff; and 

(ix) Capacity of premises approved by this consent. 

A Plan of Management is to be submitted to and approved by Council’s 
Area Coordinator Planning Assessments prior to the issue of any 

27



Construction Certificate. The approved Plan of Management is to be 
complied with at all times. 

(6) COPIES OF CONSENTS AND MANAGEMENT PLANS 

A full and current copy of all current development consents for the operation of 
the premises, and the approved Plan of Management must be kept on-site and 
made available to Police or Council Officers, or Special Investigator upon 
request. 

(7) SURVEILLANCE CAMERAS 

(a) CCTV surveillance cameras shall be strategically installed, operated and 
maintained throughout the premises with particular coverage to: 

(i) principal entrance/s and exits; 

(ii) all areas within the premise occupied by the public (excluding toilets); 

(iii) staircases in multilevel premises; and 

(iv) the area within a 10m radius external to the public entrance(s) to the 
premise. 

(b) Suitable and clearly visible signage shall be displayed at the principal 
entrance(s) to the premise and in a prominent position on each floor 
accessible to the public, in lettering not less than 50mm in height with the 
words “Closed Circuit Television in use on these premises”. 

(c) All CCTV recording equipment and cameras shall be of high grade digital 
quality capable of establishing the population and identification of patrons, 
offenders and incidents within the depth of field view of the cameras. In this 
respect each surveillance camera shall be capable of recording a minimum 
rate of 10 frames per second and at high resolution. 

(d) CCTV recording discs or hard drive recordings shall be retained for 28 days 
before being re-used, destroyed or deleted. Time and date shall be auto 
recorded on the disc or hard drive. The CCTV recording equipment shall 
be capable of reproducing a CD, DVD, USB or other appropriate digital 
copy of recorded footage on demand of Council or Police Officers either 
immediately or within 12 hours of the request being made. Copy discs must 
be handed to Council, Police Officer or Special Inspectors as required. 

(e) All CCTV recording devices and cameras shall be checked daily to ensure 
the equipment is operating correctly. The Licensee shall record this daily 
checking activity in the security/incident register book that meets the 
standards required by the Licensing Police and Council. If it is discovered 
at any time that the equipment is not in full operating order all reasonable 
steps must be taken to repair the system as soon as practicable. Where 
the system will not be functioning in full operating order for a period of 
longer than 24 hours the manager/licensee is to notify the relevant Local 
Area Commander of the NSW Police. 

28



(f) All CCTV recording devices and cameras shall be operated at all times 
when the premises are open to the public and, where premises do not 
operate 24 hours a day, continuously for at least 1 hour prior to opening 
and closing times of the premises. 

(g) The CCTV recording device shall be secured within the premises and only 
be accessible to senior management personnel so as to maintain the 
integrity of the recorded footage. When the premises is operating there 
must be at least one staff member present at the premises who is 
authorised to access the CCTV system and able to immediately review 
recordings and produce copies. 

(h) Camera views are not to be obstructed by temporary or permanent 
structures, signage or other impediments. 

(8) EXTERNAL LIGHTING 

A separate development application is required to be lodged and approved by 
Council prior to any external floodlighting or illumination of the building or site 
landscaping. 

(9) HOURS OF OPERATION - MINOR DEVELOPMENT 

The hours of operation are restricted to between 7.00am – 10.00pm Mondays to 
Saturdays, inclusive and 8.00am – 10.00pm on Sundays. 

(10) CESSATION OF SERVICE 

The premises may only be open for business between the operating hours in 
Condition (9) above. The operator must cease providing food at the premises 30 
minutes before the required closing time. 

(11) MAXIMUM CAPACITY OF PERSONS 

(a) The maximum number of persons (including staff, patrons and performers) 
permitted in the premises at any one time is 48 persons. 

(b) The manager is responsible for ensuring the number of persons in the 
premses does not exceed that specified above. 

(c) A sign in letters not less than 25mm in height must be fixed at the main 
entry point to the premises stating the maximum number of persons, as 
specified in the development consent, that are permitted in the building. 
Details are to be provided to the satisfaction of the Principal Certifier prior 
to issue of a Construction Certificate. 

Note: Clause 98D of the Environmental Planning and Assessment 
Regulation 2000 requires a sign specifying maximum number of persons 
permitted in the building to be displayed in a prominent position for the 
following types of premises: 

(i) entertainment venue, 

(ii) function centre, 

29



(iii) pub, 

(iv) registered club, 

(v) restaurant. 

(12) NEIGHBOURHOOD AMENITY 

(a) Signs must be placed in clearly visible positions within the café/restaurant 
requesting patrons upon leaving the premises to do so quickly and quietly, 
having regard to maintaining the amenity of the area. The signage shall be 
in bold letters not less than 25mm in height on a contrasting background. 

(b) The management must ensure that the behaviour of patrons entering and 
leaving the premises does not detrimentally affect the amenity of the 
neighbourhood. 

(c) The use of the side passageway must be to enter and exit the premises 
only. No loitering in the passageway is permitted at any time including 
persons waiting for takeaway orders. 

(13) NO SPEAKERS OR AMPLIFIED MUSIC OUTSIDE 

Speakers and/or noise amplification equipment must not be installed and music 
must not be played in any of the outdoor areas associated with the premises 
including the public domain. Speakers located within the premises must not be 
placed so as to direct the playing of music towards the outdoor areas associated 
with the premises. 

(14) NO SPRUIKING NOISE 

No persons (such as those commonly known as spruikers) or recordings or other 
devices which have the effect of spruiking are to be located on Council owned 
property. Furthermore, the sound level of any spruiking generated within privately 
owned land must not be audible on any adjacent property with a shared 
boundary. 

(15) NOISE FROM GLASS REMOVAL 

Glass must not be emptied or transferred from one receptacle to another 
anywhere in a public place. All glass must be emptied / transferred inside of the 
building on the premises and removed in containers. 

(16) CONTROL OF LIGHT INTO THE ENVIRONMENT 

Lighting installed in the open and/or public spaces must comply with AS1158 
series-lighting for roads and public spaces. The design and placement must be 
so that lighting does not create a nuisance or negatively affect the amenity of the 
surrounding neighbourhood, for that purpose lighting must comply with AS4282-
1997 Control of Obtrusive Effects of Outdoor Lighting. 

30



(17) DELIVERIES AND WASTE REMOVAL 

(a) All deliveries, waste collection and disposal including glass removal and 
emptying of the grease trap is restricted to between 8.00am – 6.00pm 
Mondays to Sundays. 

(b) The Plan of Management shall detail all deliveries and waste collection 
times to ensure the amenity of the neighbourhood. 

  

31



SCHEDULE 1B 

PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION CERTIFICATE/COMMENCEMENT OF WORK/HEALTH 
AND BUILDING 

(18) ACCESS AND FACILITIES FOR PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES 

The building must be designed and constructed to provide access and facilities for 
people with a disability in accordance with the Building Code of Australia. 

If, in complying with this condition, amendments to the development are required, 
the design changes must be submitted to and approved by Council prior to any 
Construction Certificate being issued. 

(19) EMISSIONS 

(a) The use of the premises must not give rise to the emission of gases, 
vapours, dusts or other impurities which are a nuisance, injurious or 
prejudicial to health. 

(b) Gaseous emissions from the development must comply with the 
requirements of the Protection of the Environment Operations Act 1997 and 
Protection of the Environment Operations (Clean Air) Regulation 2010. 

(c) Uses that produce airborne particulate matter must incorporate an effective 
dust collection system. 

(20) ANNUAL FIRE SAFETY STATEMENT FORM 

An annual Fire Safety Statement must be given to Council and the NSW Fire 
Brigade commencing within 12 months after the date on which the initial 
Interim/Final Fire Safety Certificate is issued or the use commencing, whichever 
is earlier. 

(21) COMPLIANCE WITH BUILDING CODE OF AUSTRALIA 

All proposed work must comply with the Building Code of Australia (BCA). 

(22) CONSTRUCTION AND FITOUT OF FOOD PREMISES 

The construction, fitout and finishes of the food premises must comply with 
Standard 3.2.3 of the Australian and New Zealand Food Standards Code under 
the Food Act 2003 and AS 4674 – 2004 Design, Construction and Fitout of Food 
Premises. 

Note: Copies of AS 4674-2004 may be obtained from the Standards Australia 
Customer Service on telephone 1300 65 46 46 or by visiting the website 
www.standards.com.au. 

Copies of the Food Standards Code (Australia) may be obtained by contacting the 
Food Standards Australia and New Zealand Authority on telephone (02) 6271 
2222, email info@foodstandards.gov.au or by visiting the website 
www.foodstandards.gov.au. 

32

http://www.standards.com.au/
http://www.standards.com.au/
mailto:info@foodstandards.gov.au
http://www.foodstandards.gov.au/


(23) GREASE AND LIQUID WASTE TRAPS 

(a) A grease trap if required by Sydney Water must be installed in accordance 
with Sydney Water requirements and: 

(b) Must be installed by a suitably qualified and licensed plumber in 
accordance with the Plumbing Code of Australia; 

(c) The grease trap must be not be located in any kitchen, food preparation or 
food storage area; 

(d) Be suitably constructed and installed in a location which allows it to be 
easily and effectively cleaned and emptied; and 

(e) Be suitably constructed and located as not to encourage the harbourage of 
pests and be effectively pest proofed. 

(f) In-sink and in-floor waste bucket traps must be installed in all sinks and 
floor wastes in all commercial kitchens and food preparation areas and 
must be carried out by a suitably qualified and licensed plumber in 
accordance with the Plumbing Code of Australia. 

(24) NOTIFICATION OF CONDUCT OF FOOD BUSINESS 

(a) The use shall not commence until the food business has notified Council of 
their food business details in accordance with the Food Act 2003 and The 
Australia New Zealand Food Standards Code – 3.2.2 – Food Safety 
Practices and General Requirements, Clause 4. 

(b) An Occupation Certificate must not be issued until such notification has 
been received by Council in accordance with Clause (a) of this condition. 

Note: Registration forms are available on Council's website 
www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au. 

(25) SANITARY FACILITIES – FOOD PREMISES 

The sanitary facilities must be separated from all food handling areas via an 
airlock, self-closing door or mechanical ventilation in accordance with the 
provisions of the Building Code of Australia, Part F 3.1, 4.8 and 4.9. 

(26) TOILETS FOR FOOD HANDLERS 

(a) Adequate toilet facilities must be available for food handlers working for the 
food business. Toilets and associated facilities must be provided in 
accordance with AS4674 – Design, Construction and Fit-out of Food 
Premises and the Australia New Zealand Food Standards Code, 3.2.3 - 
Food Premises and Equipment. 

(b) Details of the location of toilets which are provided exclusively for the use 
of food handlers and staff working at the business must be submitted for 
the approval of the Principal Certifier prior to the issue of any Construction 
Certificate. 

33

http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/


(c) The toilet(s) must be provided with a hand wash basin, with hot and cold 
running water mixed through a common spout, hand wash soap, hygienic 
hand drying facilities and hands-free taps. 

(27) WASTE STORAGE AREA 

(a) To ensure the adequate storage and collection of waste from the food 
premises, all garbage and recyclable materials emanating from the 
premises must be stored in a designated waste storage area. The waste 
storage area must be designed and constructed in accordance with AS 
4674 – Design, Construction and Fit-out of Food Premises, Australia New 
Zealand Food Standards Code 3.2.3 – Food Premises and Equipment and 
comply with the Council Policy for Waste Minimisation in New 
Developments, and must be: 

(i) Provided with a hose tap connected to the water supply. 

(ii) Paved with impervious floor materials. 

(iii) Coved at the intersection of the floor and walls. 

(iv) Graded and drained to a waste disposal system in accordance with 
the requirements of the relevant regulatory authority (Sydney Water). 

(v) Adequately ventilated (mechanically or naturally) so that odour 
emissions do not cause offensive odour or air pollution as defined by 
the Protection of the Environment Operations Act 1997 or a nuisance. 

(vi) Fitted with appropriate interventions to meet fire safety standards in 
accordance with the Building Code of Australia. 

(vii) Provided with the appropriate number and size of bins adequate for 
the storage of waste generated by the business, including recycling. 

(viii) Appropriately managed so that it does not attract pests or create litter. 

(b) Detailed plans and specifications for the construction of the waste storage 
area must be submitted to and approved by the Principal Certifier prior to 
the issue of any Construction Certificate and must be constructed in 
accordance with such plans and specifications prior to the issuance of an 
Occupation Certificate. 

(28) MATERIALS FOR MAKING GOOD 

New materials for making good and repairs, are to match the existing in terms of 
colours, finishes, sizes, profile and properties. 

  

34



(29) FOOD PREMISES – ADDITIONAL MECHANICAL VENTILATION 
REQUIREMENTS  

The cooking appliances must not burn any charcoal, wood or other solid fuel.  

(30) MECHANICAL VENTILATION – ADDITIONAL ODOUR AND SMOKE 
CONTROLS 

A Professional Engineer (as defined in Volume One of the National Construction 
Code) must: 

(a) Prior to the issue of any Construction Certificate, specify filtration and odour 
control systems as part of the proposed mechanical ventilation design and 
drawings (including specifications of the proposed mechanical kitchen 
exhaust ventilation system) to ensure that exhaust air can be discharged 
to the atmosphere in accordance with AS1668.2 - The Use of Ventilation 
and Air-conditioning in Buildings – Mechanical Ventilation in Buildings, and 
will not cause a danger or a nuisance to occupants within the building, 
occupants of neighbouring buildings or members of the public; and 

(b) Certify the design in accordance with the Building Code of Australia and 
AS1668 - The Use of Mechanical Ventilation and Air conditioning in 
Buildings; and 

(c) Prior to the issue of an Occupation Certificate inspect the mechanical 
ventilation and filtration/odour control systems and certify that the system/s 
have been installed to the approved design; and 

(d) Certify the satisfactory performance of the installed system/s. 

(31) MECHANICAL VENTILATION – CLEANING AND MAINTENANCE PLAN 

(a) A Cleaning and Maintenance Plan of Management shall be submitted to 
and approved by Council’s Area Coordinator Planning Assessments prior 
to the issue of Occupation Certificate. The Cleaning and Maintenance Plan 
must include the following: 

(i) What type of maintenance and cleaning procedures are to be 
followed, and at what frequency; 

(ii) Detail the methods and procedures required to maintain the filtration 
and odour control system(s) in accordance with manufacturer's 
specifications, in a clean condition, and in satisfactory working order; 

(iii) Emergency maintenance and risk management associated with a 
failure in the system; and 

(iv) The contact person/s details for emergency maintenance; 

Changes to the approved Cleaning and Maintenance Plan of Management 
can be made in consultation with Council and must be approved by Council 
in writing prior to implementation. 

(b) The approved Cleaning and Maintenance plan must be: 

35



(i) implemented during the use of the premises; 

(ii) kept on the premises at all times and must be available for inspection 
to Council officers upon request; 

(c)  A service log detailing compliance with the approved Cleaning and 
Maintenance Plan of Management must be kept. The service log is to 
contain details regarding the cleaning and maintenance of the filtration and 
odour control system(s) and must be produced and completed accordingly 
when maintenance and servicing occurs. The service log must be kept 
updated and kept on the premises at all times and be available to Council 
officers for inspection upon request. 

(d) The operation of any mechanical ventilation system that has incorporated 
pollution control equipment for the purpose of treating air impurities, 
including smoke and odour emissions must be cleaned and maintained in 
good working order and good repair and in accordance with any 
manufacturer’s instructions. 

(32) PHOTOGRAPHIC RECORD / DILAPIDATION REPORT - PUBLIC DOMAIN 

Prior to any Construction Certificate being issued, a photographic recording of 
the public domain site frontages is to be prepared and submitted to Council's 
satisfaction. 

The recording must include clear images of the building facade adjoining the 
footpath, the footpath, nature strip, kerb and gutter, driveway crossovers and 
laybacks, kerb ramps, road carriageway, street trees and plantings, parking 
restriction and traffic signs, and all other existing infrastructure along the street. 

The form of the recording is to be as follows:- 

 
(i) A PDF format report containing all images at a scale that clearly 

demonstrates the existing site conditions; 

(ii) Each image is to be labelled to identify the elements depicted, the 
direction that the image is viewed towards, and include the name of 
the relevant street frontage; 

(iii) Each image is to be numbered and cross referenced to a site location 
plan; 

(iv) A summary report, prepared by a suitable qualified professional, must 
be submitted in conjunction with the images detailing the project 
description, identifying any apparent existing defects, detailing the 
date and authorship of the photographic record, the method of 
documentation and limitations of the photographic record; 

  

36



(v) Include written confirmation, issued with the authority of both the 
applicant and the photographer that the City of Sydney is granted a 
perpetual non-exclusive license to make use of the copyright in all 
images supplied, including the right to make copies available to third 
parties as though they were Council images. The signatures of both 
the applicant and the photographer must be included. 

Any damage to the public way including trees, footpaths, kerbs, gutters, 
road carriageway and the like must immediately be made safe and 
functional by the applicant. Damage must be fully rectified by the applicant 
in accordance with the City’s standards prior to a Certificate of Completion 
being issued for Public Domain Works or before an Occupation Certificate 
is issued for the development, whichever is earlier. 

(33) PROTECTION OF STONE KERBS 

(a) The existing stone kerbs on the St Johns Road frontage of the site are to 
be retained and properly protected during construction works. 

(b) To avoid damage to stone kerbs during construction works for the 
development, temporary removal and storage of the stone kerbs may be 
approved by Council. Removed, serviceable stone kerbs (i.e. those that are 
in good condition as agreed by Council officers) must be re-installed in 
accordance with the City of Sydney’s standard details and specifications 
after the construction works have been completed. Note: A temporary 
concrete kerb will need to be constructed to retain the footpath until the 
stone kerbs can be reinstalled. The removed stone kerbs are to be 
reinstalled prior to the issue of an Occupation Certificate. Note: all costs 
associated with the works are to be at no cost to the Council. 

(c) Damaged kerbs are to be replaced to match existing to Council’s 
satisfaction or as otherwise advised by Council officers. 

(d) Where new crossings or temporary crossings are to be constructed to 
access the property, the affected kerb stones should be salvaged and 
reused wherever possible. 

(e) All new driveway laybacks and kerbs are to be constructed with stone kerbs 
to match existing stones or as specified by City officers. All unused stone 
kerbs are to be salvaged and returned to the City’s store. 

(f) Council approval is required before kerbs are removed. 

(g) Council approval is required prior to the cutting of existing stone kerbs for 
stormwater kerb outlets. 

(34) WORKS REQUIRING USE OF A PUBLIC PLACE 

Where construction/building works require the use of a public place including a 
road or footpath, approval under Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993 is to be 
obtained from Council prior to the commencement of work. Details of any 
barricade construction, area of enclosure and period of work are required to be 
submitted to the satisfaction of Council. 

37



(35) WASTE AND RECYCLING MANAGEMENT - COMMERCIAL 

(a) The Waste and Recycling Management Plan accompanying this 
Development Application has not been approved by this consent.  

(b) A Waste and Recycling Management Plan is to be approved by the 
Principal Certifier prior to any Construction Certificate being issued. The 
plan must comply with the Council's Guidelines for Waste Management in 
New Developments 2018. All requirements of the approved Building Waste 
and Recycling Management Plan must be implemented during construction 
of the development. 

(c) Commercial waste and recycling receptacles and any bulky waste must be 
stored on the property at all times and must not be placed on the kerbside 
for collection. 

UPON COMPLETION OF THE DEVELOPMENT 

(d) Prior to an Occupation Certificate being issued or the use commencing, 
whichever is earlier, the Principal Certifier must ensure that waste handling 
works have been completed in accordance with: the Waste and Recycling 
Management Plan; other relevant development consent conditions; and 
Council's Guidelines for Waste Management in New Developments 2018. 

(36) COOLROOMS 

Cool room(s), refrigerated chambers and strong-rooms must be constructed in 
accordance with G 1.2 of the Building Code of Australia, and:(a) The floor of the 
coolroom must be graded to the door and a floor trapped waste outlet must be 
located outside the coolroom as near as possible to the door opening. 

(a) All proposed shelving in the coolroom must be free-standing, constructed 
of galvanised steel angle section or other approved material with the lowest 
shelf at least 150mm clear of the floor. 

(b) The floor of the coolroom must be constructed of impermeable concrete or 
coated, topped or otherwise finished with an impervious material to a 
smooth even surface and coved at the intersections with the walls to a 
minimum radius of 25mm. 

(c) Must be fitted with a door that can be opened at all times from inside without 
a key. 

(d) An approved audible alarm device must be located outside the coolroom(s) 
but controllable only from within the coolroom(s) and must be able to 
achieve a sound pressure level outside the chamber or coolroom(s) of 90 
d B (A) when measured 3 metres from a sounding device. 

  

38



SCHEDULE 1C 

DURING CONSTRUCTION/PRIOR TO OCCUPATION/COMPLETION 

(37) HOURS OF WORK AND NOISE – OUTSIDE CBD 

The hours of construction and work on the development must be as follows: 

(a) All work, including building/demolition and excavation work, and activities 
in the vicinity of the site generating noise associated with preparation for 
the commencement of work (eg. loading and unloading of goods, 
transferring of tools etc) in connection with the proposed development must 
only be carried out between the hours of 7.30am and 5.30pm on Mondays 
to Fridays, inclusive, and 7.30am and 3.30pm on Saturdays, with safety 
inspections being permitted at 7.00am on work days, and no work must be 
carried out on Sundays or public holidays. 

(b) All work, including demolition, excavation and building work must comply 
with the City of Sydney Code of Practice for Construction Hours/Noise 1992 
and Australian Standard 2436 - 2010 Guide to Noise Control on 
Construction, Maintenance and Demolition Sites. 

(c) Notwithstanding the above, the use of a crane for special operations, 
including the delivery of materials, hoisting of plant and equipment and 
erection and dismantling of on site tower cranes which warrant the on-street 
use of mobile cranes outside of above hours can occur, subject to a permit 
being issued by Council under Section 68 of the Local Government Act 
1993 and/or Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993. 

Note: Works may be undertaken outside of hours, where it is required to avoid 
the loss of life, damage to property, to prevent environmental harm and/or to 
avoid structural damage to the building. Written approval must be given by the 
Construction Regulation Unit, prior to works proceeding 

The City of Sydney Code of Practice for Construction Hours/Noise 1992 allows 
extended working hours subject to the approval of an application in accordance 
with the Code and under Section 4.55 of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act 1979. 

(38) SITE NOTICE OF PROJECTS DETAILS AND APPROVALS 

(a) A site notice is to be prominently displayed at the boundary to each frontage 
of the site for the purposes of informing the public of appropriate project 
details and relevant approvals. The notice(s) is to satisfy all of the following 
requirements: 

(b) Minimum dimensions of the notice are to measure 841mm x 594mm (A1) 
with any text on the notice to be a minimum of 30 point type size; 

(c) The notice is to be durable and weatherproof and is to be displayed 
throughout the construction period. 

39



(d) A copy of the first page of the development approval, building approval 
(including any modifications to those approvals) and any civic works 
approvals is to be posted alongside the notice in weatherproof casing; 

(e) The approved hours of work, the Principal Certifier including contact 
address and certification details, the name of the site manager, the 
responsible managing company, its address and 24 hour contact phone 
number for any enquiries, including construction/noise complaint, and the 
estimated date of completion of the project are to be displayed on the site 
notice; 

(f) The notice(s) is to be mounted at eye level on the perimeter hoardings and 
is also to state that unauthorised entry to the site is not permitted. 

(g) All notices and signs must be displayed in locations as specified in the 
City’s Guidelines for Hoardings and Scaffolding. 

(39) ENCROACHMENTS – NEIGHBOURING PROPERTIES 

No portion of the proposed structure shall encroach onto the adjoining properties. 

(40) ENCROACHMENTS – PUBLIC WAY 

No portion of the proposed structure, including gates and doors during opening 
and closing operations, shall encroach upon Council’s footpath area. 

(41) OCCUPATION CERTIFICATE TO BE SUBMITTED 

An Occupation Certificate must be obtained from the Principal Certifier and a 
copy submitted to Council prior to commencement of occupation or use of the 
whole or any part of a new building, an altered portion of, or an extension to an 
existing building. 

(42) NO OBSTRUCTION OF PUBLIC WAY 

The public way must not be obstructed by any materials, vehicles, refuse, skips or 
the like, under any circumstances. Non-compliance with this requirement will 
result in the issue of a notice by Council to stop all work on site. 

(43) LOADING AND UNLOADING DURING CONSTRUCTION 

The following requirements apply: 

(a) All loading and unloading associated with construction activity must be 
accommodated on site, where possible. 

(b) If, it is not feasible for loading and unloading to take place on site, a Works 
Zone on the street may be considered by Council. 

  

40



(c) A Works Zone may be required if loading and unloading is not possible on 
site. If a Works Zone is warranted an application must be made to Council 
at least 8 weeks prior to commencement of work on the site. An approval 
for a Works Zone may be given for a specific period and certain hours of 
the days to meet the particular need for the site for such facilities at various 
stages of construction. The approval will be reviewed periodically for any 
adjustment necessitated by the progress of the construction activities. 

(d) Where hoisting activity over the public place is proposed to be undertaken 
including hoisting from a Works Zone, a separate approval under Section 
68 of the Local Government Act 1993 must be obtained. 

(44) WASTE AND RECYCLING COLLECTION CONTRACT 

(a) Prior to an Occupation Certificate being issued and/or commencement of 
the use, whichever is earlier, the building owner must ensure that there is 
a contract with a licensed contractor for the removal of all waste. No 
garbage is to be placed on the public way, e.g. footpaths, roadways, plazas, 
reserves, at any time. 

(b) Commercial waste service collections and waste storage arrangements 
must be conducted in accordance with the City’s Waste Policy – Local 
Approvals Policy for Managing Waste in Public Places (2013). 

41



SCHEDULE 2 

PRESCRIBED CONDITIONS 

The prescribed conditions in accordance with Division 8A of the Environmental 
Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000 apply: 

Clause 98 Compliance with Building Code of Australia and insurance requirements 
under the Home Building Act 1989 

Clause 98A Erection of signs 

Clause 98B Notification of Home Building Act 1989 requirements 

Clause 98C Conditions relating to entertainment venues 

Clause 98D Conditions relating to maximum capacity signage 

Clause 98E Conditions relating to shoring and adequacy of adjoining property 

Refer to the NSW State legislation for full text of the clauses under Division 8A of the 
Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000. This can be accessed at: 
http://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au 

42

http://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/


Attachment B 

Selected Drawings

43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



174 St Johns Road Glebe, 2037

COLOUR & SURFACE SCHEDULE

Shop front facade restoration 

Original tile colour

(glazed original crimson red tile)

Paint colour for repairing brick 
sections. awning, under awning, 
awning facing

52



174 St Johns Road Glebe, 2037

Existing gold 
street number 
rendered above 
french doors

Shop front showing french doors, brass framed bay windows, and 
current colour scheme 

53



174 St Johns Road Glebe, 2037

Polished brass, screw 
mounted lettering - to be 
mounted across awning 

facing to street front

Gold leaf lettering (example only) to be installed in each bay window 

reading Pizze Baby

54



174 St Johns Road Glebe, 2037

Proposed restoration and colour scheme for shop front showing 

signage across awing facing and in bay windows

Note: Restoration of original faced to reveal red and green glazed tiles.
Signage colour and material to match / compliment existing brass 

window frames, door fittings, letter slot and street number

55



174 St Johns Road Glebe, 2037

Internal section for baking- walls, ceiling, floor surfaces

56



174 St Johns Road Glebe, 2037

AGC interior Pty Ltd 
ABN 11 619 045 582 

Lic 312374C 

0478 903 059 - George Li(Director) 
0416 176 625 - Alan (Director) 

3/7-9 Helena St, Auburn 
NSW 2144 

 
you@AGCinterior.com 

 

 
22nd December 2017 

To: 

Joe Pignone 
Jempignone@gmail.com 

Re: 174 St Johns Road, Glebe NSW 

 

Dear Joe, 

This document specifies that AGC interior undertook installation of fire rated ceiling of the 
above named property between the ground floor shop and the first-floor residence in 
accordance with CSR system specification No. 6030.  
 
As stated above all works were completed following CSR system specification No. 6030 using 
16mm Fire rated Gyprock at the date this document was written to achieve the desired fire 
rating of 30/30/30. 
 

 

 
 

 

Yours Faithfully, 

 

George Li 
AGC interior 

57



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Development Application: 115-117 Regent Street 

File No.: D/2018/1475 

Summary 

Date of Submission: 4 December 2018 

Amendments to the outdoor dining area plan and plan of 
management were submitted on 8 January 2019, 11 
February 2019 and 7 March 2019. 

Applicant: Patrick Coughlan 

Architect/Designer: Design Collaborative Pty Ltd 

Owner: Patrick Coughlan  

Cost of Works: $0 

Zoning: The site is located within the B4 Mixed Use zone. The 
proposed outdoor dining area is associated with a food 
and drink premises which is permissible with consent in the 
zone.   

Proposal Summary: Development application for the use of the public footway 
on Meahger Street for outdoor seating in association with 
the licensed Gladstone Hotel (8.2sqm). The proposed 
hours of use are 10:00am to 10:00pm Monday to Sundays 
inclusive.  

An associated footway application under Section 125 of 
the Roads Act has been submitted (FA/2018/217) by the 
applicant and is being assessed concurrently.  

The application is referred to Local Planning Panel for 
determination as the land owner is Council.  

Following a preliminary assessment of the application by 
Council Officers, a request for an updated plan of 
management was sent to the applicant on 21 December 
2018. The updated plan of management was required so 
that references to proposed hours of use were the same in 
all documents submitted with the application. The 
amended plan of management was submitted on 8 
January 2019. 

1

Item 9.



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Proposal Summary 
(continued): 

Further requests to reduce the size of the outdoor dining 
area and requests to update the submitted plan of 
management were sent to the applicant on 4 February 
2019 and 26 February 2019.  

The revised footway plan was received on 27 February 
2019 and a further revised plan of management was 
received on 7 March 2019.  

The application was notified for a period of 35 days from 
11 December 2018 to 16 January 2019. No submissions 
were received in response to the notification of the 
development application.  

Subject to conditions and amendments to reduce the hours 
of use of the outdoor area, the proposal is generally 
compliant with the relevant planning controls and the City 
of Sydney Outdoor Dining Guidelines. 

Summary Recommendation: The development application is recommended for 
approval, subject to conditions. 

Development Controls: Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 (Gazetted 14 
December 2012, as amended) 

Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 (in force on 14  
December 2012, as amended) 

City of Sydney Outdoor Dining Policy and Guidelines  

Attachments: A. Recommended Conditions of Consent  

B. Selected Drawing  

  

2



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Recommendation 

It is resolved that consent be granted to Development Application No. D/2018/1475 subject 
to the conditions set out in Attachment A to the subject report. 

Reasons for Recommendation 

The application is recommended for approval for the following reasons: 

(A) the proposed development is consistent with the objectives of the Sydney LEP 2012, 
Sydney DCP 2012 and the City of Sydney Outdoor Dining Policy and Guidelines 2016; 
and  

(B) subject to the recommended conditions of consent, the proposal will not have an 
unreasonable impact on neighbouring amenity.  

 

  

3



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Background 

The Site and Surrounding Development 

1. A site visit was carried out by staff on 10 January 2019. 

2. The site has a legal description of Lot 1 DP 88533 and is commonly known as 115-117 
Regent Street, Chippendale.  

3. The site is rectangular, with an area of approximately 290sqm. It has a primary street 
frontage to Regent Street and secondary street frontages to Meagher Street and 
Chippen Lane.  

4. A three storey hotel building is contained within the site. The current use of the ground 
floor of the premises is a licensed hotel known as the ‘Gladstone Hotel’. The upper two 
floors of the building are used as an art gallery and ancillary office.  

5. Immediately fronting the site to the north is a shared pedestrian and bicycle path along 
the Meagher Street footway as shown in Figure 6 below.  

6. The site is located in a mixed use locality comprising various commercial and 
residential uses fronting Regent Street and Meagher Street. On the eastern side of 
Regent Street, directly opposite the site, is a petrol station and mechanic.  

7. The site is not a heritage item but is located within the Chippendale Conservation Area 
(CA9) where it is identified as a contributing building.  

8. Photos of the site and surrounds are provided below: 

 

Figure 1: Aerial image of subject site and surrounding area 

4



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 2: Site viewed from the intersection of Regent Street and Meagher Street looking south  

 

Figure 3: Site viewed from the intersection of Meagher Street and Chippen Lane looking east 

5



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 4: Looking west - approximate location of proposed outdoor dining area highlighted  

  

Figure 5: Looking east - approximate location of proposed outdoor dining area highlighted 

6



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 6: Extract from Sydney Cycling Guide Map. The site and approximate location of the outdoor 
dining area are highlighted in red.   

Proposal 

9. The application seeks consent to use part of the footway on Meagher Street outside 
the Lord Gladstone Hotel for outdoor dining.  

10. The proposed outdoor dining area is 8.2sqm in size and could provide seating for 10 
patrons. 

11. The proposed hours of operation of the outdoor dining area are 10.00am to 10.00pm 
Monday to Sundays.  

12. Development consent is required for the use of the footway for outdoor dining as the 
footway is associated with a pub.   

Amendments 

13. The size of the outdoor dining area was reduced during the course of the assessment 
following a request by Council staff to improve safety (further discussed). The original 
size of the outdoor dining area was 9.6sqm. It was reduced by 1.4sqm to 8.2sqm and 
located further away from the existing street tree.   

14. A plan of the proposed outdoor dining area is provided below.  

  

7



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 7: Proposed outdoor dining area plan (as amended) 

History Relevant to the Development Application 

15. The subject site has been used for a pub/hotel and short term accommodation for a 
number of years. There is currently no record of a development approval for the use of 
the ground floor as a pub. It is likely that the use pre-dates requirements for 
development consent. Notwithstanding this, the Liquor License permits consumption 
on the ground floor between 5.00am to 3.00am Monday to Saturday and 10.00am to 
10.00pm on Sunday; and consumption in other areas from 5.00am to 12 midnight 
Monday to Saturday and 10.00am to 10.00pm on Sunday. 

16. U01/00878 – On 12 December 2001, development application for use of Levels 1 and 
2 as backpacker accommodation for 24 persons was approved. 

17. D/2015/579 – On 23 July 2015, development application for outdoor seating in area of 
16.05sqm on Meagher Street comprising 4 tables, 16 chairs and 8 barriers between 
10.00am and 12.00 midnight, Monday to Saturday, and 10.00am to 10.00pm, Sunday 
was refused. The application was refused as the outdoor dining area was considered 
to be inconsistent with the objectives of the B4 Mixed Use zone, was considered to 
have a detrimental impact on pedestrian circulation and safety and residential amenity.  

18. FA/2015/127 – On 23 July 2015, footway application for use of the footway for outdoor 
seating in association with the Gladstone Hotel comprising 5 tables, 20 chairs and 9 
barriers was refused on 23 July 2015. The reasons for refusal are the same as reason 
(i) to (viii) above.  

19. D/2015/1546 - On 2 May 2016, development consent was granted for the change of 
use to an art gallery on Levels 1 and 2 of the building. The approved trading hours are 
from 8.00am to 10.00pm every day.  

20. D/2018/274 – On 21 June 2018, development consent was granted for the continued 
use of the existing deck and stairs for patrons of the Lord Gladstone pub and Art 
Gallery. The approved hours of operation are 10.00am to 8.00pm Monday to Sunday 
with a trial period to 10.00pm for one year from the date of consent.  

8



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Economic/Social/Environmental Impacts 

21. The application has been assessed under Section 4.15 of the Environmental Planning 
and Assessment Act 1979, including consideration of the following matters: 

(a) Environmental Planning Instruments and DCPs. 

Sydney Regional Environmental Plan (Sydney Harbour Catchment) 2005 (Deemed 
SEPP)  

22. The site is located within the designated hydrological catchment of Sydney Harbour 
and is subject to the provisions of the above SREP.  

23. The Sydney Harbour Catchment Planning Principles must be considered in the 
carrying out of development within the catchment. The key relevant principles include:  

 Protect and improve hydrological, ecological and geomorphologic processes.  

 Consider cumulative impacts of development within the catchment.  

 Improve water quality of urban runoff and reduce quantity and frequency of 
urban run-off.  

 Protect and rehabilitate riparian corridors and remnant vegetation.  

24. The site is within the Sydney Harbour Catchment and eventually drains into the 
Harbour. However, the site is not located in the Foreshores Waterways Area or 
adjacent to a waterway and therefore, with the exception of the objective of improved 
water quality, the objectives of the SREP are not applicable to the proposed 
development. The development is consistent with the controls contained with the 
deemed SEPP.  

State Environmental Planning Policy (Exempt and Complying Development Codes) 
2008  

25. Subdivision 20A Footpaths - outdoor dining of the SEPP allows for the use of the 
footway or public open space by a food and drink premises as exempt development. 

26. To be exempt development, the use of the footway or public open space must:  

(a) not be associated with a pub or a small bar;  

(b) be carried out in accordance with an approval granted under section 125 of the 
Roads Act 1993 (if applicable), including in accordance with any hours of 
operation to which the approval is subject; and 

(c) be carried out in accordance with any approval granted under section 68 of the 
Local Government Act 1993 (if applicable).  

27. The use of the footway is associated with a pub, and as such is not considered exempt 
development. As such development consent is required.  

Roads Act 1993 

28. The proposal is consistent with the requirements for footway restaurants under the 
Roads Act, 1993. Subject to conditions, the provision of outdoor dining will not result in 
unreasonable impacts on adjoining roadway uses or the public domain. 

9



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Smoke-Free Environment Act 2000 

29. Under the Smoke-Free Environment Act 2000 and associated regulations, smoking is 
not permitted in outdoor areas which are available to be used for dining. If an area is to 
be used for smoking, signage must be provided to indicate that no food is allowed to 
be consumed in that area. 

30. As approvals under Section 125 of the Roads Act 1993 relate specifically to the use of 
footways for restaurant purposes, footway dining areas approved under that legislation 
must be available for dining at all times and cannot be used for smoking. 

Liquor Freeze  

The site is not located in the Liquor Freeze area. 

Sydney LEP 2012 

31. The site is located within the B4 Mixed Use zone. The proposed outdoor dining area is 
associated with a food and drink premises which is permissible with consent in the 
zone.   

32. The relevant matters to be considered under Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 
for the proposed development are outlined below. 

Compliance Tables 

Development Control Compliance Comment 

5.10 Heritage conservation Yes The site is listed as a contributory item 
within the Chippendale Conservation 
Area.  

The proposal does not include any 
alterations to the building or permanent 
fixings and will not result in any adverse 
impact on the significance of the 
heritage conservation area.  

Sydney DCP 2012 

33. The relevant matters to be considered under Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 
for the proposed development are outlined below. 

2. Locality Statements – Chippendale 

The subject site is located in the Chippendale locality. The proposed outdoor dining area 
is considered to be in keeping with the unique character of the area. 

  

10



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

3.2 Defining the Public Domain Yes The proposed outdoor dining area will 
contribute to the activity, amenity and 
quality of the street and public domain 
and would not interfere with entries into 
the host building.  

3.5 Urban Ecology Yes The proposed development does not 
involve the removal of any trees and will 
not adversely impact on the local urban 
ecology. 

3.9 Heritage Yes The site is listed as a contributory item 
within the Chippendale Conservation 
Area.  

The proposal does not include any 
permanent fixings and will not result in 
any adverse impact on the significance 
of the heritage conservation area. 

3.12 Accessible Design Yes The seating does not block any of the 
existing entrances into the building.  

3.15 Late Night Trading 
Management 

Yes See discussion under the heading 'Late 
Night Trading' in the Issues section.  

Pedestrian and bicycle circulation and safety  

34. The proposed outdoor dining area is located on a shared pedestrian and bicycle path 
as shown in figure 6. The shared path comprises the short section of footway 
immediately to the north of the site until the junction of Chippen Lane and Meagher 
Street. 

35. The City of Sydney Outdoor Dining Guidelines set out the guidelines for the provision 
of outdoor dining areas. The document seeks to ensure that areas of outdoor dining do 
not result in harm to pedestrian and vehicle circulation, safety or convenience. It seeks 
to ensure that existing streetscape elements are retained as well as residential 
amenity. 

36. Under the guidelines, a minimum clear path of travel of 2.0m is required for streets to 
maximise pedestrian useability, provide clearance from existing streetscape elements, 
and accommodate for those with various levels of mobility. The guidelines do not 
specifically refer to shared pedestrian and bicycle paths, however under the Sydney 
Streetcode, a minimum 2.0m clear path of travel is recommended for shared paths 
which can be 1.2m at pinch points. The AUSTROADS Guide to Road Design, 
recommends a desirable minimum width of 2.5m for local access shared paths and 3m 
for a commuter path.  

11



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

37. A 2.5m wide clear path of travel is provided between the edge of the outdoor dining 
area and the existing sign pole opposite. The outdoor dining area would be 2.5m from 
the nearest street tree, allowing for adequate clearance. The consistent path of travel 
would be interrupted by the larger street tree located in the middle of the footway, 
however the tree is approximately 8m from the outdoor dining area and is an obstacle 
regardless of whether the outdoor dining area is in situ, as shown in Figure 8.  

 

Figure 8: Annotated outdoor dining area plan (as amended) 

38. As the shared path only covers a short distance on this stretch of Meagher Road, it is 
likely that cyclist speeds would remain low, reducing the likelihood of conflict between 
pedestrians, cyclists and patrons of the outdoor dining area.  

39. The application was referred to the Council's Transport unit who raised concerns with 
the proposal due to the shared path. Transport Officers advised that consent should be 
limited to one year so that it would not be re-issued if any issues and conflicts arise.  

40. A time limited consent of one year is recommended to provide Council with an 
opportunity to review the provision of the outdoor dining area in the event that any 
issues arise.   

Late night trading  

41. The site is not located in a late night trading area although consideration has been 
given to the section 3.15.3 of the Sydney DCP. 

42. The outdoor dining area is associated with a pub which is defined as a Category A – 
High Impact Premises. 

43. The DCP stipulates the base hours for outdoor seating associated with Category A 
premises not located in a late night trading area as 10.00am to 8.00pm with potential 
extended hours from 10.00am up to 10.00pm.  

44. A review of Council records indicates that there have been a substantial number of 
recent noise complaints associated with the premises and rangers have previously 
issued Noise Abatement Orders. The application was referred to NSW Police who 
objected to the proposal on the basis that the premises has not demonstrated good 
management due to a number of incidents that Police have attended to.  

12



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

45. Having regard to the objection made by Police and the fact that consent for outdoor 
dining has not previously been issued at the premises, a time limited consent for one 
year is recommend with the base hours of operation only from 10.00am to 8.00pm. 
This will provide the Council with the flexibility to review and assess the ongoing 
management of the outdoor dining area and any potential impact on neighbourhood 
amenity.  

46. The revised plan of management sets out measures that will be undertaken to ensure 
that the outdoor dining area does not have a detrimental impact on amenity. The 
revised plan of management has been reviewed by Council and is acceptable.   

Other Impacts of the Development 

47. The proposed development will not impact on the ability of the premises to comply with 
the BCA.  

48. It is considered that the proposal will have no significant detrimental effect relating to 
environmental, social or economic impacts on the locality, subject to appropriate 
conditions being imposed. 

Suitability of the site for the Development  

49. The proposal is of a nature in keeping with the overall function of the site. The 
premises are in a commercial/residential surrounding.  

Internal Referrals 

50. The application was discussed with Environmental Health and Licenced Premises who 
advised that the proposal is acceptable subject to recommended conditions. 

51. The application was referred to the Council's Transport unit who raised concerns with 
the proposal due to the existing shared path. Transport Officers advised that consent 
should be limited to one year so that it would not be re-issued if any issues and 
conflicts arise.  

52. Response: See discussion in paragraphs 37-40 above.  

53. The conditions of other sections of Council have been included in the proposed 
conditions. 

External Referrals 

Roads and Maritime Services (RMS) 

54. The application was referred to RMS as the site has a frontage to Regent Street which 
is a classified road. RMS advised that as the tables and chairs will be provided on the 
Meagher Street frontage which is a local road under the care and control of the 
Council that they raised no objections to the development subject to the Council being 
satisfied with the proposal.  

  

13



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

NSW Police  

55. The application was referred to NSW Police who objected to the application on the 
basis that the hotel has shown poor management over time and disregard for the local 
community. In their submission, the Police provided evidence of incidents that have 
occurred that involved patrons of the pub or nearby community.  

56. Response: The applicant was asked to submit a revised plan of management which 
outlines how the operators will address issues such as the management of noise, 
security and the operation of the outdoor dining area to ensure that it does not have a 
detrimental impact on neighbouring amenity. As the premises does not have a record 
of good management, a time limited consent of one year is recommended to enable 
the Council to review the proposal. If the management of the premises and outdoor 
dining area continues to be unsatisfactory, an extension to the development consent 
and footway license will not be granted.   

Notification, Advertising and Delegation (No Submissions Received) 

57. In accordance with Schedule 1 of the Sydney DCP 2012, the proposed development is 
required to be notified. As such the application was notified for a period of 35 days 
between 11 December 2018 to 16 January 2019. No submissions were received. 

Public Interest 

58. It is considered that the proposal will have no detrimental effect on the public interest, 
subject to appropriate conditions being proposed. 

S7.11 Contribution 

59. The development is not subject to a S7.11 development contribution.  

Relevant Legislation 

60. The Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979. 

Conclusion 

61. The proposal is to use 8.2sqm of the footway on Meahger Street for an outdoor dining 
area associated with the Lord Gladstone Hotel on a daily basis between 10.00am and 
10.00pm.  

62. Having regard to all of the above matters, the proposal is acceptable on the basis that 
the hours of operation are restricted to between 10.00am to 8.00pm, Monday to 
Sunday, and that consent is only given on a time limited basis for one year. 

63. The amended proposal is generally consistent with the objectives, standards and 
guidelines of the relevant planning controls. Conditions of consent are recommended 
to address any potential impact from the uses on surrounding residential amenity. 

14



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

64. Accordingly, the development application is recommended for approval, subject to 
conditions. 

GRAHAM JAHN, AM 

Director City Planning, Development and Transport 

Sally Shepherd, Planner 

15



Attachment A 

Recommended Conditions of Consent 

 

16



CONDITIONS OF CONSENT 

SCHEDULE 1 

APPROVED DEVELOPMENT/DESIGN MODIFICATIONS/COVENANTS AND 
CONTRIBUTIONS/USE AND OPERATION 

Note:  Some conditions in Schedule 1A are to be satisfied prior to issue of a Construction 
Certificate and some are to be satisfied prior to issue of Occupation Certificate, where 
indicated. 

(1) APPROVED DEVELOPMENT 

(a) Development must be in accordance with Development Application No. 
D/2018/1475 dated 4 December 2018 and the following drawing:  

Drawing Number Drawing Name Date 

GA01 Rev D Site Plan 27/02/2019  

 
and as amended by the conditions of this consent. 

(b) In the event of any inconsistency between the approved plans and 
supplementary documentation, the plans will prevail. 

(2) TIME LIMITED CONSENT 

(a) The period during which the use is approved to operate is restricted to 1 year 
from the date of this consent. The footway dining area can only operate 
during this time if there is a concurrent consent for footway dining issued 
under the Roads Act 1993.  

(b) A further application for the outdoor dining area must be lodged prior to the 
end of the current Approval Period for Council’s consideration. Council’s 
consideration of a proposed continuation of the use of the outdoor dining 
area will be based on, among other things, the performance of the operator 
in relation to the compliance with the conditions of the Approval, any 
substantiated complaints received and any views expressed by the Police.  

(3) HOURS OF OPERATION – OUTDOOR SEATING 

The hours of operation for the outdoor dining area are restricted to between 
10.00am and 8.00pm Monday to Sundays.  

(4) FOOTWAY SEATING 

The following conditions apply to footway seating: 

(a) The use of the subject area for outdoor seating is only permitted in 
conjunction with the provision of a food service from the associated food and 
drink use that is operating from the hotel known as The Lord Gladstone 
Hotel.  

17



(b) Seating must be provided for all patrons utilising the approved outdoor dining 
area. 

(c) No alcohol is to be served or consumed within the approved outdoor dining 
area unless authorised under a liquor license.  

(b) The management/licensee/owner of the property must apply for and be 
granted a footway approval by Council under section 125(1) of the Roads 
Act 1993 for the use of the subject area of the footway with all legal costs 
associated with the preparation of the licence being borne by the 
management/licensee/owner. The approval must be issued by Council prior 
to the use of the footway for seating. 

Note: Should the operator of the premises change at any time, the footway 
approval is required to be renewed under the name of the new operator. 

(c) The use of the footway may be suspended to facilitate Council approved 
special events to be held in the street or for road and services works. No 
claim for compensation is entitled under such circumstances. 

(d) In addition to Council’s daily street sweeping and cleansing operations, the 
operator of the food and drink must ensure that the surrounds of the building 
including pavements and gutters are to be kept clean and free of litter at all 
times. 

(e) Approval is granted for the use of an area measuring 8.2sqm on the footway 
of Meagher Street adjoining the Lord Gladstone Hotel in accordance with 
the plan marked as GA01 Rev D.  

(f) All furniture must be kept strictly within the boundaries of the area defined 
on the approved drawing GA01 Rev D.  

(g) All outdoor furniture and planting must be maintained at all times in a 
physically sound condition and of an appearance that is deemed to be 
acceptable by Council. 

(h) No furniture or other structure is to be fixed to the pavement, without the 
consent of Council. 

(i) The chairs should be able to be stacked or folded for storage when not in 
use with a furniture storage area being provided within the premises. 

(j) The use of disposable tableware at the footway cafe is not permitted at any 
time. 

(k) Portable signs or goods for sale or display must not be placed on the footway 
or other public areas without the consent of Council. 

(l) All outdoor furniture and the footway are to be kept clean and free of food 
scraps. 

(m) A separate development application for any proposed signs which are either 
externally fitted or applied must be submitted to and approved by Council 
prior to the erection or display of any such signs. 

18



(5) NEIGHBOURHOOD AMENITY 

(a) Signs must be placed in clearly visible positions within the hotel requesting 
patrons upon leaving the premises to do so quickly and quietly, having 
regard to maintaining the amenity of the area. The signage shall be in bold 
letters not less than 25mm in height on a contrasting background. 

(b) The management/licensee must ensure that the behaviour of patrons 
entering and leaving the premises does not detrimentally affect the amenity 
of the neighbourhood. 

(6) SIGNS/GOODS IN THE PUBLIC WAY 

No signs or goods are to be placed on the footway or roadway adjacent to the 
property. 

(7) BARRIERS NOT APPROVED  

The use of barriers or enclosures of any kind around the permitter of the outdoor 
seating area is not approved.  

(8) COMPLIANCE WITH THE ACOUSTIC REPORT   

All performance parameters, requirements, engineering assumptions and 
recommendations contained in the acoustic report prepared by Rodney Stevens 
Acoustics, Titled ‘DA Noise Impact Assessment Proposed Footway Dining’ dated 
11 February (TRIM record no. 2018/620779) must be implemented prior to the use 
of the outdoor dining area.  

(9) NOISE  

 (a) An LAeq,15 minute (noise level) emitted from the development must not exceed 
the LA90, 15 minute (background noise level) by more than 3dB when assessed 
inside any habitable room of any affected residence or noise sensitive 
commercial premises at any time. Further: 

(i) The noise level and the background noise level shall both be measured 
with all external doors and windows of the affected residence closed. 

(ii) Background noise measurements must not include noise from the 
development but may include noise from necessary ventilation at the 
affected premise. 

(b) Corrections in Fact Sheet C of the NPfI are applicable to relevant noise 
from the development measured in accordance with this condition, 
however duration corrections are excluded from commercial noise 

(10) NO SPEAKERS OR AMPLIFIED MUSIC OUTSIDE 

Speakers and/or noise amplification equipment must not be installed and music 
must not be played in any of the outdoor areas associated with the premises 
including the public domain. Speakers located within the premises must not be 

19

https://www.epa.nsw.gov.au/-/media/epa/corporate-site/resources/noise/17p0524-noise-policy-for-industry.pdf


placed so as to direct the playing of music towards the outdoor areas associated 
with the premises. 

(11) ROAD CLEARANCE  

Clearance widths for pedestrians should be maintained in accordance with 
AUSTROADS Guide to Road Design Part 6A – Pedestrian and Cyclist Paths 
(Section 6 Design Criteria for Pedestrian Paths) with additional allowance made 
for transverse movements by staff and customers. Pedestrians should not be 
forced on to the road carriageway by footway restaurants or other non-permanent 
items on the footpath.  

(12) NO SPRUIKING NOISE 

No persons (such as those commonly known as spruikers) or recordings or other 
devices which have the effect of spruiking are to be located on Council owned 
property. Furthermore, the sound level of any spruiking generated within privately 
owned land must not be audible on any adjacent property with a shared boundary. 

(13) PLAN OF MANAGEMENT 

The use of the footway must always be operated and managed in accordance with 
the Plan of Management, prepared by Design Collaborative Pty Limited dated 
February 2019 (Ref. 150710.5P) (TRIM record number 2019/117278) that has 
been approved by Council. In the event of any inconsistency, the conditions of this 
consent will prevail over the Plan of Management. 

(14) FOOTWAY APPROVAL DISPLAY NOTICE 

After all payments required before use have been received by Council, a 
Footway Approval display notice will be issued to Holder of the Approval.  The 
footway cannot be used until the display notice has been issued.  The notice 
is to be kept displayed on the subject premises at all times. 

(15) OUTDOOR DINING FURNITURE 

The design and appearance of the outdoor furniture to be used in conjunction 
with the outdoor dining area must comply with Section 5 of Council’s Outdoor 
Dining Guidelines.  

(16) NO OBSTRUCTION OF REGULATORY SIGNS 

The footway seating or approved associated structures must not obstruct the 
view of advisory and regulatory signs and traffic controls.  

(17) ACCESS FOR MAINTENANCE  

Footway seating or any approved structures shall not cover or impede access to 
public or private utility access and drainage pits. Authorities such as Telstra and 
Sydney Water must be given access to the site if required. 

20



SCHEDULE 2 

PRESCRIBED CONDITIONS 

The prescribed conditions in accordance with Division 8A of the Environmental 
Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000 apply: 

Clause 98  Compliance with Building Code of Australia and insurance requirements 
under the Home Building Act 1989 

Clause 98A Erection of signs 

Clause 98B Notification of Home Building Act 1989 requirements 

Clause 98C Conditions relating to entertainment venues 

Clause 98D Conditions relating to maximum capacity signage 

Clause 98E Conditions relating to shoring and adequacy of adjoining property 

Refer to the NSW State legislation for full text of the clauses under Division 8A of the 
Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000. This can be accessed at: 
http://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au 
 

21



Attachment B 

Selected Drawing 

22



M
 E

 A
 G

 H
 E

 R
   

 S
 T

 R
 E

 E
 T

R E G E N T    S T R E E T

G
L

A
D

S
TO

N
E

H
O

T
E

L

11
5

 R
EG

EN
T

 S
TR

EE
T

CH
IP

PE
N

D
A

LE

C H I P P E N     LANE

KE
RB

KERB

sig
n p

ol
e

sig
n

 
po

le
sig

n
 

po
le

  4.6m

tre
e

tre
e

KERB

aw
ni

ng
 

do
tt

ed
 

ov
er

Co
ur

ty
ar

d.

ta
bl

es
 &

 c
ha

irs
 

st
or

ed
 in

 
co

ur
ty

ar
d

1.25m

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 F
O

O
T

W
A

Y
 L

IC
E

N
S

E
FI

LE
   

   

m
h

ga
01

 g
la

ds
to

ne
.ft

w
G

la
ds

to
ne

 H
ot

el
, 

11
5

 R
eg

en
t 

st
re

et
, 

Ch
ip

pe
nd

al
e,

 N
SW

.
D

AT
E

   
   

SC
A

LE
   

   
 

D
RA

W
N

   
   

 

D
RA

W
IN

G
#

RE
V.

JO
B#

20
15

04
20

1:
 1

00

G
A

01
 s

ite
 p

la
n

PR
O

PO
SE

D
 L

IC
EN

SE
D

 A
RE

A

H
O

U
RS

 O
F

 O
PE

RA
TI

O
N

:
 

M
on

 t
o 

Sa
t 

10
am

 -1
2a

m
Su

n
   

   
10

am
 - 

10
pm

3 
TA

BL
ES

10
 C

H
A

IR
S

23

2.78 m 

2.58 m 

6.
54

 m
 

2.74 m
 

D

27
.0

2.
20

19



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Development Application, 1-7 Raglan Street, Waterloo 

File No.: D/2019/82 

Summary 

Date of Submission: 4 February 2019 

Applicant: KU Children's Services 

Owner: City of Sydney Council 

Cost of Works: $16,489 

Zoning: The site is zoned R1 - General Residential Zone. The 
proposed umbrella is ancillary to the use of the site as a  
'centre-based child care facility', which is a permissible 
land use with consent. 

Proposal Summary: The subject development application seeks consent for the 
installation of a 4.2m high and 5m wide shade umbrella to 
be located in the outdoor play area of the KU James Cahill 
Preschool at 1-7 Raglan Street, Waterloo. 

The height of the proposed umbrella/shade structure 
exceeds the maximum height development standard in 
State Environmental Planning Policy (Exempt and 
Complying Development Codes) 2008, and therefore, 
cannot be undertaken as exempt development. 

The application is referred to the Local Planning Panel for 
determination as the City of Sydney Council is the land 
owner. 

The application was notified for a 14-day period between 
11 February 2019 and 26 February 2019. No submissions 
were received. 

The site is located in the Waterloo Conservation Area. 

The proposal is generally compliant with relevant planning 
controls. 

The proposed development is supported as it is compliant 
with the requirements under the Sydney DCP 2012, the 
Education and Care Services National Regulations, the 
State Environmental Planning Policy (Educational 
Establishments and Child Care Facilities) 2017and the 
Child Care Planning Guideline 2017. 

1

Item 10.



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Summary Recommendation: The development application is recommended for 
approval, subject to conditions. 

Development Controls: (i) Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 
1979 

(ii) Education and Care Services National 
Regulations 

(iii) State Environmental Planning Policy 
(Educational Establishments and Child Care 
Facilities) 2017 

(iv) Child Care Planning Guideline August 2017 

(v) Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 (as 
amended) 

(vi) Sydney Development Control Plan 2012  

Attachments: A. Recommended Conditions of Consent 

B. Selected Drawings 

  

2



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Recommendation 

It is resolved that consent be granted to Development Application No. D/2019/82 subject to 
the conditions set out in Attachment A to this report. 

Reasons for Recommendation 

The application is recommended for approval for the following reason: 

(A) The proposed development is consistent with the requirements under the Sydney 
Local Environmental Plan 2012, the Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 and the 
Education and Care Services National Regulations. 

  

3



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Background 

The Site and Surrounding Development 

1. The site has a legal description of Lot 1 DP 74967 and Lots 6, 7 and 8 DP 112169, 
and is commonly known as 1-7 Raglan Street, Waterloo. The site is located on the 
northern side of Raglan Street, between Surrey Street and Elizabeth Street.  

2. The site has an area of 1390.1sqm and is generally square in shape. It has a primary 
street frontage to Raglan Street of 37 metres and a secondary street frontage to 
Surrey Street.  

3. Existing on site is a single storey building located towards  the front of the site (the 
Raglan Street frontage). The site is currently occupied by the KU James Cahill 
Preschool. There is an outdoor play area and a shed at the rear. The site contains 
mature vegetation at the rear. 

4. The surrounding land uses are predominately residential dwelling houses, with the 
exception of several business and retail premises to the east of the site on Elizabeth 
Street.  

5. The site is not a heritage item but is located within the Waterloo Conservation Area 
(C70). 

6. A site inspection by Council's Planner was undertaken on 13 February 2019. 

7. Photos of the site and surrounds are provided below at Figures 1 to 5: 

 

Figure 1: Aerial image of subject site (in blue) and the surrounding area. 

4



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 2: View of the preschool from Raglan Street 

 

Figure 3: View of the rear playground of the preschool from Surrey Street 

5



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

 

Figure 4: View of the outdoor play area  

 

Figure 5: Proposed location of the shade umbrella structure within the site 

6



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Proposal 

8. The subject application seeks consent for the installation of a 4.2 metre high, 5 metre 
wide shade umbrella within the existing outdoor play area of the KU James Cahill 
Preschool at 1-7 Raglan Street, Waterloo. 

9. A plan and elevation drawing of the proposed umbrella is shown below at Figures 6 
and 7. 

 

Figure 6: Proposed location of shade umbrella on the site. 

 

Figure 7: Elevation plan of proposed shade umbrella. 

7



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

History Relevant to the Development Application 

10. Development Application U00-00286 was approved on 16 March 2000, and granted 
consent for additions and alterations to the preschool building. 

Economic/Social/Environmental Impacts 

11. The application has been assessed under Section 4.15 of the Environmental Planning 
and Assessment Act 1979, including consideration of the following matters: 

(a) Environmental Planning Instruments and DCPs. 

State Environmental Planning Policy (Educational Establishments and Child Care 
Facilities) 2017 

12. The proposed development is not subject to the exempt or complying provisions of this 
SEPP. Due to the height of the umbrella, the proposal also cannot be carried out as 
exempt development under the provisions of the State Environmental Planning Policy 
(Exempt and Complying Development Codes) 2008. Therefore, development consent 
is required. 

13. The scope of works does not alter the provision of indoor floor area or outdoor space, 
and as such, the application does not require concurrence of the NSW Department of 
Education under the provisions of Section 22 of this SEPP. 

14. Pursuant to Section 23 of the SEPP, the consent authority must take into consideration 
any applicable provisions of the Child Care Planning Guideline before determination.  

15. The proposed development is acceptable under Section 4.11 - Shade, of the Child 
Care Planning Guideline. The proposal has been reviewed under these provisions and 
is acceptable as it will provide additional shade in the play area to protect the health 
and well-being of children. 

16. Section 25 of the SEPP includes non-discretionary development standards which 
relate to centre-based child care facilities, and if complied with, these prevent the 
consent authority from requiring more onerous standards. The proposal complies with 
the non-discretionary development standards relating to centre-based child care 
facilities.  

Sydney LEP 2012 

17. The site is located within the R1 General Residential zone. The proposal is for the 
installation of new shade umbrella. These works are ancillary to the existing use of the 
site as a 'centre-based child care facility', which  is a permissible use in the zone, with 
consent.  

18. The relevant matters to be considered under Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 
for the proposed development are outlined below. 

  

8



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Compliance Tables 

Development Control Compliance Comment 

4.3 Height of Buildings Yes A maximum height of 9m is permitted. 

The shade structure will have a 
maximum height of 4.2m. 

4.4 Floor Space Ratio Yes A maximum FSR of 1.25:1 is permitted. 

There is no additional gross floor area 
created as part of this development. 

5.10 Heritage conservation Yes The subject site is located within the 
Waterloo Conservation Area. Council's 
Heritage Specialist supports the 
proposal as it is not visible from Raglan 
Street and is partially visible the rear 
lane, Surrey Street. The umbrella will be 
sympathetic with the streetscape and 
Waterloo Conservation Area. 

 

Part 6 Local Provisions - 
Height and Floor Space  

Compliance Comment 

6.21 Design excellence Yes The installation of an umbrella is not 
considered to be an external alteration 
to an existing building, and as such, the 
design excellence provisions are not 
strictly applicable. Notwithstanding this, 
consideration has been given to the 
provisions of Clause 6.21(4) of SLEP 
2012 below: 

The proposed umbrella is required to 
provide adequate shade to the outdoor 
play area of the child care facility, and is 
a suitable form of development for the 
use of the land. 

The site is located in the Waterloo 
Conservation Area. The proposed 
umbrella is located to the rear of the site, 
and will not be visible from the Raglan 
Street frontage of the site. The umbrella 
will be visible from the Surrey Street 
frontage, however, is not considered to 
detract from the significance of the area. 

 
  

9



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Part 7 Local Provisions - 
General 

Compliance Comment 

7.14 Acid Sulfate Soils  Yes The site is located in class 5 acid sulfate 
soils and development consent is not 
required under this clause to install the 
concrete footing as the works will disturb 
less than 1 tonne of soil and the works 
are not likely to lower the watertable. 

Sydney DCP 2012 

19. The relevant matters to be considered under Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 
for the proposed development are outlined below. 

2. Locality Statements – Redfern Park South Locality 

The subject site is located in the Redfern Park South locality. The proposed shade 
umbrella at a child care facility is considered to be in keeping with the unique character of 
the area and design principles in that it retains the predominant residential character of the 
locality, encourages a mix of community, commercial and service uses. This proposal will 
not impact on the heritage conservation area and does not alter the existing land uses in 
the locality. 

 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

3.5.2 Urban vegetation 

3.5.3 Tree management 

Yes The existing outdoor play area and its 
surrounds includes a number of large 
trees. The installation of the proposed 
umbrella will not result in the removal of 
any trees or require the pruning of any 
vegetation. 

3.9 Heritage Yes The existing building is identified as a 
detracting building in the Waterloo 
Conservation area.  

No objection has been raised to the 
installation of the shade umbrella by the 
City's Heritage Specialist as it will not 
visible from Raglan Street and only 
partially visible from the rear of the site. 
The umbrella will be compatible with the 
conservation area. 

3.11 Transport and Parking Yes The installation of the umbrella within 
the existing rear outdoor play area will 
not alter the existing drop off/collection 
arrangements of the centre. 

10



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

3.12 Accessible design Yes  The installation of the shade umbrella 
will not impact the existing accessibility 
of the pre-school site for persons with 
disabilities. 

 

4. Development Types 

4.4 Other development types 
and uses 

Compliance Comment 

4.4.4 Child Care Centres 

4.4.4.2  Allocation of child care 
places 

Yes The proposed development will not 
modify the number of children, staff or 
the size of the indoor and outdoor play 
area. 

4.4.4.4 Design of play areas Yes The size and active play spaces of the 
outdoor area are unchanged by the 
proposed development. 

The subject application seeks to provide 
additional shade over the existing sand 
pit to ensure adequate shade is provided 
to children in accordance with relevant 
legislation and guidelines. 

The proposal has been reviewed by the 
City's Manager Child and Family 
Services, who has raised no objection to 
the installation of the umbrella.  

They noted that installation of the 
umbrella will assist the centre with 
compliance with shaded areas 
requirements of the Education and Care 
Services National Regulations. 

Other Impacts of the Development 

20. The proposed development is capable of complying with the BCA.  

21. It is considered that the proposal will have no significant detrimental effect relating to 
environmental, social or economic impacts on the locality, subject to appropriate 
conditions being imposed. 

Suitability of the site for the Development  

22. The proposal is of a nature in keeping with the overall function of the site. The 
premises are in a residential surrounding and amongst compatible to the proposal. 

11



Local Planning Panel 3 April 2019 
 

Internal Referrals 

23. The conditions of other sections of Council have been included in the proposed 
conditions. 

24. The application was discussed with the Heritage Specialist and Child Services Unit 
who advised that the proposal is acceptable subject to the recommended conditions. 

Notification, Advertising and Delegation (No Submissions Received) 

25. In accordance with Schedule 1 of the Sydney DCP 2012, the proposed development is 
required to be notified. As such the application was notified for a period of 14 days 
between 11 February 2019 and 26 February 2019, no submissions were received. 

 Public Interest 

26. It is considered that the proposal will have no detrimental effect on the public interest, 
subject to appropriate conditions being proposed. 

S7.11 Contribution 

27. The development does not alter the existing gross floor area and is therefore not 
subject to a S7.11 development contribution. 

Relevant Legislation 

28. The Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979. 

29. Education and Care Services National Regulations. 

Conclusion 

30. The application seeks consent for the installation of a 4.2 metre high shade umbrella 
located at the rear of the KU James Cahill Preschool. The proposal is generally 
compliant with the relevant planning controls for the site and the Education and Care 
Services National Regulations and will not have any adverse impacts on the 
appearance/character of the conservation area. 

31. Development application D/2019/82 is recommended for approval. 

GRAHAM JAHN, AM 

Director City Planning, Development and Transport 

Harry Choi, Planner 

12



Attachment A 

Recommended Conditions of Consent

13



CONDITIONS OF CONSENT 

SCHEDULE 1A 

APPROVED DEVELOPMENT/DESIGN MODIFICATIONS/COVENANTS AND 
CONTRIBUTIONS/USE AND OPERATION 

Note:  Some conditions in Schedule 1A are to be satisfied prior to issue of a Construction 
Certificate and some are to be satisfied prior to issue of Occupation Certificate, where 
indicated. 

(1) APPROVED DEVELOPMENT 

(a) Development must be in accordance with Development Application No. 
D/2019/82 dated 4 February 2019 and the following drawings prepared by 
Magy Khoury Design: 

Drawing Number Drawing Name Date 
 

2018-01/04 Site Plan 17 January 2019 

201819-02/04 Plan 14 November 2018 

201819-03/04 South Elevation 31 December 2018 

and as amended by the conditions of this consent. 

(b) In the event of any inconsistency between the approved plans and 
supplementary documentation, the drawings will prevail. 

(2) HOURS OF WORK AND NOISE – OUTSIDE CBD 

The hours of construction and work on the development must be as follows: 

(a) All work, including building/demolition and excavation work, and activities in 
the vicinity of the site generating noise associated with preparation for the 
commencement of work (eg. loading and unloading of goods, transferring of 
tools etc) in connection with the proposed development must only be carried 
out between the hours of 7.30am and 5.30pm on Mondays to Fridays, 
inclusive, and 7.30am and 3.30pm on Saturdays, with safety inspections 
being permitted at 7.00am on work days, and no work must be carried out 
on Sundays or public holidays. 

(b) All work, including demolition, excavation and building work must comply 
with the City of Sydney Code of Practice for Construction Hours/Noise 1992 
and Australian Standard 2436 - 2010 Guide to Noise Control on 
Construction, Maintenance and Demolition Sites. 

(c) Notwithstanding the above, the use of a crane for special operations, 
including the delivery of materials, hoisting of plant and equipment and 
erection and dismantling of on site tower cranes which warrant the on-street 
use of mobile cranes outside of above hours can occur, subject to a permit 
being issued by Council under Section 68 of the Local Government Act 1993 
and/or Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993. 

Note: Works may be undertaken outside of hours, where it is required to avoid the 
loss of life, damage to property, to prevent environmental harm and/or to avoid 
structural damage to the building. Written approval must be given by the 
Construction Regulation Unit, prior to works proceeding 

14



The City of Sydney Code of Practice for Construction Hours/Noise 1992 allows 
extended working hours subject to the approval of an application in accordance 
with the Code and under Section 4.55 of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act 1979. 

(3) LOADING AND UNLOADING DURING CONSTRUCTION 

The following requirements apply: 

(a) All loading and unloading associated with construction activity must be 
accommodated on site, where possible. 

(b) If, it is not feasible for loading and unloading to take place on site, a Works 
Zone on the street may be considered by Council. 

(c) A Works Zone may be required if loading and unloading is not possible on 
site. If a Works Zone is warranted an application must be made to Council 
at least 8 weeks prior to commencement of work on the site. An approval for 
a Works Zone may be given for a specific period and certain hours of the 
days to meet the particular need for the site for such facilities at various 
stages of construction. The approval will be reviewed periodically for any 
adjustment necessitated by the progress of the construction activities. 

(d) Where hoisting activity over the public place is proposed to be undertaken 
including hoisting from a Works Zone, a separate approval under Section 68 
of the Local Government Act 1993 must be obtained. 

(4) NO OBSTRUCTION OF PUBLIC WAY 

The public way must not be obstructed by any materials, vehicles, refuse, skips or 
the like, under any circumstances. Non-compliance with this requirement will result 
in the issue of a notice by Council to stop all work on site. 

  

15



SCHEDULE 2 

PRESCRIBED CONDITIONS 

The prescribed conditions in accordance with Division 8A of the Environmental 
Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000 apply: 

Clause 98  Compliance with Building Code of Australia and insurance requirements 
under the Home Building Act 1989 

Clause 98A Erection of signs 

Clause 98B Notification of Home Building Act 1989 requirements 

Clause 98C Conditions relating to entertainment venues 

Clause 98D Conditions relating to maximum capacity signage 

Clause 98E Conditions relating to shoring and adequacy of adjoining property 

Refer to the NSW State legislation for full text of the clauses under Division 8A of the 
Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000. This can be accessed at: 
http://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au 

16



Attachment B 

Selected Drawings

17



18



19



20


	Agenda
	1 Disclosures of Interest
	2 Confirmation of Minutes
	3 Development Application: 180-182 St Johns Road, Glebe
	Attachment A - Recommended Conditions of Consent
	CONDITIONS OF CONSENT
	(1) APPROVED DEVELOPMENT
	(2) ACCOMMODATION - REGISTRATION AND CARETAKER
	(3) RESTRICTION ON BOARDING HOUSE
	(a) The building must be used as a boarding house only.
	(b) The minimum length of stay for lodgers is 3 months.
	(c) There shall be no more than 59 residents residing in the premises at any given time.

	(4) RESTRICTION ON STRATA SUBDIVISION
	(5) BOARDING HOUSE - USE AND OPERATION
	(6) USE OF COMMON AREAS
	(7) NO SPEAKERS OR AMPLIFIED MUSIC OUTSIDE
	(8) PLAN OF MANAGEMENT
	The plan of management submitted with the application is not approved.  Prior to any Occupation Certificate being issued, an updated Plan of Management is to be submitted to Council’s Area Planning Manager for approval including the following updates:
	(a) A complaints procedure including incident register that is to be made available to Council upon request.
	(b) That the contact details of on-site manger to be made available to residents and neighbours.
	(c) That CCTV cameras are to be located in common areas, including basement bicycle parking.
	(d) Advice to occupants that they are not eligible to participate Council’s on-street parking schemes.
	(e) Bicycle parking provisions are updated to reflect the conditions of this consent.
	(f) The recommendations included within the submitted acoustic report are to be included.

	(9) SIGN DISPLAYING CONTACT DETAILS FOR MANAGER
	(a) A sign must be placed in a clearly visible position at the boarding house entrance displaying the name of the manager and mobile phone number. The signage shall be in bold letters not less than 25mm in height on a contrasting background that can b...

	(10) CONTRIBUTION TOWARDS PUBLIC AMENITIES – CITY OF SYDNEY DEVELOPMENT CONTRIBUTIONS PLAN 2015 – WEST PRECINCT
	(11)  DESIGN DETAILS / DESIGN MODIFICATIONS
	(a) Details of the first floor external metal privacy screens on the east elevation are to be submitted for approval.  The details of the screens are to include the size, design, spacing, and operability of the louvres (at a scale of 1:20), and includ...
	(b) To accommodate a total of 34 bicycle parking spaces

	(12) USE - SEPARATE APPROVAL REQUIRED
	(13) BICYCLE PARKING
	(14) CHANGES TO KERB SIDE CAR PARKING RESTRICTIONS
	A separate submission must be made for any changes to kerbside parking arrangements. There is no guarantee kerbside parking will be changed or that any change will remain in place for the duration of the development/use.
	All costs associated with any parking changes including signposting would be borne by the developer.
	Note: The applicant is to contact the Area Traffic Engineer to discuss the proposal before making a submission.
	If new parking signage is installed, the developer is to immediately notify the City’s Public Domain team.

	(15) ASSOCIATED ROADWAY COSTS
	All costs associated with the construction of any new road works including kerb and gutter, road pavement, drainage system and footway shall be borne by the developer. The new road works must be designed and constructed in accordance with the City’s “...

	(16) TRAFFIC WORKS
	Any proposals for alterations to the public road, involving traffic and parking arrangements, must be designed in accordance with RMS Technical Directives and must be referred to and agreed to by the Local Pedestrian, Cycling and Traffic Calming Commi...

	(17) SYDNEY WATER CERTIFICATE
	(18) WASTE

	Storage
	(a) The nominated waste and recycling storage areas must be constructed to meet the relevant conditions required by the City’s Guidelines for Waste Management in New Developments 2018.
	(b) Residential bulky waste storage space should be separated by a caged area (or similar) if to be included within a nominated waste holding room for storage or collection bins.
	(c) Residential and commercial waste and recycling receptacles and bulky waste must be stored on the property at all times and must not be placed on kerbside for collection.
	(d) Commercial waste and recycling receptacles must be stored in a separated area from residential waste and recycling receptacles and commercial tenants must not have access to residential bins or waste rooms.
	(e) Doorways to bin collection area(s) and any goods lift(s) must fit the size of bins proposed for use in the WMP. Dimensions of standard bins available for use are:
	1,100 litres – 1240mm long X 1070mm wide
	660 litres – 1260mm long X 780mm wide
	240 litres – 730mm long X 550mm wide)
	Waste and Recycling Collection
	(f) The path of access to be used to move bins to and from collection point must be level and free of steps or kerbs.
	(g) Unimpeded access must be provided for collection from the waste and recycling storage location(s) at all times.
	(h) Unimpeded access shall be provided for collection vehicles to set down within 10 metres of waste storage area(s) between during the designated zone collection times on collection day(s).
	(i) The Boarding House and Commercial tenancy must have a commercial waste contract in place prior to commencement of business trading.
	(19)
	SCHEDULE 1B
	(20) NOTIFICATION – NEW CONTAMINATION EVIDENCE
	(21) IMPORTED FILL MATERIALS
	(22) BASIX CERTIFICATE – DETAILS TO BE LODGED WITH A CC
	(23) LANDSCAPING OF THE SITE
	(24) ASBESTOS REMOVAL WORKS
	(25) FLASHINGS TO BOUNDARY WALLS
	(26) DEMOLITION, EXCAVATION AND CONSTRUCTION NOISE AND VIBRATION MANAGEMENT PLAN

	A site specific management plan shall be submitted to the Council for comment and approval prior to issue of any Construction Certificate.  The Plan must be prepared by a suitably qualified person/s.
	(a) The plan must include but not be limited to the following:-
	(i) Plans and elevations showing distances of the subject building from the location of adjoining and common/party walls, and (where applicable) the proposed method of facade retention and protection.
	(ii) A Demolition Work Method Statement prepared by a licensed demolisher who is registered with the Work Cover Authority. (The demolition by induced collapse, the use of explosives or on-site burning is not permitted.)
	(iii) An Excavation Work Method Statement prepared by an appropriately qualified person.
	(iv) A Waste Management Plan for the demolition and or excavation of the proposed development.
	(v) Plans and elevations showing the location, construction and installation of temporary site fencing and any temporary structures used in connection with the construction of the development.
	(vi) Noise
	(vii) Identification of noise sensitive receivers near to the site.
	(viii) A prediction as to the level of noise impact likely to affect the nearest noise sensitive receivers from the use and proposed number of high noise intrusive appliances intended to be operated onsite. A statement should also be submitted outlini...
	(ix) A representative background noise measurement (LA90, 15 minute) should be submitted, assessed in the vicinity of any potentially affected receiver locations and measured in accordance with AS 1055:1.2.1997.
	(x) Confirmation of the level of community consultation that has/is and will be undertaken with Building Managers/ occupiers of the main adjoining noise sensitive properties likely to be most affected by site works and the operation of plant/machinery...
	(xi) Confirmation of noise monitoring methodology that is to be undertaken during the main stages of work at neighbouring noise sensitive properties in order to keep complaints to a minimum and to ensure that noise from site works complies with the no...
	(xii) What course of action will be undertaken following receipt of a complaint concerning offensive noise.
	(xiii) Details of any noise mitigation measures that have been outlined by an acoustic consultant or otherwise that will be deployed on site to reduce noise impacts on the occupiers of neighbouring noise sensitive property to a minimum.
	(xiv) What plant and equipment is to be used on site, the level of sound mitigation measures to be undertaken in each case and the criteria adopted in their selection taking into account the likely noise impacts on the occupiers of neighbouring proper...

	(27) COMPLIANCE WITH DEMOLITION, EXCAVATION & CONSTRUCTION NOISE AND VIBRATION MANAGEMENT PLAN
	(28) CONSTRUCTION TRAFFIC AND PEDESTRIAN MANAGEMENT PLAN
	A Construction Traffic and Pedestrian Management Plan must be submitted to and approved by Council prior to a Construction Certificate being issued.
	Construction Traffic and Pedestrian Management Plans are to be prepared in accordance with Standard Requirements for Construction Traffic Management Plan on the City’s website http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/business/business-responsibilities/traff...

	(29) DILAPIDATION REPORT
	(30) EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL - BETWEEN 250 AND 2,500SQM
	(31) CLASSIFICATION OF WASTE
	(32) ARCHAEOLOGICAL INVESTIGATION
	(a) Should any historical relics be unexpectedly discovered on the site during excavation, all excavation or disturbance to the area is to stop immediately and the Heritage Council of NSW should be informed in accordance with section 146 of the Herita...
	(b) Should any Aboriginal relics be unexpectedly discovered then all excavation or disturbance of the area is to stop immediately and the National Parks and Wildlife Division of the Department of  Environment and Conservation is to be informed in acco...
	(c) Should any archaeological remains or Aboriginal objects be discovered, a copy of recording of the finds and the final archaeological summary report is to be submitted to Council prior to the Occupational Certificate;
	(d) If the discovery is on Council’s land, Council must be informed.

	(33) GENERAL HERITAGE
	(a) The fabric and features of the terrace at 180 St Johns Road to be retained by the proposal must be property protected during the process of demolition and construction. The protection measures are to be specified in the construction management plan.
	(b) All conservation and adaption works to the terrace are to be in accordance with the Articles of the Australia ICOMOS Burra Charter 1999.
	(c) Experienced tradespersons (as appropriate) are to be commissioned who are skilled in traditional building and engineering trades to carry out the proposed scope of works to the terrace.

	(34) MAKING GOOD EXISTING TERRACE
	(a) All new external finishes and works of making good to the existing terrace must shall match the existing original work adjacent in the terrace pair in respect of materials used, detailed execution and finished appearance.

	(35) HERITAGE INTERPRETATION PLAN
	(a) An interpretation plan for the site must be submitted to and approved by Council’s Area Planning Manager, prior to a Construction Certificate being issued.
	(b) The interpretation plan must detail how information on the history and significance of the site will be provided for the public and make recommendations regarding public accessibility, signage and lighting. Public art, details of the heritage desi...
	(c) The plan, must specify the location, type, materials, finishes and contents of the interpretation device proposed.
	(d) The plan is to be prepared by a suitably experienced heritage consultant or historian
	(e) Prior to any Occupation Certificate being issued the approved interpretation plan must be implemented to the satisfaction of Council’s Area Planning Manager.

	(36) EXTERNAL COLOUR SCHEME OF TERRACE
	(a) The external colour scheme of the terrace at 180 St Johns Road is to comprise predominantly earthy tones in keeping with the overall Victorian character of the building and the Heritage Conservation Area. A schedule of colours is to be submitted t...
	(b) It is recommended that reference be made to the book "Colour Schemes for Old Australian Houses" by Ian Evans, Clive Lucas and Ian Stapleton..

	(37) TERRACE FAÇADE CONSERVATION WORKS
	The Conservation Works shown on drawings prepared by Mark Shapiro Architects referenced in Condition 1 are to be carried out, under the direction of the applicant’s heritage consultant and completed prior to the issue of any occupation certificate.

	(38) RETENTION OF CHIMNEY
	The existing chimney at 180 St Johns Road is to be retained and protected in accordance with the measures included within the report prepared by Sellick Consultants Ref: 180350, Dated 23 January 2019.

	(39) STREET TREE PROTECTION
	(40) STREET TREE PRUNING AND REMOVAL
	(41) SURVEY
	(42) SYDNEY WATER CERTIFICATE (TAP-IN)
	(43) ALIGNMENT LEVELS – MAJOR DEVELOPMENT
	(44) PHOTOGRAPHIC RECORD / DILAPIDATION REPORT - PUBLIC DOMAIN
	(45) PUBLIC DOMAIN PLAN
	(46) PUBLIC DOMAIN WORKS - HOLD POINTS AND HANDOVER
	(47) STORMWATER AND DRAINAGE - MAJOR DEVELOPMENT
	(a) Prior to an approval or Construction Certificate being issued for  excavation, civil construction, drainage or building work (whichever is earlier), excluding approved preparatory or demolition work a detailed drainage engineering design, calculat...
	(i) prepared by a suitably qualified hydraulic or civil engineer to show the proposed method of collection and disposal of stormwater; and
	(ii) prepared in accordance with the City of Sydney’s Stormwater Drainage Manual, technical specifications, standards and policies, as amended from time to time; and
	(iii) submitted to and be approved by the City of Sydney and a copy of the City’s letter of approval must be provided to the Principal Certifying Authority.

	(b) For approval of a connection into the City of Sydney’s drainage system an “Application for Approval of Stormwater Drainage Connections" must be submitted to the City, together with an application fee in accordance with the City of Sydney’s adopted...
	(i) The application must be approved by the City of Sydney prior to an approval or Construction Certificate being issued for excavation, civil construction, drainage or building work (whichever is earlier), excluding approved preparatory or demolition...
	(ii) All proposed connections to the City's underground drainage system require the owner to enter into a Deed of Agreement with the City of Sydney and obtain registration on Title of a Positive Covenant prior to an Occupation Certificate being issued...



	On-site Detention
	(c) The requirements of Sydney Water with regard to the on-site detention of stormwater must be ascertained and complied with.
	(i) Evidence of the approval by Sydney Water of the detailed design of the on-site detention must be submitted to and be accepted by the City of Sydney and a copy of the City’s letter of acceptance must be provided to the Principal Certifying Authorit...
	(ii) Prior to the issue of an Occupation Certificate, including an Interim Occupation Certificate, a Positive Covenant must be registered on the property title for all drainage systems involving On-Site Detention (OSD) to ensure maintenance of the app...
	Stormwater Quality Assessment
	(d) Prior to a Construction Certificate being issued for any excavation, civil construction, drainage or building work (whichever is earlier), but excluding approved preparatory or demolition work, a stormwater quality assessment must be undertaken an...

	A stormwater quality assessment must be undertaken by a suitably qualified drainage engineer to demonstrate how the development will be designed to ensure that the flow of post-development pollutants from the site due to stormwater will be reduced.  T...
	Prior to the issue of an Occupation Certificate, maintenance schedules of the proposed water sensitive urban design and drainage measures must be submitted to and be approved by the Principal Certifying Authority and a copy provided to the City of Syd...
	Completion / Works-as-Executed Documentation
	(e) Prior to a Certificate of Completion being issued by the City of Sydney for stormwater drainage works:
	(i) All works for the disposal of stormwater and drainage are to be implemented in accordance with the approved plans, City of Sydney technical specifications. Standards and policies, approval letters and the requirements of this consent.
	(ii) a Works-As-Executed survey, prepared, signed and dated by a Registered Surveyor, must be submitted to and be accepted by the City of Sydney.  The plan must be overlaid on a copy of the approved stormwater drainage plans issued with the Constructi...
	(iii) Electronic works-as-executed (as-built) details, certifications, warranties, inspection reports (including Closed Circuit Television reports) and associated documentation for the completed work must be prepared and certified by a suitably qualif...

	(f) Prior to the issue of the first Occupation Certificate, including an Interim Occupation Certificate, or before the use commences (whichever is earlier):
	(i) A copy of the City’s Certificate of Completion for all stormwater and drainage work undertaken in the public domain must be provided to the Principal Certifying Authority;
	(ii) a Works-As-Executed survey, must be prepared, signed, dated and certified by a Registered Surveyor and must be submitted to and be accepted by the Principal Certifying Authority. The Works-as-Executed plan must be overlaid on a copy of the approv...
	(iii) a Hydraulic Compliance Certificate and Calculation Sheet must be prepared by a suitably qualified hydraulic engineer (minimum NER), showing approved versus installed hydraulic calculations, and must be submitted to and be accepted by the Princip...
	(iv) evidence of Sydney Water’s acceptance of the Works-As-Executed documentation, certification and Hydraulic Compliance Certificate and Calculation Sheet must be provided to the Principal Certifying Authority;
	(v) The Principal Certifying Authority must submit a copy of the Works-As-Executed plans, certifications, Hydraulic Compliance Certificate and Calculation Sheet to the City of Sydney.

	(48) DEFECTS LIABILITY PERIOD – PUBLIC DOMAIN WORKS
	(49) DRAINAGE AND SERVICE PIT LIDS
	(50) PROTECTION OF STONE KERBS
	(51) PUBLIC DOMAIN DAMAGE DEPOSIT
	(52) PUBLIC DOMAIN LIGHTING
	(53) FLOOD PLANNING LEVELS
	The design of the buildings and structures on site must comply with the following criteria:
	(a) The proposed ground floor level of the building shall be set at or above 0.3m above the existing gutter invert levels of the adjacent road. This requirement shall be reflected on the Construction Certificate plans.

	(54) COMPLIANCE WITH THE ACOUSTIC REPORT PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION AND OR OCCUPATION CERTIFICATES
	(a) Where detailed design and specification of acoustic performance requirements cannot be completed during the DA stage acoustic report, a suitably qualified acoustic consultant* is to be engaged prior to the commencement of the construction stage of...
	(i) Noise Impact Assessment, prepared by Acoustic Logic, ref. 20181128.1/1008A/R3/AW, Rev. 3, dated 10 August 2018.


	(55)  COMMERCIAL PLANT / INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT
	(56) AIR CONDITIONERS
	(a) Emit noise that is audible within a habitable room in any other residential property (regardless of whether any door or window to that room is open):
	(i) before 8.00am and after 10.00pm on any Saturday, Sunday or public holiday; or
	(ii) before 7.00am and after 10.00pm on any other day; or

	(b) Emit a sound pressure level that when measured at the boundary of any other residential property, at a time other than those specified in (i) and (ii) above, which exceeds the background (LA90, 15 minute) by more than 5dB(A). The source and backgr...

	(57) MECHANICAL VENTILATION
	(a) The premises must be ventilated in accordance with the Building Code of Australia and AS1668.1 -The Use of Mechanical Ventilation and Air conditioning in Buildings – Fire and Smoke Control in Multi-compartment Buildings and AS1668.2 - The Use of V...
	(b) Details of any mechanical ventilation and/or air conditioning system complying with AS1668.1 -The Use of Mechanical Ventilation and Air conditioning in Buildings – Fire and Smoke Control in Multi-compartment Buildings and AS1668.2 - The Use of Ven...
	(c) Prior to issue of an Occupation Certificate and following the completion, installation, and testing of all the mechanical ventilation systems, a Mechanical Ventilation Certificate of Completion and Performance in accordance with Clause A2.2(a)(iii...

	(58) HOURS OF WORK AND NOISE – OUTSIDE CBD
	(59) USE OF HIGH NOISE EMISSION APPLIANCES / PLANT
	(a) The operation of high noise emission appliances, plant and/or machinery such as pile – drivers, rock breakers and hydraulic hammers and those which are not listed in Groups B, C, D, E or F of Schedule 1 of the City of Sydney Code of Practice for C...
	(i) 9:00am – 12:30pm and 2:00pm – 4:30pm;
	(ii) 9:00am – 1:00pm Saturdays;
	(iii) No work permitted on Sundays or Public Holidays.


	(60) NOTIFICATION OF EXCAVATION WORKS OR USE OF HIGH NOISE EMISSION APPLIANCES/PLANT
	(61) CONSTRUCTION ACCESS DRIVEWAYS TO BE CONSTRUCTED
	(62) LOADING AND UNLOADING DURING CONSTRUCTION
	(63) COVERING OF LOADS
	(64) USE OF MOBILE CRANES
	(65) NO OBSTRUCTION OF PUBLIC WAY
	(66) ENCROACHMENTS – PUBLIC WAY
	(67) SURVEY CERTIFICATE AT COMPLETION
	(68) WASTE AND RECYCLING
	Commercial waste service collections and waste storage arrangements must be conducted in accordance with the City’s Waste Policy –Local Approvals Policy for Managing Waste in Public Places (2013).

	(69) WASTE AND RECYCLING MANAGEMENT
	(70) Prior to an Occupation Certificate being issued or the use commencing, whichever is earlier, the Principal Certifier must ensure that waste handling works have been completed in accordance with: the Waste and Recycling Management Plan; other rele...
	(71) OCCUPATION CERTIFICATE TO BE SUBMITTED


	Attachment B - Selected Drawings
	Attachment C - Clause 4.6 Variation Request
	Attachment C variation
	s46 180 182 St Johns Road Glebe cl 30 1h motorbike parking


	4 Development Application: 1 Missenden Road, Camperdown
	Attachment A - Recommended Conditions of Consent
	Attachment B - Selected Drawings
	Attachment C - Clause 4.6 Variation Request
	Attachment C Cover Sheet
	Clause 4.6 Revised Submission March 2019 - maximum height

	Attachment D - Draft Voluntary Planning Agreement
	Attachment D Cover Sheet
	2019 098922  Attachment - C - Draft VPA for exhibition 26 02 2019 - 1 Missenden Rd, Camperdown - D 2018 73
	Contract - X018204 - George Hay - 1 Missenden Road Camperdown - VPA - DRAFT
	Contract - X018204 - George Hay - 1 Missenden Road Camperdown - Advertising Deed - DRAFT
	Documentation - X018204 - George Hay - 1 Missenden Road Camperdown - Positive covenant document - DRAFT


	Attachment E - External Consultants Report - Peer Review of Lighting Impact Assessment
	Attachment E Cover Sheet
	Attachment E External Consutlants PEER REVIEW REPORT

	Attachment F - External Authority Referral Comments
	Attachment F Cover Sheet
	20180326 RMS Response D_2018_73


	5 Development Application: 30-42 Lower Fort Street, Dawes Point
	Attachment A - Recommended Conditions of Consent
	Attachment B1 - Selected Drawings
	Attachment B1 cover sheet 1
	drawings p1-16
	DA Working Document - Combined drawings(2)


	Attachment B2 - Selected Drawings
	Attachment B2 cover sheet
	drawings 17-27 

	Attachment C - Clause 4.6 Variation Request - Building Height
	Attachment C cover sheet
	Cl4.6 - Rev3 - 30-42 Lower Fort Street & 2-4 Trinity Ave, Dawes Point 

	Attachment D - Clause 4.6 Variation Request - Apartment Size
	Attachment D cover sheet
	Revised Clause 4.6 submission - Minimum 1 bedroom unit size


	6 Development Application: 21 O'Connor Street, Chippendale
	Attachment A - Selected Drawings
	Attachment Cover Sheet Template
	Item 5 - Attachment A

	Attachment B - Clause 4.6 Variation Requests
	Attachment Cover Sheet Template
	item 5 - Attachment B
	Clause 4.6 FSR - D20181360
	Clause 4.6 Height - D20181360



	7 Development Application: 19 Ralph Street, Alexandria
	Attachment A - Recommended Conditions of Consent
	Attachment B - Selected Drawings - Floor Plans
	Attachment Cover Sheet Template
	Item 7 - Attachment B

	Attachment C - Selected Drawings
	Attachment D - Public Benefit Offer
	Attachment E - Draft Voluntary Planning Agreement
	Attachment F - Clause 4.6 Variation Request

	8 Development Application: 174 St Johns Road, Glebe
	Attachment A - Recommended Conditions of Consent
	(1) APPROVED DEVELOPMENT
	(a) Development must be in accordance with Development Application No. D/2019/22 dated 4 December 2018 and the following drawings:
	(b) In the event of any inconsistency between the approved plans and supplementary documentation, the drawings will prevail.

	(2) DESIGN MODIFICATIONS
	(a) the solid polished brass screw mounted letters proposed on the front face of the awning  shall be modified to a painted finish specifying the business name “Pizze Baby” only; and
	(b) no modification to the materials and finishes is permitted above the awning; and
	(c) an area is to be nominated on the approved plans for patrons waiting for takeaway service within the premises.

	(3) COMPLIANCE WITH SUBMITTED MATERIALS AND SAMPLES BOARD
	(4) PRIMARY PURPOSE
	(5) PLAN OF MANAGEMENT
	(a) The Plan of Management (POM) checklist accompanying this Development Application has not been approved by this consent.
	(b) The applicant shall provide a Plan of Management for the operations of the premises. The purpose of this Plan is to establish performance criteria for various aspects of the operations of the premises. The Plan of Management must address:
	(i) Hours of operation approved by this consent;
	(ii) Amenity of neighbourhood specifically the use of the side passageway and management of patrons waiting for takeaway orders in accordance with Condition 12;
	(iii) Noise;
	(iv) The front door providing direct access to St Johns Road and the disabled access via the side passageway shall both be closed after 9.00pm apart from providing entry and egress from the premises;
	(v) Behaviour of patrons;
	(vi) Deliveries and waste removal and management;
	(vii) Maintenance;
	(viii) Staff; and
	(ix) Capacity of premises approved by this consent.


	(6) COPIES OF CONSENTS AND MANAGEMENT PLANS
	(7) SURVEILLANCE CAMERAS
	(a) CCTV surveillance cameras shall be strategically installed, operated and maintained throughout the premises with particular coverage to:
	(i) principal entrance/s and exits;
	(ii) all areas within the premise occupied by the public (excluding toilets);
	(iii) staircases in multilevel premises; and
	(iv) the area within a 10m radius external to the public entrance(s) to the premise.

	(b) Suitable and clearly visible signage shall be displayed at the principal entrance(s) to the premise and in a prominent position on each floor accessible to the public, in lettering not less than 50mm in height with the words “Closed Circuit Televi...
	(c) All CCTV recording equipment and cameras shall be of high grade digital quality capable of establishing the population and identification of patrons, offenders and incidents within the depth of field view of the cameras. In this respect each surve...
	(d) CCTV recording discs or hard drive recordings shall be retained for 28 days before being re-used, destroyed or deleted. Time and date shall be auto recorded on the disc or hard drive. The CCTV recording equipment shall be capable of reproducing a ...
	(e) All CCTV recording devices and cameras shall be checked daily to ensure the equipment is operating correctly. The Licensee shall record this daily checking activity in the security/incident register book that meets the standards required by the Li...
	(f) All CCTV recording devices and cameras shall be operated at all times when the premises are open to the public and, where premises do not operate 24 hours a day, continuously for at least 1 hour prior to opening and closing times of the premises.
	(g) The CCTV recording device shall be secured within the premises and only be accessible to senior management personnel so as to maintain the integrity of the recorded footage. When the premises is operating there must be at least one staff member pr...
	(h) Camera views are not to be obstructed by temporary or permanent structures, signage or other impediments.

	(8) EXTERNAL LIGHTING
	(9) HOURS OF OPERATION - MINOR DEVELOPMENT
	(10) CESSATION OF SERVICE
	(11) MAXIMUM CAPACITY OF PERSONS
	(a) The maximum number of persons (including staff, patrons and performers) permitted in the premises at any one time is 48 persons.
	(b) The manager is responsible for ensuring the number of persons in the premses does not exceed that specified above.
	(c) A sign in letters not less than 25mm in height must be fixed at the main entry point to the premises stating the maximum number of persons, as specified in the development consent, that are permitted in the building. Details are to be provided to ...
	(i) entertainment venue,
	(ii) function centre,
	(iii) pub,
	(iv) registered club,
	(v) restaurant.


	(12) NEIGHBOURHOOD AMENITY
	(a) Signs must be placed in clearly visible positions within the café/restaurant requesting patrons upon leaving the premises to do so quickly and quietly, having regard to maintaining the amenity of the area. The signage shall be in bold letters not ...
	(b) The management must ensure that the behaviour of patrons entering and leaving the premises does not detrimentally affect the amenity of the neighbourhood.
	(c) The use of the side passageway must be to enter and exit the premises only. No loitering in the passageway is permitted at any time including persons waiting for takeaway orders.

	(13) NO SPEAKERS OR AMPLIFIED MUSIC OUTSIDE
	(14) NO SPRUIKING NOISE
	(15) NOISE FROM GLASS REMOVAL
	(16) CONTROL OF LIGHT INTO THE ENVIRONMENT
	(17) DELIVERIES AND WASTE REMOVAL
	(a) All deliveries, waste collection and disposal including glass removal and emptying of the grease trap is restricted to between 8.00am – 6.00pm Mondays to Sundays.
	(b) The Plan of Management shall detail all deliveries and waste collection times to ensure the amenity of the neighbourhood.

	(18) ACCESS AND FACILITIES FOR PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES
	(19) EMISSIONS
	(a) The use of the premises must not give rise to the emission of gases, vapours, dusts or other impurities which are a nuisance, injurious or prejudicial to health.
	(b) Gaseous emissions from the development must comply with the requirements of the Protection of the Environment Operations Act 1997 and Protection of the Environment Operations (Clean Air) Regulation 2010.
	(c) Uses that produce airborne particulate matter must incorporate an effective dust collection system.

	(20) ANNUAL FIRE SAFETY STATEMENT FORM
	(21) COMPLIANCE WITH BUILDING CODE OF AUSTRALIA
	(22) CONSTRUCTION AND FITOUT OF FOOD PREMISES
	(23) GREASE AND LIQUID WASTE TRAPS
	(a) A grease trap if required by Sydney Water must be installed in accordance with Sydney Water requirements and:
	(b) Must be installed by a suitably qualified and licensed plumber in accordance with the Plumbing Code of Australia;
	(c) The grease trap must be not be located in any kitchen, food preparation or food storage area;
	(d) Be suitably constructed and installed in a location which allows it to be easily and effectively cleaned and emptied; and
	(e) Be suitably constructed and located as not to encourage the harbourage of pests and be effectively pest proofed.
	(f) In-sink and in-floor waste bucket traps must be installed in all sinks and floor wastes in all commercial kitchens and food preparation areas and must be carried out by a suitably qualified and licensed plumber in accordance with the Plumbing Code...

	(24) NOTIFICATION OF CONDUCT OF FOOD BUSINESS
	(a) The use shall not commence until the food business has notified Council of their food business details in accordance with the Food Act 2003 and The Australia New Zealand Food Standards Code – 3.2.2 – Food Safety Practices and General Requirements,...
	(b) An Occupation Certificate must not be issued until such notification has been received by Council in accordance with Clause (a) of this condition.

	(25) SANITARY FACILITIES – FOOD PREMISES
	(26) TOILETS FOR FOOD HANDLERS
	(a) Adequate toilet facilities must be available for food handlers working for the food business. Toilets and associated facilities must be provided in accordance with AS4674 – Design, Construction and Fit-out of Food Premises and the Australia New Ze...
	(b) Details of the location of toilets which are provided exclusively for the use of food handlers and staff working at the business must be submitted for the approval of the Principal Certifier prior to the issue of any Construction Certificate.
	(c) The toilet(s) must be provided with a hand wash basin, with hot and cold running water mixed through a common spout, hand wash soap, hygienic hand drying facilities and hands-free taps.

	(27) WASTE STORAGE AREA
	(a) To ensure the adequate storage and collection of waste from the food premises, all garbage and recyclable materials emanating from the premises must be stored in a designated waste storage area. The waste storage area must be designed and construc...
	(i) Provided with a hose tap connected to the water supply.
	(ii) Paved with impervious floor materials.
	(iii) Coved at the intersection of the floor and walls.
	(iv) Graded and drained to a waste disposal system in accordance with the requirements of the relevant regulatory authority (Sydney Water).
	(v) Adequately ventilated (mechanically or naturally) so that odour emissions do not cause offensive odour or air pollution as defined by the Protection of the Environment Operations Act 1997 or a nuisance.
	(vi) Fitted with appropriate interventions to meet fire safety standards in accordance with the Building Code of Australia.
	(vii) Provided with the appropriate number and size of bins adequate for the storage of waste generated by the business, including recycling.
	(viii) Appropriately managed so that it does not attract pests or create litter.

	(b) Detailed plans and specifications for the construction of the waste storage area must be submitted to and approved by the Principal Certifier prior to the issue of any Construction Certificate and must be constructed in accordance with such plans ...

	(28) MATERIALS FOR MAKING GOOD
	(29) FOOD PREMISES – ADDITIONAL MECHANICAL VENTILATION REQUIREMENTS
	(30) MECHANICAL VENTILATION – ADDITIONAL ODOUR AND SMOKE CONTROLS
	(a) Prior to the issue of any Construction Certificate, specify filtration and odour control systems as part of the proposed mechanical ventilation design and drawings (including specifications of the proposed mechanical kitchen exhaust ventilation sy...
	(b) Certify the design in accordance with the Building Code of Australia and AS1668 - The Use of Mechanical Ventilation and Air conditioning in Buildings; and
	(c) Prior to the issue of an Occupation Certificate inspect the mechanical ventilation and filtration/odour control systems and certify that the system/s have been installed to the approved design; and
	(d) Certify the satisfactory performance of the installed system/s.

	(31) MECHANICAL VENTILATION – CLEANING AND MAINTENANCE PLAN
	(a) A Cleaning and Maintenance Plan of Management shall be submitted to and approved by Council’s Area Coordinator Planning Assessments prior to the issue of Occupation Certificate. The Cleaning and Maintenance Plan must include the following:
	(i) What type of maintenance and cleaning procedures are to be followed, and at what frequency;
	(ii) Detail the methods and procedures required to maintain the filtration and odour control system(s) in accordance with manufacturer's specifications, in a clean condition, and in satisfactory working order;
	(iii) Emergency maintenance and risk management associated with a failure in the system; and
	(iv) The contact person/s details for emergency maintenance;
	Changes to the approved Cleaning and Maintenance Plan of Management can be made in consultation with Council and must be approved by Council in writing prior to implementation.

	(b) The approved Cleaning and Maintenance plan must be:
	(i) implemented during the use of the premises;
	(ii) kept on the premises at all times and must be available for inspection to Council officers upon request;

	(c)  A service log detailing compliance with the approved Cleaning and Maintenance Plan of Management must be kept. The service log is to contain details regarding the cleaning and maintenance of the filtration and odour control system(s) and must be ...
	(d) The operation of any mechanical ventilation system that has incorporated pollution control equipment for the purpose of treating air impurities, including smoke and odour emissions must be cleaned and maintained in good working order and good repa...

	(32) PHOTOGRAPHIC RECORD / DILAPIDATION REPORT - PUBLIC DOMAIN
	(i) A PDF format report containing all images at a scale that clearly demonstrates the existing site conditions;
	(ii) Each image is to be labelled to identify the elements depicted, the direction that the image is viewed towards, and include the name of the relevant street frontage;
	(iii) Each image is to be numbered and cross referenced to a site location plan;
	(iv) A summary report, prepared by a suitable qualified professional, must be submitted in conjunction with the images detailing the project description, identifying any apparent existing defects, detailing the date and authorship of the photographic ...
	(v) Include written confirmation, issued with the authority of both the applicant and the photographer that the City of Sydney is granted a perpetual non-exclusive license to make use of the copyright in all images supplied, including the right to mak...

	(33) PROTECTION OF STONE KERBS
	(a) The existing stone kerbs on the St Johns Road frontage of the site are to be retained and properly protected during construction works.
	(b) To avoid damage to stone kerbs during construction works for the development, temporary removal and storage of the stone kerbs may be approved by Council. Removed, serviceable stone kerbs (i.e. those that are in good condition as agreed by Council...
	(c) Damaged kerbs are to be replaced to match existing to Council’s satisfaction or as otherwise advised by Council officers.
	(d) Where new crossings or temporary crossings are to be constructed to access the property, the affected kerb stones should be salvaged and reused wherever possible.
	(e) All new driveway laybacks and kerbs are to be constructed with stone kerbs to match existing stones or as specified by City officers. All unused stone kerbs are to be salvaged and returned to the City’s store.
	(f) Council approval is required before kerbs are removed.
	(g) Council approval is required prior to the cutting of existing stone kerbs for stormwater kerb outlets.

	(34) WORKS REQUIRING USE OF A PUBLIC PLACE
	(35) WASTE AND RECYCLING MANAGEMENT - COMMERCIAL
	(a) The Waste and Recycling Management Plan accompanying this Development Application has not been approved by this consent.
	(b) A Waste and Recycling Management Plan is to be approved by the Principal Certifier prior to any Construction Certificate being issued. The plan must comply with the Council's Guidelines for Waste Management in New Developments 2018. All requiremen...
	(c) Commercial waste and recycling receptacles and any bulky waste must be stored on the property at all times and must not be placed on the kerbside for collection.
	(d) Prior to an Occupation Certificate being issued or the use commencing, whichever is earlier, the Principal Certifier must ensure that waste handling works have been completed in accordance with: the Waste and Recycling Management Plan; other relev...

	(36) COOLROOMS
	(a) All proposed shelving in the coolroom must be free-standing, constructed of galvanised steel angle section or other approved material with the lowest shelf at least 150mm clear of the floor.
	(b) The floor of the coolroom must be constructed of impermeable concrete or coated, topped or otherwise finished with an impervious material to a smooth even surface and coved at the intersections with the walls to a minimum radius of 25mm.
	(c) Must be fitted with a door that can be opened at all times from inside without a key.
	(d) An approved audible alarm device must be located outside the coolroom(s) but controllable only from within the coolroom(s) and must be able to achieve a sound pressure level outside the chamber or coolroom(s) of 90 d B (A) when measured 3 metres f...

	(37) HOURS OF WORK AND NOISE – OUTSIDE CBD
	(a) All work, including building/demolition and excavation work, and activities in the vicinity of the site generating noise associated with preparation for the commencement of work (eg. loading and unloading of goods, transferring of tools etc) in co...
	(b) All work, including demolition, excavation and building work must comply with the City of Sydney Code of Practice for Construction Hours/Noise 1992 and Australian Standard 2436 - 2010 Guide to Noise Control on Construction, Maintenance and Demolit...
	(c) Notwithstanding the above, the use of a crane for special operations, including the delivery of materials, hoisting of plant and equipment and erection and dismantling of on site tower cranes which warrant the on-street use of mobile cranes outsid...

	(38) SITE NOTICE OF PROJECTS DETAILS AND APPROVALS
	(a) A site notice is to be prominently displayed at the boundary to each frontage of the site for the purposes of informing the public of appropriate project details and relevant approvals. The notice(s) is to satisfy all of the following requirements:
	(b) Minimum dimensions of the notice are to measure 841mm x 594mm (A1) with any text on the notice to be a minimum of 30 point type size;
	(c) The notice is to be durable and weatherproof and is to be displayed throughout the construction period.
	(d) A copy of the first page of the development approval, building approval (including any modifications to those approvals) and any civic works approvals is to be posted alongside the notice in weatherproof casing;
	(e) The approved hours of work, the Principal Certifier including contact address and certification details, the name of the site manager, the responsible managing company, its address and 24 hour contact phone number for any enquiries, including cons...
	(f) The notice(s) is to be mounted at eye level on the perimeter hoardings and is also to state that unauthorised entry to the site is not permitted.
	(g) All notices and signs must be displayed in locations as specified in the City’s Guidelines for Hoardings and Scaffolding.

	(39) ENCROACHMENTS – NEIGHBOURING PROPERTIES
	(40) ENCROACHMENTS – PUBLIC WAY
	(41) OCCUPATION CERTIFICATE TO BE SUBMITTED
	(42) NO OBSTRUCTION OF PUBLIC WAY
	(43) LOADING AND UNLOADING DURING CONSTRUCTION
	(a) All loading and unloading associated with construction activity must be accommodated on site, where possible.
	(b) If, it is not feasible for loading and unloading to take place on site, a Works Zone on the street may be considered by Council.
	(c) A Works Zone may be required if loading and unloading is not possible on site. If a Works Zone is warranted an application must be made to Council at least 8 weeks prior to commencement of work on the site. An approval for a Works Zone may be give...
	(d) Where hoisting activity over the public place is proposed to be undertaken including hoisting from a Works Zone, a separate approval under Section 68 of the Local Government Act 1993 must be obtained.

	(44) WASTE AND RECYCLING COLLECTION CONTRACT
	(a) Prior to an Occupation Certificate being issued and/or commencement of the use, whichever is earlier, the building owner must ensure that there is a contract with a licensed contractor for the removal of all waste. No garbage is to be placed on th...
	(b) Commercial waste service collections and waste storage arrangements must be conducted in accordance with the City’s Waste Policy – Local Approvals Policy for Managing Waste in Public Places (2013).

	SCHEDULE 2 PRESCRIBED CONDITIONS

	Attachment B - Selected Drawings

	9 Development Application: 115-117 Regent Street, Chippendale
	Attachment A - Recommended Conditions of Consent
	Attachment B - Selected Drawing
	Attachment Cover Sheet Template
	Item 10 - Attachment B
	Footway plan mod



	10 Development Application: 1-7 Raglan Street, Waterloo
	Attachment A - Recommended Conditions of Consent
	Attachment B - Selected Drawings




